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PART II
MUHAMMAD’S CALL AND PREACHING IN MECCA

THE BEGINNING OF THE SENDING DOWN OF THE QURAN

The apostle began to receive revelations in the month of Ramadan. In
the words of God, 'The month of Ramadan in which the Quran was brought
down as a guidance to men, and proofs of guidance and a decisive
criterion.' ' And again, 'Verily we have sent it down on the night of destiny,
and what has shown you what the night of destiny is? The night of destiny
is better than a thousand months. In it the angels and the spirit descend by
their Lord's permission with every matter. It is peace until the rise of
dawn.” Again, 'HHM. by the perspicuous book, verily we have sent it down
in a blessed night. Verily, we were warning. In it every wise matter is
decided as a command from us. Verily we sent it down.” And again, 'Had
you believed in God and what we sent down to Our servant on the day of
decision, the day on which the two parties met', 4 i.e. the meeting of the
apostle with the polytheists in Badr. Abu Ja'far Muhammad b. 'Ali b. al-
Husayn told me that the apostle of God met the polytheists in Badr on the
morning of Friday, the 17th of Ramada.

Then revelation came fully to the apostle while he was believing in Him
and in the truth of His message. He received it willingly, and took upon
himself what it entailed whether of man's goodwill or anger. Prophecy is a
troublesome burden--only strong, resolute messengers can bear it by God's
help and grace, because of the opposition which they meet from men in
conveying God's message. The apostle carried out God's orders in spite of
the opposition and ill treatment which he met with.

KHADIJA, DAUGHTER OF KHUWAYLID, ACCEPTS ISLAM

Khadija believed in him and accepted as true what he brought from.
God, and helped him in his work. She was the first to believe in God and
His apostle, and in the truth of his, message. By her God lightened the
burden of His prophet. He never met with contradiction and charges of
falsehood, which saddened him, but God comforted him by her when he
went home. She strengthened him, lightened his burden, proclaimed his
truth, and belittled men's opposition. May God Almighty have mercy upon
her!

Hisham b. 'Urwa told me on the authority of his father 'Urwa b.
alZubayr from 'Abdullahb. Ja'far b. Abu Talib that the apostle said, 'T was
commanded to give Khadija the good news of a house of qasab wherein
would be no clamor and no toil' (148).

Then revelations stopped for a time so that the apostle of God was
dis-tressed and grieved. Then Gabriel brought him the Sura of the Morning,
in which his Lord, who had so honoured him, swore that He had not
forsaken him, and did not hate him. God said, 'By the morning and the
night when it is still, thy Lord hath not forsaken nor hated thee,” meaning
that He has not left you and forsaken you, nor hated you after having loved
you. 'And verily, the latter end is better for you than the beginning,” i.e.
What I have for you when you return to Me is better than the honor which I
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have given you in the world. 'And your Lord will give you and will satisfy
you,' i.e. of victory in this world and reward in the next. 'Did he not find
you an orphan and give you refuge, going astray and guided you, found you
poof' and made you rich?' God thus told him of how He had begun to honor
him in his earthly life, and of His kindness to him as an orphan poor and
wandering astray, and of His delivering him from all that by His
compassion (149).

'Do not oppress the orphan and do not repel the beggar.' That is, do not
be a tyrant or proud or harsh or mean towards the weakest of God's
creatures.

'Speak of the kindness of thy Lord,' i.e. tell about the kindness of God in
giving you prophecy, mention it and call men to it.

So the apostle began to mention secretly God's kindness to him and to
his servants in the matter of prophecy to everyone among his people whom
he could trust.

THE PRESCRIPTION OF PRAYER

The apostle was ordered to pray and so he prayed. Salih b. Kaisan from
'Urwa b. al-Zubayr from 'Aisha told me that she said, 'When prayer was
first laid on the apostle it was with two prostrations for every prayer: then
God raised it to four prostrations at home while on a journey the former
ordinance of two prostrations held.'

A learned person told me that when prayer was laid on the apostle
Gabriel came to him while he was on the heights of Mecca and dug a hole
for him with his heel in the side of the valley from which a fountain gushed
forth, and Gabriel performed the ritual ablution as the apostle watched him.
This was in order to show him how to purify himself before prayer. Then
the apostle performed the ritual ablution as he had seen Gabriel do it. Then
Gabriel said a prayer with him while the apostle prayed with his prayer.
Then Gabriel left him. The apostle came to Khadija and per-formed the
ritual for her as Gabriel had done for him, and she copied him. Then he
prayed with her as Gabriel had prayed with him, and she prayed his prayer.

'Utba b. Muslim freedman of B. Taym from Nafi' b. Jubayr b. Mutim
(who was prolific in relating tradition) from 1. 'Abbas told me: "When
prayer was laid upon the apostle Gabriel came to him and prayed the noon
prayer when the sun declined. Then he prayed the evening prayer when his
shadow equaled his own length. Then he prayed the sunset prayer when the
sun set. Then he prayed the last night prayer when the twilight had
disappeared. Then he prayed with him the morning prayer when the dawn
rose. Then he came to him and prayed the noon prayer on the morrow when
his shadow equaled his height. Then he prayed the evening prayer when his
shadow equaled the height of both of them. Then he prayed the sunset
prayer when the sun set at the time it had the day before. Then he prayed
with him the last night prayer when the first third of the night had passed.
Then he prayed the dawn prayer when it was clear but the sun was not
shining. Then he said, “O Muhammad, prayer is in what is between your
prayer today and your prayer yesterday." (T. I Yunus b. Bukayr said that
Muhammad b. Ishaq told him that Yahya b. Abu'l-Ash'ath al-Kindi of the
people of Kufa said that Isma'il b. Iyas b. 'Afif from his father from his
grandfather said, "When I was a merchant

I came to al- 'Abbas during the days of pilgrimage; and while we were
together a man came out to pray and stood facing the Ka'ba; then a woman
came out and stood praying with him; then a young man came out and
stood praying with him. I said to 'Abbas, "What is their religion? It is some
thing new to me." He said, "This is Muhammad b. Abdullah who alleges
that God has sent him with it and that the treasures of Chosrhoes and
Caesar will be opened to him. The woman is his wife Khadija who believes
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in him, and this young man is his nephew 'Ali who believes in him." 'Afif
said, "Would that I could have believed that day and been a third!""

(T. Ibn Hamid said that Salama b. al-Fagl and 'Ali b. Mujahid told' him.
Salama said, Muhammad b. Ishaq told me from Yahya b. Abu'l-Ash'ath-
Tabari said, 'It is in another place in my book from Yahya b. al-Ash'ath
from Isma'il b. Iyas b. 'Mif al-Kindi, 'Afif being the brother of al-Ash'ath b.
Qays al-Kindi by the same mother and the son of his uncle from his father,
from his grandfather 'Miif: 'Al-Abbas b. 'Abdu'l-Mutta-lib was a friend of
mine who used to go often to the Yaman to buy aroma-tics and sell them
during the fairs. While I was with him in Mina there came a man in the
prime of life and performed the full rites of ablution and then stood up and
prayed. Then a woman came out and did her ablutions and stood up and
prayed. Then out came a youth just approach-ing manhood, did his
ablutions, then stood up and prayed by his side. When I asked al-'Abbas
what was going on, he said that it was his nephew Muhammad b. 'Abdullah
b. 'Abdu'l-Muttalib who alleges’ that Allah has sent him as an apostle; the
other is my brother's son 'Ali b. Abu Talib who has followed him in his
religion; the third is his wife Khadija d.

Khuwaylid who also follows him in his religion.' 'Anf said after he had
become a Muslim and Islam was firmly established in his heart, "Would
that I had been a fourth!""

'ALI B. ABU TALIB THE FIRST MALE TO ACCEPT ISLAM

'Ali was the first may to believe in the apostle of God, to pray with him
and to believe in his divine message, when he was a boy of ten. God
favored him in that he was brought up in the care of the apostle before
Islam began.

'Abdullah b. Abu Najih on the authority of Mujahid b. Jabr Abu'l-Hajjaj
told me that God showed His favor and goodwill towards him when a
grievous famine overtook Quraysh. Now Abu Talib had a large family, and
the prophet approached his uncle, AL-'Abbas, who was one of the richest of
B. Hashim, suggesting that in view of his large family and the famine
which affected everyone, they should go together and offer to relieve him
of the burden of some of his family. AL-'Abbas agreed, and so they went to
Abu Talib offering to relieve him from his responsibility of two boys until
conditions improved. Abu Talib said, 'Do what you like so long as you
leave me 'Aqil' (150). So the apostle took 'Ali and kept him with him and
AL-'Abbas took Ja'far. 'Ali continued to be with the apostle until God sent
him forth as a prophet. 'Ali followed him, believed him, and declared his
truth, while Ja'far remained with AL-'Abbas until he became a Muslim and
was independent of him.

A traditionist mentioned that when the time of prayer came the apostle
used to go out to the glens of Mecca accompanied by 'Ali, who went
un-beknown to his father, and his uncles and the rest of his people. There
they used to pray the ritual prayers, and return at nightfall. This went on as
long as God intended that it should, until one day Abu Talib came upon
them while they were praying, and said to the apostle, ‘O nephew, what is
this religion which I see you practising?' He replied, ‘O uncle, this is the
religion of God, His angels, His apostles, and the religion of our father
Abraham.' Or, as he said, 'God has sent me as an apostle to mankind, and
you, my uncle, most deserve that I should teach you the truth and call you
to guidance, and you are the most worthy to respond and help me,' or words
to that effect. His uncle replied, 'I cannot give up the religion of my fathers
which they followed, but by God you shall never meet with anything to
distress you so long as I live.' They mention that he said to 'Ali, My boy,
what is this religion of yours?' He answered, 'l believe in God and in the
apostle of God, and I declare that what he has brought is true, and I pray to
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God with him and follow him.' They allege that he said, 'He would not call
you to anything but what is good so stick to him.'

Zayd the freedman of the apostle was the first male to accept Islam after
'Ali (151). Then Abu Bakr b. Abu Quhafa whose name was 'Atiq became a
Muslim. His father's name was 'Uthman b. '.Amir b. 'Amr b. Ka'b b. Sa'd b.
Taym b. Murra b. Ka'b b. Lu'ayy b. Ghalib b. Fihr. When he became a
Muslim, he showed his faith openly and called others to God and his
apostle. He was a man whose society was desired, well liked and of easy
manners. He knew more about the genealogy of Quraysh than anyone else
and of their faults and merits. He was a merchant of high character and
kindliness. His people used to come to him to discuss many matters with
him because of his wide knowledge, his experience in commerce, and his
sociable nature. He began to call to God and to Islam all whom he trusted
of those who came to him and sat with him (152).

[L.K. iii, 24. The following day 'Ali b. Abu Talib came as the two of
them were praying and asked, 'What is this, Muhammad?' He replied, 'It is
God's religion which He has chosen for Himself and sent His apostles with
it. I call you to God, the One without an associate, to worship Him and to
disavow al-Lat and al-'Uzza.' 'Ali said, 'This is something that I have never
heard of before today. I cannot decide a matter until I have talked about it
with Abu Talib.' Now the apostle did not want his secret to be divulged
before he applied himself to the publication of his message, so he said, 'If
you do not accept Islam, then conceal the matter.' 'Ali tarried that night
until God put Islam into his heart. Early next morning he went to the
apostle and asked him what his orders were. He said, 'Bear witness that
there is no god but Allah alone without associate, and disavow al-Lat and
al-'Uzza, and renounce rivals.' 'Ali did so and became a Mus-lim. He
refrained from coming to him out of fear of Abu Talib and con-ceaied his
Islam and did not let it be seen.

Zayd b. Haritha became a Muslim and the two of them tarried nearly a
month. (Then) 'Ali kept coming to the apostle. It was a special favor to 'Ali
from God that he was in the closest association with the apostle before
Islam.]

162

THE COMPANIONS WHO ACCEPTED ISLAM AT THE

INVITATION OF ABU BAKR

Those who accepted Islam at his invitation according to what I heard
were:

'Uthman b. 'Affan b. Abu'l-".As b. Umayya b. 'Abdu Shams b. 'Abdu
Manaf b. Qugayy ... I b. Lu'ayy; al-Zubayr b. al-'Awwam b. Khuwaylid b.
Asad b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza b. Qusayy ... b. Lu'ayy; 'Abdu I-Rahman b. 'Auf b.
'Abdu 'Auf'b. 'Abd b. al-Harith b. Zuhra ... b. Lu'ayy; Sa'd b.

Abu Waqqas. (The latter was Malik b. Uhayb b. 'Abdu Manaf b.

Lu'ayy); Taiha b. 'Ubaydullah b. 'Uthman b. 'Amr b. Ka'b b. Sa'd .

b. Lu'ayy.

~T'"

He brought them to the apostle when they had accepted his invitation
and they accepted Islam and prayed. I have heard that the apostle of God
used to say: 'T have never invited anyone to accept Islam but he has shown
signs of reluctance, suspicion, and hesitation, except Abu Bakr. When I told
him of it he did not hold back or hesitate' (153).*

These were the first eight men to accept Islam and prayed and believed
in the divine inspiration of the apostle.

After them came:
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Abu 'Ubayda b. al-JarraJt whose name was 'Amir b. 'Abdullah b.
alJarralh b. Hilal b. Uhayb b. Dabba b. al-Harith b. Fihr. Abu Salama whose
name was 'Abdullah b. 'Abdu'l-Asad ... b. Lu'ayy. Al-Arqam b. Abu'l-
Arqgam. (The latter's name was 'Abdu Manaf b. Asad-and Asad bore the
honorific of Abu Jundub-b. 'Abdullah b. 'Amr ... b. Lu'ayy.) 'Uthman b.
Maz'un b. Habib b. Wahb b. Hudhafa ... b. Lu'ayy. His two brothers
Qudama and 'Abdullah, sons of Ma,'un. 'Ubayda b. al-Harith b. al-Muttalib
b. 'Abdu Manaf ... b. Lu'ayy. Sa'id b. Zayd b. 'Amr b. Nufayl b. 'Abdu'l-
'Uzza b. 'Abdullah b. Qurt ... b. Lu'ayy, and his wife Fatima d. al Khattab b.
Nufayl just mentioned, she being the sister of 'Umar b. al-Khattab. Asma' d.
Abu Bakr, together with his little daughter '.A'isha. Khabbab b. al-Aratt ally
of the B. Zuhra (154). 'Umayr b. Abu Waqgqas, brother of Sa'd. Abdullah b.
Mas'ud b. al-Harith b. Shamkh b. Makhzum b. Sahila b. Kahil b. al-Harith
b. Tamim b. Sa'd b. Hudhayl, ally of the B. Zuhra. Mas'ud b. al-Qari who
was the son of Rabi'a b. 'Amr b. Sa'd b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza b. Hamala b. Ghalib
b. Muhallim b. 'Aidha b. Subay' b. Al-Hun b. Khuzayma from al-Qara
(155). Salit b. 'Amr b. 'Abdu Shams b. 'Abdu Wudd b. Nasr ... b. Lu'ayy.
'Ayyash b. Abu Rabi'a b. al-Mughira b. 'Abdullah b. 'Amr ... b. Lu'ayy, and
his wife Asma' d. Salama b. Mukharriba the Tamimite. Khunays b.
Hudhafa b. Qays b. 'Adiy b. Sa'd b. Sahm b. Amr ... b. Lu'ayy. 'Amir b.
Rabi'a of 'Anz b. Wa'il, ally ofthe family of al-Khattab b. Nufayl b. 'Abdu'l-
'Uzza (156). 'Abdullah b. Jahsh b. Ri'ab b. Ya'mar b. Sabira b. Murra b.
Kabir b. Ghanm b. Duda b. Asad b. Khuzayma, and his brother Abu
Ahmad, both allies of the B. Umayya. Ja'far b. Abu Talib and his wife
Asma' d. "Umays b. Nu'man b. Ka'b b. Malik b. Quhafa of Khath'am. Hatib
b. al-Harith b. Ma'mar b. Habib b. Wahb b. Hudhafa ... b. Lu'ayy, and his
wife Fatima d. al-Mujallil b. 'Abdullah b. Abu Qays b. 'Abdu Wudd b. Nasr
b. Malik ... b. Lu'ayy. And his brother Hattab' b. al-Harith and his wife
Fukayha d. Yasar. Ma'mar b. al-Harith above. AL-Sa'ib b. 'Uthman b.
Ma,'un above. AL-Muttalib b. Azhar b. 'Abdu 'Aufb. 'Abd b. al-

Harith b. Lu'ayy, and his wife Ramla d. Abu 'Auf b. Subayra b. Su'ayd
b. Lu'ayy. Al-Nahham whose name was Nu'aym b. 'Abdullah b. Asid b.
Lu'ayy (157). "Amir b. Fuhayra, freedman of Abu Bakr (158). Khalid b.
Sa'id b. al'As b. Umayya ... b. Lu'ayy and his wife Umayna (159) d. Khaia
b. As'ad b. 'Amir b. Bayada b. Subay' ... from Khuza'a; Hatib b. 'Amr b.
'Abdu Shams ... b. Lu'ayy; Abu Hudhayfa (160); Wagqid b. 'Abdullah b.
'Abdu Manaf b. 'Arin b. Tha'laba b. Yarbu' b. Hanzala b. Malik b. Zayd
Manat b. Tamim an ally of B. 'Adiy b. Ka'b (161); Khalid, 'Amir, '.Aqil,
Iyas, the sons of al-Bukayr b. 'Abdu Yalil b. Nashib b. Ghiyara b. Sa'd b.
Layth b. Bakr b. 'Abdu Manat b. Kinana, allies of B. 'Adiy; 'Ammar b.
Yasir, ally of B. Makhzum b. Yaqaza (162); Suhayb b. Sinan one of the
Namir b. Qasit, an ally of B. Taym b. Murra (163).

/// End of Private Teaching
THE APOSTLE'S PUBLIC PREACHING AND THE RESPONSE

People began to accept Islam, both men and women, in large numbers
until the fame of it was spread throughout Mecca, and it began to be talked
about. Then God commanded His apostle to declare the truth of what he
had received and to make known His commands to men and to call them to
Him. Three years elapsed from the time that the apostle conceaied his state
until God commanded him to publish his religion, according to information
that has reached me. Then God said, 'Proclaim what you have been ordered
and turn aside from the polytheists. And again, 'Warn thy family, thy
nearest relations, and lower thy wing to the followers who follow thee.'
And 'Say, I am the one who warns plainly' (164).”

(T. Ibn Hamid from Salama from Ibn Ishaq from 'Abdullah b. al- '
Ghaffar b. al-Qasim from al-Minhal b. 'Amr from 'Abdullah b. al-Harith b.
Naufal b. al-Harith b. 'Abdu'l-Muttalib from 'Abdullah b. 'Abbas from cAli
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b. Abu Talib said: When these words 'Warn thy family, thy nearest
relations' came down to the apostle he called me and said, 'God has ordered
me to warn my family, my nearest relations and the task is beyond my
strength. I know that when I made this message known to them I should
meet with great unpleasantness so I kept silence until Gabriel came to me
and told me that if I did not do as I was ordered my Lord would punish me.
So get some food ready with a leg of mutton and fill a cup with milk and
then get together the sons of 'Abdu'l-Muttalib so that I can address them
and tell them what I have been ordered to say.' I did what he ordered and
summoned them. There were at that time forty men more or less including
his uncles Abu Talib, Hamza, al- 'Abbas, and Abu Lahab. When they were
assembled he told me to bring in the food which I had prepared for them,
and when I produced it the apostle took a bit of the meat and split it in his
teeth and threw it into the dish. Then he said, 'Take it in the name of God.'
The men ate till they could eat no more, and all I could see (in the dish) was
the place where their hands had been. And as sure as I live if there had been
only one man he could have eaten what I put before the lot of them. Then
he said, 'Give the people to drink', so I brought them the cup and they drank
until they were all satisfied, and as sure as I live if there had been, only one
man he could have drunk that amount. When the apostle wanted to address
them Abu Lahab got in first and said, 'Your host has bewitched you'; so
they dispersed before the apostle could address them. On the morrow he
said to me, 'This man spoke before I could, and the people dispersed before
I could address them, so do exactly as you did yesterday.' Everything went
as before and then the apostle said, ‘O Sons of 'Abdu'l-Muttalib, I know of
no Arab who has come to his people with a nobler message than mine. I
have brought you the best of this world and the next. God has ordered me to
call you to Him. So which of you will co-operate with me in this matter, my
brother, my executor, and my successor being among you?' The men
remained silent and I, though the youngest, most rtheumy-eyed, fattest in
body and thinnest in legs, said: ‘O prophet of God, I will be your helper in
this matter.' He laid his hand on the back of my neck and said, 'This is my
brother, my executor, and my successor among you. Hearken to him and
obey him." The men got up laughing and saying to Abu Talib, 'He has
ordered you to listen to your son and obey him!")

(T. 1173. Ibn Hamid from Salama from Ibn Ishaq from 'Amrb. 'Ubayd
from al-Hasan b. Abu'l-Hasan said: When this verse came down to the
apostle, he stood in the vale and said, ‘O Sons of 'Abdu'l-Muttalib; O Sons
of 'Abdu Manaf; O Sons of Qusayy.-Then he named Quraysh tribe by tribe
until he came to the end of them-'I call you to God and I warn you of his
punishment.")

When the apostle's companions prayed they went to the glens so that
their people could not see them praying, and while Sa'd b. Abu Waqqas was
with a number of the prophet's companions in one of the glens of Mecca, a
band of polytheists came upon them while they were praying and rudely
interrupted them. They blamed them for what they were doing until they
came to blows, and it was on that occasion that Sa'd smote a polytheist with
the jawbone of a camel and wounded him. This was the first blood to be
shed in Islam.

When the apostle openly displayed Islam as God ordered him his
people did not withdraw or turn against him, so far as I have heard, until he
spoke disparagingly of their gods. When he did that they took great offense
and resolved unanimously to treat him as an enemy, except those whom
God had protected by Islam from such evil, but they were a despised
minority. Abu Talib his uncle treated the apostle kindly and protected him,
the latter continuing to obey God's commands, nothing turning him back.
When Quraysh saw that he would not yield to them and withdrew from
them and insulted their gods and that his uncle treated him kindly and stood
up in his defense and would not give him up to them, some of their leading
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men went to Abu Talib, namely 'Utba and Shayba, both sons of Rabi'a b.
'Abdu Shams ... and Abu Sufyan (165) b. Harb . . and Abu'l-Bakhtari whose
name was al-'As b. Hisham b. al-Harith b. Asad ... and al-Aswad b. al-
Muttalib b. Asad ... and Abu Jahl (whose name was 'Amr, his title being
Abu'l-Hakam) b. Hisham b. al Mughira .. and al-Walid b. al-Mughira ...
and Nubayh and Munabbih two sons of al-Hajjaj b. '"Amir b. Hudhayfa ...
and al-'As b. Wa'il (166). They said, ‘O Abu Talib, your nephew has cursed
our gods, insulted our religion, mocked our way of life' and accused our
forefathers of error; either you must stop him or you must let us get at him,
for you yourself are in the same position as we are in opposition to him and
we will rid you of him.' He gave them a conciliatory reply and a soft answer
and they went away.

The apostle continued on his way, publishing God's religion and calling
men thereto. In consequence his relations with Quraysh deteriorated and
men withdrew from him in enmity. They were always talking about him
and inciting one another against him. Then they went to Abu Talib a second
time and said, 'You have a high and lofty position among us, and we have
asked you to put a stop to your nephew's activities but you have not done
so. By God, we cannot endure that our fathers should be reviled, our
customs mocked and our gods insulted. Until you rid us of him we will
fight the pair of you until one side perishes,' or words to that effect. Thus
saying, they went off. Abu Talib was deeply distressed at the breach with
his people and their enmity but he could not desert the apostle and give him
up to them.

Ya'qub b. 'Utba b. al-Mughira b. al-Akhnas told me that he was told that
after hearing these words from the Quraysh Abu Talib sent for his nephew
and told him what his people had said. 'Spare me and yourself,' he said. 'Do
not put on me a burden greater than I can bear.' The apostle thought that his
uncle had the idea of abandoning and betraying him, and that he was going
to lose his help and support. He answered, ‘O my uncle, by God, if they put
the sun in my right hand and the moon in my left on condition that I
abandoned this course, until God has made it victorious, or I perish therein,
I would not abandon it.' Then the apostle broke into tears, and got up. As he
turned away his uncle called him and said, 'Come back, my nephew,' and
when he came back, he said, 'Go and say what you please, for by God I will
never give you up on any account.'

When the Quraysh perceived that Abu Talib had refused to give up the
apostle, and that he was resolved to part company with them, they went to 169

him with 'Umara b. al-Walid b. al-Mughira and said, according to my
information, ‘O Abu Talib, this is 'Umara, the strongest and most
hand-some young man among Quraysh, so take him and you will have the
benefit of his intelligence and support; adopt him as a son and give up to us
this nephew of yours, who has opposed your religion and the religion of
your fathers, severed the unity of your people, and mocked our way of life,
so that we may kill him. This will be man for man.' He answered, 'By God,
this is an evil thing that you would put upon me, would you give me your

son that I should feed him for you, and should I give you my son that
you
should kill him? By God, this shall never be." AL-Mut'im b. 'Adiy said,
"Your people have treated you fairly and have taken pains to avoid what
you dislike. I do not think that you are willing to accept anything from
them.' Abu Talib replied, 'They have not treated me fairly, by God, but
you have agreed to betray me and help the people against me, so do what
you like,' or words to that effect. So the situation worsened, the quarrel
became heated and people were sharply divided, and openly showed their
animosity to their opponents. Abu Talib wrote the following verses,
indirectly attacking Mut'im, and including those who had abandoned him
from the 'Abdu Manar, and his enemies among the tribes of Quraysh. He
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mentions therein what they had asked of him and his estrangement from
them.

Say to 'Amr and al-Walid and Mut'im

Rather than your protection give me a young camel,
Weak, grumbling and murmuring,

Sprinkling its flanks with its urine

Lagging behind the herd, and not keeping up.

When it goes up the desert ridges, you would call it a weasel.
I see our two brothers, sons of our mother and father,

When they are asked for help, say 'It is not our business.'
Nay, it is their affair, but they have fallen away,

As a rock fails from the top of Dhu 'Alaq.’

I mean especially 'Abdu Shams and Naufal,

Who have flung us aside like a burning coal.

They have slandered their brothers among the people;
Their hands are emptied of them.

They shared their fame with men of low birth,

With men whose fathers were whispered about;

And Taym, and Makhzum, and Zuhra, are of them
Who had been friends of ours when help was sought;
By God, there will always be enmity between us

As long as one of our descendants lives.

I Their minds and thoughts were foolish,

They were entirely without judgment (167). >

Then the Quraysh incited people against the companions of the apostle
who had become Muslims. Every tribe fell upon the Muslims among them,
beating them and seducing them from their religion. God protected His
apostle from them through his uncle, who, when he saw what Quraysh
were doing, called upon B. Hashim and B. al-Muttalib to stand with him in
protecting the apostle. This they agreed to do, with the exception of Abu
Lahab, the accursed enemy of God.

Abu Talib was delighted at the response of his tribe and their kindness,
and began to praise them and to bring to men's memory their past. He
mentioned the superiority of the apostle among them and his position so
that he might strengthen their resolve and that they might extend their
kindness to him. He said:

If one day Quraysh gathered together to boast,

'Abdu Manaf would be their heart and soul;

And if the nobles of 'Abdu Manaf were reckoned,
Amongst Hashim would be their noblest and chief;

If they boast one day, then Muhammad

Would be the chosen noble and honorable one.

Quraysh summoned everyone against us;

They were not successful and they were beside themselves.
Of old we have never tolerated injustice;

When people turned away their faces in pride we made them face us.
We protected their sanctuary whenever danger threatened
And drove the assailant from its buildings.

Through us the dry wood becomes green,

Under our protection its roots expand and grow.

AL-WALID B. AL-MUGHIRA 171

When the fair was due, a number of the Quraysh came to al-Walid b.
ai-Mughira, who was a man of some standing, and he addressed them in
these words: 'The time of the fair has come round again and
representa-tives of the Arabs will come to you and they will have heard
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about this fellow of yours, so agree upon one opinion without dispute so
that none will give the lie to the other." They replied, 'You give us your
opinion about him.' He said, 'No, you speak and I will listen.' They said, 'He
is a kahin.' He said, 'By God, he is not that, for he has not the unintelligent
murmuring and rhymed speech of the kahin.' 'Then he is possessed,' they
said. 'No, he is not that,' he said, 'we have seen possessed ones, and here is
no choking, spasmodic movements and whispering.' 'Then he is a poet,’
they said. 'No, he is no poet, for we know poetry in all its forms and
meters.! 'Then he is a sorcerer.' 'No, we have seen sorcerers and their
sorcery, and here is no spitting and no knots." 'Then what are we to say, O
Abu 'Abdu Shams?' they asked. He replied, 'By God, his speech is sweet,
his root is a palm-tree whose branches are fruitful (168), and every-thing
you have said would be known to be false. The nearest thing to the truth is
your saying that he is a sorcerer, who has brought a message by which he
separates a man from his father, or from his brother, or from his wife, or
from his family.'

At this point they left him, and began to sit on the paths which men take
when they come to the fair. They warned everyone who passed them about
Muhammad's doings. God revealed concerning al-Walid:

Leave to Me him I made,

Giving him wealth and trade,

While sons before him played,

The road for him I laid,

Then he coveted more of My Aid,
Ay, Our signs hath he gainsaid (169)."

'T shall impose on him a grievous burden; he thought and planned; may
he perish how he planned, may he perish how he planned. Then he looked,
then he frowned, and showed anger' (170).

'"Then he turned his back in pride and said, "This is nothing but ancient
sorcery, this is nothing but the speech of a mortal". '

Then God revealed concerning the men who were with him, composing
a term to describe the apostle and the revelation he brought from God, 'As
we-sent down upon the dividers who had split the Quran into parts, by thy
Lord we will ask them all about what they used to do' (171).2

So these men began to spread this report about the apostle with
every-one they met so that the Arabs went away from that fair knowing
about the apostle, and he was talked about in the whole of Arabia. When
Abu Talib feared that the multitude would overwhelm him with his family
he composed the following ode, in which he claimed protection in the
sanc-tuary of Mecca and by his position therein. He showed his affection
for the nobles of his people while, nevertheless, he told them and others in
his poetry that he was not going to give up the apostle or surrender him on
any account whatever, but he would die in his defense.

When I saw the people had no love for us

And had severed every tie and relationship,

And shown us enmity and ill-will,

Obeying the orders of persecuting enemies,

And had ailed themselves with treacherous people against us,
Biting their fingers in rage at our backs,

I stood firm against them with my pliant spear,

And my shining sword, heirloom of princes.

Round the temple I gathered my clan and my brothers,
And laid hold of the striped red cloth’ that covered it,
Standing together, facing its gates,

Where everyone who takes an oath completes his vow,
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Where the pilgrims make their camels kneel,

Where the blood flows between Isaf and Na'ila,

Camels marked on the shoulders or neck,

Tamed ones, between six and nine years old;

You see amulets on them, and alabaster ornaments
Bound on their necks like date-bearing branches.

I take refuge with the Lord of men from every adversary
And every lying assailant;

From the hater with his hurtful slander,

And from him who adds to religion what we have not tried.
By Thaur and Him who fixed Thabir in his place,

And by him who goes up and down Hira;'

By the true temple of the valley of Mecca;

By God who is never unmindful;

By the black stone, when they stroke it

When they go round it morning and evening;

By Abraham's footprint in the rock still fresh,

With both feet bare, without sandals;

By the running between Marwa and Safa,

And by the statues and images therein;

By every pilgrim riding to the house of God,

And everyone with a vow and everyone on foot;

By Ilal, the furthest sacred spot” to which they go
Where the streamlets open out;

By their halt at even above the mountains

When they help the camels by their hands to rise;’

By the night of the meeting, by the stations of Mina,
Are any holy places and stations superior?

By the crowd, when the home-going horses pass by quickly
As though escaping from a storm of rain ;

By the great stone heap,® when they make for it

174

Aiming at its top with stones;

By Kinda, when they are at al-Hisab at even,

When the pilgrims of Bakr b. Wa'il pass by them

Two allies who strengthened the tie between them,

And directed to it all means of unity;

By their breaking the acacias and shrubs of al-Sifah',

And its bushes too, as they galloped like flying ostriches.

Is there any better refuge for one who seeks it?

Is there a righteous god-fearing man who will grant it?

Our aggressors get their way with us, and wish

That the gates of Turk and Kabul® were blocked with our bodies.
You lie, by God's house, we will not leave Mecca, and go forth,
Until your affairs are in confusion.

You lie, by God's house, Muhammad shall not be maltreated
Before we shoot and, thrust in his defense,

We will not give him up till we lie dead around him,

And be unmindful of our wives and children;

Until a people in arms rise and fight you,

As camels carrying water rise under empty waterskins,”
Until you see the enemy failing face down in his blood
From the spear thrust weighed down and tottering.

By God, if what I see should become serious

Our swords will mingle with the best of them

In the hands of a young warrior, like a flame,

Trustworthy, defender of the truth, hero,

For days, months, a whole year,

And after next year, yet another.

What people, confound you, would abandon a chief,
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Who protects his dependants? No foul-mouthed weakling,
A noble man, for whose sake the clouds drop rain,

The support of orphans, the defense of widows,

Hashim's family, ready to perish, resort to him,

There they find pity and kindness.

Asid and his firstborn made us hated

And cut us up for others to devour;’

Neither 'Uthman nor Qunfudh sympathized with us

But obeyed the command of those tribes.

They obeyed Ubayy and the son of their 'Abdu Yaguth,

And did not observe what others said of us;

So, too, were we treated by Subay' and Naufal, 175

And everyone who turned away from us, not treating us kindly.
If they throw down their arms, or God give us the better of them,
We will pay them measure for measure.

That fellow Abu 'Amr would do naught but hate us,

To send us away among shepherds and camel-drivers;

He talks about us confidentially night and morning.

Atik on, Abu 'Amr, with your guile!

He swears by God he won't deceive us,

But we see him openly doing nothing else;

He hates us so much that the hill-tops

Between Mecca's hills and Syria's forts

Are too narrow to hold him.

Ask Abu'l-Walid, what have you done to us with your slander
Turning away like a deceitful friend.

You were a man by whose opinion men guided their lives,
And you were kind to us, nor are you a fool.

O 'Utba, do not listen to an enemy's words against us;
Envious, lying, hating and malicious.

Abu Sufyan averted his face from me as he passed,

Sweeping along as though he were one of the great ones of the earth,
He betook himself to the high ground and its cool waters,
Pretending that he does not forget us.

He tells us that he is sorry for us like a good friend,

But he hides evil designs in his heart.

0, Mut’im! I did not desert you when you called for help,

Nor on the day of battle when mighty deeds were called for,
Nor when they came against you full of enmity,

Opponents whose strength matched yours.

O Mut’im, the people have given you a task to do,

I too when entrusted with a task do not try to evade it.

God requite 'Abdu Shams and Naufal for us

With evil punishment quick and not delayed,

With an exact balance, not a grain too little,

The balance its own witness that it is exact.

Foolish are the minds of people who exchanged us

For Banu Khalaf and the Ghayatil."

We are the pure stock from the summit of Hashim

And the family of Qusayy in matters of import.

Sahm and Makhzum stirred up against us

Every scoundrel and lowborn churl.
'Abdu Manaf, you are the best of your people, 176

Do not make common cause with every outsider.
You have proved feeble and weak

And done a thing far from right.

You were till lately the sticks under one pot
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But now you are the sticks under many pots and vessels.

Let the Banu} 'Abdu Manaf get satisfaction from parting from us,
Deserting us and leaving us imprisoned in our quarters!

If we are men we shall take revenge I for what you have done
And you will suffer the full effects of war.

The best men among Lu'ayy b. Ghalib,

Every bold chief exiled to us;

The family of Nufayl is the worst that ever trod the earth,
The most contemptible of all the sons of Ma'add.

Tell Qusayy that our cause will be blazed abroad,

And give Qusayy the good news that after us there will be a failing
apart (among our enemies).

Yet if calamity befell Qusayy one night,

We should have been the first to protect them;

If they fought bravely in defense of their houses,

We should show them how to protect the mothers of children.
Yet every friend and nephew on whom we ought to count
We find useless when put to the test

Except for certain men of Kilab b. Murra

Whom we exempt from the stigma of the deserter;’
Undeniably fine is Zuhayr, our nephew,

A sword loosed from belts,

The proudest of the proudest chiefs,

Belonging to the finest stock in glory.

I'faith I am devoted to Ahmad and his brethren,

As a constant lover. '

For who among men can hope to be like him

When judges assess rival claim to merit,

Clement, rightly guided, just, serious,

The friend of God, ever mindful of Him.

By God! but that I might create a precedent®

That would be brought against our sheikhs in assemblies,

We would follow him whatever fate might bring,

In deadly earnest, not in idle words.

They know that our son is not held a liar by us,

And is not concerned with foolish falsehood.

Ahmad has struck so deep a root among us

That the attacks of the arrogant fail to affect him.

I shielded and defended him myself by every means (172).’

The Ghayatil are of B. Sahm b. 'Amr b. Husays; Abu Sufyan is [Harb b.
Umayya; Mut'im is I 'Adiy b. Naufal b. 'Abdu Manaf; Zuhayr is I Abu
Umayya b. al-Mughira b. 'Abdullah b. 'Umar b. Makhzum, his mother
being 'Atika d. 'Abdu'l-Muttalib. Asid and his firstborn, i.e. 'Attab b. Asid b.
Abu'l-'Ts b. Umayya b. 'Abdu Shams b. 'Abdu Manaf. 'Uthman is I
'Ubaydullah the brother of Taiha b. 'Ubaydullah al- Taymi; Qunfudh is I
'Umayr b. Jud'an b. 'Amr b. Ka'b b. Sa'd b. Taym b. Murra. Abu'l-Walid is
'Utba b. Rabi'a; and Ubayy is al-Akhnas b. Shariq al-Thaqafi ally of B.
Zuhra b. Kilab (173).*

AL-Aswad is I 'Abdu Yaghuth b. Wahb b. 'Abdu Manaf'b. Zuhra b.

Kilab; Subay' is I Khalid brother of B. al-Harith b. Fihr; Naufal is I
Khuwaylid b. Asad b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza b. Qusayy. He was I al-'Adawiya, one
of the 'satans' of Quraysh. He it was who roped together Abu Bakr and
Taiha b. 'Ubaydullah when they went over to Islam. They got the name 'the
two-tied-together-ones' from this. 'Ali killed him at the battle of Badr. Abu
'Amr is Qurza b. 'Abdu 'Amr b. Naufal b. 'Abdu Manaf. The 'treacherous
people' are B. Bakr b. 'Abdu Manat b. Kinana. These are the Arabs whom
Abu Talib enumerated in his verse (174).
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When the prophet's fame began to be blazed abroad throughout the land
he was mentioned in Medina. There was no tribe among the Arabs who
knew more about the apostle when and before he was mentioned than this
tribe of Aus and Khazraj. The reason for this was that they were well
acquainted with the sayings of Jewish rabbis and they lived side by side
with them as allies. When the apostle was talked of in Medina and they
heard of the trouble he had with Quraysh, Abu Qays b. al-Aslat, brother of

B. Waqif, composed the verses given below (175).

Abu Qays was warmly attached to Quraysh since he was related to them
through his wife Arnab d. Asad b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza b. Qusayy, and he with his
wife used to stay with them for years at a time. He composed an ode in
which he magnified the sanctity of the area, forbade Quraysh to fight there,
urged them to stand by one another, mentioned their merits and virtues,
urged them to protect the apostle, and reminded them of how God had dealt
with them and saved them in the War of the Elephant.

O rider, when you meet Lu'ayy ibn Ghalib

Give him a message from me,

The tidings of a man who though far from you

Is distressed at what is between you, sad and worried.

I have become the caravanserai of cares,

Because of them I cannot do what I should.

I learn that you are divided into camps,

One party kindles the fire of war, the other provides the fuel.
I pray God to protect you from your evil act,

Your wicked quarrel and the insidious attack of scorpions,
Defamatory reports and secret plots

Like pricking awls which never fail to pierce.

Remind them of God, first of all things,

And the sin of breaking the taboo on travel-worn gazelles.'
Say to them, (and God will give His judgment)

If you abandon war it will go far from you.

When you stir it up you raise an evil thing;

'"Tis a monster devouring everything near and far,

It severs kinship and destroys people;

It cuts the flesh from the hump and the back.

You will give up the finest clothes of Yaman

For a soldier's garb and coat of mail,

Musk and camphor for dust-colored armor

With buttons like the eyes of a locust.

Beware of war! Do not let it cling to you;

A stagnant pool has a bitter draught.

War-it first seems fine to men

But afterwards they plainly recognize an old hag.

It scorches unsparingly the weak,

And Aims death-dealing blows at the great.

Know you not what happened in the war of Dahis?

Or the war of Hatib? Take a lesson from them!

How many a noble chief it slew,

The generous host whose guest lacked naught,

A huge pile of ashes beneath his pot,

Praised by all, noble in character, his sword

Drawn only in righteous cause;

'Tis as water poured out at random,

As if winds from all quarters scattered the clouds;'

A truthful, knowledgeable man will tell you of its battles
(For real knowledge is the result of experience).

So sell your spears to those who love war

And remember the account you must render, for God is the best
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reckoner.

Man's Lord has chosen a religion,

So let none guard you but the Lord of heaven,

Raise up for us a hanifi religion.

You are our object; one is guided in travel by heights.
You are a light and protection to this people,

You lead the way, not lacking virtues.

If men were valued, you would be a jewel,

The best of the vale is yours in noble pride.

You preserve noble, ancient peoples

Whose genealogy shows no foreign blood;

You see the needy come to your houses

Wave after wave of starving wights.

The people know that your leaders

Are ever the best people of the stations of Mina,’

Best in counsel, loftiest in custom,

Most truthful amid the assemblies.

Rise and pray to your Lord and rub yourselves

Against the comers of this house between the mountains.
He gave you a convincing test'

On the day of Abu Yaksum, leader of the squadrons,

His cavalry was in the plains,

His infantry upon the passes of the hills.

When the help of the Lord of the throne reached you

His armies repulsed them, pelting them, and covering them with
dust;

Quickly they turned tail in flight

And none but a few returned to his people from the army.
If you perish, we shall perish, and the fairs by which men live.
These are the words of a truthful man (176).

Hakim b. Umayya b. Haritha b. al-Auqas al-Sulami, an ally of B.
Umayya who had become a Muslim, composed the following verses to turn
his people from their determined enmity to the apostle. He was a man of
good birth and authority.

Does one who says what is right stick to it,

And is there one listening who would be angry at the truth?
Does the chief whose tribe hope to profit from him

Gather friends from near and far?

I disown all but Him who controls the wind

And I abandon you forever.

I submit myself utterly to God

Though friends threaten me with terror.

//arguing
HOW THE APOSTLE WAS TREATED BY HIS OWN PEOPLE

When the Quraysh became distressed by the trouble caused by the
enmity between them. and the apostle and those of their people who
accepted his teaching, they stirred up against him foolish men who called
him a liar, insulted him, and accused him of being a poet, a sorcerer, a
diviner, and of being possessed. However, the apostle continued to
proclaim what God had ordered him to proclaim, concealing nothing, and
exciting their dislike by contemning their religion, forsaking their idols, and
leaving them to their unbelief.

Yahya b. 'Urwa b. al-Zubayr on the authority of his father from
'Abdul-lah b. 'Amr b. al-'As told me that the latter was asked what was the
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worst way in which Quraysh showed their enmity to the apostle. He replied:
'T was with them one day when the notables had gathered in the Hijr and the
apostle was mentioned. They said that they had never known anything like
the trouble they had endured from this fellow; he had declared their

mode of life foolish, insulted their forefathers, reviled their religion,
divided the community, and cursed their gods. What they had borne was
past all bearing, or words to that effect.’

While they were thus discussing him the apostle came towards them
and kissed the black stone, then he passed them as he walked round the
temple. As he passed they said some injurious things about him. This I
could see from his expression. He went on and as he passed them the
second time they attacked him similarly. This I could see from his
expression. Then he passed the third time, and they did the same. He
stopped and said, 'Will you listen to me O Quraysh? By him who holds my
life in His hand I bring you slaughter.” This word so struck the people that
not one of them but stood silent and still; even one who had hitherto been

most violent spoke to him in the kindest way possible, saying, 'Depart, O
Abu'l-Qasim, for by God you are not violent." So the apostle went away, 184

and on the morrow they assembled in the Hijr, I being there too, and they
asked one another if they remembered what had taken place between them
and the apostle so that when he openly said something unpleasant they let
him alone. While they were talking thus the apostle appeared, and they
leaped upon him as one man and encircled him, saying, 'Are you the one
who said so-and-so against our gods and our religion?' The apostle said,
'Yes, I am the one who said that.'! And I saw one of them seize his robe.
Then Abu Bakr interposed himself weeping and saying, 'Would you kill a
man for saying Allah is my Lord?' Then they left him. That is the worst that
I ever saw Quraysh do to him.

One of the family of Umm Kulthum, Abu Bakr's daughter, told me that
she said, 'Abu Bakr returned that day with the hair of his head torn. He was
a very hairy man and they had dragged him along by his beard' (177).

HAMZA ACCEPTS ISLAM

A man of Aslum, who had a good memory, told me that Abu Jahl
passed by the apostle at al-Safa, insulted him and behaved most offensively,
speak-ing spitefully of his religion and trying to bring him into disrepute.
The apostle did not speak to him. Now a freedwoman, belonging to
'Abdullah b. Jud'an b. 'Amr b. Ka'b b. Sa'd b. Taym b. Murra, was in her
house listening to what went on. When he went away he betook himself to

the assembly of Quraysh at the Ka'ba and sat there. Within a little while
Hamza b. 'Abdu'l-Muttalib arrived, with his bow hanging from his

185

shoulder, returning from the chase, for he was fond of hunting and used to
go out shooting. When he came back from a hunt he never went home until
he had circumambulated the Ka'ba, and that done when he passed by an
assembly of the Quraysh he stopped and saluted and talked with them. He
was the strongest man of Quraysh, and the most unyielding. The apostle
had gone back to his house when he passed by this woman, who asked him
if he had heard of what Abu'l-Hakam b. Hisham had done just recently to
his nephew, Muhammad; how he had found him sitting quietly there, and
insulted him, and cursed him, and treated him badly, and that Muhammad
had answered not a word. Hamza was filled with rage, for God purposed to
honor him, so he went out at a run and did not stop to greet anyone,
meaning to punish Abu Jahl when he met him. When he got to the mosque
he saw him sitting among the people, and went up to him until he stood
over him, when he lifted up his bow and struck him a violent blow with it,
saying, 'Will you insult him when I follow his religion, and say what he
says? Hit me back if you can!' Some of B. Makhzum got up to go to Abu
Jahl's help, but he said, 'Let Abu 'Umara alone for, by God, I insulted his
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nephew deeply.' Hamza's Islam was complete, and he followed the apostle's
commands. When he became a Muslim the Quraysh recognized that the
apostle had become strong, and had found a protector in Hamza, and so
they abandoned some of their ways of harassing him.

WHAT 'UTBA SAID ABOUT THE PROPHET

Yazid b. Ziyad from Muhammad b. Ka'b al-Qurazi told me that he was
told that 'Utba b. Rabi'a, who was a chief, said one day while he was sitting
in the Quraysh assembly and the apostle was sitting in the mosque by
himself, "Why should I not go to Muhammad and make some proposals to
him which if he accepts in part, we will give him whatever he wants, and he
will leave us in peace?' This happened when Hamza had accepted Islam and
they saw that the prophet's followers were increasing and multiplying. They
thought it was a good idea, and 'Utba went and sat by the prophet and said,
‘O my nephew, you are one of us as you know, of the noblest of the tribe
and hold a worthy position in ancestry. You have come to your people with
an important matter, dividing their community thereby and ridiculing their
customs, and you have insulted their gods and their reli-gion, and declared
that their forefathers were unbelievers, so listen to me and I will make some
suggestions, and perhaps you will be able to accept one of them." The
apostle agreed, and he went on, 'If what you want is money, we will gather
for you of our property so that you may be the richest of us; if you want
honor, we will make you our chief so that no one can decide anything apart
from you; if you want sovereignty, we will make you king, and if this ghost
which comes to you, which you see, is such that you cannot get rid of him,
we will find a physician for you, and exhaust our means in getting you
cured, for often a familiar spirit gets possession of a man until he can be
cured of it,' or words to that effect. The apostle listened patiently, and then
said: 'Now listen to me, "In the name of God, the compassionate and
merciful, H.M., a revelation from the compassionate, the merciful, a book
whose verses are expounded as an Arabic Quran for a people who
understand, as an announcement and warning, though most of them turn
aside not listening and say, 'Our hearts are veiled from that to which you
invite US.” ” > ' Then the apostle continued to recite it to him When 'Utba
heard it from him, he listened attentively, putting his hands behind his back
and leaning on them as he listened. Then the prophet ended at the
prostration > and prostrated himself, and said, 'You have heard what you
have heard, Abu'l-Walid; the rest remains with you." When 'Utba returned
to his companions they noticed that his expression had completely altered,
and they asked him what had happened. He said that he had heard words
such as he had never heard before, which were neither poetry, spells, nor
witchcraft. 'Take my advice and do as I do, leave this man entirely alone
for, by God, the words which I have heard will be blazed abroad. If (other)
Arabs kill him, others will have rid you of him; if he gets the better of the
Arabs, his sovereignty will be your sovereignty, his power your power, and
you will be prosperous through him.' They said, 'He has bewitched you with
his tongue.' To which he answered, "You have my opinion, you must do
what you think fit.'

NEGOTIATIONS BETWEEN THE APOSTLE AND THE LEADERS
OF QURAYSH AND AN EXPLANATION OF THE SURA OF THE
CAVE

Islam began to spread in Mecca among men and women of the tribes of
Quraysh, though Quraysh were imprisoning and seducing as many of the
Muslims as they could. A traditionist told me from Sa'id b. Jubayr and from
'Tkrima, freedman of 'Abdullah b. 'Abbas, that the leading men of every clan
of Quraysh-'Utba b. Rabi'a, and Shayba his brother, and Abu Sufyan b.

Jihad Sira 3/26/2010 16

187




Harb, and al-Nadr b. alHarith, brother of the Banu Abdu'l-Dar, and Abu'l-
Bakhtari b. Hisham, and al-Aswad b. al-Muttalib b. Asad and Zama'a b. al-
Aswad, and al-Walid b. al-Mughira, and Abu Jahl b. Hisham, and 'Abdullah
b. Abu Umayya, and al-'As b. Wa'il, and Nubayh and Munabbih, the sons
of al-Hajjaj, both of Sahm, and Umayya b. Khalaf and possibly others-
gathered together after sunset outside the Ka'ba. They decided to send for
Muhammad and to negotiate and argue with him so that they could not be
held to blame on his account in the future. When they sent for him the
apostle came quickly because he thought that what he had said to them had
made an impression, for he was most zealous for their welfare, and their
wicked way of life pained him. When he came and sat down with them,
they explained that they had sent for him in order that they could talk
together. No Arab had ever treated his tribe as Muhammad had treated
them, and they repeated the charges which have been mentioned on several
occasions. If it was money he wanted, they would make him the richest of
them all; if it was honor, he should be their prince; if it was sovereignty,
they would make him king; if it was a spirit which had got possession of
him (they used to call the familiar spirit of the jinn ra'iy), then they would
exhaust their means in finding medicine to cure him. The apostle replied
that he had no such intention. He sought not money, nor honor, nor
sovereignty, but God had sent him as an apostle, and revealed a book to
him, and commanded him to become an announcer and a warner. He had
brought them the messages of his Lord, and given them good advice. If they
took it then they would have a portion in this world and the next; if they
rejected it, he could only patiently await the issue until God decided
between them, or words to that effect. "'Well, Muhammad,' they said, 'if you
won't accept any of our propositions, you know that no people are more
short of land and water, and live a harder life than we, so ask your Lord,
who has sent you, to remove for us these mountains which shut us in, and to
straighten out our country for us, and to open up in it rivers like those of
Syria and Iraq, and to resurrect for us our forefathers, and let there be
among those that are resurrected for us Qusayy b. Kilab, for he was a true
shaikh, so that we may ask them whether what you say is true or false. If
they say you are speaking the truth, and you do what we have asked you,
we will believe in you, and we shall know what your position with God is,
and that He has actually sent you as an apostle as you say.' He replied that
he had not been sent to them with such an object. He had conveyed to them
God's message, and they could either accept it with advantage, or reject it
and await God's judgment. They said that if he would not do that for them,
let him do something for himself. Ask God to send an angel with him to
confirm what he said and to contradict them; to make him gardens and
castles, and treasures of gold and silver to satisfy his obvious wants. He
stood in the streets as they did, and he sought a livelihood as they did. If he
could do this, they would recognize his merit and position with God, if he
were an apostle as he claimed to be. He replied that he would not do it, and
would not ask for such things, for he was not sent to do so, and he repeated
what he had said before. They said, 'Then let the heavens be dropped on us
in pieces,' as you assert that your Lord could do if He wished, for we will
not believe you unless you do so.' The apostle replied that this was a matter
for God; if He wanted to do it with them, He would do it. They said, 'Did
not your Lord know that we would sit with you, and ask you these
questions, so that He might come to you and instruct you how to answer us,
and tell you what He was going to do with us, if we did not receive your
message? Information has reached us that you are taught by this fellow in
al-Yamama, called al-Rahman, and by God we will never believe in the
Rahman. Our conscience is clear. By God, we will not leave you and our
treatment of you, until either we destroy you or you destroy us.' Some said,
"We worship the angels, who are the daughters of Allah.' Others said, "'We
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will not believe in you until you come to us with God and the angels as a
surety."

When they said this the apostle got up and left them. 'Abdullah b. Abu
Umayya b. al-Mughira b. 'Abdullah b. 'Umar b. Makhzum (who was the
son of his aunt 'Atika d. of 'Abdu'l-Muttalib) got up with him and said to
him, ‘O Muhammad, your people have made you certain propositions,
which you have rejected; first they asked you things for themselves that
they might know that your position with God is what you say it is so that
they might believe in you and follow you, and you did nothing; then they
asked you to take something for yourself, by which they might know your
superiority over them and your standing with God, and you would not do it;
then they asked you to hasten some of the punishment with which you were
frightening them, and you did not do it', or words to that effect, 'and by
God, I will never believe in you until you get a ladder to the sky, and mount
up it until you come to it, while I am looking on, and until four angels shall
come with you, testifying that you are speaking the truth, and by God, even
if you did that I do not think I should believe you.' Then he went away, and
the apostle went to his family, sad and grieving, because his hope that they
had called him to accept his preaching was vain, and because of their
estrangement from him. When the apostle had gone Abu Jahl spoke,
making the usual charges against him, and saying, 'I call God to witness
that I will wait for him tomorrow with a stone which I can hardly lift,’ or
words to that effect, 'and when he prostrates himself in prayer I will split
his skull with it. Betray me or defend me, let the B. 'Abdu Manaf do what
they like after that." They said that they would never betray him on any
account, and he could carry on with his project. When morning came Abu
Jahl took a stone and sat in wait for the apostle, who behaved as usual that
morning. While he was in Mecca he faced Syria in prayer, and when he
prayed, he prayed between the southern comer and the black stone, putting
the Ka'ba between himself and Syria. The apostle rose to pray while
Quraysh sat in their meeting, waiting for what Abu Jahl was to do. When
the apostle prostrated himself, Abu Jahl took up the stone and went towards
him, until when he got near him, he turned back in flight, pale with terror,
and his hand had withered upon the stone, so that he cast the stone from his
hand. The Quraysh asked him what had happened, and he replied that when
he got near him a camel's stallion got in his way. 'By God', he said, 'I have
never seen anything like his head, shoulders, and teeth on any stallion
before, and he made as though he would eat me.""

I was told that the apostle said, 'That was Gabriel. If he had come near,
he would have seized him.'

When Abu Jahl said that to them, al-Nadr b. al-Harith b. Kalada b.
'Aigama b. Abdu Manaf b. Abdu'l-Dar b. Qusayy (178) got up and said: ‘O
Quraysh, a situation has arisen which you cannot deal with. Muhammad
Was a young man most liked among you, most truthful in speech, and most
trustworthy, until, when you saw grey hairs on his temple, and he brought
you his message, you said he was a sorcerer, but he is not, for we have seen
such people and their spitting and their knots; you said, a diviner, but we
have seen such people and their behavior, and we have heard their rhymes;
and you said a poet, but he is not a poet, for we have heard all kinds of
poetry; you said he was possessed, but he is not, for we have seen the
possessed, and he shows no signs of their gasping and whispering and
delirium. Yemen of Quraysh, look to your affairs, for by God, a serious
thing has befallen you.' Now al-Nadr b. al-Harith was one of the satans of
Quraysh; he used to insult the apostle and show him enmity. He had been to
al-Hira and learnt there the tales of the kings of Persia, the tales of Rustum
and Isbandiyar. When the apostle had held a meeting in which he reminded
them of God, and warned his people of what had happened to bygone
generations as a result of God's vengeance, al-Nadr got up when he sat
down, and said, 'I can tell a better story than he, come to me.' Then he
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began to tell them about the kings of Persia, Rustum and Isbandiyar, and
then he would say, 'In what respect is Muhammad a better story-teller than
17" (179).

Ibn 'Abbas, according to my information, used to say eight verses of the
Quran came down in reference to him, 'When our verses are read to him, he
says fairy tales of the ancients’;' and all those passages in the Quran in
which 'fairy tales' are mentioned.

When Al-Nadr said that to them, they sent him and 'Ugba b. Abu
Mu'ayt to the Jewish rabbis in Medina and said to them, 'Ask them about
Muhammad; describe him to them and tell them what he says, for they are
the first people of the scriptures and have knowledge which we do not
possess about the prophets.' They carried out their instructions, and said to
the rabbis, 'You are the people of the Taurat and we have come to you so
that you can tell us how to deal with this tribesman of ours.' The rabbis
said, 'Ask him about three things of which we will instruct you; if he gives
you the right answer then he is an authentic prophet, but if he does not, then
the man is a rogue, so form your own opinion about him. Ask him what
happened to the young men who disappeared in ancient days, for they have
a marvelous story. Ask him about the mighty traveler who reached the
confines of both East and West. Ask him what the spirit is. If he can give
you the answer, then follow him, for he is a prophet. If he cannot, then he is
a forger and treat him as you will." The two men returned to Quraysh at
Mecca and told them that they had a decisive way of dealing with
Muhammad, and they told them about the three questions.

They came to the apostle and called upon him to answer these
questions.

He said to them, 'T will give you your answer tomorrow,' but he did not
say, 'if God will.' So they went away; and the apostle, so they say, waited
for fifteen days without a revelation from God on the matter, nor did
Gabriel come to him, so that the people of Mecca began to spread evil
reports, saying, 'Muhammad promised us an answer on the morrow, and
today is the fifteenth day we have remained without an answer.' This delay
caused the apostle great sorrow, until Gabriel brought him the Chapter of
The Cave, in which he reproaches him for his sadness, and told him the
answers of their questions, the youths, the mighty traveler, and the spirit.

I was told that the apostle said to Gabriel when he came, '"You have shut
yourself off from me, Gabriel, so that I became apprehensive.! He
answered, "We descend only by God's command, whose is what lies before
us, behind us, and what lies between, and thy Lord does not forget.' !

He began the Sura with His own praise, and mentioning (Muhammad's)
prophethood and apostolate and their denial thereof, and He said, 'Glory
belongs to God, who has revealed the book to His servant’s meaning
Muhammad.

'"Verily thou art an apostle from Me,' i.e. confirming what they ask about
thy prophethood. 'He hath not made therein crookedness, it is straight,’ Le.
it is level, without any difference. 'To warn of a severe punishment from
Him,' that is, His immediate judgment in this world. 'And a painful
judgment in the next,' that is, from thy Lord, who has sent thee as an
apostle. 'To give those who believe, who do good works, the good news
that they will have a glorious reward, enjoying it everlastingly,' i.e. the
eternal abode. 'They shall not die therein: i.e. those who have accepted your
message as true, though others have denied it, and have done the works that
you have ordered them to do. 'And to warn those who say God has taken a
son.' He means the Quraysh when they say, "We worship the angels who are
the daughters of Allah.' 'They have no knowledge about it, nor had their
forefathers' , who take hardly your leaving them and shaming their religion.
'Dreadful is the word that proceedeth from their mouth' when they say the
angels are God's daughters. 'They say nothing but a lie, and it may be that
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thou wilt destroy thyself,’ O Muhammad. 'In grief over their course if they
believe not this saying,' i.e. because of his sorrow when he was
disappointed of his hope of them; i.e. thou shalt not do it (180). "Verily We
have made that which is upon the earth an ornament to it to try them which
of them will behave the best, ie. which of them will follow My
commandment and act in obedience to Me. 'And verily we will make that
which is upon it a barren mound,' i.e. the earth and what is upon it will
perish and pass away, for all must return to Me that I may reward them
according to their deeds, so do not despair nor let what you hear and see
therein grieve you (181).

Then comes the story of what they asked him about the young men, and
God said: 'Have you considered that the dwellers in the Cave and alRaqim
were wonders from our signs?' i.e. there were still more wonderful signs in
the proofs I have given to men (182). Then God said: "When the young men
took refuge in the Cave they said, O Lord, show us kindness and give us
guidance by Your command, so We sealed up their hearing in the Cave for
many years. Then We brought them to life again that We might know
which of the two parties would best aciculate the time that they had been
there.' Then He said: "We will tell you the true account of them; they were
young men who believed in their Lord, and We gave them further guidance,
and We strengthened their hearts. Then they stood and said, Our Lord is the
Lord of heaven and earth. We will pray to no other god but Him. If we were
to say otherwise we should speak blasphemy,' i.e. they did not associate
anyone with Me as you have associated with Me what you know nothing
about (183). 'These people of ours have chosen gods in addition to Him,
though they bring no plain authority for them,' i.e. a clear proof. "Who is
more wicked than he who invents a lie against God? When you withdraw
from them and what they worship instead of God, then take refuge in the
Cave; your Lord will spread for you by His mercy and prepare a pillow for
you in your plight. You might see the sun when it rises move away from
their Cave towards the right, and when it sets it would go past them to the
left, while they were in a cleft of the Cave' (184). 'That was one of the signs
of God,, i.e. for a proof against those of the people of the scriptures who
knew their story and who ordered those men to ask you about them
concerning the truth of your prophecy in giving a true account of them.
'Whom God guides is rightly guided, and for him whom He leads astray
you will find no friend to direct. And you would think they were awake
while they were sleeping, and we would turn them over to the right and the
left, while their dog was lying with its forepaws on the threshold' (185). 'If
you observed them closely you would turn your backs on them fleeing, and
be afraid of them' up to the words 'those who gained their point said,' i.e.
the people of power and dominion among them. 'Let us build a mosque
above them; they will say,' i.e. the Jewish rabbis who ordered them to ask
these questions. 'Three, their dog being the fourth of them, and some say
five, their sixth being the dog, guessing in the dark,' i.e. they know nothing
about it, 'and they say seven and their dog the eighth. Say: My Lord knows
best about their number; none knows them save a few, so do not contend
with them except with an open contention,' i.e. do not be proud with them.
'And do not ask anyone information about them,' for they know nothing
about it. 'And do not say of anything I will do it tomorrow unless you say,
If God will. And men-tion your Lord if you have forgotten and say, Perhaps
my Lord will guide me to a nearer way of truth than this,’ i.e. do not say
about anything which they ask you what you said about this, viz. I will tell
you tomorrow, and make God's will the condition, and remember Him
when you have for-gotten to do so and say, Perhaps my Lord will guide me
to what is better than what they ask of me in guidance, for you do not know
what I am doing about it. 'And they remained in their Cave three hundred
years and they added nine,' i.e. they will say this. 'Say: Your Lord knows
best how long they stayed there. The secrets of heaven and earth are with
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Him. How wonderfully He sees and hears. They have no friend but Him,
and He allows none in His dominion as a partner,' i.e. nothing of what they
ask you is hidden from Him.

And He said about what they asked him in regard to the mighty traveler,
'And they will ask you about Dhu'l-Qarnayn; say, I will recite to you a
remembrance of him. Verily We gave him power in the earth, and We gave
to him every road and he followed it;’ so far as the end of his story.

It is said that he attained what no other mortal attained. Roads were
stretched out before him until he traversed the whole earth, east and west.
He was given power over every land he trod on until he reached the farthest
confines of creation.

A man who used to purvey stories of the foreigners which were handed
down among them, told me that Dhu'l-Qarnayn was an Egyptian, whose
name was Marzuban b. Mardhaba, the Greek, descended from Yunan b.
Yafith b. Nuh). (186).

Thaur b. Yazid from Khalid b. Ma'dan Al-Kala’i, who was a man who
reached Islamic times, told me that the apostle was asked about
Dhu'l-Qarnayn, and he said, 'He is an angel who measured the earth beneath
by ropes.',

Khalid said, "Umar heard a man calling someone Dhu'l-Qarnayn, and
he said, "God pardon you, are you not satisfied to use the names of the
prophets for your children that you must now name them after the angels?"
God knows the truth of the matter, whether the apostle said that or not. If he
said it, then what he said was true.

God said concerning what they asked him about the Spirit, "They will
ask you about the Spirit, say, the Spirit is a matter for my Lord, and you
have only a little knowledge about it."”

I was told on the authority of Ibn 'Abbas that he said, When the apostle
came to Medina, the Jewish rabbis said, "When you said, "And you have
only a little knowledge about it," did you mean us or your own people?' He
said, 'Both of you.' They said, 'Yet you will read in what you brought that
we were given the Taurat in which is an exposition of everything.'" He
replied that in reference to God's knowledge that was little, but in it there
was enough for them if they carried it out. God revealed concerning what
they asked him about that 'If all the trees in the world were pens and the
ocean were ink, though the seven seas reinforced it, the words of God
would not be exhausted. Verily God is mighty and wise.” i.e. The Taurat
compared with God's knowledge is little. And God revealed to him
con-cerning what his people asked him for themselves, namely, removing
the mountains, and cutting the earth, and raising their forefathers from the
dead, 'If there were a Quran by which mountains could be moved, or the
earth split, or the dead spoken to [it would be this one], but to God belongs
the disposition of all things,' i.e. I will not do anything of the kind unless I
choose. And He revealed to him concerning their saying, 'Take for
yourself, meaning that He should make for him gardens, and castles, and
treasures, and should send an angel with him to confirm what he said, and
to defend him. 'And they said, "What is this apostle doing, eating food, and
waiking in the markets? Unless an angel were sent to him to be a warner
with him, or he were given a treasure or a garden from which he might eat
[we would not believe]"; and the evildoers say, "You follow only a man
bewitched". See how they have coined proverbs of thee, and have gone
astray and cannot find the way. Blessed is He, who if He willed, could
make for thee something better than that,' i.e. than that you should walk in
the marketplaces, seeking a livelihood. 'Gardens beneath which run rivers,
and make for thee castles.'!

And He revealed to him concerning their saying, 'When We sent
messen-gers before thee they did eat and walk in the markets, and we made
some of you a test for others, whether you would be steadfast, and your
Lord is looking on,” i.e. I made some of you a test for others that you might
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be steadfast. Had I wanted to make the world side with my apostles, so that
they would not oppose them, I would have done so.

And he revealed to him concerning what 'Abdullah b. Umayya said,
'And they said, "We will not believe in thee until fountains burst forth for
us from the earth, or you have a garden of dates and grapes and make the
rivers within it burst forth copiously, or make the heavens fail upon us in
fragments as you assert, or bring God and the angels as a surety, or you get
a house of gold, or mount up to heaven, we will not believe in thy ascent
until you bring down to us a book which we can read." Say: exalted be my
Lord, am I aught but a mortal messenger' (1 87).}

He revealed to him with reference to their saying "We have heard that a
man in al-Yamama called al-Rahman teaches you. We will never believe in
him'. 'Thus did We send you to a people before whom other peoples had
passed away that you might read to them that which We have revealed to
thee, while they disbelieved in the Rahman. Say, He is my Lord, there is no
other God but He. In Him I trust and unto Him is the return."

And He revealed to him concerning what Abu Jahl said and intended:
'Have you seen him who prohibited a servant when he prayed, have you
seen if he was rightly guided or gave orders in the fear of God, have you
seen if he lied and turned his back; does he not know that Allah sees
everything? If he does not cease we will drag him by the forelock, the lying
sinful forelock; let him call his gang, we will call the guards of hell. Thou
shalt certainly not obey him, prostrate thyself and draw near to God' (188).

And God revealed concerning what they proposed to him in regard to
their money, 'Say, I ask no reward of you, it is yours; my reward is God's
concern alone and He witnesses everything.'S When the apostle brought to
them what they knew was the truth so that they recognized his truthfulness
and his position as a prophet in bringing them tidings of the unseen when
they asked him about it, envy prevented them from admitting his truth, and
they became insolent against God and openly forsook his com-mandments
and took refuge in their polytheism. One of them said, 'Do not listen to this
Quran; treat it as nonsense and probably you will get the better of it i.e.
treat it as nonsense and false; and treat him as a mere raver — you will
probably get the better of him, whereas if you argue or debate with him any
time he will get the better of you.

Abu Jahl, when he was mocking the apostle and his message one day,
said: ™Muhammad pretends that God's troops who will punish you in hell
and imprison you there, are nineteen only, while you have a large
popula-tion. Can it be that every hundred of you is unequal to one man of
them?' In reference to that God revealed, "We have made the guardians of
hell angels, and We have made the number of them a triai to those who
dis-believe', to the end of the passage. I Whereupon when the apostle
recited the Quran loudly as he was praying, they began to disperse and
refused to listen to him. If anyone of them wanted to hear what he was
reciting as he prayed, he had to listen stealthily for fear of Quraysh; and if
he saw that they knew that he was listening to it, he went away for fear of
punishment and listened no more. If the apostle lowered his voice, then the
man who was listening thought that they would not listen to any part of the
reading, while he himself heard something which they could not hear, by
giving all his attention to the words.

Da'udb. al-Husayn freedman of 'Amr b. 'Uthman told me that 'Tkrima
freedman of Ibn 'Abbas had told them that 'Abdullah b. 'Abbas had told
them that the verse, 'Don't speak loudly in thy prayer and don't be silent;
adopt a middle course,'2 was revealed because of those people. He said,
'Don't speak loudly in thy prayer' so that they may go away from you, and
'Don't be silent' so that he who wants to hear, of those who listen stealthily;'
cannot hear; perhaps he will give heed to some of it and profit thereby.

THE FIRST ONE WHO PRONOUNCED THE QURAN LOUDLY
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Yahya b. 'Urwa b. al-Zubayr told me as from his father that the first
man to speak the Quran loudly in Mecca after the apostle was 'Abdullah b.
Mas'ud. The prophet's companions came together one day and remarked
that Quraysh had never heard the Quran distinctly read to them, and who
was there who would make them listen to it? When 'Abdullah said that he
would, they replied that they were afraid on his behaif and they wanted
only a man of good family who would protect him from the populace if
they attacked him. He replied, 'Let me alone, for God will protect me.' So in
the morning he went to the sanctuary while Quraysh were in their
conferences, and when he arrived at the Maqam, he read, 'In the name of
God, the compassionate, the merciful," raising his voice as he did so, 'the
compassionate who taught the Quran.' Then he turned towards them as he
read so that they noticed him, and they said, "What on earth is this son of a
slave woman saying?' And when they realized that he was reading some of
what Muhammad prayed, they got up and began to hit him in the face; but
he continued to read so far as God willed that he should read. Then he went
to his companions with the marks of their blows on his face. They said,
"This is just what we feared would happen to you.' He said, 'God's enemies
were never more contemptible in my sight than they are now, and if you
like T will go and do the same thing before them tomorrow.' They said, 'No,
you have done enough, you have made them listen to what they don't want
to hear.'

THE QURAYSH LISTEN TO THE PROPHET'S READING

Muhammad b. Muslim b. Shihab al-Zuhri told me that he was told that
Abu Sufyan b. Harb and Abu Jahl b. Hisham and al-Akhnas b. Shariq b.
'Amr b. Wahb al- Thaqafi, an ally of B. Zuhra, had gone out by night to
listen to the apostle as he was praying in his house. Everyone of them chose
a place to sit where he could listen, and none knew where his fellow was
sitting. So they passed the night listening to him, until as the dawn rose,
they dispersed. On the way home they met and reproached one another, and
one said to the other, 'Don't do it again, for if one of the light-minded fools
sees you, you will arouse suspicion in his mind.' Then they went away, until
on the second night everyone of them returned again to his place, and they
passed the night listening. Then at dawn the same thing happened again,
and again on the third night, when on the morrow they said to one another,
'We will not go away until we take a solemn obligation that we will not
return.' This they did and then dispersed. In the morning al-Akhnas took his
stick and went to the house of Abu Sufyan, and asked him to tell him his
opinion of what he had heard from Muhammad. He replied, 'By God, I
heard things that I know, and know what was meant by them, and I heard
things whose meaning I don't know, nor what was intended by them." AL-
Akhnas replied, 'I feel precisely the same.' Then he left him and went to
Abu Jahl's house, and asked him the same question. He answered, "What
did I hear! We and B. 'Abdu Manaf have been rivals in honor. They have
fed the poor, and so have we; they have assumed others' burdens, and so
have we; they have been generous, and so have we, until we have
progressed side by side,” and we were like two horses of equal speed. They
said, “We have a prophet to whom revelation comes from heaven", and
when shall we attain anything like that? By God, we will never believe in
him and treat him as truthful.' Then al-Akhnas got up and left him.

When the apostle recited the Quran to them and called them to God,
they said in mockery, 'Our hearts are veiled, we do not understand what you
say. There is a load in our ears so that we cannot hear what you say, and a
curtain divides us from you, so follow your own path and we will follow
ours, we do not understand anything you say." Then God revealed, 'And
when you read the Quran we put between you and those who do not believe
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in the last day a hidden veil," as far as the words 'and when you mention
your Lord alone in the Quran they turn their backs in aversion', that is, how
can they understand thy assertion that thy Lord is one if I have put veils
over their hearts and heaviness in their ears, and between you and them is a
curtain as they allege?' i.e. that I have not done it. "We know best about
what they listen to when they listen to you, and when they take secret
counsel, the wicked say, "You are only following a man bewitched",' i.e.
that is the way they order people not to listen to the message I have given
you. 'See how they have made parables of you, and gone astray, and cannot
find the way,' i.e. they have made false proverbs about you, and cannot find
the right path, and what they say is not straightforward. 'And they say,
when we are bones and dried morsels shall we be raised a new creation?'
i.e. you have come to tell us that we shall be raised after death when we are
bones and dried fragments, and that is something that cannot be. 'Say, Be ye
hard stones or iron, or anything that you think in your minds is harder, they
will say, "Who will raise us?" Say, He who created you in the beginning,'
i.e. He who created you from what you know, for to create you from dust is
no more difficult than that to him.

'Abdullah b. Abu Najih from Mujahid from Ibn 'Abbas told me that the
latter said, 'I asked him what was meant by the word of God "or something
that you think is harder" and he said, "Death." ’

THE POLYTHEISTS PERSECUTE THE MUSLIMS OF THE
LOWER CLASSES

Then the Quraysh showed their enmity to all those who followed the
apostle; every clan which contained Muslims attacked them, imprisoning
them, and beating them, allowing them no food or drink, and exposing them
to the burning heat of Mecca, so as to seduce them from their religion.
Some gave way under pressure of persecution, and others resisted them,
being protected by God.

Bilal, who was afterwards freed by Abu Bakr but at that time belonged
to one of B. Jumah, being slave born, was a faithful Muslim, pure of heart.
His father's name was Ribah and his mother was Hamama. Umayya b.
Khaiaf b. Wahb b. Hudhafa b. Jumah used to bring him out at the hottest
part of the day and throw him on his back in the open valley and have a
great rock put on his chest; then he would say to him, 'You will stay here
till you die or deny Muhammad and worship Al-Lat and al-'Uzza.' He used
to say while he was enduring this, 'One, one!'

Hisham b. 'Urwa told me on the authority of his father: Waraqa b.
Naufal was passing him while he was being thus tortured and saying, 'One,
one,' and he said, 'One, one, by God, Bilal.' Then he went to Umayya and
those of B. Jumah who had thus maltreated him, and said, 'l swear by God
that if you kill him in this way I will make his tomb a shrine.' One day Abu
Bakr passed by while they were thus ill-treating him, for his house was
among this clan. He said to Umayya, 'Have you no fear of God that you
treat this poor fellow like this? How long is it to go on?' He replied, "You
are the one who corrupted him, so save him from his plight that you see.' 'I
will do so,' said Abu Bakr; T have got a black slave, tougher and stronger
than he, who is a heathen. I will exchange him for Bilal.' The transaction
was carried out, and Abu Bakr took him and freed him.

Before he migrated to Medina he freed six slaves in Islam, Bilal being
the seventh, namely: 'Amir b. Fuhayra, who was present at Badr and Uhud
and was killed at the battle of Bi'r Ma'una; and Umm "Ubays and Zinnira
(she lost her sight when he freed her and Quraysh said, 'Al-Lat and al’Uzza
are the ones that have taken away her sight'; but she said, 'By the house of
God, you lie. Al-Lat and al-'Uzza can neither harm nor heal,' so God
restored her sight).
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And he freed al-Nahdiya and her daughter who belonged to a woman of
B. 'Abdu'l-Dar; he passed by them when their mistress had sent them about
some flour of hers, and she was saying, 'By God, I will never free you.' Abu
Bakr said, 'Free yourself from your oath.' She said, 'It is free; you corrupted
them so you free them.' They agreed upon the price, and he said, 'l will take
them and they are free. Return her flour to her: They said, 'Oughtn't we to
finish the grinding and then take it back to her?' He said, 'Yes, if you like.'

He passed by a slave girl of B. Mu'ammil, a clan of B. 'Adiy b. Ka'd
who was a Muslim. 'Umar b. al-Khattab was punishing her to make her
give up Islam. At that time he was a polytheist. He beat her until he was
tired and said, 'T have only stopped beating you because I am tired." She
said, 'May God treat you in the same way.' Abu Bakr bought her and freed
her.

Muhammad b. 'Abdullah b. Abu 'Atiq from 'Amir b. 'Abdullah b.
al-Zubayr from one of his family told me: Abu Quhafa said to his son Abu
Bakr, 'My son, I see that you are freeing weak slaves. If you want to do
what you are doing, why don't you free powerful men who could defend
you and protect you?' He said, 'l am only trying to do what I am attempting
for God's sake.' It is said that these verses came down in reference to him
and what his father said to him: 'As to him who gives and fears God and
believes in goodness,' up to the divine words, 'none is rewarded by God
with favor but for seeking his Lord's most sublime face and in the end he
will be satisfied.' I

The B. Makhzum used to take out 'Ammar b, Yasir with his father and
mother, who were Muslims, in the heat of the day and expose them to the
heat of Mecca, and the Apostle passed by them and said, so I have heard,
'Patience, O family of Yasir! Your meeting-place will be paradise." They
killed his mother, for she refused to abandon Islam.

It was that evil man Abu Jahl who stirred up the Meccans against them.

When he heard that a man had become a Muslim, if he was a man of
social importance and had relations to defend him, he reprimanded him and 207

poured scorn on him, saying, "You have forsaken the religion of your father
who was better than you. We will declare you a blockhead and brand you as
a fool, and destroy your reputation.' If he was a merchant he said, 'We will
boycott your goods and reduce you to beggary.' If he was a person of no
social importance, he beat him and incited people against him.

Hakim b. Jubayr from Sa'id b. Jubayr told me: 'I said to 'Abdullah b.
'Abbas, "Were the polytheists treating them so badly that apostasy was
excusable?" "Yes, by God, they were," he said, "they used to beat one of
them, depriving him of food and drink so that he could hardly sit upright
because of the violence they had used on him, so that in the end he would
do whatever they said." If they said to him, "Are al-Lat and al-'Uzza your
gods and not Allah?" he would say, "Yes" to the point that if a beetle
passed by them they would say to him, "Is this beetle your God and not
Allah?" he would say yes, in order to escape from the suffering he was
enduring.'

Al-Zubayr b. 'Ukasha b. 'Abdullah b. Abu Ahmad told me that he was
told that some men of B. Makhzum went to Hisham b. al-Walid when his
brother al-Walid b. al-Walid became a Muslim. They had agreed to seize
some young men who had become Muslims, among whom were Saima b.
Hisham and 'Ayyash b. Abu Rabi'a. They were afraid of his violent temper
and so they said, '"We wish to’ admonish these men because of this religion
which they have newly introduced; thus we shall be safe in the case of
others.' 'All right,' he said, 'admonish him, but beware that you do not kill
him.' Then he began to recite:

My brother 'Uyays shall not be killed,
Otherwise there will be war between us for ever.”
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'Be careful of his life, for I swear by God that if you kill him, I will kill
the noblest of you to the last man.' They said, 'God damn the man. After
what he has said who will want to bring trouble on himself, for, by God, if
this man were killed while in our hands the best of us would be killed to a
man.' So they left him and withdrew, and that was how God protected him
from them.

THE FIRST MIGRATION TO ABYSSINIA

When the apostle saw the affliction of his companions and that though
he escaped it because of his standing with Allah and his uncle Abu Taiib,
he could not protect them, he said to them: 'If you were to go to Abyssinia
(it would be better for you), for the king will not tolerate injustice and it is a
friendly country, until such time as Allah shall relieve you from your
distress.! Thereupon his companions went to Abyssinia, being afraid of
apostasy and fleeing to God with their religion. This was the first hijra in
Islam.

The first of the Muslims to go were: B. Umayya: ... ' 'Uthman b. 'Affan
... with his wife Ruqayya, d. the apostle.

B. 'Abdu'l-Shams: ... Abu Hudhayfa b. 'Utba ... with his wife

Sahla d. Suhayl b. 'Amr one of B. 'Amir b. Lu'ayy .

B. Asad b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza: al-Zubayr b. al-Awwam .... B. 'Abdu'l-Dar: ...
Mus'ab b. 'Umayr.

B., Zuhra b. Kilab: 'Abdu'l-Rahman b. 'Auf ....

B. Makhzum b. Yaqua: ... Abu Salama b. 'Abdu'l-Asad ... with his wife
Umm Salama d. Abu Umayya b. al-Mughira ....

B. Jumah b. 'Amr b. Hugays: ... 'Uthman b. Maz'un ...

B. 'Adiy b. Ka'b: 'Amir b. Rabi'a, an ally of the family of al-Khattab

of Anz b. Wa'il (189), with his wife Layla d. Abu Hathma b.Hudhafa ...

B. 'Amir b. Lu'ayy: Abu Sabra b. Abu Ruhm b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza b. Abu
Qays ... b. '"Amir. Others say it was Abu Hatib b. 'Amr b. 'Abdu Shams of
the same descent. It is said that he was the first to arrive in Abyssinia.

B. al-Harith: Suhayl b. Bayda' .... These ten were the first to go to
Abyssinia according to my information (190).

Afterwards Ja'far b. Abu Taiib went, and the Muslims followed one
another until they gathered in Abyssinia; some took their families, others
went alone.

B. Hashim: Ja'far ... who took his wife Asma' d. 'Umays b. al-Nu'man ...
She bare him 'Abdullah in Abyssinia.

B. Umayya: 'Uthman b. 'Affan ... with his wife Rugayya; ... 'Amr b.
Sa'id b. al-'As ... with his wife Fatima d. Safwan b. Umayya b. Muhar-rith
b. Khumal b. Shaqq b. Ragaba b. Mukhdij al-Kinani, and his brother

O Khalid with his wife Umayna (191) d. Khalilf of Khuza'a. She bare
him his son Sa'id in Abyssinia, and his daughter Ama who afterwards
married al-Zubayr b. al-'Awwam and bare to him 'Amr and Khalid. Of their
allies of B. Asad b. Khuzayma: 'Abdullah b. Jahsh ... b. Asad and his
brother 'Ubaydullah with his wife U mm Habiba d. Abu Sufyan b.Harb; ...
and Qays b. 'Abdullah ... with his wife Baraka d. Yasar, a freedwoman of

Abu Sufyan; and Mu'ayqib b. Abu Fatima. These belonged to the
family of Sa'id b. al-'As, seven persons in all (192).

B. 'Abdu Shams: ... Abu Hudhayfa b. 'Utba; ... Abu Musa al-Ash'ari
whose name was 'Abdullah b. Qays, an ally of the family of 'Utba. Two
men.

B. Naufal b. 'Abdu Manaf: 'Utba b. Ghazwan b. Jabir b. Wahb b.

Nasib ... b. Qays b. 'Aylan, an ally of theirs. One man.

B. Asad: ... al-Zubayr b. al-'Awwam,; ... al-Aswad b. Naufal; ...

Yazid b. Zama'a; ... '"Amr b. Umayya b. al-Harith. Four men.

B.'Abd b. Quayy: Tulayb b. 'Umayr One man.

B. 'Abdu'l-Dar: Mug'ab b. 'Umayr; Suwaybit b. Sa'd; ... Jahm b.

Jihad Sira 3/26/2010 26

211




214

215

Qays ... with his wife Umm Harmala d. 'Abdu'l-Aswad ... of Khuza'a
and his two sons 'Amr and Khuzayma; Abu'l-Rum b. 'Umayr b. Hashim; . .
. Firas b. al-Nadr b. al-Harith .... Five persons.

B. Zuhra: ... 'Abdu'l-Rahman b. 'Auf; ... '"Amir b. Abu Waqqas; (Abu

Waqqgas was Malik b. Uhayb); al-Muttalib b. Azhar ... with his wife
Ramla d. Abu 'Auf b. Dubayra She bare his son 'Abdullah in Abyssinia.
Their allies: of Hudhayl: 'Abdullah b. Mas'ud ... and his brother 'Utba. Of
Bahra": al-Miqdad b. 'Amr b. Tha'laba b. Malik b. Rabi'a b. Thumama b.
Matrud b. 'Amr b. Sa'd b. Zuhayr b. Lu'ayy b. Tha'laba b. Malik b. al-Sharid
b. Abu Ahwaz b. Abu Fa'ish b. Duraym b. al-Qayn b. Ahwad b. Bahra' b.
'Amr b. al-Haf b. Quda'a (193). (He used to be called Migdad b. al-Aswad
b. 'Abdu Yaghuth b. Wahb b. 'Abdu Manaf b. Zuhra because he had
adopted him before Islam and taken him into his tribe.) Six persons.

B. Taym b. Murra: al-Harith b. Khalid ... with his wife Rayta d. alHarith
b. Jabala .... She bare his son Musa in Abyssinia and .his daughters 'A'isha
and Zaynab and Fatima; 'Amr b. 'Uthman b. 'Amr. Two men.

B. Makhzum b. Yagaza ... Abu Salama b. 'Abdu'l-Asad ... with his wife
Umm Salama d. Abu Umayya b. al-Mughira .... She bare him a daughter,
Zaynab, in Abyssinia. (His name was 'Abdullah and his wife's name was
Hind.) Shammas b. 'Uthman b. al-Sharid; .. (194). Habbar b. Sufyan b.
'Abdu'l-Asad arid his brother 'Abdullah; Hisham b. Abu Hudhayfa b. al-
Mughira; Salama b. Hisham; ... 'Ayyash b. Abu Rabi'a .... Of their allies
Mu'attib b. 'Auf ... of Khuza'a who was called 'Ayhama. Eight persons
(1995).

B. Jumah b. 'Amr: ... 'Uthman b. Maz'un ... and his son al-Sa'ib; his two
brothers Qudama and 'Abdullah; Hatib b. al-Harith ... with his wife Fatima
d. al-Muyjailil ... and his two sons Muhammad and al-Harith; and his brother
Hattab with his wife Fukayha d. Yasar; Sufyan b. Ma'mar ... with his two
sons Jabir and Junada with his wife Hasana who was their mother; and their
brother on their mother's side Shurahbil b. 'Abdullah one of the Ghauth
(196); 'Uthman b. Rabi'a b. Uhban b. Wahb b. Hudhafa. Eleven men.

B. Sahm b. 'Amr: ... Khunays b.Hudhafa: ... 'Abdullah b. al-Harith b.
Qays b. 'Adiy b. Sa'd b. Sahm; Hisham b. al-'As b. Wa'il b. Sa'd b. Sahm
(197); Qays b. Hudhafa; ... Abu Qays b. al-Harith; ... 'Abdullah b. Hudhafa
... al-Harith b. al-Harith; ... Ma'mar b. al-Harith; ... Bishr b. al-Harith ... and
a brother of his from a Tamimite mother called Sa'id b. 'Amr; Sa'id b. al-
Harith; ... al-Sa'ib b. al-Harith; ... 'Umayr b. Ri'ab b. Hudhayfa b.
Muhashshim; .. Mahmiya b. al-Jaza', an ally of theirs from B. Zubayd.
Fourteen men.

B. 'Adiyyb. Ka'b: Ma'marb. 'Abdullah; ... 'Urwab. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza; ...
'Adiy b. Nadla b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza ... and his son al-Nu'man; 'Amir b.Rabi'a, an
ally of the family of al-Khattab from 'Anz b. Wa'il with his wife Layla.
Five.

B. 'Amir b. Lu'ayy: Abu Sabra b. Abu Ruhm ... with his wife Umm
Kulthum d. Suhayl b. 'Amr; ... 'Abdullah b. Makhrama b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza;
'Abdullah b. Suhayl ... Salit b. 'Amr b. 'Abdu Shams ... and his brother al-
Sakran with his wife Sauda d. Zama'a b. Qays b. 'Abdu Shams; ... Malik b.
Zama'a b. Qays ... with his wife 'Amra d. al-Sa'di b. Waqdan b. 'Abdu
Shams; ... Hatib b. 'Amr b. 'Abdu Shams; ... Sa'd b. Khaula an ally of theirs.
Eight persons (198).

B. al-Harith b. Fihr: Abu 'Ubayda b. al-Jarrah who was 'Amir b.
'Abdullah b. al-Jarrah; ... Suhayl b. Bayda' who was Suhayl b. Wahb b.
Rabi'a b. Hilal b. Uhayb b. Dabba ... (but he was always known by his
mother's name, she being Da'd d. Jahdam b. Umayya b. Zarib b. alHarith ...
and was always called Bayda'); 'Amr b. Abu Sarh b. Rabi'a ... 'Iyad b.
Zuhayr b. Abu Shaddad b. Rabi'a b. Hilal b. Uhayb b. Dabba b. al-Harith;
but it is said that this is wrong and that Rabi'a was the son of Hilal b. Malik
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b. Dabba; and 'Amr b. al-Harith; ... 'Uthman b. 'Abdu Ghanm b. Zuhayr;
and Sa'd b. 'Abdu Qays b. Lagqit .. and his brother al-Harith. Eight persons.

The total number of those who migrated to Abyssinia, apart from the
little children whom they took with them or were born to them there, was
eighty-three men if '"Ammar b. Yasir was among them, but that is doubtful.

The following is an extract from the poetry which has been written in
Abyssinia by 'Abdullah b. al-Harith b. Qays b. 'Adiy b. Sa'd b. Sahm. They
were safely ensconced there and were grateful for the protection of the
Negus; could serve God without fear; and the Negus had shown them every
hospitality.

O rider, take a message from me

To those who hope for the demonstration of God and religion, '
To everyone of God's persecuted servants,

Mistreated and hard tried in Mecca's vale,

Namely, that we have found God's country spacious,

Giving security from humiliation, shame and low-repute,

So do not live a life in humiliation

And shame in death, not safe from blame.

We have followed the apostle of God, and they

Have rejected the words of the prophet, and been deceitful.'

Visit thy punishment on the people who transgress
And protect me lest they rise and lead me astray.

216

'Abdullah b. al-Harith also said when he spoke of the Quraysh expelling
them from their country, and reproached some of his people:

My heart refuses to fight them

And so do my fingers; I tell you the truth.

How could I fight a people who taught you

The truth that you should not mingle with faisehood?

Jinn worshippers exiled them from their noble land

So that they were exceeding sorrowful;

If there were faithfulness in 'Adiy b. Sa'd

Springing from piety and kinship ties,

I should have hoped that it would have been among you,

By the grace of Him who is not moved by bribes.

I got in exchange for the bountiful refuge of poor widows A whelp, and
that mothered by a bitch.

He also said:

Those Quraysh who deny God's truth

Are as 'Ad and Madyan and the people of al-Hijr who denied it.
If I do not rAise a storm let not the earth,

Spacious land or ocean hold me!

In a land wherein is Muhammad, servant of God.

I will explAin what is in my heart

When exhaustive search is made.

Because of the second verse of this poem 'Abdullah was called al-
Mubriq, the thunderer (or threatener).

'Uthman b. Maz'un, reproaching Umayya b. Khaiaf b. Wahb b. Hudhafa
b. Jumah, who was his cousin, and who used to ill-treat him because of his
belief, made the following verses. Umayya was a leader among his people
at that time.

O Taym b. 'Amr, [ wonder at him who came in enmity,
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When the sea and the broad high land lay between us, *
Did you drive me out of Mecca's vaie where I was safe
And make me live in a loathsome white castle.'

You feather arrows, whose feathering will not help you;
You sharpen arrows, whose feathers are all' for you;
You fight noble strong people

And destroy those from whom you once sought help.
You will know one day, when misfortune attacks you
And strangers betray you, what you have done.

Taym b. 'Amr, whom 'Uthman addresses, was Jumah. His name was
Taym.

THE QURAYSH SEND TO ABYSSINIA TO GET THE
EMIGRANTS RETURNED

When Quraysh saw that the prophet's companions were safely
ensconced in Abyssinia and had found security there, they decided among
themselves to send two determined men of their number to the Negus to get
them sent back, so that they could seduce them from their religion and get
them out of the home in which they were living in peace. So they sent
'Abdullah b. Abu Rabi'a and 'Amr b. al-'As b. Wa'il. They got together
some presents for them to take to the Negus and his generals. When Abu
Taiib perceived their design he composed the following verse for the Negus
to move him to treat them kindly and protect them:

Would that I knew how far-away Ja'far and 'Amr fare,
(The bitterest enemies are oft the nearest in blood).

Does the Negus still treat Ja'far and his companions kindly,
Or has the mischief-maker prevented him?

Thou art noble and generous, mayst thou escape caiamity;
No refugees are unhappy with thee.

Know that God has increased thy happiness

And all prosperity cleaves to thee.

Thou art a river whose banks overflow with bounty

Which reaches both friend and foe.

Muhammad b. Muslim al-Zuhri from Abu Bakr b. 'Abdu'l-Rahman b.
al-Harith b. Hisham al-Makhzumi from Umm Salama d. Abu Umayya b. al-
Mughira wife of the apostle said, "When we reached Abyssinia the Negus
gave us a kind reception. We safely practiced our religion, and we
worshipped God, and suffered no wrong in word or deed. When the
Quraysh got to know of that, they decided to send two determined men to
the Negus and to give him presents of the choicest wares of Mecca.
Leatherwork was especially prized there, so they collected a great many

skins so that they were able to give some to every one of his generals.
They sent 'Abdullah and 'Amr with instructions to give each general his
present before they spoke to the Negus about the refugees. Then they were
to give their presents to the Negus and ask him to give the men up before he
spoke to them. They carried out these instructions to the letter, and said to
each of the generals, 'Some foolish fellows from our people have taken
refuge in the king's country. They have forsaken our religion and not
accepted yours, but have brought in an invented religion which, neither we
nor you know anything about. Our nobles have sent us to the king to get
him to return them, so when we speak to the king about them advise him to
surrender them to us and not to speak to them, for their own people have
the keenest insight and know most about their faults." This the generals
agreed to do. They took their gifts to the Negus and when he had accepted
them, they said to him what they had already said to the generals about the
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refugees. Now there was nothing which 'Abdullah and 'Amr disliked more
than that the Negus should hear what the Muslims had to say. The generals
about his presence said that the men had spoken truly, and their own people
best knew the truth about the refugees, and they recommended the king to
give them up and return them to their own people. The Negus was enraged
and said, 'No, by God, I will not surrender them. No people who have
sought my protection, settled in my country, and chosen me rather than
others shall be betrayed, until I summon them and ask them about what
these two men allege. If they are as they say, I will give them up to them
and send them back to their own people; but if what they say is false, I will
protect them and see that they receive proper hospitality while under my
protection.'

Then he summoned the apostle's companions, and when his messenger
came they gathered together, saying one to another, 'What will you say to
the man when you come to him?' They said, "We shall say what we know
and what our prophet commanded us, come what may." When they came
into the royal presence they found that the king had summoned his bishops
with their sacred books exposed around him. He asked them what was the
religion for which they had forsaken their people, without entering into his
religion or any other. Ja'far b. Abu Taiib answered, ‘O King, we were an
uncivilized people, worshipping idols, eating corpses, committing
abominations, breaking natural ties, treating guests badly, and our strong
devoured our weak. Thus we were until God sent us an apostle whose
lineage, truth, trustworthiness, and clemency we know. He summoned us to
acknowledge God's unity and to worship him and to renounce the stones
and images which we and our fathers formerly worshipped. He commanded
us to speak the truth, be faithful to our engagements, mindful of the ties of
kinship and kindly hospitality, and to refrain from crimes and bloodshed.
He forbade us to commit abominations and to speak lies, and to devour the
property of orphans, to vilify chaste women. He commanded us to worship
God alone and not to associate anything with Him, and he gave us orders
about prayer, almsgiving, and fasting (enumerating the commands of
Islam). We confessed his truth and believed in him, and we followed him in
what he had brought from God, and we worshipped God alone without
associating aught with Him. We treated as forbidden what he forbade, and
as lawful what he declared lawful. Thereupon our people attacked us,
treated us harshly and seduced us from our faith to try to make us. go back
to the worship of idols instead of the worship of God, and to regard as
lawful the evil deeds we once committed. So when they got the better of us,
treated us unjustly and circumscribed our lives, and came between us and
our religion, we came to your country, having chosen you above all others.
Here we have been happy in your protection, and we hope that we shall not
be treated unjustly while we are with you, O King.'

The Negus asked if they had with them anything which had come from
God. When Ja'far said that he had, the Negus commanded him to read it to
him, so he read him a passage from (Sura) KHY'S'. The Negus wept until
his beard was wet and the bishops wept until their scrolls were wet, when
they heard what he read to them. Then the Negus said, 'Of a truth, this and
what Jesus® brought have come from the same niche. You two may go, for
by God, I will never give them up to them and they shall not be betrayed.'

When the two had gone, 'Amr said, 'Tomorrow I will tell him
something that will uproot them all." Abdullah, who was the more
godfearing of them in his attitude towards us, said, 'Do not do it, for they
are our kindred though they have gone against us.' He said, 'By God, I will
tell him that they assert that Jesus, son of Mary, is a creature.” He went to
him in the morning and told him that they said a dreadful thing about Jesus,
son of Mary, and that he should send for them and ask them about it. He did
so. Nothing of the kind had happened to them before, and the people
gathered together asking one another what they should say about Jesus
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when they were asked. They decided that they would say what God had
said and what the prophet had brought, come what may. So when they went
into the royal presence and the question was put to them, Ja'far answered,
"We say about him that which our prophet brought, saying, he is the slave of
God, and his apostle, and his spirit, and his word, which he cast into Mary
the blessed virgin.' The Negus took a stick from the ground and said, 'By
God, Jesus, son of Mary, does not exceed what you have said by the length
of this stick." His generals round about him snorted when he said this, and
he said, 'Though you snort, by God! Go, for you are safe in my country.'
(Shuyum means al-aminuna.)* Then he repeated three times the words, 'He
who curses you will be fined. Not for a mountain of gold would I allow a
man of you to be hurt' (199). Give them back their presents, for I have no
use for them. God took no bribe from me when He gave me back my
kingdom, that I should take a bribe for it, and God did not do what men
wanted against me, so why should I do what they want against Him." So
they left his presence, crestfallen, taking away their rejected gifts, while we
lived with him comfortably in the best security.

While we were living thus, a rebel arose to snatch his kingdom from
him, and I never knew us to be so sad as we were at that, in our anxiety lest
this fellow would get the better of the Negus, and that a man would arise
who did not know our case as the Negus did. He went out against him, and
the Nile lay between the two parties. The apostle's companions called for a
man who would go to the battle and bring back news, and al-Zubayr b. al-
'Awwam volunteered. Now he was the youngest man we had. We inflated a
waterskin and he put it under his chest, and swam across until he reached
that point of the Nile where the armies faced one another. Then he went on
until he met them. Meanwhile we prayed to God to give the Negus victory
over his enemy and to establish him in his own country; and as we were
doing so, waiting for what might happen, up came al-Zubayr running,
waving his clothes as he said, 'Hurrah, the Negus has conquered and God
has destroyed his enemies and established him in his land.' By God, I never
knew us to be so happy before. The Negus came back, God having
destroyed his enemy and established him in his country, and the chiefs of
the Abyssinians rallied to him. Meanwhile we lived in happiest conditions
until we came to the apostle of God in Mecca.

HOW THE NEGUS BECAME KING OF ABYSSINIA

Al-Zuhri said: 1 told 'Urwa b. al-Zubayr the tradition of Abu Bakr b.
'Abdu'l-Rahman from Umm Salama the prophet's wife and he said: 'Do you
know what he meant when he said that God took no bribe from me when
He gave me back my kingdom that I should take a bribe for it, and God did
not do what men wanted against me so why should I do what they want
against Him?' When I said that I did not know, he said that ',A'isha told him
that the father of the Negus was the king, and the Negus was his only son.
The Negus had an uncle who had twelve sons who were of the Abyssinian
royal house. The Abyssinians said among themselves, 'It would be a good
thing if we were to kill the father of the Negus and make his brother king,
because he has no son but this youngster, while his brother has twelve sons,
so they can inherit the kingdom after him so that the future of Abyssinia
may be permanently secured.' So they attacked the Negus's father and killed
him, making his brother king, and such was the state of affairs for a
considerable time.

The Negus grew up with his uncle, an intelligent and resolute young
man. He attained an ascendancy over his uncle to such a degree that when
the Abyssinians perceived how great his influence with the king was, they
began to fear lest he might gain the crown, and would then put them all to
death because he knew that they were the murderers of his father.
Accord-ingly they went to his uncle and said, 'Either you must kill this
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young man or you must exile him from among us, for we are in fear of our
lives because of him.' He replied, 'You wretches, but yesterday I slew his
father, and am I to kill him today? But I will put him out of your country.'
So they took him to the market and sold him to a merchant for six hundred
dirhams. The latter threw him into a boat and went off with him, but on that
very evening the autumn storm clouds massed, and his uncle went out to
pray for rain beneath the mass of cloud when he was struck by lightning
and killed. The Abyssinians hastened in fear to his sons, and lo! he was a
begetter of fools; he had not a son who was any good at all; the situation of
the Abyssinians became very unsettled, and when they feared the pressure
of events they said to one another, 'Know, by God, that your king, the only
one who can put us to rights, is the one you sold this morning, and if you
care about your country go after him now.' So they went out in search of
him and the man to whom they had sold him, until they overtook him and
took the Negus from him. They then brought him home, put the crown on
his head, made him sit upon the throne, and proclaimed him king.

The merchant to whom they had sold him came and said, 'Either you
give me my money or I shall tell him about this." They said, "We will not
give you a penny.' He said, 'In that case, by God, I will speak to him.' They
said, "Well, there he is'; so he came and stood before him and said, ‘O King,
I bought a young slave from people in the market for six hundred dirhams.
They gave me my slave and they took my money, yet when I had gone off
with my slave they overtook me and seized my slave and kept my money.'
The Negus said, 'You must either give him his money back or let the young
man place his hand in his, and let him take him where he wishes.' They
replied, 'No, but we will give him his money."' For this reason he said the
words in question. This was the first thing that was reported about his
firmness in his religion and his justice in judgment.

Yazid b. Ruman told me from 'Urwa b. al-Zubayr from 'A'isha that she
said: 'When the Negus died it used to be said that a light was constantly
seen over his grave.'

THE ABYSSINIANS REVOLT AGAINST THE NEGUS

Ja'far b. Muhammad told me on the authority of his father that the
Abyssinians assembled and said to the Negus, "You have left our religion'
and they revolted against him. So he sent to Ja'far and his companions and
prepared ships for them, saying, 'Embark in these and be ready. If I am
defeated, go where you please; if [ am victorious, then stay where you are.'
Then he took paper and wrote, 'He testifies that there is no God but Allah
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Son of Mary, is His slave, His apostle, His spirit and His word, which He
cast into Mary."' Then he put it in his gown near the right shoulder and went
out to the Abyssinians, who were drawn up in array to meet him. He said,
‘O people, have I not the best claim among you?' 'Certainly,' they said. 'And
what do you think of my life among you?' 'Excellent.' 'Then what is your
trouble ?' 'You have forsaken our religion and assert that Jesus is a slave.'
'"Then what do you say about Jesus?' 'We say that he is the Son of God.' The
Negus put his hand upon his breast over his gown, (signifying), 'He testifies
that Jesus, the Son of Mary, was no more than "this"." By this he meant
what he had written, but they were content and went away. News of this
reached the prophet, and when the Negus died he prayed over him and
begged that his sins might be forgiven.

'UMAR ACCEPTS ISLAM
When 'Amr and 'Abdullah came to the Quraysh, not having been able to

bring back the prophet's companions and having received a sharp rebuff
from the Negus, and when 'Umar became a Muslim, he being a strong,
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stubborn man whose protégés none dare attack, the prophet's companions
were so fortified by him and Hamza that they got the upper hand of
Quraysh. 'Abdullah b. Mas'ud used to say, 'We could not pray at the Ka'ba
until 'Umar became a Muslim, and then he fought the Quraysh until he
could pray there and we prayed with him.' '"Umar became a Muslim after the
prophet's companions had migrated to Abyssinia.

Al-Bakka'i said:'

Mis'ar b. Kidam from Sa'd b. Ibrahim said that 'Abdullah b. Mas'ud
said: "Umar's (conversion to) Islam was a victory; his migration to Medina
was a help; and his government was a divine mercy. We could not pray at
the Ka'ba until he became a Muslim, and when he did so he fought the
Quraysh until he could pray there and we joined him.'

'Abdu'l-:Rahman b. al-Harith b. 'Abdullah b. 'Ayyash b. Abu Rabi'a
from Abdu'l-'Aziz b. 'Abdullah b. 'Amir b. Rabi'a from his mother Umm
'Abdullah d. Abu Hathma who said: 'We were on the point of setting out for
Abyssinia, and 'Amir had gone out for something we needed, when 'Umar
came and stopped beside me, he being a polytheist at the time, and we were
receiving harsh treatment and affliction from him. He said, "So you are off,
O mother of 'Abdullah." "Yes," I said, "we are going to God's' country. You
have violently ill-treated us until God has given us a way out." He said,
"God be with you," and I saw in him a compassion which I had never seen
before. Then he went away, and I could see plainly that our departure
pained him; and when 'Amir came back with the thing he needed I said to
him, “O father of 'Abdullah, I wish you had seen 'U mar just now and the
compassion and sorrow he showed on our account." When he asked me if I
had hopes of his becoming a Muslim, I replied that I had, to which he
answered, "The man you saw will not become a Muslim until al-Khattab's
donkey does." This he said in despair of him because of his harshness and
severity against Islam.'

The Islam of 'Umar, so I have heard, was on this wise. His sister was
Fatima d. al-Khattab, and was married to Sa'id b. Zayd b. '"Amr b. Nufayl,
both of whom had become Muslims and conceaied the fact from 'Umar.
Now Nu'aym b. 'Abdullah al-Nahham, a man of his tribe from B. 'Adiy b.
Ka'b, had become a Muslim and he also conceaied the fact out of fear of his
people. Khabbab b. al-Aratt used often to come to Fatima to read the Quran
to her. One day 'Umar came out, girt with his sword, making for the
apostle, and a number of his companions, who he had been informed had
gathered in a house at al-Safa, in all about forty, including women. With the
apostle was his uncle Hamza, and Abu Bakr, and 'Ali, from among the
Muslims who stayed with the apostle and had not gone out with those who
went to Abyssinia. Nu'aym met him and asked him where he was going. 'l
am making for Muhammad, the apostate, who has split up the Quraysh,
made mockery of their traditions, insulted their faith and their gods, to kill
him.' 'You deceive yourself, 'Umar,' he answered, 'do you suppose that B.
'Abdu Manaf will allow you to continue waiking upon the earth when you
have killed Muhammad? Had not you better go back to your own family
and set their affairs in order?' 'What is the matter with my family?' he said.
"Your brother-in-law, your nephew Sa'id, and your sister Fatima, have both
become Muslims and followed Muhammad in his religion, so you had
better go and deal with them.' Thereupon 'Umar returned to his sister and
brother-in-law at the time when Khabbab was with them with the
manuscript of Ta Ha, which he was reading to them. When they heard
'Umar's voice Khabbab hid in a small room, or in a part of the house, and
Fatima took the page and put it under her thigh. Now 'Umar had heard the
reading of Khabbab as he came near the house, so when he came in he,
said, 'What is this balderdash I heard ?' "You have not heard anything,' they
answered. 'By God, I have,' he said, 'and I have been told that you have
followed Muhammad in his religion;' and he seized his brother-in-law Sa'id,
and his sister Fatima rose in defense of her husband, and he hit her and
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wounded her. When he did that they said to him, 'Yes, we are Muslims, and
we believe in God and His apostle, and you can do what you like." When
'Umar saw the blood on his sister he was sorry for what he had done and
turned back and said to his sister, 'Give me this sheet which I heard you
reading just now so that I may see just what it is which Muhammad has
brought,’ for 'Umar could write. When he said that, his sister replied that
she was afraid to trust him with it. 'Do not be afraid,’ he said, and he swore
by his gods that he would return it when he had read it. When he said that,
she had hopes that he would become a Muslim, and said to him, 'My
brother, you are unclean in your polytheism and only the clean may touch
it.! So 'Umar rose and washed himself and she gave him the page in which
was Ta Ha, and when he had read the beginning he said, 'How fine and
noble is this speech." When he heard that, Khabbab emerged and said, 'O
'Umar, by God, I hope that God has singled you out by His prophet's call,
for but last night I heard him saying, "O God, strengthen Islam by Abu'l-
Hakam b. Hisham or by 'Umar b. al-Khattab." Come to God, come to God,
O 'Umar.' At that 'Umar said, 'Lead me to Muhammad so that I may accept
Islam." Khab-bab replied that he was in a house at al-Safa with a number of
his com-panions. So 'Umar took his sword and girt it on, and made for the
apostle and his companions, and knocked on the door. When they heard his
voice one of the companions got up and looked through a chink in the door,
and when he saw him girt with his sword, he went back to the apostle in
fear, and said, 'It is 'Umar with his sword on.' Hamza said, 'Let him in; if he
has come with peaceful intent, we will treat him well ; if he has come with
ill intent, we will kill him with his own sword.' The apostle gave the word
and he was let in. The apostle rose and met him in the room, seized him
round the girdle or by the middle of his cloak, and dragged him along
violently, saying, 'What has brought you, son of Khattab, for by God, I do
not think you will cease (your persecution) until God brings caiamity upon
you.' 'Umar replied, 'O Apostle of God, I have come to you to believe in
God and His apostle and what he has brought from God.' The apostle gave
thanks to God so loudly that the whole household knew that 'Umar had
become a Muslim.

The companions dispersed, having become confident when both 'Umar
and Hamza had accepted Islam because they knew that they would protect
the apostle, and that they would get justice from their enemies through
them. This is the story of the narrators among the people of Medina about
'Umar's Islam.

'Abdullah b. Abu Najih, the Meccan, from his companions 'Ata' and
Mujahid, or other narrators, said that 'Umar's conversion, according to what
he used to say himself, happened thus: '1 was far from Islam. I was a
winebibber in the heathen period, used to love it and rejoice in it. We used
to have a meeting-place in al-Hazwara at which Quraysh used to gather'
near the houses of the family of 'Umar b. 'Abd b. 'Imran al-Makhzumi. I
went out one night, making for my boon companions in that gathering, but
when I got there, there was no one present, so I thought it would be a good
thing if I went to so-and-so, the wineseller, who was selling wine in Mecca
at the time, in the hope that I might get some-thing to drink from him, but I
could not find him either, so I thought it would be a good thing if I went
round the Ka'ba seven or seventy times. So I came to the mosque meaning
to go round the Ka'ba and there was the apostle standing praying. As he
prayed he faced Syria, putting the Ka'ba between himself and Syria. His
stance was between the black stone and the southern comer. When I saw
him I thought it would be a good thing if I could listen to Muhammad so as
to hear what he said. If I came near to listen to him I should scare him, so |
came from the direction of the hijr and got underneath its coverings and
began to walk gently. Meanwhile the prophet was standing in prayer
reciting the Quran until I stood in his qibla facing him, there being nothing
between us but the covering of the Ka'ba. When I heard the Quran my heart
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was softened and I wept, and Islam entered into me; but I ceased not to
stand "in my place until the apostle had finished his prayer. Then he went
away. When he went away he used to go past the house of the son of Abu
Husayn, which was on his way, so that he crossed the path where the
pilgrims run. Then he went between the house of 'Abbas and Ibn Azhar b.
'Abdu 'Auf al-Zuhri; then by the house of Al-Akhnas b. Shariq until he
entered his own house. His dwelling was in al-Dar al-Raqta', which was in
the hands of Mu'awiya b. Abu Sufyan. I continued to follow him, until
when he got between the house of 'Abbas and Ibn Azhar I overtook him,
and when he heard my voice he recognized me and supposed that I had
followed him only to ill-treat him, so he repelled me, saying, "What has
brought you at this hour?" I replied that I had come to believe in God and
His apostle and what he had brought from God. He gave thanks to God and
said, "God has guided you." Then he rubbed my breast and prayed that I
might be steadfast. Afterwards I left him. He went into his house.' But God
knows what the truth was.

Nafi' freedman of 'Abdullah b. 'Umar on the authority of Ibn 'Umar
said: When my father 'Umar became a Muslim he said, 'Which of the
Quraysh is best at spreading reports?' and was told that it was Jamil b.
Ma'mar al-Jumahi. So he went to him, and I followed after to see what he
was doing, for although I was very young at the time I understood
every-thing I saw. He went to Jamil and asked him if he knew that he had
become a Muslim and entered into Muhammad's religion; and, by God,
hardly had he spoken to him when he got up dragging his cloak on the
ground as 'Umar followed him and I followed my father, until he stood by
the door of the mosque and cried at the top of his voice while the Quraysh
were in their meeting-places round the Ka'ba, "Umar has apostatized,' while
'Umar behind him shouted, 'He is a liar; but I have become a Muslim and I
testify that there is no God but Allah and Muhammad is His servant and
apostle.' They got up to attack him and fighting went on between them until
the sun stood over their heads, and he became weary and sat down while
they stood over him, as he said, 'Do as you will, for I swear by God that if
we were three hundred men we would have fought it out on equal terms.' At
this point a shaykh of the Quraysh, in a Yamani robe and an embroidered
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told that 'Umar had apostatized he said, '"Why should not a man choose a
religion for himself, and what are you trying to do? Do you think that B.
'Adiy will surrender their companion to you thus? Let the man alone.' By
God, it was as though they were a garment stripped off him. I After my
father had migrated to Medina I asked him who the man was who drove
away the people on the day he became a Muslim while they were fighting
him, and he said, 'That, my son, was al-'As b. Wa'il al-Sahmi (200).'

'Abdu'l-Rahman b. al-Harith from one of 'Umar’s clan or one of his
family said that 'Umar said, "When I became a Muslim that night I thought
of the man who was the most violent in enmity against the apostle so that I
might come and tell him that [ had became a Muslim, and Abu Jahl came to
my mind.' Now 'Umar’s mother was Hantama d. Hisham b. ai-Mughira. So
in the morning I knocked on his door, and he came out and said, 'The best
of welcomes, nephew, what has brought you?' I answered that I had come
to tell him that I believed in God and His apostle Muham-mad and regarded
as true what he had brought. He slammed the door in my face and said,
'God damn you, and damn what you have brought.'

THE DOCUMENT PROCLAIMING A BOYCOTT
When Quraysh perceived that the apostle's companions had settled in a
land in peace and safety, and that the Negus had protected those who

sought refuge with him, and that "Umar had become a Muslim and that both
he and Hamza were on the side of the apostle and his companions, and that
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Islam had begun to spread among the tribes, they came together and
decided among themselves to write a document in which they should put a
boycott on B. Hashim and B. Muttalib that they should not marry their
women nor give women to them to marry; and that they should neither buy
from them nor sell to them, and when they agreed on that they wrote it in a
deed. Then they solemnly agreed on the points and hung the deed up in the
middle of the Ka'ba to remind them of their obligations. The writer of the
deed was Mangur b. 'Ikrima b. 'Amir b. Hashim b. 'Abdu Manaf b. 'Abdu'l-
Dar b. Qusayy (201) and the apostle invoked God against him and some of
his fingers withered.

When Quraysh did that, the two clans of B. Hashim and B. al-Muttalib
went to Abu Taiib and entered with him into his alley and joined him. Abu
Lahab 'Abdu'l-'Uzza went out from B. Hashim and helped Quraysh.

Husayn b. 'Abdullah told me that Abu Lahab met Hind d. 'Utba when he
had left his people and joined Quraysh against them, and he said, 'Haven't |
helped al-Lat and al-'Uzza and haven't I abandoned those who have
abandoned them and assisted their opponents?' She said, 'Yes, and may God
reward you well, O Abu 'Utba." And I was told that among the things that
he said were, "Muhammad promises me things which I do not see. He
alleges that they will happen after my death; what has he put in my hands
after that?' Then he blew on his hands and said, 'May you perish. I can see
nothing in you of the things which Muhammad says.'

So God revealed concerning him the words, 'Abu Lahab and his hands
God blast (202)."

When Quraysh had agreed on this and had done what has just been

described, Abu Taiib said:

Tell Lu'ayy, especially Lu'ayy of the Banu Ka'b,

News of our condition.

Did you not know that we have found Muhammad,

A prophet like Moses described in the oldest books,

And that love is bestowed on him (alone) of mankind

And that none is better than he whom God has singled out in love,

And that the writing you have fixed

Will be a caiamity like the cry of the hamstrung camel?”

Awake, awake before the grave is dug

And the blameless and the guilty are as one.

Follow not the slanderers, nor sever

The bonds of love and kinship between us.

Do not provoke a long-drawn-out war,

Often he who brings on war tastes its bitterness.

By the Lord of the temple we will not give up Ahmad,

To harsh misfortunes and times' troubles,

Before hands and necks, yours and ours,

Are cut by the gleaming blades of Qusas’

In a close-hemmed battlefield where you see broken spears

And black-headed vultures circling round like a thirsty crowd.

The galloping of the horses about the scene

And the shout of warriors are like a raging battle.

Did not our father Hashim gird up his loins

And teach his sons the sword and spear?

We do not tire of war until it tires of us;

We do not complain of misfortune when it comes.

We keep our heads and our velour

When the bravest lose heart in terror.

They remained thus for two or three years until they were- exhausted,
nothing reaching them except what came from their friends unknown to
Quraysh.
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Abu Jahl, so they say, met Hakim b.Hizam b. Khuwaylid b. Asad with
whom was a slave carrying flour intended for his aunt Khadija, the
pro-phet's wife, who was with him in the alley. He hung on to him and said,
'Are you taking food to the B. Hashim? By God, before you and your food
move from here I will denounce you in Mecca.' Abu'l-Bakhtari came to him
and said, "What is going on between you two?' When he said that Hakim
was taking food to the B. Hashim, he said: 'It is food he has which

belongs to his aunt and she has sent to him about it. Are you trying to
prevent him taking her own food to her? Let the man go his way!' Abu Jahl
refused until they came to blows, and Abu'l-Bakhtari took a camel's jaw
and knocked him down, wounded him, and trod on him violently, while
Hamza was looking on near by. They did not wish the apostle and his
companions to hear this news 'and rejoice over their discomfiture.
Meanwhile the apostle was exhorting his people night and day, secretly and
publicly, openly proclaiming God's command without fear of anyone.

THE ILL-TREATMENT THE APOSTLE RECEIVED FROM HIS
PEOPLE

His uncle and the rest of B. Hashim gathered round him and protected
him from the attacks of the Quraysh, who, when they saw that they could
not get at him, mocked and laughed at him and disputed with him. The
Quran began to come down concerning the wickedness of Quraysh and
those who showed enmity to him, some by name and some only referred to
in general. Of those named are his uncle Abu Lahab and his wife Umm
Jamil, 'the bearer of the wood'. God called her this because she, so I am
told, carried thorns and cast them in the apostle's way where he would be
passing. So God sent down concerning the pair of them:

Abu Lahab and his hands, God blast,

His wealth and gains useless at the last,

He shall roast in flames, held fast,

With his wife, the bearer of the wood, aghast,
On her neck a rope of palm-fiber cast. (203)"

I was told that Umm Jamil, the bearer of the wood, when she heard
what had come down about her and about her husband in the Quran, came
to the apostle of God, when he was sitting in the mosque by the Ka'ba with
Abu Bakr, with a stone pestle in her hand, and when she stood by the pair
of them God made her unable to see the apostle so that she saw only Abu
Bakr and asked him where his companion was, 'for I have been told that he
is satirizing me,” and by God, if I had found him I would have smashed his
mouth with this stone. By God, I am a poet.' Then she said:

We reject the reprobate,

His words we repudiate,

His religion we loathe and hate.’

Then she went off and Abu Bakr asked the apostle if he thought she
had seen him. He replied that she had not because God had taken her sight
away from him (204).

The Quraysh had called the apostle Mudhammam to revile him. He used
to say, 'Aren't you surprised at the injuries of the Quraysh which God turns
away from me? They curse me and satirize Mudhammam [reprobate]
whereas I am Muhammad [the laudable].'

[Another referred to in the Quran] is Umayya b. Khaiaf b. Wahb b.

Hudhafa b. Jumah. Whenever he saw the apostle he slandered and
reviled him, so God sent down concerning him, "Woe to every slandering
backbiter, who has gathered wealth and increased it, and thinks that his
wealth will make him immortal. No, he will be thrown to the devouring
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fire. What will make you realize what that is? It is God's fire kindled which
mounts over the hearts. It is shut in on them in wide columns (205)."

Khabbab b. al-Aratt, the prophet's companion was a smith in Mecca
who used to make swords. He sold some to al- 'As b. Wa'il so that he owed
him some money and he came to him to demand payment. He answered,
'Does not Muhammad, your companion whose religion you follow, allege
that in Paradise there is all the gold and silver and clothes and servants that
his people can desire?' 'Certainly,' said Khabbab. "Then give me till the day
of resurrection until I return to that house and pay your debt there; for by
God, you and your companion will be no more influential with God than I,
and have no greater share in it.' So God revealed concerning him, 'Have you
considered him who disbelieves Our signs and says, I shall be given wealth
and children. Hath he studied the unseen?' so far as the words, 'and we shall
inherit from him what he speaks of and he will come to us alone.”

Abu Jahl met the apostle, so I have heard, and said to him, 'By God,
Muhammad, you will either stop cursing our gods or we will curse the God
you serve.' So God revealed concerning that, 'Curse not those to whom they
pray other than God lest they curse God wrongfully through lack of
knowledge.' ® I have been told that the apostle refrained from cursing their
gods, and began to call them to Allah.

Al-Nadr b. al-Harith b. 'Aigama b. Kalada b. 'Abdu Manaf whenever
the apostle sat in an assembly and invited people to God, and recited the
Quran, and warned the Quraysh of what had happened to former peoples,
followed him when he got up and spoke to them about Rustum the Hero
and Isfandiyar and the kings of Persia, saying, 'By God, Muhammad cannot
tell a better story than I and his talk is only of old fables which he has
copied® as I have.' So God revealed concerning him, 'And they say, Stories
of the ancients which he has copied down, and they are read to him
morning and night. Say, He who knows the secrets of heaven and earth has
sent it down. Verily, He is merciful, forgiving."

And there came down concerning him, 'When Our verses are read to
him he says, fables of the ancients'. I

And again, "Woe to every sinful liar who hears God's verses read before
him. Then he continues in pride as though he had not heard them, as though
in his ears was deafness. Tell him about a painful punishment' (206).2

The apostle sat one day, so I have heard, with al-Walid b. al-Mughira in
the mosque, and al-Nadr b. al-Harith came and sat with them in the
assembly where some of Quraysh were. When the apostle spoke al-Nadr
interrupted him, and the apostle spoke to him until he silenced him. Then he
read to him and to the others: '"Verily ye and what ye serve other than God
is the fuel of hell. You will come to it. If these had been gods they would
not have come to it, but all will be in it everlastingly. There is wailing and
there they will not hear' (207).3

Then the apostle rose and 'Abdullah b. al-Ziba'ra al-Sahmi came and sat
down. Al-Walid said to him: 'By God al-Nadr could not stand up to the
(grand)son of 'Abdu'l-Muttalib just now and Muhammad alleged that we
and our gods are fuel for hell.' 'Abdullah said: 'If I had found him I would
have refuted him. Ask Muhammad, "Is everything which is worshipped
besides God in Gehenna with those who worship it?" We worship the
angels; the Jews worship 'Uzayr; and the Christians worship Jesus Son of
Mary." Al-Walid and those with him in the assembly marveled at
'Abdullah's words and thought that he had argued convincingly. When the
apostle was told of this he said: 'Everyone who wishes to be worshipped to
the exclusion of God will be with those who worship him. They worship
only satans and those they have ordered to be worshipped.' So God revealed
concerning that "Those who have received kindness from us in the past will
be removed far from it and will not hear its sound and they abide eternally
in their heart's desire',’ i.e. Jesus Son of Mary and 'Uzayr and those rabbis
and monks who have lived in obedience to God, whom the erring people

Jihad Sira 3/26/2010 38

236

237




238

worship as lords beside God. And He revealed concerning their assertion
that they worship angels and that they are the daughters of God, 'And they
say the Merciful has chosen a son, (exalted be He above this); nay, they are
but honoured slaves, they do not speak before He speaks, and they carry out
His commands', as far as the words, 'and he of them who says, I am God as
well as He, that one we shall repay with Gehenna. Thus do they repay the
sinful ones."”

***x* And He revealed concerning what he mentioned about Jesus, Son
of Mary, that he was worshipped beside God, and the astonishment of al-
Walid and those who were present, at his argument and disputation, 'And
when Jesus, Son of Mary, was cited as an example thy people laughed
thereat';' i.e. they rejected your attitude to what they say.”

Then He mentions Jesus, Son of Mary, and says, 'He was nothing but a
slave to whom We showed favor and made him an example to the children
of Israel. If We had wished We could have made from you angels to act as
vice-regents in the earth. Verily, there is knowledge of the [last] hour, so
doubt not about it but follow Me. This is an upright path,' i.e. the signs
which I gave him in raising the dead and heaiing the sick, therein is
sufficient proof of the knowledge of the hour. He says: 'Doubt not about it,
but follow Me. This is an upright path.'

AL-Akhnas b. Shariq b. 'Amr b. Wahb al- Thaqafi, ally of B. Zuhra,
was one of the leaders of his people who was listened to with respect, and
he used to give the apostle much trouble and contradict him, so God sent
down about him: 'Do not obey every feeble oath-taker, slanderer, walking
about with evil tales,' as far as the word 'zanim'.

He did not say zanim in the sense of 'ignoble' to insult his ancestry,
because God does not insult anyone's ancestry, but he confirmed thereby
the epithet given to him so that he might be known. Zanim means an
adopted member of the tribe. Al-Khatim al-Tamimi said in pagan days:

An outsider whom men invite as a supernumerary
As the legs are useless additions to the width of a pelt.

Al-Walid said: 'Does God send down revelations to Muhammad and
ignore me, the greatest chief of Quraysh, to say nothing of Abu Mas'ud
'Amr b. 'Umayr al-Thaqgafi, the chief of Thaqif, we being the great ones of
Ta'if and Mecca?' So God sent down concerning him, so I am told, "They
said, if this Quran had been revealed to a great man of the two towns,' as far
as the words, 'than what they amass'.4

Ubayy b. Khalaf b. Wahb b. Hudhafa and 'Ugba b. Abu Mu'ayt were
very close friends. Now 'Ugba had sat and listened to the apostle and when
Ubayy knew of that he came to him and said, 'Do I hear that you have sat
with Muhammad and listened to him? I swear I will never see you or speak
to You again (and he swore a great oath) if you do the same again, or if you
do not go and spit in his face.' 'Ugba, the enemy of God, actually did this,
God curse him. So God sent down concerning the pair of them, 'On the day
that the sinner bites his hands, saying, would that I had chosen a path with
the apostle,' as far as the words 'a deserter of men'."

Ubayy took to the apostle an old bone, crumbling to pieces, and said,
'Muhammad, do you allege that God can revivify this after it has decayed?'
Then he crumbled it in his hand and blew the pieces in the apostle's face.
The apostle answered : 'Yes, I do say that. God will raise it and you, after
you have become like this. Then God will send you to Hell.'" So God
revealed concerning him, 'He gave us a parable, and he forgot that he was
created, saying, who will revivify bones which are rotten? Say, He who
gave them life in the first instance will revivify them. He who knows about
all creation, who has made for you fire from the green wood, and lo, you
kindle flame from it.”
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There met the apostle, as he was going round the Ka'ba, so I have been
told,3 AL-Aswad b. al-Muttalib b. Asad b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza and al-Walid b. al-
Mughira and Umayya b. Khalaf and al-'As b. Wa'il al-Sahmi, men of
reputation among their people. They said: 'Muhammad, come let us
worship what you worship, and you worship what we worship. You and we
will combine in the matter. If what you worship is better than what we
worship we will take a share of it, and if what we worship is better than
what you worship, you can take a share of that.' So God revealed
con-cerning them, 'Say, a disbelievers, I do not worship what you worship,

and you do not worship what I worship, and I do not worship what you
worship, and you do not worship what I worship; you have your religion

T.1192

and I have mine,'4 i.e. If you will only worship God on condition that I
worship what you worship, I have no need of you at all. You can have your
religion, all of it, and I have mine.

(T. Now the apostle was anxious for the welfare of his people, wishing
to attract them as far as he could. It has been mentioned that he longed for a
way to attract them, and the method he adopted is what Ibn Hamid told me
that Salama said M. b. Ishaq told him from Yazid b. Ziyad of Medina from
M. b. Ka'b al-Qurazi: When the apostle saw that his people turned their
backs on him and he was pained by their estrangement from what he
brought them from God he longed that there should come to him from God
a message that would reconcile his people to him. Because of his love for
his people and his anxiety over them it would delight him if the obstacle
that made his task so difficult could be removed; so that he meditated on
the project and longed for it and it was dear to him. Then God sent down
'By the star when it sets your comrade errs not and is not deceived, he
speaks not from his own desire,' and when he reached His words 'Have you
thought of al-Lat and al- 'Uzza and Manat the third, the other',” Satan, when
he was meditating upon it, and desiring to bring it (SC. reconciliation) to his
people, put upon his tongue 'these are the exalted Gharaniq' whose
intercession is approved.” When Quraysh heard that, they were delighted
and greatly pleased at the way in which he spoke of their gods and they
listened to him; while the believers were holding that what their prophet
brought them from their Lord was true, not suspecting a mistake or a vain
desire or a slip, and when he reached the prostration3 and the end of the
Sura in which he prostrated himself the Muslims prostrated themselves
when their prophet prostrated confirming what he brought and obeying his
command, and the polytheists of Quraysh and others who were in the
mosque prostrated when they heard the mention of their gods, so that
everyone in the mosque believer and unbeliever pro-strated, except al-
Walid b. al-Mughira who was an old man who could not do so, so he took a
handful of dirt from the valley and bent over it. Then the people dispersed
and Quraysh went out, delighted at what had been said about their gods,
saying, Muhammad has spoken of our gods in splendid fashion. He alleged
in what he read that they are the exalted Gharaniq whose intercession is
approved.'

The news reached the prophet's companions who were in Abyssinia, it
being reported that Quraysh had accepted Islam, so some men started to
return while others remained behind. Then Gabriel came to the apostle and
said, 'What have you done, Muhammad ? You have read to these people
something I did not bring you from God and you have said what He did not
say to you. The apostle was bitterly grieved and was greatly in fear of God.
So God sent down (a revelation), for He was merciful to him, comforting
him and making light of the affair and telling him. that every prophet and
apostle before him desired as he desired and wanted what he wanted and
Satan interjected something into his desires as he had on his tongue. So
God annulled what Satan had suggested and God established His verses i.e.
you are just like the prophets and apostles. Then God sent down: 'We have
not sent a prophet or apostle before you but when he longed Satan cast
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suggestions into his longing. But God will annul what Satan has suggested.
Then God will establish his verses, God being knowing and wise.'4 Thus
God relieved his prophet's grief, and made him feel safe from his fears and
annulled what Satan had suggested in the words used above about their
gods by his revelation' Are yours the males and His the females? That were
indeed an unfair division' (i.e. most unjust); 'they are nothing but names
which your fathers gave them as far as the words 'to whom he pleases and
accepts',5 i.e. how can the intercession of their gods avail with Him?

When the annulment of what Satan had put upon the prophet's tongue
came from God, Quraysh said: '"Muhammad has repented of what he said
about the position of your gods with Allah, altered it and brought
some-thing else." Now those two words which Satan had put upon the
apostle's tongue were in the mouth of every polytheist and they became
more violently hostile to the Muslims and the apostle's followers.
Meanwhile those of his companions who had left Abyssinia when they
heard that the people of Mecca had accepted Islam when they prostrated
themselves with the apostle, heard when they approached Mecca that the
report was false and none came into the town without the promise of
protection or secretly. Of those who did come into Mecca and stayed there
until he migrated to Medina and were present at Badr with him was
'Uthman b. 'Affan ... with his wife Ruqayya d. of the apostle and Abu
Hudhayfa b. 'Utba with his wife Sahla d. of Suhayl, and a number of others,
in all thirty-three men."

Abu Jahl b. Hisham, when God mentioned the tree of al-Zagqum to
strike terror into them, said: ‘O Quraysh, do you know what the tree of al-
Zaqqum with which Muhammad would scare you is?' When they said that

they did not he said: 'It is Yathrib dates buttered. By Allah, if we get hold of 240
them we will gulp them down in one!' So God sent down con-cerning him,

'Verily the tree of al-Zaqqum is the food of the sinner like molten brass
seething in their bellies like boiling water,” i.e. it is not as he said (208).
God revealed concerning it, 'And the tree which is cursed in the Quran; and
We will frighten them, but it increases them in naught save great
wickedness."”

Al-Walid was having a long conversation with the apostle who greatly
desired to convert him to Islam when I. Umm Maktum, a blind man, passed
by and began to ask the apostle to recite the Quran. The prophet found this
hard to bear and it annoyed him, because he was diverting him from al-
Walid and spoiling the chance of his conversion; and when the man became
importunate he went off frowning and left him. So God revealed
concerning him, 'He frowned and turned his back when the blind man came
to him' as far as the words 'in books honoured, exalted, and purified', *ie. 1
sent you only to be an evangelist and a reprover; I did not specify one
person to the exclusion of another, so withhold not (the message) from him
who seeks it, and do not waste time over one who does not want it (209).

THE RETURN OF THOSE WHO HAD FLED TO ABYSSINIA 241

The apostle's companions who had gone to Abyssinia heard that the
Meccans had accepted Islam and they set out for the homeland. But when
they got near Mecca they learned that the report was false, so that they
entered the town under the protection of a citizen or by stealth. Some of
those who returned to him stayed in Mecca until they migrated to Medina
and were present at Badr and Uhud with the apostle; others were shut away
from the prophet until Badr and other events were passed; and others died
in Mecca. They were:

From B. 'Abdu Shams b. 'Abdu Manaf b. Qusayy: 'Uthman b. 'Affan b.
Abu'l-'As b. Umayya b. 'Abdu Shams and his wife, the apostle's daughter
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Rugayya; Abu Hudhayfa b. 'Utba b. Rabia and his wife Sahla d. Suhayl b.
'Amr; and one of their allies 'Abdullah b. Jahsh b. Ri'ab.

From B. Naufal b. 'Abdu Manaf: 'Utba b. Ghazwan, an ally of theirs
from Qays b. 'Aylan.

From B. Asad b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza b. Qusayy: al-Zubayr b. al-'Awwam b.
Khuwaylid b. Asad.

From B. 'Abdu'l-Dar b. Qusayy: Mus'ab b. 'Umayr b. Hashim b. 'Abdu
Manaf; and Suwaybit b. Sa'd .Harmala.

From B. 'Abd b. Qusayy: Tulayb b. '"Umayr b. Wahb.

From B. Zuhra b. Kilab: 'Abdu'l-Rahman b. 'Auf b. 'Abdu 'Auf b. 'Abd
b. al-Harith b. Zuhra; and al-Miqdad b. 'Amr an ally, and 'Abdullah b.
Mas'ud also an ally.

From B. Makhzum b. Y Yaqaza: Abu Salama b. 'Abdu'l-Asad b. Hilal
b. 'Abdullah b. 'Amr with his wife Umm Salama d. Abu Umayya b. al-
Mughira; and Shammas b. 'Uthman b. al-Sharid b. Suwayd b. Harmiy b.
'Amir; and Salama b. Hisham b. al-Mughira whom his uncle imprisoned in
Mecca so that he did not get to Medina until after Badr and Uhud and the
Trench; 'Ayyash b. Abu Rabi'a b. al-Mughira. He migrated to Medina with
the prophet, and his two brothers on his mother's side followed him and
brought him back to Mecca and held him there until the three battles were
over. Their names were Abu Jahl and al-Harith, sons of Hisham. Of their
allies 'Ammar b. Yasir, though it is doubted whether he went to Abyssinia
or not; and Mu'attib b. 'Auf b. 'Amir b. Khuza'a.

From B. Jumah b. 'Amr b. Husays b. Ka'b: 'Uthman b. Maz’un b. Habib
b. Wahb b.Hudhafa and his son al-Sa'ib b. 'Uthman; and Qudama b.
Maz'un; and 'Abdullah b. Maz'un.

From B. Sahm b. 'Amr b. Husays b. Ka'b: Khunays b. Hudhafa b. Qays
b. 'Adiy; and Hisham b. al-'As b. Wa'il who was imprisoned in Mecca after
the apostle migrated to Medina until he turned up after the three battles
above mentioned.

From B. 'Adiy b. Ka'b: 'Amir b. Rabi'a; one of their allies, with his wife
Layla d. Abu Hathma b. Hudhafa b. Ghanim.

From B. 'Amir b. Lu'ayy: 'Abdullah b. Makhrama b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza b.
Abu Qays; Abdullah b. Suhayl b.'Amr. He was held back from the apostle
of God when he emigrated to Medina until when the battle of Badr was
joined he deserted the polytheists and joined the battle on the side of the
apostle. Abu Sabra b. Abu Ruhm b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza with his wife Umm
Kulthum d. Suhayl b. 'Amr; Sakran b. 'Amr b. 'Abdu Shams

with his wife Sauda d. Zama'a b. Qays. He died in Mecca before the
apostle emigrated and the apostle married his widow Sauda. Lastly Sa'd b.
Khaula, one of their allies.

From B. I-Harith b. Fihr: Abu 'Ubayda b. al-Jarrah whose name was
'Amir b. 'Abdullah; 'Amr b. al-Harith b. Zuhayr b. Abu Shaddad; Suhayl b.
Bayda' who was the son of Wahb b. Rabi'a b. Hilal; and 'Amr

b. Abu Sarh). b. Rabi'a b. Hilal.

The total number of his companions who came to Mecca from
Abyssinia was thirty-three men. The names given to us of those who
entered under promise of protection are 'Uthman b. Maz'un protected by al-
Walid b. al-Mughira; Abu Salama under the protection of Abu Talib who
was his uncle, Abu Salama's mother being Barra d. 'Abdu'l-Muttalib.

'UTHMAN B. MAZ'UN RENOUNCES AL-WALID'S PROTECTION

Salif). b. Ibrahim b. 'Abdu'l-Rahman b. 'Auf told me from one who had
got it from 'Uthman saying: When 'Uthman b. Maz'un.saw the misery in
which the apostle's companions were living while he lived night and day
under al-Walid's protection he said, 'It is more than I can bear that I should
be perfectly safe under the protection of a polytheist while my friends and
co-religionists are afflicted and distressed for God's sake.' So he went to al-
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Walid and renounced his protection. 'Why, nephew,' he asked, 'Can it be
that one of my people has injured you?' 'No,' he answered, 'but I want to be
under God's protection: I don't want to ask for anyone else's.' Al-Walid
asked him to come to the mosque and re-nounce his protection publicly as
he had given it publicly. When they got there al-Walid said: "Uthman here
has come to renounce my protection.' "True,' said the latter, 'l have found
him loyal and honorable in his protection, but I don't want to ask anyone
but God for protection; so I give him back his promise!' So saying he went
away.

[On another occasion when] Labid b. Rabi'a b. Malik b. Ja'far b. Kilab
was in an assembly of the Quraysh when 'Uthman was present he recited a
verse:

Everything but God is vain,
True! interjected 'Uthman; but when he went on:
And everything lovely must inevitably cease,

'Uthman cried, 'You lie! The joy of Paradise' will never cease.' Labid
said: ‘O men of Quraysh your friends never used to be annoyed thus. Since
when has this sort of thing happened among you?' One of the audience
answered: 'This is one of those louts with Muhammad. They have
abandoned our religion. Take no notice of what he says.' 'Uthman objected
so energetically that the matter became serious. Whereupon that man rose
to his feet and hit him in the eye so that it became black. Now al-Walid was
hard by watching what happened to 'Uthman and he said: ‘O nephew, your
eye need not have suffered this had you remained in sure protection.'
'Uthman answered: 'Nay by God my good eye needs what happened to its
fellow for God's sake, and I am under the protection of One who is stronger
and more powerful than you, O Abu 'Abdu Shams.' Al-Walid only said,
'Come, nephew, my protection is airways open to you,' but he declined it.

HOW ABU SALAMA FARED WITH HIS PROTECTOR

My father Ishaq b. Yasar on the authority of Salama b. 'Abdullah b.
'Umar b. Abu Salama told me that he told him that when Abu Salama had
asked Abu Talib’s protection some of the B. Makhzum went to him and
said: 'You have protected your nephew Muhammad from us, but why are
you protecting our tribesman?' He answered: 'He asked my protection and
he is my sister's son. If I did not protect my sister's son I could not protect
my brother's son.' Thereupon Abu Lahab rose and said: ‘O Quraysh, you
have continually attacked this shaykh for giving his protection among his
own people. By God, you must either stop this or we will stand in with him
until he gains his object." They said that they would not do anything to
annoy him, for he had Aided and abetted them against the apostle, and they
wanted to keep his support.

Hearing him speak thus Abu Talib hoped that he would support him in
protecting the apostle, and composed the following lines urging Abu Lahab
to help them both:

A man whose uncle is Abu 'Utayba

Is in a garden where he is free from violence.

I say to him (and how does such a man need my advice?)
O Abu Mu'tib stand firm upright.

Never in your life adopt a course

For which you will be blamed when men meet together.
Leave the path of weakness to others,

For you were not born to remain weak.
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Fight! For war is fair;

You will never see a warrior humiliated till he surrenders.
How should you when they have done you no great injury
Nor abandoned you in the hour of victory or defeat?

God requite for us '"Abdu Shams and Naufal and Taym

And Makhzum for their desertion and wrong

In parting from us after affection and amity

So that they might get unlawful gains.

By God's House you lie! Never will we abandon Muhammad
Before you see a dust-raising day in the shi'b (210).'

ABU BAKR ACCEPTS IBN AL-DUGHUNNA'S PROTECTION
AND THEN ABANDONS IT

Muhammad b. Muslim b. Shihab al-Zuhri from 'Urwa from 'A'isha told
me that when the situation in Mecca became serious and the apostle and his
companions suffered ill treatment from the Quraysh, Abu Bakr asked the
apostle's permission to emigrate, and he agreed. So Abu Bakr set forth and
when he had gone a day or two's journey from Mecca he fell in with Ibn al-
Dughunna, the brother of the B. Harith b. 'Abdu Manat b. Kinana, who was
at that time head of the Ahabish. (They were the B. al-Harith; and Al-Hun
b. Khuzayma b. Mudrika; and the B. al-Mustaliq of Khuza'a.) (211.)

Replying to Ibn al-Dughunna's inquiries Abu Bakr told him that his
people had driven him out and ill-treated him. 'But why,' he exclaimed,
'when you are an ornament of the tribe, a standby in misfortune, always
kindly in supplying the wants of others? Come back with me under my
protection.' So he went back with him and Ibn al-Dughunna publicly
proclaimed that he had taken him under his protection and none must treat
him other than well.

"He continued: Abu Bakr had a mosque by the door of his house among
the B. Jumah where he used to pray. He was a tender-hearted man and
when he read the Quran I he was moved to tears. Youths, slaves, and
women used to stand by him astonished at his demeanor. Some men of
Quraysh went to Ibn al-Dughunna saying, 'Have you given this fellow
protection so that he can injure us? Lo, he prays and reads what
Muhammad has produced and his heart becomes soft and he weeps. And he
has a striking appearance so that we fear he may seduce our youths and
women and weak ones. Go to him and tell him to go to his own house and
do what he likes there.' So Ibn al-Dughunna went to him and said: 'I did not
give you protection so that you might injure your people. They dislike the
place you have chosen and suffer hurt therefrom, so go into your house and
do what you like there." Abu Bakr asked him if he wanted him to renounce
his protection and when he said that he did he gave him back his guarantee.
Ibn al-Dughunna got up and told the Quraysh that Abu Bakr was no longer
under his protection and that they could do what they liked with him.

'Abdu'l-Rahman b. al-Qasim told me from his father al-Qasim b.
Muhammad that as Abu Bakr was going to the Ka'ba one of the loutish
fellows of Quraysh met him and threw dust on his head. Al-Walid b. al-
Mughira, or it may have been al-'As b. Wa'il, passed him and he said: 'Do
you see what this lout has done to me?' He replied, "You have done it to
yourself!' Meanwhile he was saying three times ‘O Lord how
long-suffering Thou art!'

THE ANNULLING OF THE BOYCOTT

The B. Hashim and the B. al-Muttalib were in the quarters which
Quraysh had agreed upon in the document they wrote, when a number of
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Quraysh took steps to annul the boycott against them. None took more
trouble in this than Hisham b. 'Amr ... for the reason that he was the son of
a brother to Nadla b. Hashim b. Abdu Manaf by his mother and was closely
attached to the B. Hashim. He was highly esteemed by his people. I have
heard that when these two clans were in their quarter he used to bring a
camel laden with food by night and then when he had got it to the mouth of
the alley he took off its halter, gave it a whack on the side, and sent it into
the alley to them. He would do the same thing another time, bringing
clothes for them.

He went to Zuhayr b. Abu Umayya b. al-Mughira whose mother was
'Atika d. 'Abdu'l-Muttalib and said: 'Are you content to eat food and wear
clothes and marry women while you know of the condition of your
maternal uncles? They cannot buy or sell, marry, nor give in marriage. By
God I swear that if they were the uncles of Abu'l-Hakam b. Hisham and
you asked him to do what he has asked you to do he would never agree to
it." He said, 'Confound you, Hisham, what can I do? I'm only one man. By
God if I had another man to back me I would soon annul it.' He said, 'I have
found a man. Myself.' 'Find another,' said he. So Hisham went to AI-Mut'im
b. 'Adiy and said, 'Are you content that two clans of the B. 'Abdu Manaf
should perish while you look on consenting to follow Quraysh? You will
find that they will soon do the same with you.' He made the same reply as
Zuhayr and demanded a fourth man, so Hisham went to Abu'l-Bakhtari b.
Hisham who asked for a fifth man, and then to Zama'a b. Al-Aswad b. al-
Muttalib b. Asad and reminded him of their kinship and duties. He asked
whether others were willing to cooperate in this task and he gave him the
names of the others. They all arranged to meet at night on the nearest point
of al-Hajun above Mecca, and there they bound themselves to take up the
question of the document until they had secured its annulment. Zuhayr
claimed the right to act and speak first. So on the morrow when the people
met together Zuhayr clad in a long robe went round the Ka'ba seven times;
then he came forward and said: ‘O people of Mecca, are we to eat and
clothe ourselves while the B. Hashim perish, unable to buy or sell? By God
I will not sit down until this evil boycotting document is tom up!' Abu Jahl,
who was at the side of the mosque; exclaimed, 'You lie by Allah. It shall
not be torn up.' Zama'a said, 'You are a greater liar; we were not satisfied
with the document when it was written'. Abu'l-Bakhtari said, 'Zama'a is
right. We are not satisfied with what is written and we don't hold with it.'
AL-Mut'im said, "You are both right and anyone who says otherwise is a
liar. We take Allah to witness that we dissociate ourselves from the whole
idea and what is written in the docu-ment.' Hisham spoke in the same sense.
Abu Jahl said: 'This is a matter which has been decided overnight. It has
been discussed somewhere else.' Now Abu Talib was sitting at the side of
the mosque. When al-Mut'im went up to the document to tear it in pieces he
found that worms had already eaten it except the words 'In Thy name O
Allah'. (T. This was the customary formula with which Quraysh began their
writing.) The writer of the deed was Mansur b. 'Tkrima. It is alleged that his
hand shriveled (212).

When the deed was torn up and made of none effect Abu Talib
com-posed the following verses in praise of those who had taken part in the
annulment:

Has not our Lord's doing come to the ears of those

Far distant across the sea' (for Allah is very kind to men),

Telling them that the deed was torn up

And all that was against God's wish had been destroyed?

Lies and sorcery were combined in it,

But sorcery never gets the upper hand.

Those not involved in it assembled together for it in a remote place’
While its bird of ill omen hovered within its head.’
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It was such a heinous offence that it would be fitting
That because of it hands and necks should be severed
And that the people of Mecca should go forth and flee,
Their hearts quaking for fear of evil

And the ploughman be left in doubt what to do-
Whether to go down to the lowland or up to the hills- 250

And an army come up between Mecca's hills
Equipped with bows, arrows, and spears.

He of Mecca's citizens whose power rises

(Let him know) that our glory in Mecca's vale is older.
We grew up there when men were few

And have ever waxed great in honor and reputation.
We feed our guests till they leave a dish untasted
When the hands of the maysir players would begin to tremble.
God reward the people in al-Hajun who swore allegiance®
To a chief who leads with decision and wisdom,
Sitting by the near side of al-Hajun as though princes,
Nay they are even more noble and glorious.

Every bold man helped therein

Clad in mail so long that it slowed his stride,

Running to' portentous deeds

Like a flame burning in the torchbearer's hands.

The noblest of Lu'ayy b. Ghalib's line

When they are wronged their faces show their anger.
With long cord to his sword half his shank bare.

For his sake the clouds give rain and blessing.

Prince son of prince of princely hospitality

Gathering and urging food on his guests.

Building and preparing safety for the tribesmen

When we walk through the land.

Every blameless man kept this peace.

A great leader, there was he praised.

They accomplished their work in a night

While others slept; in the morning they took their ease.
They sent back Sahl b. Baida' well pleased

And Abu Bakr and Muhammad rejoiced thereat.
When have others joined in our great exploits,

From of old have we shown each other affection?
Never have we approved injustice.

We got what we wanted without violence.

O men of Qusayy, won't you consider,

Do you want what will befall you tomorrow?

For you and I are as the words of the saying:

'You have the explanation if you could only speak, O Aswad.”

Mourning al-Mutim b. 'Adiy and mentioning his stand in getting the
deed annulled, Hassan b. Thabit composed the following:’

251 Weep O eye the people's leader, be generous with thy tears.

If they run dry, then pour out blood.

Mourn the leader of both the pilgrim sites’

To whom men owe gratitude so long as they can speak.

If glory could immortalize anyone

His glory would have kept Mutim alive today.

You protected God's apostle from them and they became

Thy slaves so long as men cry labbayka and don the pilgrim garb.
If Ma'add and Qahtan and all the rest

Of Jurhum were asked about him

They would say he faithfully performs his duty to protect
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And if he makes a covenant he fulfils it.

The bright sun above them does not shine

On a greater and nobler than he;

More resolute in refusing yet most lenient in nature,

Sleeping soundly on the darkest night though responsible for his guest
(213).

Hassan also said in praise of Hisham b. 'Amr for his part in the matter
of the deed:

Is the protection of the Banu Umayya a bond

As trustworthy a guarantee as that of Hisham?

Such as do not betray their protégés

Of the line of al-Harith b. Hubayyib b. Sukham.
When the Banu Hisl grant protection

They keep their word and their protégé lives securely.

AL-TUFAYL B. ‘AMR AL-DAUSI ACCEPTS ISLAM

In spite of his people's behavior the apostle was continually giving them
good counsel and preaching salvation from their evil state. When God
protected him from them they began to warn all new-comers against him.

Al-Tufayl used to say that he came to Mecca when the apostle was
there and some of the Quraysh immediately came up to him. (He was a poet
of standing and an intelligent man.) They told him that this fellow had done
them much harm; had divided their community and broken up its unity; 'in
fact he talks like a sorcerer separating a man from his father, his brother, or
his wife. We are afraid that he will have the same effect on you and your
people, so don't speak to him or listen to a word from him.'

They were so insistent that I decided not to listen to a word or to speak
to him and I went so far as to stuff cotton in my ears when I went to the
mosque fearing that I might overhear a word or two against my will. When
I got to the mosque there was the apostle of God standing at prayer by the
Ka'ba, so I stood near him. God had decreed that I should hear something of
his speech and I heard a beautiful saying. So I said to myself, 'God bless my
soul! Here am I, an intelligent man, a poet, knowing perfectly well the
difference between good and evil, so what is to prevent me from listening
to what this man is saying? If it is good I shall accept it; if it is bad I shall
reject it.'

I stayed until the apostle went to his house and I followed him and
entered his house with him. I told him what his people had said and that
they had so scared me that I had stuffed cotton in my ears lest I should
hear what he was saying. But God had not allowed me to remain deaf
and I heard a beautiful saying. 'So explain the matter to me,' I said. The
apostle explained Islam to me and recited the Quran to me. By God I
never heard anything finer nor anything more just. So I became a
Muslim and bore true witness. I said, ‘O prophet of God, I am a man of
authority among my people and when I go back and call them to Islam,
pray to God to give me a sign which will help me when I preach to
them.' He said, ‘O God give him a sign.'

So I went back to my people and when I came to the pass which
would bring me down to the settlement a light like a lamp played
between my eyes and I said, ‘O God, not in my face! for I fear that they
will think that a dire punishment has befallen my face because I have
left their religion.' So the light moved and lighted on the top of my
whip. The people began to look at that light attached to my whip like a
candle while I was coming down from the pass to them.

When I got down my father came to me (he was a very old man) and
I said, 'Be off with you, father, for I have nothing to do with you or you
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with me!' 'But why, my son?' said he. I said, 'l have become a Muslim
and follow the religion of Muhammad.' He said, 'All right, my son, then
my religion is your religion.' So I said, 'Then go and wash yourself and
clean your clothes; then come and I will teach you what I have been
taught.' He did so; I explained Islam to him and he became a Muslim.

Then my wife came to me and I said: 'Be off with you, for I have
nothing to do with you or you with me'. "Why?' she said, 'my father and
mother be your ransom!' I said, 'Islam has divided us and I follow the
religion of Muhammad.' She said, 'Then my religion is your religion.' I
said, 'Then go to the hina' (207) (temenos?) of Dhu'l-Shara” and cleanse
yourself from it.' Now Dhu'l-Shara was an image belonging to Daus and
the hima was the temenos which they had made sacred to him; in it there
was a trickle of water from a rivulet from the mountain. She asked me
urgently, 'Have you any fear from Dhu'l-Shara on my account’s 'No,' I
said, 'T will go surety for that.' So she went and washed and when she
returned I explained Islam to her and she became a Muslim.

Then I preached Islam to Daus but they held back, and I went to the
apostle in Mecca and said, ‘O prophet of God, frivolous preoccupation*
has been too much for me with Daus, so invoke a curse on them.' But he
said, ‘O God, guide Daus! Go back to your people and preach to them
gently.' I continued in the Daus country calling them to Islam until the
apostle migrated to Medina and Badr, Uhud, and the Trench were
passed. Then I went to the apostle with my converts while he was in
Khaybar. 1 arrived at Medina with seventy or eighty households of
Daus, and then we joined the apostle in Khaybar and he gave us an
equal share of the booty with the Muslims.

I remained with the apostle until God opened Mecca to him and then
I asked him to send me to burn Dhu'l-Kaffayn,' the image of 'Amr b.
Humama. As he lit the fire he said:

Not of your servants am I, Dhu'l-Kaffayn,

Our birth is far more ancient than thine.

To stuff this fire in your heart I pine.

He returned to Medina to the apostle and remained with him until
God took him. When the Arabs revolted he sided with the Muslims and
fought with them until they disposed of Tulayha and the whole of Najd.
Then he went with the Muslims to the Yamama with his son 'Amr, and
while on the way he saw a vision of which he told his companions
asking for an interpretation. 'l saw my head had been shaved and a bird
was coming out of my mouth and a woman met me and took me into
her womb, and I saw my son seeking me anxiously; then I saw him
withheld from me." They said that they hoped it would prove a good
omen, but he went on to say that he himself would provide the
interpretation of it. The shaving of his head meant that he would lay it
down; the bird which flew from his mouth was his spirit; and the
woman who received him into her womb was the earth which would be
opened for him and he would be hidden therein; his son's vain search
for him meant that he would try to attain what he had attained. He was
slain as a martyr in al-Yamama while his son was severely wounded
and recovered later. He was actually killed in the year of the Yarmuk in
the time of 'Umar, dying as a martyr (216).

THE AFFAIR OF THE IRASHITE WHO SOLD HIS CAMELS
TO ABU JAHL

Despite Abu Jahl's hostility, hatred, and violence towards the apostle
God humiliated him before him whenever he saw him.

I was told by 'Abdu'l-Malik b. 'Abdullah b. Abu Sufyan al Thaqafi
who had a good memory: A man from !rash (209) brought some camels

Jihad Sira 3/26/2010 48

255

257




258

of his to Mecca and Abu Jahl bought them from him. He kept back the
money, so the man came to the assembly of Quraysh when the apostle
was sitting at the side of the mosque and said: "Who among you will
help me to get what is due to me from Abu'l-Hakam b. Hisham? I am a
stranger, a wayfarer, and he will not pay his debt." They said: 'Do you
see that man sitting there?' pointing to the apostle. (In fact they were
making game of him for they knew quite well of the enmity between
him and Abu Jahl.) 'Go to him. He'll help you to your right.'

So the man went and stood over the apostle and said, ‘O Servant of
God, Abu'l-Hakam b. Hisham has withheld the money he owes me. I
am a stranger, a wayfarer, and I asked these men to tell me of someone
who would help me to my right and they pointed to you, so get my
money from him, God bless you.' He said, Go to him,' and the apostle
got up and went with him. When they saw this, the men said to one of
their number, 'Follow him.' The apostle went to his house and knocked
on the door, and when he asked who was there he said, '"Muhammad!
Come out to me.! He came out to him pale with agitation, and the
apostle said, 'Pay this man his due.' 'One moment until I give him his
money," he said, and went indoors and came out again with the amount
he owed and paid it to the man. The apostle went away saying, 'Go
about your business.' The Irashite went back to the gathering and said,
'May God reward him, for he has got me my due.’

Then the man they had sent after them came back and reported what
he had seen. 'It was extraordinary,' he said; 'he had hardly knocked on
the door when out he came breathless with agitation,' and he related
what had been said. Hardly had he done so when Abu Jahl himself came
up and they said: "Whatever has happened, man ? We've never seen
anything like what you've done.' 'Confound you,' he said; 'By God as
soon as he knocked on my door and I heard his voice I was filled with
terror. And when I went out to him there was a camel stallion towering
above his head. I've never seen such a head and shoulders and such
teeth on a stallion before. By God, if I'd refused to pay up he would
have eaten me."

RUKAN A AL-MUTT ALIBI WRESTLES WITH THE APOSTLE

My father Ishaq b. Yasar told me saying: Rukana b. 'Abdu Yazid b.
Hashim b. 'Abdu'l-Muttalib b. 'Abdu Manaf was the strongest man
among Quraysh, and one day he met the apostle in one of the passes of
Mecca alone: 'Rukana,' said he, 'why won't you fear God and accept my
preaching?' 'If I knew that what you say is true I would follow you,' he
said. The apostle then asked him if he would recognize that he spoke the
truth if he threw him, and when he said Yes they began to wrestle, and
when the apostle got a firm grip of him he threw him to the ground, he
being unable to offer any effective resistance. 'Do it again, Muhammad,'
he said, and he did it again. 'This is extraordinary, he said, 'can you
really throw me?' 'l can show you something more wonderful than that
if you wish. I will call this tree that you see and it will come to me.'
'Call it,' he said. He

called it and it advanced until it stood before the apostle. Then he
said, 'Retire to your' place,’ and it did so.

Then Rukana went to his people the B. '"Abdu Mana and told them
that their tribesman could compete with any sorcerer in the world, for he
had never seen such sorcery in his life, and he went on to tell them of
what he had seen and what Muhammad had done.

A DEPUTATION OF CHRISTIANS ACCEPT ISLAM
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While the apostle was in Mecca some twenty Christians came to him
from Abyssinia when they heard news of him. They found him in the
mosque and sat and talked with him, asking him questions, while some
Qurayshites were in their meeting round the Ka'ba. When they had
asked all the questions they wished the apostle invited them to come to
God and read the Quran to them. When they heard the Quran their eyes
flowed with tears, and they accepted God's' call, believed in him, and
declared his truth. They recognized in him the things which had been
said of him in their scriptures. When they got up to go away Abu Jahl
with a number of Quraysh intercepted them, saying, 'God, what a
wretched band you are! Your people at home sent you to bring them
information about the fellow, and as soon as you sat with him you
renounced your religion and believed what he said. We don't know a
more asinine band than you,' or words to that effect. They answered:
'Peace be upon you. We will not engage in foolish controversy with
you. We have our religion and you have yours. We have not been
remiss in seeking what is best.'

It is said that these Christians came from Najran, but God knows
whether that was so. It is also said, and again God knows best, that it
was in reference to them that the verses '"Those to whom we brought the
book aforetime, they believe in it. And when it is read to them they say
We believe in it. Verily it is the truth from our Lord. Verily aforetime
we were Muslims,' as far as the words, "We have our works and you
have your works. Peace be upon you; we desire not the ignorant.”

I asked Ibn Shihab al-Zuhri about those to whom these verses had
reference and he told me that he had always heard from the 'learned that
they were sent down concerning the Negus and his companions and also
the verses from the sura of The Table from the words 'That is because
there are of them presbyters and monks and because they are not proud'
up to the words' So inscribe us with those who bear witness'.”

When the apostle used to sit in the mosque with his more
insignificant companions such as Khabbab, 'Ammar, Abu Fukayha,
Yasar, freedman of Safwan b. Umayya b. Muharrith, Suhayb, and their
like, Quraysh used to jeer at them and say to one another, 'These are his
companions, as you see. Is it such creatures that God has chosen from
among us to give guidance and truth? If what Muhammad has brought
were a good thing these fellows would not have been the first to get it, and
God would not have put them before us.' God revealed concerning them:
'Drive not away those who call upon their Lord night and morning seeking
His face. You are in no way responsible for them, and they are in no way
responsible for you, so that you should drive them away and become an
evildoer. Thus We tempt some by others that they may say, Are these they
whom God has favored among us? Does not God know best about the
grateful? And when those who believe in Our signs come to thee say Peace
be upon you. Your Lord hath prescribed for Himself mercy that he who
doeth evil in ignorance and repenteth afterwards and doeth right (to him)
He is forgiving, merciful."

According to my information the apostle used often to sit at al-Marwa
at the booth of a young Christian called Jabr,2 a slave of the B. al-Hadrami,
and they used to say 'The one who teaches Muhammad most of what he
brings is Jabr the Christian, slave of the B. al-Hadrami.' Then God revealed
in reference to their words 'We well know that they say, "Only a mortal
teaches him".' The tongue of him at whom they hint is foreign, and this is a
clear Arabic tongue (218).°

THE COMING DOWN OF THE SURA AL-KAUTHAR
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I have been told that when the apostle was mentioned Al-'As b. Wa'il
al-Sahmi used to say, 'Let him alone for he is only a childless man with no
offspring. If he were to die, his memory would perish and you would have
rest from him.' God sent down in reference to that: "We have given you al-
Kauthar,"* something which is better for you than the world and all that it
holds. Kauthar means 'great'. Labid b. Rabi'a al-Kilab ' said:

We were distressed at the death of the owner of Maihub’
And at al-Rida" is the house of another great man (kauthar) (219).

Ja'far b. 'Amr (220) told me on the authority of 'Abdullah b. Muslim the
brother of Muhammad b. Muslim b. Shihab al-Zuhri from Anas b. Malik
that the latter said: 'When the apostle was asked what Kauthar was which
God had given to him I heard him say It is a river as broad as from San'a' to
Ayla. Its water pots are in number as the stars of heaven. Birds go down to
it with necks like camels. 'Umar b. al-Khattab said, O apostle of God the
birds must be happy!" He answered "He who eats them will be happier
still!"’

In this connection (or perhaps some other) I heard that he said: 'He that
drinketh thereof shall never thirst."

THE COMING DOWN OF "WHY HAS NOT AN ANGEL BEEN
SENT DOWN TO HIM?'

The apostle called his people to Islam and preached to them, and
Zama'a b. al-Aswad, and al-Nadr b. al-Harith, and al-Aswad b. 'Abdu
Yaghuth, and Ubayy b. Khalaf, and al-'As b. Wa'il said: “O Muhammad, if
an angel had been sent with thee to speak to men about thee and to be seen
with thee!' Then God sent down concerning these words of theirs: '"They say
Why hath not an angel been sent down to him? If We sent an angel down
the matter would be settled; they would be given no more time. Had We
appointed him an angel We would have appointed him as a man and We
should have obscured for them what they obscure.”

THE COMING DOWN OF 'APOSTLES HAVE BEEN MOCKED
BEFORE THEE'

I have heard that the apostle passed by al-Walid b. al-Mughira and
Umayya b. Khaiaf and Abu Jahl b. Hisham and they reviled and mocked
him, and this caused him distress. So God sent down to him concerning
this: 'Apostles have been mocked before thee, but that which they mocked
at hemmed them in.”

THE NIGHT JOURNEY AND THE ASCENT TO HEAVEN

Ziyad b. 'Abdullah al-Bakka'i from Muhammad b. Ishaq told me the
following: Then the apostle was carried by night from the mosque at Mecca
to the Masjid al-Agsa, which is the temple of Aelia, when Islam had spread
in Mecca among the Quraysh and all the tribes.

The following account reached me from 'Abdullah b. Mas'ud and Abu
Sa'id al-Khudri, and 'Aisha the prophet's wife, and Mu'awiya b. Abu
Sufyan, and Al-Hasan b. Abu'l-Hasan al-Basri, and Ibn Shihab al-Zuhri and
Qatada and other traditionists, and Umm Hani' d. of Abu Taiib. It is pieced
together in the story that follows, each one contributing something of what
he was told about what happened when he was taken on the night journey.
The matter of the place’ of the journey and what is said about it is a
searching test and a matter of God's power and authority wherein is a lesson
for the intelligent; and guidance and mercy and strengthening to those who
believe. It was certainly an act of God by which He took him by night in
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what way He pleased ' to show him His signs which He willed him to
see so that he witnessed His mighty sovereignty and power by which
He does what He wills to do.

According to what I have heard 'Abdullah b. Mas'ud used to say:
Buraq, the animal whose every stride carried it as far as its eye could
reach On which the prophets before him used to ride was brought to the
apostle and he was mounted on it. His companion (Gabriel) went with
him to see the wonders between heaven and earth, until he came to
Jerusalem’s temple. There he found Abraham the friend of God,
Moses, and Jesus assembled with a company of the prophets, and he
prayed with them. Then he was brought three vessels containing milk,
wine, and water respectively:, The apostle said: 'l heard a voice saying
when these were offered to me: If he takes the water he will be
drowned and his people also; if he takes the wine he will go astray and
his people also; and if he takes the milk he will be rightly guided and
his people also. So I took the vessel containing milk and drank it.
Gabriel said to me, You have been rightly guided and so will your
people be, Muhammad.'

I was told that al-Hasan said that the apostle said: 'While I was
sleeping in the Hijr Gabriel came and stirred me with his foot. I sat up
but saw nothing and lay down again. He came a second time and stirred
me with his foot. I sat up but saw nothing and lay down again. He came
to me the third time and stirred me with his foot. I sat up and he took
hold of my arm and I stood beside him and he brought me out to the
door of the mosque and there was a white animal, half mule, half
donkey, with wings on its sides with which it propelled its feet, putting
down each forefoot at the limit of its sight and he mounted me on it.
Then he went out with me keeping close to me.

I was told that Qatada said that he was told that the apostle said:
'When I came up to mount him he shied. Gabriel placed his hand on its
mane and said, Are you not ashamed, a Buraq, to behave in this way?
By God, none more honorable before God than Muhammad has ever
ridden you before. The animal was so ashamed that he broke out into a
sweat and stood still so that I could mount him.'

In his story al-Hasan said: 'The apostle and Gabriel went their way
until they arrived at the temple at Jerusalem. There he found Abraham,
Moses, and Jesus among a company of the prophets. The apostle acted
as their imam in prayer. Then he was brought two vessels, one
containing wine and the other milk. The apostle took the milk and
drank it, leaving the wine. Gabriel said : "You have been rightly guided
to the way of nature’ and so will your people be, Muhammad. Wine is
forbidden you." Then the apostle returned to Mecca and in the morning
he told Quraysh what had happened. Most of them said, "By God, this
is a plain absurdity! A caravan takes a month to go to Syria and a
month to return and can Muhammad do the return journey in one
night?" Many Muslims gave up their faith; some went to Abu Bakr and
said, "What do you think of your friend now, Abu Bakr? He alleges
that he went to Jerusalem last night and prayed there and came back to
Mecca." He replied that they were lying about the apostle; but they said
that he was in the mosque at that very moment telling the people about
it. Abu Bakr said, "If he says so then it is true. And what is so surprising in
that? He tells me that communications from God from heaven to earth
come to him in an hour of a day or night and I believe him, and that is more
extraordinary than that at which you boggle!" He then went to the apostle
and asked him if these reports were true, and when he said they were,
he asked him to describe Jerusalem to him." AlHasan said that he was
lifted up so that he could see the apostle speaking as he told Abu Bakr
what Jerusalem was like. Whenever he described a part of it he said,
'That's true. I testify that you are the apostle of God' until he had
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completed the description, and then the apostle said, 'And you, Abu
Bakr, are the Siddig."' This was the occasion on which he got this
honorific.

Al-Hasan continued: God sent down concerning those who left
Islam for this reason: 'We made the vision which we showed thee only
for a test to men and the accursed tree in the Quran. We put them in
fear, but it only adds to their heinous error.” Such is al-Hasan's story
with additions from Qatada.

One of Abu Bakr's family told me that 'Aisha the prophet's wife
used to say: 'The apostle's body remained where it was but God
removed his spirit by night."

Ya'qub b. 'Utba b. al-Mughira b. al-Akhnas told me that Mu'awiya
b. Abu Sufyan when he was asked about the apostle's night journey
said, 'It was a true vision from God.' What these two latter said does not
contradict what Al-Hasan said, seeing that God Himself said, "We made
the vision which we showed thee only for a test to men;' nor does it
contradict what God said in the story of Abraham when he said to his
son, ‘O my son, verily I saw in a dream that I must sacrifice thee,” and
he acted accordingly. Thus, as I see it revelation from God comes to the
prophets waking or sleeping.

I have heard that the apostle used to say, 'My eyes sleep while my
heart is awake.' Only God knows how revelation came and he saw what
he saw. But whether he was asleep or awake, it 'was all true and
actually happened.

AL-Zuhri alleged® as from Sa'id b. al-Musayyab that the apostle de-
scribed to his companions Abraham, Moses, and Jesus, as he saw them
that night, saying: 'l have never seen a man more like myself than
Abraham.

Moses was a ruddy faced man, tail, thinly fleshed, curly haired with
a hooked nose as though he were of the Shanu'a. Jesus, Son of Mary,
was a reddish man of medium height with lank hair with many freckles
on his face as though he had just come from a bath.'! One would
suppose that his head was dripping with water, though there was no
water on it. The man most like him among you is 'Urwa b. Mas'ud al-
Thaqgafi (221).'

The following report has reached me from Umm Hani' d. of Abu Taiib,
whose name was Hind, concerning the apostle's night journey. She said:
'"The apostle went on no night journey except while he was in my house. He
slept that night in my house. He prayed the final night prayer, then he slept
and we slept. A little before dawn the apostle woke us, and when we had
prayed the dawn prayer he said, "0 Umm Hani', I prayed with you the last
evening prayer in this valley as you saw. Then I went to Jerusalem and
prayed there. Then I have just prayed the morning prayer with you as you
see." He got up to go out and I took hold of his robe and laid bare his belly
as though it were a folded Egyptian garment. I said, "O prophet of God,
don't talk to the people about it for they will give you the lie and insult
you." He said, "By God, I certainly will tell them." I said to a Negress, a
slave of mine, Follow the apostle and listen to what he says to the people,
and what they say to him. He did tell them and they were amazed and asked
what proof he had. He replied that he had passed the caravan of so-and-so
in such-and-such a valley and the animal he bestrode scared them and a
camel bolted, "and I showed them where it was as I was on the way to
Syria. I carried on until in Dajanan® I passed by a caravan of the Banu so-
and-so. I found the people asleep. They had a jar of water covered with
something. I took the covering off and drank the water replacing the cover.
The proof of that is that their caravan is this moment coming down from al-
Baida' by the pass of al-Tan'im’ led by a dusky camel loaded with two
sacks one black and the other multihued". The people hurried to the pass
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and the first camel they met was as he had described. They asked the men
about the vessel and they told them that they had left it full of water and
covered it and that when they woke it was covered but empty. They asked
the others too who were in Mecca and they said that it was quite right: they
had been scared and a camel had bolted, and they had heard a man calling
them to it so that they were able to recover it.'

THE ASCENT TO HEAVEN

One whom I have no reason to doubt told me on the authority of Abu
Sa'id al-Khudri: T heard the apostle say, 'After the completion of my
business in Jerusalem a ladder was brought to me finer than any I have ever
seen. It was that to which the dying man looks when death approaches. My
companion mounted it with me until we came to one of the gates of heaven
called the Gate of the Watchers. An angel called Isma'il was in charge of it,
and under his command were twelve thousand angels each of them having
twelve thousand angels under his command.' As he told this story the
apostle used to say, 'and none knows the armies of God but He." When
Gabriel brought me in, Isma'il asked who I was, and when he was told that I
was Muhammad he asked if I had been given a mission, > and on being
assured of this he wished me well.

A traditionist who had got it from one who had heard it from the apostle
told me that the latter said: 'All the angels who met me when I entered the
lowest heaven smiled in welcome and wished me well except one who said
the same things but did not smile or show that joyful expres-sion which the
others had. And when I asked Gabriel the reason he told me that if he had
ever smiled on anyone before or would smile on anyone hereafter he would
have smiled on me; but he does not smile because he is Malik, the Keeper
of Hell. I said to Gabriel, he holding the position with regard to God which
he has described to you "obeyed there, trustworthy", > "Will you not order
him to show me hell?" And ht: said, "Certainly! o Malik, show Muhammad
Hell." Thereupon he removed its covering and the flames blazed high into
the Air until I thought that they would consume everything. So I asked
Gabriel to order him to send them back to their place which he did. I can
only compare the effect of their withdrawal to the failing of a shadow, until
when the flames retreated whence they had come, Malik placed their cover
on them.'

In his tradition Abu Sa'id al-Khudri said that the apostle said: 'When' [
entered the lowest heaven I saw a man sitting there with the spirits of men
passing before him. To one he would speak well and rejoice in him saying:
"A good spirit from a good body" and of another he would say "Faugh!"
and frown, saying: "An evil spirit from an evil body. “In answer to my
question Gabriel told me that this was our father Adam reviewing the spirits
of his offspring; the spirit of a believer excited his pleasure, and the spirit of
an infidel excited his disgust so that he said the words just quoted.

'Then I saw men with lips like camels; in their hands were pieces of fire
like stones which they used to thrust into their mouths and they would come
out of their posteriors. I was told that these were those who sinfully
devoured the wealth of orphans.

'Then I saw men in the way of the family of Pharaoh," with such bellies
as I have never seen; there were passing over them as it were camels
maddened by thirst when they were cast into hell, treading them down, they
being unable to move out of the way. These were the usurers.

'"Then I saw men with good fat meat before them side by side with lean
stinking meat, eating of the latter and leaving the former. These are those
who forsake the women which God has permitted and go after those he has
forbidden.
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'"Then I saw women hanging by their breasts. These were those who had
fathered bastards on their husbands.'

Ja'far b. 'Amr told me from al-Qasim b. Muhammad that the apostle
said: 'Great is God's anger against a woman who brings a bastard into her
family. He deprives the true sons of their portion and learns the secrets of
the harim.'

To continue the tradition of Sa'id al-Khudri: "Then I was taken up to the
second heaven and there were the two maternal cousins Jesus, Son of Mary,
and John, son of Zakariah. Then to the third heaven and there was a man
whose face was as the moon at the full. This was my brother Joseph, son of
Jacob. Then to the fourth heaven and there was a 'man called Idris. "And we
have exaited him to a lofty place.” ' Then to the fifth heaven and there was
a man with white hair and a long beard, never have I seen a more handsome
man than he. This was the beloved among his people Aaron son of 'Imran.
Then to the sixth heaven, and there was a dark man with a hooked nose like
the Shamu'a. This was my brother Moses, son of 'Imran. Then to the
seventh heaven and there was a man sitting on a throne at the gate of the
immortal mansion.” Every day seventy thousand angels went in not to come
back until the resurrection day. Never have I seen a man more like myself.
This was my father Abraham. Then he took me into Paradise and there I
saw a damsel with dark red lips and I asked her to whom she belonged, for
she pleased me much when I saw her, and she told me "Zayd b. Haritha".
The apostle gave Zayd the good news about her.'

From a tradition of 'Abdullah b. Mas'ud from the prophet there has
reached me the following: When Gabriel took him up to each of the
heavens and asked permission to enter he had to say whom he had brought
and whether he had received a mission® and they would say 'God grant him
life, brother and friend!" until they reached the seventh heaven and his Lord.
There the duty of fifty prayers a day was laid upon him.

The apostle said: 'On my return I passed by Moses and what a fine
friend of yours he was! He asked me how many prayers had been laid upon
me and when I told him fifty he said, "Prayer is a weighty matter and your
people are weak, so go back to your Lord and ask him to reduce the number
for you and your community". I did so and He took off ten. Again I passed
by Moses and he said the same again; and so it went on until only five
prayers for the whole day and night were left. Moses again gave me the
same advice. I replied that I had been back to my Lord and asked him to
reduce the number until I was ashamed, and I would not do it again. He of
you who performs them in faith and trust will have the reward of fifty
prayers.'

HOW GOD DEALT WITH THE MOCKERS

The apostle remained firm counting on God's assistance; admonishing
his people in spite of their branding him as a liar and insulting and mocking
him. The principal offenders-so Yazid b. Ruman from 'Urwa b. al-Zubayr
told me-were five men who were respected and honoured among their
tribesmen: of the B. Asad ... was al-Aswad b. al-Muttalib b. Asad Abu
Zama'a. (I have heard that the apostle had cursed him for his insults and
mockery, saying, '0 God, blind him and bereave him of his son!") Of the B.
Zuhra ... was al-Aswad b. 'Abdu Yaghuth. Of the B. Makhzum ... was al-
Walid b. al-Mughira ... Of the B. Sahm b. 'Amr ... was al-'As b. Wa'il b.
Hisham (222). Of the B. Khuza'a was al-Harith b. al- Tulatila b. 'Amr b. al-
Harith b. 'Abd b. 'Amr b. Lu'ayy b. Malakan.

When they persisted in evil and constantly mocked the apostle, God
revealed: 'Proclaim what you have been ordered and turn away from the
polytheists. We will surely protect you against the mockers who put another
god beside God. In the end they will know."
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The same Yazid told me from 'Urwa (or it may have been from some
other traditionist) that Gabriel came to the apostle when the mockers were
going round the temple. He stood up and the apostle stood at his side; and
as al-Aswad b. al-Muttalib passed, Gabriel threw a green leaf in his face
and he became blind. Then al-Aswad b. 'Abdu Yaghuth passed and he
pointed at his belly which swelled so that he died of dropsy. Next al-Walid
passed by. He pointed at an old scar on the bottom of his ankle (the result of
a wound he received some years earlier as he was trailing his gown when
he passed by a man of Khuza'a who was feathering an arrow, and the
arrowhead caught in his wrapper and scratched his foot — a mere nothing).
But the wound opened again and he died of it. Al-'As passed. He pointed to
his instep, and he went off on his ass making for al-Ta'if. He tied the anima
to a thorny tree and a thorn entered his foot and he died of it. Lastly al-
Harith passed. He pointed at his head. It immediately filled with pus and
killed him.

THE STORY OF ABU UZAYHIR AL-DAUSI

When al-Walid's death was near he summoned his three sons Hisham,
al-Walid, and Khalid and said: 'My sons, I charge you with three duties; be
not remiss in any of them. My blood lies on the Khuza'a: don't let it remain
uncompensated. I know that they are innocent of it, but I fear that you may
be ill spoken of because of it when I am dead. Thaqif owe me money in
interest; see that you get it. Lastly my dowry money is with Abu Uzayhir
al-Dausi. Don't let him keep it.' Now Abu Uzayhir had married him to a
daughter of his and then withheld her from him and did not let him have
access to her up to the day of his death.

When al-Walid died, the B. Makhzum leaped upon Khuza'a demanding
blood-money for al-Walid, saying, 'It was your man's arrow that killed him.'
He was one of the B. Ka'b, an ally of the B. 'Abdu'l-Muttalib b. Hashim.
Khuza'a refused their demand and a competition in verse followed and the
situation became tense. The man whose arrow had killed al- Walid was one
of the B. Ka'b b. 'Amr of Khuza'a, and 'Abdullah b. Abu Umayya b. al-
Mughira b. 'Abdullah b. 'Amr b. Makhzum composed the following lines: '

I'll wager that you'll soon run away

And leave al-Zahran with its yelping foxes.

And that you'll leave the water in the vale of Atriga
And that you'll ask which Arak trees are the best.
We are folk who do not leave our blood unavenged
And those we fight do not get to their feet again.

Al-Zahran and al-Arak were camping-grounds of the B. Ka'b of
Khuza'a.

Al-Jaun b. Abu'l-Jaun, brother of the B. Ka'b b. 'Amr al-Khuza'i,
answered him:

By God we will not pay unjust blood wit for al-Walid

Until you see a day when the stars wax faint;

When your stout ones will be overthrown one after another

Each in death helplessly opening his mouth.

When you eat your bread and your gruel,

Then all of you will weep and wail for al-Walid.

There followed much argument and recrimination until it was apparent
that it was prestige that was at stake, so Khuza'a paid some of the
blood-money and they relinquished their claim to the rest. When peace had
been made al-Jaun said:

Many a man and woman when we made peace
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Spoke in surprise of what we paid for al-Walid.

'Did you not swear that you would not pay unjust compensation for al-
Walid

Until you had seen a day of great misfortune?'

But we have exchanged' war for peace

Now every traveler may go safely where he will.

But al- Jaun did not stop there but went on to boast of the killing of al-
Walid, saying that they had brought about his end, All of which was false.
As a result al-Walid, his son, and his tribe met what they had been warned
against. AL-Jaun said:

Did not al-Mughira claim that in Mecca Ka'b was a great force?
Don't boast, Mughira, because you see us

True Arabs and by-blows walk its streets.

We and our fathers were born there

As surely as Thabir stands in its place.

Al-Mughira said that to learn our state

Or to stir up war between us.

For Walid's blood will not be paid for:

You know that we do not pay for blood we shed.

The auspicious warrior hit him with an arrow
Poisoned, while he was full and out of breath.

He fell full length in Mecca's vale.

'"Twas as though a camel fell.

"Twill save me delaying payment for Abu Hisham with
Miserable” little curly haired camels (223).

Then Hisham b. al-Walid attacked Abu Uzayhir while he was in the
market of Dhu'l-Majaz. Now his daughter 'Atika was the wife of Abu
Sufyan b. Barb. Abu Uzayhir was a chief among his people and Hisham

killed him for the dowry money belonging to al-Walid which he had 275

re-tained, in accordance with his father's dying injunction. This
happened after the apostle's migration to Medina. Badr was over and
many of the leaders of heathen Quraysh had been slain. Yazid b. Abu
Sufyan went out and collected the B. 'Abdu Manaf while Abu Sufyan
was in Dhu'l-Majaz, and people said Abu Sufyan's honor in the matter
of his father-in-law had been violated and he will take vengeance for
him. When Abu Sufyan heard of what his son Yazid had done he came
down to Mecca as fast as he could. He was a mild but astute man who
loved his people exceedingly, and he was afraid that there might be
serious trouble among Quraysh because of Abu Uzayhir. So he went
straight to his son, who was armed among his people the B. 'Abdu
Manaf and the 'scented ones', took his spear out of his hand and hit him
hard on the head with it, saying, 'God damn you! Do you wish to cause
civil war among Quraysh for the sake of a man from Daus ? We will
pay them the bloodmoney if they will accept it.' Thus he put an end to
the matter.

Hassan b. Thabit composed the following lines to excite feeling for
the murder of Abu Uzayhir and to bring shame on Abu Sufyan for his
cowardice and betrayal of trust:

The people on both sides of Dhu'l-Majaz rose one morning,

But Ibn Harb's protégé in Mughammas' did not!

The farting donkey did not protect him he was bound to defend.”
Hind did not avert her father's shame.

Hisham b. al- Walid covered you with his garments,
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Wear them out and mend new ones like them later.

He got what he wanted from him and became famous,

But you were utterly useless.

If the shaykhs at Badr had been present

The people's sandals would have been red with blood newly shed.

When he heard of this satire Abu Sufyan said: 'Hassan wants us to fight
one another for the sake of a man from Daus. By God, what a poor idea!'

Khalid b. al-Walid when the people of Ta'if became Muslims spoke to
the apostle about his father's interest which Thaqif owed him, and a
traditionist told me that those verses which prohibit the carrying over of
usury from the Jahiliya arose out of Khalid's demanding interest: 'O ye who
believe, fear God and give up what usury remains to you if you are (really)
believers!, to the end of the passage.’

So far as we know there was no vengeance for Abu Uzayhir until Islam
made a clear cut between men; however, Dirar b. al-Khattab b. Mirdas al-
Fihri went out with a number of Quraysh to the Daus country, and came to
the dwelling of a woman called Umm Ghaylan, a freedwoman of Daus. She
used to comb the women's hair and prepare brides for their husbands. Daus
wanted to kill them in revenge for Abu Uzayhir, but Umm Ghaylan and the
women stood in their way and defended them. It was in reference to that
that Dirar said:

God reward Umm Ghaylan and her women well

For their coming without their finery with disheveled hair.
They saved us at death's very door

When the avengers of blood came forth.

She called on Daus and the sandbanks flowed with glory,
The streams on either side carried it on.

God requite 'Amr well. He was not weak,

He did his best for me.

I drew my sword and made play with its edge

For whom should I fight but myself (224)?

THE DEATH OF ABU TALIB AND KHADIJA

Those of his neighbors who ill-treated the apostle in his house were
Abu Lahab, al-Hakam b. Abu'l-As ... , 'Ugba b. Abu Mu'ayt, 'Adiy b.
Hamra' al-Thaqafi, and Ibnu'l-Asda’ al-Hudhali. Not one of them became a
Muslim except al-Hakam. I have been told that one of them used to throw a
sheep's uterus at him while he was praying; and one of them used to throw
it into his cooking-pot when it had been placed ready for him. Thus the
apostle was forced to retire to a wall when he prayed. 'Umar b. 'Abdul-lah
b. 'Urwa b. Zubayr told me on the authority of his father that when they
threw this objectionable thing at him the apostle took it out on a stick, and
standing at the door of his house, he would say," O Banu 'Abdu Manaf,
what sort of protection is this?' Then he would throw it into the street.

Khadija and Abu Talib died in the same year, and with Khadija's death
troubles followed fast on each other's heels, for she had been a faithful
support to him in Islam, and he used to tell her of his troubles. With the
death of Abu Talib he lost a strength and stay in his personal life and a
defense and protection against his tribe. Abu Talib died some three years
before he migrated to Medina, and it was then that Quraysh began to treat
him in an offensive way which they would not have dared to follow in his
uncle's lifetime. A young lout actually threw dust on his head.

Hisham on the authority of his father 'Urwa told me that when this
happened the apostle went into his house with the dust still on his head and
one of his daughters got up to wash it away, weeping as she did so. 'Don't
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weep, my little girl,’ he said, 'for God will protect your father." Meanwhile
he was saying, 'Quraysh never treated me thus while Abu Talib was alive.'

When Abu Talib fell ill and Quraysh learned of his grave condition they
reminded one another that now that Hamza and 'Umar had accepted Islam
and Muhammad's reputation was known among all the Quraysh clans, they
had better go to Abu Talib and come to some compromise lest they be
robbed of their authority altogether.

Al-'Abbas b. 'Abdullah b. Ma'bad b. 'Abbas from one of his family from
Ibn 'Abbas told me that 'Utba and Shayba, sons of Rabi'a, and Abu Jahl and
Umayya b. Khalaf and Abu Sufyan with sundry other notables went to Abu
Talib and said: 'You know your rank with us and now that you are at the
point of death we are deeply concerned on your account. You know the
trouble that exists between us and your nephew, so call him and let us make
an agreement that he will leave us alone and we will leave him alone; let
him have his religion and we will have ours." When he came Abu Talib
said, 'Nephew, these notables have come to you that they may give you
something and to take something from you.' 'Yes,' he answered, 'you may
give me one word by which you can rule the Arabs and subject the Persians
to you.' 'Yea,' said Abu Jahl,' and ten words.' He said: 'You must say There
is no God but Allah and you must repudiate what you worship beside him.'
They clapped their hands and said, 'Do you want to make all the gods into
one God, Muhammad? That would be an extraordinary thing." Then they
said one to another, 'This fellow is not going to give you anything you
want, so go and continue with the religion of your fathers until God judge
between us.' So saying they departed.

Abu Talib said, 'Nephew, I don't think that you asked them anything
extraordinary.' On hearing this the apostle had hopes that he would accept
Islam, and he said at once, "You say it, uncle, and then I shall be able to
intercede for you on Resurrection Day.' Seeing the apostle's eagerness he
replied, 'Were it not that I fear that you and your father's sons would be
abused after my death and that Quraysh would think that I had only said it
in fear of death, I would say it. I should only say it to give you pleasure.' As
his death was near, al-'Abbas looked at him as he was moving his lips and
put his ear close to him and said, '"Nephew, by God, my brother has spoken
the word you gave him to say.' The apostle replied, 'T did not hear it.'

God revealed concerning the people who came to him with their
propo-sals: 'Sad. By the renowned Quran, Nay, those who disbelieve are in
pride and schism' as far as the words 'Does he make the gods one God. This
is an extraordinary thing. Their chiefs went off saying: Go and remain true
to your gods. This is a thing designed. We have not heard of this in the last
religion,"' (meaning Christians because they say) 'Verily God is the third of
three.'2 'This is nothing but an invention.” Then Abu Talib died.

THE APOSTLE GOES TO THAQIF TO SEEK HELP

In consequence of the growing hostility of Quraysh after Abu Talib's
death the apostle went to Ta'if to seek help from Thagqif and their defence
against his tribe. Also he hoped that they would receive the message which
God had given him. He went alone.

Yazid b. Ziyad told me from Muhammad b. Ka'b al-Qurazi: 'When the
apostle arrived at al- Ta'if he made for a number of Thaqif who were at that
time leaders and chiefs, namely three brothers: 'Abdu Yalayl, Mas'ud, and
Habib, sons of 'Amr b. 'Umayr b. 'Auf b. 'Uqda b. Ghiyara b. 'Auf b.
Thagqif. One of them had a Quraysh wife of the B. Jumah. The apostle sat
with them and invited them to accept Islam and asked them to help him
against his opponents at home. One of them swore that he would tear up the
covering4 of the Ka'ba if God had sent him.* The other said, "Could not
God have found someone better than you to send?" The third said, "By
God, don't let me ever speak to you. If you are an apostle from God as you
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say you are, you are far too important for me to reply to, and if you are
lying against God it is not right that I should speak to you!" So the apostle
got up and went, despairing of getting any good out of Thagqif.

I have been told that he said to them, "Seeing that you have acted as
you have, keep the matter secret," for he was loath that his people should
hear about it, so that they would be still further emboldened against him
(225). But they did not do so and stirred up their louts and slaves to insult
him and cry after him until a crowd came together, and compelled him to
take refuge in an orchard belonging to 'Utba b. Rabi'a and his brother
Shayba who were in it at the time. The louts who had followed him went
back, and he made for the shade of a vine and sat there while the two men
watched him, observing what he had to endure from the local louts. I was
told that the apostle had met the woman from the B. J umah and said to her,
"What has befallen us from your husband's people?"

"When the apostle reached safety he said, so I am told, "0 God, to Thee I
complain of my weakness, little resource, and lowliness before men. 0 Most
Merciful, Thou art the Lord of the weak, and Thou art my Lord. To whom
wilt Thou confide me? To one afar who will misuse me? Or to an enemy to
whom Thou hast given power over me? If Thou art not angry with me I
care not. Thy favor is more wide for me. I take refuge in the light of Thy
countenance by which the darkness is illumined, and the things of this
world and the next are rightly ordered, lest Thy anger descend upon me or
Thy wrath light upon me. It is for Thee to be satisfied until Thou art well
pleased. There is no power and no might save in Thee."

'When 'Utba and Shayba saw what happened they were moved with
compassion and called a young Christian slave of theirs called 'Addas and
told him to take a bunch of grapes on a platter and give them to him to eat.
'Addas did so, and when the apostle put his hand in the platter he said "In
the name of God" before eating. 'Addas looked closely into his face and
said, "By God, this is not the way the people of this country speak." The
apostle then asked "Then from what country do you come, 0 'Addas? and
what is your religion?" He replied that he was a Christian and came from
Nineveh. "From the town of the righteous man Jonah son of Mattal," said
the apostle. "But how did you know about him?" asked 'Addas. "He is my
brother; he was a prophet and I am a prophet," answered the apostle. 'Addas
bent over him and kissed his head, his hands, and his feet.

'"The two brothers were looking on and one said to the other, "He's
already corrupted your slave!" And when 'Add as came back they said to
him : "You rascal, why were you kissing that man's head, hands, and feet?"
He answered that he was the finest man in the country who had told him
things that only a prophet could know. They replied, "You rascal, don't let
him seduce you from your religion, for it is better than his."

'"Then the apostle returned from Ta'if when he despaired of getting
anything out of Thagif. When he reached Nakhla' he rose to pray in the
middle of the night, and a number of jinn whom God has mentioned

passed by. They were-so I am told-seven jinn from Nasibin. They
listened to him and when he had finished his prayer they turned back to
their people to warn them having believed and responded to what they had
heard. God has mentioned them in the words" And when We inclined to
thee certain of the jinn who were listening to the Quran" as far as "and He
will give you protection from a painful punishment" And again, "Say: It has
been revealed unto me that a number of the jinn listened."”

THE APOSTLE OFFERS HIMSELF TO THE TRIBES

When the apostle returned to Mecca his people opposed him more
bitterly than ever, apart from the few lower-class people who believed in
him. (T. One of them said that when the apostle left al-Ta'if making for
Mecca a Meccan passed and he asked him if he would take a message for
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him; and when he said that he would he told him to go to al-Akhnas b.
Shariq and say, 'Muhammad says: Will you give me protection so that I
may convey the message of my Lord?" When the man delivered his
message al-Akhnas replied that an ally could not give protection against a
member of the home tribe. When he told the apostle of this he asked him if
he would go back and ask Suhayl b. 'Amr for his protection in the same
words. Suhayl sent word that the B. 'Amir b. Lu'ayy do not give protection
against B. Ka'b. He then asked the man if he would go back and make the
same application to al-Mutim b. 'Adiy. The latter said, 'Yes, let him enter,'
and the man came back and told the apostle. In the morning al-Mutim
having girt on his weapons, he and his sons and his nephews went into the
mosque. When Abu Jahl saw him he asked, 'Are you giving protection or
following him?' 'Giving protection, of course,' he said. "We give protection
to him whom you protect,’ he said. So the prophet came into Mecca and
dwelt there. One day he went into the sacred mosque when the polytheists
were at the Ka'ba, and when Abu Jahl saw him he said, 'This is your
prophet, O B. 'Abdu Manaf.' 'Utba b. Rabi'a replied: 'And why should you
take it amiss if we have a prophet or a king?' The prophet was told of this,
or he may have heard it, and he came to them and said, ‘O 'Utba, you were
not angry on God's behaif or his apostle's behaif, but on your own account.
As for you, O Abu Jahl, a great blow of fate will come upon you so that you
will laugh little and weep much; and as for you, O Leaders of Quraysh, a
great blow of fate will come upon you so that you will experience what you
most abhor and that perforce!")’

The apostle offered himself to the tribes of Arabs at the fairs whenever
opportunity came, summoning them to God and telling them that he was a
prophet who had been sent. He used to ask them to believe in him and
protect him until God should make clear to them the message with which he
had charged his prophet.

One of our friends whom I hold above suspicion told me from Zayd b.
Aslam from Rabi'a b. 'lbad al-Dili or from one whom Abu al-Zinad had told
(226) and Husayn b. 'Abdullah b. 'Ubaydullah b. 'Abbas told me: 'T heard
my father telling Rabi'a b. 'Abbad that when he was a youngster with his
father in Mina when the apostle used to stop by the Arab encampments and
tell them that he was the apostle of God who ordered them to worship Him
and not associate anything with Him, and to renounce the rival gods which
they worshipped, and believe in His apostle and protect him until God made
plain His purpose in sending him, there followed him an artful spruce
fellow with two locks of hair, wearing an Aden cloak. When the apostle

finished his appeal he used to say, "This fellow wishes only to get you to
strip off al-Lat and al-'Uzza from your necks and your allies the jinn of B. 283

Malik b. Ugaysh for the misleading innovation he has brought. Don't obey
him and take no notice of him." I asked my father who the man was who
followed him and contradicted what he said, and he answered that it was his
uncle 'Abdu'l-'Uzza b. 'Abdu'l-Muttalib known as Abu Lahab (227).'

Ibn Shihab al-Zuhri told me that he went to the tents of Kinda where
there was a shaykh called Mulayh). He invited them to come to God and
offered himself to them, but they declined.

Muhammad b. 'Abdu'l-Rahman b. 'Abdullah b. Husayn told me that he
went to the tents of Kaib to a clan called B. 'Abdullah with the same
message, adding, ‘O Banu 'Abdullah, God has given your father a noble
name.' But they would not give heed.

One of our companions from 'Abdullah b. Ka'b b. Malik told me that
the apostle went to the B.Hanifa where he met with the worst reception of
all.

AL-Zubhri told me that he went to the B. 'Amir b. Sa’sa’a and one of
them called Bayhara b. Firas (228) said: 'By God, if I could take this man
from Quraysh I could eat up the Arabs with him." Then he said, If we
actually give allegiance I to you and God gives you victory over your
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opponents, shall we have authority after you?' He replied, 'Authority is a
matter which God places where He pleases.' He answered: 'I suppose you
want us to protect you from the Arabs with our breasts and then if God
gives you victory® someone else will reap the benefit! Thank you, No!'

Afterwards the B. 'Amir went back to an old shaykh of theirs who was
unable to attend the fairs. Their custom was to give him all the news on
their return. This year when he asked for the news they told him that a man
from Quraysh-one of the B. 'Abdu'l-Muttalib to be precise-pretended that
he was a prophet and invited them to protect him, to stand in with him, and
to take him back to their country. The old man put his hands upon his head
and said, ‘O Banu 'Amir, could it have been avoided? Can the past ever be
regained? No Isma’il has ever claimed prophethood falsely. It was the truth.
Where was your common sense?'

Whenever men came together at the fairs or the apostle heard of anyone
of importance coming to Mecca he went to them with his message. 'Asim b.
'Umar b. Qatada al-Ansari-more precisely al-Zafari-on the authority of
some of his shaykhs told me that they said that Suwayd b. al-Samit, brother
of the B. 'Amr b. 'Auf, came to Mecca on pilgrimage. Suwayd's tribesmen
used to call him al-Kamil because of his toughness, his poetry, his honor,
and his lineage. He it was who said:

There's many a man you call friend you'd be shocked

If you knew the lies he tells against you in secret.

While he's with you his words are like honey;

Behind your back a sword

Aimed at the base of the neck.

What you see of him pleases you, but underneath

He's a deceitful backbiter cutting through to the marrow.
His eyes will show you what he's concealing,

Rancor and hatred are in his evil look.

Strengthen me with good deeds: long have you weakened me.'
The best friends strengthen without weakening.

He once had a dispute with a man of the B. Sulaym-one of the B. Zi'b b.
Malik-over a hundred camels, and they appointed an Arab woman diviner
arbitrator and she gave judgment in his favor, and he and the Sulami went
away alone. When they reached the parting of the ways Suwayd asked for
his property. The man promised to send it, but Suwayd wanted to know
who would guarantee that the animals would be handed over. As he could
offer none but himself, Suwayd refused to leave him until he got his due.
So they came to blows and Suwayd knocked him down, bound him closely
and took him away to the country of the B. 'Amr; and there he had to stay
until his tribesmen paid what was owing. It was in reference to that,
Suwayd composed these lines:

Don't think, Ibn Zi'b son of Malik, that I

Am like the man you deceitfully slew in secret.

When I had been thrown I manfully became your match-
Thus the resolute man can change his position-

I locked him under my left arm

And his cheek remained in the dirt.

When he heard about him the apostle sought him out and invited him to
Islam. He said, 'Perhaps you've got something like that which I have.' 'And
what is that?' asked the apostle. '"The roll of Lugman,' meaning the wisdom
of Lugman, he answered. 'Hand it to me,' said the apostle, and he handed it
over and he said, "This discourse is fine, but that which I have is better still,
a Quran which God has revealed to me which is a guidance and a light.'
And the apostle recited the Quran to him and invited him to Islam; he did
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not withdraw from it but said, 'This is a fine saying.' Then he went off and
rejoined his people in Medina and almost at once the Khazraj killed him.
Some of his family used to say, 'In our opinion he was a Muslim when he
was killed'; he was (in fact) killed before the battle of Bu'ath.'

IYAS ACCEPTS ISLAM

Al Husayn b. 'Abdu'l-Rahman b. 'Amr b. Sa'd b. Mu'adh on the
authority of Mahmud b. Labid told me that when Abu'l-Haysar Anas b.
Rafi' came to Mecca with members of the B. 'Abdu'l-Ashhal including Iyas
b. Mu’adh seeking an alliance with Quraysh against their sister tribe the
Khazraj, the apostle heard about them. He came and sat with them and
asked them if they would like to get something more profitable than their
present errand. When they asked him what that could be he told them that
he was God's apostle sent to humanity to call on them to serve God and not
associate any other with Him; that He had revealed a book to him; then he
told them about Islam and read to them some of the Quran. Iyas, who was a
young man, said, 'By God, people, this is something better than you came
for!" Thereupon Abu'l-Haysar took a handful of dirt from the valley and
threw it in his face, saying, 'Shut up! We didn't come here for this." So Iyas
became silent. The apostle left them and they went to Medina and the battle
of Bu'ath between Aus and Khazraj took place.

Within a little while Iyas died. Mahmud said: '"Those of his people who
were present at his death told me that they heard him continually praising
and glorifying God until he died. They had no doubt that he died a Muslim,
he having become acquainted with Islam at that gathering when he heard
the apostle speak.

THE BEGINNING OF ISLAM AMONG THE HELPERS

When God wished to display His religion openly and to glorify His
prophet and to fulfill His promise to him, the time came when he met a
number of the Helpers at one of the fairs; and while he was offering himself
to the Arab tribes as was his wont he met at al-'Aqaba a number of the
Khazraj whom God intended to benefit.

'Asim b. 'Umar b. Qatada told me on the authority of some of the
shaykhs of his tribe that they said that when the apostle met them he
learned by inquiry that they were of the Khazraj and allies of the Jews. He
invited them to sit with him and expounded to them Islam and recited the
Quran to them. Now God had prepared the way for Islam in that they lived
side by side with the Jews who were people of the scriptures and
knowledge, while they themselves were polytheists and idolaters. They had
often raided them in their district and whenever bad feeling arose the Jews
used to say to them, 'A prophet will be sent soon. His day is at hand. We
shall follow him and kill you by his Aid as 'Ad and Iram perished.' So when
they heard the apostle's message they said one to another: 'This is the very
prophet of whom the Jews warned us. Don't let them get to him before us!'
Thereupon they accepted his teaching and became Muslims, saying, 'We
have left our people, for no tribe is so divided by hatred and rancor as they.
Perhaps God will unite them through you. So let us go to them and invite
them to this religion of yours; and if God unites them in it, then no "man
will be mightier than you.' Thus saying they returned to Medina as
believers.

There were six of these men from the Khazraj so I have been told. From
B. Al-Najjar, i.e. Taym Allah of the clan of B. Malik ... : As'ad b. Zurara b.
'Udas b. 'Ubayd b. Tha'laba b. Ghanm b. Malik b. Al-Najjar known as Abu
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Umama; and 'Aufb. al-Harith b. Rifa'a b. Sawad b. Malik ... known as Ibn
'Mra' (229).

From B. Zurayq b. 'Amir b. Zurayq b. 'Abdu Haritha b. Ghagb b.

Jusham ... : Rafi' b. Malik b. al-'Ajlan b. 'Amr b. 'Amir b. Zurayq (230).

From B. Salima b. Sa'd b. 'Ali b. Asad b. Sarida b. Tazid b. Jusham ...
of the clan of B. Sawad b. Ghanm b. Ka'b b. Salima: Qutba b. 'Amir b.
Hadida b. 'Amr b. Ghanm b. Sawad (231).

From B. Haram b. Ka'b b. Ghanm b. Ka'b b. Salama: 'Ugba b. 'Amir

b. Nabi b. Zayd b. Haram.

From B. 'Ubayd b. 'Adiy b. Ghanm b. Ka'b b. Salama: Jabir b.
'Abdul-lah b. Ri'ab b. al-Nu'man b. Sinan b. 'Ubayd ..

When they came to Medina they told their people about the apostle and
invited them to accept Islam until it became so well known among them
that there was no home belonging to the Helpers but Islam and the apostle
had been mentioned therein.

THE FIRST PLEDGE AT AL-'AQABA AND THE MISSION OF
MUS'AB

In the following year twelve Helpers attended the fair and met at al-
'Aqgaba -this was the first '"Aqaba-where they gave the apostle the 'pledge of
women'." This was before the duty of making war was laid upon them.

These men were: From B. Al-Najjar: As'ad b. Zurara; 'Aufb. al-Harith
and Mu'adh his brother, both sons of 'Afra'. From B. Zurayq b. 'Amir:

Rafi' b. Malik and Dhakwan b. 'Abdu Qays b. Khalada b. Mukhlid b.
'Amir b. Zurayq (232).

From B. 'Auf of the clan of B. Ghanm b. 'Auf'b. 'Amr b. 'Auf who were
the Qawagqil: 'Ubada b. al-Samit b. Qays b. Asram b. Fihr b. Tha'laba b.
Ghanm; and Abu 'Abdu'l-Rahman who was Yazid b. Tha'laba b. Khazma b.
_ram b. 'Amr b. 'Ammara of B. Ghusayna of Baliy, an ally of theirs (233)-

From B. Salim b. 'Auf'b. 'Amr b. Al-Khazraj of the clan of B. al- 'Ajlan
b. Zayd b. Ghanm b. Salim: al-'Abbas b. 'Ubada b. Nagai_ b. Malik b. al-
'Ajlan.

From B. Salima: 'Ugba b. 'Amir.

From B. Sawad: Qutba b. 'Amir b. Hadida. The Aus were represented
by Abu'l-Haytham b. al- Tayyihan whose name was Malik of the clan of B.
'Abdu'l-Ashhai b. Jusham b. al-Harith b. Ai Khazraj b. 'Amr b. Malik b. al-
Aus (234).

From B. 'Amr b. 'Auf b. Malik b. Al-Aus: 'Uwaym b. Sa'ida.

Yazid b. AbuHabib from Abu Marthad b. 'Abdullah al-Yazani from
'Abdu'l-Rahman b. 'Usayla al-Sannaji from 'Ubada b. al-Samit told me: 'l
was present at the first 'Aqaba. There were twelve of us and we pledged
ourselves to the prophet after the manner of women and that was before war
was enjoined, the undertaking being that we should associate nothing with
God; we should not steal; we should not commit fornication; nor kill our
offspring; we should not slander our neighbors; we should not disobey him
in what was right; if we fulfilled this paradise would be ours; if we
committed any of those sins it was for God to punish or forgive as He
pleased. I

Al-Zuhri from 'A'ldhullah b. 'Abdullah al-Khaulani Abu Idris said that
'Ubada b. al-Samit told him that "We gave allegiance to the apostle that we
would associate nothing with God, not steai, not commit fornication, not
kill our offspring, not slander our neighbor, not disobey him in what was
right; if we fulfilled this paradise would be ours; and if we committed any
of those sins we should be punished in this world and this would serve as
expiation; if the sin was conceaied until the Day of Resurrection, then it
would be for God to decide Whether to punish or to forgive.'

When these men left, the apostle sent with them Mus'ab b. 'Umayr b.
Hashim b. 'Abdu Manaf ... and instructed him to read the Quran to them
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and to teach them Islam and to give them instruction about religion. In
Medina Mus'ab was called 'The Reader'; he lodged with As'ad b. Zurara.

Asim b. 'Umar told me that he used to lead the prayers because Aus and
Khazraj could not bear to see one of their rivals take the lead.

THE INSTITUTION OF FRIDAY PRAYERS IN MEDINA

Muhammad b. Abu Umama b. Sahl b. from his father from Abdu'l-
Rajman b. Ka 'b b. Malik told me that the latter said: 'I was leading my
father Ka'b when he had lost his sight, and when I brought him out to the
mosque and he heard the call to prayer he called down blessings on Abu
Umama As'ad b. Zurara. This went on for some time: whenever he heard
the adhan he blessed him and asked God's pardon for him. I thought that
this was an extraordinary thing to do and decided to ask him why he did it.
He told me that it was because he was the first man to bring them together
in the low ground of al-Nabit' in the quarter of the B. Bayada called
Nagi'u'l-Khadimat. T asked him how many of them there were, and he told
me that they numbered forty men.'

'UbaydAllah b. al-Mughira b. Mu'ayqib and 'Abdullah b. Abu Bakr b.
Muhammad b. 'Amr b. Hazm told me that As'ad b. Zurara went out with
Mus’ab b. 'Umayr to the areas of B. 'Abdu'l-Ashhai and of B. Zafar. Sa'd b.
al-Nu'man b. Imru'u'l-Qays b. Zayd b. 'Abdu'l-Ashhai was the son of
As'ad's aunt. He entered with him one of the gardens of B. Zafar (235) by a
well called Maraq and sat in the garden and some of the men who had
accepted Islam gathered together there. Now Sa'd b. Mu'adh and Usayd b.
Hudayr were at that time leaders of their clan, the B. 'Abdu'l-Ashhal, and
both followed the heathenism of their tribe. When they heard about him
Sa'd said to Usayd: 'Go to these fellows who have entered our quarters to
make fools of our weak comrades, drive them out and forbid them to enter
our quarters. If it were not that As'ad b. Zurara is related to me as you know
I would save you the trouble. He is my aunt's son and I can do nothing to
him." So Usayd took his lance and went to them; and when As'ad saw him
he said to Musab, 'This is the chief of his tribe who is coming to you, so be
true to God with him.' Mus'ab said, 'If he will sit down I will talk to him.'
He stood over them looking furious and asking what they meant by coming
to deceive their weaker comrades. 'Leave us if you value your lives.'
Mus'ab said, 'Won't you sit down and listen. If you like what you hear you
can accept it, and if you don't like it you can leave it alone.' He agreed that
that was fair, stuck his lance in the ground, and sat down. He. explained
Islam to him and read him the Quran. Afterwards they said-according to
what has been reported of them-'By God, before he spoke we recognized
Islam in his face by its peaceful glow." He said, 'What a wonderful and
beautiful discourse this is! What does one do if he wants to enter this
religion?' They told him that he must wash and purify himself and his
garments, then bear witness to the truth and pray. He immediately did so
and made two prostrations. Then he said, 'There is a man behind me who if
he follows you every one of his people will follow suit. I will send him to
you at once. It is Sa'd b. Mu'adh.' Taking his lance he went off to Sa'd and
his people who were sitting in conclave. When Sa'd saw him coming he
said, 'By God, Usayd is corning with a different expression from that he
had when he left you.' And when he carne up he asked what had happened.
He said, 'l have spoken to the two men and I find no harm in them. I
forbade them to go on and they said to me, We will do what you like; and I
was told that the B. Haritha had gone out against As'ad to kill him because
they knew that he was the son of your aunt so as to make you appear a
treacherous protector of your guests.'

Sa'd enraged got up at once, alarmed at what had been said about the B.
Haritha. He took the lance from his hand, saying, 'By God, I see that you
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have been utterly ineffective.' He went out to them and when he saw them
sitting comfortably he knew that Usayd had intended that he should listen
to them. He stood over them, looking furious. To As'ad he said, 'Were it not
for the relationship between us you would not have treated me thus. Would
you behave in our houses in a way we detest? (Now As'ad had said to
Mus'ab, 'The leader whom his people follow has come to you. If he follows
you, no two of them will remain behind.") So Muy’ab said to him what he
had said to Usayd, and Sa'd stuck his lance in the ground and sat down. The
same thing happened again and he went to his people's meeting-place
accompanied by Usayd. When they saw him coming they said, 'We swear
by God Sa'd has returned with a different expression.' And when he stopped
by them he asked them how they knew what had happened to him. They
replied, '(You are) our chief, the most active in our interests, the best in
judgment and the most fortunate in leadership.' He said, 'I will not speak to
a man or woman among you until you believe in God and His apostle.' As a
result every man and woman among the B. 'Abdu'l-Ashbal joined Islam.

As'ad and Mus'ab returned to As'ad's house and stayed there calling
men to Islam until every house of the Ansar had men and women who were
Muslims except those of B. Umayya b. Zayd, and Khatma and Wa'il and
Wagqif; the latter were Aus Allah and of Aus b. Haritha. The reason was that
Abii Qays b. al-Aslat whose name was Sayfi was among them. He was their
poet and leader and they obeyed him and he kept them back from Islam.
Indeed he continued to do so until the apostle migrated to Medina, and
Badr, and Uhud, and al-Khandaq were over. He said concerning what he
thought of Islam and how men differed about his state:

Lord of mankind, serious things have happened.
The difficult and the simple are involved.

Lord of mankind, if we have erred

Guide us to the good path.

Were it not for our Lord we should be Jews

And the religion of Jews is not convenient.

Were it not for our Lord we should be Christians
Along with the monks on Mount Jalil

But when we were created we were created
Hanifs; our religion is from all generations.

We bring the sacrificial camels waiking in fetters
Covered with cloths but their shoulders bare (236).

THE SECOND PLEDGE AT AL-AQABA

Then Musab returned to Mecca and the Muslim Ansar came to the fair
there with the pilgrims of their people who were polytheists. They met the
apostle at al- 'Aqaba in the middle of the days of Tashriq, I when God
intended to honor them and to help His apostle and to strengthen Islam and
to humiliate heathenism and its devotees.

Ma'bad b. Ka'b b. Malik b. Abu Ka'b b. al-Qayn, brother of the B.
Salima, told me that his brother 'Abdullah b. Ka'b who was one of the most
learned of the Ansar told him that his father Ka'b who was one of those
who had been present at al-'Aqaba and did homage to the apostle, informed
him saying: 'We went out with the polytheist pilgrims of our people having
prayed and learned the customs of the pilgrimage. With us was al-Bara' b.
Ma'riir our chief and senior. When we had started our journey from Medina
al-Bara' said, "I have come to a conclusion and I don't know whether you
will agree with me or not. I think that I will not turn my back on this
building" (meaning the Ka'ba), "and that I shall pray towards it." We
replied that so far as we knew our prophet prayed towards Syria and we did
not wish to act differently. He said, "I am going to pray towards the Ka'ba."
We said, "But we will not." When the time for prayer came we prayed
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towards Syria and he prayed towards the Ka'ba until we came to Mecca.
We blamed him for what he was doing, but he refused to change. When we
came to Mecca he said to me, "Nephew, let us go to the apostle and ask him
about what I did on our journey. For I feel some misgivings since I have
seen your opposition." So we went to ask the apostle. We did not know him
and we had never seen him before. We met a man of Mecca and we asked
him about the apostle; he asked if we knew him and we said that we did
not. Then do you know his uncle, al’ Abbas b. 'Abdu'l-Muttalib? We said
that we did because he was always coming to us as a merchant. He said,
"When you enter the mosque he is the man sitting beside al-'Abbas." So we
went into the mosque and there was al-'Abbas sitting with the apostle
beside him; we saluted them and sat down. The apostle asked al-'Abbas if
he knew us, and he said that he did and named us. I shall never forget the
apostle's words when Ka'b's name was mentioned, "The poet?" AL-Bara'
said, “O prophet of God, I came on this journey God having guided me to
Islam and I felt that I could not turn my back on this building, so I prayed
towards it; but when my companions opposed me I felt some misgivings.
What is your opinion, O apostle of God?" He replied, "You would have had
a qgibla if you had kept to it," so al-Bara' returned to the apostle's qibla and
prayed with us towards Syria.” But his people assert that he prayed towards
the Ka 'ba until the day of his death; but this was not so. We know more
about that than they (237)."

Ma'bad b. Ka'b told me that his brother 'Abdullah told him that his
father Ka'b b. Malik said: 'Then we went to the hajj and agreed to meet the
apostle at al-'Aqaba in the middle of the days of the tashriq. When we had
completed the hajj and the night came in which we had agreed to meet the
apostle there was with us 'Abdullah b. 'Amr b. Haram Abu Jabir, one of our
chiefs and nobles whom we had taken with us. We had conceaied our
business from those of our people who were polytheists. We said to him,
"You are one of our chiefs and nobles and we want to wean you from your
present state lest you become fuel for the fire in the future." Then we
invited him to accept Islam and told him about our meeting with the apostle
at al-'"Aqgaba. Thereupon he accepted Islam and came to al-'Aqaba with us,
and became a naqib (leader).'

'We slept that night among our people in the caravan until when a third
of the night had passed we went stealing softly like sand grouse to our
appointment with the apostle as far as the gully by al-'Aqaba. There were
seventy-three men with two of our women: Nusayba d. of Ka'b Umm
'Umara, one of the women of B. Mazin b. al-Najjar, and Asma' d. of 'Amr
b. 'Adiy b. Nabi, one of the women of B. Salima who was known as Umm
Mani'. We gathered together in the gully waiting for the apostle until he
came with his uncle al-'Abbas who was at that time a polytheist; albeit he
wanted to be present at his nephew's business and see that he had a firm
guarantee. When he sat down he was the first to speak and said: “O people
of al-Khazraj (the Arabs used the term to cover both Khazraj and Aus). You
know what position Muhammad holds among us. We have protected him
from our own people who think as we do about him. He lives in honor and
safety among his people, but he will turn to you and join you. If you think
that you can be faithful to what you have promised him and protect him
from his opponents, then assume the burden you have undertaken. But if
you think that you will betray and abandon him after he has gone out with
you, then leave him now. For he is safe where he is." We replied, "We have
heard what you say. You speak, O apostle, and choose for yourself and for
your Lord what you wish."

'"The apostle spoke and recited the Quran and invited men to God and
commended Islam and then said: "I invite your allegiance on the basis that
you protect me as you would your women and children." AL-Bara' took his
hand and said "By Him Who sent you with the truth we will protect you as
we protect our women. We give our allegiance and we are men of war
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possessing arms which have been passed on from father to son." While al-
Bara' was speaking Abu'l-Haytham b. al- Tayyihan interrupted him and
said, “O apostle, we have ties with other men (he meant the Jews) and if we
sever them perhaps when we have done that and God will have given you
victory, you will return to your people and leave us?" The apostle smiled
and said: "Nay, blood is blood and blood not to be paid for is blood not to
be paid for. I am of you and you are of me. I will war against them that war
against you and be at peace with those at peace with you (238)."

Ka'b continued: 'The apostle said, "Bring out to me twelve leaders that
they may take charge of their people's affairs." They produced nine from al-
Khazraj and three from al-Aus.'

THE NAMES OF THE TWELVE LEADERS AND THE REST OF
THE STORY OF AL-' AQABA

According to what Ziyad b. 'Abdullah al-Bakka'l told us from
Muhammad b. Ishaq al-Muttalibi (they were):

From al-Khazraj: Abu Umama As'ad b. Zurara ... b. Al-Najjar who was
Taym Allah b. Tha'laba b. 'Amr b. al-Khazraj; Sa'd b. al-Rabi' b. 'Amr b.
Abu Zuhayr b. Malik b. Imru'u'l-Qays b. Malik b. Tha'laba b. Ka'b b. al-
Khazraj b. al-Harith b. al-Khazraj; 'Abdullah b. Rawaha b. Tha'laba of the
same line; Rafi' b. Malik b. al- 'Ajlan b. 'Amr ... ; al-Bara' b. Ma'rur b.
Sakhr b. Khansa' b. Sinan b. 'Ubayd b. 'Adiy b. Ghanm b. Ka'b b. Salama b.
Sa'd b.'Ali b. Asad b. Sarida b. Tazid b. Jusham b. al-Khazraj; 'Abdul-lah b.
'Amr b. Haram b. Tha'laba b. Haram b. Ka'b b. Ghanm b. Ka'b b. Salama ...
; 'Ubada b. al-samit b. Qays b. Asram ... (239). Sa'd b. 'Ubada b. Dulaym b.
Haritha b. Abu Hazima b. Tha'laba b. Tarif b. al-Khazraj b. Sa'ida b. Ka'b b.
al-Khazraj; al-Mundhir b. 'Amr b. Khunays b. Haritha b. Laudhanb. 'Abdu
Wudd b. Zayd b. Tha'laba b. al-Khazraj of the same line (240).

From al-Aus: Usayd b. Hudayr b. Simak b. 'Atik b. Rafi' b.
Imru'u'l-Qays b. Zayd b. 'Abdu'l-Ashhai b. Jusham b. al-Harith b. al-
Khazraj b. 'Amr b. Malik b. al-Aus; Sa'd b. Khaythama b. al-Harith b.
Malik b. Ka'b b. al-Nahhat b. Ka'b b. Haritha b. Ghanm b. al-Salim b.
Imru'u'l-Qays b. Malik b. al-Aus; Rifa'a b. 'Abdu I-Mundhir b. Zubayr b.
Zayd b. Umayya b. Zayd b. Malik b. 'Auf'b. 'Amr b. 'Auf b. Malik b. al-Aus
(241).

'Abdullah b. Abu Bakr told me that the apostle said to the Leaders: "You
are the sureties for your people just as the disciples of Jesus, Son of Mary,
were responsible to him, while I am responsible for my people, i.e. the
Muslims.' They agreed.

'Asim b. 'Umar b. Qatada told me that when the people came together to
plight their faith to the apostle, al-'Abbas b. 'Ubada b. Nadla Al-Ansari,
brother of B. Salim b. 'Auf, said, ‘O men of Khazraj, do you realize to what
you are committing yourselves in pledging your support to this man? It is to
war against all and sundry.” If you think that if you lose your property and
your nobles are killed you will give him up, then do so now, for it would
bring you shame in this world and the next (if you did so later); but if you
think that you will be loyal to your undertaking if you lose your property
and your nobles are killed, then take him, for by God it will profit you in
this world and the next.' They said that they would accept the apostle on
these conditions. But they asked what they would get in return for their
loyalty, and the apostle promised them paradise. They said, 'Stretch forth
your hand,' and when he did so they pledged their word. 'Asim added that
al-'Abbas said that only to bind the obligation more securely on them.
'Abdullah b. Abu Bakr said that he said it merely to keep the people back
that night, hoping that 'Abdullah b. Ubayy b. Salul would come and so give
more weight to his people's support. But God knows best which is right
(242).
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The B. Al-Najjar allege that As'ad b. Zurara was the first to strike his
hand in fealty; the B. 'Abdu'l-Ashhai say that he was not, for
Abu'l-Haytham was the first. Ma'bad b. Ka'b told me in his tradition from
his brother 'Abdullah b. Ka'b from his father Ka'b b. Malik that al-Bara' was
the first and the people followed him. When we had all pledged ourselves
Satan shouted from the top of al-'Aqaba in the most penetrating voice I
have ever heard, ‘O people of the stations of Mina, do you want this
reprobate’ and the apostates” who are with him? They have come together
to make war on you!' The apostle said, 'This is the Izb® of the hill. This is
the son of Azyab. Do you hear, O enemy of God, I swear I will make an
end of you! (243).'

The apostle then told them to disperse and go back to their caravan, and
al-'Abbas b. 'Ubada said, 'By God, if you wish it we will fail on the people
of Mina tomorrow with our swords.' He replied, "We have not been
com-manded to do that; but go back to your caravan.' So we went back to
our beds and slept until the morrow.

With the morning the leaders of Quraysh came to our encampment
say-ing that they had heard that we had come to invite Muhammad to leave
them and had pledged ourselves to support him in war against them, and
that there was no Arab tribe that they would fight more reluctantly than us.
Thereupon the polytheists of our tribe swore that nothing of the kind had
happened and they knew nothing of it. And here they were speaking the
truth, for they were in ignorance of what had happened. We looked at one
another. Then the people got up, among them al-Harith b. Hisham b.
ai-Mughira al-Makhzumi who was wearing a pair of new sandals. I spoke a
word to him as though I wanted to associate the people with what they had
said, ‘O Abu Jabir, seeing that you are one of our chiefs, can't you get hold
of a pair of sandals such as this young Qurayshite has? AL-Harith heard me
and took them off his feet and threw them at me saying, 'By God you can
have them!" Abu Jabir said, 'Gently now, you have angered the young man,
so give him back his sandals.' 'By God, I will not,' I said; 'it is a good omen
and if it proves to be true I shall plunder him.'

'Abdullah b. Abu Bakr told me that they came to 'Abdullah b. Ubayy
and said to him much the same as Ka'b had said and he replied, 'This is a
serious matter; my people are not in the habit of deciding a question
with-out consulting me in this way and I do not know that it has happened.'
Thereupon they left him.

When the people had left Mina they investigated the report closely and
found that it was true. So they went in pursuit of (our) people and over-took
Sa'd b. 'Ubada in Adhakhir and also al-Mundhir b. 'Amr, brother of B.
Sa'ida, both of them being 'leaders'. The latter got away, but they caught
Sa'd and tied his hands to his neck with the thongs of the girth and brought
him back to Mecca beating him on the way and dragging him by the hair,
for he was a very hairy man. Sa'd said, 'As they held me, a number of
Quraysh came up, among them a tall, white, handsome man of pleasant
appearance and I thought that if there was any decency among them this
man would show it. But when he came up he delivered me a violent blow in
the face and after that- I despaired of fair treatment. As they were dragging
me along, a man took pity on me and said, "You poor devil, haven't you
any right to protection from one of the Quraysh?" "Yes," I said, "I have. I
used to guarantee the safety of the merchants of Jubayr b. Mut'im b. 'Adiy
b. Naufaia b. 'Abdu Manaf and protect them from those who might have
wronged them in my country; also al-Harith b. Harb b. Umayya b. 'Abdu
Shams b. 'Abdu Manaf." "Very well, then, call out the names of these two
men and say what tie there is between you," he said. This I did and that man
went to them and found them in the mosque beside the Ka'ba and told them
of me and that I was calling for them and mentioning my claim on them.
When they heard who I was they acknowledged the truth of my claim and
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came and delivered me.' So Sa'd went off. The name of the man who hit
him was Suhayl b. 'Amr, brother of B. 'Amir b. Lu'ayy (244).

The first poetry about the Migration was two verses composed by Dirar
b. al-Khattab b. Mirdas, brother of B. Muharib b. Fihr:

I overtook Sa'd and took him by force.

It would have been better if | had caught Mundhir.

If I had got him his blood would not have to be paid for.
He deserves to be humiliated and left unavenged (244a).
Hassan b. Thabit answered him thus:

You were not equal to Sa'd and the man Mundhir
When the people's camels were thin.

But for Abu Wahb (my) verses would have passed over
The top of al-Barga'l swooping down swiftly”

Do you boast of wearing cotton

When the Nabataeans wear dyed' wrappers?

Be not like a sleeper who dreams that

He is in a town of Caesar or Chosroes.

Don't be like a bereaved mother who

Would not have lost her child had she been wise;

Nor like the sheep which with her forelegs

Digs the grave she does not desire;

Nor like the barking dog that sticks out his neck

Not fearing the arrow of the unseen archer.

He who directs poetry's shafts at us

Is like one who sends dates to Khaybar.”

THE IDOL OF AMR IBNU'L-JAMUH

When they came to Medina they openly professed Islam there. Now
some of the shaykhs still kept to their old idolatry, among whom was 'Amr
b. Al-Jamul). b. Yazid b. Haram b. Ka'b b. Ghanm b. Ka'b b. Salama whose
son, Mu'adh, had been present at al'’Aqaba and had done homage to the
apostle there. 'Amr was one of the tribal nobles and leaders and had set up
in his house a wooden idol called Manat® as the nobles used to do, making
it a god to reverence and keeping it clean. When the young men of the B.
Salama Mu'adh b. Jabal and his own son Mu'adh adopted Islam with the
other men who had been at al- 'Aqaba they used to creep in at night to this
idol of 'Amr's and carry it away and throw it on its face into a cesspit. When
the morning came 'Amr cried, 'Woe to you! Who has been at our gods this
night?' Then he went in search of the idol and when he found it he washed
it and cleaned it and perfumed it saying, 'By God, if I knew who had done
this I would treat him shamefully!" When night came and he was fast asleep
they did the same again and he restored the idol in the morning. This
happened several times until one day he took the idol from the place where
they had thrown it, purified it as before, and fastened his sword to it,
saying, 'By God, I don't know who has done this; but if you are any good at
all defend yourself since you have this sword.' At night when he was asleep
they came again and took the sword from its neck and hung a dead dog to it
by a cord and then threw it into a cesspit. In the morning 'Amr came and
could not find it where it normally was; ultimately he found it face
downwards in that pit tied to a dead dog. When he saw it and perceived
what had happened and the Muslims of his clan spoke to him he accepted
Islam by the mercy of God and became a good Muslim. He wrote some
verses when he had come to a knowledge of God in which he mentioned
the image and its impotence and thanked God for having delivered him
from the blindness and error in which he had lived hitherto:

By Allah, if you had been a god you would not have been
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Tied to a dead dog in a cesspit.

Phew! that we ever treated you as a god, but now

We have found you out and left our wicked folly.
Praise be to God most High, the Gracious,

The Bountiful, the Provider, the Judge of all religions
Who has delivered me in time to save me

From being kept in the darkness of the grave.

CONDITIONS OF THE PLEDGE AT THE SECOND 'AQABA

When God gave permission to his apostle to fight, the second 'Aqaba
contained conditions involving war which were not in the first act of fealty.
Now they bound themselves to war against all and sundry for God and his
apostle, while he promised them for faithful service thus the reward of
paradise.

'Ubada b. al-Walid b. 'Ubada b. al-Samit from his father from his
grandfather 'Ubada b. al-Samit who was one of the Leaders told me, 'We
pledged ourselves to war in complete obedience to the apostle in weal and
woe, in ease and hardship and evil circumstances; that we would not wrong
anyone; that we would speak the truth at all times; and that in God's service
we would fear the censure of none.' 'Ubada was one of the twelve who gave
his word at the first 'Aqaba.

THE NAMES OF THOSE PRESENT AT THE SECOND 'AQABA

There were seventy-three men and two women of Aus and Khazraj."

Of Aus there were:

Usayd b. Hudayr ... a leader who was not at Badr. Abu'l-Haytham b.

Tayyahan who was at Badr. Saima b. Salama b. Waqgsh b. Zughba b.
Zu'ura' b. 'Abdu'l-Ashhai who was at Badr (245). Total 3.

From B. Haritha b, al-Harith ... Zuhayr b, Rafi' b. 'Adiy b. Zayd b.

Jusham b. Haritha, and Abu Burda b. Niyar whose name' was Hani' b.
Niyar b. 'Amr b. 'Ubayd b. Kilab b. Duhman b. Ghanm b. Dhubyan b.
Humaym b. Kamil b. Dhuhl b. Haniy b. Baiiy b. 'Amr b. al-Haf b. Quda'a,
one of their allies. He was at Badr. Nuhayr b. al-Haytham of B. Nabi b.
Majda'a b. Haritha. Total 3.

Of B. 'Amr b. 'Auf b. Malik: Sa'd b. Khaythama a 'leader' who was
present at Badr and was killed there as a martyr beside the apostle (246).
Rifa'a b. 'Abdu'l-Mundhir, a leader present at Badr. 'Abdullah b. Jubayr b.
al-Nu'man b. Umayya b. Al-Burak, the name of Al-Burak being
Imru'u'l-Qays b. Tha'laba b. 'Amr who was present at Badr and was killed
as a martyr at Uhud commanding the archers for the apostle (247). And
Ma'an b. 'Adiy b. al- Jad b. al- 'Ajlan b. Haritha b. Dubay'a, a client of
theirs from Baiiy present at Badr, Uhud, and al-Khandaq and all the
apostle's battles. He was killed in the battle of al- Y amama as a martyr in
the caliphate of Abu Bakr. And 'Uwaym b. Sa'ida who was present at Badr,
Uhud, and al-Khandagq. Total 5.

The total for all clans of Aus was 11.

Of al-Khazraj there were:

Of B. Al-Najjar who was Taymullah b. Tha'laba b. 'Amr: Abu Ayyub
Khalid b. Zayd b. Kulayb b. Tha'laba b. 'Abd b. 'Auf b. Ghanm b. Malik b.
Al-Najjar. He was present at all the apostle's battles and died in Byzantine
territory as a martyr in the time of Mu'awiya. Mu'adh b. al-Harith b. Rifa'a
b. Sawad b. Malik b. Ghanm. Present at all battles. He was the son of 'Afra’
and his brother was 'Auf b. al-Harith who was killed at Badr as a martyr.
Mu'awwidh his brother shared the same glory. It was he who killed Abu
Jahl b. Hisham b. al-Mughira; he too was 'Afra's son (248). And 'Umara b.
Hazm b. Zayd b. Laudhan b. 'Amr b. 'Abdu 'Auf b. Ghanm. He was present
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at all battles and died a martyr in the battle of al-Yamama in the caliphate
of Abu Bakr. As'ad b. Zurara, a leader. He died before Badr when the
apostle's mosque was being built. Total 6.

Of B. 'Amr b. Mabdhul who was 'Amir b. Malik: Sahl b. 'Atik b.
Nu'man b. 'Amr b. 'Atik b. '"Amr. Was at Badr. Total 1

Of B. 'Amr b. Malik b. Al-Najjar who are the B. Hudayla (249). Aus b.

Thabit b. al-Mundhir b. Haram b. 'Amr b. Zayd Manat b. 'Adiy b. 'Amr
b. Malik, present at Badr; Abu Taiha Zayd b. Sahl b. al-Aswad b. Haram b.
'Amr b. Zayd Manat ... present at Badr. Total 2.

Of B. Mazin b. Al-Najjar: Qays b. Abu Sa'sa'a whose name was 'Amr b.
Zayd b. 'Auf b. Mabdhul b. 'Amr b. Ghanm b. Mazin. Present at Badr where
the apostle put him in command of the rearguard. 'Amr b. Ghaziya

b.'Amr b. Tha’laba b. Khansa' b. Mabdhul ... Total 2.

The total for B. Al-Najjar was II (250).

Of B. al-Harith b. Khazraj: Sa'd b. Al-Rabi', a leader. Was at Badr and
died a martyr at Uhud. Kharija b. Zayd b. Abu Zuhayr b. Malik b. Imru'ul-
Qays b. Malik al-Agharr b. Tha'laba b. Ka'b. Present at Badr and killed at
Ulhud as a martyr. 'Abdullah b. Rawaha, a leader, present at all the
apostle's battles except the occupation of Mecca and was killed at Muta as a
martyr as one of the apostle's commanders. Bashir b. Sa'd b. Tha'laba b.
Khaia b. Zayd b. Malik ... , the father of al-Nu'man was present at Badr.
'Abdullah b. Zayd b. Tha'laba b. 'Abdullah b. Zayd Manat b. al-Harith.
Present at Badr. He it was who was shown how to call to prayer and was
ordered by the apostle to perform it. Khallad b. Suwayd b. Tha'laba b. 'Amr
b. Haritha b. Imru'ul-Qays b. Malik. Present at Badr, Uhud, and al-Khandaq
and was killed as a martyr in fighting B. Qurayza when a millstone was
thrown from one of their castles and crushed his skull. The apostle said-so
they say-that he will have the reward of two martyrs. 'Ugba b. 'Amr b.
Tha'laba b. Usayra b. 'Usayra b. Jadara b. 'Auf who is Abu Mas'ud, the
youngest of those at al-'Aqaba. Died in the time of Mu'awiya. Was not at
Badr. Total 7.

Of B. Bayada b,'Amir b. Zurayq b. 'Abdu Haritha: Ziyad b. Labid b.

Tha'laba b. Sinan b. 'Amir b. 'Adiy b. Umayya b. Bayada. Present at
Badr. Farwa b. 'Amr b. Wadhafa b. 'Ubayd b. 'Amir b. Bayada. Present at
Badr (251). Khalid b. Qays b. Malik b. al-'Ajlan b. 'Amir. At Badr. Total 3.

Of B. Zurayq b. 'Amir b. Zurayq b. 'Abdu Haritha b. Malik b. Ghadb b.
Jusham b. al-Khazraj: Rafi' b. al-'Ajlan, a leader. Dhakwan b. 'Abdu Qays
b. Khalda b. Mukhallad b. 'Amir. He went out to the apostle and stayed
with him in Mecca after he had migrated from Medina; thus he got the
name of Ansari Muhajiri. He was at Badr and was killed as a martyr at
Uhud. 'Abbad b. Qays b. 'Amir b. Khalda, &c. Was at Badr. AlHarith b.
Qays b. Khalid b. Mukhallad b. 'Amir, who was Abu Khalid. Present at
Badr. Total 4.

Of B. Salama b. Sa'd b. 'Ali b. Asad b. Sarida b. Tazid ... AlL-Bara'b.
Ma'ur b. Sakhr ... a leader who, the B. Salama allege, was the first to strike
his hand on the apostle's when the conditions of the second 'Aqaba were
agreed to. He died before the apostle came to Medina. His son Bishr was at
Badr, Uhud, and al-Khandaq and he died in Khaybar of eating with the
apostle the mutton that was poisoned. He it was to whom the apostle
referred when he asked B. Salama who their chief was and they replied, ,
AL-Judd b. Qays in spite of his meanness!' He said, 'What disease is worse
than meanness? The chief of B. Salama is the white curly haired Bishr b. al-
Bara' b. Ma'ur.' Sinan b. Sayfi b. Sakhr b. Khansa' b. Sinan b. 'Ubayd who
was at Badr and died a martyr at al-Khandaq. AL- Tufayl b. Nu'man b.
Khansa' b. Sinan b. 'Ubayd with the same record. Ma'qil b. al-Mundhir b.
Sarh b. Khuna b. Sinan b. 'Ubayd who was at Badr, together with his
brother Yazid. Mas'udb. Yazid b. Subay' b. Khansa' b. Sinan b. 'Ubayd. AL-
Dahhak b Haritha b. Zayd b. Tha'laba b. 'Ubayd who was present at Badr.
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Yazid b. Haram b. Subay' b. Khansa b. Sinan b. 'Ubayd. Jubba b. Sakhr b.
Umayya b. Khansa' b. Sinan b. 'Ubayd

present at Badr (252). AL-Tufayl b. Malik b. Khansa' b. Sinan b.
'Ubayd who was present at Badr' Total 11.

Of B. Sawad b. Ghanm b. Ka'b b. Salama of the clan of Banu Ka'b b.
Sawad: Ka'b b. Malik b. Abu Ka'b b. al-Qayn b. Ka'b. Total 1.

Of B. Ghanm b. Sawad b. Ghanm b. Ka'b b. Salama. Salim b. 'Amr b.
Hadida b. 'Amr b. Ghanm who was at Badr. Qutba b. 'Amir b. Hadida b.
'Amr b. Ghanm who was at Badr. Yazid his brother known as
Abu'l-Mundhir; was at Badr. Ka'b b. 'Amr b. 'Abbad b. 'Amr b. Ghanm
known as Abu'l-Yasar. At Badr. Sayfi b. Sawad b. 'Abbad b. 'Amr b.
Ghanm (253)- Total 5.

Of B. Nabi b. 'Amr b. Sawad b. Ghanm b. Ka'b b. Salama: Tha'laba b.
Ghanama b. 'Adiy b. Nabi was at Badr and was killed as a martyr at
al-Khandagq. 'Amr b. Ghanama b. 'Adiy b. Nabi. 'Abs b. 'Amir b. 'Adiy was
at Badr. 'Abdullah b. Unays an ally from Quda'a. Khalid b. 'Amr b. 'Adiy.
Total 5.

Of B. Haram b. Ka'b b. Ghanm b. Ka'b b. Salama: 'Abdullah b. 'Amr
who was a leader and was at Badr and was killed as a martyr at Uhud. Jabir
his son. Mu'adh b. 'Amr b. al-Jamuh who was at Badr. Thabit b. al-Jidh'(al-

Jidh' being Tha'laba b. Zayd b. al-Harith b. Haram) was at Badr and was 311

killed as a martyr at al- Ta'if. "Umayr b. al-Harith b. Tha'laba b. al-Harith b.
Haram who was at Badr (254). Khadij b. Salama b. Aus b. 'Amrb. al-Furafir
an ally from Baiiy: Mu'adh b. Jabal b. '"Amr b. Aus b. 'A'idh b. Ka'b b. 'Amr
b. Adi* b. Sa'd b. 'Ali b. Asad. It is said 'Asad b. Sarida b. Tazid b. Jusham
b. al-Khazraj, who lived with the B. Salama; he was present at all the
battles and died in 'Amwas3 in the year of the Syrian plague during the
caliphate of 'Umar. The B. Salama claimed him for the reason that he was
the brother of Sahl b. Muhammad b. Al-Judd b. Qays b. Sakhr b. Khansa' b.
Sinan b. 'Ubayd ... b. Salama through his mother (255). Total 7-

Of B. 'Auf b. al-Khazraj then of the B. Salim b. 'Aufb. 'Amr b. 'Auf:

'Ubada b. al-Samit, a leader who was at all the battles ... (256). AL-
'Abbas b. 'Ubada b. Nadla ... , one of those who joined the apostle in
Mecca, lived there with him, and was called an Ansari Muhajiri. He was
killed at Uhud as a martyr. Abu 'Abdu'l-Rahman Yazid b. Tha'laba b.
Khazama b. Asram b. 'Amr b. 'Ammara, an ally from the B. Ghusayna of
Baiiy. 'Amr b. al-Harith b. Labda b. 'Amr b. Tha'laba. They were the
Qawaqil. Total 4.

Of B. Salim b. Ghanm b. 'Auf; known as the B. al-Hubla (257): Rifa'a
b. 'Amr b. Zayd b. 'Aimr b. Tha'laba b. Malik b. Salim b. Ghanm known as 312

Abu'l-Walid. Was at Badr (258). 'Ugba b. Wahb b. Kalda b. al-Ja’da b.
Hilal b. al-Harith b. 'Amr b. 'Adiy b. Jusham b. 'Auf'b. Buhtha b. 'Abdul-lah
b. Ghatafan b. Sa'd b. Qays b. 'Aylan, an ally, present at Badr. He had the
title Ansari Muhajiri for the reason given above. Total 2.

Of the B. Sa'ida b. Ka'b: Sa'd b. 'Ubada a leader. Al-Mundhir b. 'Amr, a
leader, present at Badr and Uhud and killed at Bi'r Ma'una commanding for
the apostle. It was said of him 'He hastened to death' (259)' Total 2.

The total number of those present at the second 'Aqaba from the Aus
and Khazraj was seventy-three men and two women who they allege
pledged their obedience also. The apostle used not to strike hands with
women; he merely stated the conditions, and if they accepted them he
would say, 'Go, I have made a covenant with you.'

(Of these two women) Nusayba was of B. Mazin b. Al-Najjar. She was
d. of Ka'b b. 'Amr b. 'Auf b. Mabdhul b. 'Amr b. Ghanm b. Mazin, mother
of 'Umara. She and her sister went to war with the apostle. Her husband
was Zayd b. 'Asim b. Ka'b, and her two sons were Habib and 'Abdullah.
Musaylima the liar, the Hanifi chief of the Yamama, got hold of Habib and
began to say to him, 'Do you testify that Muhammad is the apostle of God?'
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And when he said that he did, he went on, 'And do you testify that [ am the
apostle of God?' he answered, T do not hear." So he began to cut him to
pieces member by member until he died. He tried putting the same
questions to him again and again, but he could get no different answers.
Nusayba went to al- Yamama with the Muslims and took part in the war in
person until God slew Musaylima, when she returned having suffered
twelve wounds from spear or sword. It was Muhammad b. Yahya b.
Habban who told me this story from 'Abdullah

b. 'Abdu'l-Rahman b. Abu Sa'sa'a.

The other woman was of B. Salama, Umm Mani', named Asma' d. 'Amr
b.'Adiy b. Nabi b. 'Amr b. Sawad b. Ghanm b. Ka'b b. Salama.

THE APOSTLE RECEIVES THE ORDER TO FIGHT

The apostle had not been given permission to fight or allowed to shed
blood before the second 'Agaba. He had simply been ordered to call men to
God and to endure insult and forgive the ignorant. The Quraysh had
persecuted his followers, seducing some from their religion, and exiling
others from their country. They had to choose whether to give up their
religion, be maltreated at home, or to flee the country, some to Abyssinia,
others to Medina.

When Quraysh became insolent towards God and rejected His gracious
purpose, accused His prophet of lying, and ill treated and exiled those who
served Him and proclaimed His unity, believed in His prophet, and held
fast to His religion, He gave permission to His apostle to fight and to
protect himself against those who wronged them and treated them badly.

The first verse which was sent down on this subject from what I have
heard from 'Urwa b. al-Zubayr and other learned persons was: 'Permission
is given to those who fight because they have been wronged. God is well
able to help them,-those who have been driven out of their houses without
right only because they said God is our Lord. Had not God used some men
to keep back others, cloisters and churches and oratories and mosques
wherein the name of God is constantly mentioned would have been
destroyed. Assuredly God will help those who help Him. God is Almighty.
Those who if we make them strong in the land will establish prayer, pay the
poor-tax, enjoin kindness, and forbid iniquity. To God belongs the end of
matters.'" The meaning is: 'I have allowed them to fight only because they
have been unjustly treated while their sole offence against men has been
that they worship God. When they are in the ascendant they will establish
prayer, pay the poor-tax, enjoin kindness, and forbid iniquity, i.e. the
prophet and his companions all of them." Then God sent down to him:
'Fight them so that there be no more seduction,” i.e. until no believer is
seduced from his religion. 'And the religion is God's, i.e. Until God alone is
worshipped.

When God had given permission to fight and this clan of the Ansar had
pledged their support to him in Islam and to help him and his followers, and
the Muslims who had taken refuge with them, the apostle commanded his
companions, the emigrants of his people and those Muslims who were with
him in Mecca, to emigrate to Medina and to link up with their brethren the
Ansar. 'God will make for you brethren and houses in which you may be
safe.'! So they went out in companies, and the apostle stayed in Mecca
waiting for his Lord's permission to leave Mecca and migrate to Medina.

THOSE WHO MIGRATED TO MEDINA

The first of the Quraysh to migrate to Medina from among the apostle's
companions was one of B. Makhzum, Abu Salama b. 'Abdu'l-Asad b. Hilal
b. 'Abdullah b. 'Umar b. Makhzum whose forename was 'Abdullah. He
went to Medina a year before the pledge at al-'Aqaba, having come to the
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apostle in Mecca from Abyssinia. He migrated because the Quraysh ill-
treated him and he had heard that some of the Ansar had accepted Islam.

My father Ishaq b. Yasar on the authority of Salama who had it from his
grandmother Umm Salama the prophet's wife told me that she said:

When Abu Salama had decided to set out for Medina he saddled his
camel for me and mounted me on it together with my son Salama who was
in my arms. Then he set out leading the camel. When the men of B. al-
Mughira b. 'Abdullah b. 'Umar b. Makhzum saw him they got up and said:
'So far as you are concerned you can do what you like; but what about your
wife? Do you suppose that, we shall let you take her away?' So they
snatched the camel's rope from his hand and took me from him. Abu
Salama's family, the B. Abdu'l-Asad, were angry at this and said: "We will
not leave our son with her seeing you have tom her from our tribesman.' So
they dragged at my little boy Salama between them until they dislocated his
arm, and the B. al-Asad took him away, while the B. al-Mughira kept me
with them, and my husband Abu Salama went to Medina. Thus I was
separated from my husband and my son. I used to go out every morning and
sit in the valley weeping continuously until a year or so had passed when
one of my cousins of B. al-Mughira passed and saw my plight and took pity
on me. He said to his tribesmen, 'Why don't you let this poor woman go ?
You have separated husband, wife, and child.' So they said to me, 'You can
join your husband if you like;' ; and then the B. 'Abdu'l-Asad restored my
son to me. So I saddled my camel and took my son and carried him in my
arms. Then I set forth making for my husband in Medina. Not a soul was
with me. I thought that I could get food from anyone I met on the road until
I reached my husband. When I was in Tan'im' I met 'Uthman b. Taiha b.
Abu Taiha, brother of B. 'Abdu'l-Dar, who asked me where I was going and
if T was all alone. I told him that except for God and my little boy I was
alone. He said that I ought not to be left helpless like that and he took hold
of the camel's halter and went along with me. Never have I met an Arab
more noble than he. When we halted he would make the camel kneel for me
and then withdraw; when we reached a stopping-place he would lead my
camel away, unload it, and tie. it to a tree. Then he would go from me and
lie down under a tree. When evening came he would bring the camel and
saddle it, then go behind me and tell me to ride; and when I was firmly
established in the saddle he would come and take the halter and lead it until
he brought me to a halt. This he did all the way to Medina. When he saw a
village of B. '"Amr b. 'Auf in Quba' he said: "Your husband is in this village
(Abu Salama was actually there), so enter it with the blessing of God.' Then
he went off on his way back to Mecca.

She used to say, By God, I do not know a family in Islam which
suffered what the family of Abu Salama did.” Nor have I ever seen a nobler
man than 'Uthman b. Taiha.

The first emigrant' to go to Medina after Abu Salama was 'Amir b.
Rabi'a, an ally of B. 'Adiy b. Ka'b together with his wife Layla d. of
Hathma b. Ghanim b. 'Abdullah b. 'Auf b. 'Ubayd b. 'Uwayj b. 'Adiy b.
Ka'b. Then 'Abdullah b. Jahsh b. Ri'ab b. Ya'mar b. Sabira b. Murra b.
Kathir b. Ghanm b. Dudan b. Asad b. Khuzayma ally of B. Umayya b.
'Abdu Shams along with his family and his brother 'Abd-who was known as
Abu Ahmad. Now Abu Ahmad was blind and he used to go all round
Mecca from top to bottom without anyone to lead him. He was a poet. He
had to wife al-Far'a d. of Abu Sufyan b. Harb; his mother was Umayma d.
of 'Abdu'l-Muttalib.

The house of the B. Jahsh was locked up when they left and 'Utba b.
Rabi'a and al-'Abbas b. 'Abdu'l-Muttalib and Abu Jahl b. Hisham passed by
it on their way to the upper part of Mecca. (Today it is the house of Aban b.
'Uthman in Radm.) 'Utba looked at it with its doors blowing to and fro,
empty of inhabitants, and sighed heavily and said:
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Every house however long its prosperity lasts
Will one day be overtaken by misfortune and trouble (260).
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Then 'Utba went on to say, 'The house of the B. Jahsh has become
tenantless.' To which Abu Jahl replied, Nobody will weep over that (261)".

He went on: This is the work of this man's nephew. He has divided our
community, disrupted our affairs, and driven a wedge between us. Abu
Salama and 'Amir b. Rabi'a and 'Abdullah b. Jahsh and his brother Abu
Ahmad b. Jahsh were billeted on Mubashshir b. 'Abdu'l-Mundhir b. Zanbar
in Quba' among the B. 'Amr b. 'Auf.

Then the refugees came in companies and the B. Ghanm b. Dudan were
Muslims who had gone to Medina as a body with the apostle as emigrants
both men and women: 'Abdullah b. Jahsh and his brother Abu Ahmad and
'Ukasha b. Mihsan and Shuja' and 'Uqgba, the two sons of Wahb, and Arbad
b. Humayyira (262), and Munqidh b. Nubata and Sa'id b. Rugaysh and
Muhriz b. Nadla and Yazid b. Ruqaysh, and Qays b. Jabir and 'Amr b.
Milhsan and Malik b. 'Amr and Safwan b. 'Amr and Thaqf b. 'Amr and
Rabi'a b. Aktham and al-Zubayr b. 'Abid and Tammam b. 'Ubayda and
Sakhbara b. 'Ubayda and Muhammad b. 'Abdullah b. Jahsh.

Their women were Zaynab and U mm Habib daughters of Jahsh,
Judhama d. Jandal and Umm Qays d. Milhaan and Umm Habib d.
Thumama and Amina d. of Ruqaysh and Sakhbara d. Tamim and Hamna d.
Jahsh.

Abu Ahmad, mentioning the migration of the B. Asad b. Khuzayma of
his people to God and his apostle and their going in a body when they were
called on to emigrate, said:

Had Ahmad's mother 'twixt Safa and Marwa sworn
Her oath would have been true.

We were the first in Mecca and remained so

Till the worse became the better part.

Here Ghanm b. Dudan pitched his tent.

From it Ghanm has gone and its inhabitants diminish.'
To God they go in ones and twos, 318
Their religion the religion of God and his apostle.

He also said:

When Umm Ahmad saw me setting out

In the protection of One I secretly fear and reverence,

She said, 'If you must do this,

Then take us anywhere but to Yathrib.'

I said to her, 'Nay, Yathrib today is our goal.

What the Merciful wills the slave must do.'

Towards God and His apostle is my face

And he who sets his face to God today will not be disappointed.
How many sincere friends have we left behind

And a woman who would dissuade us with weeping and wailing.
You may think that hope of vengeance takes us far from home,
But we think that the hope of good things to come draws us.

I besought the Bamu Ghanm to avoid bloodshed

And accept the truth when the way is plain to all.

Praising God they accepted the call of truth

And salvation, and went forth as one man.

We and some of our companions who left the right path

Who helped others against us with their weapons

Became two parties: one helped and guided

To the truth, the other doomed to punishment.

Unjust they have invented lies.
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Iblis beguiled them from the truth — are disappointed and

frustrated.

We turned back to the prophet Muhammad's words.

"Twas well with us, friends of truth, and we were made happy.

We are the nearest in kin to them.

But there's no next-of-kin when friendship is lacking.

What sister's son after us will trust you?

What son-in-law after mine can be relied on?

You will know which of us has found the truth

The day that separation is made and the state of men is distinct (263).'

UMAR MIGRATES TO MEDINA. ‘AYYASH AND HIS STORY

Then "Umar b. al-Khattab and 'Ayyash b. Abu Rabi'a al-Makhzumi
went to Medina. Nafi', freedman of 'Abdullah b. 'Umar, told me that the
latter informed him that his father 'Umar said: "When we had made up our
minds to migrate to Medina 'Ayyash, Hisham b. al-'As b. Wa'il al-Sahmi,
and I made an appointment to meet at the thorn-trees of Adat of B. Ghifar’
above Sarif® and we said: "If one of us fails to turn up there in the morning
he will have been kept back by force and the other two must go on."
'Ayyash and I duly arrived there, but Hisham was kept back and succumbed
to the temptation to apostatize.

"When we reached Medina we stayed with B. 'Amr b. 'Auf in Quba'; and
Abu Jahl and al-Harith, sons of Hisham, came to 'Ayyash who was the son
of their uncle and their maternal brother, while the apostle was still in
Mecca. They told him that his mother had vowed that she would not comb
her head or take shelter from the sun until she saw him. He felt sorry for her
and I said to him, "This is nothing but an attempt of the people to seduce
you from your religion so beware of them; for by God if lice were causing
your mother trouble she would use her comb, and if the heat of Mecca
oppressed her she would take shelter from it." But he said, "I will clear my
mother from her oath; also I have some money there which I can get." I told
him that I was one of the richest of the Quraysh and he could have half my
money if he refused to go with the two men. But when I saw that he was
determined to go I said, "If you must go, then take this camel of mine. She
is well bred and easy to ride. Don't dismount, and if you suspect them of
treachery you can escape on her."

'"The three went off and while they were on their way Abu Jahl said,
"Nephew, I find my beast hard to ride. Won't you mount me behind you?"
When he agreed he and they made their camels kneel to make the change
over, and when they were on the ground they fell on him and bound him
securely and brought him to Mecca and induced him to apostatize.'

One of the family of 'Ayyash told me that they brought him in to Mecca
bound by day and said, ‘O men of Mecca, deal with your fools as we have
dealt with this fool of ours.'

To continue Nafi's story of 'Umar's words: 'We were saying God will
not receive compensation or ransom or repentance from those who let
themselves be made apostates — a people who know God and then return to
unbelief because of trial!" And they were saying that of themselves. When
the apostle came to Medina God sent down concerning them and what we
had said and what they themselves thought: 'Say: O my servants who have
acted foolishly against yourselves, despair not of God's mercy, for God
forgiveth all sins. He is Forgiving Merciful. Turn to your Lord and submit
yourselves to Him before punishment comes to you, then you will not be
helped. Follow that excellent course which has been sent down to you from
your Lord before punishment comes to you suddenly when you do not
perceive it." '

I wrote these words with my own hand on a sheet and sent it to Hisham,
and he said, 'When it came to me I read it in Dhu Tuwa,” bringing it near
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and holding it at arms' length and could make nothing of it until I said, “O
God, make me understand it!". Then God put it into my heart that it had
been sent down concerning us and what we were thinking and what was
being said about us. So I returned to my camel and rejoined the apostle who
was then in Medina (264).'

THE LODGMENTS OF THE EMIGRANTS IN MEDINA

'Umar accompanied by various members of his family, and his brother
Zayd, and 'Amr and 'Abdullah the sons of Suraqa b. al-Mu'tamir, and
Khunays b. Hudhafa al-Sahmi (who had married 'Umar's daughter Hafsa
whom the apostle married after the death of her husband), and Waqid b.
'Abdullah al- Tamimi an ally of theirs, and Khauli and Malik b. Abu
Khauli, two allies (265), and four sons of al-Bukayr, namely Iyas, 'Aqil,
'Amir, and Khalid; and their allies from B. Sa'd b. Layth; when they arrived
at Medina stayed with Rifa'a b. 'Abdu'l-Mundhir b. Zanbar among B. 'Amr
b. 'Aufin Quba'. 'Ayyash also stayed with him when he came to Medina.

Then came successive waves of emigrants: Taiha b. 'Ubayd Allah b.
'Uthman; Suhayb b. Sinan stayed with Khubayb b. Isaf brother of the B. al-
Harith b. al-Khazraj, in al-Sunh." Others deny this and say that Taiha stayed
with As'ad b. Zurara brother of the B. Al-Najjar (266).

The following stayed with Kulthum b. Hidm brother of B. 'Amr b. 'Auf
in Quba": Hamza b. 'Abdu'l-Muttalib; Zayd b. Haritha; Abu Mar-thad
Kannaz b. Hisn (267); and his son Marthad of the tribe Ghani, allies of
Hamza; Anasa; and Abu Kabsha, freedmen of the apostle. Other reports are
that they stayed with Sa'd b. Khaythama; and that Hamza stayed with As'ad
b. Zurara.

The following stayed with 'Abdullah b. Salama brother of the Banu
'Ajlan in Quba': 'Ubayda b. al-Harith and his brother al- Tufayl; al-Husayn
b. al-Harith; Mistah b. Uthatha b. 'Abbad b. Al-Muttalib; Suwaybit b. Sa'd
b. Huraymila brother of B. 'Abdu'l-Dar: Tulayb b. 'Umayr brother of the B.
'Abd b. Qusayy; and Khabbab, freedman of 'Utba b. Ghazwan.

With Sa'd b. al-Rabi' brother of the B. al-Harith b. al-Khazraj in the
house of the latter stayed 'Abdu'l-Rahman b. 'Auf with some male
emigrants.

With Mundhir b. Muhammad b. 'Ugba b. Uhayha b. ah-Julah in al-
'Usba the dwelling of the B. Jahjaba, stayed al-Zubayr b. al-'"Awwam and
Abu Sabra b. Abu Ruhm b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza.

With Sa'd b. Mu'adh b. al-Nu'man brother of the B. 'Abdu'l-Ashhai in
their dwelling stayed Mus’ab b. 'Umayr b. Hashim brother of the B.
'Abdu'l-Dar.

With 'Abbad b. Bishr b. Wagsh brother of the B. 'Abdu'l-Ashhai in the
latter's dwelling stayed Abu Hudhayfa b. 'Utba b. Rabi'a and his freedman
Salim; and 'Utba b. Ghazwan b. Jabir (268).

With Aus b. Thabit b. al-Mundhir, brother of Hassan b. Thabit in the
dwelling of B. Al-Najjar stayed 'Uthman b. 'Affan. This was the reason why
Hassan was so fond of "Uthman and lamented him when he was slain.

It is said that the celibate emigrants stayed with Sa'd b. Khaythama
because he himself was unmarried; but God knows best about that.
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PART III

THE HIJRA

THE CAMPAIGNS FROM MEDINA
THE OCCUPATION OF MECCA
THE CONQUEST OF ARABIA

THE DEATH OF THE PROPHET

THE HIJRA OF THE PROPHET

After his companions had left, the apostle stayed in Mecca waiting for
permission to migrate. Except for Abu Bakr and 'Ali, none of his supporters
were left but those under restraint and those who had been forced to
aposta-tize. The former kept asking the apostle for permission to emigrate
and he would answer, 'Don't be in a hurry; it may be that God will give you
a companion.' Abu Bakr hoped that it would be Muhammad himself.

When the Quraysh saw that the apostle had a party and companions not
of their tribe and outside their territory, and that his companions had
migrated to join them, and knew that they had settled in a new home and
had gained protectors, they feared that the apostle might join them, since
they knew that he had decided to fight them. So they assembled in their
council chamber, the house of Qusayy b. Kilab where all their important
business was conducted, to take counsel what they should do in regard to
the apostle, for they were now in fear of him.

One of our companions whom I have no reason to doubt told me on the
authority of 'Abdullah b. Abu Najih from Mujahid b. Jubayr father of al- 324

Hajjaj; and another person of the same character on the authority of
'Abdullah b. 'Abbas told me that when they had fixed a day to come to a
decision about the apostle, on the morning of that very day which was
called the day of al-Zahma the devil came to them in the form of a
handsome old man clad in a mantle and stood at the door of the house.
When they saw him standing there they asked him who he was and he told
them that he was a shaykh from the highlands who had heard of their
intention and had come to hear what they had to say and perhaps to give
them counsel and advice. He was invited to enter and there he found the
leaders of Quraysh. From B. 'Abdu Shams were 'Utba and Shayba sons of
Rabi'a; and Abu Sufyan. From B. Naufal b. 'Abdu Manaf Tu'ayma b. 'Adiy;
Jubayr b. Mut'im; and al-Harith b. 'Amir b. Naufal. From B. 'Abdu'l-Dar al-
Nadr b. al-Harith b. Kalada. From B. Asad b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza Abu'l-Bakhtari
b. Hisham and Zam'a b. al-Aswad b. al-Muttalib; and Hakim b. Hizam.
From B. Makhzum Abu Jahl b. Hisham. From B. Sahm Nubayh and
Munabbih the sons of al-Hajjaj. From B. Jumah Umayya b. Khalaf, and
others including some who were not of Quraysh.

The discussion opened with the statement that now that Muhammad had
gained adherents outside the tribe they were no longer safe against a sudden
attack and the meeting was to determine the best course to pursue. One
advised that they should put him in irons behind bars and then wait until the
same fate overtook him as befell his like, the poets Zuhayr and Nabigha,
and others. The shaykh objected to this on the ground that news would leak
out that he was imprisoned, and immediately his followers would attack
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and snatch him away; then their numbers would so grow that they would
destroy the authority of Quraysh altogether.

They must think of another plan. Another man suggested that they
should drive him out of the country. They did not care where he went or
what happened to him once he was out of sight and they were rid of him.
They could then restore their social life to its former state. Again the
shaykh objected that it was not a good plan. His fine speech and beautiful
diction and the compelling force of his message were such that if he settled
with some Bedouin tribe he would win them over so that they would follow
him and come and attack them in their land and rob them of their position
and authority and then he could do what he liked with them. They must
think of a better plan.

Thereupon Abu Jahl said that he had a plan which had not been
suggested hitherto, namely that each clan should provide a young,
powerful, well-born, aristocratic warrior; that each of these should be
provided with a sharp sword; then that each of them should strike a blow at
him and kill him. Thus they would be relieved of him, and responsibility for
his blood would lie upon all the clans. The B. 'Abdu Manaf could not fight
them all and would have to accept the blood-money which they would all
contribute to. The shaykh exclaimed: 'The man is right. In my opinion it is
the only thing to do.' Having come to a decision the people dispersed.

Then Gabriel came to the apostle and said: 'Do not sleep tonight on the
bed on which you usually sleep.' Before much of the night had passed they
assembled at his door waiting for him to go to sleep so that they might fall
upon him. When the apostle saw what they were doing he told 'Ali to lie on
his bed and to wrap himself in his green Hadrami mantle; for no harm
would befall him. He himself used to sleep in this mantle.

Yazid b. Ziyad on the authority of Muhammad b. Ka'b. al-Qurazi told
me that when they were all outside his door Abu Jahl said to them:
'Muhammad alleges that if you follow him you will be kings of the Arabs
and the Persians. Then after death you will be raised to gardens like those
of the Jordan. But if you do not follow him you will be slaughtered, and
when you are raised from the dead you will be burned in the fire of hell.'
The apostle came out to them with a handful of dust saying: 'l do say that.
You are one of them.' God took away their sight so that they could not see
him and he began to sprinkle the dust on their heads as he recited these
verses: 'Ya Sin, by the wise Quran. Thou art of those that art sent on a
straight path, a revelation of the Mighty the Merciful' as far as the words
'And we covered them and they could not see'. I When he had finished
reciting not one of them but had dust upon his head. Then he went wherever
he wanted to go and someone not of their company came up and asked
them what they were waiting for there. When they said that they were
waiting for Muhammad he said: 'But good heavens Muham-mad came out
to you and put dust on the head of every single man of you and then went
off on his own affairs. Can't you see what has happened to you?' They put
up their hands and felt the dust on their heads. Then they began to search
and saw 'Ali on the bed wrapped in the apostle's mantle and said, 'By God it
is Muhammad sleeping in his mantle.! Thus they remained until the
morning when 'Ali rose from the bed and then they realized that the man
had told them the truth.

Among the verses of the Quran which God sent down about that day
and what they had agreed upon are: 'And when the unbelievers plot to shut
thee up or to kill thee or to drive thee out they plot, but God plots also, and
God is the best of plotters';' and 'Or they say he is a poet for whom we may
expect the misfortune of fate. Say: Go on expecting for I am with you
among the expectant' (269).”
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It was then that God gave permission to his prophet to migrate. Now
Abu Bakr was a man of means, and at the time that he asked the apostle's
permission to migrate and he replied 'Do not hurry; perhaps God will give
you a companion,’ hoping that the apostle meant himself he bought two
camels and kept them tied up in his house supplying them with fodder in
preparation for departure.

A man whom I have no reason to doubt told me as from 'Urwa b. al-
Zubayr that 'A'isha said: The apostle used to go to Abu Bakr's house every
day either in the early morning or at night; but on the day when he was
given permission to migrate from Mecca he came to us at noon, an hour at
which he was not wont to come. As soon as he saw him Abu Bakr realized
that something had happened to bring him at this hour. When he came in
Abu Bakr gave up his seat to him. Only my sister Asma' and I were there
and the apostle asked him to send us away. 'But they are my two daughters
and they can do no harm, may my father and my mother be your ransom,’
said Abu Bakr. 'God has given me permission 10 depart and migrate,' he
answered. 'Together?' asked Abu Bakr. 'Together,' he replied. And by God
before that day I had never seen anyone weep for joy as Abu Bakr wept
then. At last he said, ‘O prophet of God, these are the two camels which I
have held in readiness for this.' So they hired 'Abdullah b. Arqat, a man of
B. '1-Di'l b. Bakr whose mother was a woman of B. Sahm b. 'Amr, and a
polytheist to lead them on the way, and they handed over to him their two
camels and he kept them and fed them until the appointed day came.’

According to what I have been told none knew when the apostle left
except 'Ali and Abu Bakr and the latter's family. I have heard that the
apostle told 'Ali about his departure and ordered him to stay behind in
Mecca in order to return goods which men had deposited with the apostle;
for anyone in Mecca who had property which he was anxious about left it
with him because of his notorious honesty and trustworthiness.

When the apostle decided to go he came to Abu Bakr and the two of
them left by a window in the back of the latter's house and made for a cave
on Thaur, a mountain below Mecca. Having entered, Abu Bakr ordered his
son 'Abdullah to listen to what people were saying and to come to them by
night with the day's news. He also ordered 'Amir b. Fuhayra, his freedman,
to feed his flock by day and to bring them to them in the evening in the
cave. Asma' his daughter used to come at night with food to sustain them
(270)'

The two of them stayed in the cave for three days. When Quraysh
missed the apostle they offered a hundred she-camels to anyone who would
bring him back. During the day 'Abdullah was listening to their plans and
conversation and would come at night with the news. 'Amir used to pasture
his flock with the shepherds of Mecca and when night fell would bring
them to the cave where they milked them and slaughtered some. When
'Abdullah left them in the morning to go to Mecca, 'Amir would take the
sheep over the same route to cover his tracks. When the three days had
passed and men's interest waned, the man they had hired came with their
camels and one of his own. Asma' came too with a bag of provisions; but
she had forgotten to bring a rope, so that when they started she could not tie
the bag on the camel. Thereupon she undid her girdle and using it as a rope
tied the bag to the saddle. For this reason she got the name 'She of the
girdle' (271).

When Abu Bakr brought the two camels to the apostle he offered the
better one to him and invited him to ride her. But the apostle refused to ride
an animal which was not his own and when Abu Bakr wanted to give him it
he demanded to know what he had paid for it and bought it from him. They
rode off, and Abu Bakr carried 'Amir his freedman behind him to act as a
servant on the journey.

I was told that Asma' said, 'When the apostle and Abu Bakr had gone, a
number of Quraysh including Abu Jahl came to us and stood at the door.
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When I went out to them they asked where my father was and when I said
that I did not know Abu Jahl, who was a rough dissolute man, slapped my
face so violently that my earring flew off. Then they took themselves off
and we remained for three days without news until a man of the Jinn came
from the lower part of Mecca singing some verses in the Arab way. And 10
people were following him and listening to his voice but they could not see
him, until he emerged from the upper part of Mecca saying the while:

God the Lord of men give the best of his rewards

To the two companions who rested in the two tents of Umm Ma'bad.
They came with good intent and went off at nightfall.

May Muhammad's companion prosper!

May the place of the Banu Ka'b's woman bring them luck,

For she was a look-out for the believers' (272).

Asma' continued: 'When we heard his words we knew that the apostle
was making for Medina. There were four of them: the apostle, Abu Bakr,
'Amir, and 'Abdullah b. Arqat their guide' (273).

Yahya b. 'Abbad b. 'Abdullah b. al-Zubayr told me that his father
'Abbad told him that his grandmother Asma' said: 'When the apostle went
forth with Abu Bakr the latter carried all his money with him to the amount
of five or six thousand dirhams. My grandfather Abu Quhafa who had lost
his sight came to call on us saying that he thought that Abu Bakr had put us
in a difficulty by taking off all his money. I told him that he had left us
plenty of money. And I took some stones and put them in a niche where
Abu Bakr kept his money; then I covered them with a cloth and took his
hand and said, "Put your hand on this money, father." He did so and said:
"There's nothing to worry about; he has done well in leaving you this, and
you will have enough." In fact he had left us nothing, but I wanted to set the
old man's mind at rest.'

AL-Zubhri told me that 'Abdu'l-Rahman b. Malik b. Ju'shum told him
from his father, from his uncle Suraqa b. Malik b. Ju'shum: 'When the
apostle migrated Quraysh offered a reward of a hundred camels to anyone
who would bring him back. While I was sitting in my people's assembly
one of our men came up and stopped saying, "By God, 'I've just seen three
riders passing. I think they must be Muhammad and his companions." I
gave him a wink enjoining silence and said "They are the so-and-so looking
for a lost camel." "Perhaps so," he said and remained silent. I remained
there for a short while; then I got up and went to my house and ordered my
horse to be got ready, for it was tethered for me in the bottom of the valley.
Then I asked for my weapons and they were brought from the back of the
room. Then I took my divining arrows and went out, having put on my
armor. Then I cast the divining arrows and out came the arrow which I did
not want: "Do him no harm."' I did the same again and got the same result.
I was hoping to bring him back to Quraysh so that I might win the hundred
camels reward.

'l rode in pursuit of him and when my horse was going at a good pace
he stumbled and threw me. I thought this was somewhat unusual so I
resorted to the divining arrows again and out came the detestable "Do him
no harm." But I refused to be put off and rode on in pursuit. Again my
horse stumbled and threw me, and again I tried the arrows with the same
result. I rode on, and at last as I saw the little band my horse stumbled with
me and its forelegs went into the ground and I fell. Then as it got its legs
out of the ground smoke arose like a sandstorm. When I saw that I knew
that he was protected against me and would have the upper hand. I called to
them saying who I was and asking them to wait for me; and that they need
have no concern, for no harm would come to them from me. The apostle
told Abu Bakr to ask what I wanted and I said, "Write a document for me
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which will be a sign between you and me" and the apostle instructed Abu
Bakr to do so.

'He wrote it on a bone, or a piece of paper, or a potsherd and threw it to
me and I put it in my quiver and went back. I kept quiet about the whole
affair until when the apostle conquered Mecca and finished with al- Ta'if
and Hunayn I went out to give him the document and I met him in al-
Ji'rana. 2

'T got among a squadron of the Ansar cavalry and they began to beat me
with their spears, saying, "Be off with you; what on earth do you want?"
However, I got near to the apostle as he sat on his camel and his shank in
his stirrup looked to me like the trunk of a palm-tree. I lifted my hand with
the document, saying what it was and what my name was. He said "It is a
day of repaying and goodness. Let him come near." So I approached him
and accepted Islam. Then I remembered something that I wanted to ask
him. All T can remember now is that I said "Stray camels used to come to
my cistern which I kept full for my own camels. Shall I get a reward for
having let them have water?" "Yes," he said, "for watering every thirsty
creature there is a reward." Then I returned to my people and brought my
aims to the apostle' (274).

Their guide, 'Abdullah b. Arqat, took them below Mecca; then along the
shore until he crossed the road below 'Usfan; then below Amaj; then after
passing Qudayd by way of al-Kharrar and Thaniyyatu'l-Marra to Liqf
(275).

He took them past the waterhole of Ligf, then down to Madlajatu Mahaj
(276), then past Marjih Mahaj, then down to Marjih of Dhu'l-Ghadwayn
(277), then the valley of Dhu Kashr; then by al-Jadajid, then al-Ajrad, then
Dhu Salam of the valley of A'da’, the waterhole of Ta'hin, then by al-
'Ababid (278), then by way of al-Fajja (279). Then he took them down to
al-'Arj; and one of their mounts having dropped behind, a man of Aslam,
Aus b. Hujr by name, took the prophet to Medina on his camel which was
called Ibn al-Rida', sending with him a servant called

Mas'ud b. Hunayda. From 'Arj the guide took them to Thaniyyatu'l-'Air
(280)" to the right of Rakuba until he brought them down to the valley of
Ri'm; thence to Quba' to B. 'Amr b. 'Auf on Monday 12th Rabi'u'l-awwai at
high noon.”

Muhammad b. Ja'far b. al-Zubayr from 'Urwa b. al-Zubayr from
'Abdu'l-Rahman b. 'Uwaymir b. Sa'ida told me, saying, 'Men of my tribe
who were the apostle's companions told me, "When we heard that the
apostle had left Mecca and we were eagerly expecting his arrival we used to
go out after morning prayers to our lava tract beyond our land to await him.
This we did until there was no more shade left and then we went indoors in
the hot season. On the day that the apostle arrived we had sat as we always
had until there being no more shade we went indoors and then the apostle
arrived. The first to see him was a Jew. He had seen what we were in the
habit of doing and that we were expecting the arrival of the apostle and he
called out at the top of his voice ‘O Banu Qayla your luck has come!' So we
went out to greet the apostle who was in the shadow of a palm-tree with
Abu Bakr who was of like age. Now most of us had never seen the apostle
and as the people crowded round him they did not know him from Abu
Bakr until the shade left him and Abu Bakr got up with his mantle and
shielded him from the sun, and then we knew."

The apostle, so they say, stayed with Kulthum b. Hidm brother of the B.
'Amr b. 'Auf, one of the B. 'Ubayd. Others say he stayed with Sa'd b.
Khaythama. Those who assert the former say that it was only because he
left Kulthum to go and sit with the men in Sa'd's house (for he was a
bachelor and housed the apostle's companions who were bachelors) that it
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is said that he stayed with Sa'd, for his house used to be called the house of
the bachelors. But God knows the truth of the matter.

Abu Bakr stayed with Khubayb b. Isaf, one of the B. al-Harith b.
ai-Khazraj in al-Sunh. Some say it was with Kharija b. Zayd b. Abu
Zuhayr, brother of the B. al-Harith.

'Ali stayed in Mecca for three days and nights until he had restored the
deposits which the apostle held. This done he joined the apostle and lodged
with him at Kulthum's house. He stayed in Quba' only a night or two. He
used to say that in Quba' there was an unmarried Muslim woman and he
noticed that a man used to come to her in the middle of the night and knock
on her door; she would come out and he would give her some-thing. He felt
very suspicious of him and asked her what was the meaning of this nightly
performance as she was a Muslim woman without a husband. She told him
that the man was Sahl b. Hunayf b. Wahib who knew that she was all alone
and he used to break up the idols of his tribe at night and bring her the
pieces to use as fuel. 'Ali used to talk of this incident until Sahl died in Iraq
while he was with him. Hind b. Sa'd b. Sahl b. Hunayf told me this story
from what 'Ali said.

The apostle stayed in Quba' among B. 'Amr b. 'Auf from Monday to
Thursday and then he laid the foundation of his mosque. Then God brought
him out from them on the Friday. The B. 'Amr allege that he stayed longer
with them, and God knows the truth of the matter. "Friday prayer found the
apostle among B. Salim b. 'Auf and he prayed it in the mosque which is in
the bottom of the Wadi Ramlna'. This was the first Friday prayer that he
prayed in Medina.

'Itban b. Malik and 'Abbas b. 'Ubada b. Nadla with some of B. Salim b.
'Auf came and asked him to live with them and enjoy their wealth and
protection, but he said, 'Let her go her way,' for his camel was under God's
orders; so they let her go until she came to the home of B. Bayada, where
he was met by Ziyad b. Labid and Farwa b. 'Amr with some of their
clansmen. They gave the same invitation and met with the same reply. The
same thing happened with B. Sa'ida when Sa'd b. 'Ubada and al-Mundhir b.
'Amr invited him to stay; and with B. ‘l-Harith b. al-' Khazraj represented
by Sa'd b. al-Rabi' and Kharija b. Zayd and 'Abdullah b. Rawaha; and with
B. 'Adiy b. Al-Najjar (who were his nearest maternal relatives the mother of
'Abdu'l-Muttalib Saima d. 'Amr being one of their women), being
represented by Salit b. Qays and Abu Salit and Usayra b. Abu Kharija.
Finally the camel came to the home of B. Malik b. al-Najjar when it knelt at
the door of his mosque, which at that time was used as a drying-place for
dates and belonged to two young orphans of B. al-Najjar of B. Malik clan,
who were under the protection of Mu'adh b. 'Afra', Sahl and Suhayl the
sons of 'Amr. When it knelt the apostle did not alight, and it got up and
went a short distance. The apostle left its rein free, not guiding it, and it
turned in its tracks and returned to the place where it had knelt at first and
knelt there again. It shook itself and lay exhausted with its chest upon the
ground. The apostle alighted and Abu Ayyub Khalid b. Zayd took his
baggage into the house (T. The Ansar invited him to stay with them, but he
said 'A man (stays) with his baggage)' and the apostle stayed with him.
When he asked to whom the date-store belonged Mu'adh b. 'Afra' told him
that the owners were Sahl and Suhayl the sons of 'Amr who were orphans
in his care and that he could take it for a mosque and he would pay the
young men for it.

The apostle ordered that a mosque should be built, and he stayed with
Abu Ayyub until the mosque and his houses were completed. The apostle
joined in the work to encourage the Muslims to work and the muhajirin and
the ansar labored hard. One of the Muslims rhymed:

If we sat down while the prophet worked
It could be said that we had shirked.
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As they built, the Muslims sang a rajaz verse:

There's no life but the life of the next world.
O God, have mercy on the ansar and the muhajira (281).

The apostle used to sing it in the form

There's no life but the life of the next world.
O God, have mercy on the muhajirin and the ansar."

'Ammar b. Yasir came in when they had overloaded him with bricks,
saying, 'They are killing me. They load me with burdens they can't carry
themselves.! Umm Salama the prophet's wife said: I saw the apostle run his
hand through his hair — for he was a curly-haired man — and say 'Alas Ibn
Sumayya! It is not they who will kill you but a wicked band of men.”

'Ali composed a rajaz verse on that day:
There's one that labors night and day

To build us mosques of brick and clay
And one who turns from dust away! (282.)

And 'Ammar learned it and began to chant it.

When he persisted in it one of the prophet's companions thought that it
was he who was referred to in it according to what Ziyad b. 'Abdullah al-
Bakka'i told me from Ibn Ishaq. The latter had actually named the man.’

He said: 'T have heard what you have been saying for a long time, O Ibn
Sumayya, and by God I think I'll hit you on the nose!' Now he had a stick in
his hand and the apostle was angry and said, "What is wrong between them
and 'Ammar? He invites them to Paradise while they invite him to hell.
'Ammar is as dear to me as my own face. If a man behaves like this he will
not be forgiven, so avoid him.'

Sufyan b. 'Uyayna mentioned on the authority of Zakariya from al-
Sha'bi that the first man to build a mosque was 'Ammar b. Yasir.

The apostle lived in Abu Ayyub's house until his mosque and
dwelling-houses were built; then he removed to his own quarters.

Yazid b. Abu Habib from Marthad b. 'Abdullah al-Yazani from Abu
Ruhm al-Sama'i told me that Abu Ayyub told him: 'When the apostle came
to lodge with me in my house he occupied the ground floor, while I and
Umm Ayyub were above. I said to him, “O prophet of God, you are dear to
me as my parents, and I am distressed that I should be above and you below
me. So leave your present quarters and exchange places with us." He
replied: “O Abu Ayyub, it is more convenient for me and my guests that we
should be on the ground floor of the house.” So we remained as we were.
Once we broke a jar of water and Umm Ayyub and I took one of our
garments to mop up the water in fear that it would drop on the apostle and
cause him annoyance. We had no cloth which we could use.

'We used to prepare his evening meal and send it to him. When he
returned what was left, Umm Ayyub and I used to touch the spot where his
hand had rested and eat from that in the hope of gaining a blessing. One
night we prepared for him onions or garlic and the apostle returned it and I
saw no mark of his hand in it. I went to him in some anxiety to tell him of
our practice and that this time there was no mark of his hand, and he replied
that he had perceived the smell of the vegetables and he was a man who had
to speak confidentially to people but that we should eat them. So we ate the
dish and never sent him onions again.'

The emigrants followed one another to join the apostle, and none was
left in Mecca but those who had apostatized or been detained. Whole
families with their property did not come together except the B. Maz'un
from B. Jumah; the B. Jahsh b. Ri'ab, allies of B. Umayya; and the B.

Jihad Sira 3/26/2010 85

338




340

Bukayr from B. Sa'd b. Layth, allies of B. 'Adiy b. Ka'b. Their houses in
Mecca were locked up when they migrated, leaving no inhabitant.

When the B. Jahsh gave up their house Abu Sufyan went and sold it to
'Amr b. 'Aiqama brother of B. 'Amir b. Lu'ayy. When the owners heard of
this 'Abdullah b. Jahsh told the apostle of it, and he replied: 'Are you not
pleased that God will give you a better house in Paradise?’ And when he
answered Yes, he said, 'Then you have it." When the apostle got possession
of Mecca Abu Ahmad spoke to him about their house; and the apostle
delayed his reply. People said to him, 'The apostle dislikes your reopening
the question of your property which you lost in God's service, so don't
speak to him about it again." Abu Ahmad said in reference to Abu Sufyan:

Tell Abu Sufyan of a matter he will live to regret.

You sold your cousin's house to pay a debt you owed.

Your ally by God the Lord of men swears an oath:

Take it, Take it, may [your treachery] cling to you like the ring of the
dove.

The apostle stayed in Medina from the month of Rabi'u'l-awwal to Safar
of the following year until his mosque and his quarters were built. This
tribe of the Ansar all accepted Islam and every house of the Angar accepted
Islam except Khatma, Wagqif, Wa'il, and Umayya who were the Aus Allah,
a clan of Aus who clung to their heathenism.

The first address which the apostle gave according to what I heard on
the authority of Abu Salama b. 'Abdu'l-Rahman — God save me from
attributing to the apostle words which he did not say — was as follows: he
praised and glorified God as was His due and then said: O men, send
forward (good works) for yourselves. You know, by God, that one of you
may be smitten and will leave his flock without a shepherd. Then his Lord
will say to him-there will be no interpreter or chamberlain to veil him from
Him-Did not My apostle come to you with a message, and did not I give
you wealth and show you favor? What have you sent forward for yourself?
Then will he look to right and left and see nothing; he will look in front of
him and see nothing but hell. He who can shield his face from the fire even
with a little piece of date let him do so; and he who cannot find that then
with a good word; for the good deed will be rewarded tenfold yea to twice
seven hundred fold." Peace be upon you and God's mercy and blessing.

Then the apostle preached on another occasion as follows: Praise
belongs to God whom I praise and whose aid I implore. We take refuge in
God from our own sins and from the evil of our acts. He whom God guides
none can lead astray; and whom He leads astray none can guide. I testify
that there is no God but He alone, He is without companion. The finest
speech is the Book of God. He to whom God has made it seem glorious and
made him enter Islam after unbelief, who has chosen it above all other
speech of men, doth prosper. It is the finest speech and the most
penetrating. Love what God loves. Love God with all your hearts, and
weary not of the word of God and its mention. Harden not your hearts from
it. Out of everything that God creates He chooses and selects; the actions
He chooses He calls khira; the people He chooses He calls mustafa; and the
speech He chooses He calls Salih. From everything that is brought to man
there is the lawful and the unlawful. Worship God and associate naught
with Him; fear Him as He ought to be feared; Carry out loyally towards
God what you say with your mouths. Love one another in the spirit of God.
Verily God is angry when His covenant is broken. Peace be upon you.

THE COVENANT BETWEEN THE MUSLIMS AND THE
MEDINANS AND WITH THE JEWS
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The apostle wrote a document concerning the emigrants and the helpers
in which he made a friendly agreement with the Jews and established them
in their religion and their property, and stated the reciprocal obligations, as
follows: In the name of God the Compassionate, the Merciful. This is a
document from Muhammad the prophet [governing the relations] between
the believers and Muslims of Quraysh and Yathrib, and those who followed
them and joined them and labored with them. They are one community
(umma) to the exclusion of all men. The Quraysh emigrants according to
their present custom shall pay the bloodwit within their number and shall
redeem their prisoners with the kindness and justice common among
believers.

The B. 'Auf according to their present custom shall pay the bloodwit
they paid in heathenism; every section shall redeem its prisoners with the
kindness and justice common among believers. The B. Sa'ida, the B. 'l-
Harith, and the B. Jusham, and the B. Al-Najjar likewise. "

The B. 'Amr b. 'Auf, the B. al-Nabit and the B. al-'Aus likewise.”
Believers shall not leave anyone destitute among them by not paying his
redemption money or blood wit in kindness (283).

A believer shall not take as an ally the freedman of another Muslim
against him. The God-fearing believers shall be against the rebellious or
him who seeks to spread injustice, or sin or enmity, or corruption between
believers; the hand of every man shall be against him even if he be a son of
one of them. A believer shall not slay a believer for the sake of an
unbeliever, nor shall he Aid an unbeliever against a believer. God's
pro-tection is one, the least of them may give protection to a stranger on
their behalf. Believers are friends one to the other to the exclusion of
outsiders. To the Jew who follows us belong help and equality. He shall not
be wronged nor shall his enemies be Aided. The peace of the believers is
indivisible. No separate peace shall be made when believers are fighting in
the way of God. Conditions must be fair and equitable to all. In every foray
a rider must take another behind him. The believers must avenge the blood
of one another shed in the way of God. The God-fearing believers enjoy the
best and most upright guidance. No polytheist’® shall take the property or
person of Quraysh under his protection nor shall he intervene against a
believer. Whosoever is convicted of killing a believer without good reason
shall be subject to retaliation unless the next of kin is satisfied (with blood-
money), and the believers shall be against him as one man, and they are
bound to take action against him.

It shall not be lawful to a believer who holds by what is in this
document and believes in God and the last day to help an evil-doer* or to
shelter him. The curse of God and His anger on the day of resurrection will
be upon him if he does, and neither repentance nor ransoms will be
received from him. Whenever you differ about a matter it must be referred
to God and to Muhammad.

The Jews shall contribute to the cost of war so long as they are fighting

alongside the believers. The Jews of the B. 'Auf are one community
with the believers (the Jews have their religion and the Muslims have
theirs), their freedmen and their persons except those who behave unjustly
and sinfully, for they hurt but themselves and their families. The same
applies to the Jews of the B. al-Najjar, B. al-Harith, B. Sa'ida, B. Jusham,
B. al-Aus, B. Tha'laba, and the Jafna, a clan of the Tha'laba and the B. al-
Shutayba. Loyalty is a protection against treachery. I The freedmen of
Tha'laba are as themselves. The close friends’ of the Jews are as
themselves. None of them shall go out to war save with the permission of
Muhammad, but he shall not be prevented from taking revenge for a
wound. He who slays a man without warning slays himself and his
household, unless it be one who has wronged him, for God will accept that.
The Jews must bear their expenses and the Muslims their expenses. Each
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must help the other against anyone who attacks the people of this
document. They must seek mutual advice and consultation, and loyalty is a
protection against treachery. A man is not liable for his ally's misdeeds. The
wronged must be helped. The Jews must pay with the believers so long as
war lasts. Yathrib shall be a sanctuary for the people of this document. A
stranger under pro-tection shall be as his host doing no harm and
committing no crime. A woman shall only be given protection with the
consent of her family. If any dispute or controversy likely to cause trouble
should arise it must be referred to God and to Muhammad the apostle of
God. God accepts what is nearest to piety and goodness in this document.
Quraysh and their helpers shall not be given protection. The contracting
parties are bound to help one another against any attack on Yathrib. If they
are called to make peace and maintain it they must do so; and if they make
a similar demand on the Muslims it must be carried out except in the case
of a holy war. Every one shall have his portion from the side to which he
belongs;’ the Jews of al-Aus, their freedmen and themselves have the same
standing with the people of this document in pure loyalty from the people
of this document (284).

Loyalty is a protection against treachery: He who acquires aught
acquires it for himself. God approves of this document. This deed will not
protect” the unjust and the sinner. The man who goes forth to fight and the
man who stays at home in the city’ is safe unless he has been unjust and
sinned. God is the protector of the good and God-fearing man and
Muhammad is the apostle of God.

BROTHERHOOD BETWEEN EMIGRANTS AND HELPERS

The apostle instituted brotherhood between his fellow emigrants and the
helpers, and he said according to what I have heard — and I appeal to God
lest I should attribute to him words that he did not say — 'Let each of you
take a brother in God.' He himself took 'Ali by the hand and said, 'This is
my brother." So God's apostle, the lord of the sent ones and leader of the
God-fearing, apostle of the Lord of the worlds, the peerless and unequalled,
and 'Ali b. Abu Taiib became brothers. Hamza, the lion of God and the lion
of his apostle and his uncle, became the brother of Zayd b. Haritha the
apostle's freedman. To him Hamza gave his last testament on the day of
Uhud when battle was imminent in case he should meet his death. Ja'far b.
Abu Taiib-the 'one of the wings' who was to fly in Paradise-and Mu'adh b.
Jabal brother of B. Salama became brothers (285).

The pairs were arranged thus:

Abu Bakr and Kharija b. Zuhayr brother of B. 'l-Harith b. al-Khazra;.
'Umar and 'Itban b. Malik brother of B. Salim ... b. al-Khazraj.

Abu 'Ubayda, 'Amir b. 'Abdullah and Sa'd b. Mu'adh b. al-Nu'man.
Abdu'l-Rahman b. Auf and Sa'd b. al-Rabi' brother of B. al-Harith.

AL-Zubayr b. al' Awwam and Salama b. Salama b. Waqgsh brother of B.

'Abdu'l-Ashhai though others say that he linked up with 'Abdullah b.
Mas'ud the ally of the B. Zuhra.

'Uthman b. 'Affan and Aus b. Thabit b. al-Mundhir brother of B. al-
Najjar. Taiha b. 'Ubaydullah and Ka'b b. Malik brother of the B. Salama.

Sa'd b. Zayd b. 'Amr b. Nufayl and Ubayy b. Ka'b brother of the B.

Al-Najjar.

Mus’ab b. 'Umayr and Abu Ayyub Khalid b. Zayd brother of the B.
al-Najjar Abu Hudhayfa b. 'Utba and 'Abbad b. Bishr b. Wagsh, brother of
the B. 'Abdu'l-Ashhai.

'Ammar b. Yasir ally of the B. Makhzum and Hudhayfa b. al-Yaman
brother of B. 'Abdu 'Abs ally of the B. 'Abdu'l-Ashhai. (Others say that
Thabit b. Qays b. al-Shammas brother of the B. al-Harith b. al-Khazraj the
prophet's orator and 'Ammar b. Yasir.)
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Abu Dharr, Burayr b. Junada al-Ghifari and al-Mundhir b. 'Amr, 'he
who hastened to his death', brother of B. Sa'ida of al-Khazraj (286).

Hatib b. Abu Baita'a, ally of B. Asad b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza and 'Uwaym

b. Sa'ida brother of B. 'Amr b. 'Auf.

Salman the Persian and Abu'l-Darda’ "Uwaymir b. Tha'laba brother of

B. al-Harith (287). Some say 'Uwaymir was the son of 'Amir or of

Zayd.
Bilal freedman of Abu Bakr and the apostle's muezzin and Abu
Ruwayha '
'Abdullah b. 'Abdu'l-Rahman al-Khath'ami, more precisely one of the
Faza'.
These are the men who were named to us as those to whom the apostle
made his companions brothers. 346

When 'Umar compiled the registers in Syria Bilal had gone there and
remained as a combatant. He asked him with whom he wished to be
grouped and he said with Abu Ruwayha. 'T will never leave him, for the
apostle established brotherhood between us.' So he was linked with him and
the register of the Abyssinians was linked with Khath'am because of Bilal's
position with them, and this arrangement continues to this day in Syria.

ABU UMAMA

During the months in which the mosque was being built Abu Umama
As'ad b. Zurara died ;he was seized by diphtheria and a rattling in the
throat.

'Abdullah b. Abu Bakr b. Muhammad b. 'Amr b. Hazm told me on the
authority of Yahya b. 'Abdullah b. 'Abdu'l-Rahman b. As'ad b. Zurara that
the apostle said: 'How unfortunate is the death of Abu Umama! The Jews
and the Arab hypocrites are sure to say ; ‘If he were a prophet his
companion would not die" and (truly) I have no power from God for myself
or for my companion (to avert death).'

'Asim b. 'Umarb.Qatadaal-Ansari told me that when Abu Umama died
the B. Al-Najjar came to the apostle, for Abu Umama was their leader,
saying that he held the high rank the apostle knew of and would he appoint
some-one from among them to act in his place; to which the apostle replied,
"You are my maternal uncles, and we belong together so I will be your
leader.' The apostle did not want to prefer anyone of them to the others.
Henceforth the B. al-Najjar regarded themselves as highly honoured in
having the apostle as their leader.

THE CALL TO PRAYER

When the apostle was firmly settled in Medina and his brethren the
emigrants were gathered to him and the affairs of the helpers were arranged

Islam became firmly established. Prayer was instituted, the aims tax and
fasting were prescribed, legal punishments fixed, the forbidden and the 347

permitted prescribed, and Islam took up its abode with them. It was this
clan of the helpers who 'have taken up their abode (in the city of the
prophet) and in the faith'. I When the apostle first came, the people gathered
to him for prayer at the appointed times without being summoned. At first
the apostle thought of using a trumpet like that of the Jews who used it to
summon to prayer. Afterwards he disliked the idea and ordered a clapper to
be made, so it was duly fashioned to be beaten when the Muslims should
pray.

Meanwhile 'Abdullah b. Zayd b. Tha'laba b. 'Abdu Rabbihi brother of
B. al-Harith heard a voice in a dream, and came to the apostle saying: 'A
phantom visited me in the night. There passed by me a man wearing two
green garments carrying a clapper in his hand, and I asked him to sell it to
me. When he asked me what I wanted it for I told him that it was to
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summon people to prayer, whereupon he offered to show me a better way:
it was to say thrice "Allah Akbar. I bear witness that there is no God but
Allah I bear witness that Muhammad is the apostle of God. Come to prayer.
Come to prayer. Come to divine service. I Come to divine service. Allah
Akbar. Allah Akbar. There is no God but Allah".! When the apostle was
told of this he said that it was a true vision if God so willed it, and that he
should go with Bilal and communicate it to him so that he might call to
prayer thus, for he had a more penetrating voice. When Bilal acted as
muezzin 'Umar heard him in his house and came to the apostle dragging his
cloak on the ground and saying that he had seen precisely the same vision.
The apostle said, 'God be praised for that!"

I was told of this tradition by Muhammad b. Ibrahim b. al-Harith on the
authority of Muhammad b. 'Abdullah b. Zayd b. Tha'laba himself (288).

Muhammad b. Ja'far b. al-Zubayr told me on the authority of 'Urwa b.
al-Zubayr from a woman of B. Al-Najjar who said: My house was the
highest of those round the mosque and Bilal used to give the call from the
top of it at dawn every day. He used to come before daybreak and would sit
on the housetop waiting for the dawn. When he saw it he would stretch his
arms and say, ‘O God, I praise thee and ask thy help for Quraysh that they
may accept thy religion.' I never knew him to omit these words for a single
night.

ABU QAYS B. ABU ANAS

When the apostle was established in his house and God had manifested
his religion therein and made him glad with the company of the emigrants
and helpers Abu Qays spoke the following verses (289).

He was a man who had lived as a monk in heathen days and worn a
black mantle of camel-hair, given up idols, washed himself after impurity,
kept himself clean from women in their courses. He had thought of
adopting Christianity but gave it up and went into a house of his and made

a mosque of it, allowing no unclean person to enter. He said that he
worshipped the Lord of Abraham when he abandoned idols and loathed
them. When the apostle came to Medina he became a good Muslim. He was
an old man, who airways spoke the truth and glorified God in paganism. He
composed some excellent poetry and it was he who said:

Said Abu Qays when near to depart

Perform all you can of my behest.

I enjoin piety, the fear of God, and

The preservation of your honor, but piety comes first.
If your people hold authority envy them not.
If you yourselves rule, be just.

If a calamity befalls your people,

Put yourselves in the front of your tribe.

If a heavy duty falls on them help them

And bear the burdens they put upon you.

If you are poor, practice austerity.

If you have money be generous with it (290)'

He also said:

Praise God at every dawn

When His sun rises and at the new moon.

He knows what is clear and not clear to us.
What our Lord says is without error.

His are the birds which fly to and fro and shelter
In nests in their mountain retreats.

His are the wild creatures of the desert
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Which you see on the dunes and in the shade of sandhills.
Him the Jews worship and follow

Every dreary custom you can think of. "

Him the Christians worship and keep

Every feast and festival to their Lord.

His is the self-denying monk you see,

A prisoner of misery though once right happy.

My sons, sever not the bonds of kinship.

Be generous though they are mean.

Fear God in dealing with defenseless orphans
Often the forbidden is regarded as lawful.

Know that the orphan has an All-knowing protector
Who guides aright without being asked.

Devour not the wealth of orphans,

A mighty protector watches over the same.

Transgressing the bounds brings one to a halt

O my sons, trust not the days.

Beware their treachery and the passage of time.
Know that it consumes all creation,

Both the new and the old.

Live your lives in piety and godliness.

Abandon obscenity and hold fast to what is right."

In the following poem he mentioned how God had honoured them with

Islam and His special favor in sending His apostle to them:

He abode among Quraysh some ten years

Hoping for a friend to help him.

He displayed himself to those who came to the fairs
But found none to offer him hospitality.

But when he came to us God displayed his religion
And he became happy and contented in Medina.2
He found friends and ceased to long for home

And was plainly helped by God.3

He told us what Noah said to his people

And what Moses answered when he was called.
None near at hand need he fear

And those afar he recked not of.4

We spent on him the best of our possessions,
Sparing not our lives in war at his side.

We know that there is nought beside God

And we know that God is the best guide.

We shall fight any man that fights Him,

Be he our dearest friend.

In every mosque when I pray to Thee

I say Blessed art Thou (Oft have I mentioned Thy name).
I say when I traverse a land I fear

'Mercy! Let not my enemies triumph over me.'

Go where you will death comes in many guises
And you cannot live for ever.

A man does not know how to protect himself
Unless he makes God his protector.

The palm that needs water” cares naught for its owner
If it has moisture, though he be dead (291).

(T. 'Ali b. Mujahid said on the authority of Muhammad b. Ishaq from

al-Zuhri and from Muhammad b. Salih from al-Sha'bi that they both said:
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The B. Isma'il dated from the fire of Abraham to the building of the
temple when Abraham and Isma'il built it; then they dated from the
building of the temple until they dispersed, and it happened that when-ever
people left Tihama they dated from their leaving it, and those who remained
in Tihama of B. Isma'il used to date from the going out of Sa'd and Nahd
and Juhayna of B. Zayd from Tihama, until Ka'b b. Lu'ayy died. Then they
dated from the death of Ka'b to the elephant. The dating from the time of
the elephant continued until 'Umar b. al-Khattab dated from the Hijra which
was the year 17 or 18.1

THE NAMES OF THE JEWISH ADVERSARIES

351

About this time the Jewish rabbis showed hostility to the apostle in

envy, hatred, and malice, because God had chosen His apostle from the
Arabs. They were joined by men from al-Aus and Al-Khazraj who had
obstinately clung to their heathen religion. They were hypocrites, clinging
to the polytheism of their fathers denying the resurrection; yet when Islam
appeared and their people flocked to it they were compelled to pretend to
accept it to save their lives. But in secret they were hypocrites whose
inclination was towards the Jews because they considered the apostle a liar
and strove against Islam.

It was the Jewish rabbis who used to annoy the apostle with questions
and introduce confusion, so as to confound the truth with falsity. The Quran
used to come down in reference to these questions of theirs, though some of
the questions about what was allowed and forbidden came from the
Muslims themselves. These are the names of those Jews:

From B. al-Nadir: Huyayy b. Akhtab and his brothers Abu Yasir and
Judayy; Salam b. Mishkam; Kinana b. al-Rabi' b. Abu'l-Huqgayq; Salam b.
Abu'l-Hugayq Abu Rafi' AI-A’ war whom the apostle's com-panions killed
in Khaybar; al-Rabi' b. al-Rabi' b. Abu'l-Huqayq; 'Amr b. Jahhash; Ka'b b.
Al-Ashraf who belonged to Tay', of the clan of B. Nabhan, his mother
being from B. Al-Nadir; al-Hajjaj b. 'Amr, an ally of Ka'b; and Kardam b.
Qays, an ally of Ka'b.

From B. Tha'laba b. al-Fityaun: 'Abdullah b. Suriya the one-eyed who

Was the most learned man of his time in the Hijaz in Torah studies; Ibn
Saluba; and Mukhayriq their rabbi who became a Muslim. 352

From B. Qaynuqa': Zayd b. al-Lasit (291); Sa'd b. Hunayf; Mahmud b.
Sayhan; 'Uzayr b. Abu 'Uzayr; and Abdullah b. Sayf (292). Suwayd b. al-
Harith; Rifa'a b. Qays; Finhas; Ashya'; Nu'man b. Ada; Bahriy b. 'Amr;
Sha's b. 'Adiy; Sha's b. Qays; Zayd b. al-Harith; Nu'man b. 'Amr; Sukayn b.
Abu Sukayn; 'Adiy b. Zayd; Nu'man b. Abu Aufa; Abu Anas; Mahmud b.
Dahya; Malik b. Sayf (293)' Ka'b b, Rashid; 'Azar; Rafi' b. Abu Rafi';
Khalid; Azar b. Abu Azar (294); Rafi' b, Haritha; Rafi' b. Huraymila; Rafi'
b, Kharija; Malik b. 'Auf; Rifa'a b. Zayd b. al- Tabut 'Abdullah b. Salam b.
al-Harith; who was their rabbi and most learned man. His name was al-
Husayn. The apostle named him 'Abdullah when he accepted Islam.

From B. Qurayza: al-Zubayr b, Bata b. Wahb; 'Azzal b. Shamwil; Ka'b
b. Asad responsible on behalf of his tribe for the agreement which was
broken in the year of the Parties; Shamwil b. Zayd; Jabal b. 'Amr b.
Sukayna; al-Nahham b. Zayd; Qardam b. Ka'b; Wahb b. Zayd; Nafi' b. Abu
Nafi'; Abu Nafi' ; 'Adiy b. Zayd; al-Harith b. 'Auf; Kardam b. Zayd; Usama
b. Habib; Rafi' b. Rumayla; Jabal b. Abu Qushayr; Wahb b. Yahudha.

From B. Zurayq: Labid b. A'sam who bewitched the apostle of God so
that he could not come at his wives. ' From B. Haritha: Kinana b. Suriya.

B.'Amr b. 'Auf: Qardam b. 'Amr,

From B. Al-Najjar: Silsila b. Barham.

These were the Jewish rabbis, the rancorous opponents of the apostle
and his companions, the men who asked questions, and stirred up trouble
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against Islam to try to extinguish it, except for 'Abdullah b. Salam and
Mukhayriq. >

'ABDULLAH B. SALAM ACCEPTS ISLAM

I was told the story of 'Abdullah b. Salam, a learned rabbi, by one of his
family. He said: "When I heard about the apostle I knew by his descrip-tion,
name, and the time at which he appeared that he was the one we were
waiting for, and I rejoiced greatly thereat, though I kept silent about it until
the apostle came to Medina. When he stayed in Quba' among the B. 'Amr b.
'Auf a man came with the news while I was working at the top of a palm-
tree and my aunt Khalida d. al-Harith was sitting below. When I heard the
news I cried Allah Akbar and my aunt said, "Good gracious, if you had
heard that Moses b. 'Imran had come you could not have made more fuss!"
"Indeed, aunt," I said, "he is the brother of Moses and follows his religion,
being sent with the same mission." She asked, "Is he really

the prophet who we have been told will be sent at this very time?" and
she accepted my assurance that he was. Straightway I went to the apostle
and became a Muslim, and when I returned to my house I ordered my
family to do the same.

'T conceaied the matter from the Jews, and then went to the apostle and
said, "The Jews are a nation of liars and I wish you would take me into one
of your houses and hide me from them, Then ask them about me so that
they may tell you the position I hold among them before they know that I
have become a Muslim. For if they know it beforechand they will utter
slanderous lies against me." The prophet housed me ; the Jews came; and
the apostle asked them about my standing among them. They said:

"He is our chief, and the son of our chief; our rabbi, and our learned
man." When they said this I emerged and said: “O Jews, fear God and
accept what He has sent you. For by God you know that he is the apostle of
God. You will find him described in your Torah and even named. I testify
that he is the apostle of God, I believe in him, I hold him to be true, and I
acknowledge him." They accused me of lying and reviled me. Then I
reminded the apostle that I had said that they would do this, for they were a
treacherous, lying, and evil people. I publicly proclaimed my conversion
and my household and my aunt Khalida followed suit.'

THE STORY OF MUKHAYRIQ

He was a learned rabbi owning much property in date palms. He
re-cognized the apostle by his description and his own learning, and he felt
a predilection for his religion I until on the day of Uhud, which fell on the
Sabbath, he reminded the Jews that they were bound to help Muham-mad.
They objected that it was the Sabbath. 'May you have no Sabbath® he
answered, and took his weapons and joined the apostle in Uhud. His parting
testimony to his people was: 'If I am killed today my property is to go to
Muhammad to use as God shows him." He was killed in the battle that
followed. I am told that the apostle used to say 'Mukhayriq is the best of the
Jews.' The apostle took over his property and all the aims he distributed in
Medina came from it.

THE TESTIMONY OF SAFIYA

'Abdullah b. Abu Bakr b. Muhammad b, 'Amr b, Hazm told me that he
was told that Safiya d, Huyayy b, Akhtab said 'l was the favorite child of
my father and my uncle Abu Yasir. When I was present they took no notice
of their other children, When the apostle was staying in Quba' with the B.
'Amr b, 'Auf, the two went to see him before daybreak and did not return
until after nightfall, weary, worn out, drooping and feeble, I went up to
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them in childish pleasure as I airways did, and they were so sunk in gloom
that they took no notice of me. I heard my uncle say to my father, "Is he he?
Do you recognize him, and can you be sure?" "Yes!" "And what do you
feel about him?" "By God I shall be his enemy as long as I live!"

THE JEWS ARE JOINED BY ANSARI HYPOCRITES

The following hypocrites' from al-Aus and al-Khazraj joined the Jews
according to information given me. God knows best about the truth. From
Aus of the section of B. 'Amr b. 'Auf b. Malik of the subdivision Laudhan
b. 'Amr b. 'Auf: Zuwayy b. al-Harith. From B. Hubayb b. 'Amr b. 'Auf:
Julas b. Suwayd b. al-Samit and his brother al-Harith. Julas was one of
those who withdrew from the apostle in the raid on Tabuk. He said, 'If this
man is right we are worse than donkeys.' 'Umayr b. Sa'd, one of them, who
was closely related to Julas, he having married his mother after his father's
death, reported what he had said to the apostle. But first he said to Julas:
"You are dearer to me than any man, the most generous to me, and it is most
painful to me that anything should happen to upset you; but you have said
words which if I repeat them I shall bring shame upon you, and if I keep
silence I shall bring my religion into peril. One is preferable to the other.'
Then he went to the apostle and told him what Julas had said. Julas swore
by God that he had not said the words attributed to him by 'Umayr. And
God sent down concerning him: 'They swear by God that they did not say,
when they did actually say, words of unbelief and did disbelieve after they
had surrendered themselves. They planned what they could not carry out
and they had nothing to avenge but that God and His apostle had enriched
them by His bounty. If they repent it will be better for them; and if they turn
back God will afflict them with a painful punishment in this world and the
next. In this world they have no friend or helper' (295).

It is alleged that he repented and was known to be a good Muslim.

His brother al-Harith who killed al-Mujadhdhar b. Dhiyad al-Balawi
and Qays b. Zayd one of B. Dubay'a at Uhud, went put with the Muslims.
He was a hypocrite, and when battle was joined he fell upon these two men,
killed them, and attached himself to Quraysh (296).

Mu'adh b. 'Afra' killed Suwayd treacherously when there was no war.

He shot him with an arrow before the battle of Bu'ath.

The apostle-so they say-had ordered 'Umar to kill him if he could get
hold of him, but he escaped and got to Mecca. Then he sent to his brother
Julas asking for forgiveness so that he might return to his people.

God sent down concerning him according to what I have heard on the
authority of Ibn 'Abbas: 'How can God guide a people who have dis
believed after having believed and witnessed that the apostle is true and
sure proofs have come to them from God. God does not guide a sinful
people.'’

From B. Dubay'a b. Zayd b. Malik b. 'Auf b. 'Amr b. 'Auf: Bijad b
'Uthman b. 'Amir. From B. Laudhan b. 'Amr b. 'Auf: Nabtal b. al- Harith I
have heard that it was of him that the apostle said, 'Whoever wants to see
Satan let him take a look at Nabtal b. al-Harith!' He was a sturdy black man
with long flowing hair, inflamed eyes, and dark ruddy cheeks. He used to
come and talk to the apostle and listen to him and then carry what he had
said to the hypocrites. It was he who said: 'Muhammad is all ears: if anyone
tells him anything he believes it." God sent down concerning him: 'And of
them are those who annoy the prophet and say he is all ears. Say: Good ears
for you. He believes in God and trusts the believers and is a mercy for those
of you who believe; and those who annoy the apostle of God for them there
is a painful punishment."”
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A man of B. al- 'Ajlan told me that he was told that Gabriel came to the
apostle and said, 'There comes to sit with you a black man with long
flowing hair, ruddy cheeks, and inflamed eyes like two copper pots. His
heart’ is more gross than a donkey's; he carries your words to the
hypocrites, so beware of him.' This, so they say, was the description of
Nabtal.

Also from B. Dubay'a was Abu Habiba b. al-Az'ar, one of those who
had built the mosque of al-Dirar; Tha'laba b. Hatib; and Mu'attib b.
Qushayr. It was those two who made a covenant with God saying, 'If he
gives us of his bounty we will give aims and be of the righteous'4 to the end
of the story. And it was Mu'attib who said at Uhud: 'If we had any part in
the ordering of things we should not be killed here." So God sent down
concerning what he said: 'A party who were anxious about their lives
thought wrongly about God as the pagans thought. They said: "If we had
any part in the ordering of things we should not be killed here" ° to the end
of the context. It was he who said on the day of the Parties, "Muhammad
promises us that we shall enjoy the treasures of Chosroes and Caesar
whereas it is not safe for one of us to go to the privy!" So God revealed
concerning him: 'And when the hypocrites and those in whose hearts is a
disease say God and his apostle have promised us nothing but a delusion."

Also al-Harith b. Hatib (297).

Also 'Abbad b. Hunayf brother of Sahl, and Bahzaj who were among
the builders of the mosque of al-Dirar. And 'Amr b. Khidham and 'Abdullah
b. Nabtal

Of the B. Tha'laba were Jariya b. 'Amir b. al-'Attaf and his two sons
Zayd and Mujammi'. They were also concerned with the mosque of
al-Dirar. Mujammi' was a youth who had collected most of the Quran and
he used to lead them in prayer. When the mosque had been destroyed and
certain men of B. 'Amr b. 'Auf who used to lead their people in prayer in
their mosque, died, in the time of 'Umar, Mujammi' was mentioned to act as
leader, but 'Umar would not have it, saying, '"Wasn't he the imam of the
hypocrites in the mosque of al-Dirar?' He replied: 'By God, I knew nothing
of their affairs. But I was a youngster who could recite the Quran, whereas
they could not, so they put me forward to lead the prayers. Their affair
seemed to me to accord with the best account they gave.' They allege that
'Umar let him go and lead the prayers of his people.

Of B. Umayya b. Zayd b. Malik: Wadi'a b. Thabit, one of the builders
of the Dirar mosque who said, 'We were only talking and jesting.' So God
sent down: 'If you ask them they will say we were only talking and jesting.
Say: Is it about God and His signs and His apostle you were jesting?' to the
end of the passage.

Of B. Ubayd b. Zayd b. Malik: Khidham b. Khalid, from whose house
the mosque of al-Dirar was carved out; and Bishr and Rafi' the two sons of
Zayd.

Of B. al-Nabit (298) of the clan of B. Haritha b. al-Harith b. al-Khazraj
b.'Amr b. Malik b. al-Aus: Mirba' b. Qayzi who said to the apostle when he
passed through his garden on his way to Uhud: 'l do not allow you
Muhammad to pass through my garden even if you are a prophet.' He took
a handful of dirt and said: 'By God, if I did not know that I might throw it
on others I would throw this dirt at you.' The people pressed on him to kill
him and the apostle said: 'Let him alone. For this blind man is blind of heart
and blind of perception'. Sa'd b. Zayd brother of B. 'Abdu'l-Ashhai hit him
with his bow and wounded him; also his brother Aus b. Qayzi, who said to
the apostle on the day of the Trench: 'Our houses lie open to the enemy, so
give us leave to go back to them.' So God revealed concerning him: "They
say Our houses lie open to the enemy. They are not open; all they want is to
run away' (299).'

Of B. Zafar (Zafar's name was Ka'b b. al-Harith b. al-Khazraj): Hatib b.
Umayya b. Rafi'. He was a sturdy old man steeped long in paganism. A son
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of his was one of the best of the Muslims, Yazid by name. He was disabled
by wounds received at Uhud and was carried to the house of the B. Zafar.

Asim b. 'Umar b. Qatada told me that the Muslims there both men and
women gathered to him when he was at the point of death and were saying:
'Rejoice, a son of Hatib, in the thought of paradise!'" Then his hypocrisy
showed itself, for his father said, Humph! By God it is a garden of rue. You
have sent this poor fellow to his death by your deception.'

Also Bus-hayr b. Ubayriq Abu Tu'ma, the 'Stealer of the Two
Breast-plates' concerning whom God sent down: 'And argue not on behalf
of those who deceive themselves. God does not love a sinful deceiver."
Also Quzman, an ally of theirs.

The same 'Asim told me that the apostle used to say: 'He belongs to the
people of hell.'" At Uhud he fought so valiantly that he killed several
polytheists. But they severely wounded him and he was carried to the
quarters of the B. Zafar. The Muslims said, 'Cheer up, O Quzman; you have
done gallantly today and your sufferings have been for God's sake.' He said:
"Why should I cheer up? I fought only to protect my people." And when the
pain of his wounds became unendurable he took an arrow from his quiver
and cut a vein in his hand and thus committed suicide.

Among B. 'Abdu'l-Ashhai no hypocrite male or female was known
except al-Dahhak b. Thabit, one of the B. Ka'b of the family of Sa'd b.
Zayd. He was suspected of hypocrisy and love of the Jews.

Hassan b. Thabit said of him:’

Who will tell al-Dahhak that his veins

Were unable to be glorified in Islam?

Do you love the Jews of al-Hijaz and their religion,
You liver-hearted ass, and not love Muhammad?
Their religion will never march with ours

As long as men roam the open desert.

I have heard that before his repentance Julas together with Mu'attib,
Rafi', and Bishr used to make false profession of Islam.” Some Muslims
asked them to go to the apostle to settle a matter in dispute between them,
while they wanted to refer it to the kahins who acted as arbitrators in the
pagan era. So God sent down concerning them: 'Hast thou considered those
who allege that they believe in what has been sent down to thee and what
was sent down before thee who wish to go to idolatry for arbitration when
they have been commanded to give up belief in it? Satan wishes to lead
them far astray.”

Of Khazraj from B. Al-Najjar: Rafi' b. Wadi'a, Zayd b. 'Amr, 'Amr b.
Qays, and Qays b. 'Amr b. Sahl.

Of B. Jusham of the clan of B. Salima: al-Jidd b. Qays who said, ‘O
Muhammad, give me leave (to stay at home) and tempt me not.' So God
sent down concerning him: 'Of them is he who says, Give me leave (to stay
at home) and tempt me not. Surely it is into temptation that they have fallen
and hell encompasses the unbelievers.'5

Of B. 'Auf D. al-Khazraj: 'Abdullah b. Ubayy b. Salul. He was the head
of the hypocrites. They used to gather to him and it was he who said, 'If we
go back to Medina the stronger will drive out the weaker.' This was during
the raid on the B. al-Mustaliq and the whole sura of the Hypocrites' came
down about him and Wadi'a a man of B. 'Auf and Malik b. Abu Qaugal and
Suwayd and Da'is of the clan of 'Abdullah b. Ubayy. Those were his men
who sent secret messages to B. al-Nadir® when the apostle besieged them:
'Stand fast, for by God if you are driven out we will go forth with you and
we will never obey anyone against you and if you are attacked we will help
you.' So God sent down concerning them: 'Hast thou not considered the
hypocrites who say to their brethren of the scrip-ture folk, If you are driven
out we will go forth with you and we will never obey anyone against you
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and if you are attacked we will help you. God bears witness that they are
liars', as far as His words 'Like Satan when he says to men, "Disbelieve,"
and when they disbelieve he says, "I am not responsible for you; for my
part I fear God the Lord of the worlds." *

THE RABBIS WHO ACCEPTED ISLAM HYPOCRITICALLY

The following are the Jewish rabbis who took refuge in Islam along
with the Muslims and hypocritically professed it: Of B. Qaynuga': Sa'd b.
Hunayf; Zayd b. al-Lusayt; Numan b. Aufa b. 'Amr; 'Uthman b. Aufa; Zayd
b. al-Lusayt who fought with 'Umar in the market of the B. Qay-nuqga'. He
was the man who said when the apostle's camel wandered off: "Muhammad
alleges that revelations come to him from heaven and he doesn't know
where his camel is!' When the apostle heard of what this enemy of God had
said and God had told him where his camel was he said, 'T only know what
God lets me know. And God has shown me. It is in such-and-such a glen
caught by its rope to a tree.' The Muslims went and found it in that very
spot caught up as the apostle had said.

Also Rafi' b. Huraymila of whom I have heard that the prophet said,

'One of the greatest hypocrites has died today." And Rifa'a b. Zayd b.
al- Tabut of whom the prophet said when there was a high wind as he was
returning from the expedition against the B. al-Mustaliq and the Muslims
were in great anxiety: 'Don't be afraid; the wind is blowing because a great
unbeliever is dead.! When he got back to Medina he found that Rifa'a had
died the day the wind blew. Also Silsila b. Barham and Kinana b. Suriya.

These hypocrites used to assemble in the mosque and listen to the
stories of the Muslims and laugh and scoff at their religion. When some of
them® were there one day the apostle saw them talking with lowered voice
among themselves huddled together. He ordered that they should be ejected
and they were put out with some violence. Abu Ayyub Khalid b. Zayd b.
Kulayb got up and went to 'Amr b. Qays, one of B. Ghanm

b. Malik b. Al-Najjar who was the custodian of their gods during the
pagan era, took hold of his foot and dragged him outside the mosque, he
saying meanwhile "Would you drag me out of the date barn of the B.
Tha'laba!' Then he went for Rafi' b. Wadi'a, one of the B. Al-Najjar,
gripped him by his robe, slapped his face, and dragged him forcibly out of
the mosque, saying, 'Faugh! you dirty hypocrite! Keep out of the apostle's
mosque, you hypocrite!' (300).

'Umara b.Hazm went for Zayd b. '"Amr who had a long beard and seized
him by it and dragged him violently out of the mosque. Then clenching his
fists he punched him in the chest and knocked him down, Zayd crying the
meanwhile, "You have torn my skin off!' 'God get rid of you, you hypocrite,’
he answered, 'God has a worse punishment than that in store for you, so
don't come near the apostle's mosque again!' (301).

Abu Muhammad Mas'ud b. Aus b. Zayd b. Ajram b. Zayd b. Tha'laba b.
Ghanm b. Malik b. Al-Najjar (who was at Badr) went for Qays b. 'Amr b.
Sahl who was a youth (the only young man known to have been among the
hypocrites) and pushed him in the back of the neck until he ejected him
from the mosque.

A man of B. al-Khudra b. al-Khazraj of the family of Abu Sa'd called
'Abdullah b. al-Harith, hearing the order to clear the mosque, went for al-
Harith b. 'Amr, a man with long hair, and taking a good grip of it he
dragged him violently the whole way along the floor until he put him out,
the hypocrite meanwhile saying 'You are very rough, Ibnu'l-Harith.' 'Serve
you right, you enemy of God, for what God has sent down about you,' he
answered; 'Don't come near the apostle's mosque again, for you are
unclean.'

A man of B. 'Amr b. 'Auf went for his brother Zuwayy b. al-Harith and
put him out violently, saying, 'Faugh! You are doing Satan's work for him!'
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These were the hypocrites whom the apostle ordered to be expelled
from the mosque that day.

REFERENCES TO THE HYPOCRITES AND THE JEWS IN THE
SURA ENTITLED 'THE COW'

The first hundred verses of the sura of the Cow came down in reference
to these Jewish rabbis and the hypocrites of Aus and Khazraj, according to
what I have been told, and God knows best. He said: 'Alif Lam Mim. That
is the book wherein there is no doubt.' The word rayb means doubt (302).

'A guidance to the god-fearing', i.e. those who fear God's punishment
for abandoning the guidance they recognize, and hope for His mercy
through believing in what has come to them from Him. "Who believe in the
unseen and establish prayer and give out what We have provided them
with,' i.e. they establish prayer in its prescribed form and pay the poor-tax
expecting a (future) reward for it. 'And those who believe in what has been
sent down to thee and to those who were before thee,' i.e. they believe thee
to be true in what thou hast brought from God and what the sent ones
brought before thee, making no difference between them nor opposing what
they brought from their Lord. 'And are certain of the latter end,' i.e. the
waking from death, the resurrection, paradise and hell, the reckoning and
the scales, i.e. these are those who allege that they believe in what was
before thee and in what has come to thee from thy Lord. 'These live in
guidance from their Lord,' i.e. according to light from their Lord and
uprightly according to what has come to them. 'These are they who
prosper,' i.e. who attain what they seek and escape the evil they flee from.
'As for those who disbelieve,' i.e. in what has been sent down to thee
though they say we have long believed in what came to us before thee, 'it is
all one to them whether thou warn them or do not warn them they will not
believe,' i.e. they disbelieve that thou art mentioned (in the books) they
have and they reject the covenant which was made with them with
reference to thee. They disbelieve in what has come to thee and in what
they have already which others brought to them so how will they listen to
warning and exhortation from thee when they have denied that they have
any knowledge of thee? 'God hath sealed their hearts and their hearing and
over their sight there is a covering,' i.e. so that they will never find
guidance, meaning: because they have declared you a liar so that they will
not believe in the truth which has come to thee from thy Lord though they
believe in all that came before thee. For opposing thee they will have an
awful punishment. Thus far concerning the Jewish rabbis for calling the
truth a lie after they knew it.

'And there are some men who say, We believe in God and the last day
when they do not believe.! He means the hypocrites of Aus and Khazraj
and their followers. 'They would deceive God and those who believe, but
they deceive only themselves, and perceive it not. In their hearts is a
sickness,' i.e. doubt. 'And God increases their sickness,' i.e. doubt.

A painful punishment is theirs because they lie. And when it is said to
them, 'Do not make mischief in the land they say we are only putting things
to right,’ i.e. we only wish to make peace between the two parties of the
believers and the scripture folk. God said: 'Are not they indeed the mischief
makers but they perceive it not? And when it is said to them, Believe as the
people believe they say: Are we to believe as the foolish believe? Surely
they are the foolish but they know it not. And when they meet those who
believe they say, We believe; and when they go apart to their leaders," i.e.
the Jews who order them to deny the truth and contra-dict what the apostle
brought, 'They say Certainly we are with you,' i.e. we agree entirely with
you. 'We were only mocking,' i.e. mocking the people and jesting with
them. God said: 'God will mock at them and let them continue to wander
blindly in their error' (303).
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'"These are they who buy error at the price of guidance,' i.e. disbelief for
faith. 'So their traffic is not profitable and they are not rightly guided.'

Then God employed a simile and said: 'They are like a man who lights a
fire and when it lightens his environment God takes away their light and
leaves them in darkness unable to see,' i.e. they cannot see the truth and
profess it so that when they go out with it from the darkness of unbelief
they extinguish it with their unbelief and hypocrisy, and God leaves them in
the darkness of unbelief and they do not see guidance and are not upright in
truth. 'Deaf, dumb, blind, and they return not,' i.e. they return not to

guidance, deaf, dumb, blind to what is good, they return not to good and 366

find no escape from their condition. 'Or like a rainstorm from heaven
wherein is darkness and thunder and lightning. They put their fingers in
their ears because of the thunderings, in fear of death. God encompasses the
unbelievers' (304), i.e. because of the darkness of unbelief and the fear of
death in which they are, arising from their opposition and fear of you, they
are like the man in the rainstorm who puts his fingers in his ears at the
thunderclaps in fear of death. He says: And God brings that vengeance
upon them, i.e. He encompasses the un-believers. 'The lightning almost
takes away their sight,' i.e. because of the exceeding brightness of the truth.
"Whenever it gives light to them they walk in it and when it is dark for them
they stand still,' i.e. they know the truth and talk about it and so far as their
talk goes they are on the straight path; but when they relapse from it into
infidelity they come to a halt in bewilderment. 'And if God willed He could
take away their hearing and their sight,' i.e. because they have forsaken the
truth after they knew it. 'God is able to do all things.'

Then He says: ‘O men, worship your Lord,' addressing both unbelievers
and hypocrites, i.e. acknowledge His unity. 'Who created you and those
before you; perchance you may ward off evil. Who has made the earth a
bed for you and the heaven a building, and sent down water from heaven
and has brought forth fruits thereby as food for you. So make not rivals of
God when you know (better)' (305), i.e. do not associate with God rivals
which can neither profit nor harm when you know that you have no Lord
that can feed you other than He, and you know that the monotheism to
which the apostle calls you is the truth about which there is no doubt. 'And

if you are in doubt about that which We have sent down to our servant,' i.e. 367

in doubt about what he has brought you, 'then produce a sura like it and
summon your witnesses other than God,' i.e. whatever helpers you can get
'if you are truthful; and if you do not and you cannot' for the truth has
become clear to you, 'then fear hell whose fuel is men and stones' prepared
for the unbelievers,' i.e. for those who are in a state of infidelity like you.
Then he appeals to their interest and warns them against breaking the
covenant which He made with them in reference to His prophet when He
came to them, and He reminds them of the beginning of their creation when
He created them, and what happened to their forefather Adam and how he
was dealt with for his disobedience; then He says: I ‘O children of Israel,’
addressing the Jewish rabbis, 'Remember the favor I showed you,' i.e. My
care for you and your fathers, wherewith He delivered them from Pharaoh
and his army. 'And fulfill My covenant' which I placed on your necks with
regard to My prophet Ahmad when he should come to you. 'T shall fulfill
My part of the covenant.' 1 shall carry out what I promised you for
believing in and following him by removing the bonds and chains which
were upon your necks because of the sins which you had com-mitted. 'And
stand in awe of Me,' i.e. lest I bring down on you what I brought down on
your fathers before you-the vengeance that you know of, bestial
transformation and the like. 'And believe in what I have sent down
confirming what you already have, and be not the first to disbelieve it'
seeing that you have knowledge which others have not about it. 'And fear
Me and do not mingle truth with falsehood nor hide the truth which you
know,' i.e. do not conceal the knowledge which you have about My apostle
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and what he has brought when you will find it with you in what you know
of the books which are in your hands. 'Would you tell men to be good and
forget to be so yourselves, you being readers of scripture? Do you not
understand?' i.e. would you forbid men to disbelieve in the prophecy you
have and the covenant of the Torah and abandon it yourselves? i.e. when
you deny that it contains My covenant with you that you must pronounce
My apostle to be true, and you break My agreement" and you contradict
what you know to be in My book.

Then He recounts their sins, mentioning the calf and what they did with
it; how He forgave them and pardoned them; then their words 'Show us
God plainly' (306); and how the storm came upon them because of their
presumptuousness; then He quickened them after they had died;
overshadowed them with the cloud, sent down to them manna and quails
and said to them, 'Enter the gate with prostrations and say Hitta,” i.e. say
what I command you, and I will remove your sins from you; and their
changing that word making a mockery of His command ; and His forgiving
them after their mockery (307).

With regard to their changing that word, the apostle said according to
what Salih b. Kaisan from Salih, freedman of al- Tau'ama d. Umayya b.
Khalaf from Abu Hurayra and someone above suspicion from Ibn 'Abbas:
They entered the gate they were ordered to enter with prostra-tions in a
crowd saying, 'Wheat is in the barley' (308). (He also reminded them of)
Moses praying for water for his people and His commanding him to strike
the rock with his staff so that the water gushed forth in twelve streams, one
for each tribe to drink from, each tribe knowing the one from which it was
to drink. And their saying to Moses, 'We cannot bear one kind of food. Pray
to your Lord for us that He may bring forth to us vegetables which the earth
produces such as cucumbers and corn (309) and beans and onions. He said:
Will you exchange that which is better .for that which is baser? Go down to
Egypt; thus you will get what you ask for.' They did not do so. Further how
He raised the mountain above them I that they might receive what was
brought to them; and the bestial transformation when He made them into
apes for their sins; and the cow which God showed them in which there was
a lesson concerning the slain man about whom they differed until God
made clear to them his affair after their repeated requests to Moses for a
description of the cow; further the hardness of their hearts afterwards so
that they were harder than stone. Then He said: 'There are rocks from which
rivers gush forth and there are rocks which split asunder and water comes
out of them, and there are rocks which fail down for fear of God,' i.e. some
rocks are softer than your hearts in regard to the truth to which you were
called. 'And God is not unaware of what you do.'

Then He said to Muhammad and the believers with him, causing them
to despair of them: 'Do you hope that they will believe you when there is a
party of them who listen to the word of God then change it after they
understand it, doing so knowingly?' His saying 'They listen to the Torah'
does not mean that they all heard it, but only a party of them, i.e. a selected
number according to what I was told by a scholar. They said to Moses:

Something has come between us and the vision of God so let us hear
His word when He speaks to thee. Moses conveyed the request to God who
said : Yes, command them to purify themselves or to purify their clothing
and to fast; and they did so. Then he brought them forth to the mountain,
and when the cloud covered them Moses commanded them to prostrate
themselves and his Lord spoke to him and they heard His voice giving them
commands and prohibitions so that they understood what they heard. Then
he went back with them to the Children of Israel and when he came to them
a party of them changed the commandments they had been given; and when
Moses said to the Children of Israel, 'God has ordered you to do so-and-so,’
they contradicted him and said that God had ordered something else. It is
they to whom God refers.
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Then God said: 'And when they meet those who believe they say:

We believe,' i.e. in your leader the apostle of God; but he (has been
sent) to you alone. And when they go apart with one another they say, Don't
talk to the Arabs about this for you used to ask for victory over them
through him and he is of them. So God sent down concerning them: 'And
when they meet those who believe they say, We believe. But when they go
apart with one another they say, Will you talk about what God has revealed
to you that they may contend with you about it before your Lord? Have you
no understanding?' i.e. maintain that he is a prophet since you know that
God has made a covenant with you that you should follow him, while he
tells you that he is the prophet whom we are expecting and find in our
book. Oppose him and do not recognize him. God said: 'Do they not know
that God knows what they conceal and what they proclaim, and some of
them are gentiles' who do not know the book but merely
recite passages (310).> 'They only think they know,' i.e. they don't know
the book and they do not know what is in it, yet they oppose thy
prophethood on mere opinion. 'And they say the fire will not touch us
except for a limited time. Say, Have ye received a covenant from God? God
will not break His covenant--or do you say what you do not know about
God?'

A freedman of Zayd b. Thabit told me as from 'Tkrima or from Sa'id b.
Jubayr from Ibn 'Abbas: The apostle came to Medina when the Jews were
saying that the world would last for seven thousand years and that God
would only punish men in hell one day in the next world for every thousand
in this world. There would be only seven days and then punish-ment would
cease. So God sent down concerning this saying: 'And they say, The fire
will not touch us except for a limited time. Say, Have ye received a
covenant from God? God will not break His covenant--or do you say what
you do not know about God? Nay whoso does evil and his sin encompasses
him,' i.e. he who does as you do and disbelieves as you disbelieve, his
unbelief encompasses the good he has acquired with God. 'They are the
people of hell; they will be there eternally,' i.e. for ever. 'And those who do
good, they are the people of paradise; they will be there eternally,' i.e. those
who believe in what you deny and do what you have left undone of His
religion. They shall have paradise for ever. He tells them that the
recompense for good and evil is eternal: it will never cease.

Then He said in blaming them, 'And when We made a covenant with
the children of Israel,' i.e. your covenant. "Worship none but God, show
kindness to parents and to near relatives, and to orphans and the poor, and
speak kindly to men, and establish prayer and pay the poor-tax, then you
turned your backs except a few of you, being averse,” i.e. you abandoned
all that — nothing less. 'And when we made a covenant with you, Shed not
your blood' (311)' 'And do not turn (some of) your people' out of your
dwellings. Then you ratified it and you are witnesses thereof,' i.e. that My
covenant condition truly binds you. 'Then you are they who kill your people
and drive some of them from their houses, supporting one another against
them by crime and transgression,' i.e the polytheists, so that they shed their
blood along with them and drive them from their houses along with them.
'And if they came to you as prisoners you would ransom them' knowing
that that is incumbent upon you in your religion, 'while their expulsion is
forbidden to you' in your scripture. 'Will you believe in a part of the
scripture and disbelieve in another part?' i.e. will you ransom them
believing in one part and expel them disbelieving in another part? 'And
what is the recompense of those of you who do that but shame in this world
and on the day of resurrection they will be sent to the severest punishment.
For God is not unaware of what you are doing. These are they who buy this
life at the price of the next life. Their punishment will not be lightened nor
will they be helped.' Thus God blamed them for what they were doing, He
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having in the Torah prohibited them from shedding each other's blood and
charged them to redeem their prisoners.

There were two parties: The B. Qaynuqga' and their adherents, allies of
Khazraj; and al-Nadir and Qurayza and their adherents allies of Aus. When
there was war between Aus and Khazraj the B. Qaynuqa' went out with
Khazraj, and Al-Nayir and Qurayza with Aus, each side helping his allies
against his own brethren so that they shed each other's blood, while the
Torah was in their hands by which they knew what was allowed and what
was forbidden them. Aus and Khazraj were polytheists worshipping idols
knowing nothing about paradise and hell, the waking and the resur-rection,
the scriptures, the permitted and the forbidden. When the war came to an
end they ransomed their prisoners in accordance with the Torah each side
redeeming those of their men who had been captured by the other side,
disregarding the bloodshed that had been incurred in helping the
polytheists. God said in blaming them for that: 'Will you believe in a part of
the scripture and disbelieve in another part?' i.e. would you redeem him in
accordance with the Torah and kill him when the Torah forbids you to do
so, killing him and driving him out of his house and helping the polytheist
who worships idols instead of God against him, all for the sake of this
world's gain? According to my information this passage came down with
reference to their behavior with Aus and Khazraj.

He continued: "We gave Moses the scripture and We sent apostles after
him and We gave Jesus, Son of Mary, the clear proofs,' i.e. the signs which
were wrought by Him in raising the dead; forming the likeness of birds
from clay and then breathing into them so that they became birds by God's
permission' healing the sick; and news of many hidden things which they
stored in their houses; and His confuting them from the Torah and the
Gospel which God had created for Him." Then he mentions their disbelief
in all that and says: 'Is it that whenever there comes to you an apostle with
what you do not like you act arrogantly; some you declare liars and some
you put to death? Then he says: 'And they said, Our hearts are
uncircumcised,' i.e. in coverings. 'Nay, but God has cursed them for their
unbelief. Little do they believe. And when a scripture comes to them from
God confirming what they already have, though before that they were
asking for a victory over the unbelievers, when there comes to them what
they know they deny it. God's curse is on the unbelievers.'

'Asim b. 'Umar b. Qatada told me that shaykhs of his people said: This
passage came down about us and them. We had got the better of them in the
pagan era, we being polytheists and they scripture folk. They used to say to
us, 'Soon a prophet will be sent whom we shall follow; his time is at hand.
With his help we shall kill you like 'Ad and Iram.' And when God sent His
apostle from Quraysh and we followed him they denied him. God said:
'And when there comes to them what they know they deny it. God's curse is
on the unbelievers. Wretched is that for which they sell themselves in
disbelieving in what God has sent down, grudging that God should send
down of His bounty upon whom He will of His servants,' i.e. that He should
have given it to one who was not of them. '"They have incurred anger upon
anger and for the unbelievers there is a shameful punishment' (312).

The double anger is His anger at what they have disregarded of the
Torah which they had and His anger at their disbelieving in this prophet
whom God had sent to them.” Then He told them of® the raising of the
mountain above them and their taking the calf as a god instead of their
Lord. God then said: 'Say, If the last dwelling with God is for you alone
excluding others, then long for death if you are truthful,' i.e. pray for death
to which of the two parties is most false with God. And they refused the
apostle's suggestion. God said to His prophet: 'They will never long for it
because of what their hands have sent before them,” i.e. because they know
about thee by the knowledge which they have and deny it, It is said that if
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they had longed for it the day he said that to them, not a single Jew would
have remained on the earth but would have died. Then He mentions their
love of this life and of a long life and God said: 'Thou wilt find them the
most eager of men for life', the Jews, 'even more than the polytheists; each
one would like to live a thousand years and to be allowed to live long
would not remove him from the punishment,' i.e. it would not deliver him
from it. The reason is that the polytheist does not hope for raising after
death so he wants to live long, and the Jew knows what awaits him of
shame in the next life because he has wasted the knowledge that he has.
Then God said: 'Say, Who is an enemy to Gabriel? For it is he who brought
it down to thy heart by God's permission.'

'Abdullah b. 'Abdu'l-Rahman b. Abu Husayn al-Makki told me from 375
Shahr b. Haushab al-Ash'ari that a number of Jewish rabbis came to the

apostle and asked him to answer four questions, saying that if he did so they
would follow him and testify to his truth, and believe in him. He got them
to swear a solemn- oath that if he gave them the right answers they would
acknowledge his truth and they began: 'Why does a boy resemble his
mother when the semen comes from the man?' 'l adjure you by God and His
favors towards the children of Israel,' do you not know that a man's semen
is white and thick while a woman's is yellow and thin, and the likeness goes
with that which comes to the top?' 'Agreed,' they said. 'Tell us about your
sleep.' 'Do you not know that a sleep which you allege I do not have is
when the eye sleeps but the heart is awake?' 'Agreed.' 'Thus is my sleep. My
eye sleeps but my heart is awake.' 'Tell us about what Israel voluntarily
forbade himself.' 'Do you not know that the food he loved best was the flesh
and milk of camels and that once when he was ill God restored him to
health so he deprived himself of his favorite food and drink in gratitude to
God?' 'Agreed. Tell us about the Spirit.' 'Do you not know that it is Gabriel,
he who comes to me?' 'Agreed, but a Muhammad he is an enemy to us, an
angel who comes only with violence and the shedding of blood, and were it
not for that we would follow you.' So God sent down concerning them:
'Who is an enemy to Gabriel? For it is he who brought it down to thy heart
by God's permission confirming what was before it and a guidance and
good tidings to the believers' as far as the words 'Is it not that when they
make a covenant some of them set it aside, nay most of them do not
believe. And when an apostle comes to them from God confirming that 376
which they have, some of them who have received the scripture, the book
of God, put it behind them as if they did not know it and they follow that
which the satans read concerning the kingdom of Solomon,' i.e. sorcery.
'Solomon did not disbelieve, but the satans disbelieved, teaching men
sorcery.'2

This, so I have heard, happened when the apostle mentioned Solomon
b. David among the sent ones. One of the rabbis said, 'Don't you wonder at
Muhammad? He alleges that Solomon was a prophet, and by God he was
nothing but a sorcerer.' So God sent down concerning that: 'Solomon did
not disbelieve but the satans disbelieved,' i.e. in following sorcery and
practising it. 'And that which was revealed to the two angels Harut and
Marut in Babylon and they taught nobody.'

Someone above suspicion told me from 'Tkrima from Ibn 'Abbas that he
used to say: 'What Israel forbade himself was the two lobes of the liver, the
kidneys and the fat (except what was upon the back), for that used to be
offered in sacrifice and the fire consumed it."

The apostle wrote to the Jews of Khaybar according to what a freedman
of the family of Zayd b. Thabit told me from 'Ikrima or from Sa'id b. Jubayr
from Ibn 'Abbas: 'In the name of God the compassionate the merciful from
Muhammad the apostle of God, friend and brother of Moses who confirms
what Moses brought. God says to you, O scripture folk, and you will find it
in your scripture "Muhammad is the apostle of God; and those with him are
severe against the unbelievers, merciful among themselves. Thou seest
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them bowing, failing prostrate seeking bounty and acceptance from God.
The mark of their prostrations is on their foreheads. That is their likeness in
the Torah and in the Gospel like a seed which sends forth its shoot and
strengthens it and it becomes thick and rises straight upon its stalk
delighting the sowers that He may anger the unbelievers with them. God
has promised those who believe and do well forgiveness and a great
reward."” I adjure you by God, and by what He has sent down to you, by
the manna and quails He gave as food to your tribes before you, and by His
drying up the sea for your fathers when He delivered them from Pharaoh
and his works, that you tell me, Do you find in what He has sent down to
you that you should believe in Muhammad? If you do not find that in your
scripture then there is no compulsion upon you. "The right path has become
plainly distinguished from error"® so I call you to God and His prophet'
(313).

Among those people concerning whom the Quran came down,
especially the rabbis and unbelieving Jews who used to ask him questions
and annoy him in confusing truth with falsehood-as 1 was told on the
authority of 'Abdullah b. 'Abbas and Jabir b. 'Abdullah b. Ri'ab-was Abu
Yasir b. Akhtab who passed by the apostle as he was reciting the opening
words of The Cow:' 'Alif, Lam, Mim, That is the book about which there is
no doubt.' He came to his brother Huyayy who was with some other Jews
and said: 'Do you know that I have heard Muhammad reciting in what has
been sent down to him Alif Lam Mim, &c?' After expressing surprise
Huyayy and these men went to the apostle and told him what had been
reported to them and asked if Gabriel had brought the message from God.
When he said that he had they said: God sent prophets before you but we do
not know of anyone of them being told how long his kingdom would last
and how long his community would last. Huyayy went up to his men and
said to them: 'Alif is [; Lam is 30; and Mim is 40, i.e. 71 years. Are you
going to adopt a religion whose kingdom and community will last for only
71 years?' Then he went to the apostle and said, 'Have you any-thing else,
Muhammad?' 'Yes, Alif Lam Mim Sad.' 'This by God is more weighty and
longer: Alif I ; Lam 30; Mim 40, Sad 90, i.e. 161 years.'

Similar questions were asked and answered in respect of Alif Lam Ra
231 ; Alif Lam Mim Ra 271; then he said, 'Your situation seems obscure to
us, Muhammad, so that we do not know whether you will have a short or
long duration.' Then they left him. Abu Yasir said to his brother Huyayy
and the others, '"How do you know that all these totals should not be added
together to make a grand total of 734 years?' They answered, 'His affair is
obscure to us." They allege that these verses came down in reference to
them: 'The plain verses are the mother of the Book; the rest are obscure."

I heard a scholar above suspicion mentioning that these verses were
sent down about the people of Najra when they came to the apostle to ask
him about Jesus, Son of Mary.

Muhammad b. Abu Umama b. Sahl b.Hunayf told me that he had heard
that they were sent down about a number of Jews, but he did not explain
that to me. God knows best.

According to what I heard from 'lkrima, freedman of Ibn 'Abbas or
from Sa'id b. Jubayr from Ibn 'Abbas, Jews used to hope that the apostle
would be a help to them against Aus and Khazraj before his mission began;
and when God sent him from among the Arabs they disbelieved in him and
contradicted what they had formerly said about him.”> Mu'adh b. Jabal and
Bishr b. al-Bara' b. Ma'rur brother of the B. Salama said to them: ‘O Jews,
fear God and become Muslims, for you used to hope for Muhammad's help
against us when we were polytheists and to tell us that he would be sent and
describe him to us.' Salam b. Mishkam, one of B. al-Nadir, said, 'He has not
brought us anything we recognize and he is not the one we spoke of to you.'
So God sent down about that saying of theirs: 'And when a book comes to
them from God confirming what they have, though beforehand they were
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asking for help against those who disbelieve, when there came to them what
they knew, they disbelieved in it, so God's curse rests on the unbelievers.”

Malik b. al-Sayf* said when the apostle had been sent and they were
reminded of the condition that had been imposed on them and what God
had covenanted with them concerning him, 'No covenant was ever made
with us about Muhammad." So God sent down concerning him: 'Is it not
that whenever they make a covenant a party of them set it aside? Nay most
of them do not believe.'

Abu Saluba al-Fityuni said to the apostle: ‘O Muhammad, you have not
brought us anything we recognize, and God has not sent down to you any
sign that we should follow you.' So God sent down concerning his words,
'We have sent down to thee plain signs and only evildoers disbelieve in
them.'

Rafi' b. Huraymila and Wahb b. Zayd said to the apostle, 'Bring us a
book; bring it down to us from heaven that we may read it; bring out rivers
for us from the earth, then we will follow you and believe in you.' So God
sent down concerning that: 'Or do you wish to question your apostle as
Moses was questioned aforetime; he who exchanges faith for unbelief has
wandered from the straight road' (314).'

Huyayy and Abu Yasir were the most implacable enemies of the Arabs
when God chose to send them an apostle from among themselves and they
used to do all they could to turn men away from Islam. So God sent down
concerning them: 'Many of the scripture folk wish to make you unbelievers
again after you have believed being envious on their own account after the
truth has become plain to them. But forgive and be indulgent until God
shall give you His orders. God can do anything."”

When the Christians of Najran came to the apostle the Jewish rabbis
came also and they disputed one with the other before the apostle. Rafi'
said, "You have no standing: and he denied Jesus and the Gospel; and a
Christian said to the Jews, "You have no standing' and he denied that Moses
was a prophet and denied the Torah. So God sent down concerning them:
'"The Jews say the Christians have no standing; and the Christians say that
Jews have no standing, yet they read the scriptures. They do not know what
they are taking about. God will judge between them on the day of
resurrection concerning their controversy/ i.e. each one reads in his book
the confirmation of what he denies, so that the Jews deny Jesus though they
have the Torah in which God required them by the word of Moses to hold
Jesus true; while in the Gospel is what Jesus brought in confirmation of
Moses and the Torah he brought from God: so each one denies what is in
the hand of the other.

Rafi' said: 'If you are an apostle from God as you say, then ask God to
speak to us so that we may hear His voice.! So God revealed concerning
that: 'And those who do not know say, Why does not God speak to us or a
sign come to us? Those who were before them said the same. Their minds
are just the same. We have made the signs clear to a people who are sure.'

'Abdullah b. Suriya, the one-eyed man, said to the apostle, 'The only
guidance is to be found with us, so follow us, Muhammad, and you will be
rightly guided.' The Christians said the same. So God sent down concerning
them both: 'And they say, Be Jews or Christians then you will be rightly
guided. Say, Nay, the religion of Abraham a hanif who was no polytheist,'
as far as the words 'Those are a people who have passed away; they have
what they earned and you have what you have earned and you will not be
asked about what they used to do.”

And when the qibla was changed from Syria to the Ka'ba-it was
changed in Rajab at the beginning of the seventeenth month after the
apostle's arrival in Medina-Rifa'a b. Qays; Qardam b. 'Amr; Ka'b b. Al-
Ashraf; Rafi' b. Abu Rafi'; al-Hajjaj b. 'Amr, an ally of Ka'b's; al-Rabi b. al-
Rabi' b. Abu'l-Huqayq; and Kinana b. al-Rabi' b. Abu'l-Hugqayq came to the
apostle asking why he had turned his back on the gibla he used to face
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when he alleged that he followed the religion of Abraham. If he would
return to the gibla in Jerusalem they would follow him and declare him to
be true. Their sole intention was to seduce him from his religion, so God
sent down concerning them: 'The foolish people will say: What made them
turn their back on the qibla that they formerly observed? Say, To God
belongs the east and the west. He guides whom He will to the .straight path.
Thus we have made you a central community that you may be witnesses
against men and that the apostle may be a witness against you. And we
appointed the gibla which thou didst formerly observe only that we might
know who will follow the apostle from him who turns upon his heels,' i.e.
to test and find them out. 'Truly it was a hard test except for those whom
God guided,' i.e. a temptation, i.e. those whom Allah estab-lished. 'It was
not Allah’s purpose to make your faith vain,' i.e. your faith in the first qibla,
your believing your prophet, and your following him to the later qibla and
your obeying your prophet therein, i.e. so that he may give you the reward
of both of them. 'God is kind and compassionate to men.'

Then God said, 'We sometimes see thee turning thy face towards
heaven and We will make thee turn towards a qibla which will please thee;

so turn thy face towards the sacred mosque and wherever you are turn your

faces towards it' (315). "Those who have received the scripture know that it 382

is the truth from their Lord, and God is not unmindful of what they do. If
thou didst bring to those who have the scripture every sign they would not
follow thy qibla and thou wouldst not follow their gibla nor would some of
them follow the qibla of others. If thou shouldst follow their desires after
the knowledge which has come to thee then thou wouldst be an evildoer,' as
far as the words 'It is the truth from thy Lord so be not of the doubters."

Mu'adh b. Jabal and Sa'd b. Mu'adh brother of B. 'Abdu'l-Ashhai, and
Kharija b. Zayd brother of B. al-Harith b. al-Khazraj, asked some of the
Jewish rabbis about something in the Torah and they concealed it from
them and refused to tell them anything about it. So God sent down about
them: '"Those who conceal the proofs and guidance We have sent down after
We have made it plain to men in the book, God will curse them and those
who curse will curse them.'

The apostle summoned the Jewish scripture folk to Islam and made it
attractive to them and warned them of God's punishment and vengeance.
Rafi' b. Kharija and Malik b. 'Auf said to him that they would follow the
religion of their fathers, for they were more learned and better men than
they. So God sent down concerning their words: 'And when it is said to
them, Follow what God has sent down, they say: Nay, but we will follow 383
what we found our fathers doing. What! even if their fathers understood
nothing and were not rightly guided?'

When God smote Quraysh at Badr, the apostle assembled the Jews in
the market of the B. Qaynuqa' when he came to Medina and called on them
to accept Islam before God- should treat them as he had treated Quraysh.
They answered, Don't deceive yourself, Muhammad. You have killed a
number of inexperienced Quraysh who did not know how to fight. But if
you fight us you will learn that we are men and that you have met your
equal.' So God sent down concerning their words: 'Say to those who
disbelieve, You will be defeated and gathered into hell, a wretched
resting-place. You had a sign in the two parties which met: one party fought
in the way of God and the other was unbelieving seeing twice their number
with their very eyes. God will strengthen with His help whom He will. In
that there is a warning for the observant.'l

The apostle entered a Jewish school where there was a number of Jews
and called them to God. AL-Nu'man b. 'Amr and al-Harith b. Zayd said to
him:

'"What is your religion, Muhammad? 'The religion of Abraham.'

'But Abraham was a Jew.'

"Then let the Torah judge between us.'
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They refused, and so God sent down concerning them: 'Hast thou not
seen how those who have received a portion of scripture when invited to
God's book that it may judge between them, a party of them turn their backs
in opposition. That is because they say, The fire will not touch us except for
a limited time. What they were inventing has deceived them in their
religion.'

The Jewish rabbis and the Christians of Najran, when they were
together before the apostle, broke into disputing. The rabbis said that
Abraham was nothing but a Jew. The Christians said he was nothing but a
Christian ; so God revealed concerning them; ‘O Scripture folk, Why do
you argue about Abraham when the Torah and the Gospel were not sent
down until after his time? Can it be that you do not understand? Behold,
you are they who argue of what you know something, but why do you
argue about what you know nothing? God knows but you do not know.
Abraham was neither a Jew nor a Christian but he was a Muslim hanif and
he was not a polytheist. Those who are the nearest' to Abraham are those
who follow him and this prophet and those who believe, God being the
friend of

believers."”

'Abdullah b. Sayf and 'Adiy b: Zayd and al-Harith b. 'Auf agreed among
themselves that they should affect to believe in what had been sent down to
Muhammad and his companions :it one time and deny it at another so as to
confuse them, with the object of getting them to follow their example and
give up his religion. So God sent down concerning them: ‘O Scripture folk,
why confuse ye the .true with the false and conceal the truth which you
know? Some of the Scripture folk said, Believe in that which has been sent
down to those that believe at the beginning of the day and deny it at the end
of the day; perhaps they will go back (on it). Believe .only in one who
follows your religion. Say, The guidance is God's guidance that anyone
should be given the like of what you have been given or that they may
argue with you before their Lord. Say: the bounty is in the hand of God. He
giveth it to whom he pleases and God is all-embracing and all-knowing,"

Abu Rafi' al-Qurazi said when the rabbis and the Christians from
Najran had assembled before the apostle and he invited them to Islam, 'Do
you want us, Muhammad, to worship you as the Christians worship Jesus,
Son of Mary?' One of the Christians called al-Ribbis (or al-Ris or al-Ra'is)
said, 'Is that what you want of us and invite us to, Muhammad?' or words to
that effect. The apostle replied, 'God forbid that I should worship anyone
but God or order that any but He should be worshipped. God did not send
me and order me to do that' or words to that effect. So God sent down
concerning their words: 'No mortal to whom God has sent a book and
authority- and prophecy could say to men, Worship me instead of God; but
Be learned in that you teach the book and in that you study it' as far as the
words 'after ye had become Muslims' (316).”

'And he did not command you to take the angels and prophets as lords.
Would He command you to disbelieve after you had become Muslims ?'

Then he mentions how God had imposed on them and on their prophets
the obligation to bear witness to his truth when he came to them and their
taking that upon themselves and he says: "When God made His covenant
with the prophets (He said) Behold that which I have given you — a book
and wisdom. Then when an apostle shall come to you confirming what you
have, you shall believe in him and help him. He said, Do you agree and
take upon yourselves my burden? They answered, We agree. He said, Then
bear witness, I being with you as a witness' to the end of the passage.

Shas b. Qays, who was an old man hardened in unbelief and most bitter
against the Muslims and exceeding envious of them, passed by a number of
the apostle’s companions from Aus and Khazraj in a meeting . while they
were talking together. When he saw their amity and unity and their happy
relations in Islam after their enmity in pagan times he was filled with rage
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and said: 'The- chiefs of B. Qayla in this country having united there will be
no firm place for us with them.' So he gave orders to a Jewish youth who
was with them to go to them and sit with them and mention the battle of
Bu'ath and the preceding events, and recite to them some of the poetry
composed by each side.

Now at the battle of Bu’ath Aus and, Khazraj fought and the victory
went to Aus who were commanded at the time by Hudayr b. Simak Al-
Ashhali the father of Usayd b. Hudayr, Khazraj being led by 'Amr b.
al-Nu'man al-Bayadi, and both were killed (317).

The youth did so. Thereupon the people began to talk and to quarrel and
to boast until two men of the two clans leapt up, Aus b. Qayzi of B. Haritha
b. Harith of Aus and Jabbar b. Sakhr of B. Salama of Khazraj. They began
to hold forth against each other until one of them said, 'If you wish we will
do the same again.' Thereupon both sides became enraged and said, 'We
will. Your meeting-place is outside-that being the volcanic tract-To arms!
To arms!" So out they went and when the news reached the apostle he went
out with such of the emigrants as were with him and said to them: ‘O
Muslims, remember God. Remember God. Will you act as pagans while I
am with you after God has guided you to Islam and honoured you thereby
and made a clean break with paganism; delivered you thereby from
unbelief; made you friends thereby?' Then the people realized that the
dissension was due to Satan and the guile of their enemy. They wept and
the men of Aus and Khazraj embraced one another. Then they went off
with the apostle, attentive and obedient, God having quenched the guile of
the enemy of God Shas b. Qays. So God sent down concerning him, and
what he did: 'Say: O Scripture folk, why do you deny God's signs while
God is witness of what you do? Say, O Scripture folk, why do you keep
those who believe from God's way wishing to make it crooked when you
are witnesses and God is not unmindful of what you are doing ?"

God sent down concerning Aus and Jabbar and the people who were
with them when Shas brought back for a moment the atmosphere of pagan
days, ‘O you who believe, if you obey some of those to whom a book has
been given they will make you unbelievers again after your faith. How can
you disbelieve when God's verses are read to you and His apostle is with
you? He who holds fast to God is guided to a straight path. O ye who
believe, fear God as He ought to be feared and die not except as Muslims'
as far as the words 'Those shall have a painful punishment'.

When Abdullah b. Salam, Tha'laba b. Sa'ya, and Usayd b. Sa'ya, and
Asad b. 'Ubayd and other Jews became Muslims and believed and were
earnest and firm in Islam, the rabbis who disbelieved said that it was only
the bad Jews who believed in Muhammad and followed him. Had they been
good men they would not have forsaken the religion of their fathers and
adopted another. So God sent down concerning what they had said: 'They
are not (all) alike: of the scripture folk there is an upright community who
read God's verses in the night season prostrating themselves (318).2 They
believe in God and the last day and enjoin good conduct and forbid evil and
vie with one another in good works. Those are the righteous.'

Some Muslims remained friends with the Jews because of the tie of
mutual protection and alliance which had subsisted between them, so God
sent down concerning them and forbidding them to take them as intimate
friends: ‘O you who believe, do not choose those outside your community
as intimate friends. They will spare no pains to corrupt you longing for your
ruin. From their mouths hatred has already shown itself and what their
breasts conceal is greater. We have made the signs plain to you if you will
understand. Behold you love them but they love not you and you believe in
the book — all of it,'l i.e. you believe in their book and in the books that
were before that while they deny your book, so that you have more right to
hate them than they to hate you. 'And when they meet you they say, We
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believe and when they go apart they bite their fingers against you in rage.
Say, Die in your rage', &c.

Abu Bakr went into a Jewish school and found. a good many men
gathered round a certain Finhas, one of their learned rabbis, and another
rabbi called Ashya'. Abu Bakr called on the former to fear God and become
a Muslim because he knew that Muhammad was the apostle of God who
had brought the truth from Him and that they would find it written in the
Torah and the Gospel. Finhas replied: 'We are not poor compared to Allah
but He is poor compared to us. We do not humble ourselves to Him as He
humbles Himself to us; we are independent of Him while He needs us.
Were He independent of us He would not ask us to lend Him our money as
your master pretends, prohibiting you to take interest and allowing us to.
Had He been independent of us He would not have given us interest.”

Abu Bakr was enraged and hit Finhas hard in the face, saying, "Were it
not for the treaty between us I would cut off your head, you enemy of
Allah!" Finhas immediately went to the apostle and said, 'Look,
Muhammad, at what your companion has done.'" The apostle asked Abu
Bakr what had impelled him to do such a thing and he answered: 'The
enemy of Allah spoke blasphemy. He alleged that Allah was poor and that
they were rich and I was so angry that I hit his face.' Finhas contradicted
this and denied that he had said it, so Allah sent down refuting him and
confirming what Abu Bakr had said: 'Allah has heard the speech of those
who say: "Allah is poor and we are rich." We shall write what they say and
their killing the prophets wrongfully and we shall say, Taste the punishment
of burning."”

And there came down concerning Abu Bakr and the anger that he felt:
'And you will certainly hear from those who received the book before you
and from the polytheists much wrong but if you persevere and fear God that
is of the steadfastness of things.'

Then He said concerning what Finhas and the other rabbis with him
said: 'And when God laid a charge upon those who had received the book:

You are to make it clear to men and not to conceal it, they cast it behind
their backs and sold it for a small price. Wretched is the exchange! Think
not that those who rejoice in what they have done and want to be praised
for what they have not done-think not that they will escape the punishment:
theirs will be a painful punishment."" He means Finhas_ and Ashya' and the
rabbis like them who rejoice in what they enjoy of worldly things by
making error attractive to men and wish to be praised for what they have
not done so that men will say they are learned when they are nothing of the
kind, not bringing them to truth and guidance and wanting men to say that
they have so done.

Kardam, Usama, Nafi', Bahri, Huyayy, and Rifa'a® used to go to some
of the helpers advising them not to contribute to the public expenses, 'for
we fear that you will come to poverty. Don't be in a hurry to contribute, for
you do not know the outcome.' So God sent down concerning them: '"Who
are avaricious and enjoin avarice on others concealing the bounty they have
received from God', i.e. the Torah which confirms what Muhammad
brought.” '"We have prepared for the unbelievers a shameful punishment,
and those who spend their money to be seen of men and believe not in God
and the last day' as far as the words 'God knows about them'.

Rifa'a was a notable Jew. When he spoke to the apostle he twisted his
tongue and said: 'Give us your attention, Muhammad, so that we can make
you understand/ Then he attacked Islam and reviled it. So God sent down
concerning him: 'Hast thou considered those to whom a part of the book has
been given how they buy error and wish that you should err as to the way.
But God knows best about your enemies. God is sufficient as a friend and
helper. Some of the Jews change words from their contexts and say : We
hear and disobey; hear thou as one that heareth not and listen to us, twisting
their tongues and attacking religion. Had they said, We hear and we obey;
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hear thou and look at us, it would have been better for them and more
upright. But God has cursed them for their unbelief and only a few will
believe."

The apostle spoke to two of the chiefs of the Jewish rabbis 'Abdullah b.
Suriya al-A’ war and Ka'b b. Asad calling on them to accept Islam, for they
knew that he had brought them the truth; but they denied that they knew it
and were obstinate in their unbelief. So God sent down concerning them: '0
you to whom the book was sent, Believe in what We have sent down in
confirmation of what you have before We efface (your) features and turn
them back to front or curse you as We cursed the sabbath-breakers when
God's command was carried out' ' (319).

And those who formed parties of Quraysh and Ghatafan and B. Qurayza
were Huyayy and Sallam and Abii Rafi' and al-Rabi' and Abii 'Ammar and
Wahwah b. 'Amir, and Haudha b.Qays, the latter three being of B. Wa'il
while the rest were of B. al-Nadir. When they came to Quraysh they told
them that these were Jewish rabbis, the folk who possessed the first (sacred)
book, and they could ask them whether their religion or that of Muhammad
was the better. When they did ask them they answered: 'Your religion is
better than his and you are on a better path than he and those who follow
him." So God sent down concerning them: 'Hast thou considered those to
whom a part of the book has been sent how they believe in al-Jibt and al-
Taghut? (320). And they say of those who disbelieve: These are better
guided to the right path than those who believe' as far as the words 'or are
they envious of men because God has given them of His bounty. We gave
the family of Abraham the book and wisdom and We gave them a great
kingdom.'

Sukayn and 'Adiy b. Zayd said: 'O Muhammad, we do not know of
God's having sent down to mortals anything after Moses." So God sent
down concerning their words: 'We have revealed unto thee as we revealed
unto Noah and the prophets after him, and we revealed unto Abraham and
Ishmael and Isaac and Jacob and the tribes and Jesus and Job and Jonah and
Aaron and Solomon and we brought to David the Psalms; and apostles We
have told thee of Before and apostles We have not told thee of; and God
spoke directly to Moses; apostles bringing good hews and warning that men
might have no argument against God after the apostles (had come). God is
Mighty, Wise."”

A number of them came in to the apostle and he said to them, 'Surely
you know that [ am an apostle from God to you.' They replied that they did
not know it and would not bear witness to him. So God sent down
concerning their words: 'But God testifies concerning what He has sent
down to thee. With His knowledge did He send it down and the angels bear
witness. And God is sufficient as a witness.'

The apostle went out to the B. al-Nadir to ask their help in the matter of
the blood-money of the two '.Amirites whom 'Amr b. Umayya al-:Damri
had slain. And when they were alone together they said, "You will not find
Muhammad nearer than he is now; so what man will get on top of the house
and throw a stone on him so that we may be rid of him?' 'Amr b. Jihash b.
Ka'b volunteered to do so. The apostle got to know of their scheme and he
left them and God sent down concerning him and his people's intention: '0
you who believe, remember God's favor to you when a people purposed to
stretch out their hands against you and He withheld their hands from you.
Fear God and on God let the believers rely.”

Nu'man b. Ada and Bahri b. 'Amr and Sha's b. 'Adiy came to the apostle
and he invited them to come to God and warned them of His vengeance.
They replied: "You cannot frighten us, Muhammad. We are the sons and the
beloved of God' as the Christians say. So God sent down concerning them:
'And the Jews and the Christians say, We are the sons and the beloved of
God. Say, Then why does He punish you for your sins? Nay you are but
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mortals of those He has created. He pardons whom He will and He
punishes whom He will and to God belongs the kingdom of the heavens
and the earth and what lies between them and to Him is the j ourneying.'l

The apostle invited the Jews to Islam and made it attractive to them and
warned them of God's jealousy and His retribution; but they repulsed him
and denied what he brought them. Mu'adh b. Jabal and Sa'd b. 'Ubada and
'Ugba b. Wahb said to them: 'Fear God, for you know right well that he is
the apostle of God and you used to speak of him to us before his mission
and describe him to us.' Rafi' b. Huraymila and Wahb b. Yahudha said, 'We
never said that to you, and God has sent down no book since Moses nor
sent an evangelist or warner after him." So God sent down concerning their
words: '0 scripture folk, our apostle has come to you to make things plain to
you after a cessation of apostles lest you should say: No evangelist "and no
warner has come to us when an evangelist and warner has come to you
(now). God is able to do all things.'

Then he recounted to them the story of Moses and their opposition to
him, and how they disobeyed God's commands through him so that they
wandered in the wilderness forty years as a punishment.

Ibn Shihab al-Zuhri told me that he heard a learned man of Muzayna
telling Sa'id b. al-Musayyab that Abu Hurayra had told them that Jewish
rabbis had gathered in their school when the apostle came to Medina. A
married man had committed adultery with a married woman and they said:
'Send them to Muhammad and ask him what the law about them is and
leave the penalty to him. If he prescribes tajbih (which is scourging with a
rope of palm fiber smeared with pitch, the blackening of their faces,
mounting on two donkeys with their faces to the animal's tail) then follow
him, for he is a king and believe in him. If he prescribes stoning for them,
he is a prophet so beware lest he deprive you of what you hold." They
brought the pair to Muhammad and explained the position. The prophet
walked to mee]J the rabbis in the school house and called on them to bring
out their learned men and they produced 'Abdullah b. Suriya.

One of the B. Qurayza told me that Abu Yasir and Wahb b. Yahudha
were with them and the apostle questioned them so that he got to the
bottom of their affair until they said (pointing) to 'Abdullah b. Suriya, 'This
is the most learned man living in the Torah' (321).

He was one of the youngest of them and when the apostle was alone

with him he put him on his oath as to whether the Torah did not
prescribe stoning for adulterers. 'Yes,' he said, 'they know right well, Abu'l-
Qasim, that you are a prophet sent (by God) but they envy you.' The apostle
went out to them and commanded that the two should be stoned and they
were stoned at the door of his mosque among B. Ghanm b. Malik b. al-
Najjar. Afterwards Ibn Suriya disbelieved and denied that the apostle was a
prophet. So God sent down concerning them: 'O apostle, let not those who
vie with one another in unbelief sadden thee, those who say with their
mouths, We believe, but their hearts do not believe, those Jews who listen
to lies, listening for other people who do not come to thee,' i.e. those who
sent others and stayed behind themselves and gave them orders to change
the judgment from its context. Then He said: 'They change words from
their places, saying, If this be given to you receive it, and if it is not given
to you, i.e. the stoning, beware of it', &c.

Muhammad b. Tall)a b. Yazid b. Rukana from Isma'il b. Ibrahim from
Ibn 'Abbas told me that the apostle ordered them to be stoned, and they
were stoned at the door of his mosque. And when the Jew felt the first stone
he crouched over the woman to protect her from 'the stones until both of
them were killed. This is what God did for the apostle in exacting the
penalty for adultery from the pair.

Salih b. Kaisan from Nafi', freedman of 'Abdullah b. 'Umar from
'Abdullah b. 'Umar, told me: When the apostle gave judgment about them
he asked for a Torah. A rabbi sat there reading it having put his hand over
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the verse of stoning. 'Abdullah b. Salam struck the rabbi's hand, saying,
'This, 0 prophet of God, is the verse of stoning which he refuses to read to
you.' The apostle said, "Woe to you Jews! What has induced you to abandon
the judgment of God which you hold in your hands?' They answered: 'The
sentence used to be carried out until a man of royal birth and noble origin
committed .adultery and the king refused to allow him to be stoned. Later
another man committed adultery and the king wanted him to be stoned but
they said No, not until you stone so-and-so. And when they said that to him
they agreed to arrange the matter by tajbih and they did away with all
mention of stoning.' The apostle said: T am the first to revive the order of
God and His book and to practice it.' They were duly stoned and 'Abdullah
b. 'Umar said, 'l was among those that stoned them.'

Da'ud b. al-Husayn from 'Tkrima from Ibn 'Abbas said that the verses of
The Table in which God said: 'Then judge between them or withdraw from
them and if you withdraw from them they will do thee no harm. And if thou
judgest, judge with fairness, for God loveth those who deal fairly' were sent
down concerning the blood-money between B. al-Nadir and B. Qurana.
Those slain from B. al-Nadir were leaders and they wanted the whole
bloodwit while B. Qurayza wanted half of it. They referred the matter for
arbitration to the apostle, and God sent down that passage concerning them.
The apostle ordered that the matter should be settled justly and awarded the
bloodwit in equal shares. But God knows which account is correct.

Ka'b b. Asad and Ibn Saluba and his son 'Abdullah and Sha's said one to
another, 'Let us go to Muhammad to see if we can seduce him from his
religion, for he is only a mortal;’ so they went to him and said : "You know,
Muhammad, that we are the rabbis, nobles, and leaders of the Jews; and if
we follow you the rest of the Jews will follow you and not oppose us. Now
we have a quarrel outstanding with some of our people and if we believe in
you and say that you are truthful will you, if we appoint you arbitrator
between us, give judgment in our favor?' The apostle refused to do so and
God sent down concerning them: 'And judge between them by what God
has sent down and follow not their vain desire_; and beware of them lest
they seduce thee from some of what God has sent down to thee. And if they
turn their backs then know that God wishes to smite them for some of their
sins. Many men are evil-doers. Is it that they are seeking the judgment of
paganism? Who is better than God in judgment for a people who are
certain?"!

Abu Yasir and Nafi' b. Abu Nafi' and 'Azir and Khalid and Zayd and
Izar and Ashya' came to the apostle and asked him about the apostles he
believed in. So the apostle said : "We believe in God and what he has sent
down to us and what was sent down to Abraham and Ishmael and Isaac and
Jacob and the tribes and what was given to Moses and Jesus and what was
given to the prophets from their Lord; we make no difference between
anyone of them. And we are submissive unto Him."”

When he mentioned Jesus, Son of Mary, they denied that he was a
prophet, saying, 'We do not believe in Jesus, Son of Mary, or in anyone
who believes in him." So God sent down concerning them: 'O Scripture
folk, do you blame us for anything but our belief in God and what He has
sent down to us and what was sent down aforetime and because most of
you are evil-doers?' 3

Rafi' b. Haritha and Sallam b. Mishkam and Malik b. al-Sayf and Rafi'
b. Huraymila came to him and said: 'Do you not allege that you follow the
religion of Abraham and believe in the Torah which we have and testify
that it is the truth from God?' He replied, 'Certainly, but you have sinned
and broken the covenant contained therein and concealed what you were
ordered to make plain to men, and I dissociate myself from your sin.' They
said, "We hold by what we have. We live according to the guidance and the
truth and we do not believe in you and we will not follow you.' So God sent
down concerning them: 'Say, O Scripture folk, you have no standing until
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you observe the Torah and the Gospel and what has been sent down to you
from your Lord. What has been sent down to thee from thy Lord will
assuredly increase many of them in error and unbelief. But be not sad
because of the unbelieving people.”

Al-Nahham and Qardam and Bahri came and said to him: 'Do you not
know that there is another god with God?' The apostle answered: 'God,
there is no God but He. With that (message) I was sent and that I preach.’
God sent down concerning their words: 'Say, What is the greatest
testi-mony? Say God is witness between me and you, and this Quran has
been revealed tome that I might warn you by it and whomsoever it reaches.
Do you actually testify that with God there are other gods? Say, I do not
testify to that. Say He is only One God, and I dissociate myself from what
you associate (with Him). Those to whom We sent the book know it as they
know their own sons. Those who destroy themselves will not believe.' !

Rifa'a and Suwayd had hypocritically affected to embrace Islam and
some of the Muslims were friendly with them. So God sent down
con-cerning these two men: 'O Believers, choose not as friends those who
have chosen your religion to make a jest and game of it from among those
who received the scripture before you, nor the unbelievers, and fear God if
you are believers', as far as the words 'And when they come to you they
say, We believe, but they came in unbelief and they went out with it and
God knows best about what they are concealing.‘2

Jabal and Shamwil came to the apostle and said: 'Tell us when the hour
will be if you are a prophet as you say." So God sent down concerning
them: 'They will ask you about the hour when it will come to pass. Say,
only my Lord knows of it. None but He will reveal it at its proper time. It is
heavy in the heavens and the earth. Suddenly will it come upon you. They
will ask you as though you knew about it. Say Only God knows about it,
but most men do not know" (322).

Sallam and Nu'man b. Aufa and Mahmud b. Dihya and Sha's and Malik
came and said to him: '"How can we follow you when you have abandoned
our Qibla and you do not allege that 'Uzayr is the son of God?' So God sent
down concerning these words: 'The Jews say that 'Uzayr is the son of God
and the Christians say the Messiah is the son of God. That is what they say
with their mouths copying the speech of those who disbelieved aforetime.
God fight them! How perverse they are' to the end of the passage® (323).

Mahmud b. Sayhan and Nu'man b. Ada' and Bahri and 'Uzayr and
Sallam came to him and said: 'Is it true, Muhammad, that what you have
brought is the truth from God? For our part we cannot see that it is arranged
as the Torah is." He answered, 'You know quite well that it is from God;
you will find it written in the Torah which you have. If men and jinn came
together to produce its like they could not.' Finhas and 'Abdullah b. Suriya
and Ibn Saluba and Kinana b. al Rabi' and Ashya' and Ka'b b. al-Asad and
Shamwil and Jabal were there and they said: 'Did neither men nor jinn tell
you this, Muhammad?' He said : 'You know well that it is from God and
that I am the apostle of God. You will find it written in the Torah you have.'
They said: '"When God sends an apostle He does for him what he wishes, so
bring down a book to us from heaven that we may read it and know what it
is, otherwise we will produce one like the one you bring.' So God sent
down concerning their words: 'Say, Though men and jinn should meet to
produce the like of this Quran they would not produce its like though one
helped the other''(324).

Huyayy, Ka'b, Abu Rafi', Ashya', and Shamwil said to 'Abdullah b.
Salam when he became a Muslim, 'There is no prophecy among the Arabs,
but your master is a king.' Then they went to the apostle and asked him
about Dhu'l-Qarnayn and he told them what God had sent him about him
from what he had already narrated to Quraysh. They were of those who
ordered Quraysh to ask the apostle about him when they sent al-Nadr and
'Ugba to them.”
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I was told that Sa'id b. Jubayr said: A number of Jews came to the
apostle and said: 'Now, Muhammad, Allah created creation, but who
created Allah?' The apostle was so angry that his color changed and he
rushed at them being indignant for his Lord. Gabriel came and quietened
him saying, 'Calm yourself, O Muhammad.' And an answer to what they
asked came to him from God: 'Say, He God is One. God the Eternal. He
begetteth not neither is He begotten and there is none equal to Him.” When
he recited that to them they said, 'Describe His shape to us, Muhammad; his
forearm and his upper arm, what are they like?' The apostle was more angry
than before and rushed at them. Gabriel came to him and spoke as before.
And an answer to what they asked came to him from God: 'They think not
of God as He ought to be thought of; the whole earth will be in His grasp at
the day of resurrection and the heavens folded up in His right hand.
Glorified and Exalted is He above what they associate with Him."

'Utba b. Muslim, freedman of the B. Taym from Abu Salama b. 'Abdu'l-
Rahman from Abu Hurayra, told me: I heard the apostle say, "Men question
their prophets to such an extent that one would almost say, Now God
created creation, but who created God? And if they say that, say ye: He
God is One,' &c. Then let a man spit three times to the left and say 'l take
refuge in God from Satan the damned' (325).

A DEPUTATION FROM THE CHRISTIANS OF NAJRAN

A deputation from the Christians of Najran came to the apostle. There
were sixty riders, fourteen of them from their nobles of whom three were in
control of affairs, namely (a) the 'Aqgib the leader of the people, a man of
affairs, and their chief .adviser whose opinion governed their policy,

'Abdu'l-Masih. by name; (b) the Sayyid, their administrator who saw to
transport and general arrangements, whose name was al-Ayham; and (c)
their Bishop, scholar, and religious leader who controlled their schools,
Abu Haritha b. 'Algama, one of B. Bakr b. Wa'il.

Abu Haritha occupied a position of honor among them, and was a great
student, so that he had an excellent knowledge of their religion, and the
Christian kings of Byzantium had honoured him and paid him a subsidy
and gave him servants, built churches for him and lavished honors on him,
because of his knowledge and zeal for their religion.

When they set out' from Najran to see the apostle Abu Haritha was
riding on a mule of his with a brother at his side whose name was Kuz b.
'Algama (326). Abu Haritha's mule stumbled and Kuz said, 'May So-and-so
stumble,' [i.e. Curse him!], meaning the apostle. Abu Haritha said, 'Nay but
may you stumble;' 'But why, brother?' he asked. 'Because by God he is the
prophet we have been waiting for.! Kuz said, 'Then if you know that, what
stops you from accepting him?' He replied, 'The way these people have
treated us. They have given us titles, paid us subsidies, and honoured us.
But they are absolutely opposed to him, and if I were to accept him they
would take from us all that you see." Kuz pondered over the matter until
later he adopted Islam, and used t6 tell this story, so I have heard (327).

Muhammad b. Ja'far b. al-Zubayr told me that when they came to
Medina they came into the apostle's mosque as he prayed the afternoon
prayer clad in Yamani garments, cloaks, and mantles, with the elegance of
men of B. al-Harith b. Ka'b. The prophet's companions who saw them that
day said that they never saw their like in any deputation that came
afterwards. The time of their prayers having come they stood and prayed in
the apostle's mosque, and he said that they were to be left to do so. They
prayed towards the east.

The names of the fourteen principal men among the sixty riders were:
'Abdu'l-Masih the '.Aqib, al-Ayham the Sayyid; Abu Haritha b. 'Algama
brother of B. Bakr b. Wa'il; Aus; al-Harith; Zayd; Qays; Yazid; Nubayh;
Khuwaylid; 'Amr; Khalid; 'Abdullah; Johannes; of these the first three
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named above spoke to the apostle. They were Christians according to the
Byzantine rite, though they differed among themselves in some points,
saying He is God; and He is the son of God; and He is the third person of
the Trinity, which is the doctrine of Christianity. They argue that he is God
because he used to raise the dead, and heal the sick, and declare. the
unseen; and make clay birds and then breathe into them so that they flew
away;” and all this was by the command of God Almighty, We will make
him a sign to men.' 3 They argue that he is the son of God in that they say
he had no known father; and he spoke in the cradle and this is something
that no child of Adam has ever done. They argue that he is third of three in
that God says: We have done, We have commanded, We have created and
We have decreed, and they say, If He were one he would have said I have
done, I have created, and soon, but He is He and Jesus and Mary.
Concerning all these assertions the Quran came down.

When the two divines spoke to him the apostle- said to them, 'Submit
yourselves.”" They said, 'We have submitted.” He said: 'You have not
submitted, so submit.' They said, 'Nay, but we submitted before you.' He
said, "You lie. Your assertion that God has a son, your worship of the cross,
and your eating pork hold you back from submission.' They said, 'But who
is his father, Muhammad?' The apostle was silent and did not answer them.
So God sent down concerning their words and their incoherence the
beginning of the sura of the Family of 'Imran up to more than eighty verses,
and He said: 'Alif Lam Mim. God there is no God but He the Living the
Ever-existent.” Thus the sura begins with the statement that He transcends
what they say, and His oneness in creation and authority, without associate
therein, in refutation of the infidelity they have invented, and their making
rivals to Him; and using their own arguments against them in reference to
their master to show them their error thereby. 'God there is no God but He,'
no associate is with Him in His authority. 'The Living the Ever-existent,' the
living Who cannot die, whereas Jesus died and was crucified according to
their doctrine; 'The Ever-existent' one who remains unceasingly in the place
of His sovereignty in His creation, whereas Jesus, according to their
doctrine, removed from the place where he was and went from it elsewhere.
'He has brought down to thee the book in truth,' i.e. with the truth about
which they differ. 'And He sent down the Torah and the Gospel,' the Torah
to Moses and the Gospel to Jesus, as He sent down books to those who
were before him. 'And He sent down the Criterion,' i.e. the distinction
between truth and falsehood about which the sects differ in regard to the
nature’ of Jesus and other matters. 'Those who disbelieve in God's signs
will have a severe punishment. God is Mighty, Vengeful,' i.e. God will take
vengeance on all who deny His signs, after knowing about them and about
what comes from Him in them. 'Nothing in heaven or earth is hidden from
God,' i.e. He knows what they intend and scheme and what comparison
they seek to establish in their doctrine of Jesus when they make him God
and Lord, when they possess the knowledge that he is nothing of the kind,
thus behaving with insolence and infidelity. He it is who forms you in the
womb as He pleases,' i.e. Jesus was one who was formed in the womb —
they do not attempt to deny that — like every other child of Adam, so how
can he be God when he had occupied such a place? Then He says, to lift
His transcendence and His essential Unity above what they put with Him,
'There is no God but He the Mighty the Wise.' The Mighty in His victory
over those who deny Him when He wills, and the Wise in His argument and
His case against His creatures. He it is who has sent down to thee the book
which has plain verses: they are the core' of the book', in them is the divine
argument, the protection of (His) creatures, and the thrusting aside of
controversy and falsehood. These are not subject to modification or
alteration” in the meaning which has been given. 'And others are obscure',
they are subject to modification and interpretation. By them God tests His
creatures as He tests them with things permitted and forbidden that they
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should not be changed into what is false and altered by declining from the
truth. 'But as to those in whose hearts is a deviation,' i.e. turning away from
true guidance, 'they follow what is ambiguous,' i.e. what can be otherwise
interpreted to substantiate thereby what they have invented and introduced
anew that they may have an argument and a plausible reason for their
doctrine, 'desiring fitna,’ i.e. confusion, and 'desiring an arbitrary
interpreta-tion,' e.g. the error they adopted in explaining 'We created' and
'We decreed'. 'And none knows its interpretation,' i.e. what they mean by it,
'except God; and those grounded in knowledge. They say, We believe in it.
Everything comes from our Lord." So how can there be any controversy
when it is one speech from one Lord? Then they carry over the
interpretation of the obscure to the plain which can have only one meaning
and thus the book becomes consistent, one part confirming another, the
argument effective and the case clear; falsehood is excluded and unbelief is
overcome. 'None but the intelligent take heed' in this way. 'O Lord, Suffer
not our hearts to go astray after Thou hast guided us,' i.e. Do not let our
hearts swerve, though we swerve aside through our sins. 'Grant us mercy
from Thy presence. Thou art the Generous Giver.' Then He says, 'God
witnesses that there is no God but He, and the angels and the men of
knowledge too' contrary to what they say 'subsisting ever in justice,' i.e. in
equity. 'There is no God but He the Mighty the Wise. The religion with God
is Islam,' i.e. the religion you practice, 0 Muhammad, acknow-ledging the
oneness of God and confirming the apostles. 'Those to whom the book was
brought differed only after knowledge had come to them,' i.e. that which
came to thee, namely that God is One without associate, 'through
transgression among themselves. And whosoever disbelieves in God's
revelations-God is swift to take into account. And if they argue with thee,’
i.e. with the false doctrine they produce about 'We created, "'We did', and
'We commanded', it is only a specious argument devoid of truth. 'Say, I
have surrendered my purpose1 to God,' i.e. to Him alone, 'as have those
who follow me. And say to those who received the book and to the gentile
(converts) who have no book, 'Have you surrendered? For if they have
surrendered they will be rightly guided and if they turn their backs it is only
incumbent on thee to deliver the message. And God sees (His) servants.'
Then He combined the Jews and Christians and reminded them of what
they had newly invented and said: 'Those who disbelieve in God's
revelations and kill the prophets wrongfully and kill men who enjoin
justice' as far as the words, 'Say, O God possessor of sovereignty,' i.e. Lord
of mankind and the King who alone decrees among them. 'Thou givest
sovereignty to whom Thou wilt and takest it away from whom Thou wilt.
Thou exaltest and abasest whom Thou wilt; in Thy hand is good,' i.e. there
is no God but Thee. 'Thou canst do all things,' i.e. none but Thou can do
this in thy majesty and power. 'Thou causest the night to pass into day and
the day into night and bringest forth the living from the dead and the dead
from the living' by that power. 'And Thou nurturest whom Thou wilt
without stint.' None has power to do that but Thou; i.e. though I gave Jesus
power over those matters in virtue of which they say that he is God such as
raising the dead, healing the sick, creating birds of clay, and declaring the
unseen, I made him thereby a sign to men and a confirmation of his
prophethood wherewith I sent him to his people. But some of My majesty
and power I withheld from him such as appointing kings by a prophetic
command and placing them where I wished, and making the night to pass
into day and the day into night and bringing forth the living from the dead
and the dead from the living and nurturing whom I will without stint, both
the good and the evil man. All that I withheld from Jesus and gave him no
power over it. Have they not an example and a clear proof that if he were a
God all that would be within his power, while they know that he fled from
kings and because of them he moved about the country from town to town.
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Then he admonished and warned the believers and said: 'Say, If you
love God,' i.e. if what you say is true in love to God and in glorifying Him
'and follow me, God will love you and forgive you your sins,' i.e. your past
unbelief. 'And God is Forgiving Merciful. Say, Obey God and His apostle,’
for you know him and find him (mentioned) in your book. 'But if you turn
back,' i.e. to your unbelief, 'God loveth not the unbelievers.'

Then He explained to them how what God intended to do with Jesus
originated and said: 'God chose Adam and Noah and the family of Abraham
and the family of 'Imran above the worlds. They were descendants one of
another and God is a Hearer, a Knower.' Then he mentioned the affair of
'Imran's wife and how she said: 'My Lord, I vow to Thee what is in my
womb as a consecrated offering,' i.e. I have vowed him and made him
entirely devoted to God's service subservient to no worldly interest 'Accept
(him) from me. Thou art the Seer the Knower. And when she was delivered
of him she said: O my Lord, I have given birth to a female — and God knew

best of what she was delivered — and the male is not as the female,' i.e. the
two were not the same when I vowed her to thee as a consecrated offering.
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'T have called her Mary and I put her in Thy keeping and her offspring from
Satan the damned." God said: 'And her Lord accepted her with kindly
acceptance and made her grow up to a goodly growth and made Zachariah
her guardian after her father and mother were dead (328).

He mentions that she was an orphan and tells of her and Zachariah and
what he prayed for and what He gave him. When He bestowed on him
Yahya. Then He mentions Mary and how the angels said to her, 'O Mary,
God hath chosen thee and purified thee and chosen thee above the women
of the worlds. 0 Mary, be obedient to Thy Lord and prostrate thyself and
bow with those that bow', saying, 'That is some of the tidings of things
hidden. We reveal it to thee. Thou wast not present with them,' i.e. thou
wast not with them 'when they threw their arrows to know which of them
should be the guardian of Mary' (329).

Later her guardian was Jurayj, the ascetic, a carpenter of B. Isra'il. The
arrow came out for him so he took her, Zachariah having been her guardian
heretofore. A grievous famine befell B. Isra'il and Zachariah was unable to
support her so they cast lots to see who should be her guardian and the lot
fell on Jurayj the ascetic and he became her guardian. 'And thou wast not
with them when they disputed,' i.e. about her. He tells him about what they
concealed from him though they knew it to prove his prophet-hood and as
an argument against them by telling them what they had con-cealed from
him.

Then He said: 'Then the angels said: O Mary, God giveth thee good
tidings of a word from Him whose name is the Messiah Jesus, Son of
Mary,' i.e. thus was his affair not as you say concerning him, 'illustrious in
this world and the next,' i.e. with God 'and of those who are brought near.'
He will speak to men in his cradle and as a grown man, and he is of the
righteous ones,' telling them of the phases of life through which he would
pass like the other sons of Adam in their lives young and old, although God
marked him out by speech in his cradle as a sign of his prophethood and to
show mankind where his power lay. 'She said, 0 my Lord, how can I have a

child when no man hath touched me? He said: Thus (it will be) God creates
what He will,' i.e. He does what He wishes, and creates what He wills of
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mortal or non-mortal. 'When He decrees a thing He merely says to it Be' of
what He wills and how He wills 'And it is' as He wishes.

Then He tells her of His intention in regard to him: 'And He will teach
him the book and the wisdom and the Torah' which had been with them
from the time of Moses before him 'and the Gospel,' another book which
God initiated and gave to him;1 they had only the mention of him that he
would be one of the prophets after him. 'And an apostle to B. Isra'il (saying)
I have come to you with a sign from your Lord,' i.e. confirming thereby my
prophethood that I am an apostle from Him to you. ' will create for you
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from clay the likeness of the form of birds and I will breathe into them and
they will become birds by God's permission,” Who has sent me unto you,
He being my Lord and yours 'and I will heal him who was born blind and
the leper' (330) 'And I will quicken the dead by God's permission and I will
tell you of what you eat and store up in your houses. Therein is a sign for
you' that I am an apostle from God to you, 'if you become believers, And
confirming that which was before me of the Torah,' i,e. what of it preceded
me, 'and to make lawful to you some of that which was forbidden you,' i.e. I
tell you about it that it was forbidden you and you abandoned it; then I
make it lawful to you to relieve you of it and you can enjoy it and be
exempt from its penalties. 'And I bring you signs from your Lord, so fear
God and obey me. God is my Lord and your Lord,' i.e. disowning what they
say about him and proving that his Lord (is God). 'So worship Him. This is
a straight path,' i.e. that to which I urge you and bring you. 'But when Jesus
perceived their disbelief' and enmity against him 'He said, Who are my
helpers towards God? The disciples said : We are God's helpers. We
believe in God.' This is their saying by which they gained favor from their
Lord. 'And bear witness that we are Muslims,' not what those who argue
with thee say about Him, 'O our Lord, we believe in what Thou hast sent
down and we follow the apostle, so write us down among the witnesses,'
i.e. thus was their saying and their faith,

Then He mentions His taking up of Jesus to Himself when they decided
to kill him and says: 'And they plotted and God plotted and God is the best
of plotters." Then He tells them-refuting what they assert of the Jews in
regard to his crucifixion-how He took him up and purified him from them
and says: "When God said, 0 Jesus I am about to cause thee to die and to
exalt thee to Myself and to purify thee from those who disbelieve' when
they purposed as they did, 'and am setting those who follow thee above
those who disbelieve until the day of resurrection.' The narration con-tinues
until the words 'This which We recite unto thee,’ 0 Muhammad, 'of the
signs and the wise warning,' the final, the decisive, the true, in which no
falsehood is mingled, of the story of Jesus and of what they differed in
regard to him, so accept no other report. 'The likeness of Jesus with God,'
And listen! 'is as the likeness of Adam whom God created 'of earth; then
said to him: Be; and he was. The truth is from thy Lord,' i.e. the report
which comes to thee about Jesus, 'so be not of the doubters,' i.e. the truth
has come to thee from thy Lord so do not be doubtful about it; and if they
say, Jesus was created without a male (intervening), I created Adam from
earth by that same power without a male or a female. And he was as Jesus
was: flesh and blood and hair and skin, The creation of Jesus without a
male is no more wonderful than this. 'Whoso argues with thee about him
after knowledge has come to thee,' i.e. after I have told thee his story and
how his affair was, 'Then say: Come, let us summon our sons and your
sons, our wives and your wives, ourselves and yourselves, then let us pray
earnestly "and invoke God's curse upon the liars' (331 ). 'Verily this' which
I have brought you of the story of Jesus 'is the true story' of his affair.
"There is no God but God, and God is Mighty Wise. If they turn back God
knows about the corrupt doers. Say, O Scripture folk, Come to a just word
between us that we will worship only God and associate nothing with Him
and some of us will not take others as lords beside God. And if they turn
back say: Bear witness that we are Muslims." Thus he invited them to
justice and deprived them of their argument.

When there came to the apostle news of Jesus from God and a decisive
judgment between him and them, and he was commanded to resort to
mutual invocation of a curse if they opposed him, he summoned them to
begin. But they said: 'O Abu 'l-Qasim, let us consider our affairs; then we
will come to you later with our decision.' So they left him and consulted
with the 'Aqib who was their chief adviser and asked him what his opinion
was. He said: 'O Christians, you know right well that Muhammad is a
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prophet sent (by God) and he has brought a decisive declaration about the
nature of your master, You know too that a people has never invoked a
curse on a prophet and seen its elders live and its youth grow up, If you do
this you will be exterminated, But if you decide to adhere to your religion
and to maintain your doctrine about your master, then take your leave of the
man and go home.' So they came to the apostle and told him that they had
decided not to resort to cursing and to leave him in his religion and return
home. But they would like him to send a man he could trust to decide
between them in certain financial matters in dispute among them.

Muhammad b. Ja'far said: The apostle said, 'If you come to me this
evening I will send a firm and trusty man.' 'Umar used to say, 'l never
wanted an office more than I wanted that one and hoped that I should get it.
I went to the noon prayer in the heat and when the apostle had con-cluded it
he looked to right and left and I began to stretch myself to my full height so
that he could see me; but he kept on searching with his eyes until he saw
Abu "Ubayda b, al-Jarrah and calling him he said, "Go with them and judge
between them faithfully in matters they dispute about." So, said 'Umar,
Abu 'Ubayda went with them,

SOME ACCOUNT OF THE HYPOCRITES

'Asim b. "Umar b. Qatada told me that when the apostle came to Medina
the leader there was 'Abdullah b. Ubayy b. Salu al-'Aufi of the clan of B. al-
Hubla; none of his own people contested his authority and Aus and Khazraj
never rallied to one man before or after him until Islam came, as they did to
him. With him was a man of Aus whom Aus obeyed, Abu 'Amir 'Abdu
'Amr b. Sayfi b. al-Nu'man, one of B. Dubay'a b. Zayd, the father of
Hanzala, 'the washed' on the day of Uhud. I He had been an ascetic in
pagan days and had worn a coarse hair garment and was called 'the monk'.
These two men were damned through their high status and it did them
harm.

'Abdullah b. Ubayy's people had made a sort of jeweled diadem to
crown him and make him their king when God sent His apostle to them; so
when his people forsook him in favor of Islam he was filled with enmity
realizing that the apostle had deprived him of his kingship. However, when
he saw that his people were determined to go over to Islam he went too, but
unwillingly, retaining his enmity and dissimulating.

Abu 'Amir stubbornly refused to believe and abandoned his people
when they went over to Islam and went off to Mecca with about ten
followers to get away from Islam and the apostle. Muhammad b. Abu
Umama from one of the family of Han,ala b. Abu 'Amir told me that the
apostle said, 'Don't call him the monk but the evil-doer.'

Ja'far b. 'Abdullah b. Abu'l-Hakam whose memory went back to
apostolic days and who was a narrator of tradition told me that before he
left for Mecca Abu 'Amir came to the apostle in Medina to ask him about
the religion he had brought. '

'The Hanifiya, the religion of Abraham.'

'That is what I follow.'

"You do not.'

'But I do! You, Muhammad, have introduced into the Hanifiya things
which do not belong to it.'

'l have not. I have brought it pure and white.'

'May God let the liar die a lonely, homeless, fugitive!' (meaning the
apostle as if he had falsified his religion).

'Well and good. May God so reward him!'

That actually happened to the enemy of God. He went to Mecca and
when the apostle conquered it he went to Ta'if; when Ta'if became Muslim
he went to Syria and died there a lonely, homeless, fugitive.
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Now there went with him 'Algama b. 'Ulatha b. 'Auf b. al-Ahwas b.
Ja'far b. Kilab, and Kinana b. 'Abd Yalil b. '"Amr b. 'Umayr al-Thaqafi.
When he died they brought their rival claims to his property before Caesar,
lord of Rome.> Caesar said, 'Let townsmen inherit townsmen and let
nomads inherit nomads.' So Kinana b. 'Abd Yalil inherited his property and
not 'Algama.

Ka'b b. Malik said of AbU 'Amir and what he had done:

God save me from an evil deed

Like yours against our clan. 0 'Abdu 'Amr.

You said, 'I have honor and wealth',

But of old you sold your faith for infidelity (332).

'Abdullah b. Ubayy while maintaining his position among his people
kept wavering until finally he adopted Islam unwillingly.

Muhammad b. Muslim al-Zuhri from 'Urwa b. al-Zubayr from Usama
b. Zayd b. Haritha, the beloved friend of the apostle, told me that the
apostle rode to Sa'd b. 'Ubada to visit him during his illness, mounted on an
ass with a saddle surmounted by a cloth of Fadak with a bridle of
palm-fibre. Said Zayd: 'The apostle gave me a seat behind him. He passed
'Abdullah b. Ubayy as he was sitting in the shade of his fort Muzaham
(333). Round him were sitting some of his men, and when the apostle saw
him his sense of politeness would not allow him to pass without alighting.
So he got off the animal and sat for a little while reciting the Quran and
inviting him to God. He admonished and warned him and preached the
good news to him while he, with his nose in the air, uttered not a word.
Finally, when the apostle had finished speaking he said, "There would be
nothing finer than what you say if it were true. But sit in your own house
and if anyone comes, talk to him about it; but don't importune those who do
not come to you, and don't come into a man's gathering with talk which he
does not like." 'Abdullah b. Rawaha, who was one of the Muslims who
were sitting with him, said, "Nay, do come to us with it and come into our
gatherings and quarters and houses. For by God it is what we love and what
God has honoured us with, and guided us to." When 'Abdullah b. Ubayy
saw that his people were opposed to him he said:

When your friend is your opponent you will always be humiliated
And your adversaries will overthrow you.

Can the falcon mount without his wings?

If his feathers are clipped he falls to the ground (334).

'Al-Zuhri from 'Urwa b. al-Zubayr from Usama told me that the apostle
got up and went into the house of Sa'd b. 'Ubada, his face showing the
emotions raised by Ibn Ubayy, the enemy of God. Sa'd asked the apostle
why he looked so angry as though he had heard something that displeased
him, and then he told him what Ibn Ubayy had said. Sa'd said: 'Don't be
hard on him; for God sent you to us as we were making a diadem to crown
him, and by God he thinks that you have robbed him of a kingdom."

FEVER ATTACKS THE APOSTLE'S COMPANIONS

Hisham b. 'Urwa and 'Umar b. 'Abdullah b. 'Urwa from 'Urwa b.
al-Zubayr told me that 'Aisha said: When his apostle came to Medina it was
the most fever-infested land on earth, and his companions suffered severely
from it, though God kept it from His apostle. 'Amir b. Fuhayra and Bilal,
freedmen of Abu Bakr, were with him in one house when the fever attacked
them, and I came in to visit them, for the veil had not then been ordered for
us. Only God knows how much they suffered from the fever. I came to my
father and asked him how he fared and he said:
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Any man might be greeted by his family in the morning
While death was nearer than the thong of his sandal.

I thought that my father did not know what he was saying. Then I went to
'Amir and asked him how he was and he said:

I have experienced death before actually tasting it:

The coward's death comes upon him as he sits.

Every man resists it with all his might

Like the ox who protects his body with his horns (335).

I thought that 'Amir did not know what he was saying. Bilal when the
fever left him lay prostrate in a comer of the house. Then he lifted up his
voice and said:

Shall I ever spend a night again in Fakhkh'

With sweet herbs and thyme around me ?

Will the day dawn when I come down to the waters of Majanna
Shall I ever see Shama and Tafil again? (336)

I told the apostle what they had said and he remarked that they were
delirious and out of their minds with a high temperature. He said, "O God,
make Medina as dear to us as Mecca and even dearer! And bless to us its
food, and carry its fever to Mahya'a." Mahya'a is al-Juhfa."”

Ibn Shihab al-Zuhri from 'Abdullah b. 'Amr b. al-'A.s mentioned that,
when the apostle came to Medina with his companions, the fever of Medina
smote them until they were extremely ill (though God turned it away from
his prophet) to such a degree that they could only pray sitting. The apostle
came out to them when they were praying thus and said: 'Know that the
prayer of the sitter is only half as valuable as the prayer of the stander.'
Thereupon the Muslims painfully struggled to their feet despite the it
weakness and sickness, seeking a blessing.

Then the apostle prepared for war in pursuance of God's command to
fight his enemies and to fight those polytheists who were near at hand
whom God commanded him to fight. This was thirteen years after his call.

THE DATE OF THE HIJRA

By the preceding isnad from 'Abdullah b. Hisham who said Ziyad b.
'Abdullah al-Bakka'i from Muhammad b. Ishaq told me that the apostle
came to Medina on Monday at high noon on the 12th of Rabi'u'l-awwal.

The apostle on that day was fifty-three years of age, that being thirteen
years after God called him. He stayed there for the rest of Rabi'u'l-awwal,
the month of Rabi'u'l-Akhir, the two Jumadas, Rajab, Sha'ban, Ramadan,
Shawwal, Dhu'l-Qa'da, Dhu'l -Hijja (when the polytheists supervised the
pilgrimage), and Muharram., Then he went forth raiding in Safar at the
beginning of the twelfth month from his coming to Medina (337).

(THE RAID ON WADDAN WHICH WAS HIS FIRST RAID)

until he reached Waddan, which is the raid of al-Abwa', making for
Quraysh and B. Damra b. Bakr b. 'Abdu Manat b. Kinana. The B. Damra
there made peace with him through their leader Makhshi b. 'Amr al-Damri.
Then he returned to Medina without meeting war and remained there for
the rest of Safar and the beginning of Rabi'u'l-awwal (338).

THE EXPEDITION OF 'UBAYDA B. AL-HARITH
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During that stay in Medina the apostle sent 'Ubayda b. al-Harith b.
al-Muttalib with sixty or eighty riders from the emigrants, there not being a
single one of the Ansar among them. He went as far as water in the Hijaz
below Thaniyatu'l-Murra, where he encountered a large number' of
Quraysh. No fighting took place except that Sa'd b. Abu Waqqas shot an
arrow on that day. It was the first arrow to be shot in Islam. Then the two
companies separated, the Muslims having a rearguard. AL-Miqdad b. 'Amr
al-Bahrani, an ally of the B. Zuhra, and 'Utba b. Ghazwan b. Jabir al-
Mazini, an ally of the B. Naufal b. 'Abdu Manaf, fled from the polytheists
and joined the Muslims to whom they really belonged. They had gone out
with the unbelievers in order to be able to link up with the Muslims. 'Tkrima
b. Abu Jahl was in command of the Meccans (339).

Concerning this raid Abu Bakr composed the following (340)'

Could you not sleep because of the spectre of Salma in the sandy
valleys,

And the important event that happened in the tribe?

You see that neither admonition nor a prophet's call

Can save some of Lu'ayy from unbelief; 417

A truthful prophet came to them and they gave him the lie,
And said, 'You shall not live among us.'

When we called them to the truth they turned their backs,
They howled like bitches driven back panting to their lairs;
With how many of them have we ties of kinship,

Yet to abandon piety did not weigh upon them;

If they turn back from their unbelief and disobedience
(For the good and lawful is not like the abominable);

If they follow their idolatry and error

God's punishment on them will not tarry;

We are men of Ghalib's highest stock

From which nobility comes through many branches;

I swear by the lord of camels urged on at even by singing,
Their feet protected by old leather thongs,

Like the red-backed deer that haunt Mecca

Going down to the well's slimy cistern;

I swear, and I am no perjurer,

If they do not quickly repent of their error,

A valiant band will descend upon them,

Which will leave women husbandless.

It will leave dead men, with vultures wheeling round,

It will not spare the infidels as Ibn Harith did. I

Give the Banu Sahm with you a message

And every infidel who is trying to do evil;

If you assail’ my honor in your evil opinion

I will not assail® yours.

'Abdullah b. al-Ziba'ra al-Sahmi replied thus:

Does your eye weep unceasingly

Over the ruins of a dwelling that the shifting sand obscures?
And one of the wonders of the days

(For time is full of wonders, old and new)

Is a strong army which came to us

Led by 'Ubayda, called Ibn Harith in war,

That we should abandon images venerated in Mecca,
Passed on to his heirs by a noble ancestor.

When we met them with the spears of Rudayna,

And noble steeds panting for the fray,

And swords so white they might be salt-strewn

Jihad Sira 3/26/2010 122



418

In the hands of warriors, dangerous as lions,
Wherewith we deal with the conceited”

And quench our thirst for vengeance without delay,
They withdrew in great fear and awe,

Pleased with the order of him who kept them back.
Had they not done so the women would have wailed,
Bereft of their husbands all of them.

The slain would have been left for those concerned
And those utterly heedless to talk about.

Give Abu Bakr with you a message:

You have no further part in the honourl of Fihr,
No binding oath that cannot be broken

That war will be renewed is needed from me (341).

Sa'd b. Abu Waqqas, according to reports, said about his having shot an

arrow:

Has the news reached the apostle of God

That I protected my companions with my arrows?

By them I defended their vanguard

In rough ground and plain.

No archer who shoots an arrow at the enemy

Will be counted before me, O apostle of God.

"Twas because thy religion is true

Thou hast brought what is just and truthful.

By it the believers are saved

And unbelievers recompensed at the last.

Stop, thou hast gone astray, so do not slander me.

Woe to thee Abu Jahl, lost one of the tribe! (342).

The flag of 'Ubayda b. al-Harith according to my information was the
first flag which the apostle entrusted to a believer in Islam. Some scholars
allege that the apostle sent him when he came back from the raid of
al-Abwa' before he got to Medina.

HAMZA'S EXPEDITION TO THE SEASHORE

While he was staying there he sent Hamza b. 'Abdu'l-Muttalib to the
sea-shore in the neighborhood of Al-'Ts (T. in the territory of Juhayna) with
thirty riders from the emigrants; none of the helpers took part. He met Abu
Jahl with three hundred riders from Mecca on the shore, and Majdi b.'Amr
al-Juhani intervened between them, for he was at peace with both parties.
So the people separated one from another without fighting.

Some people say that Hamza's flag was the first which the apostle gave
to any Muslim because he sent him and 'Ubayda at the same time, and thus
people became confused on the point. They alleged that Hamza had
composed poetry in which he says that his flag was the first which the
apostle entrusted to anyone. Now if Hamza actually said that, it is true if
God wills. He would not have said it if it were not true, but God knows
what happened. We have heard from learned people that 'Ubayda was the
first man to receive a flag. Hamza said concerning that, so they allege
(343):

Wonder, O my people, at good sense and at folly,
At lack of sound counsel and at sensible

At those who have wronged us, while we have left
Their people and their property inviolate,

As though we had attacked them;

But all we did was to enjoin chastity and justice
And call them to Islam, but they received it not,
And they treated it as a joke.
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They ceased not so until I volunteered to attack them

Where they dwelt, desiring the satisfaction of a task well done
At the apostle's command-the first to march beneath his flag,
Seen with none before me,

A victorious flag from a generous, mighty God,

Whose acts are the most gracious.

At even they sailed forth together,

Each man's pot burning with his companion's rage;

420 When we saw each other, they halted and hobbled the camels,
And we did the same an arrow-shot distant.

We said to them, 'God's rope is our victorious defence,

You have no rope but error.'

Abu Jahl warred there unjustly,

And was disappointed, for God frustrated his schemes.

We were but thirty riders, while they were two hundred and one.
Therefore, O Lu'ayy, obey not your deceivers,

Return to Islam and the easy path,

For I fear that punishment will be poured upon you

And you will cry out in remorse and sorrow.

Abu Jahl answered him, saying:

I am amazed at the causes of anger and folly

And at those who stir up strife by lying controversy,
Who abandon our fathers' ways.

Those noble, powerful men,

They come to us with lies to confuse our minds,
But their lies cannot confuse the intelligent.

We said to them, ‘O our people, strive not with your folk-
Controversy is the utmost folly-

For if you do, your weeping women will cry out
Wailing in calamity and bereavement.

If you give up what you are doing,

We are your cousins, trustworthy and virtuous.'
They said to us, 'We find Muhammad

One whom our cultured and intelligent accept.'
When they were obstinately contentious

And all their deeds were evil,

I attacked them by the seashore, to leave them

Like a withered leaf on a rootless stalk.

Majdi held me and my companions back from them
And they helped me with swords and arrows
Because of an oath binding on us, which we cannot discard,
A firm tie which cannot be severed.

But for Ibn 'Amr I should have left some of them
Food for the ever-present vultures, unavenged:

But he had sworn an oath, which made

Our hands recoil from our swords.

If time spares me [ will come at them again, 01

With keen, new polished swords,
In the hands of warriors from Lu'ayy, son of Ghalib,
Generous in times of dearth and want (344)."

THE RAID ON BUWAT
Then the apostle went raiding in the month of Rabi’u’l-Awwal making
for Quraysh (345), until he reached Buwat in the neighborhood of Radwa.

Then he returned to Medina without fighting, and remained there for the
rest of Rabi'u'l-Akhir and part of Jumada'l-Ula.
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THE RAID ON AL-'USHAYRA

Then he raided the Quraysh (346). He went by the way of B. Dinar,
then by Fayfa'u-I-Khabar, and halted under a tree in the valley of Ibn Azhar
called Dhatu'l-Saq. There he prayed and there is his mosque. Food was
prepared and they all ate there. The place occupied by the stones which
supported his cooking-pot is still known. He drank from a watering place
called al-Mushtarib.? Then he went on leaving al-Khaia’iq3 on the left and
went through a glen called 'Abdullah to this day; then he bore to the left!
until he came down to Yalyal and halted where it joins al-Dabu'a. He drank
of the well at al-Dabu’a and then traversed the plain of Malal until he met
the track in Sukhayrat al-Yamam which carried him straight to al-'Ushayra
in the valley of Yanbu' where he stopped during Jumada'l-Ula and some
days of the following month. He made a treaty of friend-ship there with B.
Mudlijj and their allies B. Damra, and then returned to Medina without a
fight. It was on this raid that he spoke the well-known words to 'Ali.

Yazid b. Muhammad b. Khaytham al-Muharibi from Muhammad b.
Ka'b. al-Qurazi from Muhammad b. Khaytham the father of Yazid from
'Ammar b. Yasir told me that the latter said: 'Ali and I were close
com-panions in the raid of al-'Ushayra and when the apostle halted there we
saw some men of B. Mudlij working at a well and on the date palms. 'Ali
suggested I that we should go and see what the men were doing, so we went
and watched them for a time until we were overcome by drowsiness and we
went and lay down under some young palms and fell fast asleep in the soft
fine dust. And then who should wake us but the apostle himself as he stirred
us with his foot! It was as we were dusting ourselves that the apostle said to
'Ali when he saw him covered with dust, "What have you been up to, Abu
Turab (father of dust)?' Then he went on, 'Shall I tell you of the two most
wretched creatures? Uhaymir of Thamud who slaughtered the camel, and
he who shall strike you here, 'Ali'-and he put his hand to the side of his
head-'until this is soaked from it'-and he took hold of his beard.

A learned traditionist told me that the real reason why the apostle called
'Ali Abu Turab was that when 'Ali' was angry with Fatima he would not
speak to her. He did not say anything to annoy her, but he used to sprinkle
dust on his head. Whenever the apostle saw dust on 'Ali's head he knew that
he was angry with Fatima and he would say, 'What is your trouble, O Abu
Turab?' But God knows the truth of the matter.

THE RAID OF SA'D B. ABU WAQQAS

Meanwhile the apostle had sent Sa'd b. Abu Waqqas with eight men
from the emigrants. He went as far as al-Kharrar in the Hijaz. Then he
returned without fighting (347).

THE RAID ON SAFAWAN, WHICH IS THE FIRST RAID OF BADR

The apostle stayed only a few nights, less than ten, in Medina when he
came back from raiding Al-'Ushayra, and then Kurz b. Jabir al-Fihri raided
the pasturing camels of Medina. The apostle went out in search of him
(348), until he reached a valley called Safawan, in the neighborhood of
Badr. Kurz escaped him and he could not overtake him. This was the first
raid of Badr. Then the apostle returned to Medina and stayed there for the
rest of Jumada'l Akhira, Rajab, and Sha'ban.

EXPEDITION OF 'ABDULLAH B. JAHSH AND THE
COMING DOWN OF 'THEY WILL ASK YOU ABOUT THE
SACRED MONTH'
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The apostle sent 'Abdullah b. Jahsh b. Ri'ab al-Asadi in Rajab on his
return from the first Badr. He sent with him eight emigrants, without any of
the Ansar. He wrote for him a letter, and ordered him not to look at it until
he had journeyed for two days, and to do what he was ordered to do, but not
to put pressure on any of his companions. The names of the eight emigrants

were, Abu Hudhayfa, 'Abdullah b. Jahsh, 'Ukkasha b. Mihsan, 'Utba b.

Ghazwan, Sa'd b. Abu Waqqas, 'Amir b. Rabi'a, Waqid b. 'Abdullah, and 424

Khalid b. al-Bukayr. '

When 'Abdullah had traveled for two days he opened the letter and
looked into it, and this is what it said: "When you have read this letter of
mine proceed until you reach Nakhla between Mecca and Al-Ta'if. Lie in
wait there for Quraysh and find out for us what they are doing.' Having read
the letter he said, 'To hear is to obey.' Then he said to his companions, 'The
apostle has commanded me to go to Nakhla to lie in wait there for Quraysh
so as to bring him news of them. He has forbidden me to put pressure on
any of you, so if anyone wishes for martyrdom let him go forward, and he
who does not, let him go back; as for me I am going on as the prophet has
ordered." So he went on, as did all his companions, not one of them falling
back. He journeyed along the Hijaz until at a mine called Bahran above al-
Furu', Sa'd and 'Utba lost the camel which they were riding by turns, so
they stayed behind to look for it; while 'Abdullah and the rest of them went
on to Nakhla. A caravan of Quraysh carrying dry raisins and leather and
other merchandise of Quraysh passed by them, 'Amr b.al-Hadrami (349),
'Uthman b. Abdullah b. al-Mughira and his brother Naufal the
Makhzumites, and al-Hakam b. Kaysan, freedman of Hisham b. al-Mughira
being among them. When the caravan saw them they were afraid of them
because they had camped near them. 'Ukkasha, who had shaved his head,
looked down on them, and when they saw him they felt safe and said, "They
are pilgrims, you have nothing to fear from them.' The raiders took council
among themselves, for this was the last day of Rajab, and they said, 'If you
leave them alone tonight they will get into the sacred area and will be safe
from you; and if you kill them, you will kill them in the sacred month,' so 425
they were hesitant and feared to attack them. Then they encouraged each
other, and decided to kill as many as they could of them and take what they
had. Waqid shot 'Amr b. al-Hadrami with an arrow and killed him, and
'Uthman and al-Hakam surrendered. Naufal escaped and eluded them.
'Abdullah and his com-panions took the caravan and the two prisoners and
came to Medina with them. One of 'Abdullah's family mentioned that he
said to his companions, 'A fifth of what we have taken belongs to the
apostle.' (This was before God had appointed a fifth of the booty to him.)
So he set apart for the apostle a fifth of the caravan, and divided the rest
among his companions.

When they came to the apostle, he said, 'T did not order you to fight in
the sacred month,’ and he held the caravan and the two prisoners in
sus-pense and refused to take anything from them. When the apostle said
that, the men were in despair and thought that they were doomed. Their
Muslim brethren reproached them for what they had done, and the Quraysh
said 'Muhammad and his companions have violated the sacred month, shed
blood therein, taken booty, and captured men.' The Muslims in Mecca who
opposed them said that they had done it in Sha'ban. The Jews turned this
raid into an omen against the apostle. 'Amr b. al-Hadrami whom Waqid had
killed they said meant 'amarati‘l-harb (war has come to life), al-Hadrami
meant hadarati'l-harb (war is present), and Waqid meant waqgadati'l-harb
(war is kindled); but God turned this against them, not for them, and when
there was much talk about it, God sent down to his apostle: 'They will ask
you about the sacred month, and war in it. Say, ‘war therein is a serious
matter, but keeping people from the way of God and disbelieving in Him
and in the sacred mosque and driving out His people therefrom is more
serious with God." i.e. If you have killed in the sacred month, they have
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kept you back from the way of God with their unbelief in Him, and from
the sacred mosque, and have driven you from it when you were its people.
This is a more serious matter with God than the killing of those of them
whom you have slain. 'And seduction is worse than killing.' i.e. They used
to seduce the Muslim in his religion until they made him return to unbelief
after believing, and that is worse with God than killing. 'And they will not
cease to fight you until they turn you back from your religion if they can.'
i.e. They are doing more heinous acts than that contumaciously.

And when the Quran came down about that and God relieved the
Muslims of their anxiety in the matter, the apostle took the caravan and the
prisoners. Quraysh sent to him to redeem 'Uthman and al-Hakam, and the
apostle said, "We will not let you redeem them until our two companions
come,’ meaning Sa'd and 'Utba, 'for we fear for them on your account. If
you kill them, we will kill your two friends.' So when Sa'd and 'Utba turned
up the apostle let them redeem them. As for al-Hakam he became a good
Muslim and stayed with the apostle until he was killed as a martyr at Bi'r
Ma'una. 'Uthman went back to Mecca and died there as an unbeliever.
When 'Abdullah and his companions were relieved of their anxiety when
the Quran came down, they were anxious for reward, and said, 'Can we
hope that it will count as a raid for which we shall be given the reward of
combatants?' So God sent down concerning them: "Those who believe and
have emigrated and fought in the way of God, these may hope for God's
mercy, for God is forgiving, merciful.' That is, God gave them the greatest
hopes therein. The tradition about this comes from Al-Zuhri and Yazid b.
Ruman from 'Urwa b. al-Zubayr.

One of 'Abdullah's family mentioned that God divided the booty when
He made it permissible and gave four-fifths to whom God had allowed to
take it and one-fifth to God and His apostle. So it remained on the basis of
what 'Abdullah had done with the booty of that caravan (350)'

Abu Bakr said concerning 'Abdullah's raid (though others say that
'Abdullah himself said it), when Quraysh said, '"Muhammad and his
companions have broken the sacred month, shed blood therein, and taken
booty and made prisoners' (351):

You count war in the holy month a grave matter,
But graver is, if one judges rightly,

Your opposition to Muhammad's teaching, and your
Unbelief in it, which God sees and witnesses,

Your driving God's people from His mosque

So that none can be seen worshipping Him there.
Though you defame us for killing him,

More dangerous to Islam is the sinner who envies.
Our lances drank of Ibn al-Hadrami's blood

In Nakhla when Wagqid lit the flame of war,
'Uthman ibn 'Abdullah is with us,

A leather band streaming with blood restrains him. '

THE CHANGE OF THE QIBLA TO THE KA'BA

It is said that the Qibla was changed in Sha'ban at the beginning of the
eighteenth month after the apostle's arrival in Medina.

THE GREAT EXPEDITION OF BADR

Then the apostle heard that Abu Sufyan b. Harb was coming from Syria
with a large caravan of Quraysh, containing their money and merchandise,
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accompanied by some thirty or forty men, of whom were Makhrama- b.
Naufal b. Uhayb b. 'Abdu Manaf b. Zuhra, and 'Amr b. al- 'As b. Wa'il b.
Hisham (352).

Muhammad b. Muslim al-Zuhri and 'Agim b. 'Umar b. Qatada and
'Abdullah b. Abu Bakr and Yazid b. Ruman from 'Urwa b. al-Zubayr, and
other scholars of ours from Ibn 'Abbas, each one of them told me some of
this story and their account is collected in what I have drawn up of the story
of Badr. They said that when the apostle heard about Abu Sufyan coming
from Syria, he summoned the Muslims and said, 'This is the Quraysh
caravan containing their property. Go out to attack it, perhaps God will give
it as a prey.' The people answered his summons, some ( eagerly, others
reluctantly because they had not thought that the apostle would go to war.
When he got near to the Hijaz, Abu Sufyan was seeking news, and
questioning every rider in his anxiety, until he got news from some riders
that Muhammad had called out his companions against him and his
caravan. He took alarm at that and hired Damdam b. 'Amr al-Ghifari and
sent him to Mecca, ordering him to call out Quraysh in defense of their
property, and to tell them that Muhammad was lying in wait for it with his
companions. So Damdam left for Mecca at full speed.

THE DREAM OF 'ATIKA D. OF 'ABDU'L-MUTTALIB

A person above suspicion told me on the authority of 'Tkrima from b.
'Abbas and Yazid b. Ruman from 'Urwa b. al-Zubayr, saying: 'three days
before Damdam arrived 'Atika saw a vision which frightened her. She sent
to her brother al-'Abbas saying, "Brother, last night [ saw a vision which
frightened me and I am afraid that evil and misfortune will come upon your
people, so treat what I tell you as a confidence." He asked what she had
seen, and she said, "I saw a rider coming upon a camel who halted in the
valley. Then he cried at the top of his voice, 'Come forth, O people, do not
leave your men to face a disaster that will come in three days time.' I saw
the people flock to him, and then he went into the mosque with the people
following him. While they were round him his camel mounted to the top of
the Ka'ba. Then he called out again, using the same words. Then his camel
mounted to the top of Abu Qubays,” and he cried out again. Then he seized
a rock and loosened it, and it began to fail, until at the bottom of the
mountain it split into pieces. There was not a house or a dwelling in Mecca
but received a bit of it." al- 'Abbas said, "By God, this is indeed a vision,
and you had better keep quiet about it and not tell anyone." Then 'Abbas
went out and met al-Walid b. 'Utba, who was a friend of his, and told him
and asked him to keep it to himself. al-Walid told his father and the story
spread in Mecca until Quraysh were talking about it in their public
meetings.

'al-'Abbas said, "I got up early to go round the temple, while Abu Jahl
was sitting with a number of Quraysh talking about 'Atika's vision. When
he saw me he said, 'Come to us when you have finished going round the
temple.! When I had finished I went and sat with them, and he said, ‘O
Banu 'Abdu'l-Muttalib, since when have you had a prophetess among you ?'
'And what do you mean by that?' I said. '"That vision which 'Atika saw,' he
answered. I said, 'And what did she see?' He said, 'Are you not satisfied that
your men should play the prophet that your women should do so also?
'Atika has alleged that in her vision someone said, "Come forth to war in
three days." We shall keep an eye on you these three days, and if what she
says is true, then it will be so; but if the three days pass and nothing
hap-pens, we will write you down as the greatest liars of the temple people
among the Arabs.'" Nothing much had passed between us except that I
contradicted that and denied that she had seen anything. Then we
sepa-rated. When night came every single woman of B. 'Abdu'l-Muttalib
came to me and said, 'Have you allowed this evil rascal to attack your men,
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and then go on to insult your women while you listened? Have you no
shame that you should listen to such things?' I said, 'By God, I have done
some-thing; nothing much passed between us but I swear by God that I will
confront him, and if he repeats what he has said, I will rid you of him.'

On the third day after 'Atika's vision, while I was enraged, thinking that

I had let something slip which I wanted to get from him, I went into the

: o . . 4
mosque and saw him, and as I was waiking towards him to confront him so 30

that he should repeat some of what he had said and I could attack him, for
he was a thin man with sharp features, sharp tongue, and sharp sight, 10, he
came out towards the door of the mosque hurriedly, and I said to myself,
'What is the matter with him, curse him, is all this for fear that I should
insult him?' But 10, he had heard something which I did not hear, the voice
of Damdam crying out in the bottom of the wadi, as he stood upon his
camel, having cut its nose, turned its saddle round, and rent his shirt, while
he was saying, ‘O Quraysh, the transport camels, the transport camels!
Muhammad and his companions are lying in wait for your pro-perty which
is with Abu Sufyan. I do not think that you will overtake it. Help! Help!'
This diverted him and me from our affair."

QURAYSH PREPARE TO GO TO BADR

The men prepared quickly, saying, "Do Muhammad and his
companions think this is going to be like the caravan of Ibn Hadrami? By
God, they will soon know that it is not so." Every man of them either went
himself or sent someone in his place. So all went; not one of their nobles
remained behind except Abu Lahab. He sent in his place al-'As b. Hisham
b. al-Mughira who owed him four thousand dirhams which he could not
pay. So he hired him with them on the condition that he should be cleared
of his debt. So he went on his behalf and Abu Lahab stayed behind.'

'Abdullah b. Abu Najih told me that Umayya b. Khaiaf had decided to
stay at home. He was a stately old man, corpulent and heavy. 'Ugba b. Abu
Mu'ayt came to him as he was sitting in the mosque among his
com-panions, carrying a censer burning with scented wood. He put it in
front of him and said, 'Scent yourself with that, for you belong to the
women !' 'God curse you and what you have bi-ought,' he said, and then got
ready and went out with the rest. When they had finished their preparations
and decided to start, they remembered the quarrel there was between them
and B. Bakr b. 'Abdu Manat b. Kinana, and were afraid that they would
attack them in the rear.

The cause of the war between Quraysh and B. Bakr, according to what 431
one of B. 'Amir b. Lu'ayy from Muhammad b. Sa'ld b. al-Musayyab told
me, was a son of Hafsa b. al-Akhyaf, one of the B. Ma'is b. 'Amir b. Lu'ayy.
He had gone out seeking a lost camel of his in Dajnan. He was a youngster
with flowing locks on his head, wearing a robe, a good-looking, clean
youth. He passed by 'Amir b. Yazid b. 'Amir b. al-Mulawwih, one of B.
Ya'mar b. 'Auf b. Ka'b b. 'Amir b. Layth b. Bakr b. '"Abdu Manat b. Kinana
in Dajnan, he being the chief of B. Bakr at that time. When he saw him he
liked him and asked him who he was. When he told him, and had gone
away, he called his tribesmen, and asked them if there was any blood
outstanding with Quraysh, and when they said there was, he said, 'Any man
who kills this youngster in revenge for one of his tribe will have exacted the
blood due to him.' So one of them followed him and killed him in revenge
for the blood Quraysh had shed. When Quraysh discussed the matter, 'Amir
b. Yazid said, "You owed us blood so what do you want? If you wish pay us
what you owe us, and we will pay you what we owe. If you want only
blood, man for man, then ignore your claims and we will ignore 'burs'; and
since this youth was of no great importance to this clan of Quraysh, they
said, 'All right, man for man', and ignored his death and sought no
compensation for it.
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Now while his brother Mikraz was traveling in Marr al-Zahran he saw
'Amir on a camel, and as soon as he saw him 'Amir went up to him and
made his camel kneel beside him. 'Amir was wearing a sword, and Mikraz
brought his sword down on him and killed him. Then he twirled his sword
about in his belly, and brought it back to Mecca and hung it overnight
among the curtains of the Ka'ba. When morning came Quraysh saw 'Amir's
sword hanging among the curtains of the Ka'ba and recognized it. They
said, 'This is 'Amir's sword; Mikraz has attacked and killed him.' This is
what happened, and while this vendetta was going on, Islam intervened
between men, and they occupied themselves with that, until when Quraysh
decided to go to Badr they remembered the vendetta with B. Bakr and were
afraid of them.

Mikraz b. Hafs said about his killing 'Amir:

When I saw that it was 'Amir I remembered the fleshless corpse of my
dear brother.

I said to myself, it is 'Amir, fear not my soul and look to what you do. I
was certain that as soon as I got in a shrewd blow with the sword, it would
be the end of him.

I swooped down on him, on a brave, experienced man, with a sharp
sword.

When we came to grips I did not show myself a son of ignoble parents,

I slaked my vengeance, forgetting not revenge which only weaklings
forgo (353).

Yazid b. Ruman from 'Urwa b. al-Zubayr told me that when Quraysh
were ready to set off they remembered their quarrel with B. Bakr and it
almost deterred them from starting. However, Iblis appeared to them in the
form of Suraqa b. Malik b. Ju'tham al-Mudliji who was one of the chiefs of
B. Kinana saying, 'l will guarantee that Kinana will not attack you in the
rear,’ so they went off speedily.

The apostle set out in the month of Ramadan (354). He gave the flag to
Mus'ab b. 'Umayr b. Hashim b. 'Abdu Manaf b. 'Abdu'l-Dar (355). The
apostle was preceded by two black flags, one with 'Ali called al-'Ugab and
the other with one of the Ansar. His companions had seventy camels on
which men rode in turns: the apostle with 'Ali and Marthad b. Abu
Mar-thad al-Ghanawi one camel; Hamza and Zayd b. Haritha and Abu
Kabsha and Anasa freedmen of the apostle one camel; and Abu Bakr, and
'Umar, and 'Abdu'l-Rahman b. 'Auf one camel. The apostle put over the
rear-guard Qays b. Abu Sa'sa'a brother of B. Mazin b. Al-Najjar (356).

He took the road to Mecca by the upper route from Medina, then by al-
'Aqiq, Dhu'l-Hulayfa, and Ulatu'l-Jaysh (357). Then he passed Turban,
Malal, Ghamisu'l-Hamam, Sukhayratu'l- Yamam, and Sayala; then by the
ravine of al-Rauha' to Shanuka, which is the direct route, until at
'Irqu'l-Zabya (358) he met a nomad. He asked him about the Quraysh party,
but found that he had no news. The people said, 'Salute God’s apostle.' He
said, 'Have you got God's apostle with you?' and when they said that they
had, he said, 'If you are God's apostle, then tell me what is in the belly of
my she-camel here.' Salama b. Salama said to him, 'Don't question God's
apostle; but come to me and I will tell you about it. You leapt upon her and
she has in her belly a little goat from you!' The apostle said, 'Enough! You
have spoken obscenely to the man.' Then he turned away from Salama.

The apostle stopped at Sajsaj which is the well of al-Rauha' ; then went
on to al-Munsaraf, leaving the Meccan road on the left, and went to the
right to al-Naziya making for Badr. Arrived in its neighborhood he crossed
a wadi called Ruhqan between al-Naziya and the pass of al-Safra'; then
along the pass; then he debouched from it until when near al-Safra' he sent
Basbas b. 'Amr al-Juhani, an ally of B. Sa'ida, and 'Adiy b. Abu Zaghba' al-
Juhani, ally of B. al-Najjar, to Badr to scout for news about Abu Sufyan and
his caravan. ' Having sent them on ahead he moved off and when he got to
al-Safra', which is a village between two mountains, he asked what their
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names were. He was told that they were Muslih and Mukhri'.> He asked
about their inhabitants and was told that they were B. al-Nar and B. Huraq,’
two clans of B. Ghifar. The apostle drew an ill omen from their names and
so disliked them that he refused to pass between them, so he left them and
al-Safra' on his left and went to the right to a wadi called Dhafran which he
crossed and then halted.

News came to him that Quraysh had set out to protect their caravan, and
he told the people of this and asked their advice. Abu Bakr and then 'Umar
got up and spoke well. Then al-Miqdad got up and said, ‘O apostle of God,
go where God tells you for we are with you. We will not say as the children
of Israel said to Moses, "You and your Lord go and fight and we will stay
at home,"* but you and your Lord go and fight, and we will fight with you.
By God, if you were to take us to Bark al-Ghimad, I we would fight
resolutely with you against its defenders until you gained it." The apostle
thanked him and blessed him. Then he said, 'Give me advice, O Men,' by
which he meant the Ansar. This is because they formed the majority, and
because when they had paid homage to him in al-'Aqaba they stipulated that
they were not responsible for his safety until he entered their territory, and
that when he was there they would protect him as they did their wives and
children. So the apostle was afraid that the Ansar would not feel obliged to
help him unless he was attacked by an enemy in Medina, and that they
would not feel it incumbent upon them to go with him against an enemy
outside their territory. When he spoke these words Sa'd b. Mu'adh said, 'It
seems as if you mean us,’ and when he said that he did, Sa'd said, 'We
believe in you, we declare your truth, and we witness that what you have
brought is the truth, and we have given you our word and agreement to hear
and obey; so go where you wish, we are with you; and by God, if you were
to ask us to cross this sea and you plunged into it, we would plunge into it
with you; not a man would stay behind. We do not dislike the idea of
meeting your enemy tomorrow. We are experienced in war, trustworthy in
combat. It may well be that God will let us show you something which will
bring you joy, so take us along with God's blessing.! The apostle was
delighted at Sa'd's words which greatly encou-raged him. Then he said,
'Forward in good heart, for God has promised me one of the two parties,2
and by God, it is as though I now saw the enemy lying prostrate.' Then the
apostle journeyed from Dhafran and went over passes called Asafir. Then
he dropped down from them to a town called al-Dabba and left al-Hannan
on the right. This was a huge sand hill like a large mountain. Then he
stopped near Badr and he and one of his companions (359) rode on, as
Muhammad b. Yahya b.Habban told me, until he stopped by an old man of
the Bedouin and inquired about Quraysh and about Muhammad and his
companions, and what he had heard about them. The old man said, 'T won't
tell you until you tell me which party you belong to." The apostle said, 'If
you tell us we will tell you.' He said, 'Tit for tat ?' 'Yes,' he replied. The old
man said, 'l have heard that Muhammad and his companions went out on
such-and-such a day. If that is true, today they are in such-and-such a
place,' referring to the place in which the apostle actually was, 'and I heard
that Quraysh went out on such-and-such a day, and if this is true, today they
are in such-and-such a place,' meaning the one in which they actually were.
When he had finished he said, 'Of whom are you?' The apostle said, 'We are
from Ma'.' > Then he left him, while the old man was saying, 'What does
"from Ma'" mean? Is it from the water of Iraq?' (360).

Then the apostle returned to his companions; and when night fell he
sent 'Ali and al-Zubayr b. al-'Awwam and Sa'd b. Abu Waqqa; with a
number of his companions to the well at Badr in quest of news of both
parties, according to what Yazid b. Ruman from 'Urwa b. al-Zubayr told
me, and they fell in with some water-camels of Quraysh, among whom
were Aslam, a slave of B. al-Hajjaj, and 'Arid Abu Yasar, a young man of
B. Al-'As b. Sa'id, and they brought them along and questioned them while
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the apostle was standing praying. They said, 'We are the watermen of
Quraysh; they sent us to get them water. ‘The people were displeased ,at
their report, for they had hoped that they would belong to Abu Sufyan, so
they beat them, and when they had beaten them soundly, the two men said,
'We belong to Abu Sufyan,' so they let them go. The apostle bowed and
prostrated himself twice, and said, 'When they told you the truth you beat
them; and when they lied you let them alone. They told the truth; they do
belong to Quraysh. Tell me, you two, about the Quraysh." They replied,
'They are behind this hill which you see on the farthest side.' (The hill was
al-'Aqangal.) The apostle asked them how many they were, and when they
said, 'Many,' he asked for the number, but they did not know; so he asked
them how many beasts they slaughtered every day, and when they said nine
or ten, he said, "The people are between nine hundred and a thousand.' Then
he asked how many nobles of Quraysh were among them. They said: "Utba,
Shayba, Abu'l-Bakhtari, Hakim, Naufal, al-Harith b. 'Amir, Tu'ayma, al-
Nadr, Zama'a, Abu Jahl, Umayya, Nabih, Munabbih, Suhayl, 'Amr b. 'Abdu
Wudd.' The apostle went to the people and said, 'This Mecca has thrown to
you the pieces of its liver!”

Basbas and 'Adiy had gone on until they reached Badr, and halted on a
hill near the water. Then they took an old skin to fetch water while Majdi b.
'Amr al- Juhani was by the water. Adiy and Basbas heard two girls from
the village discussing a debt, and one said to the other, 'The caravan will
come tomorrow or the day after and I will work for them and then pay you
what I owe you.' Majdi said, 'You are right,’ and he made arrangements
with them. Adiy and Basbas overheard this, and rode off to the apostle and
told him what they had overheard.

Abu Sufyan went forward to get in front of the caravan as a
precautionary measure until he came down to the water, and asked Majdi if
he had noticed anything. He replied that he had seen nothing untoward:
merely two riders had stopped on the hill and taken water away in a skin.
Abu Sufyan came to the spot where they had halted, picked up some camel
dung and broke it in pieces and found that it contained date-stones. 'By
God,' he said, 'this is the fodder of Yathrib.' He returned at once to his
companions and changed the caravan's direction from the road to the
seashore leaving Badr on the left, traveling as quickly as possible.

Quraysh advanced and when they reached al- Juhfa Juhaym b. al-Salt b.
Makhrama b. al-Muttalib saw a vision. He said, 'Between waking and
sleeping I saw a man advancing on a horse with a camel, and then he halted
and said: "Slain are 'Utba and Shayba and Abu'l-Hakam and Umayya" (and
he went on to enumerate the men who were killed at Badr, all nobles of
Quraysh). Then I saw him stab his camel in the chest and send it loose into
the camp, and every single tent was bespattered with its blood." When the
story reached Abu Jahl he said, 'Here's another prophet from B. al-Muttalib!
He'll know tomorrow if we meet them who is going to be killed!"

When Abu Sufyan saw that he had saved his caravan he sent word to
Quraysh, 'Since you came out to -save your caravan, your men, and your
property, and God has delivered them, go back.' Abu Jahl said, 'By God, we
will not go back until we have been to Badr' — Badr was the site of one of
the Arab fairs where they used to hold a market every year. 'We will spend
three days there, slaughter camels and feast and drink wine, and the girls
shall play for us. The Arabs will hear that we have come and gathered
together, and will respect us in future. So come on!'

Al-Akhnas b. Shariq b. 'Amr b. Wahb al- Thaqafi, an ally of B. Zuhra
who were in al-Juhfa, addressed the latter, saying, 'God has saved you and
your property and delivered your companion Makhrama b. Naufal; and as
you only came out to protect him and his property, lay any charge of
cowardice on me and go back. There is no point in going to war without
profit as this man would have us,' meaning Abu Jahl So they returned and
not a single Zuhrite was present at Badr. They obeyed him as he was a man
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of authority. Every clan of Quraysh was represented except B. 'Adiy b.
Ka'b: not one of them took part, so with the return of B. Zuhra with al-
Akhnas these two tribes were not represented at all. There was some
discussion between Talib b. Abu Talib, who was with the army, and some
of Quraysh. The latter said, 'We know, O B. Hashim, that if you have come
out with us your heart is with Muhammad.' So Talib and some others
returned to Mecca. Talib said:

O God, if Talib goes forth to war unwillingly
With one of these squadrons,

Let him be the plundered not the plunderer,
The vanquished not the victor (361).

Quraysh went on until they halted on the farther side of the wadi behind
al-'Aqanqal The bed of the wadi-Yalyal-was between Badr and al-'Agangqal,
the hill behind which lay Quraysh, while the wells at Badr were on the side
of the wadi bed nearest to Medina. God sent a rain which turned the soft
sand of the wadi into a compact surface which did not hinder the apostle's
movements, but gravely restricted the movements of Quraysh. The apostle
went forth to hasten his men to the water and when he got to the nearest
water of Badr he halted.

I was told that men of B. Salama said that al-Hubab b. al-Mundhir b. al-
Jamuh said to the apostle: 'Is this a place which God has ordered

you to occupy, so that we can neither advance nor withdraw from it, or
is it a matter of opinion and military tactics? When he replied that it was
the latter he pointed out that it was not the place to stop but that they should
go on to the water nearest to the enemy and halt there, stop up the wells
beyond it, and construct a cistern so that they would have plenty of water;
then they could fight their enemy who would have nothing to drink. The
apostle agreed that this was an excellent plan and it was immediately
carried out; the wells were stopped; a cistern was built and filled with water
from which his men replenished their drinking-vessels.

'Abdullah b. Abu Bakr told me that he was informed that Sa'd b. Mu'adh
said: ‘O prophet of God, let us make a booth (T. of palm-branches) for you
to occupy and have your riding camels standing by; then we will meet the
enemy and if God gives us the victory that is what we desire; if the worst
occurs you can mount your camels and join our people who are left behind,
for they are just as deeply attached to you as we are. Had they thought that
you would be fighting they would not have stayed behind. God will protect
you by them; they will give you good counsel and fight with you.' The
apostle thanked him and blessed him. Then a booth was constructed for the
apostle and he remained there.

Quraysh, having marched forth at daybreak, now came on. When the
apostle saw them descending from the hill 'Aqangal into the valley, he
cried, ‘O God, here come the Quraysh in their vanity and pride, contending
with Thee and calling Thy apostle a liar. O God, grant the help which Thou
didst promise me. Destroy them this morning!' Before uttering these words
he had seen among the enemy 'Utba b. Rabi'a, mounted on a red camel of
his, and said, 'If there is any good in anyone of them, it will be with the man
on the red camel: if they obey him, they will take the right way.' Khufaf b.
Aima' b. Rahada, or his father Aima' b. Rahada al-Ghifari, had sent to
Quraysh, as they passed by, a son of his with some camels for slaughter,
which he gave them as a gift, saying, 'If you want us to support you with
arms and men, we will do so ;' but they sent to him the following message
by the mouth of his son-"You have done all that a kinsman ought. If we are
fighting only men, we are surely equal to them; and if we are fighting God,
as Muhammad alleges, none is able to with-stand Him." And when Quraysh
encamped, some of them, among whom was Hakim b. Hizam, went to the
cistern ofthe apostle to drink. 'Let them be!" he said; and every man that
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drank of it on that day was killed, except Hakim, I who afterwards became
a good Muslim and used to say, when he was earnest in his oath, 'Nay, by
Him who saved me on the day of Badr.'

My father, Ishaq b. Yasar, and other learned men told me on the
autho-rity of some elders of the Ansar that when the enemy had settled in
their camp they sent 'Umayr b. Wahb al-Jumahi to estimate the number of
Muhammad's followers. He rode on horseback round the camp and on his
return said, 'Three hundred men, a little more or less; but wait till I see
whether they have any in ambush or support.' He made his way far into the
valley but saw nothing. On his return he said, T found nothing, but O
people of Quraysh, I have seen camels carrying Death-the camels of
Yathrib laden with certain death. These men have no defense or refuge but
their swords. By God! I do not think that a man of them will be slain till he
slay one of you, and if they kill of you a number equal to their own, what is
the good of living after that? Consider, then, what you will do." When
Hakim b. Hizam heard those words, he went on foot amongst the folk until
he came to 'Utba b. Rabi'a and said, ‘O Abu'l-Walid, you are chief and lord
of Quraysh and he whom they obey. Do you wish to be remembered with
praise among them to the end of time?' 'Utba said, 'How may that be, O
Hakim?' He answered, 'Lead them back and take up the cause of your ally,
'Amr b. al-Hadrami.' 'T will do it,' said 'Utba, 'and you are witness against
me (if [ break my word): he was under my protection, so it behooves me to
pay his bloodwit and what was seized of his wealth (to his kinsmen). Now
go you to Ibn al-Hanzaliya, for I do not fear that anyone will make trouble
except him (362)." Then 'Utba rose to speak and said, ‘O people of
Quraysh! By God, you will gain naught by giving battle to Muhammad and
his companions. If you fail upon him, each one of you will always be
looking with loathing on the face of another who has slain the son of his
paternal or maternal uncle or some man of his kin. Therefore turn back and
leave Muhammad to the rest of the Arabs. 'If they kill him, that is what you
want; and if it be otherwise, he will find that you have not tried to do to him
what you (in fact) would have liked to do.'

Hakim said: 'T went to Abu Jahl and found him oiling a coat of mail
(3’63)l which he had taken out of its bag. I said to him, “O Abu'l-Hakam,
'Utba has sent me to you with such-and-such a message," and I told him
what 'Utba had said. "By God," he cried, "his lungs became swollen (with
fear) when he saw Muhammad and his companions. No, by God, we will
not turn back until God decide between us and Muhammad. 'Utba does not
believe his own words, but he saw that Muhammad and his com-panions
are (in number as) the eaters of one slaughtered camel, and his son is
among them, so he is afraid lest you slay him." Then he sent to 'Amir b. al-
Hadrami, saying, "This ally of yours is for turning back with the folk at this
time when you see your blood-revenge before your eyes. Arise, therefore,
and remind them of your covenant and the murder of your brother." 'Amir
arose and uncovered; then he cried, "Alas for 'Amr! Alas for 'Amr!" And
war was kindled and all was marred and the folk held stubbornly on their
evil course and 'Utba's advice was wasted on them. When 'Utba heard how
Abu Jahl had taunted him, he said, "He with the befouled garment2 will find
out whose lungs are swollen, mine or his (364)." Then 'Utba looked for a
helmet to put on his head; but seeing that his head was so big that he could
not find in the army a helmet that would contain it, he wound a piece of
cloth he had round his head.

AL-Aswad b. 'Abdu'l-Asad al-Makhzumi, who was a quarrelsome ill-
natured man, stepped forth and said, 'T swear to God that I will drink from
their cistern or destroy it or die before reaching it' Hamza b. 'Abdu’l-
Muttalib came forth against him, and when the two met, Hamza smote him
and sent his foot and half his shank flying as he was near the cistern. He fell
on his back and lay there, blood streaming from his foot towards his
comrades. Then he crawled to the cistern and threw himself into it with the
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purpose of fulfilling his oath, but Hamza followed him and smote him and
killed him in the cistern.

Then after him 'Utba b. Rabi'a stepped forth between his brother Shayba
and his son al-Walid b. 'Utba, and when he stood clear of the ranks gave the
challenge for single combat. Three men of the Ansar came out against him:
'Auf and Mu'awwidh the sons of Harith (their mother was 'Afra) and
another man, said to have been 'Abdullah b. Rawaha. The Quraysh said,
'Who are you?' They answered, 'Some of the Angar," where-upon the three
of Quraysh said, 'We have nothing to do with you." Then the herald of
Quraysh shouted, ‘O Muhammad! Send forth against us our peers of our
own tribe!" The apostle said, 'Arise, O 'Ubayda b. Harith, and arise, O
Hamza, and arise, O 'Ali' And when they arose and ap-proached them, the
Quraysh said, 'Who are you?' And having heard each declare his name, they
said, 'Yes, these are noble and our peers.' Now 'Ubayda was the eldest of
them, and he faced 'Utba b. Rabi'a, while Hamza faced Shayba b. Rabi'a
and 'Ali faced al-Walid b. 'Utba. It was not long before Hamza slew Shayba
and 'Ali slew al-Walid. 'Ubayda and '"Utba exchanged two blows with one
another and each laid his enemy low. Then Hamza and 'Ali turned on 'Utba
with their swords and dispatched him and bore away their comrade and
brought him back to his friends. (T. 1318.2 His leg had been cut off and the
marrow was oozing from it. When they brought 'Ubayda to the prophet he
said, '"Am I not a martyr, O apostle of God?' 'Indeed you are,' he replied.
Then 'Ubayda said, 'Were Abu Talib alive he would know that his words'

We will not give him up till we lie dead around him
And be unmindful of our women and children

are truly realized in me.") 'Asim b. 'Umar b. Qatada told me that when
the men of the Ansar declared their lineage, 'Utba said, 'You are noble and
out peers, but we desire men of our own tribe.'

Then they advanced and drew near to one another. The apostle had
ordered his companions not to attack until he gave the word, and if the
enemy should surround them® they were to keep them off with showers of
arrows. He himself remained in the hut with Abu Bakr. I was informed by
Abu Ja'far Muhammad b. al-Husayn that the battle of Badr was fought on
Friday morning on the 17th of Ramadan. Habban b. Wasi' b. Habban told
me on the authority of some elders of his tribe that on the day of Badr the
apostle dressed the ranks of his companions with an arrow which he held in
his hand. As he passed by Sawad b. Ghaziya, an ally of B. 'Adiy b. Al-
Najjar (365), who was standing out (366) of line he pricked him in his belly
with the arrow, saying, 'Stand in line, O Sawad!' "You have hurt me, O
apostle of God,' he cried, 'and God has sent you with right and justice so let
me retaliate.’ The apostle uncovered his belly and said 'Take your
retaliation.' Sawad embraced him and kissed his belly. He asked what had
made him do this and he replied, ‘O apostle of God, you see what is before
us and I may not survive the battle and as this is my last time with you I
want my skin to touch yours.' The apostle blessed him.

Then the apostle straightened the ranks and returned to the hut and
entered it, and none was with him there but Abu Bakr. The apostle was
beseeching his Lord for the help which He had promised to him, and among
his words were these: ‘O God, if this band perish today Thou wilt be
worshipped no more.' But Abu Bakr said, ‘O prophet of God, your constant
entreaty will annoy thy Lord, for surely God will fulfill His promise to
thee.' While the apostle was in the hut he slept a light sleep; then he awoke
and said, 'Be of good cheer, O Abu Bakr. God's help is come to you. Here is
Gabriel holding the rein of a horse and leading it. The dust is upon his front
teeth.’
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The first Muslim that fell was Mihja', a freedman of 'Umar: he was shot
by an arrow. Then while Haritha b. Suraqa, one of B. 'Adiy b. Al-Najjar,
was drinking from the cistern an arrow pierced his throat and killed him.

Then the apostle went forth to the people and incited them saying, 'By
God in whose hand is the soul of Muhammad, no man will be slain this day
fighting against them with steadfast courage advancing not retreating but
God will cause him to enter Paradise.' 'Umayr b. al-Humam brother of B.
Salima was eating some dates which he had in his hand. 'Fine, Fine!' said
he, 'is there nothing between me and my entering Paradise save to be killed
by these men?, He flung the dates from his hand, seized his sword, and
fought against them till he was slain, [saying the while

In God's service take no food

But piety and deeds of good.

If in God's war you've firmly stood
You need not fear as others should
While you are righteous true and good.]

'Asim b. 'Umar b. Qatada told me that 'Auf b. Harith-his mother was 'Afra'-
said ‘O apostle of God, what makes the Lord laugh with joy at His servant?'
He answered, "When he plunges into the midst of the enemy without mail.'
'Auf drew off the mail-coat that was on him and threw it away: then he
seized his sword and fought the enemy till he was slain.

Muhammad b. Muslim b. Shihab al-Zuhri on the authority of 'Abdullah
b. Tha'laba b. Su'ayr al-'Udhri, an ally of B. Zuhra, told me that when the
warriors advanced to battle and drew near to one another Abu Jahl cried, ‘O
God, destroy this morning him that more than any of us hath cut the ties of
kinship and wrought that which is not approved." Thus he condemned
himself to death.

Then the apostle took a handful of small pebbles and said, turning
towards Quraysh, 'Foul be those faces!" Then he threw the pebbles at them
and ordered his companions to charge. The foe was routed. God slew many
of their chiefs and made captive many of their nobles. Meanwhile the
apostle was in the hut and Sa'd b. Mu'adh was standing at the door of the
hut girt with his sword. With him were some of the Ansar guarding the
apostle for fear lest the enemy should come back at him. While the folk
were laying hands on the prisoners the apostle, as I have been told, saw
displeasure on the face of Sa'd at what they were doing. He said to him,
"You seem to dislike what the people are doing.' 'Yes, by God,' he replied,
'it is the first defeat that God has brought on the infidel and I would rather
see them slaughtered than left alive.'

Al-'Abbas b. 'Abdullah b. Ma'bad from one of his family from Ibn
'Abbas told me that the latter said that the prophet said to his companions
that day, T know that some of B. Hashim and others have been forced to
come out against their will and have no desire to fight us; so if any of you
meet one of B. Hashim or Abu'l-Bakhtari or al- 'Abbas the apostle's uncle
do not kill him, for he has been made to come out against his will." Abu
Hudhayfa said: 'Are we to kill our fathers and our sons and our brothers and
our families and leave al-Abbas? By God, if I meet him I will flesh my
sword in him!' (367).

This saying reached the apostle's ears and he said to 'Umar, ‘O Abu
Hafs'-and 'Umar said that this was the first time the apostle called him by
this honorific-'ought the face of the apostle's uncle to be marked with the
sword?' 'Umar replied, 'Let me off with his head! By God, the man is a false
Muslim.” Abu Hudhayfa used to say, 'l never felt safe after my words that
day. I was always afraid unless martyrdom atoned for them.' He was killed
as a martyr in the battle of al-Yamama.

The reason why the apostle forbade the killing of Abu'l-Bakhtari was
because he had kept back the people in Mecca from the apostle; he never
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insulted him or did anything offensive; and he took a prominent part in the
canceling of the boycott which Quraysh had written against B. Hashim and
B. al-Muttalib. Now al-Mujadhdhar b. Dhiyad al-Balawi, an ally of the
Ansar, of the clan of B. Salim b. 'Auf, fell in with him and told him that the
apostle had forbidden them to kill him. Now al-'As Abu'l-Bakhtari was
accompanied by his fellow-rider Junada b. Mulayha d. Zuhayr b. al-Harith
b. Asad who was one of B. Layth, and he said, 'And what about my friend
here?' 'No, by God,' said al-Mujadhdhar, 'we are not going to spare your
friend. The apostle gave us orders about you only.' 'In that case,' he said, 'l
will die with him. The women of Mecca shall not say that I forsook my
friend to save my own life.' He uttered this rajaz as al-Mujadhdhar came at
him and he insisted on fighting:

A son of the free betrays not his friend
Till he's dead, or sees him safe on his way.

The result was that al-Mujadhdhar killed him and composed these lines
thereon:

Do you not know or have you forgotten?

Then note well my line is from Bali.

Those who thrust with Yazani spears

Smiting down chiefs and bringing them low.
Tell Bakhtari that he's bereaved of his father

Or tell my son the like of me.

I am he of whom it is said my origin is in Bali.
When I thrust in my spear it bends almost double.
I kill my opponent with a sharp Mashrafi sword,
I yearn for death like a camel overfull with milk.
You will not see Mujadhdhar telling a lie (368).

Then al-Mujadhdhar went to the apostle and told him that he had done
his best to take him prisoner and bring him to him but that he had insisted
on fighting and the result had been fatal to him (369).

Yahya b. 'Abbad b. 'Abdullah b. al-Zubayr told me on the authority of
his father; and 'Abdullah b. Abu Bakr and others on the authority of
'Abdu'l-Rahman b. 'Auf told me the same, saying: 'Umayya b. Khaiaf was a
friend of mine in Mecca and my name was 'Abdu 'Amr, but I was called
'Abdu'l-Rahman when I became a Muslim. When we used to meet in Mecca
he would say, "Do you dislike the name your parents gave you?" and I
would say yes; and he would say, "As for me, I don't know al-Rahman so
adopt a name which I can call you between ourselves. You won't reply to
your original name, and I won't use one I don't know." When he said “O
'Abdu 'Amr" I wouldn't answer him, and finally I said, “O Abu 'Ali, call me
what you like," and he called me" 'Abdu'l-Ilah" and I accepted the name
from him. On the day of Badr I passed by him standing with his son 'Ali
holding him by the hand. I was carrying coats of mail which I had looted;
and when he saw me he said, “O 'Abdu 'Amr," but I would not answer until
he said “O 'Abdu'l-Ilah." Then he said, "Won't you take me prisoner, for I
am more valuable than these coats of mail which you have?" "By God I
will," T said. So I threw away the mail and took him and his son by the
hand, he saying the while "I never saw a day like this. Have you no use for
milk?" Then I walked off with the pair of them' (370).

'Abdu'l-Wahid b. Abu 'Aun from Sa'd b. Ibrahim from his father
'Abdu'l-Rahman b. 'Auf told me that the latter said: Umayya said to me as |
walked between them holding their hands, 'Who is that man who is wearing
an ostrich feather on his breast?' When I told him it was Hamza he said that
it was he who had done them so much damage. As I was leading them away
Bilal saw him with me. Now it was Umayya who used to torture Bilal in

Jihad Sira 3/26/2010 137



451

Mecca to make him abandon Islam, bringing him out to the scorching heat
of the sun, laying him on his back, and putting a great stone on his chest,
telling him that he could stay there until he gave up the religion of
Muhammad, and Bilal kept saying 'One! One!' As soon as he saw him he
said, 'The arch-infidel Umayya b. Khaiaf! May I not live if he lives.' I said,
'(Would you attack) my prisoners?' But he kept crying out these words in
spite of my remonstrances until finally he shouted at the top of his voice, ‘O
God's Helpers, the arch-infidel Umayya b. Khaiaf!l May I not live if he
lives.' The people formed a ring round us as I was protecting him. Then a
man drew his swordl and cut off his son's foot so that he fell down and
Umayya let out a cry such as I have never heard; and I said to him 'Make
your escape' (though he had no chance of escape) 'I can do nothing for you.'
They hewed them to pieces with their swords until they were dead. Abdu'l-
Rahman used to say, 'God have mercy on Bilal. I lost my coats of mail and
he deprived me of my prisoners.'

'Abdullah b. Abu Bakr told me he was told as from Ibn 'Abbas: 'A man
of B. Ghifar told me: I and a cousin of mine went up a hill from which we
could look down on Badr, we being polytheists waiting to see the result of
the battle so that we could join in the looting. And while we were on the hill
a cloud came near and we heard the neighing of horses and I heard one
saying "Forward, Hayzum!"2 As for my cousin, his heart burst asunder and
he died on the spot; I almost perished, then I pulled myself together.'

'Abdullah b. Abu Bakr from one of B. Sa'ida from Abu Usayd Malik b.
Rabi'a who was present at Badr told him after he had lost his sight: 'If I
were in Badr today and had my sight I could show you the glen from which
the angels emerged. I have not the slightest doubt on the point.'

My father Ishaq b. Yasar from men of B. Mazin b. Al-Najjar from Abu
Da'ud al-Mazini, who was at Badr, told me: 'T was pursuing a polytheist at
Badr to smite him, when his head fell off before I could get at him with my
sword, and I knew that someone else had killed him.'

One above suspicion from Migsam, freedman of 'Abdullah b. al-Harith
from 'Abdullah b. 'Abbas, told me, 'The sign of the angels at Badr was
white turbans flowing behind them: at Hunayn they wore red turbans' (371).

One above suspicion from Migsam from Ibn 'Abbas told me: The
angels did not fight in any battle but Badr. In the other battles they were
there as reinforcements, but they did not fight.

As he was fighting that day Abu Jahl was saying:

What has fierce war to dislike about me,
A young he-camel with razor-like teeth?
For this very purpose did my mother bear me (372).

When the apostle had finished with the enemy he ordered that Abu Jahl
should be looked for among the slain. (T. He said, ‘O God, don't let him
escape Thee!') The first man to find him-so Thaur b. Yazid from 'Tkrima
from Ibn 'Abbas told me; as well as 'Abdullah b. Abu Bakr who told me the
same-was Mu'adh b. 'Amr b. Al-Jamuh, brother of B. Salama, whom they
reported as saying: I heard the people saying when Abu Jahl was in a sort of
thicket, 'Abu'lI-Hakam cannot be got at' (373). When I heard that I made it
my business, and made for him. When I got within striking distance I fell
upon him and fetched him a blow which sent his foot and half his shank
flying. I can only liken it to a date-stone flying from the pestle when it is
beaten. His son 'Ikrima struck me on the shoulder and severed my arm and
it hung by the skin from my side, and the battle compelled me . to leave
him. I fought the whole of the day dragging my arm behind me and when it
became painful to me I put my foot on it and standing on it I tore it off.' He
lived after that into the reign of 'Uthman.

Mu'awwidh b. 'Afra' passed Abu Jahl as he lay there helpless and smote
him until he left him at his last gasp. He himself went on fighting until he
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was killed. Then 'Abdullah b. Mas'ud passed by Abu Jahl when the apostle
had ordered that he was to be searched for among the slain. I have heard
that the apostle had told them that if he was hidden among the corpses they
were to look for the trace of a scar on his knee. When they both were young
they had been pressed together at the table of 'Abdullah b. Jud'an. He was
thinner than Abu Jahl and he gave him a push which sent him to his knees
and one of them was scratched so deeply that it left a permanent scar.
'Abdullah b. Mas'ud said that he found him at his last gasp and put his foot
on his neck (for he had once clawed at him and punched him in Mecca),
and said to him: 'Has God put you to shame, you enemy of God?' He
replied 'How has He shamed me? Am I anything more remarkable than a
man you have killed?' Tell me how the battle went. He told him that it went
in favor of God and His apostle (374) .

Men of B. Makhzum assert that [bn Mas'ud used to say: He said to me,
"You have climbed high, you little shepherd.' Then I cut off his head and
brought it to the apostle saying, 'This is the head of the enemy of God, Abu
Jahl." He said, 'By God than Whom there is no other, is it?' (This used to be
his oath.) , Yes,' I said, and I threw his head before the apostle and he gave
thanks to God (375).

'Ukkasha b. Mihsan b. Hurthan al-Asadi, ally of B. 'Abdu Shams,
fought at Badr until his sword was broken in his hand. He came to the
apostle who gave him a wooden cudgel telling him to fight with that. When
he took it he brandished it and it became in his hand a long, strong,
gleaming sword, and he fought with it until God gave victory to the
Muslims. The sword was called al-'Aun and he had it with him in all the
battles he fought with the apostle until finally he was killed in the rebellion,
still holding it. Tulayha b. Khuwaylid al-Asadi' killed him, and this is what
he said about it:

What do you think about a people when you kill them?
Are they not men though they are not Muslims?

If camels and women were captured

You will not get away scatheless after killing Hibal.

I set Himala's breast against them — a mare well used to
The cry of "Warriors down to the fight!'

(One day you see her protected and covered,

Another day unencumbered dash to the fray)

The night I left Ibn Aqram lying

And 'Ukkasha the Ghanmite dead on the field (376).

When the apostle said, '70,000 of my people shall enter Paradise like
the full moon' 'Ukkasha asked if he could be one of them, and the apostle
prayed that he might be one. One of the Ansar got up and asked that he too
might be one of them, and he replied, "Ukkasha has forestalled you and the
prayer is cold.'

I have heard from his family that the apostle said: 'Ours is the best
horseman among the Arabs,' and when we asked who, he said that it was
'Ukkasha. When Dirar b. al-Azwar al-Asadi said, 'That is a man of ours,' the
apostle answered, 'He is not yours but ours through alliance' (377)-

Yazid b. Ruman from 'Urwa b. al-Zubayr from 'A'isha told me that the
latter said: "When the apostle ordered that the dead should be thrown into a
pit they were all thrown in except Umayya b. Khaiaf whose body had
swelled within his armor so that it filled it and when they went to move him
his body disintegrated; so they left it where it was and heaped earth and
stones upon it. As they threw them into the pit the apostle stood and said:
“O people of the pit, have you found that what God threatened is true? For |
have found that what my Lord promised me is true." His companions
asked: "Are you speaking to dead people?" He replied that they knew that
what their Lord had promised them was true.' 'Aisha said: 'People say that
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he said "They hear what I say to them," but what he said was "They
know".”

Humayd Al-Tawil told me that Anas b. Malik said: 'The apostle's
com-panions heard him saying in the middle of the night “O people of the
pit: o 'Utba, O Shayba, O Umayya, O Abu Jahl," enumerating all who had
been thrown into the pit, "Have you found that what God promised you is
true? I have found that what my Lord promised me is true." The Muslims
said, "Are you calling to dead bodies?" He answered: "You cannot hear
what I say better than they, but they cannot answer me."

A learned person told me that the apostle said that day, ‘O people of the
pit, you were an evil kinsfolk to your prophet. You called me a liar when
others believed me; you cast me out when others took me in; you fought
against me when others fought on my side.' Then he added 'Have you found
that what your Lord promised you is true?'

Hassan b. Thabit said:

I recognize the dwellings of Zaynab on the sandhill
Looking like the writing of revelation on dirty old paper. !
Winds blow over them and every dark cloud

Pours down its heavy rain;

Its traces obscured and deserted

Were once the abodes of dearly loved friends.
Abandon this constant remembrance of them,
Quench the heat of the sorrowing breast.

Tell the truth about that in which there is no shame,
Not the tale of a liar,

Of what God did on the day of Badr,

Giving us victory over the polytheists.

The day when their multitude was like Hira'
Whose foundations appear at sunset.

We met them with a company

Like lions of the jungle young and old

In defense of Muhammad in the heat of war
Helping him against the enemy.

In their hands were sharp swords

And well-tried shafts with thick knots.

The sons of Aus the leaders, helped by

The sons of Al-Najjar in the strong religion.

Abu Jahl we left lying prostrate

And 'Utba we left on the ground.

Shayba too with others

Of noble name and descent.

The apostle of God called to them

When we cast them into the pit together.

'Have you found that I spoke the truth?

And the command of God takes hold of the heart?'
They spoke not. Had they spoken they would have said,
'"Thou wast right and thy judgment was sound.'

When the apostle gave the order for them to be thrown into the pit 'Utba
was dragged to it. I have been told that the apostle looked at the face of his
son Abu Hudhayfa, and lo he was sad and his color had changed. He said, 'I
fear that you feel deeply the fate of your father' or words to that effect. 'No,'
he said, 'I have no misgivings about my father and his death, but I used to
know my father as a wise, cultured, and virtuous man and so I hoped that he
would be guided to Islam. When I saw what had befallen him and that he
had died in unbelief after my hopes for him it saddened me." The apostle
blessed him and spoke kindly to him.

Jihad Sira 3/26/2010 140



458

I have been told that the Quran came down about certain men who were
killed at Badr: 'Those whom the angels took who were wronging
them-selves they asked, What were you (doing)? They said : We were
oppressed in the earth. They said: Was not God's earth wide enough that
you could have migrated therein? As for them their habitation will be hell--
an evil resort."’ They were: al-Harith b. Zama'a; Abu Qays b. al-Fakih; Abu
Qays b. al-Walid; 'Ali b. Umayya; and al-'As b. Munabbih. These had been
Muslims while the apostle was in Mecca. When he migrated to Medina
their fathers and families in Mecca shut them up and seduced them and they
let themselves be seduced. Then they joined their people in the expedition
to Badr and were all killed.

Then the apostle ordered that everything that had been collected in the
camp should be brought together, and the Muslims quarrelled about it.
Those who had collected it claimed it, and those who had fought and
pursued the enemy claimed that had it not been for them there would have
been no booty and that had they not engaged the enemy they would not
have been able to get anything; while those who were guarding the apostle
lest the enemY should attack him claimed that they had an equal right, for
they had wanted to fight the enemy, and they had wanted to seize the booty
when there was none to defend it, but they were afraid that the enemy might
return to the charge and so they kept their position round the apostle.

'Abdu'l-Rahman b. al-Harith and others of our friends from Sulayman
b. Musa from Makhul from Abu Umama al-Bahili (378) said: 'T asked
'Ubada b. al-Samit about the chapter of al-Anfai and he said that it came
down concerning those who took part in the battle of Badr when they
quarrelled about the booty and showed their evil nature. God took it out of
their hands and gave it to the apostle, and he divided it equally among the
Muslims.'

'Abdullah b. Abu Bakr told me that Malik b. Rabi'a one of B. Sa'ida
from Abu Usayd al-Sa'idi said: T got a sword belonging to B. 'Aidh the
Makhzumites which was called al-Marzuban, and when the apostle ordered
everyone to turn in what they had taken I came and threw it into the heap of
spoils. Now the apostle never held back anything he was asked for and al-
Argam b. Abu'l-Arqam knew this and asked him for it and the apostle gave
it him.'

Then the apostle sent 'Abdullah b. Rawaha with the good news of the
victory to the people of Upper Medina, and Zayd b. Haritha to the people.
of Lower Medina. Usama b. Zayd said: 'The news came to us as we had
heaped earth on Rugayya the apostle's daughter who was married to
'Uthman b. 'Affan, (the apostle having left me behind with 'Uthman to look
after her), that Zayd b. Haritha had come. So I went to him as he was
standing in the place of prayer surrounded by the people, and he was
saying: "Utba and Shayba and Abu Jahl and Zama'a and Abu'l-Bakhtari
and Umayya and Nubayh and Munabbih have been slain." I said, "Is this
true, my father?" and he said, "Yes, by God it is, my son."

Then the apostle began his return journey to Medina with the
un-believing prisoners, among whom were 'Ugba b. Abu Mu'ayt and al-
Nadr b. al-Harith. The apostle carried with him the booty that had been
taken from the polytheists and put 'Abdullah b. Ka'b in charge of it. A rajaz
poet of the Muslims (379) said:

Start your camels, O Basbas!
There's no halting-place in Dhu Taih'
Nor in the desert of Ghumayr a pen.
The people's camels cannot be locked up.
So to set them on the way is wiser
God having given victory and Akhnas having fled.
Then the apostle went forward until when he came out of the pass of al-
Safra' he halted on the sandhill between the pass and al-Naziya called Sayar
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at a tree there and divided the booty which God had granted to the Muslims
equally.? Then he marched until he reached Rauha' when the Muslims met
him congratulating him and the Muslims on the victory God had given him.
Salama b. Salama--so 'Asim b. 'Umar b. Qatada and Yazid b. Ruman told
me--said, 'What are you congratulating us about? By God, we only met
some bald old women like the sacrificial camels who are hobbled, and we
slaughtered them!' The apostle smiled and said, 'But, nephew, those were
the chiefs' (380). When the apostle was in al-Safra’, al-Nadr was killed by
'Alj, as a learned Meccan told me. When he was in 'Irqu'l-Zabya "Ugba was
killed (381). He had been captured by 'Abdullah b. Salima, one of the B. al-
'Ajlan.

When the apostle ordered him to be killed 'Ugba said, 'But who will
look after my children, O Muhammad?' 'Hell', he said, and 'siim b. Thabit
b. Abu'l-Aqlah al-Ansari killed him according to what Abu 'Ubayda b.
Muhammad b. 'Ammar b. Yasir told me (382).

Abu Hind, freedman of Farwa b. 'Amr al-Bayadi, met the apostle there
with a jar full of butter and dates (383). He had stayed behind from Badr
but was present at all the other battles and afterwards became the apostle's
cupper. The apostle said, 'Abu Hind is one of the Ansar; intermarry with 459
him," and they did so.

The apostle arrived in Medina a day before the prisoners. 'Abdullah b.
Abu Bakr told me that Yahya b. 'Abdullah b. 'Abdu'l-Rahman b. As'ad b.
Zurara told him that the prisoners were brought in when Sauda d. Zama'a,
the wife of the prophet, was with the family of 'Afra' when they were
bewailing 'Auf and Mu'awwidh 'Afra’s sons, this being before the veil was
imposed on them. Sauda said: 'As I was with them, suddenly it was said:

"Here are the prisoners" and I returned to my house where the apostle
was. And there was Abu Yazid Suhayl b. 'Amr in a comer of the room with
his hands tied to his neck. I could hardly contain myself when I saw Abu
Yazid in this state and I said, “O Abu Yazid, you surrendered too readily.
You ought to have died a noble death!" Suddenly the pro-phet's voice
startled me: "Sauda, would you stir up trouble against God and his
apostle?" 1 said, "By God, I could hardly contain myself when I saw Abu
Yazid in this state and that is why I said what I did."

Nubayh b. Wahb brother of B. 'Abdu'l-Dar told me that the apostle
divided the prisoners amongst his companions and said, 'Treat them well.'
Now Abu 'Aziz b. 'Umayr b. Hashim, brother of Muy'ab b. 'Umayr by the
same mother and father, was among the prisoners and he said, 'My brother
Muy'ab passed by me as one of the Angar was binding me and he said: "Bind
him fast, for his mother is a wealthy woman; perhaps she will redeem him
from you." I was with a number of the Ansar when they brought me from
Badr, and when they ate their morning and evening meals they gave me the

bread and ate the dates themselves in accordance with the orders that the
apostle had given about us. If anyone had a morsel of bread he gave it to 460

me. I felt ashamed and returned it to one of them but he returned it to me
untouched' (384).

The first to come to Mecca with news of the disaster was al-Haysuman
b. 'Abdullah al-Khuza'i, and when they asked for news he enumerated all
the Quraysh chiefs who had been killed. Safwan who was sitting in the hijr
said, 'This fellow is out of his mind. Ask him about me.' So they said: 'What
happened to Safwan b. Umayya?' He answered, 'There he is sitting in the
hijr, and by God I saw his father and his brother when they were killed.'

Husayn b. 'Abdullah b. 'UbaydAllah b. 'Abbas from 'Tkrima, freedman
of Ibn 'Abbas, told me that Abu Rafi', freedman of the apostle, said, 'T used
to be a slave of 'Abbas. Islam had entered among us, the people of the
house; 'Abbas had become a Muslim, and so had Ummu'l-Fadl, and so had
1. But 'Abbas was afraid of his people and disliked to go against them, so he
hid his faith; he had a great deal of money scattered among the people. Abu
Lahab had stayed behind from the Badr expedition sending in his stead al-
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".As b. Hisham; for that is what they did-any man who stayed behind sent
another in his place. And when news came of the Quraysh disaster at Badr
God humiliated Abu Lahab and put him to shame while we found ourselves
in a position of power and respect. Now I was a weak man and I used to
make arrows, sharpening them in the tent of Zamzam, and 10 as I was
sitting there with Ummu'l-Fadl sharpening arrows delighted with the news
that had come, up came Abu Lahab dragging his feet in ill temper and sat
down at the end of the tent with his back to mine. As he was sitting there
people said, "Here is Abu Sufyan b. al-Harith b. 'Abdu'l-Muttalib (385) just
arrived." Abu Lahab said, "Come here, for you have news." So he came and
sat with him while the people stood round, and when he asked his nephew
for the news he said, " As soon as we met the party we turned our backs and
they were killing and capturing us just as they pleased; and by God I don't
blame the people for that. We met men in white on piebald horses between
heaven and earth, and by God they spared nothing and none could
withstand them." So I lifted the rope of the tent and said: "Those were the
angels." Abu Lahab struck me violently in the face. I leapt at him, but he
knocked me down and knelt on me beating me again and again, for I was a
weak man. Ummu'l-Fad' went and got one of the supports of the tent and
split his head with a blow which left a nasty wound, saying, "You think you
can despise him now his master is away!" He got up and turned tail
humiliated. He only lived for another week, for God smote him with
pustules, from which he died.'

(T. 1340. 10. His two sons left him unburied for two or three nights so
that the house stank (for the Quraysh dread pustules and the like as men
dread plague) until finally a man said to them: 'It is disgraceful! Are you
not ashamed that your father should stink in his house while- you do not
cover him from the sight of men?' They replied that they were afraid of
those ulcers. He offered to go with them. They did not wash the body but
threw water over it from a distance without touching it. Then they took it up
and buried it on the high ground above Mecca by a wail and threw stones
over it until it was covered.

Ibn Hamid said that Salama b. al-Fadl said that Muhammad b. Ishaq
said that al- 'Abbas b. 'Abdullah b. Ma'bad from one of his family on the
authority of 'Abdullah b. 'Abbas said: 'On the night of Badr when the
prisoners were safely guarded, the apostle could not sleep during the first
part of the night. When his companions asked him the reason he said:

"I heard the writhing of al-'Abbas in his prison." So they got up and
liberated him whereupon the apostle slept soundly.'

On the same authority I heard that Muhammad b. Ishaq said: "'al-Hasan
b. 'Umara told me from al-Hakam b. 'Utayba from Miqgsam from Ibn
'Abbas: The man who captured al-'Abbas was Abu'l-Yasar Ka'b b. 'Amr
brother of the B. Salima. Abu'l-Yasar was a compact little man while al-
'Abbas was bulky. When the apostle asked the former how he had managed
to capture him, he said that a man such as he had never seen before or
afterwards had helped him, and when he described him, the apostle said, "A
noble angel helped you against him." )

(Suhayli, ii. 79: In the riwaya of Yunus LI. recorded that the apostle
saw her (Ummu'l-Fadl) when she was a baby crawling before him and said,
'If she grows up and I am still alive I will marry her.' But he died before she
grew up and Sufyan b. al-Aswad b. 'Abdu'l-Asad al-Makhzumi married her
and she bore him Rizq and Lubaba ....

They did not bury Abu Lahab, but he was put against a wall and stones
were thrown upon him from behind the wall until he was covered. It is said
that when '.A'isha passed the place she used to veil her face.)

Yahya b. 'Abbad b.'Abdullah b. al-Zubayr from his father 'Abbad told
me that Quraysh bewailed their dead. Then they said, 'Do not do this, for
the news will reach Muhammad and his companions and they will rejoice
over your misfortune; and do not send messengers about your captives but
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hold back so that Muhammad and his companions may not demand
excessive ransoms.' Al-Aswad b. al-Muttalib had lost three of his sons:
Zama'a, 'Aqil, and al-Harith b. Zama'a, and he wanted to bewail them.
Meanwhile he heard a weeping woman, and as he was blind he told a
servant to go and see whether lamentation had been permitted, for if
Quraysh were weeping over their dead he might weep for Zam'a Abu
Hakima, for he was consumed by a burning sorrow. The servant returned to
say that it was a woman weeping over a camel she had lost. Thereupon he
said:

Does she weep because she has lost a camel?

And does this keep her awake all night?

Weep not over a young camel

But over Badr where hopes were dashed to the ground.
Over Badr the finest of the sons of Husays

And Makhzum and the clan of Abu'l-Walid.

Weep if you must weep over 'Aqil,

Weep for Harith the lion of lions,

Weep unweariedly for them all,

For Abu Hakim had no peer.

Now they are dead, men bear rule

Who but for Badr would be of little account (386).

Among the prisoners was Abu Wada'a b. Dubayra al-Sahmi. The
apostle remarked that in Mecca he had a son who was a shrewd and rich
merchant and that he would soon come to redeem his father. When Quraysh
counseled delay in redeeming the prisoners so that the ransom should not
be extortionate al-Muttalib b. Abu Wada'a--the man the apostle meant--
said, "You are right. Don't be in a hurry." And he slipped away at night and
came to Medina and recovered his father for 4,000 dirhams and took him
away.

Then Quraysh sent to redeem the prisoners and Mikraz b. Hafs b.
al-Akhyaf came about Suhayl b. 'Amr who had been captured by Malik b.
al-Dukhshum, brother of the B. Salim b. 'Auf, who said:

I captured Suhayl and I would not exchange him
For a prisoner from any other people.

Khindif knows that its hero is Suhayl

When injustice is complained of.

I struck with my keen sword until it bent.

I forced myself to fight this hare-lipped man.
Suhayl was a man whose lower lip was split (387)

Muhammad b. 'Amr b. 'Ata’, brother of B. 'Amir b. Lu'ayy, told me that
'Umar said to the apostle, "Let me pull out Suhayl's two front teeth; his
tongue will stick out and he will never be able to speak against you again.'
He answered, 'I will not mutilate him, otherwise God would mutilate me
though I am a prophet.'

I have heard that in this tradition the apostle said to 'Umar, 'Perhaps he
will make a stand for which you will not blame him" (388).

When Mikraz had spoken about him and finally agreed on terms with
them they demanded the money, and he asked that they would hold him as
security and let Suhayl go so that he could send his ransom. They did so
and imprisoned Mikraz in his stead. Mikraz said:

I redeemed with costly” she-camels a captive hero.

(The payment is for a true Arab not for clients).

I pledged my person, though money would be easier for me.
But I feared being put to shame.
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I said, 'Suhayl is the best of us, so take him back
To our sons so that we may attain our desires' (389).

(T. 1344- Ibn Hamid from Salama from Ibn Ishaq from al-Kalbi from
Abu Salih from Ibn 'Abbas told me that the apostle said to al- 'Abbas when
he was brought to Medina, 'Redeem yourself, O 'Abbas, and your two
nephews 'Aqil b. Abu Talib and Naufal b. al-Harith and your ally 'Utba b.
'Amr b. Jahdam brother of the B. al-Harith b. Fihr, for you are a rich man.'
He replied, 'T was a Muslim but the people compelled me (to fight). He
answered, 'God knows best about your Islam. If what you say is true God
will reward you for it. But to all outward appearance you have been against
us, so pay us your ransom.' Now the apostle had taken twenty okes of gold
from him and he said, ‘O apostle of God, credit me with them in my
ransom.' He replied, 'That has nothing to do with it. God took that from you
and gave it to us.' He said, 'l have no money." 'Then where is the money
which you left with Ummu'l-Fadl d. al-Harith when you left

Mecca? You two were alone when you said to her, "If I am killed so
much is for al-Fadl, 'Abdullah and Qutham and 'Ubaydullah." 'By him who
sent you with the truth,' he exclaimed, 'none but she and I knew of this and
now I know that you are God's apostle.! So he redeemed himself and the
three men named above.)'

'Abdullah b. Abu Bakr told me that Abu Sufyan's son' Amr whom he
had by a daughter of 'Ugba b. Abu Mu'ayt (390) was a prisoner in the
apostle's hands from Badr (391); and when Abu Sufyan was asked to
ransom his son 'Amr he said, 'Am I to suffer the double loss of my blood
and my money? They have killed Hanzala and am I to ransom 'Amr? Leave

him with them. They can keep him as long as they like!' 464

While he was thus held prisoner in Medina with the apostle Sa'd b.
al-Nu'man b. Akkal, brother of B. 'Amr b. 'Auf, one of the B. Mu'awiya,
went forth on pilgrimage accompanied by a young wife of his. He was an
old man and a Muslim who had sheep in al-Naqi’.2 He left that place on
pilgrimage without fear of any untoward events, never thinking that he
would be detained in Mecca, as he came as a pilgrim, for he knew that
Quraysh did not usually interfere with pilgrims, but treated them well. But
Abu Sufyan fell upon him in Mecca and imprisoned him in retaliation for
his son 'Amr. Then Abu Sufyan said:

O family of Ibn Akkal, answer his plea

May you lose each other! Do not surrender the chief in his prime.
The Banu 'Amr will be base and contemptible

If they do not release their captive from his fetters.

Hassan b. Thabit answered him:

If Sa'd had been free the day he was in Mecca

He would have killed many of you ere he was captured.

With a sharp sword or a bow of hab'a wood

Whose string twangs when the arrow is shot.

The B. 'Amr b. 'Auf went to the apostle and told him the news and
asked him to give them 'Amr b. Abu Sufyan so that they could let him go in
exchange for their man and the apostle did so. So they sent him to Abu
Sufyan and he released Sa'd.

Among the prisoners was Abu'l-'As b. al-Rabi', son-in-law of the
apostle, married to his daughter Zaynab (392). Abu'l-'A; was one of the
important men of Mecca in wealth, respect, and merchandise. His mother
was Hala d. Khuwaylid, and Khadija was his aunt. Khadija had asked the
apostle to find him a wife. Now the apostle never opposed her-this was

before revelation came to him-and so he married him to his daughter.
Khadija used to regard him as her son. When God honoured His apostle 465

with prophecy Khadija and her daughters believed in him and testified that
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he had brought the truth and followed his religion, though Abu'l-'As
persisted in his polytheism. Now the apostle had married Ruqayya or Umm
Kulthum to 'Utba b. Abu Lahab, and when he openly preached to Quraysh
the command of God and showed them hostility they reminded one another
that they had relieved Muhammad of his care for his daughters and decided
to return them so that he should have the responsibility of looking after
them himself. They went to Abu'l- 'A, and told him to divorce his wife and
they would give him any woman he liked. He refused, saying that he did
not want any other woman from Quraysh; and I have heard that the apostle
used to speak warmly of his action as a son-in-law. Then they went to 'Utba
b. Abu Lahab with the same request and he said that if they would give him
the daughter of Aban b. Sa'id b. al-'As or the daughter of Sa'id b. al-'As he
would divorce his wife, and when they did so he divorced her, not having
consummated the marriage. Thus God took her from him to her honor and
his shame, and 'Uthman afterwards married her.

Now the apostle had no power of binding and loosing in Mecca, his
circumstances being circumscribed. Islam had made a division between
Zaynab and her husband Abu'l-'As, but they lived together, Muslim and
unbeliever, until the apostle migrated. Abu'l-'As joined the expedition to
Badr and was captured among the prisoners and remained at Medina with
the apostle.

Yahya b. 'Abbad b. 'Abdullah b. al-Zubayr from his father 'Abbad told
me that 'A'isha said: '"When the Meccans sent to ransom their prisoners,
Zaynab sent the money for Abu'l-'As; with it she sent a necklace which
Khadija had given her on her marriage to Abu'l-'As. When the apostle saw
it his feelings overcame him and he said: "If you would like to let her have
her captive husband back and return her money to her, do so." The people
at once agreed and they let him go and sent her money back.'

ZAYNAB SETS OUT FOR MEDINA

Now the apostle had imposed a condition on Abu'l- 'As, or the latter had
undertaken it voluntarily-the facts were never clearly established-that he
should let Zaynab come to him. At any rate, after Abu'l-'As had reached
Mecca the apostle sent Zayd b. Haritha and one of the Ansar with
instructions to stop in the valley of Yajaj " until Zaynab passed, and then to
accompany her back to him. About a month or so after Badr they went off
to take up their position. Meanwhile Abu'l-'As came to Mecca and told
Zaynab to rejoin her father, and she went out to make her preparations.

'Abdullah b. Abu Bakr told me that he had been told that Zaynab said
that while she was making her preparations she was met by Hind d. 'Utba
who inquired whether she was going off to rejoin Muhammad. When she
said that she did not wish to go, Hind offered to give her anything she
needed for the journey as well as money. She need not be shy of her, for
women stood closer together than men. However, though she thought she
was sincere she was afraid of her and denied that she had any intention of
going. But she went on with her preparations.

These completed, her brother-in-law Kinana b. al-Rabi' brought her a
camel and taking his bow he led her away in a howdah in broad daylight.
After discussing the matter Quraysh went off in pursuit and overtook them
in Dhu Tuwa The first man to come up with them was Habbar b. al-Aswad
b. al-Muttalib b. Asad b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza al-Fihri. He threatened her with his
lance as she sat in the howdah. It is alleged that the woman was pregnant
and' when she was frightened she had an abortion. Her brother-in-law
Kinana knelt and emptied his quiver [in front of him] and said, 'By God, if
one of you comes near me I will put an arrow through him.' So the men fell
back. Then Abu Sufyan with some Quraysh leaders came up and asked him
to unbend his bow so that they could discuss the matter. Then he came up
to him and said, 'You have not done the right thing. You have taken the
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woman out publicly over the heads of the people when you know of our
misfortune and disaster which Muhammad has brought on us. The people
will think, if you take away his daughter publicly over the heads of
everyone, that that is a sign of our humiliation after the disaster that has
happened and an exhibition of utter weakness. 'Od's life we don't want to
keep her from her father and that is not our way of seeking revenge. But
take the woman back, and when the chatter has died down and people say
that we have brought her back you can take her away secretly to rejoin her
father." This is exactly what happened and one night he took her off and
delivered her to Zayd b. Haritha and his companion and they took her to the
apostle.

'Abdullah b. Rawaha or Abu Khaythama, brother of B. Salim b. 'Auf
said of this affair of Zaynab's (393):

Tidings reached me of their wicked treatment of Zaynab,
So criminal that men could not imagine it.

Muhammad was not put to shame when she was sent forth
Because of the result of the bloody war between us.

From his alliance with Damdam ' and his war with us
Abu Sufyan got but disappointment and remorse.

We bound his son 'Amr and his sworn friend together

In well-wrought jangling irons.

I swear we shall never lack soldiers,

Army leaders with many a champion.

Driving before us infidel Quraysh until we subdue them
With a halter above their noses (and) with a branding iron.

468

We will drive them to the ends of Najd and Nakhla.

If they drop to the lowland we will pursue them with horse and foot
So that our road will never deviate.

We will bring upon them the fate of 'Ad and Jurhum.

A people that disobeyed Muhammad will regret it.

And what a time for showing repentance!

Tell Abu Sufyan if you meet him

'If you are not sincere in worship, and embrace Islam

Then shame will come on you speedily in this life

And in hell you will wear a garment of molten pitch for ever!' (394)

Abu Sufyan's 'sworn friend' was 'Amir b. al-Hadrami ' who was among
the prisoners. Al-Hadrami was an ally of Harb b. Umayya (395).

When those who had gone out to Zaynab returned Hind d. 'Utba met
them and said:

In peace are you. wild asses-rough and coarse
And in war like women in their courses?

Kinana b. al-Rabi' when he handed Zaynab over to the two men said:

I am astonished at Habbar and the paltry ones of his people
Who wish me to break my word with Muhammad's daughter.
I care not for their numbers as long as I live

And as long as my hand can grasp my trusty blade.

Yazid b. Abu Habib from Bukayr b. 'Abdullah b. al-Ashajj from
Sulay-man b. Yasar from Abu Ishaq al-Dausi from Abu Hurayra, told me
that the latter said: 'The apostle sent me among a number of raiders with
orders that if we got hold of Habbar b. al-Aswad or the other man who first
got to Zaynab with him (396) we were to burn them with fire. On the
following day he sent word to us "I told you to burn these two men if you
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got hold of them; then I reflected that none has the right to punish by fire
save God, so if you capture them kill them."

ABU'L-AS B. AL-RABI' BECOMES A MUSLIM

When Islam thus came between them Abu'l-'As lived in Mecca while
Zaynab lived in Medina with the apostle until, shortly before the conquest, 2
Abu'l-'As went to Syria trading with his own money and that of Quraysh
which they entrusted to him, for he was a trustworthy man. Having
completed his business he was on his way home when one of the apostle's
raiding parties fell in with him and took all he had, though he himself
escaped them. When the raiders went off with their plunder Abu'l-'As went
into Zaynab's house under cover of night and asked her to give him
protection. She at once did so. He came to ask for his property. When the
apostle went out to morning prayer-so Yazid b. Ruman told me -- and said
'Allah Akbar' followed by all present, Zaynab cried from the place where
the women sat ‘O you men, I have given protection to Abu'l-'A; b. al-
Rabi'"" His prayers over, the apostle turned round to face the men and
asked them if they had heard what he had heard, and when they said that
they had he swore that he knew nothing about the matter until Zaynab made
her declaration, adding, 'the meanest Muslim can give protection on their
behalf. He went off to see his daughter and told her to honor her guest but
not to allow him to approach her for she was not lawful to him.

'Abdullah b. Abu Bakr told me that the apostle sent to the raiding party
which had taken Abu'l-'As's goods saying: 'This man is related to us as you
know and you have taken property of his. If you think well to restore it to
him we should like that; but if you will not it is booty which God has given
you and you have the better right to it.' They replied that they would
willingly give it back and they were so scrupulous that men brought back
old skins and little leather bottles and even a little piece of wood until
everything was returned and nothing withheld. Then Abu'l-'A, went to
Mecca and paid everyone what was due, including those who had given
him money to layout on their behalf, and asked them if anyone of them had
any further claim on him. 'No,' they said, 'God reward you; we have found
you both trustworthy and generous.' 'Then', said he, 'l bear witness that
there is no God but the God and that Muhammad is his servant and his
apostle. I would have become a Muslim when I was with him but that I
feared that you would think that I only wanted to rob you of your property;
and now that God has restored it to you and I am clear of it I submit myself
to God.' Thus saying he went off to rejoin the apostle.

Dawud b. al-Husayn from 'Ikrima from b. 'Abbas told me that the
apostle restored Zaynab to him according to the first marriage *after six
years had passed* without any new procedure (397).

Among the prisoners who, [ was told, were given their freedom without
having to pay ransom were: Abu'l-' ,; whom the prophet freed after Zaynab
his daughter had sent his ransom; al-Muttalib b. Hantab b. al-Harith b.
'Ubayda b. 'Umar b. Makhzum who belonged [by capture] to some of B. al-
Harith b. al-Khazraj (He was left in their hands until they let him go, and he
went to his people.) (398); Sayfi b. Abu Rifa'a b. 'Abid b. 'Abdullah b.
'Umar b. Makhzu. (He was left in the hands of his captors and when no one
came to ransom him they let him go on condition that he should send his
ransom, but he broke his word to them. Hassan b. Thabit said in reference
to that:

Sayfi is not the man to fulfill his pledge
The back of a fox tired at some waterhole or 0'[her;2

and Abu 'Azza 'Amr b. 'Abdullah b. 'Uthman b. Uhayb b. Hudhafa b.
Jumah. He was a poor man whose family consisted of daughters, and he
said to the apostle: 'You know that I have no money, and am in real need
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with a large family, so let me go without ransom.' The apostle did so on
condition that he should not fight against him again. Praising him and
mentioning his kindness among his people Abu 'Azza said:

Who will tell the apostle Muhammad from me
You are true and the divine King is to be praised?
You call men to truth and right guidance,

God himself witnesses to you.

You are a man given a place among us

To which there are steps hard and easy.

Those who fight you die miserably,

Those who make peace live happily.

When I am reminded of Badr and its people
Sorrow and a sense of loss come over me (399). !

'UMAYR B. WAHB BECOMES A MUSLIM

Muhammad b. Ja'far b. al-Zubayr from 'Urwa b. al-Zubayr told me that
'Umayr was sitting with Safwan b. Umayya in the hijr shortly after Badr.
Now 'Umayr was one of the leaders of Quraysh who used to molest the
apostle and his companions and cause them distress while he was in Mecca,
and his son Wahb was among the prisoners taken at Badr (400). He
mentioned those who were thrown into the well and Safwan said, 'By God,
there is no good in life now they are dead.' 'You are right,' said 'Umayr,
'were it not for a debt outstanding against me which I cannot pay and a
family I cannot afford to leave unprovided for, I would ride to Muhammad
and kill him, for I have good cause against the lot of them, my son being a
prisoner in their hands.' Safwan took him up and said: 'T will discharge your
debt and take care of your family with my own so long as they live. All that
I have shall be theirs.' "Umayr and he agreed to keep the matter secret.

Then '"Umayr called for his sword and sharpened it and smeared it with
poison and went off to Medina. While 'Umar was taking with some of the
Muslims about Badr and mentioning how God had honoured them in giving
them victory over their enemies he suddenly saw 'Umayr stopping at the
door of the mosque girt with his sword, and said, 'This dog the enemy of
God is 'Umayr b. Wahb. By God he's come for some evil purpose. It was he
who made mischief among us and calculated our numbers for the enemy at
Badr.' Then 'Umar went into the apostle and said, ‘O prophet of God, this
enemy of God 'Umayr b. Wahb has come girt with his sword.' He told him
to let him come in and 'Umar advanced and seizing his bandoleer he
gripped him round the neck with it. He told the Ansar who were with him
to come in and sit with the apostle and to watch the rascal carefully, for he
was not to be trusted. When the apostle saw 'Umayr and 'Umar grasping the
bandoleer round his neck he told 'Umar to let go and 'Umayr to advance. He
carne up and said 'Good morning', for that was the greeting of paganism.
The apostle said, 'God has honoured us with a better greeting than thine,
'Umayr. It is Salam, the greeting of the inhabitants of Paradise.' 'By God,
Muhammad, you have taken to it only recently.”" 'What brought you?' 'l
have come about this prisoner you have that you may treat him well.' "Then
why have you a sword round your neck?' 'God damn the swords. Have they
done us any good?' 'Tell me the truth. Why have you come?' 'I came only
for the reason I have told you.' 'Nay, but you and Safwan b. Umayya sat
together in the hijr and talked about the Quraysh who were thrown into the
well. Then you said" But for debts and family reasons I would go and kill
Muhammad." And Safwan assumed responsibility for both if you would
kill me for him, but God intervened.' I testify that you are the apostle of
God. We used to call you a liar when you brought us tidings from heaven
and we denied the revelation you brought. But this is a matter to which only
I and Safwan were privy, and none can have told you of it but God. Praise
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be to God who has guided me to Islam and led me thus.' Then he testified to
the truth and the apostle said, 'Instruct your brother in his religion, read the
Quran to him, and free his prisoner for him,' and they did so.

Then he said, 'T used to be active in extinguishing the light of God and
in persecuting those who followed God's religion. I should like you to give
me permission to go to Mecca to summon them to God and His apostle and
to Islam that perhaps God may guide them; and if not I will persecute them
in their religion as I used to persecute your companions.' The apostle agreed
and he went to Mecca. When 'Umayr had left, Safwan was saying, 'You
will soon have some good news which will make you forget what happened
at Badr.' Safwan kept questioning riders until one came who told him of
"Umayr's Islam, and he swore that he would never speak to him again nor
do him a service. When 'Umayr carne to Mecca he stayed there summoning
people to Islam and treating those who opposed him violently so that
through him many became Muslims.

I was told that it was either "Umayr or al-Harith b. Hisham who saw the
devil when he turned on his heels on the day of Badr and said, "Where are
you going, O Suraqa?' And the enemy of God lay on the ground and
disappeared.2 So God sent down concerning him, 'And when Satan made
their works seem good to them and said None can conquer you today for I
am your protector” and he mentions how the devil deceived them and took
the form of Suraqa b. Malik b. Ju'shum when they remembered the quarrel
they had with B. Bakr. God said, 'And when the two armies saw each other'
and the enemy of God saw the armies of angels by which God strengthened
His apostle and the believers against, their enemies 'he turned on his heels
and said, "I am quit of you, for I see what you do not see." The enemy of
God spoke the truth for he did see what they could not see and said, "I fear
God for God is severe in punishment."' I was told that they used to see him
in every camp whenever he appeared in the form of Suraqa not suspecting
him until on the day of Badr when the two armies met he turned on his
heels and betrayed them after he had led them on (401).

Hassan b. Thabit said:

My people it was who sheltered their prophet

And believed in him when all the world were unbelievers,
Except a chosen few who were forerunners

To the righteous, helpers with the Helpers.

Rejoicing in God's portion

Saying when he came to them, noble of race, chosen,
Welcome in safety and comfort,

Goodly the prophet the portion and the guest.

They gave him a home in which a guest of theirs

Need have no fear-- an (ideal) home.

They shared their wealth when the refugees came

While the share of the stubborn opponent is hell.

To Badr we went--they to their death.

Had they known what they should have known they would not have
gone;

The devil deluded and then betrayed them.

Thus does the evil one deceive his friends.

He said I am your protector and brought them to an evil pass
Wherein is shame and disgrace.

Then when we fought them they deserted their leaders,
Some fleeing to high ground others to the plain (402).

THE QURAYSH WHO FED THE PILGRIMS

The names of the Quraysh who used to feed the pilgrims are as follows:
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From B. Hashim: AL-'Abbas b. 'Abdu'l-Muttalib. From B. 'Abdu
Shams: 'Utba b. Rabi'a.

From B. Naufal: al-Harith b. 'Amir and Tu'ayma b. 'Adiy by turns.
From B. Asad: Abu'l-Bakhtari and Hakim b. Hizam by turns.

From B. 'Abdu'l-Dar: al-Nadr b. al-Harith b. Kalda b. 'Aigama (4°3).
From B. Makhzum: Abu Jahl.

From B. Jumah: Umayya b. Khaiaf.

From B. Sahm: Nubayh and Munabbih sons of al-Hajjaj b. 'Amir by
turns.

From B. 'Amir b. Lu'ayy: Suhayl b. 'Amr b. 'Abdu Shams (404).

476

THE COMING DOWN OF THE SURA ANFAL

When Badr was over, God sent down the whole Sura Anfai about it.
With regard to their quarrelling about the spoils there came down: "They
will ask you about the spoils, say, the spoils belong to God and the apostle,
so fear God and be at peace with one another, and obey God and His
apostle if you are believers.'

'Ubada b. al-Samit, so I have heard, when he was asked about this sura
said: 'It came down about us, the people of Badr, when we quarrelled about
the booty on that day, and God took it out of our hands when we showed an
evil disposition and gave it to the apostle, who divided it equally among us.
In that there was the fear of God, and obedience to Him and to His apostle,
and peace among us.'

Then He mentions the army, and their journey with the apostle when
they knew that Quraysh had come out against them, and they had only gone
out making for the caravan because they wanted booty, and He said, 'As thy
Lord brought thee out of thy house in truth when a part of the believers
were unwilling, they disputed with thee about the truth after it had become
plain, as though they were being driven to their death while they looked on.'
i.e. Unwilling to meet the army and disliking to confront Quraysh when
they were told of them.

'And when God promised you that one of the parties should be yours,
and you wanted to have the one that was not armed.' i.e. Booty and not war.

'And God wanted to establish the truth by His words, and to cut off the 477

uttermost part of the unbelievers.' i.e. By the disaster which He brought
upon the chiefs and leaders of Quraysh on the day of Badr.

'When you asked your Lord for help.' i.e. Their prayers when they
looked at the multitude of their enemies and their own small numbers. 'And
He answered you.' i.e. The prayer of His apostle and your prayers. 'I will
reinforce you with a thousand angels, one behind another. When He made
you slumber as a reassurance from Him.' i.e. I sent down reassur-ance upon
you when you slumbered unafraid.

'And He sent down water from heaven upon you.' i.e. The rain that
came upon them that night and prevented the polytheists from getting to the
water first, and left the way clear to the Muslims.

'"That He might cleanse you by it, and take from you the impurity of
Satan, and strengthen your hearts, and confirm your steps.' i.e., To take
from you the doubt of Satan when he made them afraid of the enemy, and
the hardening of the ground for them so that they got to their halting-place
before the enemy arrived.

Then God said, 'Then thy Lord revealed to the angels, I am with you so
strengthen those that believe.' i.e. help those that believe.

'l will cast terror into the hearts of those who disbelieve, so strike off
their heads and cut off all their fingers, because they opposed God and His
apostle and he who opposes God and His apostle (will find)God severe in
punishment.’

Then He said, ‘O you who believe, when you meet those who
disbelieve on the march, do not turn your backs. He who turns his back
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except in maneuvering or intending to join another section, incurs the wrath
of God, and his destination is Hell, a miserable end.' i.e. Inciting them
against their enemy so that they should not withdraw from them when they
met them, God having promised what He had promised.

Then God said concerning the apostle's throwing pebbles at them,
'When you threw, it was not you that threw, but God.' i.e. Your throwing
would have had no effect unless God had helped you therein and cast terror
into their hearts when He put them to flight.

'And to test the believers with a good test.' i.e. To let them know of His
favor towards them in giving them victory over their enemies in spite of
their small number that they might know thereby His truth, and be thank-ful
for His favor.

Then He said, 'If you sought a judgment, a judgment came to you.' i.e.
With reference to what Abu Jahl said, ‘O God, he who is the worst in
severing relations and bringing us things that are unacceptable destroy him
this morning."" Istiftah means to pray for what is just.

God said, 'If you cease,' that is addressed to Quraysh, 'it is better for
you, and if you return (to the attack) We will return.' i.e. With a similar
blow to that which We gave you on the day of Badr.

'And your army will avail you nothing however numerous, and (know)
that God is with the believers.' i.e. That your number and multitude will not
avail you at all while I am with the believers, helping them against those
that oppose them.

Then God said, ‘O you that believe, obey God and His apostle, turn not
away from him while you are listening.' i.e. Do not contradict his orders
when you hear him speak and while you assert that you are on his side.
'And be not like those who said, "We hear" when they did not hear.' i.e.
Like the hypocrites who pretend to be obedient and are secretly
dis-obedient to him.

'"The worst of beasts with God are the deaf and the dumb who do not
understand.' i.e. The hypocrites whom I have forbidden you to imitate.
Dumb in reference to good, deaf to truth, hot understanding and not
know-ing the vengeance and consequence which will come upon them.

'Had God known that there was good among them, He would have
made them listen.' i.e. In performing for them the words which they spoke
with their tongues, but their hearts contradicted them, and if they had come

forth with you, 'they would have turned their backs, going aside.' i.e.
Would not have been faithful to you in the purpose for which they had
come out.

‘O you who believe, respond to God and the apostle when he summons
you to that which will quicken you.' i.e. to the war in which God exalted
you after humiliation, and made you strong after weakness, and protected
you from your enemies after you had been overcome by them.

'And remember when you were few, despised in the land, fearing that
men would pluck you away, and He gave you refuge and strengthened you
by His help and nourished you with good things that you might be
thank-ful. O you who believe, betray not God and His apostle and betray
not your trust knowingly.' i.e. Do not show Him what is right, which
pleases Him, and then oppose Him secretly in something else, for that is
destroying your trust and treachery to yourselves.

‘O you who believe, fear God and He will make for you a furgan, ' and
wipe away your evil acts and pardon you. God is exceeding bountiful.' i.e.
A distinction between true and false by which God shows your truth and
extinguishes the falsehood of those who oppose you.

Then He reminds the apostle of His favor towards him when the people
plotted against him 'to kill him, or to wound him, or to drive him out; and
they plotted and God plotted, and God is the best of plotters.' i.e. I deceived
them with My firm guile so that I delivered you from them.
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Then He mentions the folly of Quraysh in asking for a judgment against
themselves when they said, ‘O God, if this is the truth from Thee,' i.e. what
Muhammad has brought, 'then rain upon us stones from heaven.'i.e. As you
rained them upon the people of Lot.

'Or bring us a painful punishment.' i.e. Some of that by which You
punished the peoples before us.

They used to say, God will not punish us when we ask for His pardon,
and He will not punish a people whose prophet is with them until He has
sent him away from them. That is what they said when the apostle was
among them, and God said to His apostle, mentioning their ignorance and
folly and the judgment they asked against themselves when He reproached
them with their evil deeds. 'God will not punish them while you are with
them, and God will not punish them while they ask for forgiveness.' i.e.
When they said, "We ask for forgiveness and Muhammad is among us.'

Then He said, 'What (plea) have they that God should not punish them?'
though you are among them and though they ask for forgiveness' as they
say.

'While they bar the way to the sacred mosque.' i.e. Against those who
believe in God and His servant. i.e. You and those who follow you. 'And
they are not its guardians, its guardians are only the God-fearers," who
observe its sanctity and perform prayer by it. i.e. You and those who
believe in you.

'But most of them do not know and their prayer at the temple,' i.e. By
which they assert that evil is kept from them, 'Is nothing but whistling and
clapping of hands' (405).

And that is what God does not approve of and does not like and what
they were not ordered to do .

'So taste the punishment for what you' are disbelieving.' i.e. When He
brought death upon them at the battle of Badr.

Yahya b. 'Abbad b. 'Abdullah b. al-Zubayr from his father 'Abbad from
'A'isha, who said that only a little time elapsed between the coming down of
‘O thou that art enwrapt' " and the word or God about it, 'Leave Me to deal
with the liars living at ease, and let them alone for a little. We have fetters
and fire and food which chokes, and a painful punishment,' until God smote
Quraysh on the day of Badr (406).

Then God said,

'"Those who disbelieve, spending their wealth to keep men from the way
of God will expend it, then they will suffer loss, then they will be
over-come, and those who disbelieve will be gathered to Hell." He means
those who went to Abu Sufyan and to everyone of the Quraysh who had
money in that merchandise, and asked them to help them with it in the war
against the apostle, and they did so.

Then He said, 'Say to those who disbelieve, if they cease, they will be
pardoned for what is passed, and if they return', to fight you, 'the example
of the ringleaders has been made.” i.e. those who were killed at Badr.

Then He said, 'Fight them so that there is no more persecution,3 and
religion, all of it, shall belong to God.' i.e. So that no believer is persecuted
from his religion, and monotheism may be pure, God having no partner and
no rivals.

'If they cease, then God sees what they do, and if they turn away,' from
thy commandment to their unbelief, 'then know that God is your friend',
who glorified you and helped you against them on the day of Badr in spite
of their great numbers and your small force.

'A fine friend, and a fine helper.'

Then He taught them how to divide the spoil and His judgment about it
when He made it lawful to them and said: 'And know that what you take as
booty a fifth belongs to God and the apostle and next of kin and orphans
and the poor and the wayfarer, if you believe in God and what We sent
down to Our servant on the day of furqan, the day the two armies met; and
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God is able to do all things,' i.e. the day [divided between the true and
the false by My power the day the two armies met-you and they 'when you
were on the nearer side' of the wadi 'and they on the further side' of the
wadi towards Mecca 'and the caravan was below you,' i.e. the caravan of
Abu Sufyan which you had gone out to capture and they had gone out to
protect without any appointment between you. 'And if you had arranged to
meet you would have failed to meet,' i.e. had you arranged to meet and then
you had heard of their multitude compared with your force you would not
have met them; 'but that God might accomplish a thing that had to be done,’
i.e. that He might accomplish what He willed in His power, namely to exalt
Islam and its followers and to abase the unbelievers without your fighting
hard. He did what He willed in His goodness. Then He said: 'that he who
died should die with a clear proof and he who lived should live by a clear
proof. God is a Hearer, a Knower,' i.e. that he who disbelieved should
disbelieve after the proof in the sign and example which he had seen and he
who believed should believe by the same warrant.

Then He mentioned His kindness and His plotting for him: "When God
showed thee in thy sleep that they were few, and if He had shown them to
thee as many you would have failed and quarrelled over the affair; but God
saved you. He knows what is within the breasts." What God showed him
was one of His favors by which He encouraged them against their enemy,
and kept from them what would have frightened them because of their
weakness, because He knew what was in them (407). 'And when you met
them He made you see them as few making you seem small in their eyes
that God might accomplish a thing that had to be done,' i.e. to unite them
for war to take vengeance on whom He willed and to show favor to those
Whom He willed so to bless, who were of the number of His friends.

Then He admonished and instructed and taught them how they ought to
conduct their wars and said: ‘O believers, when you meet an army' whom
you fight in the way of God 'Stand. firm and remember God often' to
Whom you devoted yourselves when you gave your allegiance to Him 'so
that you may prosper. And obey God and His apostle and wrangle not lest
you fail,' i.e. do not quarrel so that your affairs become disordered 'and your
spirit depart,' i.e. your bravery go, 'and be steadfast. God is with the
steadfast,' i.e. I am with you when you do that. 'And be not like those who
went forth from their houses boastfully to be seen of men,' i.e. do not be
like Abu Jahl and his companions who said, "We will not go back until we
have been to Badr and slaughtered camels there and drunk wine and the
singing girls have made music for us and the Arabs will hear of it,' i.e. let
not your affair be outward show and the subject of gossip, nor con-cerned
with men, and purify your intention towards God and your efforts for the
victory of your religion and the help of your prophet. Simply do that and do
not Aim at anything else. Then He said: 'And when Satan made their deeds
seem good to them and said, "No man can conquer you today for I am your
protector' (408).

Then God mentions the unbelievers and what they will meet when they
die, and describes them, and tells His prophet about them until He says: 'If
you come upon them in war, deal with them so forcibly as to terrify those
who follow them, haply they may take warning,' i.e. make a severe example
of them to those that come after, that haply they may understand. 'And
prepare what strength you can against them, and cavalry by which you may
strike terror into the enemy of God and your enemy' as far as His words,
'And whatever you spend in the way of God will be repaid to you: you will
not be wronged,' i.e. you will not lose your reward with God in the next life
and a rapid recompense in this world. Then He said, 'And if they incline to
peace incline thou to it,' i.e. if they ask you for peace on the basis of Islam
then make peace on that basis, 'and rely on God,' verily God will suffice
thee, 'He is the Hearer, the Knower' (409). 'And if they would deceive thee,
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God is sufficient for thee,' He being behind thee, 'He it is who strengthens
thee with His help' after weakness 'and by the be-lievers. And He made
them of one mind' by the guidance with which God sent thee to them.
'Hadst thou spent all the world's wealth thou hadst not made them of one
mind but God made them of one mind' by His religion to which He
gathered them. 'He is mighty, wise.'

Then He said: ‘O prophet, God is sufficient for thee and the believers
who follow thee. O prophet, exhort the believers to fight. If there are twenty
steadfast ones among you they will overcome two hundred, and if there are
a hundred of you they will overcome a thousand unbelievers for they are a
senseless people,' i.e. they do not fight with a good intention nor for truth
nor have they knowledge of what is good and what is evil.

'Abdullah b. Abu Najih from 'Ata' b. Abu Ribah from 'Abdullah b.
'Abbas told me that when this verse came down it came as a shock to the
Muslims who took it hard that twenty should have to fight two hundred,
and a hundred fight a thousand. So God relieved them and cancelled the
verse with another saying: "Now has God relieved you and He knows that
there is weakness amongst you, so if there are a hundred steadfast they shall
overcome two hundred, and if there are a thousand of you they shall
overcome two thousand by God's permission, for God is with the
stead-fast.' ('"Abdullah) said, 'When they numbered half of the enemy it was
wrong for them to run from them; but if they were less than half they were
not bound to fight and it was permissible for them to withdraw.'

Then God reproached him about the prisoners and the taking of booty,
no other prophet before him having taken booty from his enemy.
Muham-mad Abu Ja'far b. 'Ali b. al-Husayn told me that the apostle said: 'T
was helped by fear; the earth was made a place to pray, and clean; I was
given all-embracing words; booty was made lawful to me as to no prophet
before me; and I was given the power to intercede; five privileges accorded
to no prophet before me.'

God said, 'It is not for any prophet,' i.e. before thee, 'to take prisoners'
from his enemies 'until he has made slaughter in the earth,' i.e. slaughtered

his enemies until he drives them from the land. I 'You desire the lure of
this world,' i.e. its goods, the ransom of the captives. 'But God desires the
next world,' i.e. their killing them to manifest the religion which He wishes
to manifest and by which the next world may be attained. 'Had there not
previously been a book from God there would have come upon you for
what you took,' i.e. prisoners and booty, 'an awful punishment,' i.e. had it
not previously gone forth from Me that I would punish only after a
prohibi-tion-and He had not prohibited them-I would have punished 'you
for what you did. Then He made it lawful to him and to them as a mercy
from Him and a gift from the Compassionate, the Merciful. He said, 'So
enjoy what you have captured as lawful and good, and fear God. God is
For-giving, Merciful' Then He said: ‘O prophet, Say to those captives in
your hands, If God knows any good in your hearts He will give you
some-thing better than that which has been taken from you and God will
pardon you. God is Forgiving, Merciful.'

He incited the Muslims to unity and made the Refugees and the Helpers
friends in religion and the unbelievers friends one of another. Then He said:
'If you do not do so, there will be confusion in the land and a great
corruption,' i.e. unless believer becomes friend of believer to the exclusion
of the unbeliever even though he is of his kin. 'There will be confusion in
the land,'i.e. doubt about the true and the false and the rise of corruption in
the land if the believer takes the side of the unbeliever against the believer.

Then He assigned inheritances to next of kin of those who became
Muslims after the friendship between Refugees and Helpers and said: 'And
those who believed afterwards and migrated and strove along with you they
are of you; and those who are akin are nearer to one another in God's book,'
i.e. in inheritance 'God knoweth all things'.
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THE MUSLIMS WHO WERE PRESENT AT BADR

The names of those who were present at Badr are: Of Quraysh of B.
Hashim b. 'Abdu Manaf and B. al-Muttalib b. 'Abdu Manaf b. Qusayy b.
Kilab b. Murra b. Ka'b b. Lu'ayy b. Ghalib b. Fihr b. Malik b. al-Nadr b.
Kinana:

Muhammad, God's apostle the lord of the sent ones, b. 'Abdullah b.
'Abdu'l-Muttalib b. Hashim; Hamza b. 'Abdu'l-Muttalib b. Hashim, the lion
of God and of His apostle, the apostle's uncle; 'Ali b. Abu Talib b. 'Abdu'l-
Muttalib b. Hashim; Zayd b. Haritha b.Shurahbil b. Ka'b b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza b.
Imru'u'l-Qays al-Kalbi (410); Anasa the apostle's freedman; and Abu
Kabsha likewise (411); Abu Marthad Kannaz b. Hisn b. Yarbu' b. 'Amr b.
Yarbu' b. Kharasha b. Sa'd b. Tarif b.Jillan b.Ghanm b. Ghaniy b. Ya'sur b.
Sa'd b. Qays b. 'Aylan (412), and his son Marthad b. Abu Marthad, allies of
Hamza; 'Ubayda b. al-Harith b. al-Muttalib, and his two brothers al- Tufayl
and al-Husayn; and Mistah whose name was 'Auf b. Uthatha b. 'Abbad b.
al-Muttalib. Total 12 men.

Of B. 'Abdu Shams b. 'Abdu Manaf: 'Uthman b. 'Affan b. Abu'l-'As b.

Umayya b. 'Abdu Shams; (He stayed behind on account of his wife
Rugayya the apostle's daughter, so the apostle assigned him his portion. He
asked 'And my reward (from God) as well? 'Yes', said the apostle.) Abu
Hudhayfa b. 'Utba b. Rabi'a b. 'Abdu Shams, and Salim his freedman (413).
They allege that Subayh freedman of Abu'l-'As b. Umayya got ready to
march with the apostle, but felt sick and mounted on his camel Abu Salama
b. 'Abdu'l-Asad b. Hilal b. 'Abdullah b. 'Umar b. Makhzum. Afterwards
Subayh was present at all the apostle's battles.

Of B. 'Abdu Shamus’s allies, of B. Asad b. Khuzayma: 'Abdullah b.

Jahsh b. Ri'ab b. Ya'mar b. Sabra b. Murra b. Kabir b. Ghanm b. Dudan;
'Ukkasha b. Mihsan b. Hurthan b. Qays b. Murra b. Kabir b. Ghanm b.
Dudan; Shuja' b. Wahb b. Rabi'a b. Asad b. Suhayb b. Malik b. Kabir, &c.,
and his brother 'Ugba b. Wahb; Yazid b. Rugaysh b. Ri'ab, &c. Abu Sinan
b. Mihsan b. Hurthan b. Qays brother of Ukkasha b. Mihsan, and his son
Sinan b. Abu Sinan; and Muhriz b. Nadla b. 'Abdullah b. Murra b. Kabir,
&c.; and Rabi'a b. Aktham b. Sakhbara b. 'Amr b. Lukayz b. 'Amir b.
Ghanm b. Dudan.

Of the allies of B. Kabir: Thaqf b. 'Amr and his two brothers Malik and
Mudlij (414). They belonged to the B. Hajr, a clan of B. Sulaym; Abu
Makhshi an ally of theirs (415). Total 16 men.

Of B. Naufal b. 'Abdu Manaf: 'Utba b. Ghazwan b. Jabir b. Wahb b.
Nusayb b: Malik b. al-Harith b. Mazin b. Mansur b. 'Ikrima b. Khasafa b.
Qays b. 'Aylan; and Khabbab freedman of 'Utba. Total 2 men.

Of B. Asad b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza b. Qusayy: al-Zubayr b. al-'Awwam b.
Khuwaylid b. Asad; Hatib b. Abu Baita'a; and Sa'd freedman of Hatib
(416). Total 3 men.

Of B. 'Abdu'l-Dar b. Qusayy: Muy'ab b. 'Umayr b. Hashim b. 'Abdu
Manaf and Suwaybit b. Sa'd b. Huraymila b. Malik b. 'Umayla b. al-Sabbaq
b. 'Abdu'l-Dar. Total 2 men.

Of B. Zuhra b. Kilab: 'Abdu'l-Rahman b. 'Auf b. 'Abdu 'Auf b. 'Abd b.
al-Harith b. Zuhra; Sa'd b. Abu Waqqa,, who was Malik b. Uhayb b. 'Abdu
Manaf b. Zuhra, and his brother 'Umayr. Of their allies: al-Miqdad b. 'Amr
b. Tha'laba b. Malik b. Rabi'a b. Thumama b. Matrud b. 'Amr b. Sa'd b.
Zuhayr b. Thaur b. Tha'laba b. Malik b. al-Sharid b. Hazl b. Qa'ish b.
Duraym b. al-Qayn b. Ahwad b. Bahra' b. 'Amr b. al-Haf b. Quda'a (417)
and Dahir b. Thaur; and 'Abdullah b. Mas'ud b. al-Harith b. Shamkh b.
Makhzum b. Sahila b. Kahil b. al-Harith b. Tamim b. Sa'd b. Hudhayl;
Mas'ud b. Rabi'a b. '"Amr b. Sa'd b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza b. Hamala b. Ghalib b.
Muhallim b. 'A'idha b. Subay' b. Al-Hun b. Khuzayma of al-Qara (418).
Dhu'l-Shimalayn b. 'Abd 'Amr b. Nadia b. Ghubshan b. Sulaym b. Malakan
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b. Afsa b. Haritha b. 'Amr b. 'Amir of Khuza'a (419) and Khabbab b. al-
Aratt (420). Total 8 men.

Of B. Taym b. Murra: Abu Bakr whose full name was 'Atiq b. 'Uthman
b. 'Amir b. 'Amr b. Ka'b b. Sa'd b. Taym (421). Bilal his freedman, born a
slave among the B. Jumah. Abu Bakr bought him from Umayya b. Khalaf.
His name was Bilal b. Ribah. He had no offspring; 'Amir b. Fuhayra (422) 489
and Suhayb b. Sinan from al-Namr b. Qasit (423) and Talha b. 'Ubaydullah
b. 'Uthman b. 'Amr b. Ka'b, &c. He was in Syria and did not turn up until
the apostle had returned from Badr. Nevertheless, he allotted him a share in
the booty as he had done in the case of 'Uthman. Total 5 men.

Of B. Makhzum b. Yaqaza b. Murra: Abu Salama b. 'Abdu'l-Asad
whose name was 'Abdullah b. 'Abdu'l-Asad b. Hilal b. 'Abdullah b. "Umar
b. Makhzum; and Shammas b. 'Uthman b. al-Sharid b. Suwayd b. Harmiy
b. 'Amir (424); and al-Arqum b. 'Abdu Manaf b. Asad, Asad being Abu
Jundub b. 'Abdullah b. 'Umar b. Makhzum; and 'Ammar b. Yasir (425); and
Mu'attib b. 'Auf b. 'Amir b. al-Fadl b. 'Afif b. Kulayb b. Hubshiya b. Salul
b. Ka'b b. 'Amr, an ally of theirs from Khuza'a known as 'Ayhama. Total 5

men.
Of B. 'Adiy b. Ka'b: 'Umar b. al-Khattab b. Nufayl b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza b.
Riyah b. 'Abdullah b. Qurt b. Razah b. 'Adiy and his brother Zayd; and 490

Mihja', 'Umar's freedman from the Yaman (he was the first Muslim to fall

at Badr, being shot by an arrow.) (426); and 'Amr b. Suraqa b. Anas b.
Adhat b. 'Abdullah b. Qurt ... and his brother 'Abdullah; Waqid b. 'Abdullah
b. 'Abdu Manaf b. 'Arin b. Tha'laba b. Yarbu' b. Hanzala b. Malik b. Zayd
Manat b. Tamim, an ally of theirs, and Khauliy b. Abu Khauliyand Malik b.
Abu Khauliy, two allies of theirs (427); and 'Amir b. Rabi'a, an ally of the
family of al-Khattab from 'Anaz b. Wa'il (428); and 'Amir b. al-Bukayr b.
'Abdu Yalil b. Nashib b. Ghira of the B. Asad b. Layth; and 'Aqil and
Khalid and Iyas sons of al-Bukayr, allies of B. 'Adiy b. Ka'b; and Sa'id b.
Zayd b. 'Amr b. Nufayl b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza b. 'Abdullah b. Qurt b. Riyah b.
Rizah b. 'Adiy b. Ka'b who came from Syria after the apostle's return from
Badr and was given a share in the booty. Total 14

men. '

Of B. Jumah b. 'Amr b. Husays b. Ka'b: 'Uthman b. Maz'un b. Habib b.
Wahb b. Hudhafa b. Jumah and his son al-Sa'ib and 'Uthman's two brothers
Qudama and 'Abdullah; Ma'mar b. al-Harith b. Ma'mar b. Habib b. Wahb b.
Hudhafa b. Jumah. Total 5 men.

Of B. Sahm b. 'Amr b. Husays b. Ka'b: Khunays b. Hudhafa b.

Qays b. 'Adiy b. Sa'd b. Sahm. Total I man.
Of B. 'Amir b. Lu'ayy of the subdivision B. Malik b. Hisl b. '.Amir: Abu 491

Sabra b. Abu Ruhm b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza b. Abu Qays b. '"Abdu Wudd b. Nasr b.
Malik b. Hisl; 'Abdullah b. Makhrama b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza, &c.; 'Abdullah b.
Suhayl b. 'Amr b. 'Abdu Shams b. 'Abdu Wudd, &c. (he had gone forth to
war with his father Suhayl and when the people camped at Badr he fled to
the apostle and took part in the battle on his side); and 'Umayr b. 'Auf,
freedman of Suhayl; and Sa'd b. Khaula an ally of theirs (429). Totals men.

Of B. al-Harith b. Fihr: Abu 'Ubayda b. al-Jarrah who was 'Amir b.
'Abdullah b. al-Jarrah b. Hilal b. Uhayb b. Dabba b. al-Harith; and 'Amr b.
al-Harith b. Zuhayr b. Abu Shaddad b. Rabi'a b. Hilal b. Uhayb, &c. ; and
Suhayl b. Wahb b. Rabi'a b. Hilal, &c., and his brother Safwan who were
the two sons of Baida', and 'Amr b. Rabi'a b. Hilal b. Uhayb. Total 5 men.

The total number of the Emigrants who took part in the battle of Badr to
whom the apostle allotted shares in the booty was 83 men (430).

THE HELPERS AND THEIR ADHERENTS WHO WERE AT BADR
Of al-Aus b. Haritha b. Tha'laba b. 'Amr b. 'Amir of the subdivision B.

'Abdu'l-Ashhai b. Jusham b. al-Harith b. al-Khazraj b. 'Amr b. Malik b. al-
Aus: Sa'd b. Mu'adh b. al-Nu'man b. Imru'ul-Qays b. Zayd b. 'Abdu’l-
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Ashhal; 'Amr b. Mu'adh b. al-Nu'man; al-Harith b. Aus b. Mu'adh b. al
Nu’man; and al-Harith b. Anas b. Rafi' b. Imru'ul-Qays.

Of B. 'Ubayd b. Ka'b b. 'Abdu'l-Ashhai: Sa'd b. Zayd b. Malik b.
'Ubayd.

Of B. Za'ura b. 'Abdu'l-Ashhai (431): Salama b. Salama b. Waqash b.
Zughba; 'Abbad b.Bishr b. Wagash b. Zughba b. Za'ura; Salama b. Thabit b.
Wagqash; Rafi' b. Yazid b. Kurz b. Sakan b. Za'ura; al-Harith b. Khazama b.
'Adiy b. Ubayy b. Ghanm b. Salim b. 'Auf b. 'Amr b. 'Auf b. al-Khazraj an
ally of theirs from B. 'Auf b. al-Khazraj; Muhammad b. Maslama b. Khalid
b. 'Adiy b. Majda'a b. Haritha b. al-Harith an ally from the B. Haritha b. al-
Harith; and Salama b. Aslam b. Harish b. 'Adiy b. Majda'a b. Haritha an
ally from the B. Haritha b.al-Harith (43%); and Abu'l-Haytham b. al-
Tayyahan; and 'Ubayd b. al-Tayyahan (433) and 'Abdullah b. Sahl (434).
Total 15 men.

Of B. Zafar of the section B. Sawad b. Ka'b, Ka'b being Zafar (435):

Qatada b. al-Nu'man b. Zayd b. 'Amir b. Sawad, and 'Ubayd b. Aus b.
Malik b. Sawad (436). Total 2 men.

Of B. 'Abd b. Rizah b. Ka'b: Nasr b. al-Harith b. 'Abd and Mu'attib b.
'Abd; and 'Abdullah b. Tariq from their Bali allies. Total 3 men.

Of B. Haritha b. al-Harith b. al-Khazraj b. 'Amr b. Malik b. Aus:
Mas'ud b. Sa'd b. 'Amir b. 'Adiy b. Jusham b. Majda'a b. Haritha (437); and
Abu 'Abs b. Jabr b. 'Amr b. Zayd b. Jusham b. Majda'a b. Haritha; and of
their Bali allies: Abu Burda b. Niyar whose full name was Hani' b. Niyar b.
'Amr b. 'Ubayd b. Kilab b. Duhman b. Ghanm b. Dhubyan b. Humaym b.
Kahil b. Dhuhl b. Hunayy b. Bali b. 'Amr b. al-Haf' b. Quda'a. Total 3 men.

Of B. 'Amr b. 'Auf b. Malik b. al-Aus of the section of B. Dubay'a b.

Zayd b. Malik b. 'Auf'b. 'Amr b. 'Auf: 'Ajim b. Thabit b. Qays-Qays

Abu'l-Aqglah b. Isma b. Malik b. Amat b. Dubay'a-and Mu'attib b.
Qushayr b. Mulayl b. Zayd b. al-'Anaf b. Dubay'a; and Abu Mulayl b. al-
Az'ar b. Zayd b. al-'Anaf; and 'Umar b. Ma'bad b. al-Az'ar, &c. (438); and
Sahl b. Hunayf b. Wahib b. al-'Ukaym b. Tha'laba b. Majda'a b. alHarith b.
'Amr who was called Bahzaj b. Hanash b. 'Auf b. 'Amr b. 'Auf. Totals men.

Of B. Umayya b. Zayd b. Malik: Mubashshir b. 'Abdu'l-Mundhir b.

Zanbar b. Zayd b. Umayya and Rifa'a his brother; Sa'd b. 'Ubayd b. al-
Nu'man b. Qays b. 'Amr b. Zayd b. Umayya; 'Uwaym b. Sa'ida; Rafi' b.
'Unjuda (439); and 'Ubayd b. Abu 'Ubayd; and Tha'laba b. Hatib. It is
alleged that Abu Lubaba b. 'Abdu'l- Mundhir and al-Harith b. Hatib went
out with the apostle, and he sent them back, putting the former in charge of
Medina. He gave them both shares in the booty of Badr (440). Total 9 men.

Of B. 'Ubayd b. Zayd b. Malik: Unays b. Qatada b. Rabi'a b. Khalid b.
al-Harith b. 'Ubayd: of their Bali allies: Mam b. 'Adiy b. al-Jadd b. al-
'Ajlan b. Dubay'a; Thabit b. Aqram b. Tha'laba b. 'Adiy b. al- 'Ajlan;
'Abdullah b. Salama b. Malik b. al-Harith b. 'Adiy b. al-'Ajlan; Zayd b.
Aslam b. Tha'laba b. 'Adiy b. al-'Ajlan; Rib'i b. Rafi' b. Zayd b. Haritha b.
al-Jadd b. 'Ajlan. 'Ajim b. 'Adiy b. al-Jadd b. al-'Ajlan went forth to fight
but the apostle sent him back, afterwards giving him his share of the booty.
Total 7 men.

Of B. Tha'laba b. 'Amr b. 'Auf: 'Abdullah b. Jubayr b. al-Nu'man b.

Umayya b. Al-Burak whose name was Imru'ul-Qays b. Tha'laba; and
'Asim b. Qays (441); and Abu Dayyah b. Thabit b. al-Nu'man b. Umayya,
&c.; and Abu Hanna (442); and Salim b. '"Umayr b. Thabit b. al-Nu'man,
&ec. (443); and al-Harith b. al-Nu'man b. Umayya, &c.; and Khawwat b.
Jubayr b. al-Nu'man whom the apostle gave a share of the booty. Total 7
men.

Of B. Jahjaba b. Kulfa b. 'Auf b. 'Amr b. 'Auf: Mundhir b. Muhammad
b. 'Ugba b. Uhayha b. al-Julah b. al-Harish b. Jahjaba b. Kulfa (444); and of
their allies from the B. Unayf: Abu 'Aqil b. 'Abdullah b. Tha'laba b. Bayhan
b. 'Amir b. al-Harith b. Malik b. 'Amir b. Unayf b. Jusham b. 'Abdullah b.
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Taym b. Irash b. 'Amir b. 'Umayla b. Qasmil b. Faran b. Bali b. 'Amr b. al-
Haf'b. Quda'a (445). Total 2 men.

Of B. Ghanm b. al-Siam b. Imru'ul-Qays b. Malik b. al-Aus: Sa'd b.

Khaythama b. al-Harith b. Malik b. Ka'b b. al-Nahhat b. Ka'b b. Haritha
b. Ghanm; and Mundhir b. Qudama b. 'Arfaja; and Malik b. Qudama b.
'Arfaja (446); and al-Harith b. 'Arfaja; and Tamim freedman of the B.
Ghanm (447). Totals men.

Of B. Mu'awiya b. Malik b. 'Auf b. 'Amr b. 'Auf: Jabr b. 'Atik b.
alHarith b. Qays b. Haysha b. al-Harith b. Umayya b. Mu'awiya; and Malik
b. Numayla an ally from Muzayna; and al-Nu'man b. 'A,ar, a Bali ally.
Total 3 men.

The total number of Aus who fought at Badr with the apostle and of
those who were given a share of the booty was 61 men.

Of Khazraj b. Haritha b. Tha'laba b. 'Amr b. 'Amir of the tribe of B.
Harith subdivision B. Imru'ul-Qays b. Malik b. Tha'laba b. Ka'b b.
ai-Khazraj b. al-Harith b. al-Khazraj: Kharija b. Zayd b. Abu Zuhayr b.
Malik b. Imru'ul-Qays; Sa'd b. Rabi b. 'Amr b. Abu Zuhayr, &c.; 'Abdul-lah
b. Rawaha b. Tha'laba b. Imru'ul-Qays b. 'Amr b. Imru'ul-Qays; Khallad b.
Suwayd b. Tha'laba b. 'Amr b. Haritha b. Imru'ul-Qays. Total 4 men.

Of B. Zayd b. Malik b. Tha'laba b. Ka'b b. al-Khazraj b. al-Harith b. al-
Khazraj: Bashir b. Tha'laba b. Khilas b. Zayd (448) and his brother Simak.
Total 2 men.

Of B. 'Adiy b. Ka'b b. al-Khazraj b. al-Harith b. al-Khazraj: Subay' b.

Qays b. 'Aysha b. Umayya b. Malik b. 'Amir b. 'Adiy; and 'Abbad b.
Qays b. 'Aysha, his brother (449); and 'Abdullah b. 'Abs. Total 3 men.

Of B. Ahmar b. Haritha b. Tha'laba b. Ka'b b. al-Khazraj b. al-Harith b.
al-Khazraj: Yazid b. al-Harith b. Qays b. Malik b. Ahmar who was known
as Ibn Fushum (450). Total 1 man

Of B. Jusham b. al-Harith b. al-Khazraj and Zayd b. al-Harith who were
twin brothers: Khubayb b.Isaf b. 'Itaba' b. 'Amr b. Khadij b. 'Amir b.
Jusham; 'Abdullah b. Zayd b. Tha'laba b. 'Abdu Rabbihi b. Zayd; and his
brother Hurayth so they allege; and Sufyan b. Bashr (451).2 Total 4 men.

Of B. Jidara b. 'Auf b. al-Harith b. al-Khazraj: Tamim b. Ya'ar b. Qays
b. 'Adiy b. Umayya b. Jidara; 'Abdullah b. 'Umayr of the B. Haritha (452);
Zayd b. al-Muzayyan b. Qays b. 'Adiy b. Umayya b. Jidara (453); and
'Abdullah b. 'Urfuta b. 'Adiy b. Umayya b. Jidara. Total 4 men.

Of B. al-Abjar b. 'Auf'b. al-Harith b. al-Khazraj: 'Abdullah b. Rabi' b.

Qays b. 'Amr b. 'Abbad b. al-Abjar. Total I man.

Of B. 'Auf b. al-Khazraj of the clan of B. 'Ubayd b. Malik b. Salim b.

Ghanm b. 'Auf who were the B. al-Hubla (454): 'Abdullah b. 'Abdullah
b. Ubayy b. Malik b. al-Harith b. 'Ubayd best known as b. Salul. Salul was
a woman, the mother of Ubayy; and Aus b. Khauli b. 'Abdullah b. al-Harith
b. 'Ubayd. Total 2 men.

Of B. Jaz' b. 'Adiy b. Malik b. Ghanm: Zayd b. Wadi'a b. 'Amr b.

Qays b. Jaz'; 'Ugba b. Wahb b. Kalada, an ally from the B.'Abdullah b.
Ghatafan; Rifa'a b. 'Amr b. Zayd b. 'Amr b. Tha'laba b. Malik b. Salim b.
Ghanm; 'Amir b. Salama b. 'Amir, an ally from the Yaman (455); Abu
Humayda Ma'bad b. 'Abbad b. Qushayr b. al-Mugaddam b. Salim b. Ghanm
(456); and 'Amir b. al-Bukayr, an ally (457). Total 6 men.

Of B. Salim b. 'Auf'b. 'Amr b. al-Khazraj of the clan of B. al-'Ajlan b.

Zayd b. Ghanm b. Salim: Naufal b. 'Abdullah b. Najia b. Malik b.
al-'Ajlan. Total I man ..

Of B. Asram b. Fihr b. Tha'laba b. Ghanm b. Salim b. 'Auf (458):

'Ubada b. al-Samit b. Qays b. Asram and his brother Aus. Total 2 men.

Of B. Da'd b. Fihr b. Tha'laba b. Ghanm: al-Nu'man b. Malik b.

Tha'laba b. Da'd; this man was known as Qaugqal. Total I man.

Of B. Quryush b. Ghanm b. Umayya b. Laudhan b. Salim (459):

Thabit b. Hazzal b. 'Amr b. Quryush. Total 1 man.
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Of B. Mardakha b. Ghanm b. Salim: Malik b. al-Dukhsham b.
Mardakha (460). Total 1 man.

Of B. Laudhan b. Salim: Rabi' b. Iyas b. '"Amr b. Ghanm b. Umayya b.
Laudhan, and his brother Waraqa; and 'Amr b. [ was an ally of theirs 498

from the Yaman (461). Total 3 men.

Of their allies from Bali of the clan of B. Ghusayna (462): al-
Mujadh-dhar b. Dhiyad b. 'Amr b. Zumzuma b. 'Amr b. 'Umara b. Malik b.
Ghu-sayna b. 'Amr b. Butayra b. Mashnu b. Qasr b. Taym b. Irash b. 'Amir
b. 'Umayla b. Qismil b. Faran b. Bali b. 'Amr b. al-Haf b. Quga'a (463); and
'Ubada b. al-Khashkhash b. 'Amr b. Zumzuma, and Nahhab b. Tha'laba b.
Hazama b. psram b. 'Amr b. 'Umara (464); and 'Abdullah b. Tha'laba b.
Hazama b. Asram; and they allege that 'Utba b. Rabi'a b. Khalid b.
Mu'awiya, an ally from Bahra', was at Badr (465). Totals 5 men.

Of B. Sa'ida b. al-Khazraj of the clan of B. Tha'laba b. Sa'ida: Abu
Dujana Simak b. Kharasha (466); and al-Mundhir b. 'Amr b. Khunays b.
Haritha b. Laudhan b. 'Abdu Wudd b. Zayd b. Tha'laba (467). Total 2 men.

Of B. al-Badiy b. 'Amir b. 'Auf b. Haritha b. 'Amr b. al-Khazraj b.
Sa'ida: Abu Usayd Malik b. Rabi'a b. al-Badiy, and Malik b. Mas'ud 499

who was attached to al-Badiy (468). Total 2 men.

Of B. Tarif b. al-Khazraj b. Sa'ida: 'Abdu Rabbihi b. Haqq b. Aus b.

Wagsh b. Tha'laba b. Tarif. Total I man.

And of their allies from Juhayna: Ka'b b. Himar b. Tha'laba (469); and
Damra and Ziyad and Basbas the sons of 'Amr (470); and 'Abdullah b.
'Amir from Bali. Totals men.

From B. Jusham b. al-Khazraj of the clan B. Salima b. Sa'd b. 'Ali b.

Asad b. Sarida b. Tazid b. Jusham of the subdivision B. Haram b. Ka'b
b. Ghanm b. Ka'b b. Salima: Khirash b. al-Simma b. 'Amr b. al-Jamuh b.
Zayd b. Haram; and al-Hubab b. al-Mundhir b. al-Jamuh, &c.; and 'Umayr
b.al-Humam b. al-Jamul)., &c.; and Tamim freedman of Khirash b. al-
Simma; and 'Abdullah b. 'Amr b. Haram b. Tha'laba b. Haram; and Mu'adh
b. 'Amrb. al-Jamuh and Khallad and Mu'awwidh his brothers; and 'Ugba b.
'Amir b. Nabi b. Zayd b. Haram and Habib b. Aswad their freedman; and
Thabit b. Tha'laba b. Zayd b. al-Harith b. Haram; and Tha'laba who was
called al- Jidh'; and 'Umayr b. al-Harith b. Tha'laba b. al-Harith b. Haram
(471). Total 12 men.

Of B. 'Ubayd b. 'Adiy b. Ghanm b. Ka'b b. Salima of the clan of B.

Khansa'b. Sinan b. 'Ubayd: Bishr b. al-Bara'b. Ma'rur b. Sakhr b. Malik

b. Khansa'; al-Tufayl b. Malik; and al-Tufayl b. al-Nu'man; and Sinan b.

500

Sayfi b. Sakhr; and Abdullah b. al-Jadd b. Qays b. Sakhr; and 'Utba b.
'Abdullah b. Sakhr; and Jabbar b. Sakhr b. Umayya; and Kharija b.
Humayyir; and 'Abdullah b. Humayyir, two allies from Ashja' of B.
Duhman (472). Total 9 men.

Of B. Khunas b. Sin an b. 'Ubayd: Yazid b. al-Mundhir b. Sarh and
Ma'qil his brother; and 'Abdullah b. al-Nu'man b. Baldama (473); and al-
Dahhak b. Haritha b. Zayd b. Tha’laba b. 'Ubayd b. 'Adiy; and Sawad b.
Zurayq b. Tha'laba b. 'Ubayd b. 'Adiy (474); and Ma'bad b. Qays b. Sakhr
b. Haram b. Rabi'a b. 'Adiy b. Ghanm b. Ka'b b. Salima (475); and
'Abdullah

b. Qays b. Sakhr b. Haram b. Rabi'a b. 'Adiy b. Ghanm. Total 7 men.

Of B. al-Nu'man b. Sinan b. 'Ubayd: 'Abdullah b. 'Abdu Manaf b. al-
Nu'man; and Jabir b. 'Abdullah b. Ri'ab b. al-Nu'man; and Khulayda

b. Qays and Al-Nu'man b. Sinan their freedman. Total 4 men.

Of B. Sawad b. Ghanm b. Ka'b b. Salima, of the clan of B. Hadida b.
'Amr b. Ghanm b. Sawad (476): Abu'l-Mundhir Yazid b. 'Amir b. Hadida;
Sulaym b. 'Amr; Qutba b. 'Amir, and 'Antara freedman of Sulaym b. 'Amr
(477). Total 4 men.
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Of B. 'Adiy b. Nabi b. 'Amr b. Sawad b. Ghanm: 'Abs b. 'Amir b.
'Adiy; and Tha’laba b. Ghanama b. 'Adiy; and Abu'l-Yasar Ka'b b. 'Amr b.
'Abbad b. 'Amr b. Ghanm b. Sawad; and Sahl b. Qays b. Abu Ka'b b. Al-
Qayn b. Ka'b b. Sawad; and 'Amr b. Talq b. Zayd b. Umayya b. Sinan b.
Ka'b b. Ghanm; and Mu'adh b. Jabal b. 'Amr b. Aus b. 'A'idh b. 'Adiy b.
Ka'b b. 'Adiy b. Udayy b. Sa'd b. 'Ali b. Asad b. Sarida b. Tazid b. Jusham
b. al-Khazraj b. Haritha b. Tha'laba b. 'Amr b. 'Amir (478). Total 6 men.
Those who smashed the idols of B. Salima were Mu'adh b. Jabal; 'Abdullah
b. Unays; and Tha'laba b. Ghanama, they being among B. Sawad b. Ghanm.

Of B. Zurayq b. 'Amir b. Zurayq b. 'Abdu Haritha b. Malik b. Ghadb b.
Jusham b. al-Khazraj of the clan B. Mukhallad b. 'Amir b. Zurayq (479):

Qays b. Mihsan b. Khalid b. Mukhallad (480); and Abu Khalid al-
Harith b. Qays b. Khalid b. Mukhallad and Jubayr b. Iyyas b. Khalid b.
Mukhallad; and Abu 'Ubada Sa'd b. 'Uthman b. Khaiada b. Mukhallad and
his brother 'Ugba b. 'Uthman, &c.; and Dhakwan b. 'Abdu Qays b. Khaiada
b. Mukhallad; and Mas'ud b. Khaiada b. 'Amir b. Mukhallad. Total 7 men.

Of B. Khalid b. 'Amir b. Zurayq: 'Abbad b. Qays b. 'Amir b. Khalid.

Total I man.

Of B. Khaiada b. 'Amir b. Zurayq: As'ad b. Yazid b. al-Fakih b. Zayd b.

Khaiada; and al-Fakih b. Bishr b. Al-Fakih b. Zayd b. Khaiada (481);
and Mu'adh b. Ma’ig b. Qays b. Khaiada and his brother 'A'idh; and Mas'ud
b. Sa'd b. Qays b. Khaiada. Total 5 men.

Of B. al-'Ajlan b. 'Amr b. 'Amir b. Zurayq: Rifa'a b. Rafi' b. al-'Ajlan
and his brother Khallad; and 'Ubayd b. Zayd b. 'Amir b. al- 'Ajlan. Total 3
men.

Of B. Bayada b. 'Amir b. Zurayq: Ziyad b. Labid b. Tha'laba b.

Sinan b. 'Amir b. 'Adiy b. Umayya b. Bayada; and Farwa b. 'Amr b.

Wadhafa b. 'Abid b. 'Amir (482); and Khalid b. Qays b. Malik b. al-
'Ajlan b. 'Amir; and Rujayla b. Tha'laba b. Khalid b. Tha'laba b. 'Amir
(483); 'and 'Atiya b. Nuwayra b. 'Amir b. 'Atiya b. 'Amir; and Khulayfa
(484) b. 'Adiy b. 'Amr b. Malik b. 'Amir b. Fuhayra. Total 6 men.

Of B. Habib b. 'Abdu Haritha b. Malik b. Ghadb b. Jusham b. al-
Khazraj:

Rafi' b. al-Mu'alla b. Laudhan b. Haritha b. 'Adiy b. Zayd b. Tha'laba b.
Zaydu Manat b. Habib. Total I man.

Of B. Najjar who was Taymullah b. Tha'laba b. 'Amr b. al-Khazraj of
the clan of B. Ghanm b. Malik b. Al-Najjar of the subdivision of B.
Tha'laba b. 'Abdu 'Auf b. Ghanm: Abu Ayyub Khalid b. Zayd b. Kulayb b.
Tha'laba. Total I man.

Of B.'Usayra b. 'Abdu 'Auf b. Ghanm: Thabit b. Khalid b. al-Nu'man

b. Khansa' b. 'Usayra (485). Total I man.

Of B. 'Amr b. 'Abdu 'Auf b. Ghanm: 'Umara b. Hazm b. Zayd b.

Laudhan b. 'Amr; and Suraqa b. Ka'b b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza b. Ghaziya b.
'Amr. Total 2 men.

Of B. 'Ubayd b. Tha'laba b. Ghanm: Haritha b. al-Nu'man b. Zayd b.
'Abid; and Sulaym b. Qays b. Qahd who was Khalid b. Qays b. 'Abid (486).
Total 2 men.

Of B. 'A'idh b. Tha'laba b. Ghanm (487): Suhayl b. Rafi' b. Abu 'Amr

b. 'A'idh; 'Adiy b. al-Raghba', an ally from Juhayna. Total 2 men.

Of B. Zayd b. Tha'laba b. Ghanm: Mas'ud b. Aus b. Zayd; and Abu
Khuzayma b. Aus b. Zayd b. Asram b. Zayd; and Rafi' b. al-Harith b.
Sawad b. Zayd. Total 3 men.

Of B. Sawad b. Malik b. Ghanm: 'Auf and Mu'awwidh and Mu'adh sons
of al-Harith b. Rifa'a b. Sawad by 'Afra (488); and al-Nu'man b. 'Amr b.
Rifa'a b. Sawad (489); and 'Amir b. Mukhallad b. al-Harith b. Sawad; and
'Abdullah b. Qays b. Khalid b. Khaiada b. al-Harith; and 'Usayma an ally
from Ashja'; and Wadi'a b. 'Amr an ally from Juhayna; and Thabit b. 'Amr
b. Zayd b. 'Adiy. They allege that Abu'l-Hamra', freedman of al-Harith b.
'Afra’ was at Badr (490). Total 10 men.
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Of B. 'Amir b. Malik b. Al-Najjar, 'Amir being Mabdhul of the clan of
B. 'Atik b. 'Amr b. Mabdhul: Tha'laba b. 'Amr b. Mihsan b. 'Amr b. 'Auk;
and Sahl b. 'Atik b. 'Amr b. al-Nu'man; and al-Harith b. al-Simma b. 'Amr;
his leg was broken at al-Rauha' and the apostle gave him his share in the
booty. Total 3 men.

Of B. 'Amr b. Malik b. Al-Najjar, the B. Hudayla, of the clan of B.

Qays b. 'Ubayd b. Zayd b. Mu'awiya b. 'Amr b. Malik b. Al-Najjar
(491):

Ubayy b. Ka'b b. Qays; and Anas b. Mu'adh b. Anas b. Qays. Total 2
men.

Of B. 'Adiy b. 'Amr b. Malik b. Al-Najjar (492): Aus b. Thabit b.
al-Mundhir b. Haram b. 'Amr b. Zaydu Manat b. 'Adiy; and Abu Shaykh
Ubayy b. Thabit b. al-Mundhir b. Haram b. Zaydu Manat b. 'Adiy (493);
and Abu Taiha who was Zayd b. Sahl b. al-Aswad b. Haram b. 'Amr b.
Zaydu Manat b. 'Adiy. Total 3 men.

Of B. 'Adiy b. Al-Najjar of the clan of B. 'Adiy b. 'Amir b. Ghanm b. al-
Najjar: Haritha b. Suraqa b. al-Harith b. 'Adiy b. Malik b. 'Adiy b. 'Amir;
'Amr b. Tha'laba b. Wahb b. 'Adiy b. Malik b. 'Adiy b. 'Amir known as Abu
Hakim; Salit b. Qays b. 'Amr b. 'Atik b. Malik b. 'Adiy b. 'Amir; Abu Salit
Usayra b. 'Amr; and 'Amr Abu Kharija b. Qays b. Malik b. 'Adiy b. 'Amir;
Thabit b. Khansa' b. 'Amr b. Malik, &c.; 'Amir b. Umayya b. Zayd b. al-
Hashas b. Malik, &c.; and Muhriz b. 'Amir b. Malik b. 'Adiy; and Sawad b.
Ghaziya b. Uhayb an ally from Bali (494). Total 8 men.

Of B. Haram b. Jundub b. 'Amir b. Ghanm b. 'Adiy b. Al-Najjar: Abu
Zayd Qays b. Sakan b. Qays b. Za'ura' b. Haram; and Abu'l-A'war b. al-
Harith b. Zalim b. 'Abs b. Haram (495); and Sulaym b. Milhan and Haram
his brother. Milhan's name was Malik b. Khalid b. Zayd b. Haram. Total 4
men.

Of B. Mazin b. Al-Najjar of the clan of B. 'Auf b. Mabdhul b. 'Amr b.
Ghanm b. Mazin b. Al-Najjar: Qays b. Abu Sa'sa'a whose name was 'Amr
b. Zayd b. 'Auf; and 'Abdullah b. Ka'b b. 'Amr b. 'Auf; and 'Usayma an ally
from B. Asad b. Khuzayma. Total 3 men.

Of B. Khansa' b. Mabdhul b. 'Amr b. Ghanm b. Mazin: Abu Da'ud
'Umayr b. 'Amir b. Malik b. Khansa'; and Suraqa b. 'Amr b. 'Atiya. Total 2
men.

Of B. Tha'laba b. Mazin b. Al-Najjar: Qays b. Mukhallad b. Tha'laba b.
Sakhr b. Habib b. al-Harith b. Tha'laba. Total I man.

Of B. Dinar b. Al-Najjar of the clan of B. Mas'ud b. 'Abdu'l-Ashhai b.
Haritha b. Dinar: al-Nu'man b. 'Abdu 'Amr b. Mas'ud; and al-Dahhak b.
'Abdu 'Amr b. Mas'ud; and Sulaym b. al-Harith b. Tha'laba b. Ka'b b.
Haritha brother of al-Dahhak and al-Nu'man the sons of 'Abdu 'Amr by the
same mother; Jabir b. Khalid b. 'Abdu'l-Ashhai b. Haritha; and Sa'd b.
Suhayl b. 'Abdu'l-Ashhai. Totals men.

Of B. Qays b. Malik b. Ka'b b. Haritha b. Dinar b. Al-Najjar: Ka'b b.
Zayd b. Qays; and Bujayr b. Abu Bujayr, an ally (496). Total 2 men.

The men of al-Khazraj who were at Badr number 170 (497).

Thus the total number of Muslims, emigrants, and Helpers who were

at Badr and were allotted a share in the booty was 314, the emigrants
providing 83, Aus 6, and Khazraj 170.

THE NAMES OF THOSE WHO DIED AS MARTYRS AT BADR'

Of Quraysh of the clan of B. al-Muttalib: 'Ubayda b. al-Harith whom
'Utba b. Rabi'a slew by cutting off his leg. He afterwards died in al-Safra'.
Total I.

Of B. Zuhra b. Kilab: 'Umayr b. Abu Waqqa, (498) and Dhu’l-
Shimalayn

b. 'Abdu 'Amr an ally from Khuza'a of B. Ghubshan. Total 2.
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Of B. 'Adi b. Ka'b: 'Aqil b. al-Bukayr an ally from B. Sa'd b. Layth; and
Mihja' freedman of "Umar. Total 2.

Of B. al-Harith b. Fihr: Safwan b. Bayda'. Total I, Grand total 6.

Of the Helpers: of B. 'Amr b. 'Auf: Sa'd b. Khaythama, and
Mubash-shir b. 'Abdu'l-Mundhir b. Zanbar. Total 2.

Of B. al-Harith b. al-Khazraj: Yazid b. al-Harith known as Ibn Fusham.

Total 1.

Of B. Salama of the clan of B. Haram b. Ka'b b. Ghanm: "Umayr b.

al-Humam. Total!.

Of B. Habib b. 'Abdu Haritha b. Malik b. Ghadb b. Jusham: Rafi' b.

al-Mu’alla. Total!.

Of B. Al-Najjar: Haritha b. Suraqa b. al-Harith. Total!.

Of B. Ghanm b. Malik b. Al-Najjar: 'Auf and Mu'awwidh the two sons
of al-Harith b. Rifa'a by 'Afra’. Total 2, Grand total 8.

THE NAMES OF THE POLYTHEISTS WHO WERE SLAIN AT
BADR The Quraysh losses at Badr were as follow:

Of B. 'Abdu Shams: Hanzala b. Abu Sufyan (499); al-Harith b. al-
Hadrami and 'Amir b. al-Hadrami, two allies of theirs (500); and 'Umayr b.
Abu "Umayr and his son two freedmen of theirs (501); and 'Ubayda b. Sa'id
b. al-'A; b. Umayya whom al-Zubayr b. al-'Awwam killed; and al-'A, b.
Sa'id whom Ali killed; and 'Ugba b. Abu Mu'ayt whom 'Asim b. Thabit
killed (502); and 'Utba b. Rabi'a whom 'Ubayda b. al-Harith killed (5°3);
and Shayba b. Rabi'a whom Hamza killed; and al-Walid b. 'Utba whom 'Ali
killed; and 'Amir b. 'Abdullah, an ally from

B. Anmar b. Baghid whom 'Ali killed. Total 12.

Of B. Naufal b. 'Abdu Manaf: al-Harith b. 'Amir whom Khubayb b. Isaf
is said to have killed; and Tu'ayma b. 'Adiy b. Naufal whom 'Ali killed
while others say Hamza killed him. Total 2.

Of B. Asad b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza: Zama'a b. al-Aswad (504); and al-Harith
b. Zama'a (505); and 'Uqayl b. al-Aswad (506); and Abu'l-Bakhtari who
was al-'A; b. Hisham whom al-Mujadhdhar b. Dhiyad al-Balawi killed
(507); and Naufal b. Khuwaylid who was b. al-'Adawiya the 'Adiy of
Khuza'a; it was he who bound Abu Bakr and Taiha b. 'Ubaydullah with a
rope when they became Muslims and so were called 'the-two-tied-together-
ones'. He was one of the principal men of Quraysh. 'Ali killed him. Total 5
men.

Of 'Abdu'l-Dar: al-Nadr b. al-Harith whom they say that 'Ali executed
in the presence of the apostle at al-Safra' (5°8); and Zayd b. Mulay3
freedman of 'Umayr b. Hashim b. 'Abdu Manaf (509). Total 2.

Of B. Taym b. Murra: 'Umayr b. 'Uthman (510); and 'Uthman b. Malik
whom Suhayb b. Sinan killed. Total 2.

Of B. Makhzum b. Yaaza: Abu Taw b. Hisham (Mu'adh b. 'Ami struck
off his leg. His son 'Tkrima struck off Mu'adh's hand and he threw it from
him; then Mu'awwidh b. 'Afra' struck him so that he disabled him leaving
him at the last gasp; then 'Abdullah b. Mas'ud quickly dispatched him and
cut off his head when the apostle ordered that search should be made
among the slain for him); and al-'.As b. Hisham whom 'Umar killed; and
Yazid b. 'Abdullah, an ally from B. Tamim (511); and Abu Musafi' al-
Ash'ari, an ally (512); and Hamala b. 'Amr, an ally (513); and Mas'ud b.
Abu Umayya (514); and Abu Qays b. al-Walid (515); and Abu Qays b. al-
Fakih (516); and Rifa'a b. Abu Rifa'a (517); and al-Mundhir b. Abu Rifa'a
(518); and 'Abdullah b. al-Mundhir (519); and al-Sa'ib b. Abu'l-Sa'ib (520);
and al-Aswad b. 'Abdu'l-Asad whom Hamza killed; and Hajib b. al-Sa'ib
(521); and "Uwaymir b. al-Sa'ib (522); and 'Amr b. Sufyan; and Jabir b.
Sufyan, two allies from Tayyi' (523). Total 17.

Of B. Sahm b. 'Amr: Munabbih b. al-Hajjaj whom Abu'l-Yasar killed;
and his son al-'As (524); and Nubayh b. al-Hajjaj (525); and Abu'l-'As b.
Qays (526); and .Aim b. 'Auf (527). Total 5.

Jihad Sira 3/26/2010 163

507

509




513

Of B. Jumah: Umayya b. Khaiaf whom a Helper of B. Mazin killed
(528); and his son 'Ali b. Umayya whom 'Ammar killed; and Aus b. Mi'yar
(529). Total 3.

Of B. "Amir b. Lu'ayy: Mu'awiya b. '.Amir, an ally from 'Abdu'l-Qays
whom 'Ali killed (530); and Ma'bad b. Wahb, an ally from B. Kaib b. 'Auf
whom Khalid and Iyas the two sons of al-Bukayr killed (531). Total 2.

Thus the total number of Quraysh slain at Badr as given to us is 50 men
(532).

A LIST OF THE QURAYSH POLYTHEISTS WHO WERE TAKEN
PRISONER AT BADR

From B. Hashim b. 'Abdu Manaf: 'Aqil b. Abu Talib and Naufal b. al-
Harith b. 'Abdu'l-Muttalib. I

From B. al-Muttalib b. 'Abdu Manaf: al-Sa'ib b. 'Ubayd b. 'Abdu Yazid
and Nu'man b. 'Amr b. 'Aigama. 2.

From B. 'Abdu Shams b. 'Abdu Manaf: 'Amr b. Abu Sufyan b. Harb b.
Umayya and al-Harith b. Abu Wajza b. Abu 'Amr b. Umayya (533); and
Abu'l-.As b. al-Rabi' b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza; and Abu'l-'s, b. Naufal; and of their
allies Abu Risha b. Abu 'Amr; and 'Amr b. al-Azraq; and 'Ugba b. 'Abdu'l-
Harith b. al-Hadrami. 7.

From B. Naufal b. 'Abdu Manaf: 'Adiy b. al-Khiyar b. 'Adiy; and
'Uthman b. 'Abdu Shams nephew of Ghazwan b. Jabir, an ally of theirs
from B. Mazin b. Manyur; and Abu Thaur, an ally. 3.

From B. 'Abdu'l-Dar b. Qugayy: Abu 'Aziz b. 'Umayr b. Hashim b.
'Abdu Manaf; and al-Aswad b. '.Amir, an ally. They used to say "We are the
B. al-Aswad b. .Amir b. 'Amr b. al-Harith b. al-Sabbaq.' 2.

From B. Asad b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza b. Qusayy: al-Sa'ib b. Abu Hubaysh b.
al-Muttalib b. Asad; and al-Huwayrith b. 'Abbad b. 'Uthman (534) b. Asad,
and Salim b. Shammakh an ally. 3.

From B. Makhzum b. Yaqaza b. Murra: Khalid b. Hisham b.
ai-Mughira b. 'Abdullah b. 'Umar; and Umayya b. Abu Hudhayfa b. al-
Mughira; and Walid b. al-Walid b. al-Mughira; and 'Uthman b. 'Abdullah b.
al-Mughira b. 'Abdullah b. 'Umar; and Sayfi b. Abu Rifa'a b. "Abid b.
'Abdullah b. 'Umar; and Abu'l-Mundhir his brother; and Abu 'Ata’
'Abdullah b. Abu'l-Sa'ib b. '.Abid b. 'Abdullah b. 'Umar; and al-Muttalib b.
Hantab b. al-Harith b. 'Ubayd b. 'Umar; and Khalid b. al-A'lam an ally, who
they say was the first to turn his back in flight. He it was who said:

The wounds that bleed are not on our backs
But the blood drops on to our feet. 9 (535).

From B. Sahm b. 'Amr b. Husays b. Ka'b: Abu Wada'a b. Dubayra b.

Su'ayd b. Sa'd who was the first prisoner to be redeemed. His son al-
Muttalib paid his ransom money. Farwa b. Qays b. 'Adiy b. Hudhafa b.
Sa'd; and Han,ala b. Qabisa b. Hudhafa b. Sa'd; and al-Hajjaj b. al-Harith b.
Qays b. 'Adiy b. Sa'd. 4.

From B. Jumah b. 'Amr b. Hu,ay; b. Ka'b: 'Abdullah b. Ubayy b.

Khaiaf b. Wahb b. Hudhafa; and Abu 'Azza 'Amr b. 'Abdullah b.
'Uthman b. Wuhayb b. Hudhafa and al-Fakih, freedman of Umayya b.
Khaiaf. After that Rabah b. al-Mughtarif claimed him asserting that he was
of B. Shammakh b. Muharib b. Fihr. It 'is said that al-Fakih was the son of
Jarwal b. Hidhyam b. 'Auf b. Ghadb b. Shammakh b. Muharib b. Fihr; and
Wahb b. 'Umayr b. Wahb b. Khaiaf b. Wahb b. Hudhafa; and Rabi'a

b. Darraj b. al-'Anbas b. Uhban b. Wahb b. Hudhafa. 5.

From B. .Amir b. Lu'ayy: Suhayl b. 'Amr b. 'Abdu Shams b. 'Abdu
Wudd b. Nasr b. Malik b. Hisl (Malik b. al-Dukhshum brother of B. Salim
b. 'Auf took him prisoner); and 'Abd b. Zama'a b. Qays b. 'Abdu Shams b.
'Abdu Wudd b. Nagr b. Malik b. Hisl; and 'Abdu'l-Rahman b. Mashnu' b.
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Wagqdan b. Qays b. 'Abdu Shams b. 'Abdu Wudd b. N,;r b. Malik b. Hisl b.
'Amir. 3.

From B. al-Harith b. Fihr: al- Tufayl b. Abu Qunay'; and 'Utba b. 'Amr
b. Jahdam. 2.

The total number reported to me was 43 men (536).

516 SOME POETRY ABOUT THE BATTLE OF BADR

Of the poetry about the battle of Badr which the two parties bandied
between them in reference to what happened therein are the lines of Hamza
b. 'Abdu'l-Muttalib (537):

Surely one of time's wonders'

(Though roads to death are plain to see)

Is that a people should destroy themselves and perish2
By encouraging one another to disobedience and disbelief.
The night they all set out for Badr

And became death's pawns in its well.

We had sought but their caravan, naught else,

But they came to us and we met unexpectedly.3
When we met there was no way out

Save with a thrust from dun-colored straight-fashioned shafts
And a blow with swords which severed their heads,
Swords that glittered as they smote.

We left the erring 'Utba lying dead

And Shayba among the slain thrown in the well;
'Amr lay dead among their protectors

And the keening women rent their garments for him,
The noble women of Lu'ayy b. Ghalib

Who surpass the best of Fihr.

Those were folk who were killed in their error

And they left a banner not prepared for victory-

A banner of error whose people Iblis led.

He betrayed them (the evil one is prone to treachery).
When he saw things clearly he said to them,

'T am quit of you. I can no longer endure,’

I see what you do not see, I fear God's punishment
For He is invincible.'

He led them to death so that they perished

While he knew what they could not know.

On the day of the well they mustered a thousand,

We three hundred like excited white stallions.

With us were God's armies when He reinforced us with them
In a place that will ever be renowned.

Under our banner Gabriel attacked with them

In the fray where they met their death.

517

Al-Harith b. Hisham b. al-Mughira answered them thus:

Help, O my people, in my longing and loss My sorrow and burning
heart!

Tears flow copiously from my' eyes

Like pearls failing from the cord of the woman who strings them,
Weeping for the sweet-natured hero

Death's pawn at the well of Badr.

Bless you, 'Amr kinsman and companion of most generous nature.
If certain men chanced to meet you when your luck was out,

Well, time is bound to bring its changes.
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In past times which are gone

You brought upon them a humiliation which is hard to bear.
Unless I die I shall not leave you unavenged.

I will spare neither brother nor wife's kin.

I will slay as many dear to them .

As they have slain of mine.

Have strangers whom they have collected deceived them
While we are the pure stock of Fihr?

Help, O Lu'ayy, protect your sanctuary and your gods;

Give them not up to the evil man!’

Your fathers handed them down and you inherited their
foundations, 2

The temple with its roof and curtain.

Why did the reprobate want to destroy you ?°

Forgive him not, O tribe of Ghalib,

Fight your adversary with all your might and help one another.
Bear one another's afflictions with endurance.

You may well avenge your brother,

Nothing matters if you fail to take revenge on 'Amr's slayers.
With waving swords flashing in Your hands like lightning
Sending heads flying as they glitter.

As it were the tracks of ants on their blades

When they are unsheathed against the evil-eyed enemy (538).

'Ali b. Abu Talib said:

518

Have you not seen how God favored His apostle

With the favor of a strong, powerful, and gracious one;
How He brought humiliation on the unbelievers

Who were put to shame in captivity and death,

While the apostle of God's victory was glorious

He being sent by God in righteousness.

He brought the Furqan sent down from God,

Its signs' are plain to men of sense.

Some firmly believed in that and were convinced
And (thanks to God) became one people;2

Others disbelieved, their minds went astray

And the Lord of the throne brought repeated calamities upon them;
At Badr He gave them into the power of His apostle
And an angry army who did valiantly.

They smote them with their trusty swords,
Furbished well, and polished.

How many a lusty youngster,

Many a hardy warrior did they leave prone.

Their keening women spent a sleepless night,

Their tears now strong, now weak.

They keen for erring 'Utba and his son,

And Shayba and Abu Jahl

And Dhu'l-Rjj I and Ibn Jud'an also,

With burning throats in mourning garb displaying bereavement.
Dead in Badr's well lay many,

Brave in war, generous in times of dearth;

Error called them and some responded

(For error has ways easy to adopt).

Now they are in Hell,

Too occupied to rage furiously against us.

Al-Harith b. Hisham b. al-Mughira answered him thus:
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I wonder at folk whose fool sings
Of folly captious and vain, Singing about the slain at Badr

When young and old vied in glorious endeavor,
The brave swordsman of Lu'ayy, Ibn Ghalib,
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Thrusting in battle, feasting the hungry in times of dearth;
They died nobly, they did not sell their family

For strangers alien in stock and homeland,

Like you who have made Ghassan your special friends
Instead of us--a sorry deed,

An impious, odious crime, and a severing of the ties of blood;
Men of judgment and understanding perceive your wrongdoing.
True, they are men who have passed away,

But the best death is on the battlefield.

Rejoice not that you have killed them,

For their death will bring you repeated disaster.

Now they are dead you will always be divided,

Not one people as you desire,

By the loss of Ibn Jud'an, the praiseworthy,

And 'Utba, and him who is called Abu Jahl among you.
Shayba and Al-Walid were among them,

Umayya, the refuge of the poor, and Dhu'I-Rijl.1

Weep for these and not for others,

The keening women will bewail their loss and bereavement,
Say to the people of Mecca, Assemble yourselves

And go to palmy Medina's forts,

Defend yourselves and fight, O people of Ka'b,

With your polished and burnished swords

Or pass the night in fear and trembling

By day meaner than the sandal that is trodden underfoot.
But know, O men that by AL-Lat, [ am sure

That you will not rest without taking vengeance.

All of you, don your mail, take the spear,

The helmet, sharp sword and arrows.

Dirar b. al-Khattab b. Mirdas brother of B. Muharib b. Fihr said:

I wonder at the boasting of Aus when death is coming to them
tomorrow

(Since time contains its warnings)

And at the boasting of the Banu'l-Najjar because certain men died
there,

For all of them were steadfast men.

If some of our men were left dead

We shall leave others dead on the field.”

Our flying steeds will carry us among you,
Till we slake our vengeance, O Banu'l-Aus,
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We shall return to the charge in the midst of the Banu'l-Najjar,
Our horses snorting under the weight of the spearmen clad in mail.
Your dead we shall leave with vultures circling round

To look for help but a vain desire.

Yathrib's women will mourn them,

Their nights long and sleepless

Because our swords will cut them down,

Dripping with the blood of their victims.

Though you won on the day of Badr

Your good fortune was plainly due to Ahmad

And the chosen band, his friends,

Who protected him in battle when death was at hand,

Jihad Sira 3/26/2010 167



Abu Bakr and Hamza could be numbered among them

And 'Ali among those you could mention,

Abu Hafs and 'Uthman were of them,

Sa'd too, if anyone was present,

Those men-not the begettings of Aus and Najjar-

Should be the object of your boasting,

But their father was from Lu'ayy Ibn Ghalib,

Ka'b and 'Amir when noble families are reckoned.

They are the men who repelled the cavalry on every front,
The noble and glorious on the day of battle.

Ka'b b. Malik brother of the B. Salima said:

I wonder at God's deed, since He

Does what He wills, none can defeat Him.

He decreed that we should meet at Badr

An evil band (and evil ever leads to death).

They had summoned their neighbors on all sides
Until they formed a great host.

At us alone they came with ill intent,

Ka'b and 'Amir and all of them.

With us was God's apostle with Aus round him
Like a strong impregnable fortress

The tribes of Banu Najjar beneath his banner
Advancing in light amour while the dust rose high.
When we met them and every steadfast warrior
521 Ventured his life with his comrades

We testified to the unity of God

And that His apostle brought the truth.

When our light swords were unsheathed

"Twas as though fires flashed at their movement.
With them we smote them and they scattered
And the impious met death,

Abu Jahllay dead on his face

And 'Utba our swords left in the dust. '

Shayba and Al-Taymi they left on the battlefield,
Everyone of them denied Him who sitteth on the throne.
They became fuel for Hell,

For every unbeliever must go there.

It will consume them, while the stoker

Increases its heat with pieces of iron and stone. >
God's apostle had called them to him

But they turned away, saying, 'You are nothing but a sorcerer.'
Because God willed to destroy them,

And none can avert what He decrees.

'Abdullah b. al-Ziba'ra al-Sahmi (an ally of the B. 'Abdu'l-Dar)1 be-
wailing the slain at Badr, said (539):

What noble warriors, handsome men, lie round Badr's battleficld.
They left behind them Nubayh and Munabbih and

The two sons of Rabi'a', best fighters against odds,

And the generous Harith, whose face shone

Like the full moon illuminating night;

And al-'As b. Munabbih, the strong,

Like a long lance without a flaw.

His origin and his ancestors
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And the glory of his father's and his mother's kin raise him high.

If one must weep and show great grief

Let it be over the glorious chief Ibn Hisham,

God, lord of creatures, save Abu'l-Walid and his family,
And grant them special favor.

Hassan b. Thabit Al-Angari answered him:

Weep, may your eyes weep blood,

Their rapid flow ever renewed.

Why weep for those who ran to evil ways?

Why have you not mentioned the virtues of our people
And our glorious, purposeful, tolerant, courageous one,
The prophet, soul of virtue and generosity,

The truest man that ever swore an oath?

One who resembles him and does his teaching

Was the most praised there not without effect.

Hassan also said:

A maiden obsesses thy mind in sleep

Giving the sleeper a drink with cool lips

Like musk mingled with pure water

Or old wine red as the blood of sacrifices.

Wide in the rump, her buttocks ripples of fat,

Vivacious, not hasty in swearing an oath.

Her well-covered hips as she sits

Form: a hollow in her back like a marble mortar,

So lazy she can hardly go to bed,

Of beautiful body and lovely figure.

By day I never fail to think of her,

By night my dreams inflame my desire for her.

I swear I will not forget to think of her

Until my bones lie in the grave.

O woman who foolishly blames me,

I refuse to accept blame on account of my love;

She came to me at dawn after I woke

When life's troubles were at hand.

She told me that man is sad all his life

Because he lacks plenty of camels;

If you lied in what you said

May you escape the consequences as Al-Harith b. Hisham did.
He left his friends fearing to fight in their defense,

And escaped by giving his horse free rein.

It left the swift steeds behind in the desert;

As the weighted rope drops down the well.

His mare galloped away at full speed while

His friends remained in their evil plight

[His brothers and his family were in the battle

In which God gave the Muslims victory-

For God accomplishes His work-war ground them to powder,
Its fire blazed (with them as fuel).

But for God and the animal’s speed (our horses) had left him
A prey to wild beasts trodden under their hoofs.] '

Some of them firmly bound prisoners (though they were)
Hawks protecting (their young) when they met the spears;
Some prostrate never to answer to the call

Till the highest mountains cease to be,

In shame. and plain disgrace when they saw
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The sword blades driving every resolute chief before them.
Swords in the hands of noble valiant chiefs,

Whose noble ancestry is vindicated without searching inquiry.
Swords that strike fire from steel

Like lightning 'neath the storm clouds.

Al-Harith answered him and said:

The people know well’ I did not leave the fight until my steed was
foaming with blood

I knew that if I fought alone I should be killed; my death would not
injure the enemy

So I withdrew and left my friends meaning to avenge them another
day.

This is what Al-Harith said in excuse for running away from the battle

of Badr (540).
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1
Hassan also said:

Quraysh knew on the day of Badr,

The day of captivity and violent slaughter,

That when the lances crossed we were the victors

In the battle of Abu'l-Walid.

We killed Rabi'a's two sons the day they came

Clad in double mail against us.

Hakim fled on the day that the Banu'l-Najjar
Advanced upon them like lions.

All the men of Fihr turned tail,

The miserable Harith abandoned them from afar.
You met shame and death

Quick, decisive, under the neck vein.

All the force turned tail together.

They paid no heed to ancestral honor.

Hassan also said:*

O Harith, you took a base decision in war

And the day when ancestral fame is shown,

When you rode a swift-footed noble mare,
Rapid-paced and long in flank,

Leaving your people behind to be slain,

Thinking only of escape when you should have stood fast.
Could you not have shown concern for your mother's son
Who lay transfixed by spears, his body stripped?
God hastened to destroy his host

In shameful disgrace and painful punishment! (541).

Hassan also said (542):3

A bold intrepid man-no coward-

Led those clad in light chain armor.

I mean the apostle of God the Creator

Who favored him with piety and goodness above all;

You had said you would protect your caravan

And that Badr's waters could not be reached” by us.

There we had come down, not heeding your words so that
We drank to the full without stint,

Holding fast to an unseverable rope,

The well plaited rope of God that stretches far.

We have the apostle and we have the truth which we follow
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To the death; we have help unlimited
Faithful to his promise, intrepid, a brilliant star,
A full moon that casts light on every noble man (543).

1
Hassan also said:

The Banu Asad were disappointed and their raiders returned
On the day of the Well in misery and disgrace.

55 Abu'l-'As soon lay dead on the ground:
Hurled from the back of his galloping steed:

He met his end with his weapons, good fighter as he was
When he lay still in death.

The man Zam'a we left with his throat severed,

His life blood flowing away,

His forehead cushioned in the dust,.

His nostrils defiled with filth;

Ibn Qays escaped with a remnant of his tribe

Covered with wounds, at the point of death.

Hassan also said:’ 526

Can anyone say if the Meccans know

How we slew the unbelievers in their evil hour?

We killed their leaders in the battle

And they returned a shattered force;

We killed Abu Jahl and 'Utba before him,

And Shayba fell forward with his hands outstretched.’
We killed Suwayd and 'Utba after him.

Tu'ma also in the dust of combat.

Many a noble, generous man we slew

Of lofty line, illustrious among his people.

We left them as meat for hyenas

Later to bum in Hell fire.*

I'faith Malik's horsemen and their followers were no protection
When they met us at Badr (544).

15
Hassan also said

Hakim's speed saved him on the day of Badr

Like the speed of a colt from al-A'waj's mares,’
When he saw Badr's valley wails

Swarming with the black-mailed squadrons of Khazraj
Who do not retire when they meet the enemy,

Who march boldly in the middle of the beaten track.
How many a valiant chief they have,

Heroes where the coward turns at bay,

Chiefs giving lavishly with open hand,

Crowned ones bearing the burden of blood-wits,
Ornaments in conclave, persistent in battle,

Smiting the bold with their all-piercing swords (545).

Hassan also said:

Thanks to God we fear not an army

How many they be with their assembled troops.
Whenever they brought a multitude against us

The gracious Lord sufficed us against their swords;
At Badr we raised our spears aloft,

Death did not dismay us.
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You could not see a body of men

More dangerous to those they attack when war is stirred up, '
But we put our trust [in God]and said:

'Our swords are our fame and our defense.'

With them we met them and were victorious

Though but a band against their thousands.

Hassan also said, satirizing B. J Jumah and those of them who were
slain:

Banu Jumah rushed headlong to disaster because of their unlucky
star

(The mean man inevitably meets humiliation).

They were conquered and slain at Badr,

They deserted in all directions,

They rejected the scripture and called Muhammad liar.

But God makes the religion of every apostle victorious;

God curse Abu Khuzayma and his son,

The two Khalid and Sa'id b. 'Aqil.

'Ubayda b. al-Harith said about the battle of Badr, and the cutting off of

his foot when it was smitten in the fight, when he and Hamza and 'Ali
fought their enemies (546):
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A battle will tell the Meccans about us:

It will make distant men give heed,

When "Utba died and Shayba after him

And 'Utba's eldest son had no cause to be pleased with it.’
You may cut off my leg, yet I am a Muslim,

I hope in exchange for a life near to Allah

With Houris fashioned like the most beautiful statues
With the highest heaven for those who mount there.

I have bought it with a life of which I have tasted the best'
And which I have tried until I lost even my next-of-kin.
The Merciful honoured me with His favor

With the garment of Islam to cover my faults.

I did not shrink from fighting them

The day that men called on their peers to fight them, '
When they asked the prophet he sought only us three

So that we came out to the herald;

We met them like lions, brandishing our spears,

We fought the rebellious for God's sake;

We three did not move from our position

Till their fate came upon them (547).

When "Ubayda died of the wound in his leg at the battle of Badr, Ka'b .
Malik, the Ansari, wrote this elegy on him:

O eye, be generous, not niggardly,

With thy true tears; spare them not

For a man whose death appalled us,

Noble in deed and in descent,

Bold in attack with sharpened sword,

Of noble repute and goodly descent.”

'Ubayda has passed away, we cannot hope

For good or evil from him,

On the eve of battle he used to protect our rearguard with his sword.

Ka'b also said:
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Have Ghassan heard in their distant haunt

(The best informant is one with knowledge thereof),
That Ma'add shot their arrows at us,

The whole tribe of them were hostile,

Because we worship God, hoping in none other,
528 Hoping for heaven's gardens since their prophet has come to us.?

A prophet with a glorious inheritance among his people,
And truthful ancestors whose origin made them pure;
Both sides advanced, and we met them like lions

Whose victims have nothing to hope for;

We smote them in the battle

Till Lu'ayy's leader fell upon his face;

They fled, and we cut them down with our sharp swords,
Their allies and their tribesmen alike.

Ka'b also said:

By your father's life, ye sons of Lu'ayy,
Despite your deceit and pride,

Your horsemen did not protect you at Badr,
They could 'not stand fast when they met us;
We came there with God's light

Clearing away the cover of darkness from us.
God's apostle led us, by God's order,

An order He had fixed by decree;

Your horsemen could not conquer at Badr
And returned to you in evil case;

Do not hurry, Abu Sufyan, and watch

For the fine steeds coming up from Kada'
By God's help the holy spirit is among them®
And Michael, what a goodly company!

Talib b. Abu Talib, praising the apostle and lamenting the men of
Quraysh who were thrown into the pit at Badr, said:

My eye wept copiously

Over Ka'b, though it sees them not.

Ka'd deserted one another in the wars, and

Fate destroyed them, they having greatly sinned.’

And 'Amir this morning are weeping for the misfortunes (that befell
them).

Shall I ever see them closer (to each other)?

They are my brothers, their mother no harlot,

And never their guest suffered wrong;

O our brothers 'Abdu Shams and Naufal, may I be your ransom,

Put not war between us. After the love and friendship we had
Become not (the subject of) stories in which all of you have 529

something to complain of.

Do you not know what happened in the war of Dahis
And when Abu Yaksum's army filled the ravine?
Had not God the Sole Existent saved you

You could not have protected your people.

We among Quraysh have done no great wrong

But merely protected the best man that ever trod the earth;
A standby in misfortunes, generous,

Noble in reputation, no niggard, no wrongdoer.

His door is thronged by those seeking his bounty,

A sea of generosity, vast, unfailing.
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By God, my soul will ever be sad, ,
Restless, until you smite Khazraj well and truly.

Dirar b. al-Khattab al-Fihri lamenting Abu Jahl said:

Alas for my eye that cannot sleep

Watching the stars in the darkness of the night!

It is as though a mote were in it,

But there is naught but flowing tears.

Tell Quraysh that the best of their company,

The noblest man that ever walked,

At Badr lies imprisoned in the well;

The noble one, not baseborn and no niggard.

I swear that my eyes shall never weep for any man
Now Abu'l-Hakam our chief is slain.

I weep for him whose death brought sorrow to Lu'ayy b. Ghalib,
To whom death came at Badr where he remains.

You could see fragments of spears in his horse's chest,
Scraps of his flesh plainly intermingled with them.

No lion lurking in the valley of Bisha,

Where through jungled vales the waters flow,

Was bolder than he when lances clashed,

When the cry went forth among the valiant 'Dismount"
Grieve not overmuch, Mughira's kin, be resolute
(Though he who so grieves is not to be blamed).

Be strong, for death is your glory,

And thereafter at life's end there is no regret.

I said that victory will be yours

And high renown-no man of sense will doubt it (548).

Al-Harith b. Hisham, bewailing his brother Abu Jahl, said:

Alas my soul for 'Amr!
But can grief avail one whit
Someone told me that 'Amr
Was the first of his people to go into the old abandoned pit.
I have always thought it right (that you should be the first),
Since your judgment in the past was sound.
I was happy while you were alive;
Now I am left in a miserable state.
At night when I cannot see him I feel
A prey to indecision and full of care.
When daylight comes once more
My eye is weary of remembering 'Amr (549).

Abu Bakr b. al-Aswad b. Shu'ub al-Laythi, whose name was Shaddad,
said:

Ummu Bakr gave me the greeting of peace;

But what peace can I have now my people are no more?
In the pit, the pit of Badr,

What singing girls and noble boon companions!

In the pit, the pit of Badr,

What platters piled high with choicest camel-meat!
In the well, the well of Badr,

How many camels straying freely were yours!

In the well, the well of Badr,

How many flags' and sumptuous gifts!

What friends of the noble Abu 'Ali,
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Brother of the generous cup and boon companions!

If you were to see Abu 'Aqil

And the men of the pass of Na'am

You would mourn over them like the mother of a new-born camel
Yearning over her darling.

The apostle tells us that we shall live,

But how can bodies and wraiths meet again‘?2 (550)

Umayya b. Abu'l-Salt, lamenting those who died at Badr, said:

Would'st thou not weep over the nobles,
Sons of nobles, praised by all,

As the doves mourn upon the leafy boughs,
Upon the bending branches,

Weeping in soft dejected notes

When they return at nightfall.

Like them are the weeping women,

The keeners who lift up their voices.

He who weeps them weeps in real sorrow,
He who praises them tells the truth.

What chiefs and leaders

At Badr and al- 'Agangqal,

At Madafi'u'l-Barqayn and AL-Hannan,

At the end of al-Awashih,

Grey-beards and youths, Bold leaders,
Raiders impetuous!

See you not what I see

When it is plain to all beholders,

That the vie of Mecca has altered,

Become a valley deserted

By every chief, son of a chief, !
Fair-skinned, illustrious,

Constantly at the gate of kings,

Crossing the desert, victorious,
Strong-necked, stout of body,

Men of eminence, successful in enterprise,
Who say and do and order what is right,
Who feed their guests on fat meat

Served on bread white as a lamb's stomach;
Who offer dishes and yet more dishes

As large as water pools.

The hungry finds them not empty

Nor wide without depth,

To guest after guest they send them

With broad open hand,

Givers of hundreds from hundreds of milch camels
To hundreds of their guests,

Driving the camel herds to the herds,
Returning from Baladih

Their nobles have a distinction
Outweighing the nobility of others

As the weights send down the scale As the balancer holds it.
A party deserted them, while they protected
Their women from disgrace,

Men who smote the front ranks of the enemy
With broad-bladed Indian swords;

Their voices pained me as they

Called for water crying aloud;

How fine were the sons of 'Ali all of them!”
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If they do not raid such a raid

As would send back every barking dog to its lair,
With horses trained to long rides,

With proudly raised heads, kept near the tents,

As young men on fine horses
Against fierce menacing lions;
Each man advances to his enemy
Walking as though to shake hands,
About a thousand or two thousand
Mailed men and spearmen (551)."

Umayya also said, lamenting Zama'a b. al-Aswad and the B. Aswad
who were slain:

O eye, weep with overflowing tears for Abu'l-Harith
And hold not thy tears for Zama'a.

Weep for 'Aqil b. Aswad, the bold lion,

On the day of battle and the dust of war.

Those Banu Aswad were brothers like the Gemini,
No treachery and no deceit was in them,

They are the noblest family of Ka'b,

The very summit of excellence.

They produced sons as many as the hairs of the head
And established them in impregnable positions.2
When misfortune visited their kinsmen

Their hearts ached for them.

They gave their food when rain failed,

When all was dry and no cloud could be seen (552).

Abu Usama Mu'awiya b. Zuhayr b. Qays b. al-Harith b. Dubay'a b.
Mazin b. 'Adiy b. Jusham b. Mu'awiya, an ally of B. Makhzum (553),
passed Hubayra b. Abu Wahb as they were running away on the day of
Badr. Hubayra was exhausted and threw away his coat of mail and
(Mu'awiya) picked it up and went off with it. He composed the following
lines (554):

When [ saw the army panic,

Running away at top speed And that their leaders lay dead,
Methought the best of them

Were like sacrifices to idols.

Many of them lay there dead,

And we were made to meet our fate at Badr.
We left the way and they overtook us '

In waves, like an overwhelming flood;
Some said, "Who is Ibn Qays?'

I said, 'Abu Usama, without boasting,

I am the Jushamite, that you may know me,
I will announce my lineage,

Answering challenge by challenge.

If you are of the best born of Quraysh,

I am from Mu'awiya ibn Bakr.'

Tell Malik, when we were attacked,

For you, O Malik, know of me;

Tell Hubayra of us if you meet him,

For he is wise and influential,

That when I was called to Ufayd'

I returned to the battle with undaunted heart,
The night the hapless were left unheeded
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Old friends and mother's kindred.
So that is your brother, O B. Lu'ayy,
And that is Malik, O Umm 'Amr,2 for
Had I not been there striped hyenas,
Mothers of cubs would have had him,
Digging at the graves with their claws,
Their faces as black as a cooking-pot;
I swear by Him Who is my Lord
And by the blood-stained pillars of the stoning places
You will see what my true worth is
When men become as fierce as leopards. 3
No lion from his lair in Tarj-
Bold, menacing, fathering cubs in the jungle,
Who has made his den taboo against intruders
So that none can approach him even with a force.
535 In the sand, bands of men are helpless
He leaps upon all who try to drive him away-
Is swifter than I
When I advance roaring and growling at the enemy
With arrows like sharp lances .
Their points like burning coais.
And a rounds shield of bull's hide
And a strongly fashioned bow, and
A glittering sword which 'Umayr, .the polisher,
Whetted for a fortnight.
I let its lanyard trail, and strode proudly forward
With body at full stretch, as a lion wails.
Sa'd the warrior said to me, Here is a gift,1
I answered, Perhaps he is bringing treachery,
And I said, O Abu 'Adiy, do not go near them
If you will obey my orders today
As they did with Farwa when he came to them
And he was led away bound with cords (555).

4

Abu Usama also said:

Who will send a messenger from me

With news that a shrewd man will confirm?
Do not you know how I kept returning to the fight at Badr
When the swords flashed around you,
When the army's leaders were left prostrate,
Their heads like slices of melon?

A gloomy fate, to the people's hurt,

Came upon you in the valley of Badr;

My resolution saved them from disaster
And God's help and a well-conceived plan.
I returned alone from al-Abwa'

When you were surrounded by the enemy,
Helpless, if anyone attacked you,

Wounded and bleeding by the side of Kurash.” 536
Whenever a comrade in distress called

For my Aid in an evil day,

A brother or ally in such case,

Much as I love my life I answered his call.

I returned to the fray, dispelling gloom,

And shot when faces showed hostility.
Many an adversary have I left on the ground
To rise painfully like a broken twig 3

When battle was joined I dealt him a blow
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That drew blood-his arteries murmured aloud:

That is what I did on the day of Badr.

Before that I was resourceful and steadfast,

Your brother as you know in war and famine

Whose evils are ever with us,

Your champion undaunted by darkest night or superior numbers.
Out into the bitter black night I plunged”

When the freezing wind forces dogs to shelter (556).

Hind d. 'Utba b. Rabi'a bewailing her father on the day of Badr
said:

O eyes, be generous with thy tears

For the best of Khindif's sons

Who never returned (home).

His clan fell upon him one morning,

The sons of Hashim and the sons of al-Muttalib
They made him taste the edge of their swords,
They attacked him again when he was helpless,
They dragged him stripped and spoiled

With the dust upon his face;

To us he was a strong mountain,

Grass-clad, pleasing to the eye;

As for al-Bara' I do not mention him,

May he get the good he counted on.

She also said:

Fate is against us and has wronged us,

But we can do naught to resist it.

After the slain of Lu'ayy b. Ghalib,

Can a man care about his death or the death of his friend?
Many a day did he rob himself of wealth

By lavishing gifts morning and evening.

Give Abu Sufyan a message from me:

If I meet him one day I will reprove him.

'"Twas a war that will kindle another war,

For every man has a friend to avenge (557).

She also said:

What an eye which saw a death like the death of my men!
How many a man and woman tomorrow

Will join with the keening women;

How many did they leave behind on the day of the pit,
The morning of that tumultuous cry!

All generous men in years of drought

When the stars withheld their rain.'

I was afraid of what I saw

And now my fear is realized.

I was afraid of what I saw

And today I am beside myself.

How many a woman will say tomorrow

Alas Umm Mu'awiya! (558)

Hind also said:

O eye, weep for 'Utba, the strong-necked chief,
Who gave his food in famine,
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Our defense on the day of victory,

I am grieved for him, broken-hearted, demented. !
Let us fall on Yathrib with an overwhelming attack
With horses kept hard by,

Every long-bodied charger.

Safiya d. Musafir b. Abu'Amr b. Umayya b. 'Abdu Shams b. 'Abdu
Manaf, bewailing the slain in the pit of Badr, said:

Alas for my eye painful and bleared

The night far spent, the rising sun still hid!

I was told that the noble chieftains

Fate had seized for ever,

That the riders fled with the' army and

Mothers neglected their children that morning.
Arise, Safiya, forget not their relationship,

And if you weep, it is not for those who are distant.
They were the support52 of the tent.

When they broke, the roof of the tent was left unsupported (559).

Safiya also said:

Alas my eye, weeping has exhausted its tears

Like the two buckets of the waterman

Walking among the trees of the orchard.

No lion of the jungle with claws and teeth,

Father of cubs, leaping on his prey,

Exceeding fierce and angry,

Is equal to my love when he died

Facing people whose faces were changed in anger,
In his hand a sharp sword of the finest steel.

When you thrust with a spear you made great wounds
From which came hot foaming blood (560).

Hind d. Uthatha b. 'Abbad b. al-Muttalib lamenting 'Ubayda b. al-
Harith b. al-Muttalib said:

Al-Safra” holds glory and authority,

Deep-rooted culture, ample intelligence.

Weep for 'Ubayda, a mountain of strength to the strange guests,
And the widow who suckles a disheveled baby;

To the people in every winter

When the skies are red from famine;

To the orphans when the wind was violent.

He heated the pot which foamed with milk as it seethed;
When the fire burned low and its flame died

He would revive it with thick brushwood.

Mourn him for the night traveler or the one wanting food,
The wanderer lost whom he put at his ease (561).

Qutayla d. al-Harith, sister of al-Nadr b. al-Harith, weeping him said:

O Rider, I think you will reach Uthay!'

At dawn of the fifth night if you are lucky.

Greet a dead man there for me.

Swift camels always carry news from me to thee.

(Tell of) flowing tears running profusely or ending in a sob.
Can al-Nadr hear me when I call him, I

How can a dead man hear who cannot speak?
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O Muhammad, finest child of noble mother,

Whose sire a noble sire was,

"Twould not have harmed you had you spared him.

(A warrior oft spares though full of rage and anger.)
Or you could have taken a ransom,

The dearest price that could be paid

Al-Nadr was the nearest relative you captured

With the best claim to be released.

The swords of his father's sons came down on him.
Good God, what bonds of kinship there were shattered!
Exhausted he was led to a cold-blooded death,

A prisoner in bonds, waiking like a hobbled beast (562).”

The apostle left Badr at the end of the month of Ramadan or in
Shawwal.

THE RAID ON B. SULAYM IN AL-KUDR

The apostle stayed only seven nights in Medina before he himself made
a raid against B. Sulaym (563). He got as far as their watering place called
al-Kudr and stayed there three nights, returning to Medina without any
fighting. He stayed there for the rest of Shawwal and Dhu'l-Qa'da, and
during that time he accepted the ransom of most of the Quraysh prisoners.

THE RAID OF AL-SAWIQ

Abu Muhammad 'Abdu'l-Malik b. Hisham from Ziyad b. 'Abdullah al-
Bakka'i from Muhammad b. Ishaq al-Muttalibi said: Then Abu Sufyan b.
Harb made the raid of Sawiq in Dhu'l-Hijja. The polytheists were in charge
of the pilgrimage that year. Muhammad b. Ja'far b. al-Zubayr and Yazid b.
Ruman and one whose veracity I do not suspect from 'Abdullah b. Ka'b b.
Malik who was one of the most learned Helpers told me that when Abu
Sufyan returned to Mecca and the Quraysh fugitives returned from Badr. he
swore that he would not practice ablution I until he had raided Muhammad.
Accordingly he sallied forth with two hundred riders from Quraysh to fulfill
his vow. He took the Nejd road and stopped by the upper part of a
watercourse which led to a mountain called Thayb about one post distance
from Medina. Then he sallied forth by night and came to the B. al-Nadir
under cover of darkness. He came to Huyayy b. Akhtab and knocked upon
his door, but as he was afraid of him he refused to open the door, so he
went to Sallam b. Mishkam, who was their chief at that time, and keeper of
the public purse. He asked permis-sion to come in and Sallam entertained
him with food and drink, and gave him secret information about the
Muslims. He rejoined his companions at the end of the night and sent some
of them to Medina. They came to an outlying district called Al-'Urayd and
there they burnt some young palm-trees and finding one of the Helpers and
an ally of his working the fields there, they killed them and returned. People
got warning of them and so the apostle went out in pursuit (564). He got as
far as Qarqaratu'l-Kudr * and then returned because Abu Sufyan and his
companions had eluded him. They saw some of the provisions which the
raiders had thrown away in the fields to lighten their baggage so as to get
away quickly. When the apostle brought the Muslims back they asked, 'Do
you hope that this will count (with God) in our favor as a raid?' and he
replied, 'Yes' (565).

When he went away Abu Sufyan said of Sallam's treatment of him:

I chose one man out of Medina as an ally,

I had no cause to regret it, though I did not stay long. Sallam ibn
Mishkam gave me good wine,
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He refreshed me in full measure despite my haste. When the raiders
turned back I said

(Unwilling to burden him),

'"Look forward to raiding and booty.

Consider, for the people are the pure stock of Lu'ayy, Not a mixed
rabble of Jurhum'.

It was no more than (spending) part of the night by a traveler

Who came hungry though not needy and destitute.

[Abu Sufyan had composed some verses to incite Quraysh when he

got ready to march from Mecca to Medina:

Return to the attack on Yathrib and the lot of them, For what they have
collected is booty for you. Though the battle of the cistern went in their
favor The future will restore your fortunes.

I swear that I will not come near women Nor shall I use the water of
purification

Until you destroy the tribes of Aus and Khazraj. My heart is burning for
revenge.*

Ka'b b. Malik answered him:

The Muslims' are sorry for Ibn Harb's army, So futile in the harra

When those who were sick of their provision cast away the burden2
Climbing up to the top of the mountain.

The place where their camels knelt can be compared

Only with the hole of foxes, *

Bare of gold4 and wealth and of

The warriors of the vale and their spears.]

THE RAID OF DHU AMARR

When the apostle returned from the raid of al-Sawiq he stayed in
Medina for the rest of Dhu'l-Hijja, or nearly all of it. Then he raided Najd,
making for Ghatafan. This is the raid of Dhu Amarr (566). He stayed in
Najd during the month of Safar, or nearly all of it, and then returned to
Medina without any fighting. There he remained for the month of Rabi’u’l-
Awwal, or a day or two less.

THE RAID OF AL-FURU' OF BAHRAN

Then he made a raid on Quraysh as far as Bahran, a mine in the Hijaz in
the neighborhood of AL-Furu'.” He stayed there for the next two months
and then returned to Medina without fighting (567).

THE AFFAIR OF THE B. QAYNUQA' 545

Meanwhile there was the affair of the B. Qaynuqa'. The apostle
assembled them in their market and addressed them as follows: ‘O Jews,
beware lest God bring upon you the vengeance that He brought upon
Quraysh and become Muslims. You know that I am a prophet who has been
sent — you will find that in your scriptures and God's covenant with you.'
They replied, ‘O Muhammad, you seem to think that we are your people.
Do not deceive yourself because you encountered a people with no
knowledge of war and got the better of them; for by God if we fight you,
you will find that we are real men!'

A freedman of the family of Zayd b. Thabit from Sa'id b. Jubayr or
from 'lkrima from Ibn 'Abbas told me that the latter said the following
verses came down about them:

'Say to those who disbelieve: you will be vanquished and gathered to
Hell, an evil resting place. You have already had a sign in the two forces
which met', i.e. the apostle's companions at Badr and the Quraysh. 'One
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force fought in the way of God; the other, disbelievers, thought they saw
double their own force with their very eyes. God strengthens with His help
whom He will. Verily in that is an example for the discerning."”

'Asim b. 'Umar b. Qatada said that the B. Qaynuqa' were the first of the
Jews to break their agreement with the apostle and to go to war, between
Badr and Uhud(S68), and the apostle besieged them until they surrendered
unconditionally. 'Abdullah b. Ubayy b. Salul went to him when God had
put them in his power and said, ‘O Muhammad, deal kindly with my
clients' (now they were allies of Khazraj), but the apostle put him off. He
repeated the words, and the apostle turned away from him, whereupon he
thrust his hand into the collar of the apostle's robe (569); the apostle was so
angry that his face became almost black. He said, 'Confound you;, let me
g0." He answered, 'No, by God, I will not let you go until you deal kindly
with my clients. Four hundred men without mail and three hundred mailed
protected me from all mine enemies; would you cut them down in one
morning? By God, I am a man who fears that circumstances may change.'
The apostle said, "You can have them (570).'

My father Ishaq b. Yasar told me from 'Ubada b. al-Walid b. 'Ubada b.
al-Samit who said: when the B. Qaynuqga' fought the apostle 'Abdullah b.
Ubayy espoused their cause and defended them, and 'Ubada b. al-Samit,
who was one of the B. 'Auf, who had the same alliance with them as had
'Abdullah, went to the apostle and renounced all responsibility for them in
favor of God and the apostle, saying, ‘O apostle of God, I take God and His
apostle and the believers as my friends, and I renounce my agreement and
friendship with these unbelievers.' Concerning him and 'Abdullah b. Ubayy,
this passage from the chapter of the Table came down:”

‘O you who believe, take not Jews and Christians as friends. They are
friends one of another. Who of you takes them as friends is one of them.
God will not guide the unjust people. You can see those in whose heart
there is sickness', i.e. 'Abdullah b. Ubayy when he said, 'I fear a change of
circumstances.' 'Acting hastily in regard to them they say we fear that
change of circumstances may overtake us. Peradventure God will bring
victory or an act from Him so that they will be sorry for their secret
thoughts, and those who believe will say, Are these those who swore by
God their most binding oath?' [that they were with you], as far as God's
words, 'Verily God and His apostle are your friends, and those who believe,
who perform prayer, give aims and bow in homage,' mentioning 'Ubada
taking God and His apostle and the believers as friends, and renouncing his
agreement and friendship with the B. Qaynuga', 'Those who take God and
His apostle and the believers as friends, they are God's party, they are the
victorious.'

THE RAID OF ZAYD B. HARITHA TO AL-QARADA

The story of the foray of Zayd who captured the caravan of Quraysh, in
which was Abu Sufyan b. Harb, when the apostle sent him to al-Qarada, a
watering-place in Najd, is as follows;

Quraysh were afraid to follow their usual route to Syria after what had
happened at Badr, so they went by the Iraq route. Some of their merchants
went out, among whom was Abu Sufyan, carrying a great deal of silver
which formed the larger part of their merchandise. They hired a man from
the B. Bakr b. Wa'il called Furat b. Hayyan to conduct them by that route
(57"). The apostle duly sent Zayd, and he met them by that watering-place
and captured the caravan and' its contents, but the men got away. He
brought the spoil to the apostle.

Hassan b. Thabit after UThud concerning the last raid of Badr taunted
Quraysh for taking the Iraq road thus:
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You can say good-bye to the streams of Damascus, for in between
Are swords like the mouths of pregnant camels who feed on arak
trees

In the hands of men who migrated to their Lord

And His true helpers and the angels.

If they go to the lowland of the sandy valley Say to them,

There is no road here (572).!

THE KILLING OF KA'B B. AL-ASHRAF

After the Quraysh defeat at Badr the apostle had sent Zayd b. Haritha to
the lower quarter and 'Abdullah b. Rawaha to the upper quarter to tell the
Muslims of Medina of God's victory and of the polytheists who had been
killed. 'Abdullah b. al-Mughith b. Abu Burda al-Zafari and 'Abdullah b.
Abu Bakr b. Muhammad b. 'Amr b.Hazm and 'Asim b. '"Umar b. Qatada

and Salih b. Abu Umama b. Sahl each gave me a part of the following
story: Ka'b b. Al-Ashraf who was one of the Tayyi' of the subsection B.
Nabhan whose mother was from the B. al-Nadir, when he heard the news
said, 'Is this true? Did Muhammad actually kill these whom these two men
mention? (i.e. Zayd and 'Abdullah b. Rawaha). These are the nobles of the
Arabs and kingly men; by God, if Muhammad has slain these people 'twere
better to be dead than alive."'

When the enemy of God became certain that the news was true he left
the town and went to Mecca to stay with al-Muttalib b. Abu Wada'a b.
Dubayra al-Sahmi who was married to 'Atika d. Abu'l-'Is b. Umayya b.
'Abdu Shams b. 'Abdu Manaf. She took him in and entertained him
hospitably. He began to inveigh against the apostle and to recite verses in
which he bewailed the Quraysh who were thrown into the pit after having
been slain at Badr. He said:

Badr's mill ground out the blood of its people.

At events like Badr you should weep and cry.

The best of the people were slain round their cisterns,

Don't think it strange that the princes were left lying.

How many noble handsome men,

The refuge of the homeless were slain,

Liberal when the stars gave no rain,

Who bore others' burdens, ruling and taking their due fourth.

Some people whose anger pleases me say

'Ka'b b. Al-Ashraf is utterly dejected'.

They are right. O that the earth when they were killed

Had split asunder and engulfed its people,

That he who spread the report had been thrust through

Or lived cowering blind and deaf.

I was told that all the Banu'l-Mughira were humiliated

And brought low by the death of Abu'l-Hakim

And the two sons of Rabi'a with him,

And Munabbih and the others did not attain (such honor) as those

who were slain.”

I was told that al-Harith ibn Hisham

Is doing well and gathering troops To visit Yathrib with armies,

For only the noble, handsome man protects the loftiest® reputation
(573).

Hassan b. Thabit answered him thus:

Does Ka'b weep for him again and again
And live in humiliation hearing nothing?*
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T.1369

In the vale of Badr I saw some of them, the slain,

Eyes pouring with tears for them.

Weep ('Atika], for you have made a mean slave weep
Like a pup following a little bitch.

God has given satisfaction to our leader

And put to shame and prostrated those who fought him.
Those whose hearts were torn with fear

Escaped and fled away (574).

A Muslim woman of B. Murayd, a clan of Bali who were allied
attachments of B. Umayya b. Zayd, called al-Ja'adira answered Ka'b (575):

This slave shows great concern

Weeping over the slain untiringly ..

May the eye that weeps over the slain at Badr weep on

And may Lu'ayy b. Ghalib weep double as much!

Would that those weltering in their blood

Could be seen by those who live between Mecca's mountains!
They would know for certain and would see

How they were dragged along by hair and beard. '

Ka'b b. Al-Ashraf answered her:

Drive off that fool of yours that you may be safe
From talk that has no sense!

Do you taunt me because I shed tears

For people who loved me sincerely?

As long as I live I shall weep and, remember

The merits of people whose glory is in Mecca's houses.
By my life Murayd used to be far from hostile

But now they are become as jackals.

They ought to have their noses cut off

For insulting the two clans of Lu'ayy b. Ghalib.

I give my share in Murayd to Ja'dar

In truth, by God's house, between Mecca's mountains.

(T. Then Ka'b returned to Medina and composed amatory verses
about Ummu'l-Fadl d. al-Harith, saying:

Are you off without stopping in the valley

And leaving Ummu'l-Fadl in Mecca?

Out would come what she bought from the pedlar of bottles,
Henna and hair dye.

What lies 'twixt ankle and elbow is in motion
When she tries to stand and does not.

Like U mm Hakim when she was with us

The link between us firm and not to be cut.

She is one of B. 'Amir who bewitches the heart,
And if she wished she could cure my sickness.
The glory of women and of a people is their father,
A people held in honor true to their oath.

Never did I see the sun rise at night till I saw her
Display herself to us in the darkness of the night!)

Then he composed amatory verses of an insulting nature about the
Muslim women. The apostle said — according to what 'Abdullah b. al-
Mughith b. Abu Burda told me — "Who will rid me of Ibnu'l-Ashraf?'
Muhammad b. Maslama, brother of the B. 'Abdu'l-Ashhal, said, " will deal
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with him for you, a apostle of God, I will kill him."' He said, 'Do so if you
can.' So Muhammad b. Maslama returned and waited for three days without
food or drink, apart from what was absolutely necessary. When the apostle
was told of this he summoned him and asked him why he had given up
eating and drinking. He replied that he had given him an under-taking and
he did not know whether he could fulfill it. The apostle said, 'An that is
incumbent upon you is that you should try.' He said, ‘O apostle of God, we
shall have to tell lies.' He answered, 'Say what you like, for you are free in
the matter.' Thereupon he and Silkan b. Salama b. Wagqsh who was Abu
Na'ila one of the B. 'Abdu'l-Ashhai, foster-brother of Ka'b, and 'Abbad b.
Bishr b. Wagsh, and al-Harith b. Aus b. Mu'adh of the B. 'Abdu'l-Ashhai
and Abu 'Abs b. Jabr of the B. Haritha conspired together and sent Silkan to
the enemy of God, Ka'b b. Ashraf, before they came to him. He talked to
him some time and they recited poetry one to the other, for Silkan was fond
of poetry. Then he said, ‘O Ibn Ashraf, I have come to you about a matter
which I want to tell you of and wish you to keep secret.' 'Very well,' he
replied. He went on, 'The coming of this man is a great trial to us. It has
provoked the hostility of the Arabs, and they are all in league against us.
The roads have become impassable so that our families are in want and
privation, and we and our families are in great distress.' Ka 'b answered, 'By
God, I kept telling you, a Ibn Salama, that the things t warned you of would
happen.' Silkan said to him, 'T want you to sell us food and we will give you
a pledge of security and you deal generously in the matter.' He replied,
'Will you give me your sons as a pledge?' He said, "You want to insult us. |
have friends who share my opinion and I want to bring them to you so that
you may sell to them and act generously, and we will give you enough
weapons for a good pledge.' Silkan's object was that he should not take
alarm at the sight of weapons when they brought them. Ka'b answered,
"Weapons are a good pledge.' Thereupon Silkan returned to his companions,
told them what had happened, and ordered them to take their arms. Then
they went away and assembled with him and met the apostle (576).

Thaur b. Zayd from 'Tkrima from Ibn 'Abbas told me the apostle walked
with them as far as Baqi'u'l-Gharqad. Then he sent them off, saying, 'Go in
God's name; O God help them.' So saying, he returned to his house. Now it
was a moonlight night and they journeyed on until they came to his castle,
and Abu Na'ila called out to him. He had only recently married, and he
jumped up in the bed sheet, and his wife took hold of the end of it and said,
"You are at war, and those who are at war do not go out at this hour.' He
replied, 'It is Abu Na'ila. Had he found me sleeping he would not have
woken me." She answered, 'By God, I can feel evil in his voice.' Ka'b
answered, 'Even if the call were for a stab a brave man must answer it.' So
he went down and talked to them for some time, while they conversed with
him. Then Abu Na'ila said, 'Would you like to walk with us to Shi'b al-
'Ajuz, so that we can talk for the rest of the night?' 'If you like,' he
answered, so they went off waiking together; and after a time Abu Na'ila
ran his hand through his hair. Then he smelt his hand, and said, 'T have
never smelt a scent finer than this.' They walked on farther and he did the
same so that Ka'b suspected no evil. Then after a space he did it for the
third time, and cried, 'Smite the enemy of God!' So they smote him, and
their swords clashed over him with no effect. Muhammad b. Maslama said,
'l remembered my dagger when I saw that our swords were useless, and I
seized it. Meanwhile the enemy of God had made such a noise that every
fort around us was showing a light. I thrust it into the lower part of his
body, then I bore down upon it until I reached his genitals, and the enemy
of God fell to the ground. Al-Harith had been hurt, being wounded either in
his head or in his foot, one of our swords having struck him. We went
away, passing by the B. Umayya b. Zayd and then the B. Qurayza and then
Bu'ath until we went up the Harra of al-'Urayd.' Our friend al-Harith had
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lagged behind, weakened by loss of blood, so we waited for him for some
time until he came up, following our tracks. We carried him and brought
him to the apostle at the end of the night. We saluted him as he stood
praying, and he came out to us, and we told him that we had killed God's
enemy. He spat upon our comrade's wounds, and both he and we returned
to our families. Our attack upon God's enemy cast terror among the Jews,
and there was no Jew in Medina who did not fear for his life."”

Ka 'b b. Malik said:

Of them Ka'b was left prostrate there

(After his fall al-Nadir were brought low).

Sword in hand we cut him down

By Muhammad's order when he sent secretly by night
Ka'b's brother to go to Ka'b.

He beguiled him and brought him down with guile
Mahmud was trustworthy, bold (577).

Hassan b. Thabit, mentioning the killing of Ka'b and of Sallam b.
Abu'l-Hugayq, said:

What a fine band you met, O Ibnu'l-Huqayq,

And you too, Ibnu'l-Ashraf,

Traveling by night with their light swords

Bold as lions in their jungle lair

Until they came to you in your quarter

And made you taste death with their deadly swords,
Seeking victory for the religion of their prophet
Counting their lives and wealth as nothing (578).

THE AFFAIR OF MUHAYYISA AND HUWAYYISA

The apostle said, 'Kill any Jew that fails into your power.' Thereupon
Muhayyisa b. Mas'ud leapt upon Ibn Sunayna (579), a Jewish merchant
with whom they had social and business relations, and killed him.
Huwayyisa was not a Muslim at the time though he was the elder brother.
When Muhayyisa killed him Huwayyisa began to beat him, saying, "You
enemy of God, did you kill him when much of the fat on your belly comes
from his wealth?' Muhayyisa answered, 'Had the one who ordered me to
kill him ordered me to kill you I would have cut your head off.' He said that
this was the beginning of Huwayyisa's acceptance of Islam. The other
replied, 'By God, if Muhammad had ordered you to kill me would you have
killed me?' He said, 'Yes, by God, had he ordered me to cut off your head I
would have done so.' He exclaimed, 'By God, a religion which can bring
you to this is marvellous!' and he became a Muslim.

I was told this story by a client of B. Haritha from the daughter of
Muhayyisa from Muhayyisa himself.

Muhayyisa composed the following lines on the subject:

My mother's son blames me because if I were ordered to kill him
I would smite his nape with a sharp sword,-

A blade white as salt from polishing.

My downward stroke never misses its mark.

It would not please me to kill you voluntarily

Though we owned all Arabia from north to south (580).
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After his arrival from Bahran the apostle stopped for the months of the
latter Jumada, Rajab, Sha'ban, and Ramadan (in Medina). Quraysh made
the raid of Uhud in Shawwal, A.H. 3.

THE BATTLE OF UHUD

I have pieced together the following story about the battle of Uhud,
from what I was told by Muhammad b. Muslim al-Zuhri and Muhammad b.
Yahya b. Hibban and 'Asim b. 'Umar b. Qatada and Al-Hunayn b. 'Abdu'l-
Rahman b. 'Amr b. Sa'd b. Mu'adh and other learned traditionists. One or
the other, or all of them, is responsible for the following narrative. When
the unbelieving Quraysh met disaster at Badr and the survivors returned to
Mecca and Abu Sufyan b. Harb had returned with his caravan, 'Abdullah b.
Abu Rabi'a and 'Tkrima b. Abu Jahl and Safwan b. Umayya walked with the
men whose fathers, sons, and brothers had been killed at Badr, and they
spoke to Abu Sufyan and those who had merchandise in that caravan,
saying, 'Men of Quraysh, Muhammad has wronged you and killed your best
men, so help us with this money to fight him, so that we may hope to get
our revenge for those we have lost,’ and they did so.

A learned person told me that it was concerning them that God sent
down: ' “Those who disbelieve spend their money to keep others from the
way of God, and they will spend it, then they will suffer the loss of it, then
they will be overcome, and those who disbelieve will be gathered to Hell.'

So Quraysh gathered together to fight the apostle when Abu Sufyan did
this, and the owners of the caravan, with their black troops, and such of the
tribes of Kinana as would obey them, and the people of the low country.
Now Abu 'Azza al- Jumahi had been spared by the apostle at Badr because
he was a poor man with a large family.2 He had been taken prisoner, and
said, 'l am a poor man with a large family and great need, as you know, so
spare me,' and the apostle let him go. Safwan said to him, 'Now, Abu 'Azza,
you are a poet so help us with your tongue and go forth with us.' He replied,
'Muhammad spared me and I do not want to go against him.' He said, 'No,
but help us with your presence, and God is my witness that if T return I will
make you rich; and if you are killed I will treat your daughters as my own.
What befalls mine, whether good or ill, shall befall yours.' So Abu 'Azza
went through the low country calling the B. Kinana and saying:
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Listen, sons of 'Abdu Manat, the steadfast,
You are stout warriors like your father,

Do not promise me your help a year hence,
Do not betray me, for betrayal is not right.’

Musafi' b. '"Abdu Manat b. Wahb b. Hudhafa b. Jumah went out to the
B. Malik b. Kinana stirring them up and calling them to fight the apostle,
saying:

O Malik, Malik, foremost in honor,

I ask in the name of kindred and confederate,

Those who are next-of-kin and those who are not,

In the name of the alliance in the midst of the holy city,
At the wail of the venerable Ka'ba.

Jubayr b. Mut’im summoned an Abyssinian slave of his called Wahshi,

who could throw a javelin as the Abyssinians do and seldom missed the

mark. He said, 'Go forth with the army, and if you kill Hamza, 557

Muhammad's uncle, in revenge for my uncle, Tu'ayma b. 'Adiy, you shall
be free.' So Quraysh marched forth with the flower of their army, and their
black troops, and their adherents from the B. Kinana, and the people of the
lowland, and women in howdahs went with them to stir up their anger and
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prevent their running away. Abu Sufyan, who was in command, went out
with Hind d. 'Utba, and 'Ikrima b. Abu Jahl went with Umm Hakim d. al-
Harith b. Hisham b. al-Mughira; and al-Harith b. Hisham b. al-Mughira
went with Fatima d. al-Walid b. al-Mughira; and Safwan went with Barza
d. Mas'ud b. 'Amr b. 'Umayr the Thaqafite who was the mother of
'Abdullah b. Safwan b. Umayya (58!). 'Amr b. al-'As went with Rayta d.
Munabbih b. al-Hajjaj who was Umm 'Abdullah b. 'Amr. Taiha b. Abu
Taiha who was 'Abdullah b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza b. 'Uthman b. 'Abdu'l-Dar went
with Sulafa d. Sa'd b. Shuhayd al-Ansariya who was mother of the sons of
Taiha, Musafi', al- Julas and Kilab; they were killed with their father that
day. Khunas d. Malik b. al-Mudarrib, one of the women of the B. Malik b.
Hisl went with her son Abu Aziz b. '"Umayr. She was the mother of Muy'ab
b. 'Umayr. 'Amra d. 'Aigama, one of the women of the B. al-Harith b. 'Abdu
Manat b. Kinana went out. Whenever Hind passed Wahshi or he passed by
her, she would say, 'Come on, you father of blackness, satisfy your
vengeance and ours.' Wahshi had the title of Abu Dasma. They went
forward until they halted at 'Aynayn on a hill in the valley of Al-Sabkha of
Qanat by the side of the wadi opposite Medina.'

When the apostle heard about them, and the Muslims had encamped, he
said to them, 'By God, I have seen (in a dream) something that augurs well.
I saw cows, and I saw a dent in the blade of my sword, and I saw that I had
thrust my hand into a strong coat of mail and I interpreted that to mean
Medina (582). If you think it well to stop in Medina and leave them where
they have encamped, for if they halt they will have halted in a bad position
and if they try to enter the city, we can fight them therein, (that is a good
plan).'2 'Abdullah b. Ubayy b. Salul agreed with the apostle in this, and
thought that they should not go out to fight them, and the apostle himself
disliked the idea of leaving the city. Some men whom God honoured with
martyrdom at Uhud and others who were not present at Badr said, ‘O
apostle of God, lead us forth to our enemies, lest they think that we are too
cowardly and too weak to fight them.' 'Abdullah said, ‘O apostle of God,
stay in Medina, do not go out to them. We have never gone out to fight an
enemy but we have met disaster, and none has come in against us without
being defeated, so leave them where they are. If they stay, they stay in an
evil predicament, and if they come in, the men will fight them and the
women and children will throw stones on them from the wails, and if they
retreat they will retreat low-spirited as they came.' Those who wanted to
fight Quraysh kept urging the apostle until he went into his house and put
on his armor. That was on the Friday when he had finished prayers. On that
day one of the Ansar, Malik b, 'Amr one of the B. Al-Najjar died, and the
apostle prayed over him, and then went out to fight. Meanwhile the people
had repented of their design, saying they thought they had persuaded the
apostle against his will, which they had no right to do, so that when he went
out to them they admitted that and said that if he wished to remain inside
the city they would not oppose him. The apostle said, 'It is not fitting that a
prophet who has put on his armor should lay it aside until he has fought,' so
he marched out with a thousand of his companions (583), until when they
reached al-Shaut between Medina and Uhud, 'Abdullah b. Ubayy withdrew
with a third of the men, saying, 'He has obeyed them and disobeyed me. We
do not know why we should lose our lives here, O men.' So he returned
with the waverers and doubters who followed him, and 'Abdullah b. 'Amr b.
Haram, brother of the B. Salama, followed them, saying, ‘O people, I
adjure you by God not to abandon your people and your prophet when the
enemy is at hand.' They replied, 'If we knew that you would fight we would
not abandon you, but we do not think that there will be a battle.! So when
they withstood him' and persisted in withdrawing, he said, May God curse
you, you enemies of God, for God will make His prophet independent of
you.' Someone, not Ziyad, I from Muhammad b. Ishaq from al-Zuhri, said
that on that day the Ansar said, ‘O apostle, should we not ask help from our

Jihad Sira 3/26/2010 188

558




560

allies, the Jews?' He said, 'We have no need of them.' Ziyad said
Muhammad b. IShaq told me that the apostle went his way until he passed
through the harra of the B. Haritha and a horse swished its tail and it caught
the pommel of a sword so that it came out of its sheath (584). The apostle,
who liked auguries, though he did not observe the flight of birds, said to the
owner of the sword, 'Sheath your sword, for I can see that swords will be
drawn today.'

Then the apostle asked his companions whether anyone could take them
near the Quraysh by a road which would not pass by them. Abu
Khay-thama, brother of B. Haritha b. al-Harith, undertook to do so, and he
took him through the harra of B. Haritha and their property until he came
out in the territory of Mirba' b. Qayzi who was a blind man, a disaffected
person. When he perceived the approach of the apostle and his men he got
up and threw dust in their faces saying, "You may be the apostle of God,
but I won't let you through my garden!' I was told that he took a handful of
dust and said, 'By God, Muhammad, if I could be sure that I should not hit
someone else T would throw it in your face." The people rushed on him to
kill him, and the apostle said, 'Do not kill him, for this blind man is blind of
heart, blind of sight.' Sa'd b. Zayd, brother of B. 'Abdu'l-Ashhai, rushed at
him before the apostle had forbidden this and hit him on the head with his
bow so that he split it open.

The apostle went on until he came down the gorge of Uhud on the high
ground of the wadi towards the mountain. He put his camels and army
towards Uhud and said, 'Let none of you fight until we give the word.' Now
Quraysh had let their camels and horses loose to pasture in some crops
which were in al-Samgha, a part of Qanat belonging to the Muslims. When
the apostle had forbidden them to fight one of the Ansar said, 'Are the crops
of the B. Qayla to be grazed on without our striking a blow?' The apostle
drew up his troops for battle, about 700 men. He put over the archers
'Abdullah b. Jubayr brother of B. 'Amr b. 'Auf who was distinguished that
day by his white garments. There were 50 archers, and he said, 'Keep the
cavalry away from us with your arrows and let them not come on us from
the rear whether the battle goes in our favor or against us; and keep your
place so that we cannot be got at from your direction.' The apostle then put
on two coats of mail and delivered the standard to Mus'ab b. "Umayr,
brother of B. 'Abdu'l-Dar (585).

The Quraysh mustered their troops about 3,000 men with 200 horses
which they had led along with them. Their cavalry on the left flank was
commanded by Khalid b. al-Walid; and on the right by 'Ikrima b. Abu Jahl.

[M. The apostle wore two coats of mail on the day of Uhud, and he took
up a sword and brandished it saying] 'Who will take this sword with its
right?"' Some men got up to take it but he withheld it from them until Abu
Dujana Simak b. Kharasha, brother of B. Sa'ida, got up to take it. [M. "Umar
got up to take it, saying, 'l will take it with its right,' but the prophet turned
away from him and brandished it a second time using the same words. Then
al-Zubayr b. al-'Awwam got up and he too was rejected, and the two of
them were much mortified. Then Abu Dujana, &c.] He asked, 'What is its
right, O Apostle of God?' He answered, 'That you should smite the enemy
with it until it bends."! When he said that he would take it with its right he
gave it him. Now Abu Dujana was a brave but conceited man in battle and
whenever he put on this red turban of his, people knew that he was about to
fight. When he took the sword from the apostle's hand [he began to walk to
the fight saying:

I'm the man who took the sword

When '"Use it right' was the prophet's word.

For the sake of God, of all the Lord

Who doth to all their food afford.]

And he began to strut up and down between the lines.
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Ja'far b. 'Abdullah b. Aslam, client of 'Umar b. al-Khattab, told me on
the authority of one of the Ansar of B. Salama that the apostle said when he
saw Abu Dujana strutting, 'This is a gait which Allah hates except on an
occasion like this."

[T. Now Abu Sufyan had sent a messenger saying, 'You men of Aus
and Khazraj, leave me to deal with my cousin and we will depart from you,
for we have no need to fight you'; but they gave him a rude answer.]

'Asim b. "Umar b. Qatada told me that Abu 'Amir 'Abdu 'Amr b. Sayfi b.
Malik b. al-Nu'man, one of the B. Dubay'a who had separated from the
apostle and gone off to Mecca along with fifty young men of al-Aus [T.
among whom was 'Uthman b. Hunayf] though some people say there were
only fifteen of them, was promising Quraysh that if he met his people no
two men of them would exchange blows with him; and when the battle was
joined the first one to meet them was Abu 'Amir with the black troops and
the slaves of the Meccans, and he cried out, ‘O men of Aus, I am Abu
"Amir.' They replied, 'Then God destroy your sight, you impious rascal.' (In
the pagan period he was called 'the monk' ; the apostle called him 'the
impious'.) When he heard their reply he said, 'Evil has befallen my people
since I left them.' Then he fought with all his might, pelting them with
stones.

Abu Sufyan had said to the standard-bearers of the B. 'Abdu'l-Dar,
inciting them to battle, ‘O Banu 'Abdu'l-Dar, you had charge of our flag on.
the day of Badr-you saw what happened. Men are dependent on the
fortunes of their flags, so either you must guard our standard efficiently or
you must leave it to us and we will save you the trouble (of defending) it.'
They pondered over the matter and threatened him, saying, 'Are we to
surrender our flag to you ? You will see tomorrow how we shall act when
battle is joined' and that was just what Abu Sufyan wanted. When each side
drew near to the other Hind b. 'Utba rose up with the women that were with
her and took tambourines which they beat behind the men to incite them
while Hind was saying:

On ye sons of 'Abdu'l-Dar,
On protectors of our rear,
Smite with every sharpened spear!

She also said:

If you advance we hug you,

Spread soft rugs beneath you;

If you retreat we leave you,

Leave and no more love you (586).2

The people went on fighting until the battle grew hot, and Abu Dujana
fought until he had advanced far into the enemy's ranks (587).

Whenever he met one of the enemy he killed him. Now among the
pagans there was a man who dispatched every man of ours he wounded.
These two men began to draw near one to the other, and I prayed God that
He would make them meet. They did meet and exchanged blows, and the
polytheist struck at Abu Dujana, who warded off the blow with his shield;
his sword sank into the shield so that he could not withdraw it, and Abu
Dujana struck him and killed him. Then I saw him as his sword hovered
over the head of Hind d. 'Utba. Then he turned it aside from her. Al Zubayr
said, 'And I said, "God and His apostle know best." ,

Abu Dujana said, 'T saw a person inciting the enemy, shouting violently,
and I made for him, and when I lifted my sword against him, he shrieked,
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and lo, it was a woman; I respected the apostle's sword too much to use it
on a woman.'

Hamza fought until he killed Arta b. 'Abdu Shurahbil b. Hashim b.
'Abdu Manaf b. 'Abdu'l-Dar who was one of those who were carrying the
standard. Then Siba' b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza al-Ghubshani, who was known as
Abu Niyar, passed by him, and Hamza said, 'Come here, you son of a
female circumciser.! Now his mother was Umm Anmar, freedwoman of
Shariq b. 'Amr b. Wahb al- Thaqafi (588), a female circumciser in Mecca.
When they closed Hamza smote him and killed him.

Wahshi. the slave of Jubayr b. Mutim, said, 'By God, I was looking at
Hamza while he was killing men with his sword, sparing no one, like a
huge camel,l when Siba' came up to him before me, and Hamza said,
"Come here, you son of a female circumciser," and he struck him a blow so
swiftly that it seemed to miss his head. I poised my javelin until I was sure
that it would hit the mark, and launched it at him. It pierced the lower part
of his body and came out between his legs. He came on towards me, but
collapsed and fell. T left him there until he died, when I came and
re-covered my javelin. Then I went off to the camp, for I had no business
with anyone but him.'

'Abdullah b. al-Fadl b. 'Abbas b. Rabi'a b. al-Harith from Sulayman b.

Yasar from Ja'far b. 'Amr b. Umayya al-Damri told me: 'T went out with
'Ubaydullah b. 'Adiy b. al-Khiyar brother of the B. Naufal b. 'Abdu Manaf
in the time of Mu'awiya b. Abu Sufyan and we made an excursion with the
army. When we came back we passed by Hims where Wahshi had taken up
his abode. When we arrived there 'Ubaydullah said to me, "Shall we go and
see Wahshi and ask him how he killed Hamza?" "If you like," I said. So we
went to inquire about him in Hims. While we were doing so a man said to
us, "You will find him in the courtyard of his house. He is a man much
addicted to wine; and if you find him sober, you will find an Arab and will
get what you want from him in answer to your questions; but if you find
him in his usual state, then leave him alone." So we walked off to find him,
and there he was in the courtyard of his house upon a carpet, an old man
like a bug hath (589). He was quite sober and normal. We saluted him, and
he lifted his head to look at 'Ubaydullah, and said, "Are you the son of
'Adiy b. al-Khiyar?" and when he said he was, he said, "By God, I have not
seen you since I handed you to your Sa'dite mother who nursed you in Dhu
Tuwa. ' 1 handed you to her when she was on her camel, and she clasped
you round your body with her two hands. You kicked® me with your feet
when I lifted you up to her. By God, as soon as you stood in front of me I
recognized them." We sat down and told him that we had come to hear his
account of how he killed Hamza. He said, "I will tell you as I told the
apostle when he asked me about it. I was a slave of Jubayr b. Mut'im,
whose uncle Tu'ayma b. 'Adiy had been killed at Badr, and when Quraysh
set out for Uhud, Jubayr told me that if I killed Hamza, Muhammad's uncle,
in revenge for his uncle, I should be free. So I went out with the army, a
young Abyssinian, skilful like my countrymen in the use ofthe javelin-I
hardly ever missed anything with it. When the fight began I went out to
look carefully for Hamza, until I saw him in the midst of the army, like a
great camel, slaying men with his sword, none being able to resist him, and
by God, I was getting ready for him, making towards him and hiding
myself behind trees or rocks so that he might come near me, when suddenly
Siba' got to him first, and when Hamza saw him, he said, "Come here, you
son of a female circumciser," and struck him a blow so swiftly that it
seemed to miss his head. I poised 'my javelin until I was sure that it would
hit the mark and launched it at him. It pierced the lower part of his body
and came out between his legs, and he began to stagger towards me. Then
he collapsed, and I left him. with the javelin until he died; then I came back
and recovered my javelin, and returned to the camp and stayed there, for I
had no further business, and my only object in killing him was that I might
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be freed. When I returned to Mecca I was freed and lived there until the
apostle conquered Mecca, when I fled to al- Ta'if, and stayed there for some
time. When the envoys of Ta'if went out to the apostle to surrender, I was in
an impasse and thought that I would go to Syria or the Yaman, or any other
country, and while I was in this anxiety a man said to me, "Good heavens,
what is the matter? He does not kill anyone who enters his religion and
pronounces the shahada." On hearing this I went out of the town to the
apostle at Medina, and the first thing to surprise him was to see me standing
at his head, witnessing to the truth of God and His apostle. When he saw
me he said, "Is it Wahshi?" "Yes, O apostle of God," I said. He replied, "Sit
down and tell me how you killed Hamza." So I told him as I have told you.
When 1 had finished he said, "Woe to you, hide your face from me and
never let me see you again." So I used to avoid the apostle wherever he was
so that he should not see me, until God took him.

"When the Muslims went out against Musaylima, the false prophet, lord
of the Yamama, I accompanied them, and I took the javelin with which I
had killed Hamza, and when the armies met [ saw Musaylima standing with
a sword in his hand, but I did not recognize him. I made ready for him and
so did one of the Ansar from the other side, both of us intending to kill him.
I poised my javelin until I was sure that it would hit the mark; and launched
it at him, and it pierced him, and the Ansari rushed at him and smote him
with his sword, so your Lord knows best which of us killed him. If T killed
him, then I have killed the best man after the apostle and I have also killed
the worst man.""

[When he came to Medina the men said ‘O apostle, this is Wahshi' to
which he replied 'Let him alone for that one man should accept Islam is
dearer to me than the killing of a thousand unbelievers.']1

'Abdullah b. al-Fadl from Sulayman b. Yasar from 'Abdullah b. "Umar
b. al-Khattab who was present at Yamama said, I heard someone shouting,
'"The black slave has killed him' (590)'

Mus'ab b. 'Umayr fought in the defense of the apostle until he was
killed. The one who killed him was Ibn Qami'a al-Laythi, who thought he
was the apostle, so he returned to the Quraysh and said, T have killed
Muhammad."' When Muy'ab was killed the apostle gave the standard to 'Ali,
and 'Ali and the Muslims fought on (591).

Sa'd b. Abu Waqqas killed Abu Sa'd b. Abu Taiha; 'Asim b. Thabit b.
Abu'l-Aqglah fought and killed Musafi' b. Taiha and his brother al-Julas,
shooting both of them with an arrow. Each came to his mother, Sulafa, and
laid his head in her lap. She said, 'Who has hurt you., my son?' and he
replied, 'T heard a man saying as he shot me, "I am Ibn Abu'l-Aqglah, take
that!"" She swore an oath that if God ever let her get the head of 'Asim she
would drink wine from it. It was 'Asim who had taken God to witness that
he would never touch a polytheist or let one touch him.

'Uthman b. Abu Taiha said that day as he was carrying the standard of
the polytheists:

It is the duty of standard-bearers
To blood their spears until they are broken to pieces.

Hamza killed him.

Hanzala b. Abu 'Amir, the washed one, and Abu Sufyan met in combat,
and when Hanzala got the better of him, Shaddad b. al-Aswad, who was Ibn
Sha'ub, saw that he had beaten Abu Sufyan, and so he struck him and killed
him. The apostle said, 'Your companion, Hanzala, is being washed by the
angels.' They asked his family about his condition, and when his wife was
asked, she said that he had gone out to battle when he heard the cry while in
a state of ritual impurity (592).
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The apostle said, 'For this reason the angels washed him.' Shaddad said
about his killing Hanzala:

I protect my friend and myself
With a thrust that pierces like the rays of the sun.

Abu Sufyan, mentioning his hardihood on that day and the help that Ibn
Sha’ub gave him against Hanzala, said:

Had I wished it my swift bay could have saved me,
And I should owe no thanks to Ibn Sha'ub.

It remained but a stone's throw off

From early morn till set of sun;

I fought them and cried, 'On, Ghalib!'

I beat them from me with firm strength;

Heed not the remonstrance of others,

Grow not weary of tears and sighs,

Weep for thy father and his brothers who have passed away,
Their fate deserves thy tears;

My former sorrow is relieved

Because I killed the best men of Najjar,

And Hashim's noble stallion and Mus'ab

Who was not cowardly in war.

Had I not slaked my vengeance on them,

My heart had been seared and scarred.

They retired their (Meccan) vagabonds dead'
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Thrust through, bleeding, prostrate.2

Those not their equals in blood smote them
And those who were beneath them in rank (593).3

Ibn Sha' b, mentioning the way he helped Abu Sufyan and defended
him, said:

Had I not been there and defended you, Ibn Harb,

You would have been left speechless for ever at the mountain foot.
Had I not brought my horse back there,

Hyenas or jackals would have devoured your flesh (594).

AL-Harith b. Hisham, answering Abu Sufyan, said:

Had you seen what they did at Badr's pool

You would have returned with fear in your heart as long as you live;
Or you would have been killed and I should have caused

Weeping women to weep for you,

And you would not have felt sorrow for the loss of a dear one).

I paid them back in kind for Badr

On a spirited galloping prancing horse (595).

Then God sent down His help to the Muslims and fulfilled His promise.
They slew the enemy with the sword until they cut them off from their
camp and there was an obvious rout.

Yahya b. 'Abbad b. 'Abdullah b. al-Zubayr from his father from
'Ab-dullah b. al-Zubyr from Zubayr said: I found myself looking at the
anklets of Hind d. 'Utba and her companions, tucking up their garments as
they fled. There was nothing at all to prevent anyone seizing them when the
archers turned aside to the camp when the enemy had been cut off from it
(T. making for the spoil). Thus they opened our rear to the cavalry and we
were attacked from behind. Someone called out 'Ha, Muhammad has been
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killed.' We turned back and the enemy turned back on us after we had killed
the standard bearers so that none of the enemy could come near it (596).

A traditionist told me that the standard lay on the ground until 'Amra
the Harithite d. 'Aigama took it up and raised it aloft for Quraysh so that
they gathered round it. It had been with Su'ab, a slave of B. Abu Taiha, an
Abyssinian. He was the last of them to take it. He fought until his hands
were cut off; then he knelt upon it and held the flag between his breast and
throat until he was killed over it, saying the while ‘O God, have I done my
duty?" He could not pronounce the dhal.

Hassan b. Thabit said about that:

You boasted of your flag, the worst (ground for) boasting
Is a flag handed over to Su'ab.

You have made a slave your boast,

The most miserable creature that wails the earth.

You supposed (and only a fool so thinks,

For it is anything but the truth)

That fighting us the day we met

Was like your selling red leather sacks in Mecca.

It gladdened the eye to see his hands reddened,

Though they were not reddened by dye (597).

Hassan also said about 'Amra and her raising the standard:

When 'Adal were driven to us

They were like fawns of Shirk'

With strongly marked eyebrows.

We attacked them thrusting, slaying, chastising,
Driving them before us with blows on every side.

Had not the Harithite woman seized their standard
They would have been sold in the markets like chattels.

The Muslims were put to flight and the enemy slew many of them. It
was a day of trial and testing in which God honoured several with
martyrdom, until the enemy got at the apostle who was hit with a stone so
that he fell on his side and one of his teeth was smashed, his face scored,
and his lip injured. The man who wounded him was 'Utba b. Abu Waqqas.

Humayd Al-Tawil told me from Anas b. Malik: The prophet's incisor
was broken on the day of Uhud and his face was scored. The blood began
to run down his face and he began to wipe it away, saying the while, 'How
can a people prosper who have stained their prophet's face with blood while
he summoned them to their Lord?' So God revealed concerning that: 'It is
not your affair whether He relents towards them or punishes them, for they
are wrongdoers'2 (598).

Hassan b. Thabit said of 'Utba:

When God recompenses a people for their deeds

And the Rahman punishes them®

May my Lord disgrace you, 'Utayba b. Malik,

And bring you a deadly punishment before you die.

You stretched out your hand with evil intent against the prophet,
You blooded his mouth. May your hand be cut off!

Did you forget God and the place you will go to

When the final misfortune overtakes you! (599).
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According to what al-Husayn b. 'Abdu'l-Rahman b. 'Amr b. Sa'd b.
Mu'adh told me on the authority of Mahmud b: 'Amr, when the enemy
hemmed him in, the apostle said: 'Who will sell his life for us?' and Ziyad
b. al-Sakan with five of the Ansar arose. (Others say it was 'Umara b. Yazid
b. al-Sakan.) They fought in defense of the apostle man after man, all being
killed until only Ziyad (or 'Umara) was left fighting until he was disabled.
At that point a number of the Muslims returned and drove the enemy away
from him. The apostle ordered them to bring him to him and made his foot
a support for his head and he died with his face on the apostle's foot (600).

Abu Dujana made his body a shield for the apostle. Arrows were failing
on his back as he leaned over him, until there were many stuck in it. Sa'd b.
Abu Waqqas shot his arrows in defense of the apostle. He said, 'l have seen
him handing me the arrows as he said" Shoot, may my father and my
mother be your ransom" until he would even hand me an arrow that had no
head, saying" Shoot with that".'

'Asim b. 'Umar b. Qatada said that the apostle went on shooting from
his bow until the bottom of it broke. Qatada b. al-Nu'man took it and kept
it. That day his eye was so injured that it lay exposed upon his cheek.
"Asim told me that the apostle restored it to its place with his hand and it
became his best and keenest eye afterwards.

Al-Qasim b. 'Abdu'l-Ra;man b. Rafi', brother of the B. 'Adiy b. alNajjar,
told me that Anas b. Al-Nadr, uncle of Anas b. Malik, came to 'Umar b. al-
Khattab and Taipa b. 'Ubaydullah with men of the Muhajirin and Ansar who
were dejected. He said, 'What makes you sit there ?' They said, '"The apostle
has been killed.' He answered, "Then what will you do with life henceforth?
Get up and die in the way that the apostle has died." Then he went towards
the enemy and fought until he was slain. Anas b. Malik was named after
him.

Humayd Al-Tawil told me from Anas, "We found seventy cuts (T. and
thrusts) in Anas b. al-Nadr that day and no one recognized him except his
sister, who knew him by the tips of his fingers (601).'

The first man to recognize the apostle after the rout when men were
saying 'The apostle has been killed' was Ka'b b. Malik, according to what
al-Zuhri told me. Ka'b said, 'I recognized his eyes gleaming from beneath
his helmet, and I called out at the top of my voice "Take heart, you
Mus-lims, this is the apostle of God," but the apostle signed to me to be
silent." When the Muslims recognized the apostle they took him up towards
the glen. He was accompanied by Abu Bakr, 'Umar, 'Ali, Taiha, al-Zubayr,
and al-Harith b. al-Simma and others. When the apostle climbed up the glen
Ubayy b. Khaiaf overtook him, saying, 'Where is Muhammad? Let me not
escape if you escape.' The people said' Shall one of us go for him ?' The
apostle said, 'Let him alone,' and when he came near he took a lance from
al-Harith. (I have been told that some people say that when the apostle took
it from him he shook himself free from us so that we flew off from him as
stinging flies fly off a camel's back when it shakes itself (602).) Then,
turning to face him, he thrust him in the neck so that he swayed and fell
from his horse (603). Now Ubayy, according to what Salih b. Ibrahim b.
'Abdu'l-Rayman b. 'Auf told me, when he used to meet the apostle in
Mecca, would say, 'Muhammad, I have got a horse called 'Aud which I feed
every day on many measures of corn. I shall kill you when I am riding it.'
The apostle answered, 'No, I shall kill you, if God wills." Now when he
returned to Quraysh he had a slight scratch on his neck, which did not even
bleed. He said, 'By God! Muhammad has killed me.' They answered, 'By
God ! You have lost heart. You are not hurt.' He answered, 'He said to me
in Mecca that he would kill me, and, by God, if he had spat on me he would
have killed me.' The enemy of God died in Sarif as they were taking him
back to Mecca.

In reference to that Hassan b. Thabit said:

Jihad Sira 3/26/2010 195

574

575




576

Ubayy showed the disbelief inherited from his father
The day the apostle met him in battle.

You came to him carrying a moldering bone

And threatened him, ignorant of his office.
Banu’l-Najjar killed Umayya from among you

When he called on 'Aqil for help.

Rabi'a's two sons perished when they obeyed Abu Jahl.
Their mother became childless.

Harith escaped when we were busy taking prisoners.
To capture him was not worth while (604)."

Hassan b. Thabit also said:

Who will give a message from me to Ubayy?
You have been cast into the nethermost hell;
Long have you pursued error,

Sworn vows that you would win.

Long have you indulged in such hopes,

But unbelief leads to disappointment.

A thrust from an angry warrior found you
One of a noble house, no miscreant.

Who surpasses all other creatures

When misfortunes befall.

When the apostle reached the mouth of the glen 'Ali came out and filled
his shield with water from al-Mihras® and brought it to the apostle, who
refused to drink it because its evil smell repelled him. However, he used the
water to wash the blood from his face and as he poured it over his head he
said: 'The wrath of God is fierce against him who blooded the face of His
prophet.'

Salih b. Kaysan told me from an informant who got it from Sa'd b. Abu
Waqqas that the latter used to say: 'l was never more eager to kill anyone
than I was to kill 'Utba b. Abu Waqqas; he was, as I know, of evil character
and hated among his people. It was enough for me (to hate him) that the
apostle should say, "The wrath of God is fierce against him who blooded
the face of His prophet".'

While the apostle was in the glen with a number of his companions
suddenly a troop of Quraysh came up the mountain (605). The apostle said,
‘O God, it is not fitting that they should be above us," so 'Umar and a
number of emigrants fought until they drove them down the mountain.

The apostle made for a rock on the mountain to climb it. He had
become heavy by reason of his age, and moreover he had put on two coats
of mail, so when he tried to get up he could not do so. Talha b. 'Ubaydullah
squatted beneath him and lifted him up until he settled comfortably upon it.

Yahya b. 'Abbad b. 'Abdullah b. al-Zubayr from his father from
'Abdul-lah b. al-Zubayr from al-Zubayr said: 'That day I heard the apostle
saying "Taiha earned paradise when he did what he did for the apostle
(606)."

The army had fled away from the apostle until some of them went as far
as al-Munaqqa near al-A'was. I 'Asim b. "Umar b. Qatada from Mahmud b.
Labid told me that when the apostle went out to Uhud Husay b. Jabir, who
was al-Yaman Abu Hudhayfa b. al-Yaman, and Thabit b. Waqsh were sent
up into the forts with the women and children. They were both old men and
one said to the other, 'What are you waiting for, confound you ? Neither of
us will live much longer. 2 We are certain to die today or tomorrow, so let
us take our swords and join the apostle. Perhaps God will grant us
martyrdom with him.' So they took their swords and sallied out until they
mingled with the army. No one knew anything about them. Thabit was
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killed by the polytheists and Husay by the swords of the Mus-lims, who
killed him without recognizing him. Hudhayfa said, 'It is my father.' They
said, 'By God, we did not know him,' and they spoke the truth. Hudhayfa
said, 'May God forgive you, for He is most compassion-ate." The apostle
wanted to pay his blood-money, but Hudhayfa gave it as aims to the
Muslims and that increased his favor with the apostle.

'Asim also told me that a man called Hatib b. Umayya b. Rafi', who had
a son called Yazid, was grievously wounded at Uhud and was brought to
his people's settlement at the point of death. His kinsmen gathered round
and the men and women began to say to him, 'Good news of the garden (of
paradise), O son of Hatib.'! Now Hatib was an old man who had lived long
in the heathen period and his hypocrisy appeared then, for he said, "What
good news do you give him? Of a garden of rue?3 By God, you have
robbed this man of his life by your deception (and brought great sorrow on
me.' Tab.).

'Asim told me: 'There was a man among us, a stranger of unknown
origin called Quzman. The apostle used to say when he was mentioned, "He
belongs to the people of hell." On the day of Uhud he fought fiercely and
killed seven or eight polytheists single-handed, he being a stout warrior. He
was disabled by wounds and carried to the quarter of B. Zafar. The
Muslims began to say to him, "You have done gallantly, Quz-man, be of
good cheer!" "Why should I," he said, "I only fought for the honor of my
people; but for that I should not have fought." And when the pain of his
wounds became unbearable he took an arrow from his quiver, (T. cut the
veins of his wrist, and bled to death. When the apostle was told of this he
said "I testify that [ am truly God's apostle”).'1

Among those killed at Uhud was (T. the Jew) Mukhayriq who was one
of the B. Tha'laba b. al-Fityun. On that day he addressed the Jews saying:
"You know that it is your duty to help Muhammad,' and when they replied
that it was the Sabbath day, he said, 'You will have no Sabbath,' and taking
his sword and accoutrements, he said that if he was slain his property was
to go to Muhammad, who could deal with it as he liked. Then he joined the
apostle and fought with him until he was killed. I have heard that the
apostle said, 'Mukhayriq is the best of the Jews.'

Al-Harith b. Suwayd b. Samit was a hypocrite. He went out with the
Muslims to Uhud, and when the armies met he attacked al-Mujadhdhar b.
Dhiyad al-Balawi and Qays b. Zayd, one of the B. Dubay'a, and killed
them. Then he joined the Quraysh in Mecca. Now the apostle, as they say,
had ordered 'Umar to kill him if he got the better of him, but he escaped
him and was in Mecca. Then he sent to his brother al-Julas desiring
forgiveness so that he might return to his people, and God sent down
concerning him, as I have heard on the authority of Ibn 'Abbas: 'How can
God guide a people who have disbelieved after their belief, and after that
they have testified that the apostle is true and proofs have been given to
them. God will not guide an evil people'2 to the end of the passage (607).

Mu'adh b. 'Afra’ had killed Suwayd b. al-Samit treacherously in some
other battle. He shot him with an arrow and killed him before the day of
Bu'ath.?

Al-Husayn b. 'Abdu'l-Rahman b. 'Amr b. Sa'd b. Mu'adh from Abu
Sufyan client of Ibn Abu Ahmad from Abu Hurayra said that he used to
say: 'Tell me about a man who entered paradise never having prayed in his
life,' and when the people did not know, they asked him who it was and he
said, 'Usayrim of the B. 'Abdu'l-Ashhai, 'Amr b. Thabit b. Wagqsh.' Al
Hugayn asked Mahmud b. Asad what were the facts of Ugayrim, and he
replied that in spite of his people he had refused to accept Islam, but on the
day that the apostle marched out to Uhud he accepted it. He took his sword,
plunged into the heart of the battle, and fought until he was over-come by
wounds. While the B. 'Abdu'l-Ashhai were looking for their dead in the
battle suddenly they came upon him and marveled that he should be there
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when they had left him showing his dislike for Islam. They asked him what
had brought him, whether it was concern for his people or good-will
towards Islam. He replied that it was the latter. 'I believed in God and His
apostle and became a Muslim. Then I took my sword and fought with the
apostle until I met the fate you see.' Soon afterwards he died in their hands.
When they mentioned him to the apostle he said, 'Verily, he belongs to the
people of paradise.'

My father Ishaq from shaykhs of the B. Salama told me that 'Amr b. al-
Jamuh was a man who was very lame. He had four lion-like sons who were
present at the apostle's battles. On the day of Uhud they wanted to detain
him, saying that God had excused him. He came to the apostle and told him
that his sons wanted to keep him back and prevent his joining the army,
'Yet by God, I hope to tread the heavenly garden despite my lameness.' The
apostle said, 'God has excused you, and Jihad is not incumbent on you;' and
to his sons he said, "You need not prevent him; perhaps God will favor him
with martyrdom,' so he went along with him and was killed at Uhud.

According to what galih b. Kaysan told me, Hind d. 'Utba and the
women with her stopped to mutilate the apostle's dead companions. They
cut off their ears and noses and Hind made them into anklets and collars
and gave her anklets and collars and pendants to Wahshi, the slave of
Jubayr b. Mutim. She cut out Hamza's liver and chewed it, but she was not
able to swallow it and threw it away. I Then she mounted a high rock and
shrieked at the top of her voice:

We have paid you back for Badr

And a war that follows a war is always violent.

I could not bear the loss of 'Utba

Nor my brother and his uncle and my first-born.

I have slaked my vengeance and fulfilled my vow.

You, O Wahshi, have assuaged the burning in my breast.
I shall thank Wahshi as long as I live

Until my bones rot in the grave.

Hind d. Uthatha b. 'Abbad b. al-Muttalib answered her:

You were disgraced at Badr and after Badr,

o daughter of a despicable man, great only in disbelief.
God brought on you in the early dawn

Tail and white-skinned men from Hashim,

Everyone slashing with his sharp sword:

Hamza my lion and 'Ali my falcon.

When Shayba and your father planned to attack me
They reddened their breasts with blood.

Your evil vow was the worst of vows (608).

Hind d. 'Utba also said:

I slaked my vengeance on Hamza at Uhud.
I split his belly to get at his liver.

This took from me what I had felt

Of burning sorrow and exceeding pain.
War will hit you exceeding hard

Coming upon you as lions advance.

Salih b. Kaisan told me that he was told that 'Umar said to Hassan, ‘O
Ibn Al-Furay'a (609), I wish you had heard what Hind said and seen her
arrogance as she stood upon a rock uttering her taunts against us,
remind-ing us of what she had done to Hamza.' Hassan replied, T was
looking at the lance as it fell, while I was on the top of Fari"-meaning his
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fort-'and I realized that it was not one of the weapons of the Arabs. It
seemed to me as though it was directed at Hamza, but I was not sure. But
recite me some of her verse: I will rid you of her.' So 'Umar quoted some of
what she said and Hassan said:

The vile woman was insolent: her habits were vile;
Seeing that disbelief accompanied her insolence (610).

Al-Hulays b. Zabban, brother of the B. al-Harith b. 'Abdu Manat, who
was then chief of the black troops, passed by Abu Sufyan as he was striking
the side of Hamza's mouth with the point of his spear saying, 'Taste that,
you rebel.' Hulays exclaimed, ‘O B. Kinana, is this the chief of Quraysh
acting thus with his dead cousin as you see?' He said, 'Confound you. Keep
the matter quiet, for it was a slip.'

When Abu Sufyan wanted to leave he went to the top of the mountain
and shouted loudly saying, 'You have done a fine work; victory in war goes
by turns. Today in exchange for the day (T. of Badr). Show your
superior-ity, Hubal,' i.e. vindicate your religion. The apostle told 'Umar to
get up and answer him and say, 'God is most high and most glorious. We
are not equal. Our dead are in paradise; your dead in hell." At this answer
Abu Sufyan said to 'Umar, 'Come here to me.' The apostle told him to go
and see what he was up to. When he came Abu Sufyan said, 'I adjure thee
by God, 'Umar, have we killed Muhammad?' 'By God, you have not, he is
listening to what you are saying now,' he replied. He said, 'I regard you as
more truthful and reliable than Ibn Qami'a,’ referring to the latter's claim
that he had killed Muhammad (611).

Then Abu Sufyan called out, 'There are some mutilated bodies among
your dead. By God, it gives me no satisfaction, and no anger. I neither
prohibited nor ordered mutilation." When Abu Sufyan and his com-panions
went away he called out, 'Your meeting-place is Badr next year." The
apostle told one of his companions to say, 'Yes, it is an appointment
between us.'

Then the apostle sent 'Ali to follow the army and see what they were ~

doing and what their intentions were. If they were leading their horses
and riding their camels they would be making for Mecca; but if they were
riding the horses and driving the camels they would be making for Medina.
'By God,' said he, 'if they make for Medina I will go to them there. Then I
will fight them." 'Ali said that he followed their tracks and saw what they
were doing. They were leading their horses, riding their camels and going
towards Mecca. (T. The apostle had said "Whatever they do, keep silent
about it until you come to me.'! When I saw they had set out for Mecca |
came back shouting. I could not hide the fact as the apostle had ordered me
because of my joy at seeing them going to Mecca and thus avoiding
Medina. )

The people searched for their dead, and the apostle said, according to
what Muhammad b. 'Abdu'l-Rahman b. Abu Sa'sa'a Al-Mazini, brother of
the B. Al-Najjar told me, 'Who will find out for me what has happened to
Sa'd b. al-Rabi'? Is he alive or among the dead?’ One of the Ansar
volunteered and found him lying wounded among the slain, at the point of
death. He told him that the apostle had ordered him to see if he was alive or
among the dead. He said, 'l am among the dead. Convey my greetings to
the apostle and say: "Sa'd says to you 'May God reward you by us better
than he has rewarded any prophet by his people," and give your people a
greeting from me and say "You have no excuse with God if anything has
happened to your prophet while you can flutter an eyelid," and straightway
he died. He said: 'T came to the apostle and delivered his message' (612).

I have been told that the apostle went out seeking Hamza and found him
at the bottom of the valley with his belly ripped up and his liver missing,
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and his nose and ears cut off. Muhammad b. Ja'far b. al-Zubayr told me that
when he saw this the apostle said: "Were it not that Safiya would be
miserable and it might become a custom after me' I would leave him as he
is, so that his body might find its way into the bellies of beasts and the
crops of birds. If God gives me victory over Quraysh in the future I will
mutilate 30 of their men."! When the Muslims saw the apostle's grief and
anger against those who had thus treated his uncle, they said, 'By God, if
God gives us victory over them in the future we will mutilate them as no
Arab has ever mutilated anyone' (613).

Burayda b. Sufyan b. Farwa al-Aslami from Muhammad b. Ka'b
ai-Qurazl, and a man I have no reason to suspect from Ibn 'Abbas told me
that God sent down concerning the words of the apostle and his
com-panions 'If you punish, then punish as you have been punished. If you
endure patiently that is better for the patient. Endure thou patiently. Thy
endurance is only in God. Grieve not for them, and be not in distress at
what they plot.’2 So the apostle pardoned them and was patient and forbade
mutilation. Humayd Al-Tawil from Al-Hasan from Samura b. J Jundub told
me: 'The apostle never stopped in a place and left it without enjoining on us
almsgiving and forbidding mutilation.'

One whom I do not suspect from Miqgsam, a client of 'Abdullah b.
alHarith from Ibn 'Abbas, told me that the apostle ordered that Hamza
should be wrapped in a mantle; then he prayed over him and said 'Allah
Akbar' seven times. Then the dead were brought and placed beside Hamza
and he prayed over them all until he had prayed seventy-two prayers.

According to what I have been told .Safiya d. 'Abdu'l-Muttalib came
forward to look at him. He was her full-brother and the apostle said to her
son, al-Zubayr b. al-'Awwam, 'Go to meet her and take her back so that she
does not see what has happened to her brother.' He said to her, "Mother, the
apostle orders you to go back.' She said, 'Why? I have heard that my brother
has been mutilated and that for God's sake [T. is a small thing]. He has fully
reconciled us to what has happened. I will be calm and patient if God will.'
When Zubayr returned to the prophet and reported this to him he told him
to leave her alone; so she came and looked at Hamza and prayed over him
and said, "We belong to God and to God do we return,' and she asked God's
forgiveness for him. Then the apostle ordered that he should be buried. The
family of 'Abdullah b. Jahsh, who was the son of Umayma d. 'Abdu'l-
Muttalib, Hamza being his maternal uncle, and he having been mutilated in
the same way as Hamza except that his liver had not been taken out,
asserted that the apostle buried him in the same grave with Hamza; but I
heard that story only from his family.

Now some Muslims had carried their dead to Medina and buried them
there. The apostle forbade this and told them to bury them where they lay.
Muhammad b. Muslim al-Zuhri from 'Abdullah b. Tha'laba b. Su'ayr al-
'Udhri, an ally of the B. Zuhra, told me that the apostle said when he looked
down on the slain at Uhud: T testify concerning these that there is none
wounded for God's sake but God will raise him on the resurrection day with
his wounds bleeding, the color that of blood, the smell like musk; look for
the one who has collected ' most of the Quran and put him in front of his
companions in the grave.' They were burying two and three in one grave.

My uncle Musa b. Yasar told me that he heard Abu Hurayra say:
Abu'l-Qasim2 said, 'There is none wounded for God's sake but God will
raise him on the resurrection day with his wounds bleeding, the color that
of blood, the smell like musk.'

My father Ishaq b. Yasar told me on the authority of shaykhs of the B.

Salama that when the apostle ordered the dead to be buried he said,
'Look out for 'Amr b. al-Jamuh and 'Abdullah b. 'Amr b. Haram; they were
close friends in this world, so put them in one grave.' (T. When Mu'awiya
dug the canal and they were exhumed they were as free from rigor mortis as
though buried but yesterday.) Then the apostle went back on his way to
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Medina and there met him Hamna d. Jahsh, so I have been told. As she met
the army she was told of the death of her brother 'Abdullah and she
exclaimed, 'We belong to God and to God we return,’ and asked
forgive-ness for him. Then she was told of the death of her maternal uncle
Hamza, and uttered the same words. Then she was told of the death of her
hus-band Mus'ab b. 'Umayr and she shrieked and wailed. The apostle said:
'"The woman's husband holds a special place with her, as you can see from
her self-control at the death of her brother and uncle and her shrieking over
her husband.'

The apostle passed by one of the settlements of the Ansar of the B.
'Abdu'l-Ashhai and Zafar and he heard the sound of weeping and wailing
over the dead. The apostle's eyes filled with tears and he wept and said, 'But
there are no weeping women for Hamza.' When Sa'd b. Mu'adh and Usayd
b. Hudayr came back to the quarter, they ordered their women to gird
themselves and go and weep for the apostle's uncle.

Hakim b. Hakim b. 'Abbad b. Hunayf from a man of the B.
'Abdu’lAshhal told me: "When the apostle heard their weeping over Hamza
at the door of his mosque he said "Go home; may God have mercy on you;
you have been a real help by your presence" (614).

'Abdu'l-Wahid b. Abu 'Aun from Isma’il b. Muhammad from Sa'd b.

Abu Waqqa, told me that the apostle passed by a woman of the B. Dinar
whose husband, brother, and father had been killed at Uhud, and when she
was told of their death she asked what had happened to the apostle, and
when they replied that thanks to God he was safe, she asked that she might
see him for herself. When he was pointed out to her she said, 'Every
misfortune now that you are safe is negligible' (using the word jalal in the
sense of 'small') (615).

When the apostle rejoined his family he handed his sword to his
daughter Fatima, saying, "Wash the blood from this, daughter, for by God it
has served me well today.' 'Ali also handed her his sword and said, 'This
one too, wash the blood from it, for by God it has served me well today.'
The apostle said, 'If you have fought well, Sahl b. Hunayf and Abu Dujana
fought well with you' (616).

The battle was fought on the Sabbath in mid-Shawwal;' and on the
morning of Sunday the 16th of the month the apostle's crier called to the
men to go in pursuit of the enemy and announced that none should go out
with us unless he had been present at the battle on the preceding day. Jabir
b. 'Abdullah b. 'Amr b.Haram said, ‘O apostle of God, my father left me
behind to look after my seven sisters, saying that it was not right for us both
to leave the women without a man and that he was not one to give me the
precedence in fighting with the apostle. So I stayed behind to look after
them.' The apostle gave him permission to go and he went out with him.
The apostle merely marched out as a demonstration against the enemy to let
them know that he was pursuing them so that they might think he was in
strength, and that their losses had not weakened them.

'Abdullah b. Kharija b. Zayd b. Thabit from Abu'l-Sa'ib, a freed slave of
'A’isha d. 'Uthman, told me that one of the apostle's companions from the
B. 'Abdu'l-Ashhal who had been present at Uhud said, 'I and one of my
brothers were present at Uhud and we came back wounded. When the
apostle's crier announced that we must pursue the enemy, I said to my
brother or he said to me, 'Are we going to stay away from an expedition
with the apostle? We have no beast to ride and are severely wounded.'
However, we marched out with the apostle and since my wound was less
severe, when he was enfeebled I put him on the beast for a time and we
walked and rode turn and turnabout; until we came up to where the
Muslims had halted.'

The apostle went as far as Hamra'u'l-Asad, about eight miles from
Medina (617). He stayed the Monday, Tuesday, and Wednesday, and then
returned to Medina.
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'Abdullah b. Abu Bakr told me that Ma'bad b. Abu Ma'bad al-Khuzal
passed by him. The Khuza'a, both their Muslims and polytheists, were
confidants of the apostle in Tihama, they having agreed that they. would
not conceal from him anything that happened there. Now at this time
Ma'bad was a polytheist and he said, 'Muhammad, we are distressed at what
has happened to you' [T. with your companions] and we wish that God
would preserve you among them.' Then he went out while the apostle was
in Hamra'u'l-Asad until he met Abu Sufyan and his men in al-Rauha' when
they had determined to come back to the apostle and his companions. They
said, 'We have killed the best of his companions, their leaders and their
nobles. Shall we then go back before we have exterminated them? Let us
return to the survivors and make an end of them."! When Abu Sufyan saw
Ma'bad he said, 'What is the news?' He replied, 'Muhammad has come out
with his companions to pursue you with an army whose like I have never
seen, burning with anger against you. Those who stayed behind when you
fought them have joined him; they are sorry for what they did and are
violently enraged against you. Never have I seen anything like it.' He said,
'Confound you, what are you saying?' He answered, 'By God, I do not think
that you will move off before you see the forelocks of the cavalry.' He
replied, 'But we have determined to attack them to exterminate their
survivors." He answered, 'But I would advise against that. What 1 saw
induced me to utter some verses about them." When he asked what they
were, he recited:

My mount almost fell with fright at the clamor

When the ground flowed with troops of horse
Hastening with noble lion-like warriors

Eager for the fray; firm in the saddle;' fully armed.

I continued to run, thinking the very earth was moving.
When they came up with the prince who never lacks support I said,
'Alas for Ibn Harb when he meets you

When the plain is surging with men.'

I warn the people of the sanctuary plainly

Every prudent and sensible man among them

Of Ahmad's army-no poltroons his riders

And the warning I give is true.

These words turned back Abu Sufyan and his followers.

Some riders from 'Abdu'l-Qays passed him and he learned that they
were going to Medina for provisions. He said, 'Will you take a message to
Muhammad for me? And I will load these camels of yours tomorrow with
rAisins in Ukaz, when you arrive there.! They agreed, and he said, 'Then
when you come to him tell him that we have resolved to come to him and
his companions to exterminate them.' The riders passed by the apostle when
he was in Hamra'u'l-Asad and told him of what Abu Sufyan had said and he
exclaimed, 'God is our sufficiency, the best in whom to trust (618).'

1bn Shihab al-Zuhri told me that when the apostle came to Medina
'Abdullah b. Ubayy b. Salul who had a place which he used to occupy every
Friday without opposition out of respect for him personally and his people,
he being a chief, got up when the apostle sat on the Friday address-ing the
people and would say, ‘O people, this is God's apostle among you. God has
honoured and exaited you by him, so help him and strengthen him; listen to
his commands and obey them.' Then he used to sit down until when he
acted as he did on the day of Uhud and came back with his men, he got up
to do as he was wont and the Muslims took hold of his garments and said,
'Sit down, you enemy of God. You are not worthy of that, having behaved
as you did.' So he went out stepping over the necks of the men and saying,
'One would think I had said something dreadful in getting up to strengthen
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his case.' One of the Ansar met him at the door of the mosque and asked
him what was the matter. He said, 'l got up to strengthen his case when
some of his companions leapt upon me and dragged me along with
violence. One would think that I had said some-thing dreadful.' He
answered, 'Go back and let the apostle ask forgiveness for you.' He said,
'By God, I do not want him to.'

The day of Uhud was a day of triai, caiamity, and heart-searching on
which God tested the believers and put the hypocrites on triai, those who
professed faith with their tongue and hid unbelief in their hearts; and a day
in which God honoured with martyrdom those whom he willed.

PASSAGES IN THE QURAN WHICH DEAL WITH UHUD

Abu Muhammad 'Abdu'l-Malik b. Hisham told us from Ziyad b.
'Abdul-lah al-Bakka'i from Muhammad b. Ishaq al-Muttalibi: There are
sixty verses in "The Family of Imran'" which God sent down concerning the
day of Uhud in which there is a description of what happened on that day
and the blame of those who merited His rebuke.

God said to His prophet: 'And when you went forth early from your
family you assigned to the believers positions for the fighting, God hearing
(and) knowing' (619). 'Hearing' what you said; 'knowing' about what you
were concealing.

"When two parties of you thought they would fail,' i.e. of deserting; and
the two parties were the B. Salima b. Jusham b. al-Khazraj and the B.
Haritha b. al-Nabit of al-Aus, they being the two wings.

God said: 'And God was their friend,' i.e. God protected them from the
cowardice they meditated because it Was only the result of weakness and
feebleness which overcame them, not doubt in their religion, so He thrust
that from them in His mercy and pardon so that they were saved from their
weakness and feebleness and stuck to their prophet (620).

God said: 'Upon God let the believers rely,' i.e. the believer who is
weak let him rely on Me and ask My help. I will help him in his affair and
protect him until I bring him to his appointed time of life and ward off evil
from him and strengthen him in his purpose.

'God helped you at Badr when you were contemptible, so fear God that
you may be thankful,' i.e. fear Me, for that is gratitude for My kindness.

'God helped you at Badr' when your numbers and strength were inferior
'when thou didst say to the believers: "Is it not enough for you that your
Lord reinforced you with three thousand angels sent down? Nay, if you are
steadfast and fear God and they come on you suddenly your Lord will
reinforce you with five thousand angels clearly marked," i.e. if you are
stead-fast against My enemy and obey My command and they come on you
reck-lessly I will reinforce you with five thousand angels clearly marked
(621).

'God did this only as good news for you that your hearts might be at rest
therein. Victory comes only from God, the Mighty the Wise,' i.e. |
mentioned the armies of My angels only as good news for you and that
your hearts might be at rest therein, because I know your weakness and
victory comes only from Me because of My sovereignty and power for the
reason that power and authority belong to Me, not to anyone of my
creatures.

Then He said: 'that He may cut off a part of those who disbelieve or
overturn them so that they retire disappointed,' i.e. to cut off a part of the
polytheists in a fight in which He will take vengeance on them or drive
them back in chagrin, i.e. that those who survive may retreat as frustrated
fugitives having achieved nothing that they hoped to attain (622).

Then He said to Muhammad the apostle of God: 'Tt is not your affair
whether He changes His attitude to them or punishes them, for they are evil
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doers,' i.e. you have no concern with My judgment of My slaves except in
so far as I give you orders concerning them or I change towards them in my
mercy, for if I wish I shall do so; or I shall punish them for their sins for
that is my prerogative; 'for they are evil-doers,' i.e. they have deserved that
for their disobedience to Me. 'And God is forgiving, merciful,' i.e. He
forgives sins and has mercy on His slaves according to' what is in them.

Then He said: ‘O ye who believe, Take not” usury, doubling and
quadrupling,' i.e. Do not devour in Islam, to which God has now guided
you, what you used to devour when you followed another religion; such is
not permitted to you in your religion. 'And fear God, haply you may be
pros-perous', i.e. So obey God, perhaps you may escape from His
punishment of which He has warned you, and attain His reward which He
has made you desire. 'And fear the fire which is prepared for the
disbelievers,' i.e. which has been made a dwelling for those who disbelieve
in Me.

Then He said: 'And obey God and the apostle, haply you will attain
mercy' reproaching those who disobeyed the apostle in the orders he gave
them that day and at other times. Then He said: 'And vie with one another
for forgiveness from your Lord and a garden as wide as the heavens and the
earth prepared for those who fear (God),' i.e. a dwelling for those who obey
Me and obey My apostle. 'Those who spend (their money) in ease and
adversity and who control their wrath and are forgiving to men, for God
loves those who do well,' i.e. that is well doing and I love those who act
thus. 'And those who when they act unseemly or wrong themselves,
remember God and ask forgiveness for their sins-and who forgives sins but
God ?-and have not persisted in their actions knowingly,' i.e. if they have
acted unseemly or wronged themselves by disobedience, they remember
God's prohibition and what He has declared evil, and ask forgiveness,
knowing that none can forgive sins but He. 'And have not persisted in their
actions knowingly,' i.e. have not continued to disobey Me like those who
associate others with Me in the extravagance of their dis-belief while they
know that I have prohibited the worship of any but Myself. 'The reward of
such is forgiveness from their Lord and gardens beneath which run rivers,
in which they will abide for ever-a fine reward for workers,' i.e. the reward
of the obedient.

Then He mentioned the catastrophe which befell them and the
mis-fortune which came upon them and the triai (of the faith) that was in
them and His choice of martyrs from among them, and He said comforting
them and telling them of what they had done and what He was about to do
with them: 'Examples have been made before your time, so go through the
land and see the nature of the punishment of those who called (apostles)
liars,' i.e. vengeance came from me upon those who gave the lie to My
apostles and associated others with Me (such as) 'Ad and Thamud and the

people of Lot and the men of Midian and they saw what I did to them and

to those in like case with them, for I was forbearing to them purely for the 596

reason that they should not think that My vengeance was cut off from your
enemy and mine in the time in which I let them get the better of you to test
you thereby to show you: your true selves.

Then He said: 'This is a plain statement to men and guidance and
admonition to those that fear God,' i.e. this is an explanation to men if they
receive guidance; 'and guidance and admonition,' i.e. a light and discipline
'to those who fear,’ ie. to those who obey Me and know My
command-ment; 'and do not wax faint or be sad,' i.e. do not become weak
and despair at what has befallen you 'you being the superiors,' i.e. you will
have the victory 'if you believe,' i.e. if you had believed in what My prophet
brought from Me. 'If you have received a shock the (Meccan) army
received a shock likewise,' i.e. wounds like yours. 'These are days which
We alternate among men,' i.e. we change them among men for triai and
search; 'and that God may know those who believe and may choose martyrs

Jihad Sira 3/26/2010 204



597

from among you, and God loves not wrongdoers,' i.e. to distinguish
between believers and hypocrites and to honor some of the faithful with
martyrdom. 'And God loves not wrongdoers,' i.e. the hypocrites who
pro-fess obedience with their tongues while their hearts are firm in
dis-obedience; 'and that God may try those who believe,' i.e. put to the test
those who believe, so that He may purify them by the misfortune which
came upon them, and their constancy and certainty; 'and confound the
disbelievers,' i.e. bring to naught what the hypocrites say with their tongues
that is not in their hearts until He brings to light their disbelief which they
are concealing.

Then He said: 'Or do you think that you will enter the garden when God
does not yet know those of you who are energetic and steadfast?' i.e. Do
you think that you will enter the garden and receive the honor of My reward
when I have not tested you with hardship and tried you with misfortune so
that I may know your loyalty by faith in Me and steadfastness in what has
befallen you through Me? 'And you used to wish' for martyrdom when you
were in the way of truth before you met your enemy. He means those who
urged the apostle to take them out against their enemy because they had not
been present at the battle of Badr before that and longing for the martyrdom
which they had escaped there. He said: 'And you used to wish for death
before you met it.' He says: 'Now you have seen it with your eyes!' i.e.
death by swords in the hands of men with nothing between you and them
while you looked on. Then He kept them back from you. 'And Muhammad
is nothing but an apostle; apostles have passed away before him. Will it be
that if he dies or is killed you will turn back on your heels? He who so turns
back will not harm God at all, and God will reward the thankful' in
reference to the men saying 'Muhammad has been killed' and their flight
thereat and breaking away from their enemy. 'Will it be if he dies or is
killed' you will go back from your religion disbelievers as you once were
and abandon the fight with your enemy, and God's book, and what His
prophet will have left behind of his religion with you and in your
possession when he has explained to you what he brought

from Me to you that he would die and leave you? 'And he who so turns
back,' i.e. turns back from his religion 'will not harm God at all,' i.e. he will
not diminish His glory and kingdom and sovereignty and power. 'And God
will reward the thankful,' i.e. those who obey Him and do what He has
commanded.

'And no soul can die but by God's permission in a term that is written,’
i.e. Muhammad has a fixed time which he will attain and when God gives
permission in regard to that it will happen. 'And he who desires the reward
of this world We will give him it; and he who desires the reward of the next
world We will give him it and We shall reward the thankful,' i.e. he of you
who desires this world having no desire for the next We will give him his
allotted portion of sustenance and nothing more and he has no share in the
next world; and he who desires the reward of the next world We will give
him what he has been promised together with his reward of sustenance in
this world. That is the reward of the thankful, i.e. the pious.

Then He said: 'And with how many a prophet have myriads been slain
and they waxed not faint at what befell them in the way of God and were
not weak nor humiliated for God loves the steadfast,' i.e. how many a
prophet has death (in battle) befallen and many myriads with him, i.e. a
multitude, and they waxed not faint at the loss of their prophet nor showed
weakness towards their enemies and were not humiliated when they
suffered in the fight for God and their religion. That is steadfastness and
God loves the steadfast. 'All that they said was, Forgive us our sins, O Lord,
and our wasted effort in our affair; make our feet firm and give us the
victory over a disbelieving people' (623), i.e. say what they said and know
that that is for your sins, and ask His forgiveness as they did, and practice
your religion as they did, and be no renegades turning back on your heels;
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and ask Him to make your feet firm as they did; and ask His help as they
did against a disbelieving people. For all that they said actually happened
and their prophet was killed, yet they did not do what you did. So God gave
them the reward of this world by victory over their enemy and a fine reward
in the hereafter with what He had promised therein, for God loves those
who do well.

‘O you who believe, if you obey those who disbelieve they will turn
you back on your heels and you will return as losers,' i.e. from your enemy,
and will lose this world. and the next. 'But God is your protector and He is
the best of helpers.' If what you say with your tongues is true in your hearts
then hold fast to Him and ask victory only of Him and do not turn back,
withdrawing from His religion. 'We will cast terror into the hearts of those
who disbelieve,' i.e. that by which I was helping you against them because
they associated with Me that for which I gave them no warrant; i.e. do not
think that they will have the final victory over you, while you hold fast to
Me and follow My commandment, because of the disaster which befell you
through sins which you committed whereby you went against My
commandment in disobedience and also disobeyed the prophet. 'God
fulfilled His promise when you routed them by His leave until you failed
and disagreed about the order and were disobedient after He had shown you
what you were desiring. Some of you desired this world and some desired
the hereafter. Then He made you flee from them that He might try you. Yet
He forgave you, for God is full of kindness to the believers,' i.e. I carried
out My promise to give you victory over your enemy when you routed them
with the sword, i.e. killing them by My permission and My giving you
power over them and keeping them from you (624). 'Until you failed,' i.e.
deserted and disagreed about the order; i.e. you disputed about My order,
i.e. you abandoned the order of your prophet and what he had told you to
do, meaning the archers. 'After He had shown you what you were desiring,’
i.e. victory about which there was no doubt and the flight of the (Meccan)
army from their wives and property. 'Some of you desired this world,' i.e.
those who desired the spoil in this world and abandoned their orders which
carried the reward of the hereafter; 'and some of you desired the hereafter,'
i.e. those who fought for God's sake and did not transgress in going after
what they had been forbidden for an accident' of this world out of desire for
it, hoping for the fine reward that is with God hereafter; i.e. those who
fought for religion and did not transgress in going after what they had been
forbidden for an accident' of this world. 'To try you' for some of your sins.
God pardoned the great sin in that He did not destroy you for having
disobeyed your prophet. But I restored My kindness to you. 'And thus God
favors the believers.' He punished some sins at once in this world by way of
discipline and admonition, but He did not exterminate all for the debt they
owed Him because they suffered for disobeying Him, out of mercy to them
and as a reward for such faith as they had.

Then He reproached them for running away from their prophet and
paying no heed when he called to them: "When you climbed up and paid no
heed to anyone while the apostle was calling behind you, He rewarded you
with grief for grief, that you might not be sad for what you missed and for
what befell you,' i.e. grief after grief by the killing of some of your brethren
and your enemy getting the better of you, and what you felt when someone
said your prophet had been killed. That was what brought grief for grief to
you so that you might not be sad over the victory you had missed after you
had seen him with your own eyes, nor over the death of your brethren until
I gave you ease of that sorrow. 'And God is informed of what you do.' God
comforted them from the sorrow and grief which they suffered in rebutting
the lie of Satan that their prophet had been killed; and when they saw the
apostle alive among them what they had missed from the Meccans after the
victory over them and their disaster in the loss of their brethren became
easy to bear when God had turned death aside from their prophet.
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'"Then after grief He sent down safety for you, as a sleep. It came upon a
party of you while another party were troubled in mind thinking wrongly

about God thoughts of heathen days, saying, Have we anything to do
with the matter?' Say, the whole matter belongs to God. They hide in
them-selves what they do not reveal to thee. They say, If we had had
anything to do with the matter we should not have been killed here. Say:

Had you been in your houses, those whose slaying has been written would

have gone forth to the places where they were to lie. (This has happened) 601

that God might test what is in your breasts and prove what is in your hearts,
for God knows about what is in the breasts.! God sent down sleep in
security upon the people who were confident in Him and they slept
unafraid; while the hypocrites whose thoughts troubled them, thinking
wrongly about God thoughts of heathen days, were afraid of death because
they had no hope in the final result. God mentioned their recriminations and
sorrow at what befell them. Then He said to His prophet, 'Say "Had you
been in your houses, " , you would not have been in this place in which God
has made plain your secret thoughts 'those whose slaying has been written
would have gone forth to the places where they were to lie' to some other
place where they would have been slain so that He might test what was in
their breasts 'and prove what was in their hearts, for God knows what is in
the breasts,' i.e. what is in their breasts which they try to conceal from you
is not hidden from Him.

Then He said: ‘O you who believe, be not like those who disbelieved
and said of their brethren who journeyed through the land or were raiding
"Had they been with us, they would not have died or been killed that God
may make that sorrow in their hearts. God gives life and causes death and
God is a seer of what you do," i.e. be not like the hypocrites who forbid
their brethren to war for God's sake and to travel through the land in
obedience to God and His apostle and say when they die or are killed, 'Had
they obeyed us, they would not have died or been killed." 'That God may
make that sorrow in their heart' because of their lack of certainty in their
Lord. 'God gives life and causes death,' i.e. their earthly stay is shortened or
prolonged by His power as He wishes. Then God said: 'If you are slain for
God's sake or die, pardon from God and mercy are better than what you
amass,' i.e. there is no escape from death, so death for God's sake or death
in battle is better even if they had known and been certain of what they
would amass from the world for which they hold back from fighting in fear
of death and battle because of what they have amassed from the splendor of
this world, not desiring the hereafter. 'If you die or are slain,' whichever it
may be, 'surely to God will you be gathered,' i.e. to God you must return.
Let not the world deceive you and be not deceived by it. Let fighting and
the reward which God holds out to you have more weight with you than
that.

Then he said: 'It was by the mercy of God that thou wast lenient to

them. Hadst thou been stern and rough, they would have dispersed and been

no longer round thee,' i.e. they would have left you. 'So forgive them,' i.e . 602

overlook their offense, 'and ask pardon for them and consult them about the
matter. When thou art resolved put thy trust in God, for God loves those
who trust.' He reminded His prophet of his leniency to them, and his
patience with them in their weakness and their lack of patience had he
treated them harshly for all their opposition when there was laid upon them
the duty of obeying their prophet. Then He said: 'So forgive them,' i.e.
overlook their offense 'and ask pardon' for their sins: the people of faith
who did wrong. 'And consult them about the matter' to show them that you
listen to them and ask their help, even if you are independent of them,
thereby making their religion agreeable to them. 'And when thou art
resolved' on a matter which has come from Me and a matter of religion
concerning fighting your enemy when only that will bring you and them
advantage, then do as you have been ordered despite the opposition of those
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who oppose you and in agreement with those who agree with you. 'And
trust in God,' i.e. please Him rather than men. 'God loves them that trust. If
God helps you none can overcome you; if He forsakes you, who thereafter
can help you?' i.e. so that you do not leave My command for men and
forsake men's orders for Mine. On God, not on men, let believers trust.

Then He said: 'It is not for any prophet to deceive. Whoso deceives will
bring his deceit with him on the day of resurrection. Then every soul will be
paid in full what it has earned and they will not be wronged.' It is not for a
prophet to conceal from men what he has been ordered to reveal either out
of fear or desire to please them. Whoso does that will bring it with him on
the day of resurrection; then he will be repaid what he has earned not
wronged nor defrauded. 'Is one who follows the pleasure of God' whether
men like it or not 'like one who has incurred God's displeasure?' by pleasing
or displeasing men. He says, Is one who obeys Me whose reward is the
garden and the goodwill of God like one who has incurred God's anger and
deserves His anger, whose home is hell and a miserable end? Are the two
examples the same? So know 'There are degrees with God and God is a seer
of what they do' of all the degrees of what they do in paradise and hell, i.e.
God knows those who obey and those who disobey Him.

Then He said: 'God showed favor to the believers when He sent among
them an apostle from among themselves who recited to them His verses and
purified them and taught them the book and wisdom, though before they
were in obvious error.' God favored you, O people of the faith, when He
sent among you an apostle of your own, reciting to you His verses
concerning what you did, and teaching you good and evil that you might
know the good and do it; and the evil and guard yourselves against it, and
telling you of His pleasure with you when you obeyed Him; that you might
gain much from obeying Him and avoid the wrath proceeding from
disobedience that thereby you might escape His vengeance and obtain the
reward of His garden. 'Though before you were in obvious error,' i.e. in the
blindness of paganism not knowing what was good nor asking pardon for
evil-deaf to good, dumb to the right, blind to guidance.

Then He mentioned the catastrophe that befell them: 'And was it so
when a catastrophe befell you though you had smitten (them) with a
disas-ter twice as great you said: How is this? Say: It is from yourselves.
God is able to do all things.' Though a catastrophe befell you in the death of
your brethren because of your sins, before that you had smitten your enemy
with double that on the day of Badr in slaying and taking prisoners; and you
have forgotten your disobedience and your opposition to what your prophet
commanded you. You have brought that on yourselves. 'God is able to do
all things." God is able to do what He wills with His servants in taking
vengeance or pardoning. 'And what befell you on the day the two armies
met was by God's permission and that He might know the believers.! What
befell you when you and your enemy met was by My permission. That
happened when you acted as you did after My help had come to you and I
had fulfilled my promise to you to distinguish between believers and
hypocrites and to know those who were hypocrites among you, i.e. to make
plain what was in them. 'And it was said to them, Come, fight for God's
sake or defend,’ meaning 'Abdullah b. Ubayy and his companions who went
back from the apostle when he went against his polytheistic enemies at
Uhud and their words: 'If we knew that you were going to fight we would
go with you and would defend you; but we do not think that there will be a
fight.' . So he showed what they were hiding within them.

God said: 'They were nearer to disbelief than to faith that day saying
with their mouths what was not in their hearts,' i.e. showing you faith which
was not in their hearts 'but God knows best about what they conceal,' i.e.
what they hide, 'who said of their brethren' who belonged to their families
and people who were killed in your company, 'Had they obeyed us they
would not have been killed. Say: Then avert death from yourselves if you
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are truthful,' i.e. there is no escape from death, but if you are able to keep
death away from you then do so. This was because they were hypocritical
and left fighting for God's sake, eager to survive in this world and fleeing
from death.

Then He said to His prophet to make the believers wish to fight and
desire battle: 'And do not think that those who were killed for God's sake
are dead, nay they are alive with their Lord being nourished, glad with the
bounty that God has brought them and rejoicing in those who have not yet
joined them that they have nothing to fear or grieve over,' i.e. Do not think
that those who were killed for God's sake are dead, i.e. I have brought them
to life again and they are with Me being nourished in the rest and bounty of
the Garden, rejoicing in the bounty that God has brought them for their
striving on His account, and happy about those who have not yet joined
them, i.e. glad when those of their brethren join them on account of their
effort in war that they will share with them in the reward that God has given
them, God having removed from them fear and sorrow.

God says: 'Rejoicing in the favor and bounty of God and that God does
not waste the wages of the believers' because they have seen the fulfillment
of the promise and the great reward.

Isma’il b. Umayya told me from Abu'l-Zubayr from 1bn 'Abbas: The
apostle said when your brethren were slain at Uhud, 'God has put their
spirits in the crops of green birds which come down to the rivers of the
Garden; they eat of its fruits and come home to where there are golden
candlesticks in the shadow of the throne; and when they experience the
goodly drink and food and their beautiful resting place they say: Would that
our brethren knew what God has done with us that they might not dislike
fighting and shrink from war!" And God says 'I will tell them of you' so He
sent down to His apostle these verses' And do not think," &c.

AL-Harith b. al-Fudayl told me from Mahmud b. Labid al-Ansari from
1bn 'Abbas: The martyrs are at Bariq, a river at the gate of the Garden, in a
green tent, their provision from the Garden coming out to them morning
and evening.

One whom I do not suspect told me from 'Abdullah b. Mas'ud that he
was asked about these verses 'Do not think', &c., and he said, We asked
about them and we were told that when your brethren were slain at Uhud
God put their spirits in the crops of green birds which come down to the
rivers of the Garden and eat of its fruits and come home to where there are
golden candlesticks in the shade of the throne and God takes one look at
them and says, ‘O My servants, What do you wish that I should give you
more?' And they say, ‘O our Lord, there is nothing beyond the Garden
which Thou hast given us from which we eat when we please.' After the
question has been put three times they say the same, adding, 'except that we
should like our spirits to return to our bodies and then return to the earth
and fight for Thee until we are killed again.'

One of our companions told me from 'Abdullah b. Muhammad b. 'Aqil
from Jabir b. 'Abdullah: The apostle said to me, 'T will give you good news,
Jabir. God has restored to life your father who was killed at Uhud.' Then He
asked him what he would like Him to do for him and he said that he would
like to return to the world and fight for Him and be killed a second time.

'Amr b. 'Ubayd told me from Al-Hasan that the apostle swore that there
was no believer who had parted from the world and wanted to return to it
for a single hour even if he could possess it with all it has except the martyr
who would like to return and fight for God and be killed a second time.

Then God said, 'Those who responded to God and His apostle after
harm had befallen them,' i.e. wounds. They are the believers who went with
the apostle on the morrow of Uhud to Hamra'u'l-Asad in spite of the pain of
their wounds, 'for those of them who do well and are pious there is a great
reward; those to whom men said: The men (of Mecca) have gathered
against you so fear them, and that but increased their faith and they said,
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Allah is sufficient for us and a fine one in whom to trust.' The men who
said that were a number of 'Abdu'l-Qays to whom Abu Sufyan spoke. They
said: 'Abu Sufyan and his company are certainly coming back to you.' God
says, 'So they returned with God's grace and favor. Harm did not befall
them and they followed God's pleasure and God is of great bounty' in that
He turned away their enemy so that they did not meet him. 'It is only the
devil,' i.e. those men and what Satan put into their mouths, 'who would
make men fear his adherents,' i.e. frighten you by means of his adherents.
'But fear them not and fear Me if you are believers. Let not those who vie in
running to disbelief grieve you,' i.e. the hypo-crites, 'they can in no wise
injure God. God wills not to assign them a portion in the next world where
they will have a painful punishment. Those who buy infidelity with faith
will in no wise injure God: they will have a painful punishment. Let not
those who disbelieve think that the respite We give them is good for them.
We give them a respite only that they may increase in trespass. Theirs is an
ignominious punishment. It is not God's purpose to leave the believers as
you are till He shall separate the evil from the good,' i.e. the hypocrites.
'And it is not God's purpose to let you know the unseen,' i.e. what He wills
to try you with that you may take heed of what comes to you. 'But God
chooses whom He will of His messengers,' i.e. He lets him know that 'So
believe in God and His messengers and if you believe and are pious,' i.e.
return and repent 'then you will have a great reward.'

THE NAMES OF THE MUSLIMS WHO WERE MARTYRED AT
UHUD

The Muslims who were martyred at Uhud in the company of the apostle
were as follows:

Emigrants from Quraysh: of the B. Hashim: Hamza whom Wahshi the
slave of Jubayr b. Mut'im killed. Of B. Umayya b. 'Abdu Shams: 'Abdul-lah
b. Jahsh, an ally from B. Asad b. Khuzayma. Of B. 'Abdu’l-Dar: Mus'ab b.
'Umayr whom 1bn Qami'a al-Laythi killed. Of B. Makhzum b. Yaqaza:
Shammas b. 'Uthman. Total 4.

Of the Ansar: of B. 'Abdu'l-Ashhai: 'Amr b. Mu'adh; al-Harith b. Anas
b. Rafi'; and 'Umara b. Ziyad b. al-Sakan (625); Salama b. Thabit b. Waqsh
and 'Amr his brother ('Asim b. 'Umar b. Qatada asserted to me that their
father Thabit was killed that day); and Rifa'a b. Waqsh; and Husayl b. Jabir
Abu Hudhayfa who was al- Yaman (the Muslims killed him unwittingly
and Hudhayfa forewent his blood-wit incumbent on the slayer); and Sayfi
and Habab sons of Qayzi; and 'Abbad b. Sahl; and al-Harith b. Aus b.
Mu'adh. Total 12.

Of the men of Ratij:1 Iyas b. Aus b. 'Atik b. 'Amr b. 'Abdu'l-A'lam b.
Za'ura' b. Jusham b. 'Abdu'l-Ashhal; and 'Ubayd b. al-Tayyihan (626); and
Habib b. Yazid b. Taym. 3.

Of B. Zafar: Yazid b. Hatib b. Umayya b. Rafi'. I.

Of B. 'Amr b. 'Auf of the subdivision B. Dubay'a b. Zayd: Abu Sufyan
b.al-Harith b Qays b. Zayd; Hanzala b. Abu "Amir b. Sayfi b. Nu'man b.
Malik b. Ama, the man washed by the angels whom Shaddad b. al-Aswad
b. Sha'ub al-Laythi killed (627). 2.

Of B. 'Ubayd b. Zayd: Unays b. Qatada. .

Of B. Tha'laba b. 'Amr b. 'Auf: Abu Hayya, brother to Sa'd b.
Khay-thama by his mother (628); and 'Abdullah b. Jubayr b. al-Nu'man
who commanded the archers. 2.

Of B. al-Salm b. Imru'ul-Qays b. Malik b. al-Aus: Khaythama Abu Sa'd
b. Khaythama. 1.

Of their allies from B. al-'Ajlan: 'Abdullah b. Salama. I.

Of B. Mu'awiya b. Malik: Subay' b. Hatib b. al-Harith b. Qays b.
Haysha (629). 1.

Of B. al-Najjar, of the clan of B. Sawad b. Malik b. Ghanm: 'Amr b.
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Qays and his son Qays (630); and Thabit b. '"Amr b. Zayd; and 'Amir b.
Makhlad. 4.

Of B. Mabdhul: Abu Hubayra b. al-Harith b. 'Aigama b. 'Amr b. Thaqf
b. Malik b. Mabdhul; and 'Amr b. Mutarrif b. 'Aigama b. 'Amr. 2.

Of B. 'Amr b. Malik: Aus. b. Thabit b. al-Mundhir (631). L.

Of B. 'Adiy b. al-Najjar: Anas b. al-Nadr b. Damdam b. Zayd b. Haram
b. Jundub b. "Amir b. Ghanm b. 'Adiy b. al-Najjar,(632). 1.

Of B. Mazin b. al-Najjar: Qays b. Mukhallad and Kaysan a slave of
theirs. 2.

Of B. Dinar b. Al-Najjar: Sulaym b. al-Harith; and Nu'man b. 'Abdu
'Amr. 2.

Of B. al-Harith b. al-Khazraj: Kharija b. Zayd b. Abu Zuhayr; and Sa'd
b. al-Rabi' b. 'Amr b. Abu Zuhayr who were buried in one grave; and Aus
b. al-Arqam b. Zayd b. Qays b. Nu'man b. Malik b. Tha'laba b. Ka'b. 3.

Of B. al-Abjar, the B. Khudra: Malik b. Sinan b. 'Ubayd b. Tha'laba b.
'Ubayd b. al-Abjar the father of Abu Sa'id al-Khudri (633); and Sa'id b.
Suwayd b. Qays b. 'Amir b. 'Abbad b. al-Abjar; and 'Utba b. Rabi' b. Rafi'
b. Mu'awiya b. 'Ubayd b. Tha'laba b. 'Ubayd. 3.

Of B. Sa'ida b. Ka'b b. al-Khazraj: Tha'laba b. Sa'd b. Malik b. Khalid b.
Tha'laba b. Haritha b. 'Amr b. al-Khazraj b. Sa'ida; and Thaqf b. Farwa b.
al-Badi. 2.

Of B. Tarif, the family of Sa'd b. 'Ubada: 'Abdullah b. 'Amr b. Wahb b.
Tha'laba b. Waqgsh b. Tha'laba b. Tarif, and Damra, an ally from B.
Juhayna. 2.

Of B. 'Auf b. al-Khazraj of the clan of B. Salim of the subdivision of B.
Malik b. al-'Ajlan b. Zayd b. Ghanm b. Salim: Naufal b. 'Abdullah; 'Abbas
b. 'Ubada b. Nadla b. Malik b. al-'Ajlan; Nu'man b. Malik b. Tha'laba b.
Fihr b. Ghanm b. Salim; al-Mujadhdhar b. Dhiyad, an ally from Baliy; and
'Ubada b. al-Hashas, the last three being buried in one grave. 5.

Of B. al-Hubla: Rifa'a b. 'Amr. L.

Of B. Salima of the clan of B. Haram: 'Abdullah b. 'Amr b. Haram b.
Tha'laba b. Haram; 'Amr b. al-Jamuh b. Zayd b. Haram who were buried
together; Khallad b. 'Amr b. al-Jamuh, &c.; and Abu Ayman a client of
'Amr b. al-Jamuh- 4-

Of B. Sawad b. Ghanm: Sulaym b. 'Amr b. Hadida and his client
'Antara; and Sahl b. Qays b. Abu Ka'b b. al-Qayn. 3.

Of B. Zurayq b. "Amir: Dhakwan b. 'Abdu Qays; and 'Ubayd b.
al-Mu'alla b. Laudhan (634). 2.

The total number of Muslims killed including both Emigrants and
Ansar was 65 men (635)-

THE NAMES OF THE POLYTHEISTS WHO WERE KILLED AT
UHUD

Of the Quraysh from B. 'Abdu'l-Dar b. Qusayy who carried the
standard:

Taiha b. 'Abdullah b. 'Abdu'l-'Uzza b. 'Uthman b. 'Abdu'l-Dar whom
'Ali killed; and Abu Sa'id b. Abu Taiha whom Sa'd b. Abu Waqqas killed
(636); and 'Uthman b. Abu Taiha whom Hamza killed; and Musafi' and al-
Julas sons of Taiha whom 'Asim b. Thabit b. Abu'l-Aglah killed; and Kilab
and al-Harith sons of Taiha killed by Quzman an ally of B. zafar (637); and
Arta b. 'Abdu Shurahbil b. Hashim b. 'Abdu Manaf b. Abdu'l- Dar whom
Hamza killed; and Abu Zayd b. 'Umayr b. Hashim, &c., whom Quzman
killed; and Su'ab an Abyssinian slave of his also killed by Quzman (638);
and al-Qasit b. Shurayh b. Hashim b. 'Abdu Manaf whom Quzman killed.
11.

Of B. Asad b. Abdu'l- 'Uzza b. Qusayy: 'Abdullah b. Humayd b. Zuhayr

b. al-Harith b. Asad whom 'Ali killed. 1
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Of B. Zuhra b. Kilab: Abu'l-Hakam b. al-Akhnas b. Shariq b. 'Amr b.
Wahb al- Thaqafi, an ally of theirs whom 'Ali killed; and Siba' b.
'Abdu'l-'Uzza-the latter's name was 'Amr b. Nadia b. Ghubshan b. Salim b.
Malakan b. Afia-an ally from Khuza'a whom Hamza killed. 2.

Of B. Makhzum b. Yaqaza: Hisham b. Abu Umayya b. al-Mughira
whom Quzman killed; and al-Walid b. al-'s; b. Hisham b. al-Mughira whom
Quzman killed; and Abu Umayya b. Abu Hudhayfa b. al-Mughira whom
'Ali killed; and Khalid b. al-A'lam an ally whom Quzman killed. 4.

Of B. Jumah b. 'Amr: 'Amr b. 'Abdullah b. 'Umayr b. Wahb b. Hudhafa
b. Jumah who was Abu 'Azza whom the apostle killed when a prisoner; and
Ubayy b. Khaiaf b. Wahb b. Hudhafa b. Jumah whom the apostle killed
with his own hand. 2.

Of B. "Amir b. Lu'ayy: 'Ubayda b. Jabir; and Shayba b. Malik b. al
Mudarrib both of whom were killed by Quzman (639). 2.

Thus God killed on the day of Uhud 22 polytheists.

POETRY ON THE BATTLE OF UHUD
The following wrote verses on the subject:

Hubayra b. Abu Wahb b. 'Amr b. 'A'idh b. 'Abd b. 'Tmran b. Makhzum
(640) :

Why does this painful anxiety afflict me at night?

My love for Hind beset by cares"

Hind keeps blaming and reproaching me

While war has distracted me from her.

Gently now, blame me not; 'tis my habit

As you know I have never conceaied it.

I help the B. Ka'b as they demand

Struggling with the burdens they impose.

I bore my arms bestride a noble horse

Long of pace, smooth in gait, keeping up with the cavalry’s gallop,

Running like a wild ass in the desert which

Pursued by hunters keeps close to the females

Sired by A'waj, which rejoices men's hearts

Like a branch on a thick lofty palm.

I got him ready and a sharp choice sword

And a lance with which I meet life's crises.

This and a well-knit coat of mail like a wavy pool

Fastened on me clear of blemishes.

We brought Kinana from the confines of yonder Yemen

Across the land driving them hard.

When Kinana asked where we were taking them

We told them Medina;’ so they made for it and its people.

We were the true knights that day on Uhud's slope.

Ma'add were in terror so we said we would come to their aid.

They feared our strokes and thrusts well-aimed and cutting

Which they beheld when their outposts had drawn together.

Then we came like a cloud of hail,

The B. al-Najjar's bird of death bemoaned them.

Their skulls in the battle were like ostrich eggs

Split open (by the chicks) and cast aside;

Or a colocynth on a withered shoot

Loosened by the sweeping winds.

We spend our wealth lavishly without reckoning

And we stab the horsemen in their eyes right and left.

Many a night when the host warms his hands in the belly of a
slaughtered camel
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And invites only wealthy guests, !

Many a night of Jumada with freezing” rain
Have I traveled through the wintry cold.

Because of the frosts the dogs bark but once
And the vipers leave not their holes.

I kindled then a blaze for the needy

Bright as the lightning that illumines the horizon.

'Amr and his father before him bequeathed me this example.

He used to do this again and again.
They vied with the courses of the stars.
Their deeds never fell below the highest standard.

Hassan b. Thabit answered him:

You brought Kinana in your folly (to fight) the apostle,
For God's army was (bound to) disgrace them.

You brought them to death's cisterns in broad daylight.
Hell was their meeting-place, killing what they met with.
You collected them, black slaves, men of no descent,

o leaders of infidels whom their insolent ones deceived.
Why did you not learn from those thrown into Badr's pit
Slain by God's horsemen?

Many a prisoner did we free without ransom,

Many a captive's forelock did we, his masters, cut! (641)

Ka'b b. Malik also answered Hubayra:

Have Ghassan heard about us though

Wide desert land where travel is uncertain separates them?
Deserts and mountains looking black in the distance
Like pillars of dust dotted here and there.

Strong camels there become feeble,

The yearly rains pass over it to make other lands fertile.’
There the skeletons of exhausted animals

Look like merchants' linen dotted with figures. T

he wild oxen and gazelles walk in file

And broken ostrich eggs lie strewn abroad.

Our warriors who fight for their religion are all troops
Skilled in war with helmets* shining.

Every coat of mail preserved in store is

When donned as a well-filled pool.

But ask any man you meet about Badr;

News you are ignorant of will be profitable.

Had other men been in that land of fear

They would have decamped at night and fled away.
When a rider of ours came he said,

'Prepare to meet the force Ibn Barb has collected.'

In misfortunes that would distress others

We showed greater calmness than all.

Had others been beset by a multitude

They would have given up and lost heart. |

We fought them; no tribe could stand against us

But feared and fled in dread.

When they made their home in 'Ird 2 our leader said,
"Why do we plant grain if we do not protect it?'
Among us was God's apostle whose command we obey.
When he gives an order we do not examine it.

The spirit3 descends on him from his Lord

Brought down from the midst of heaven and taken up again.
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We consult him on our wishes, and our desire

Is to obey him in all that he wants.

The apostle said when they appeared,

'Cast off the fear of death and desire it,

Be like one who sells his life

To draw near to a King by Whom he will be restored to life.
Take your swords and trust in God

To Whom belongs the disposal of all things.'

We made for them openly as they rode their camels
Bearing swords and unafraid

In a compact force with lances and spears;

When our steeds planted their feet they kept them firm.
Into a sea of foemen we plunged,

Their blacks in the centre some in armor some unprotected.
They were three thousand while we were three hundred elite
Or four hundred at the most.

The battle went to and fro while death ran between us.

We tried to get to the cistern of death before them and did so.
Bows of lote wood exchanged 'presents' between us

All of them cut from Yathribi wood*

And Meccan arrows made by Sa'id

Sprinkled with poison at the time they were made
Sometimes hitting men's bodies,

Sometimes glancing off shields with a clang;

And horsemen in the plain looking like locusts

Which the east wind brings, moving briskly in the cold.
When we met them and the battle was fierce

(For there is no defense against God's decree)

We smote them until we left their leaders

Lying in the hollow like fallen trees.

From morn till eve until we recovered our strength

Our zeal was like a fire burning all in its path.

They fled in haste hurrying away

Like a cloud wisp that the wind robs of rain.

We went on, our rearguard coming slowly,

Like strong lions seeking I meat in Bisha.

We inflicted loss on you and you on us;

Perhaps we should have won, but what is with God is more spacious.
The battle waged hot between us

And all were made to get their fill of evil.

We are men who see no blame in him who kills

To guard and protect his protégés.

Firm in misfortunes, you will never see

Our eyes weeping over a comrade slain;

Warriors who do what we say

Nor become despondent in war's trials;

Warriors who commit no atrocities in victory

Nor complain of war's scratches.

We are a flame whose heat men ward off,

Those near it withdraw with scorched faces.

You taunt me, Ibn al-Ziba'ra,” yet a party went after you
Searching for you at nightfall.

Ask about yourself in the summit of Ma'add and elsewhere
Who is the lowest and most shameful of men?

Whom did war leave shorn of glory,

His face humiliated on the day of war?

We attacked you with God's help and succor

Our spearheads directed at you.

Our lances made gaping wounds among you
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Like the mouths of waterskins where the water gushes forth.

We attacked the standard-bearers, and he who hastens to mention the
standard

Is the first in giving praise.’

But they were treacherous, surrendered, and deserted.

Only God's will can prevail and He is the greatest doer (642).

'Abdullah b. al-Ziba'ra:

O raven, you have made men hear, then speak.

You can say only what has happened.

(To good and evil there is an end and both befall men.
Gifts are mean among them

And the graves of the rich and the poor are equal.
Every comfortable and pleasant life comes to an end
And the blows of fate play with us all.)

Give Hassan a message from me,

For composing poetry cures inward pain.

How many skulls on the mountain slope did you see,
How many hands and feet cut off,

Fine armor stripped from the brave

Who had perished in the battle?

How many noble chiefs did we slay,

Their descent doubly glorious, intrepid warriors;
Truly courageous, noble, conspicuous,

No weaklings when the spears fell?

Ask al-Mihras who inhabits it,

Between skulls and brains, like partridges?

Would that my elders in Badr had seen

The fear of Khazraj when the spears fell;

When (war) rubbed its breast in Quba"

And the slaughter waxed hot among the 'Abdu'l-Ashhai.
Then they were nimble in flight

Like young ostriches running up a hill.

We killed a double number of their nobles

And adjusted the inequality of Badr.

I do not blame myself, but

Had we returned we should have made a clean sweep of them,
With Indian swords above their heads

Delivering blow after blow.

Hassan b. Thabit answered him:

The battle is over, O Ibn Ziba'ra 2

(Had he been fair he would have admitted our superiority),
You inflicted loss on us and we on you.

The fortunes of war often change.

We thrust our swords between your shoulders
Where they drank blood again and again.

We made liquid to run from your arses

Like the ordure of camels that have eaten ‘asal.
When you took to your heels I in the pass

And fled like sheep one behind the other;

When we attacked you boldly

And drove you to the bottom of the mountain

With companies like vast objects (?) in the plain
Whoever meets them is terrified.

The pass was too narrow for us when we traversed it
And we filled its heights and depths
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With men you cannot equal

Strengthened by Gabriel's help who came down.

We conquered at Badr by piety,

Obeying God and believing the apostles.

We killed all their chiefs

And we killed every long-robed noble.

We left in Quraysh a lasting shame that day of Badr,
An example to be talked of.

While the apostle of God witnessed truly,

While the short fat people among Quraysh

Got together by them were as

Camels collected in herbage and left shepherdless3;
We and not men like you, children of your mother's arse,
Meet the fighters4 when adversity comes (643).

Ka'b mourning Hamza and the Muslim dead:

You weep, but do you want one to stir you to tears?

You who are lost in grief when you remember them,’ 618

Remembering a people of whom

Stories have reached me in this crooked age.6
Your heart palpitates at the memory of them
In longing and tearful sadness.

Yet their dead are in lovely gardens
Honoured in their exits and entrances.
Because they were steadfast beneath the flag,
The flag of the apostle in Dhu'l-Adwaj,’

The morning when the B. Aus and Khazraj
All responded with their swords

And Ahmad's supporters followed the truth,

The light-giving straight way.

They continually smote the warriors

As they passed through the clouds of dust

Till at last the King summoned them

To a garden with thick trees at its entrance.

All of them proved pure in the triai,

Died unflinchingly in God's religion

Like Hamza when he proved his loyalty

With a sharp well-whetted sword.

The slave of the B. Naufal met him

Muttering like a huge black camel

And pierced him with a lance like a flame

That burns in a blazing fire.

And Nu'man fulfilled his promise

And the good Hanzala turned not from the truth
Until his spirit passed

To a mansion resplendent in gold.

Such are (true men) not those of your company
Who lie in nethermost hell with no escape.

Dirar b. al-Khattab al-Fihri answered him:

Does Ka'b grieve over his followers

And weep over a crooked age

Crying like an old camel who sees his companions

Returning at even while he is kept back?

The water camels pass on and leave him

Grumbling of ill-treatment while he is not even saddled for women.
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Say to Ka'b, 'Let him double his weeping

And let him suffer pain therefrom;

For the death of his brothers when the cavalry charged
In clouds of rising dust.'

Would that 'Amr and his followers

And 'Utba had been in our flaming meeting-place
That they might have slaked their vengeance

On those of Khazraj who were slain

And on those of Aus who died on the battlefield,
All of them slain in Dhu’l-Adwaj.l

And the killing of Hamza under the flag

With a pliant death-dealing lance.

And where Mus'ab fell and lay

Smitten by a sword's quick stroke

In Uhud when our swords flashed among them
Flaming like a roaring fire

On the morn we met you with swords

Like lions of the plains who cannot be turned back;
All our steeds like hawks,

Blood horses fiery, well-saddled.

We trod them down there until they fled

Except the dying or those hemmed in (644).

'Abdullah b. al-Ziba'ra:

Surely tears flowed from your eyesl

When youth had fled and the loved one was far away.

Far off and gone is she whom you love and

The camp, now removed, has robbed me of a dear one.

The ardent lover cannot recover what is gone

However long he weeps.

But let be: Has Umm Malik news of my people

Since news spreads far and wide

Of our bringing horses to the men of Medina,

Fine handsome horses, some reared with us, some out born,
The night we went forth in great force

Led by one, the dread of his enemies, the hope of his friends?
All were clad in coats of mail

Which looked like a well-filled pool where two valleys meet.

When they saw us they were filled with awe,
A dreadful plight confronted them; 620

They wished that the earth would swallow them,

Their stoutest hearted warriors were in despair.

When our swords were drawn they were like

A flame that leaps through brushwood.

On their heads we brought them down

Bringing swift death to the enemy.

They left the slain of Aus with hyenas hard at them and

Hungry vultures lighting on them.

The Banu Najjar on every height

Were bleeding from the wounds on their bodies.

But for the height of the mountain pass they would have left Ahmad
dead,

But he climbed too high though the spears were directed at him,
As they left Hamza dead in the attack

With a lance thrust through his breast.

Nu'man too lay dead beneath his banner,

The failing vultures busy at his bowels.2

The spears of our warriors came on them in Ulhud (as swiftly)
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As a well devours the ropes of the bucket.'
Hassan b. Thabit:

Do the spring camps make you long for Ummu'l-Walid,
The waste lands deserted by their people?

The winds of summer and the rain of Aquarius,

The torrential cloud bringer, has effaced them;

Naught remains but the place where the fire was,

Round it on the ground are the firestones like doves.
Mention no more the camp whose people distance separates
Severing the strongest ties, and say

'If there was a battle in Uhud which a fool counts a victory
The real truth will some day be known.'

All the Banu Aus stood firm that day,

High renown was theirs.

The Banu Najjar were steadfast in defense,

None was fainthearted in the fight

In front of the apostle of God, they did not desert him.
They had a helper from their Lord and an intercessor.
They were faithful when you, Quraysh,2 denied your Lord.
(The loyal and the disloyal slave are never equal)

With swords in their hands when the battle was hot

He whom they smote could not but die.

They left 'Utba and Sa'd lying in the dust

As the spears found their mark.

They left Ubayy laid beneath the dust by the apostle's own hand,
His shirt wet with blood

When the dust they stirred up covered the people.

These were chiefs from your leading families,

For every army has chiefs.

By them® we help God when® He helps us

Even if things are terrible, O Quraysh.

Mention not the slain since Hamza is among them,

Dead for God's sake in true obedience.

Paradise eternal he lives in now

(The command of Him who decrees is swift).

While your dead are in hell, their best food

Thorns and boiling water to fill their bellies ):'

'Amr b. al-'As.

We went forth from the barren desert against them

Forming as it were a streaked girdle to Radwa in the morning.

B. Najjar foolishly wished to meet us

By the side of Sal' and hopes are sometimes realized.

What scared them suddenly in the valley was

Squadrons of horse coming forth to the battle.

They wanted to plunder our tents,

But protecting those tents that day were shattering blows.

They were tents that have always been protected,

If a people made for them they would be spoiled and meet our rage.
The heads of the Khazrajis that morning

By the side of Sal' were like sliced melons,

And their hands holding Yamani swords were like barwaq 2 (646).

Dirar b. al-Khattab: 622

By thy grandfather,3 had I not advanced my horse

218



623

Jihad Sira 3/26/2010

When the cavalry wheeled between the slope and the low ground

On the side of Uhud's slope, there had not ceased

The voices of your wraiths calling for vengeance, their cause well
known.

And a horseman, his forehead split by a sword,

His skull in pieces like a shepherd's cloak.*

By thy grandfather, I am always girded with a sharp sword white as
salt

On the saddle of a mare thrusting forward to the one who calls for hell
As long as the cry for aid is raised.

I am not reckoned the son of weaklings and non-combatants

Or miserly cowards on the day of battle,

But of those who smite the trusty helms when they reach them,
Warriors of proud descent on the day of battle,

Proud leaders bearing long swords who advance to death unfaltering

He also said:

When there came from Ka'b a squadron

And the Khazrajiya with glittering swords

And they drew their Mashrafiya swords

And displayed a flag fluttering like the wings of an eagle

I said, This will be a battle worth many a battle,

It will be talked of as long as leaves fail.

Every day they have been accustomed to gain the victory in battle
And the spoils of those they encountered.

I forced myself to be steadfast when I felt afraid I

And I was certain that glory could only be got in the forefront.
I forced my steed to plunge into their ranks

And drenched him with their blood.

My horse and my armor were colored

With blood that spurted from their veins and coagulated.

I felt sure I should stay in their dwellings

For ever and a day.

Do not despair, O Banu Makhzum, for you have men

Like Al-Mughira, men without blame.

Be steadfast, may my mother and brothers be your ransom,
Exchanging blows until time be no more.

'Amr b. al-'As:

When I saw war's flames leaping over the fire stones

Reaching the squadrons flaying men with their heat®

I was sure that death was truth and life a delusion.

I set my arms on a strong horse which could outrun others easily,

Docile when others go astray in the desert outrunning the best horse.
When the sweat flowed down his flanks he showed more spirit;

Swift as a young hart of the desert when archers scare him to run full
stretch,

Firm of fetlock he leads the cavalry in canter and gallop.

My mother be your ransom that fearful morning

When they walked like sandgrouse

Making for the leader of the squadron when the sun revealed him
plainly (647).

Ka'b b. Malik answered the two of them:
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Tell Quraysh (the best word is the truest and truth is always
acceptable to the wise)

That we killed your best men, the standard-bearers,
In revenge for our slain, so what is all the talk about?
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And on the day that we met you

Michael and Gabriel reinforced and helped us.

If you kill us the true religion is ours

And to be killed for the truth is to find God's favor.

If you think that we are fools

The opinion of those who oppose Islam is misleading.

Do not wish for more war but stay at home,

The habitual man of war is blood-stained, never free of care. !
You will get such blows at our hands

That the hyenas will rejoice at the lumps of meat.

We are men of war who get the utmost from it

And inflict painful punishment on the aggressors.

If Ibn Harb escaped with the skin of his teeth

(And God's will must be done) it gave him discernment
And admonition if he has the sense to appreciate it.

Had you come to the bottom of the torrent bed

A swift stroke would have met you on the valley side,
Bands of men round the Prophet would have confronted you
With breastplates prepared for war,

Men of Ghassan stock with drawn swords,

No unarmed cowards they;

They walk towards the dark clouds of battle

As the camels' white foals walk in train,

Or as lions walk in a covert wetted by rain

Brought by the north wind from the Gemini

In long close-knit mail like a rippling pool,

Its wearer broad-shouldered, 2 a chief like a sword,
Which makes the strongest arrowhead useless

And the sword recoil with blunted edge.

Though you threw off Mount Sal' from your backs

(And sometimes life can be prolonged and death avoided)
You would never be able to take revenge;

Time will pass the slain not paid for, *

Slave and free, noble, tied up like game (led)

Towards Medina bound and slain.

We were hoping to get you all, but our knights with their weapons
Chased you from us too quickly.

When one of them commits a crime they know for certain 625

That the consequence will be borne (by the tribe).
His crime is not an unmistakable crime,
None blames him and none evades his share of the penalty. *

Hassan b. Thabit:

At even when the stars were setting I could not sleep for care
And the vision of the beloved that haunted me.

A sickness pervaded my heart and an inner hidden passion.
O my people, can one without strength and courage

Slay a man like me?

If the tiniest ants were to crawl upon her

They would make wounds in her skin.

She smells of sweet scent and lingers in her bed

Adorned with silver and strung with pearls.

The dally sun surpasses her in naught
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Except that youth does not endure.

My uncle was orator at Jabiyatu'l-Jaulan

With al-Nu'man when he stood lip (to speak).

I was the hawk at the door of Ibn Saima

On the day that Nu'man was sick in fetters.

Ubayy and Wagqid were set free for me.

The day they went forth with their fetters broken

I went surety for them with all my wealth,

Every scrap of it was allotted.

My family stood high in their regard,

Every dwelling had a great ancestor of mine.

My father gave decisive judgmental Sumayha .
When disputes were referred to him.

Such were our deeds, but al-Ziba'ra

Is a man of no account, blamed even by his friends.
How much culture is destroyed by poverty

While prosperity hides barbarism!’

Do not insult me for you cannot do so,

Only a gentleman can insult his peer.*

I care not if a he goat cries in the wastelands

Or a churl speaks evil behind my back.

The finest stock of Bam ' Qusayy took over the courage
(You ought to have had) when you withdrew.

Nine carried the standard while

Makhzum ran away from the spears with the riff-raff.
They stood firm together in their place till all were slain,
All of them bleeding from open wounds.’

It was only honorable that they should stand firm.
The noble man is truly noble.

They stood fast until death came upon them

With the lances broken in their throats.

Quraysh fled from us seeking refuge

So that they stood not fast but lost their wits.

Their collarbones could not sustain its weight;
Only the best men can carry the standard (648).

Hassan b. Thabit mourning Hamza:

O Mayya, arise and weep sadly at dawn as the keening women do;
As those who carry heavy burdens cannot move for their weight
Who cry aloud scratching the faces of free women.

When their tears run they are like the pillars reddened by the blood
of victims.

They let their hair loose and their locks appear

Like the tails of restive plunging horses in the morning,
Some plaited, ' some cut, disheveled by the wind.
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They weep sadly like mourners whom fate has wounded,

Their hearts scarred by painful wounds.

Fate has smitten those who were our hope when we were afraid,
The men of Uhud whom fate's calamities destroyed.

Our knight and protector when armed men appeared,

O Hamza, I will not forget you while time lasts,

The refuge of orphans and guests and the widow who looks shyly
away,

And from the fate that brings war after war with growing evil.

O knight, O protector, O Hamza, you were our great defender
From blows of fate when they were crushing.

You reminded me of the lion of the apostle, that protector of ours
Who will always be mentioned when noble chiefs are counted
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High above the leaders, generous, white, shilling;

Not frivolous, poor spirited, nor grumbling at life's burdens.

A sea of generosity, he never withheld gifts from a guest.

Young men of honor, zealous and serious minded, have died

Who in the winter when none gets his fill of milk

Offered the flesh of camels topped by slices carved from its fat,
Protecting their guests as long as the enemy attacks.

Alas for the young men we have lost, they were as lamps,

Proud, patricians, princes, lavishly generous,

Who bought reputation with their wealth, (for reputation is a gain),
Who leapt to their bridles if a cry for help was raised.

One who suffered misfortunes in an unrighteous age.2

His camels kept going over the dusty plain,

They went vying with each other while he was among those

Whose breasts ran with sweat so that good fortune might return to
him, Not the lot of him who gets the unlucky arrow.”

O Hamza. you have left me lonely like a branch cut off from a tree.
I complain to you when layers of dust and stone cover you, of

The stone we put above you when the gravedigger finished his work
In a wide space, covering it with earth carefully smoothed.

Our comfort is that we say (and what we say is grievous hard)

He who is free from life's misfortunes let him come to us

And weep for our noble generous dead,

Who said and did what they said, the truly laudable,

Who always gave freely even when they had little to spare (649).

He also said:

Do you know the camp whose traces since you saw it

Are swept away by a mighty torrent of rain

Between Al-Saradih and Udmana and the channel of Al-Rauha' in
Ha'il?

I asked it of that and it would not answer;

It did not know the answer.

Give no thought to a camp whose traces have disappeared,
And weep over Hamza the generous who filled the platter
When the storm blew in bitter cold and famine,

Who left his adversaries in the dust

Stumbling on his slender lance,

Who threw himself among the horses when they held back '
Like a lion bold in his thicket.

Shining at the summit of the Hashim clan

He did not oppose the truth with lies.

He died a martyr under your swords.

May the hands of Wahshi, the murderer, wither!

What a man did he leave on his lance, its point deadly sharp!
The earth has become dark at his loss

And the moon shining forth from the clouds is blackened.
God bless him in the heavenly paradise.

May his entry be honoured.

We looked on Hamza as a protector in all the blows of misfortune.
In Islam he was a great defense

Who made up for the loss of miserable stay-at-homes.
Rejoice not, O Hind, but produce thy tears,

Let flow the tears of the bereaved.

Weep for 'Utba whom he cut down with the sword

Who lay in the whirling dust,

When he fell among your shaykhs

Insolent, ignorant fellows.
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Hamza killed them with a family who walk in long armor
The day that Gabriel helped him,
That fine helper of an intrepid horseman.

Ka'b b. Malik:

Visited by care you could not sleep

And feared because joyous youth had been taken from you.
A Damri girl claimed your love,

But your love is Ghauri and your company is Najdi. !

Do not go too far rashly in the folly of love,

You have always been thought foolish for following its allure.
It is time for you to stop in obedience

Or to awake when an adviser warns you.

I was crushed by the- loss of Hamza,

My inward parts trembled.

If Mount Hira' had been so distressed

You would have seen its firm rocks shattered.

A noble prince, strong in the lofty stock of Hashim,
Whence come prophecy, generosity, and lordship,

Who slew fat-humped camels when the wind is so cold
That it almost freezes the water,

Who left a brave opponent prostrate on the ground

On the day of battle, with his lance broken.

You could see him sweeping along in steel,

Like a tawny strong-pawed lion,

The prophet's uncle and chosen one

Came to his death-a goodly end.

He met his fate marked out among a people

Who helped the prophet and sought martyrdom.

I imagine that Hind has been told of that

To still the burning choking within her breast

How we met her people on the sandhill

The day in which happiness left her.

And of the well of Badr when Gabriel and Muhammad
Beneath our banner turned them back

So that I saw their best men with the prophet in two parties,
One killing and one pursuing whom he pleased.

There remained where the camels knelt

Seventy men, 'Utba and al-Aswad among them,

And Ibnu'l-Mughira whom we smote above the neck vein
From which foaming blood gushed forth.

A sharp sword in the hands of the believers

Reduced the pride of Umayya al-Jumahi.2

The fugitive polytheists came to you like runaway ostriches
With the cavalry in full pursuit.

Different are those whose home is hell everlasting

And those who are eternally in paradise.

He also said:

Rise, O Safiya, be not weak.

Make the women weep over Hamza.
Be not weary in prolonging weeping
Over God's lion in the melee.

For he was a strength to our orphans
And a lion of battle amid the weapons,
Wishing thereby to please Ahmad
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And the glorious Lord of the throne.

He also said:

By thy noble father's life I adjure you.

Ask those who sought our hospitality,

For if you ask them you will not be told a lie,
Those you ask will tell you the truth

That on nights when bones were gathered for food
We gave sustenance to those who visited us:
(Crowds ' took refuge in our shelters

From distress in years of famine)

With a gift of what our rich provided

With patience and generosity towards the indigent.
The shears of war left us

Those whose ways we have always tried to vie with.
One who saw the place where the camels go to water
Would think it was black rocky ground.

There the best camels are broken in,

Black, red, and white.?

The rush of men was like Euphrates in flood,

Solid well-armed masses destroying all in their path.
You would think their glitter was the shining of stars,
They dazzle beholders in their commotion.

If you are ignorant of our importance

Then ask those near us who know,

How we behave when war is violent

In slaughter, severity, biting, and mauling.

Do we not tighten the cord round the camel's udder
Until she yields her milk and becomes gentle?’

A day in which fighting is continuous,

Terrifying, burning those who kindled its blaze,
Long drawn out exceeding hot fighting.

Fear of it keeps the base-born away.

You would think the heroes engaged in it

Were happily drunk and inebriated,

Their right hands exchanging the cups of death
With their sharp-edged swords.

We were there and we were courageous

Wearing our badges under clouds of dust,

With silent fine blood-stained swords,

Blades of Busra which loathe the scabbard;

Which grow not blunt nor buckle

And cease not smiting if they are not held back,
Like autumn lightning in the hands of heroes
Overwhelming in blood heads that remain in place.
Our fathers taught us how to strike

And we will teach our sons

The swordsmanship of heroes and the spending of patrimony

In defense of our honor as long as we live.

When a champion passes, his posterity takes his place
And he leaves others to inherit him.

We grow up and our fathers perish,

And while we bring up our sons we cease to be.

I asked about you, Ibnu'l-Ziba'ra,

And was told that you were baseborn,

Evil, of disgraceful life, persistently mean.

You have said much ' in insulting God's apostle.

God slay you, you cursed rude fellow!
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You utter filth, and then throw it
At the clean robed godly faithful one (650)'

He also said:

Ask Quraysh of our flight and of theirs

That morn at the base of Uhud's hill.

We were lions, they but leopards when they came.
We cared nothing for blood relationship.

How many brave chiefs did we leave there
Protectors of protégés, noble in birth and reputation?
Among us the apostle, a star, then there followed him
A brilliant light excelling the stars.

True is his speech, just his behavior.

He who answers his call will escape perdition,
Brave in attack, purposeful, resolute

When hearts are moved by fear,

Advancing and encouraging us so that we should not be
disobedient,

Like the full moon that cannot lie.

When he appeared we followed him and held him true.

They called him liar so we are the happiest of the Arabs.
They wheeled and we wheeled, they did not reform or return
While we followed them in unwearying pursuit.

The two armies had nothing in common,

God's party and the men of polytheism and idols (651)."

'Abdullah b. Rawaha said (652):

My eye wept and right well it did so

(But what avails weeping and lamentation),
For God's lion on the day that they said

'Is that slain man Hamza?"'

All the Muslims were distressed thereat;

The apostle too suffered.

O Abu Ya'la,” your pillars were shattered,
You the noble, just, bounteous one.

God's peace on you in paradise

With everlasting felicity!

O Hashim, the best men, be steadfast

Whose every deed is fine and laudable.’
God's apostle is patient, noble,

Whenever he speaks 'tis by God's command.
Will someone tell Lu'ayy for me

(For after today war's fortune will change,
And previously they have known and tasted of
Our fighting in which vengeance was slaked),
You have forgotten our blows at Badr's pool
When swift death came to you,

The morn that Abu Jahl lay prostrate,

The vultures wheeling and circling over him.
'Utba and his son fell together

And Shayba whom the polished sword bit.
We left Umayya stretched on the ground,

A huge lance in his belly.

Ask the skulls of Banu Rabi'a,

For our swords were notched by them. Weep,
O Hind, grow not weary,
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For you are the bereaved one in tears for a lost son.
Show not joy at Hamza's death, O Hind,
For your boasting is contemptible.

Ka'b b. Malik said:

Say to Quraysh despite their distance,

Do you boast of what you have not won?

You boast of the slain on whom the favors

Of Him who grants the best favors have fallen.
They dwell in gardens and have left waiting for you
Lions who protect their cubs,

To fight for their religion, in their midst

A prophet who never recedes from the truth.
Ma'add attacked him with infamous words

And the arrows of enmity unceasingly (653).

Dirar b. al-Khattab:

What ails thine eye which sleeplessness affects
As though pain were in thine eyelids?

Is it for the loss of a friend whom you hold dear
Parted by distance and foes?

Or is it because of the mischief of a useless people
When wars blaze with burning heat?

They cease not from the error they have committed.
Woe to them! No helper have they from Lu'ayy.
We adjured them all by God,

But neither kinship nor oaths deterred them;

Till finally when they determined on war against us
And injustice and bad feeling had grown strong,
We attacked them with an army

Flanked by helmeted strong mailed men

And slender horses sweeping along with warriors
Like kites, so smooth was their gait;

An army which Sakhr ' led and commanded

Like an angry lion of the jungle tearing his prey.
Death brought out a people from their dwellings,
We and they met at Uhud.

Some of them were left stone dead

Like goats which the hail has frozen to the cold ground.

Noble dead, the Banu'l-Najjar in their midst

And Mus'ab with broken pieces of our shafts around him
And Hamza the chief, prostrate, his widow going round him.

His nose and liver had been cut away. It was
As if when he fell he bled beneath the dust
Transfixed by a lance on which the blood had dried.

He was the colt of an old she-camel whose companions had fled

As frightened ostriches run away

Rushing headlong filled with terror,

The steep precipitous rocks Aiding their escape.
Husbandless women weep over them

In mourning garb rent in pieces.

We left them to the vultures on the battlefield

And to the hyenas who made for their bodies (654):

Abu Za'na b. 'Abdullah b. 'Amr b. 'Utba, brother of B. Jusham b. al-
Khazraj:
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I'm Abu Za'na. Al-Huzam ' takes me apace,
Painful exertion alone saves disgrace.
A Khazrajite of Jusham his ward will solace.

'Ali b. Abu Talib (655):

636 Al-Harith b. al-Simma

Was faithful to his covenant with us.

He went through painful deserts,

Black as darkest night,

Among many swords and spears

Seeking God's apostle in what was happening there.

'Ikrima b. Abu Jahl:

Each of them says to his horse, Come on here!
You can see him advancing today without fear
Bearing a leader with his mighty spear.

Al-A'sha b. Zurara b. al-Nabbash al- Tamimi, of B. Asad b. 'Amr b.
Tamim, weeping the slain of B. 'Abd al-Dar:

Let the Banu Abu Taiha in spite of their distance
Be given a greeting that will not be rejected.
Their watercarrier passed them with it

And every watercarrier of theirs is known.

Their neighbor and guest never complained,

No door was closed in their face.”.

'Abdullah b. al-Ziba'ra:

We killed Ibn Jahsh and rejoiced at his death

And Hamza with his horsemen and Ibn Qaugqal'

Some men escaped us and got quickly away.

Would that they had stopped and we had not been hasty,

That they had stood so that our swords their best men

Might have cut down, for all of us were fully armed;

And that there might have been a fight between us

When they would have a morning draught ' whose evil would not
pass away (656).

Safiya d. 'Abdu'l-Muttalib mourning her brother Hamza:
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Are you my sisters asking in dread

The men of Uhud, the slow of speech and the eloquent?z.
The latter said Hamza is dead,

The best helper of the apostle of God.

God the true, the Lord of the Throne, called him

To live in paradise in joy.

That is what we hoped and longed for.

Hamza on the day of gathering will enjoy the best reward.
By God I'll ne'er forget thee as long as the east wind blows
In sorrow and weeping, whether at home or in travel,

For the lion of God who was our defense,

Protecting Islam against every unbeliever.

Would that my limbs and bones were there

For hyenas and vultures to visit.

I said when my family raised their lamentation,

God reward him, fine brother and helper as he was! (657).
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Nu'm wife of Shammas b. 'Uthman weeping her husband:

O eye be generous, let thy tears flow spontaneously

For the noble and victorious warrior

Whose opinion was accepted, whose deeds were successful,
Who carried the standards, the rider of horses.

I said in -- anguish when news of his death came,

"The generous man who fed and clothed others has perished.'
I said when the places where he sat were forsaken,

'May God not take Shammas far from us!'

Her brother Abu'l-Hakam b. Sa'id b. Yarbu' replying to comfort her:

Preserve thy modesty in secret and in honor,
For Shammas was only a man.

Kill not thyself because he met his death

In obeying God on the day of heroic battle.
Hamza was the lion of God, so be patient;
He too on that day tasted Shammas's cup.

Hind d. 'Utba when the polytheists withdrew from Uhud:

I came back my heart filled with sorrow,

For some from whom I sought vengeance had escaped me,
Men of Quraysh who were at Badr,

Of Banu Hashim, and of Yathrib's people.

I gained somewhat from the expedition

But not all that I had hoped (658).

THE DAY OF AL-RAJT', AH.3

Abu Muhammad 'Abdu'l-Malik b. Hisham told us from Ziyad b.
'Abdul-lah al-Bakka'i from I. Ishaq from 'Asim b. 'Umar b. Qatada: After
Uhud a number of 'Adal and al-Qara came to the apostle (659). They said
that some of them had already accepted Islam and they asked him to send
some of his companions to instruct them in religion and to teach them to
read the Quran and to teach them the laws of Islam. The apostle sent the
following six of his companions. Marthad b. Abu Marthad al-Ghanawi, an
ally of Hamza; Khalid b. al-Bukayr al-Laythi, an ally of B. 'Adiy b. Ka'b;
'Agim b. Thabit b. Abu'l-Aqlah, brother of B. 'Amr b. 'Auf b. Malik b. al-
Aus; Khubayb b. 'Adiy, brother of B. Jahjaba b. Kulfa b. 'Amr b. 'Auf;
Zayd b. al-Dathinna b. Mu'awiya, brother of B. Bayada b. '"Amr b. Zurayq
b. 'Abdu Haritha b. Malik b. Ghadb b. Jusham b. ai-Khazraj; and 'Abdullah
b. Tariq, ally of B. Zafar b. al-Khazraj b. 'Amr b. Malik b. al-Aus.

The apostle put Marthad in command of them and the band got as far as
al-Raji', a watering-place of Hudhayl in a district of the Hijaz at the upper
part of al-Had'a.' There they betrayed them and summoned Hudhayl against
them. While they were off their guard sitting with their baggage suddenly
they were set upon by men with swords in their hands, so they took their
swords to fight them; but the men said that it was not their intention to kill
them; they wanted to get something for them from the people of Mecca.
They swore by God that they would not kill them.

Marthad, Khalid, and 'Asim said: 'By God, we will never accept an

undertaking and agreement from a polytheist.' 'Asim said:

No weakling I, an archer bold,
My bow thick-stringed with trusty hold
Broad arrows can life's coil unfold.
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Death's certain-life a mere tale told.

'What God decrees men shall behold,

Life must return to Him its mould.

I fight though I leave a mother, cold (660).

He also said:

I'm Abu Sulayman with al-Muq'ad's shafts

Like Gehenna they burn my feathered shafts.
When battle's abroad I am not afraid,’

With shield of smooth ox-hide I'm safely arrayed
And I firmly believe in what Muhammad has said.

He also said:

I'm Abu Sulayman, an archer fine,
And come of a people of noble line.

His kunya was Abu Sulayman.

Thereupon he fought with the people until he and his two companions
were killed.

*When 'Asim was slain Hudhayl wanted to take his head to sell it to
Sulafad. Sa'd b. Shuhayd. When he killed her two sons at Uhud she swore a
vow that if she could get possession of his head she would drink wine in his
skull; but bees” protected him. * When the bees came between it and them
they said, 'Let him alone until nightfall when they will leave him and we
can take the skull.' But God sent a flood in the wadi and it carried 'Asim
away. Now 'Asim had made a covenant with God that no polytheist should
touch him nor would he ever touch a polytheist for fear of contamination.
*'Umar used to say when he heard of how the bees protected him, 'God
protects the believer. 'Asim had vowed that no poly-theist should touch him
and that he would never touch one so long as he lived, so God protected
him after his death as he had protected himself while he was alive."*

Zayd, Khubayb, and Abdullah b. Tariq were weak and yielding in their

desire to preserve their lives so they surrendered and were bound and taken 640

to Mecca to be sold there. When they were in al-zahran 'Abdullah broke
loose from his bonds and drew his sword. But the men drew back from him
and stoned him until they killed him. His grave is in al-Zahran. Khubayb
and Zayd were brought to Mecca (661).

Hujayr b. Abu Ihab al- Tamimi, an ally of B. Naufal, bought Khubayb
for 'Ugba b. al-Harith b. 'Amir b. Naufal, Abu Thab being the brother of al-
Harith b. 'Amir by the same mother, to kill him in revenge for his father
(662).

Safwan b. Umayya bought Zayd to kill him in revenge for his father
Umayya b. Khaiaf. Safwan sent him with a freedman of his called Nistas 3
to Al-Tan'im and they brought him out of the haram to kill him. A number
of Quraysh gathered, among whom was Abu Sufyan b. Harb, who said to
him as he was brought out to be killed, 'l adjure you by God, Zayd, don't
you wish that Muhammad was with us now in your place so that we might

cut off his head, and that you were with your family?' Zayd answered,
'By God, I don't wish that Muhammad now were in the place he occupies
and that a thorn could hurt him, and that I were sitting with my family." Abu
Sufyan used to say, 'l have never seen a man who was so loved as
Muham-mad's companions loved him." Then Nistas killed him, God pity
him.

'Abdullah b. Abu Najih told me that he was told by Mawiya,
freed-woman of Hujayr b. Abu Thab, who had become a Muslim: Khubayb
was imprisoned in my house and I looked at him one day with a bunch of
grapes in his hand as big as a man's head from which he was eating. 1 did
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not know that there were grapes on God's earth that could be eaten (at that
time).

'Asim b. 'Umar b. Qatada and 'Abdullah b. Abu Najih both told me that
she said: When the time for his execution had come he asked me to send
him a razor with which to cleanse himself before he died; so I gave a razor
to a youth of the tribe and told him to take it to the man in the house.
Hardly had he turned his back to take it to him when I thought, 'What have
I done? By God, the man will take his revenge by killing the youngster and
it will be man for man.' But when he handed him the steel he took it from
him saying, 'Good gracious, your mother was not afraid of my treachery
when she sent you to me with this razor!' Then he let him go (663).

'Asim said, Then they took out Khubayb as far as Al-Tan'im to crucify
him. He asked them to give him time to make a couple of bowings, and
they agreed. He performed two excellent bowings and then turned to the
people saying, "Were it not that you would think that I only delayed out of
fear of death I would have prolonged my prayer.' Khubayb b. 'Adiy was the
first to establish the custom of performing two bowings at death. Then they
raised him on the wood and when they had bound him he said, ‘O God, we
have delivered the message of Thy apostle, so tell him tomorrow what has
been done to us.' Then he said, ‘O God, reckon them by number and kill
them one by one, let none of them escape.' Then they killed him, God pity
him.

Mu'awiya b. Abu Sufyan used to say: 'l was present that day among
those who were there with Abu Sufyan and 1 saw him throw me to the
ground out of fear of Khubayb's curse.' They used to say, 'If a man is cursed
and is thrown to one side the curse will pass over him.'

Yahya b. 'Abbad b. 'Abdullah b. al-Zubayr from his father 'Abbad
concerning 'Ugba b. Al-Harith said: 'l heard him say, "It was not I who
killed Khubayb, for I was too young to do that; but Abu Maysara brother of
B. 'Abdu'l-Dar took a lance and put it in my hand. Then he covered my
hand with his and thrust him with it until he killed him.""

One of our companions said that 'Umar had appointed Sa'id b. 'Amir b.
Hidhyam al-Jumahi over a part of Syria. Fainting fits used to seize him
when he was among the people and "Umar was told of this. It was said that
the man was subject to seizures. During one of his visits 'Umar asked him
the cause of the trouble and he said, 'There is nothing the matter with me,
but I was one of those who was present when Khubayb b. 'Adiy was killed
and I heard his curse, and whenever I remember it when I am in a meeting [
faint away.' This increased his favor in 'Umar’s eyes (664)'

A freedman of Zayd b. Thabit told me from 'Tkrima, freedman of Ibn
'Abbas, or from Sa'id b. Jubayr, that Ibn 'Abbas said with reference to a
passage of the Quran about this expedition: When the expedition in which
Marthad and 'sim took part came to grief in al-Raji' some of the
dis-affected said, 'Alas for those beguiled fellows who perished thus! They
did not stay with their families nor did they deliver the message of their
master.' Then God sent down concerning their words and the good they
gained by their suffering: 'There is the kind of man whose talk about the life
of this world pleases you,' i.e. when he professes Islam with his tongue,
'and he calls God to witness about that which is in his heart' which is
contrary to what he professes with his tongue, 'yet he is the most
quarrel-some of adversaries', i.e. a controversialist when he argues with you
(665).1

God said, 'And when he turns away,' i.e. goes out from your presence,
'he hastens through the land to make mischief therein and to destroy the
crops and the cattle; but God loves not mischief,' i.e. He does not love the
doing of it nor does it please Him. 'And when it is said to him, Beware of
God, pride seizes him in sin. Hell will be his reckoning, an evil resting
place. And there is the kind of man who would sell himself in his desire to
please God and God is kind to His servants,' i.e. they sold themselves to
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God by fighting in His way and doing what He required until they gave up
their lives. He means that expedition (666)

Among the poems about this is that of Khubayb b. 'Adiy when he heard
that the people had gathered to crucify him (667):

The confederates gathered their tribes around me

And assembled all whom they could collect.

All of them show violent enmity against me

Because I am helpless in bonds.

They collect their women and children

And I am brought to a lofty high trunk.

To God I complain of my loneliness and pain

And of the death the confederates have prepared for me.
Lord of the throne, give me endurance against their purpose.
They have pierced my flesh-all hope is gone!

This is for God's sake, and if He wills

He will bless the limbs thus torn.
They let me choose infidelity but death is preferable,
And my tears flowed though not in fear.
I fear not death who am about to die
But I fear hell and its all-embracing fire.
644 By God, I fear not ' if I die a Muslim
What death I suffer for God's sake.
I will not show subservience to the enemy
Nor despair, for 'tis to God I return.

Hassan b. Thabit said, mourning Khubayb:

What ails thine eye that its tears cease not

Flowing on to thy breast like loose pearls?

For Khubayb the hero, no coward when you meet him,
No fickle youth as men well know.

Then go, Khubayb, may God reward thee well

In the eternal gardens with houris among thy companions.
What will you say when the prophet says to you

When the pure angels are in the firmament,

Why did you kill God's martyr for the sake of an evil man
Who committed crimes far and wide? (668)

Hassan also said: '

O eye, be generous with thy tears;

Weep for Khubayb who did not return with the warriors.
A hawk, 'midst the Ansar was his dignity,

Generous by nature of pure unmixed descent.

My eye was inflamed because of the difficulty of Weeping2
When 'twas said, He has been lifted up on a tree.

O raider going forth on your business

Convey a threat-no idle threat

To the Bamii Kuhayba that war's milk

Will be bitter when its teats are pressed.

In it will be the lions of the Banu Al-Najjar,

Their glittering spears in front of a great shouting army (669)'

Hassan also said:

Had there been in the camp a noble chief; a warrior,
A champion of the people, a hawk whose uncle is Anas,
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Then, Khubayb, you would have had a spacious place to sit in
And not have been confined by guards in prison.

Low adherents of the tribes would not have borne you to Tan’im,
Some of them men whom ‘Udas had expelled.

They deceived you with their treachery, breaking their faith,
You were wronged, a prisoner in their camp (670)'

Those who formed the mob from Quraysh when Khubayb was killed
were 'Ikrima b. Abu Jahl; Sa'id b. Abdullah b. Abu Qays b. 'Abdu Wudd,
al-Akhnas b. Shariq al-Thaqafi, ally of B. Zuhra; 'Ubayda b. Hakim b.
Umayya b. Haritha b. al-Auqgas al-Sulami, ally of B. Umayya b. 'Abdu
Shams; and Umayya b. Abu 'Utba and the B. al-Hadrami.

Hassan also said reviling Hudhayl for what they did to Khubayb:

Tell Banu 'Amr that a man steeped in treachery

Sold their brother as a chattel.

Zuhayr b.al-Agharr and Jami sold him,

Both of them committing foul crimes.

You promised him protection and having done so betrayed him.

In the region of al-Raji' you were as sharp swords. '

Would that Khubayb had not been deceived by your promise;
Would that he had known what people he was dealing with! (671)

Hassan also said:

If pure unalloyed treachery pleases you

Go to al-Raji' and ask about the abode of Lihyan;

A people who adjure one another to devour the guest among them.
Dog and ape are like such men.

If a he-goat were to rise up and address them one day

He would be a man of honor and importance among them! (672)

Hassan also said:

Hudhayl asked the apostle for something disgraceful.

They erred therein and went astray;

They asked their apostle what he would not grant them

To their dying day and they were the disgrace of the Arabs.
Never will you see in Hudhayl one

Calling others to a generous deed in that place of plunder.
Woe to them who desired to make immoral conditions

To be allowed what the scripture forbids!

Hassan also said:

The tale of Khubayb and 'Asim

Has ruined the name of Hudhayl ibn Mudrik.

The tale of Lihyan has ruined their reputation,

For Lihyan has committed the worst of crimes.

Men, the best stock of their tribe,

Like hairs upon a horse's fetlock,

Were treacherous on the day of al-Raji’,

Betraying their ward to whom kindness and generosity were due,
The apostle's messenger. Hudhayl took no pains

To ward off the evil of loathsome crimes.

One day they will see victory turn against them

For killing one whom there protected against evil deeds'
Swarms of hornets standing guard over his flesh

Jihad Sira 3/26/2010 232

646




647

Jihad Sira 3/26/2010

Which protected the flesh of one who witnessed great battles.
Perhaps in return for killing him Hudhayl will see

Dead lying prostrate or women mourning

As we bring a violent attack upon them,

Which riders will relate faithfully to those at the fairs

By command of God's apostle, for he with full knowledge
Has made a forceful decision against Lihyan,

A contemptible tribe caring nothing for good faith.

If they are wronged they do not resist the aggressor.

When people live in an isolated quarter

You see them in the watercourses between the well-worn channels.

Their place is the home of death.
When anything happens to them they have the minds of cattle.

Hassan also said:

God curse Lihyan, for their blood does not repay us

For their having slain the two in treachery.

At al-Raji' they killed the son of a free woman

Faithful and pure in his friendship.

Had they all been killed on the day of al-Raji’

In revenge for 'Asim” that would not have sufficed

For the dead man whom the bees protected in their tents,
Among people of obvious infidelity and coarseness.
Lihyan killed one more honorable than they

And sold Khubayb for a miserable price, woe to them!
Ugh! for Lihyan in every event.

May their memory perish and not even be mentioned!

A contemptible tribe of mean and treacherous descent,
Their meanness cannot be conceaied.

If they were slain their blood would not pay for him

But the killing of his killers would cure me (of my pain).
Unless I die I will terrify Hudhayl with a plundering raid
Swift as the early morning cloud.

By the apostle's command, and his it is,

Disaster will spend the night in Lihyan's court.

The people in al-Raji' will be found in the morning

Like little goats who have passed the winter without warmth. '

Hassan also said:

By God, Hudhayl do not know

Whether Zamzam's water is clean or foul;

And if they make the great or lesser pilgrimage

They have no share in the hijr or the running.

But at al-Raji' they have a place,

The home of open meanness and disgrace.

They are like goats in the Hijaz bleating

In the evening beside the shelters.

They were treacherous to Khubayb their ward.

What a miserable covenant was their false word! (673)

Hassan also said:

God bless those who followed one another (to death) the day of al-
Raji’

And were honoured and rewarded.

Marthad the head and leader of the party and

Ibn al-Bukayr their imam and Khubayb.

233

648




649

And a son of Tariq; Ibn Dathinna was there too.
There his death as it was written befell him

And al-'Asim slain at Raji'

Attained the heights (of heaven) great gainer he.

He averted the disgrace of wounds in the back.

He met them sword in hand, the noble warrior (674).

THE STORY OF BI'R MAUNA IN SAFAR, A.H.4

The apostle stayed (in Medina) for the rest of Shawwal, Dhu'l-Qa'da,
Dhu'l-Hijja, and al-Muharram while the polytheists supervised the
pilgrimage. Then he sent the men of Bi'r Ma'una forth in Safar, four months
after Uhud.

My father Ishaq b. Yasar from al-Mughira b. Abdu'l-Rahman b.
alHarith b. Hisham told me, as did 'Abdullah b. Abu Bakr b. Muhammad b.
'Amr b. Hazm and other traditionists, as follows: Abu Bara' 'Amir b. Malik
b. Ja'far the 'Player with the Spears' came to the apostle in Medina (T and
offered him a present. The apostle refused it, saying that he could not
accept a present from a polytheist and telling him to become a Muslim if he
wished him to accept his present).2 The apostle explained Islam to him and
invited him to accept it. He would not do so yet he was not far from Islam.
He said: ‘O Muhammad (T. your affair to which you invite me is most
excellent). If you were to send some of your companions to the people of
Najd and they invited them to your affair I have good hopes that they would
give you a favorable answer.' The apostle said that he feared that the people
of Najd would kill them; to which Abu Bara' replied that he would go
surety for them, so let him send them and invite men to his religion. So the
apostle sent al-Mundhir b. 'Amr', brother of B. Sa'ida, 'The Quick to seek
Death', with forty of his companions from the best of the Muslims. Among
them were al-Harith b. al-Simma; Haram b. Milhan, brother of B. 'Adiy b.
Al-Najjar; 'Urwa b. Asma' b. Al-Salt al-Sulami; Nafi' b. Budayl b. Warqa'
al-Khuza'i; 'Amir' b. Fuhayra, freedman of Abu Bakr, of those who were
named of the best Muslims. (T. Humayd al Tawil from Anas b. Malik who
said that the apostle sent al-Mundhir b. 'Amr' with seventy riders.)1 They
went on until they halted at Bi't Ma'una which is between the land of B.
'Amir' and the harra of B. Sulaym, near to both districts but nearer to the
harra.

When they alighted at it they sent Haram b. Milhan with the apostle's
letter to the enemy of God 'Amir' b. Tufayl. When he came to him he
rushed at the man and killed him before he even looked at the letter. Then
he tried to call out the B. 'Amir' against them, but they refused to do what
he wanted, saying that they would not violate the promise of security which
Abu Bara' had given these men. Then he appealed to the tribes of B.
Sulaym of 'Usayya, Ri'l, and Dhakwan, and they agreed and came out
against them and surrounded them as they were with their camels. Seeing
them they drew their swords and fought to the last man. All were killed but
Ka'b b. Zayd, brother of B. Dinar b. Al-Najjar; him they left while breath
was in him. He was picked up from among the slain and lived until the
battle of the Trench when he was killed as a martyr.

'Amr' b. Umayya al-Damri and an Ansari of B. 'Amr' b. 'Auf were with
the camels out at pasture (675). They did not know of the death of their
companions until they saw vultures circling round the camp. They knew
that this must mean that something serious had happened, so they went to
investigate and there were the men lying in their blood and the horse-men
who had killed them standing near. 'Amr's opinion was that they should
rejoin the apostle and tell him the news, but the Ansari said that he could
not bring himself to leave the spot where al-Mundhir had been slain, nor
could he bear that people should say that he had done such a thing, so he
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fought the party until he was killed. They took 'Amr' prisoner, and when he
told them that he was of Mudar, 'Amir' b. al- Tufayllet him go after cutting
off his forelock. He freed him, so he alleged, because of an oath taken by
his mother.”

'Amr' got as far as al-Qarqara at the beginning of Qanat when two men
of B. 'Amir' turned up and stopped with him in the shade (676). Now there
was an agreement of friendship between the apostle and the two 'Amiris of
which 'Amr' knew nothing, and when after questioning he found that they
belonged to B. 'Amir' he let them alone for a time until they slept when he
fell upon them and killed them, thinking that he had taken vengeance on
them for the killing of the apostle's companions. But when he came to the
apostle and told him what he had done he said, 'You have killed two men
whose bloodwit I must pay. Then the apostle said, "This is (the result of)
Abu Bara's act. I did not like this expedition fearing what would happen.'
When Abu Bara' heard the news he was much upset at 'Amir's violation of
his guarantee in that the apostle's companions had been killed because of
what he had done and because he had promised them safety. Among those
who were killed was 'Amir b. Fuhayra.

Hisham b. 'Urwa from his father told me that 'Amir b. al- Tufayl used to
ask, '"Who was the man I saw lifted up between heaven and earth when he
had been killed until I saw the sky receive him?' They answered, It was
'Amir' b. Fuhayra.

One of B. Jabbar b. Saima b. Malik b. Ja'far told me-Jabbar was among
those who were present that day with' Amir and afterwards became a
Mus-lim-that Jabbar used to say, 'What led me to become a Muslim was
that T stabbed one of them between the shoulders that day and I saw the
point of the spear come out of his chest, and I heard him say, "I have won
by God!" I could not make out what he meant by the words seeing that I
had killed him until afterwards I asked others and was told that it was
martyr-dom, and then I said, "By God he has won."

Hassan b. Thabit, inciting B. Abu Bara' against 'Amir' b. al- Tufayl,
said:
Ye sons of Ummu'l-Banin, are you not dismayed,
You the loftiest of Najd's people,
At 'Amir's insolence to Abu Bara' in violating his safe conduct?
For a mistake is not the same as a deliberate act.
Say to Rabi'a who strives after great deeds,
What did you do after I left you?
Your father Abu Bara' is a man of war,
Your uncle Hakam b. Sa'd is celebrated (677).

[T. Ka'b b. Malik also said on the same subject:

The violation of Abu Bara's guarantee

Is blazed abroad far and wide.

It is like Musahhab and his father's sons

Hard by al-Radh in the region of Suwa'.

o sons of Ummu'l-Banin, did you not hear

The cry for help at eventide, the loud call for Aid?

You did indeed, but you knew that he was a doughty warrior.
The Banu Kilab and al-Qurata’

Are homes of broken faith.

O 'Amir', 'Amir' of ancient infamy,

You have won, but without intelligence or dignity. '
Did you not deal falsely with the prophet?
Yet of old have you behaved infamously.
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You are not like the guest of Abu Duwad

Nor al-Asadi the guest of Abu'l-'Ala’;

But your shame is a disease of long standing.

Take note that the disease of treachery is the most deadly.

When the words of Hassan and Ka'b reached Rabi'a b. 'Amir
(Abu'l-Bara')] he attacked 'Amir b. al- Tufayl and stabbed him with his
spear in his thigh; he failed to kill him I but he fell from his horse saying,
"This is .the work of Abu'l-Bara'; if I die my blood (I give) to my uncle2 and
he is not to be sued for it: if I live I will see to what has to be done myself.'

Anas b. 'Abbas al-Sulami, maternal uncle of Tu'ayma b. 'Adiy b. Naufal
who killed Nafi' b. Budayl b. Warqa' al-Khuza'i that day, said:

I left Ibn Warqa' dead on the ground

With the dust wind blowing o'er him.

I remembered Abu'l-Rayyan 3 when I saw him

And made sure that I was avenged.

Abu'l-Rayyan was Tu'ayma b. 'Adiy.

'Abdullah b. Rawaha mourning Nafi' b. Budayl b. Warga' said:
God have the mercy on Nafi' b. Budayl

That belongs to those who seek the reward of jihad!

Enduring, truthful, faithful,

When men talked too much he spoke to the point.4

Hassan b. Thabit, mourning the slain at Bi'r Ma'una and especially al-
Mundhir b. 'Amr, said:

Weep for the slain at Ma'una With ever flowing tears,
For the apostle's horsemen the day

They met their death by God's decree. ,

They met their end because a people

Were false to their covenant and treacherous.

Alas for Mundhir who died there

And hastened to his end steadfastly!

How many a noble welcoming man

Of 'Amr's best people was done to death! (678)

THE DEPORTATION OF THE B. AL-NADIR, A.H.4

According to what Yazid b. Ruman told me the apostle went to B. 652
al-Nadir to ask for their help in paying the bloodwit for the two men of B.
'Amir whom 'Amr b. Umayya al-Damri had killed after he had given them a
promise of security. There was a mutual alliance between B. al-Nadir and
B. 'Amir. When the apostle came to them about the bloodwit they said that
of course they would contribute in the way he wished; but they took
counsel with one another apart, saying, "You will never get such a chance

again. Who will go to the top of the house and drop a rock on him (T. so as
to kill him) and rid us of him?' The apostle was sitting by the wall of one of T.1448

their houses at the time. 'Amr b. Jihash b. Ka'b volunteered to do this and
went up to throw down a rock. ' As the apostle was with a number of his
companions among whom were Abu Bakr, 'Umar, and 'Ali, news came to
him from heaven about what these people intended, so he got up (T. and
said to his companions, 'Don't go away until I come to you') and he went
back to Medina. When his companions had waited long for the prophet, 653
they got up to search for him and met a man coming from Medina and
asked him about him. He said that he had seen him entering Medina, and
they went off, and when they found him he told them of the treachery
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which the Jews meditated against him. The apostle ordered them to prepare
for war and to march against them (679). Then he went off with the men
until he came upon them (680).

The Jews took refuge in their forts and the apostle ordered that the palm
trees should be cut down and burnt, and they called out to him,
'Muhammad, you have prohibited wanton destruction and blamed those
guilty of it. Why then are you cutting down and burning our palm-trees?'

Now there was a number of B. 'Auf b. al-Khazraj among whom were
'Abdullah b. Ubayy b. Salul and Wadi'a and Malik b. Abu Qauqal and
Suwayd and Da'is who had sent to B. Al-Nadir saying, 'Stand firm and
protect yourselves, for we will not betray you. If you are attacked we will
fight with you and if you are turned out, we will go with you." Accordingly
they waited for the help they had promised, but they did nothing and God
cast terror into their hearts. They asked the apostle to deport them and to
spare their lives on condition that they could retain all their property which
they could carry on camels, except their armor, and he agreed. So they
loaded their camels with what they could carry. Men were destroying their
houses down to the lintel of the door which they put upon the back of their
camels and went off with it. Some went to Khaybar and others went to
Syria. Among their chiefs who went to Khaybar were Sallam b. Abu'l-
Huqayq, Kinana b. al-Rabi b. Abu'l-Huqayq, and Huyayy b. Akh-tab.
When they got there the inhabitants became subject to them.

'Abdullah b. Abu Bakr told me that he was told that they carried off the
women and children and property with tambourines and pipes and singing
girls playing behind them. Among them was Umm 'Amr, wife of 'Urwa b.
al-Ward al-'Absi, whom they had bought from him, she being one of the
women of B. Ghifar. (They went) with such pomp and splendor as had
never been seen in any tribe in their days.

They left their property to the apostle and it became his personal
property which he could dispose of as he wished. He divided it among the
first emigrants to the exclusion of the Ansar, except that Sahl b. Hunayf and
Abu Dujana Simak b. Kharasha complained of poverty and so he gave them
some. Only two of B. al-Nadir became Muslims: Yamin b. 'Umayr Abu
Ka'b b. 'Amr' b. Jihash and Abu Sa'd b. Wahb who became Muslims in
order to retain their property.

One of Yamin's family told me that the apostle said to Yamin, 'Have
you seen the way your cousin has treated me and what he proposed to do?'
Thereupon Yamin gave a man money to kill 'Amr b. Jihash and he did kill
him, or so they allege.

Concerning B. Al-Nadir the Sura of Exile came down in which is
recorded how God wreaked His vengeance on them and gave His apostle
power over them and how He dealt with them. God said: 'He it is who
turned out those who disbelieved of the scripture people from their homes
to the first exile. You did not think that they would go out and they thought
that their forts would protect them from God. But God came upon them
from a direction they had not reckoned and He cast terror into their hearts
so that they destroyed their houses with their own hands and the hands of
the believers.”” That refers to their destroying their houses to extract the
lintels of the doors when they carried them away. 'So consider this, you
who have understanding. Had not God prescribed deportation against them,'
which was vengeance from God, 'He would have punished them in this
world,' i.e. with the sword, 'and in the next world there would be the
punishment of hell' as well. 'The palm-trees which you cut down or left
standing upon their roots.' Lina means other than the best kind of dates. 'Tt
was by God's permission,' i.e. they were cut down by God's order; it was
not destruction but was vengeance from God, 'and to humble evil-doers'
(681). "The spoil which God gave the apostle from them,' i.e. from B. al-
Nadir. "You did not urge on your cavalry or riding camels for the sake of it,
but God gives His apostle power over whom He wills and God is
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Almighty,' i.e. it was peculiar to him (682), 'The spoil which God gave the
apostle from the people of the towns belongs to God and His apostle." What
the Muslims gallop against with horses and camels and what is cap-tured by
force of arms belongs to God and the apostle. 'And is for the next of kin and
orphans and the poor and the wayfarer so that it should not circulate among
your rich men; and what the apostle gives you take and abstain from what
he forbids you.' He says this is another division between Muslims
concerning what is taken in war according to what God prescribed to him. '

Then God said, 'Have you seen those who are disaffected,' meaning
'Abdullah b. Ubayy and his companions and those who are like-minded
'who say to their brothers of the scripture people who disbelieve,' i.e. the B.
Al-Nadir, up to the words 'like those who a short time before them tasted
the misery of their acts and had a painful punishment,' i.e. the B. Qaynuqga'.
Then as far as the words 'Like Satan when he said to man Disbelieve, and
when man disbelieved he said, I am quit of you. I fear Allah the Lord of the
worlds and the punishment of both is that they will be in hell ever-lastingly.
That is the reward of the evildoers.'

Among the verses composed about B. Al-Nadir are the following from
1. Lugaym al- 'Absi. (Others say Qays b. Bahr b. Tarif was the author
(683).)

My people be a ransom for the immortal man

Who forced the Jews to settle in a distant place.2

They pass their siesta with live coais of tamarisk.

Instead of the young shooting palms they have the bare hills of 'Udi. }

If T am right about Muhammad

You will see his horses between al-Sala and Yaramram

Making for 'Amr b. Buhtha. They are the enemy.

(A friendly tribe is not the same as an evil one.)

On them are heroes, firebrands in war,

Brandishing spears directed at their enemies.

Every fine sharp Indian blade

Inherited from the days of 'Ad and Jurhum.

Who will give Quraysh a message from me,

For is there one honoured in glory after them?

That your brother Muhammad, and know it well,

Is of that generous stock between al-Hajun ' and Zamzam.

Obey him in truth and your fame will grow

And you will attain the greatest heights. He is

A prophet who has received God's mercy.

Ask him no hidden uncertain matter.

You had an example at Badr, O Quraysh,

And at the crowded cistern

The morning he attacked you with the Khazrajis,

Obeying the Great and Honoured One,

Helped by the Holy Spirit,2 smiting his foes,

A true apostle from the Compassionate on high;

An apostle from the Compassionate reciting His book.

When the truth shone forth he did not hesitate.

I see his power mounting on every hand

In accord with God's decree (684).

Mentioning the deportation of B. al-Nadir and the killing of Ka'b b.
al-Ashraf, 'Ali said (685):

I know and he who judges fairly knows.

I'm sure and swerve not

From the determined word, the signs which came
From God the Kind, the Most Kind,

Documents studied among the believers
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In which he chose Ahmad the chosen one.

So Ahmad became honoured among us,

Honoured in rank and station.

O you who foolishly threaten him

Who came not in wickedness and was not overbearing,
Do you not fear the basest punishment,

(He who has nothing to fear from God is not like him who lives in
dread.)’

And that you may be thrown beneath his swords

As Ka'b Al-Ashraf was

The day that God saw his insolence

When he turned aside like a refractory camel?

And He sent down Gabriel with a gracious revelation
To His servant about his killing.

So the apostle secretly sent a messenger to him

With a sharp cutting sword.

Eyes wept copiously for Ka'b

When they learned that he was dead.

They said to Ahmad, 'Leave us awhile,

For we are not yet recovered from weeping.'

So he left them; then he said, 'Begone

In submission and humiliation.'

He sent al-Nadir to a distant exile,

They having enjoyed a prosperous home

To Adhri'at ' riding pillion

On every ulcerous worn-out camel they had.

Sammak the Jew answered him:

If you boast, for it is a boast for you

That you killed Ka'b b. Al-Ashraf

The day that you compassed his death,

A man who had shown neither treachery nor bad faith,
Haply time and the change of fortune

Will take revenge from 'the just and righteous one' 2
For killing Al-Nadir and their confederates

And for cutting down the palms, their dates ungathered.
Unless I die we will come at you with lances

And every sharp sword that we have

In the hand of a brave man who protects himself.
When he meets his adversary he kills him.

With the army is Sakhr3 and his fellows.

When he attacks he is no weakling

Like a lion in Tarj4 protecting his covert,

Lord of the thicket, crushing his prey, enormous.

Ka'b b. Malik said on the same subject:

The rabbis were disgraced through their treachery,
Thus time's wheel turns round.

They had denied the mighty Lord

Whose command is great.

They had been given knowledge and understanding
And a warner from God came to them,

A truthful warner who brought a book

With plain and luminous verses.

They said, "You've brought no true thing

And you are more worthy of God's disapprovals than we.'
He said, 'Nay, but I've brought the truth,
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The wise and intelligent believe me;

He who follows it will be rightly guided

And the disbeliever therein will be recompensed.'
And when they imbibed treachery and unbelief

And aversion turned them from the truth,

God showed the prophet a sound view,

For God's decision is not false.

He strengthened him and gave him power over them
And was his Helper, an excellent Helper!

Ka'b was left prostrate there.

After his fail Nadir was brought low.

Sword in hand we cut him down

By Muhammad's order when he sent secretly by night
Ka'b's brother, to go to Ka'b.

He beguiled him and brought him down with guile.
Mahmud was trustworthy, bold.

Those Banu'l-Nadir were in evil case,

They were destroyed for their crimes

The day the apostle came to them with an army
Walking softly as he looked at them.

Ghassan the protectors were his helpers

Against the enemies as he helped them.

He said '(I offer) Peace, woe to you,' but they refused
And lies and deceit were their allies.

They tasted the results of their deeds in misery,
Every three of them shared one camel.

They were driven out and made for Qaynuqa’,

Their palms and houses were abandoned.

Sammak the Jew answered him:

I was sleepless while deep care was my guest
On a night that made all others seem short.

I saw that all the rabbis rejected him,

All of them men of knowledge and experience
Who used to study every science

Of which the Law and Psalms do speak.

You killed Ka'b the chief of the rabbis,1

He whose ward was always safe.

He came down to Mahmud his brother,2

But Mahmud was harboring a wicked design.

He left him in his blood looking as though
Saffron was flowing o'er his clothes.

By your father and mine,

When he fell al-Nadir fell also.

If we stay safe we shall leave in revenge for Ka'b
Men of yours with vultures circling round them
As though they were beasts sacrificed on a feast day
With none to say them nay,

With swords that bones cannot resist, Of finest steel and sharpened edge
Like those you met from brave Sakhr

At Uhud when you had no helper.

'Abbas b. Mirdas, brother of B. Sulaym, praising the men of B. al-
Nadir, said:

Had the people of the settlement not been dispersed

You would have seen laughter and gaiety within it.
By my life, shall I show you women in howdahs
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Which have gone to Shatat and Tay'ab?

Large-eyed like the gazelles of Tabala;

Maidens that would bewitch one calmed by much truck with women? '
When one seeking hospitality came they would say at once
With faces like gold, 'Doubly welcome!

The good that you seek will not be withheld.

You need fear no wrong while with us.'

Don't think me a client of Salam b. Makhzum

Nor of Huyayy b. Akhtab. >

Khawwat b. Jubayr, brother of B. 'Amr b. 'Auf, answered him:
You weep bitterly over the Jewish dead and yet you can see
Those nearer and dearer to you if you want to weep.

Why do you not weep o'er the dead in Urayniq's valley
And not lament loudly with sad face (over others)?

When peace reigned with a friend you rejected it.

In religion an obstruction, in war a poltroon.

You aimed at power for your people, seeking

Someone similar that you might get glory and victory.
When you wanted to give praise you went

To one whom to praise is falsehood and shame.

You got what you deserved and you did not find

One among them to say Welcome to you.

Why did you not praise people whose kings

Built up their standing from ancient fame,

A tribe who became kings and were honoured?

None seeking food was ever found hungry among them.
Such are more worthy of praise than Jews;

In them you see proud glory firmly established.

'Abbas b. Mirdas al-Sulami answered him:

You satirized the purest stock of the two priests, '
Yet you always enjoyed favors at their hands.
"Twere more fitting that you should weep for them,
Your people too if they paid their debt of gratitude.
Gratitude is the best fruit of kindness,

And the most fitting act of one who would do right.
You are as one who cuts off his head

To gain the power that it contains.”

Weep for B. Harlin and remember their deeds,
How they killed beasts for the hungry when you were famished.’
O Khawwat, shed tear after tear for them,

Abandon your injurious attack-upon them,

Had you met them in their homes

You would not have said what you say.

They were the first to perform noble deeds in war,
Welcoming the needy guest with kind words.*

Ka'b b. Malik (685) answered him:

On my life the mill of war

After it had sent Lu'ayy flying east and west’

Ground the remains of the family of the two priests, and their glory
Which once was great became feeble.

Salam and I. Sa'ya died a violent death

And I. Akhtab was led to a humiliating fate.

He made such noise in seeking glory (‘twas really humiliation he
sought),

What he gained from his fuss was frustration,’

241



Like him who leaves the plain and the height distresses him,
And that men find more difficult and arduous.

Sha's and 'Azzal suffered war's fiery triai,

They were not absent as others were.

'Aufb. Saima and 1. 'Auf, both of them,

And Ka'b chief of the people died a disappointed man.
Away with B. Nadir and their like

Whether the result be victory or God (686).

THE RAID OF DHATU'L-RIQA'

After the attack on B. Al-Nadir the apostle stayed in Medina during
Rabi'u'l-Akhir and part of Jumada. Then he raided Najd making for B.
Mubharib and B. Tha'laba of Ghatafan (687), until he stopped at Nakhl. This 662
was the raid of Dhatu'l-Riqa'. There a large force of Ghatafan was
encountered. The two forces approached one another, but no fighting
occurred, for each feared the other. The apostle led the prayer of fear; then
he went off with the men.

(T. Muhammad b. Ja'far b. al-Zubayr and Muhammad b.
'Abdu'l-Rahman from 'Urwa b. al-Zubayr from Abu Hurayra: We went with T.1454

the apostle to Najd until at Dhatu'l-Riga' he met a number of Ghatafan.
There was no fighting because the men were afraid of them. The prayer of
fear came down’ and he divided his companions into two sections, one
facing the enemy and the other behind the apostle. The apostle cried 'Allah
Akbar,' and so did they all. Then he bowed with those behind him, and he
and they prostrated themselves. When they stood erect they walked
backwards to the ranks of their companions and the others returned and
prayed one bow. Then they stood erect and the apostle prayed one bow with
them and they sat. Those who were facing the enemy came back and prayed
the second bow and all sat and the apostle united them with the salam, and
gave them the Muslim greeting.)3 (688)

"Amr b. 'Ubayd from al-Hasan from Jabir b. 'Abdullah told me that a
man of B. Muharib called Ghaurath said to his people of Ghatafan and 663

Muharib, 'Shall I kill Muhammad for you?' They encouraged him to do so
and asked him how he proposed to carry out his design. He said that , he
would take him by surprise; so he went to the apostle as he was sitting with
his sword in his lap, and asked to be allowed to look at it (689)' The apostle
gave it to him and he drew it and began to brandish it intending to strike
him, but God frustrated® him. He said, 'Aren't you afraid of me,
Muhammad?' 'No, why should I be?' 'Aren't you afraid of me when I have a
sword in my hand?' '"No, God will protect me from you.' Then he returned
the apostle's sword to him. God sent down, ‘O you who believe, remember
God's favor to you when a people purposed to lay hands on you and he
turnegl their hands away from you. Fear God and on God let the believers
rely.

Yazid b. Ruman told me that this came down in reference to 'Amr b.
Jihash, brother of B. Al-Nadir, and his intention. But God knows the truth
of the matter.

Wahb b. Kaysan from Jabir b. 'Abdullah said: I went out with the
apostle to the raid of Dhatu'l-Riga' of Nakhl on an old feeble camel of mine.
On the way back the company kept going on while I dropped farther behind
until the apostle overtook me and asked me what the trouble was. I told him
that my camel was keeping me back, and he told me to make it kneel. I did
so and the apostle made his camel kneel and then said, 'Give me this stick
you ate holding' or 'Cut me a stick from a tree.' He took it and prodded the
beast with it a few times. Then he told me to mount and off we went. By
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Him who sent him with the truth my (old) camel kept up with the rapid
pace of his she-camel.

As we were talking, the apostle asked me if I would sell him my camel.
I said that I would give him it, but he insisted on buying it, so I asked him
to make me an offer. He said he would give me a dirham. I refused and said
that would be cheating me. Then he offered two dirthams and I still refused
and the apostle went on raising his offer until it amounted to an ounce (of
gold). When I asked him if he was really satisfied he said that he was and I
said the camel was his. Then he asked me if I were married; then was she a
virgin or a woman previously married? I told him she had been married
before and he said, 'No girl so that you could sport together!'

I told him that my father had been killed at Uhud leaving seven
daughters and I had married a motherly woman who could look after them
efficiently. He said, "You have done well, if God will. Had we come to Sirar
! we would order camels to be slaughtered and stay there for the day and
she would hear about us and shake the dust off her cushions.' I said, 'But by
God we have no cushions!' He said, 'But you will have. When you return
behave wisely.! When we got to Sirar the apostle ordered the camels to be
slaughtered and we stayed there for the day. At night the apostle went home
and so did we. I told the woman the news and what the apostle had said to
me. She said 'Look alive and do what he tells you.' In the morning I led
away the camel and made it kneel at the apostle's door. Then I sat inside the
mosque hard by. He came out and saw it and asked what it was, and they
told him it was the camel which I had brought. He asked where I was and I
was summoned to him. He said, ‘O son of my brother, take away your
camel for it is yours,' and he called Bilal and told him to give me an ounce
of gold. He did so and added a little more. By God it continued to thrive
with me and its effect on our household could be seen until it was lost
recently in the misfortune which befell us, meaning the day of al-Harra.”

[My uncle]’ Sadaqa b. Yasar from 'Aqil b. Jabir from Jabir b. 'Abdullah
al-Ansari said: We went with the apostle on the raid of Dhatu'l-Riqa' of
Nakhl and a man killed the wife of one of the polytheists. When the apostle
was on his way back her husband, who had been away, returned and heard
the news of her death. He swore that he would not rest until he had taken
vengeance on Muhammad's companions. He went off following the track of
the apostle, who when he halted asked that someone should keep watch
during the night. A Muhajir and an Ansari volunteered and he told them to
stay in the mouth of the pass, the apostle and his companions having halted
lower down the pass (690)'

When the two had gone to take up their positions the Ansari asked the
Muhajiri whether he would prefer to watch for the first or the second part of
the night. He said that he would like to be relieved of the first part and lay
down and went to sleep, while the Ansari stood up to pray. The man who
had been following them perceiving the figure of the man on guard and
recognizing him for what he was, shot him with an arrow. The guard pulled
it out and laid it down and remained standing. He shot him a second and a
third time, and each time he pulled out the arrow and laid it down. Then he
bowed and prostrated himself. Only then did he wake his companion,
saying, 'Sit down, for I have been wounded.' But he leapt up, and when the
man saw the two of them he knew that they were aware of him and fled.
When the Muhajiri saw the Angari flowing with blood he said 'Good
gracious, why didn't you wake me the first time you were hit?' He replied, 'I
was reading a sura and I did not want to stop until I had finished it. When
the shooting continued I bowed in prayer and woke you. By God, unless I
were to lose a post which the apostle had ordered me to hold he could have
killed me before I would break off my reading until I had finished the sura
(691).

When the apostle came to Medina after this raid he stayed there for the
rest of Jumada'l-ula, Jumada'l-akhira, and Rajab.
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THE LAST EXPEDITION TO BADR, A.H.4

In Sha'ban he went forth to Badr to keep his appointment with Abu
Sufyan and stopped there (692).

He stayed there for eight nights waiting for Abu Sufyan. Abu Sufyan
with the men of Mecca went as far as Majanna in the area of (T. Murr) al-
Zahran. Some people say he reached (T. passed through) 'Usfan; then he
decided to go back. He told the Quraysh that the only suitable year was a
fertile year when they could pasture the animais on the herbage and drink
their milk, whereas this was a dry year. He was going to return and they
must return with him. And so they did. The Meccans called them 'the
porridge army', saying that they merely went out to drink porridge. !

While the apostle was staying at Badr waiting for Abu Sufyan to keep
his appointment Makhshiy b. 'Amr al-Damri, who had made an agreement-
with him concerning B. Damra in the raid of Waddan, came to him and
asked him if he had come to meet Quraysh by this water. He said, 'Yes, O
brother of B. Damra; nevertheless, if you wish we will cancel the
arrange-ment between us and then fight you until God decide between us.'
He answered, 'No, by God, Muhammad, we do not want anything of the
kind.'

As he remained waiting for Abu Sufyan, Ma'bad b. Abu Ma'bad al
Khuza’i passed by. He had seen where the apostle was as his she-camel
passed swiftly by and he said:

She fled from the two companies of Muhammad
And a date stone from, Yathrib like a raisin stone
Hastening in the ancient religion of her fathers.
She made the water of Qudayd ' my meeting-place
And the water of Dajnan 2 will be hers tomorrow.

'Abdullah b. Rawaha said concerning this: (693):

We arranged to meet Abu Sufyan at Badr,

667

But we did not find him true to his promise.
I swear if you had kept your word and met us

You would have returned disgraced without your nearest kin.
We had left there the limbs of "Utba and his son

And 'Amr Abu Jahl we left lying there.

You disobeyed God's apostle-disgusting your religion

And your evil state that's all astray.

If you reproach me I say

My wealth and people be the apostle's ransom!

We obey him treating none among us as his equal.

He is our guiding light in the darkness of the night.

Hassan b. Thabit said concerning that:

You can say good-bye to Syria's running streams,

For in between are swords like mouths of pregnant camels that feed
on arak trees '

In the hands of men who migrated to their Lord,

In the hands of His true helpers and the angels too.

If they go to the lowland of the sandy valley

Say to them: 'This is not the road.”

We stayed by the shallow well eight nights

With a large well-equipped force with many camels,”

With every dark bay its middle half its size
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Slender, long, of lofty withers.

You could see the swift camel's feet
Uprooting the annual herbs.

If on our journeyings we meet Furat b. Hayyan
He will become death's hostage.

If we meet Qays b. Imru'u'l-Qays hereafter
His black face will become blacker still!

Take Abu Sufyan a message from me

For you are the best of a bad lot.

Abu Sufyan b. al-Harith b. 'Abdu'l-Muttalib answered him:

O Hassan, son of a moldy date-eating woman,

I swear that we so traversed wide deserts

That young gazelles could not escape between us

Had they fled from us swiftly one after the other. !

When we left our halting-place you would have thought it
Dunged by the crowds at a fair.

You stayed by the shallow well wanting us

And you left us in the palm-groves hard by.

Our horses and camels walked on the crops

And what they trod on they drove into the soft sand.

We stopped three days between Sal and Fari”

With splendid steeds and swift camels.

You would have thought fighting people beside their tents
Was as easy as buying lead for money.

Don't describe your fine horses, but speak of them

As one who holds them firmly back.

You rejoice in them, but that is the right of others,

The horsemen of the sons of Fihr b. Malik.

You have no part in the migration though you mention it
And do not observe the prohibitions of its religion (694).

THE RAID ON DUMATU'L-JANDAL, A.H.5

The apostle returned to Medina and stayed there some months until
Dhu'l-Hijja had passed. This was the fourth year of his sojourn in Medina
and the polytheists were in charge of the pilgrimage. Then he raided
Dumatu'l- Jandal (695).

Then he returned, not having reached the place, without fighting, and
stayed in Medina for the rest of the year.

THE BATTLE OF THE DITCH,' A.H.5

This took place in Shawwal, A.H. 5. Yazid b. Ruman, client of the
family of al-Zubayr b. 'Urwa b. al-Zubayr, and one whom I have no reason
to suspect from 'Abdullah b. Ka'b b. Malik, and Muhammad b. Ka'b
ai-Qurazi, and al-Zuhri, and 'Asim b. 'Umar b. Qatada, and 'Abdullah b.
Abu Bakr and other traditionists of ours told me the following narrative,
each contributing a part of it:

A number of Jews who had formed a party against the apostle, among
whom were Sailam b. Abu'l-Huqayq al-Nadri, and Huyayy b. Akhtab
al-Nadri and Kinana b. Abu'l-Huqayq al-Nadri, and Haudha b. Qays
al-Wa'ili, and Abu 'Ammar al-Wa'ili with a number of B. al-Nadir and B.
Wa'il went to Quraysh at Mecca and invited them to join them in an attack
on the apostle so that they might get rid of him altogether. Quraysh said,
"You, O Jews, are the first scripture people and know the nature of our
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dispute with Muhammad. Is our religion the best or is his?" They replied
that certainly their religion was better than his and they had a better claim
to be in the right. (It was about them that God sent down, 'Have you not
considered those to whom a part of the scripture was given who believe in
idols and false deities and say to those who disbelieve, These are more
rightly guided than those who believe? These are they whom God hath
cursed and he whom God has cursed you will find for him no helper' as far
as His words, 'Or are they jealous of men because of what God from His
bounty has brought to them?' i.e. prophecy. 'We gave the family of
Abraham the scripture and wisdom and we gave them a great kingdom and
some of them believed in it and some of them turned from it, and hell is
sufficient for (their) burning.')2

These words rejoiced Quraysh and they responded gladly to their
invita-tion to fight the apostle, and they assembled and made their
preparations. Then that company of Jews went off to Ghatafan of Qays
'Aylan and invited them to fight the apostle and told them that they would
act with them and that Quraysh had followed their lead in the matter; so
they too joined in with them (T. and agreed to what they suggested).

Quraysh marched under the leadership of Abu Sufyan b. Harb; and
Ghatafan led by Uyayna b. Hisn b. Hudhayfa b. Badr with B. Fazara; and
al-Harith b. 'Auf b. Abu Haritha al-Murri with B. Murra; and Mis'ar b.
Rukhayla b. Nuwayra b. Tarif b. Suhma b. 'Abdullah b. Hilal b. Khalawa b.
Ashja' b. Rayth b. Ghatafan with those of his people from Ashja' who
followed him.

When the apostle heard of their intention he drew a trench about
Medina and worked at it himself encouraging the Muslims with the hope of
reward in heaven. The Muslims worked very hard with him, but the
disaffected held back from them and began to hide their real object by
working slackly and by stealing away to their families without the apostle's
permission or knowledge. A Muslim who had to attend to an urgent matter
would ask the apostle's permission to go and would get it, and when he had
carried out his business he would return to the work he had left because of
his desire to do what was right and his respect for the same. So God sent
down concerning those believers: 'They only are the believers who believe
in God and His apostle and when they are with him on a common work do
not go away without asking his permission. Those who ask thy permission
are they who believe in God and His apostle. And if they ask thy
permission in some business of theirs, give leave to whom thou wilt of
them and ask God's pardon for them. God is forgiving, merciful." This
passage came down concerning those Muslims who desired the good and
respected it, and obeyed God and His apostle.

Then God said of the disaffected who were stealing away from the work
and leaving it without the prophet's permission, 'Do not treat the call of the
apostle among you as if it were one of you calling upon another. God
knows those of you who steal away to hide themselves. Let those who
conspire to disobey his order beware lest trouble or a painful punishment
befall them' (696). "Verily to God belong heaven and earth. He knows what
you are doing' the man who speaks the truth and the man who lies. 'And
(He knows) the day they will be returned to Him when He will tell them
what they did, for God knows all things.'

The Muslims worked at the trench until they had finished it, and they
made a jingle about one of the Muslims called Ju'ayl whom the apostle had
named 'Amr, saying,

He changed his name from Ju'ayl to 'Amr
And was a help to the poor man that day.

When they came to the word 'Amr the apostle said "Amr', and when
they came to 'help' he said 'help'. 2
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I have heard some stories about the digging of the trench in which there
is an example of God's justifying His apostle and confirming his prophetic
office, things which the Muslims saw with their eyes. Among these stories
is one that I have heard that Jabir b. 'Abdullah used to relate: When they
were working on the trench a large rock caused great difficulty, and they
complained to the apostle. He called for some water and spat in it; then he
prayed as God willed him to pray; then he sprinkled the water on the rock.
Those who were present said, 'By Him who sent him a prophet with the
truth it was pulverized as though it were soft sand so that it could not resist
axe or shovel.'

Sa'id b. Mina told me that he was told that a daughter of Bashir b. Sa'd,
sister of al-Nu'man b. Bashir, said: "My mother 'Amra d. Rawaha called me
and gave me a handful of dates which she put in my garment and told me to
take them to my father and my uncle 'Abdullah b. Rawaha for their food.
As I went off looking for them I passed the apostle who called me and
asked me what I had. When I told him that I was taking the dates to my
father and my uncle he told me to give them to him. So I poured them into
his hands but they did not fill them. Then he called for a gar-ment which
was laid out for him and threw the dates upon it so that they were scattered
on it. Then he told the men to summon the diggers to lunch, and when they
came they began to eat and the dates went on increasing until they turned
away from them and they were still failing from the ends of the garment.'

On the same authority I was told: We worked with the apostle at the
trench. Now I had a little ewe not fully fattened and I thought it would be a
good thing to dress it for the apostle, so I told my wife to grind some barley
and make some bread for us, and I killed the sheep and we roasted it for the
apostle. When night came and the apostle was about to leave the trench-for
we used to work at it all day and go home in the evening-I told him that we
had prepared bread and mutton for him and that I should like him to come
with me to my house. It was only he that I wanted; but when I said this he
ordered a crier to shout an invitation for all to come to my house. I said, 'To
God we belong and to Him we return!" However, he and the other men
came and when he had sat down we produced the food and he blessed it and
invoked the name of God over it. Then he ate as did all the others. As soon
as one lot had finished another lot came until the diggers turned from it.

I was told that Salman al-Farisi said: I was working with a pick in the
trench where a rock gave me much trouble. The apostle who was near at
hand saw me hacking and saw how difficult the place was. He dropped
down into the trench and took the pick from my hand and gave such a blow
that lightning showed beneath the pick. This happened a second and a third
time. I said: ‘O you, dearer than father or mother, what is the meaning of
this light beneath your pick as you strike?' He said: 'Did you really see that,
Salman? The first means that God has opened up to me the Yaman; the
second Syria and the west; and the third the east.’ One whom I do not
suspect told me that Abu Hurayra used to say when these countries were
conquered in the time of "Umar and 'Uthman and after, 'Conquer where you
will, by God, you have not conquered and to the resurrection day you will
not conquer a city whose keys God had not given beforehand to
Muhammad.'

When the apostle had finished the trench, Quraysh came and encamped
where the torrent-beds of Ruma meet between al-Juruf and Zughaba with
ten thousand of their black mercenaries and their followers from B. Kinana
and the people of Tihama. Ghatafan too came with their followers from
Najd and halted at Dhanab Nagqma towards the direction of Uhud. The
apostle and the Muslims came out with three thousand men having Sal' at
their backs. He pitched his camp there with the trench between him and his
foes (697), and gave orders that the women and children were to be taken
up into the forts.
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The enemy of God Huyayy b. Akhtab al-Nadri went out to Ka'b b. Asad
al-Qurazi who had made a treaty with the apostle. When Ka'b heard of
Huyayy's coming he shut the door of his fort in his face, and when he asked
permission to enter he refused to see him, saying that he was a man of ill
omen and that he himself was in treaty with Muhammad and did not intend
to go back on his word because he had always found him loyal and faithful.
Then Huyayy accused him of shutting him out because he was unwilling to
let him eat his corn. This so enraged him that he opened his door. He said,
'Good heavens, Ka'b, I have brought you immortal fame and a great army. I
have come with Quraysh with their leaders and chiefs which I have halted
where the torrent-beds of Ruma meet;. and Ghatafan with their leaders and
chiefs which I have halted in Dhanab Nagma towards Uhud. They have
made a firm agreement and promised me that they will not depart until we
have made an end of Muhammad and his men.' Ka'b said: 'By God, you
have brought me immortal shame and an empty cloud which has shed its
water while it thunders and lightens with nothing in it. Woe to you Huyayy
leave me (T. and Muhammad) as I am, for I have always found him loyal
and faithful.' Huyayy kept on wheedling Ka'b until at last he gave way in
giving him a solemn promise that if Quraysh and Ghatafan returned without
having killed Muhammad he would enter his fort with him and await his
fate. Thus Ka’b broke his promise and cut loose from the bond that was
between him and the apostle.

When the apostle and the Muslims heard of this the apostle sent Sa'd b.
Mu'adh b. al-Nu'man who was chief of Aus at the time, and Sa'd b. 'Ubada
b. Dulaym, one of B. Sa'ida b. Ka'b b. Khazraj, chief of al-Khazraj at the
time, together with 'Abdullah b. Rawaha brother of B. al-Harith b. al-
Khazraj, and Khawwat b. Jubayr brother of B. 'Amr b. 'Auf, and told them
to go and see whether the report was true or not. 'If it is true give me an
enigmatic message 1 which I can understand, and do not undermine the
people's confidence; and if they are loyal to their agreement speak out
openly before the people.! They went forth and found the situation even
more deplorable than they had heard; they spoke disparagingly of the
apostle, saying, 'Who is the apostle of God ? We have no agreement or
undertaking with Muhammad.' Sa'd b. Mu'adh reviled them and they
reviled him. He was a man of hasty temper and Sa'd b. 'Ubada said to him,
'Stop insulting them, for the dispute between us is too serious for
recrimination.' Then the two Sa'ds returned to the apostle and after saluting
him said: "Adal and al-Qara' i.e. (It is) like the treachery of 'Adal and al-
Qara towards the men of al-Raji', Khubayb and his friends.” The apostle
said 'Allah Akbar! Be of good cheer, you Muslims.'

The situation became serious and fear was everywhere. The enemy
came at them from above and below until the believers imagined vain
things, I and disaffection was rife among the disaffected to the point that
Mu'attib b. Qusyahr brother of B. 'Amr b. 'Auf said, Muhammad used to
promise us that we should eat the treasures of Chosroes and Caesar and
today not one of us can feel safe in going to the privy!' (698). It reached
such a point that Aus b. Qayzi, one of B. Haritha b. al-Harith, said to the
apostle, 'Our houses are exposed to the enemy' -this he said before a large
gathering of his people-'so let us go out and return to our home, for it is
outside Medina.' The apostle and the polytheists remained twenty days and
more, nearly a month, without fighting except for some shooting with
arrows, and the siege.

When conditions pressed hard upon the people the apostle-according to
what 'Asim b. 'Umar b. Qatada and one whom I do not suspect told me
from Muhammad b. Muslim b. 'Ubaydullah b. Shihab al-Zuhri-sent to
'Uyayna b. Hisn b. Hudhayfa b. Badr and to al-Harith b. 'Auf b. Abu
Haritha al-Murri who were leaders of Ghatafan and offered them a third of
the dates of Medina on condition that they would go back with their
followers and leave him and his men, so peace was made between them so
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far as the writing of a document. It was not signed and was not a definite
peace, merely peace negotiations (T. and they did so). When the apostle
wanted to act he sent to the two Sa'ds and told them of it and asked their
advice. They said: 'Is it a thing you want us to do, or something God has
ordered you to do which we must carry out? or is it something you are
doing for us?' He said: 'It is something I am doing for your sake. By God, I
would not do it were it not that I have seen the Arabs have shot at you from
one bow, and gathered against you from every side and I want to break their
offensive against you! Sa'd b. Mu'adh said: '"We and these people were
polytheists and idolaters, not serving God nor knowing him, and they never
hoped to eat a single date (T. of ours) except as guests or by purchase.
Now, after God has honoured and guided us to Islam and made us famous
by you, are we to give them our property ? We certainly will not. We will
give them nothing but the sword until God decide between us.' The apostle
said: "You shall have it so.' Sa'd took the paper and erased what was written,
saying, 'Let them do their worst against us!'

The siege continued without any actual fighting, but some horsemen of
Quraysh, among whom were 'Amr b. 'Abdu Wudd b. Abu Qays (699)
brother of B. 'Amir b. Lu'ayy; 'lkrima b. Abu Jahl; Hubayra b. Abu Wahb,
both of Makhzum; Dirar b. al-Khattab the poet, b. Mirdas brother of B.
Muharib b. Fihr donned their armor and went forth on horseback to the
stations of B. Kinana, saying, 'Prepare for fighting and then you will know
who are true knights today.' They galloped forward until they stopped at the
trench. When they saw it they exclaimed, 'This is a device which the Arabs
have never employed!' (700).

Then they made for a narrow part of the trench and beat their horses

so that they dashed through it and carried them into the swampy ground
between the trench and Sal'. 'Ali with some Muslims came out to hold the
gap through which they had forced a passage against (the rest of) them and
the horsemen galloped to meet them. Now 'Amr b. 'Abdu Wudd had fought
at Badr until he was disabled by wounds, and so he had not been at Uhud.
At the battle of the Trench he came out wearing a distinguishing mark to
show his rank, and when he and his contingent stopped he challenged
anyone to fight him. 'Ali accepted the challenge and said to him:

"Amr, you swore by God that if any man of Quraysh offered you two
alternatives you would accept one of them?' 'Yes, I did,' he said. 'Ali
replied, 'Then I invite you to God and His apostle and to Islam.' He said that
he had no use for them. 'Ali went on, 'Then I call on you to dismount.' He
replied, ‘O son of my brother, I do not want to kill you.' 'Ali said, 'But I
want to kill you.' This so enraged 'Amr that he got off his horse and
hamstrung it and (T. or) beat its face; then he advanced on 'Ali, and they
fought, the one circling round the other. 'Ali killed him and their cavalry
fled, bursting headlong in flight across the trench.

['When Amr issued his challenge to single combat 'Ali got up clad in
armor and asked the prophet's permission to fight him, but he told him to sit
down, for it was 'Amr. Then 'Amr repeated his challenge taunting them and
saying, "Where is your garden of which you say that those you lose in battle
will enter it? Can't you send a man to fight me?' Again 'Ali asked the
prophet's permission to go out, and again he told him to sit down. Then
'Amr called out the third time:

I've become hoarse from shouting.

Isn't there one among the lot of you who'll answer my challenge?
I've stood here like a fighting champion

While the so-called brave are cowards.

I've always hastened to the front

Before the fight begins.

Bravery and generosity are in truth

The best qualities of a warrior.
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'Ali asked the prophet's permission to fight him, even if he were 'Amr,
and he let him go. He marched towards him saying the while:

Don't be in a hurry. No weakling

Has come to answer your challenge.

A man of resolution and foresight.

Truth is the refuge of the successful.

I hope to make the keening women

Busy over your corpse

Through the blow of a spear

Whose memory will last while fights are talked of.

'Amr asked him who he was, and when he told him he said: 'Let it be
one of your uncles who is older than you, my nephew, for I don't want to
shed your blood.' 'Ali answered, 'But I do want to shed your blood." He
became angry, and drew his sword which flashed like fire, and advanced in
his anger (it is said that he was mounted). 'Ali said to him, 'How can I fight
you when you are on a horse? Dismount and be on a level with me.' So he
got off his horse and came at him and 'Ali advanced with his shield. 'Amr
Aimed a blow which cut deeply into the shield so that the sword stuck in it
and struck his head. But 'Ali gave him a blow on the vein at the base of the
neck and he fell to the ground. The dust rose and the apostle heard the cry,
'Allah Akbar' and knew that 'Ali had killed him. [Suhayli continues:] As he
came towards the apostle smiling with joy 'U mar asked him if he had
stripped him of his armor, for it was the best that could be found among the
Arabs. He answered: '"When I had struck him down he turned his private
parts towards me and I felt ashamed to despoil him and moreover he had
said that he did not want to shed my blood because my father was a friend
of his."]1

[T. With 'Amr were killed two men, Munabbih b. 'Uthman b. 'Ubayd b.
al-Sabbaq b. 'Abdu'l-Dar who was hit by an arrow and died in Mecca; and
of B. Makhzum Naufal b. 'Abdullah b. al-Mughira who had stormed the
trench and rolled down into it and they stoned him. He cared out, ‘O Arabs,
Death is better than this,' so 'Ali went down to him and dispatched him. The
Muslims got possession of his body and asked the apostle to let them sell
his effects. He told them that he had no use for his effects or the price they
would fetch, and it was their affair; and he left them a free hand. ]

'Ali said concerning that:

In his folly he fought for the stone pillars2

While I fought for the Lord of Muhammad rightly.

I rejoiced when I left him prone

Like a stump between sand and rocks.

I forbore to take his garments3

Though had I been the vanquished he would have taken mine.
Do not imagine, you confederates, that God

Will desert His religion and His prophet (701).

'Ikrima b. Abu Jahl threw away his spear as he was running from 'Amr,
so Hassan b. Thabit said:

As he fled he threw his spear to us.

Perhaps, 'Tkrima, you have not done such a thing before?
As you turned your back you ran like an ostrich

Turning neither to right nor left.

You didn't turn your back as a human being would,
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The back of your neck was like a young hyena’s (702).

Abu Layla 'Abdullah b. Sahl b. 'Abdu'l-Rahman b. Sahl al-Ansari,
brother of B. Haritha, told me that 'A'isha was in the fort of B. Haritha on
that day. It was one of the strongest forts of Medina. The mother of Sa'd b.
Mu'adh was with her. 'A'isha said: 'This was before the veil had been
imposed upon us. Sa'd went by wearing a coat of mail so short that the
whole of his forearm was exposed. He hurried along carrying a lance,
saying the while,

Wait a little! Let Hamal ' see the fight.
What matters death when the time is right?

His mother said, "Hurry up, my boy, for by God you are late." I said to
her, "I wish that Sa'd's coat of mail were longer than it is", for I was afraid
for him where the arrow actually hit him. Sa'd was shot by an arrow which
severed the vein of his arm. The man who shot him, according to what
'Asim b. 'Umar b. Qatada told me, was Hibban b. Qays b. al-'Ariqa, 2 one
of B. 'Amir b. Lu'ayy. When he hit him he said, "Take that from me, the son
of al-'Ariqa." % Sa'd said to him, "May God make your face sweat (‘arraq) in
hell. O God, if the war with Quraysh is to be prolonged spare me for it, for
there is no people whom I want to fight more than those who insulted your
apostle, called him a liar, and drove him out. O God, seeing that you have
appointed war between us and them grant me martyrdom and do not let me
die until I have seen my desire upon B. Qurayza." ,

One whom I do not suspect told me from 'Abdullah b. Ka'b b. Malik
that he used to say: 'The man who hit Sa'd that day was Abu Usama
al-Jushami, an ally of B. Makhzum. This Abu Usama composed an ode
about it with reference to 'lkrima b. Abu Jahl:

O 'Tkrima, why did you blame me when you said
Khalid be your ransom in the forts of Medina?

Am I not he who inflicted a bloody wound on Sa'd?
The vein where the elbow bends gushed with his blood.
Sa'd died of it and the grey-haired matrons

And the high-breasted virgins made loud lamentation.
You are the one who protected him when 'Ubayda’
Called all of them in his stress,

What time some of them turned away from him

And others made off in their terror. '

God knows best about that' (703).

Yahya b. 'Abbad b. 'Abdullah b. al-Zubayr from his father 'Abbad told
me as follows: Safiya d. 'Abdu'l-Muttalib was in Fari', the fort of Hassan b.
Thabit. She said: 'Hassan was with us there with the women and children,
when a Jew came along and began to go round the fort. The B. Qurayza had
gone to war and cut our communications with the apostle, and there was no
one to protect us while the apostle and the Muslims were at the enemy's
throats unable to leave them to come to us if anyone turned up. I told
Hassan that he could see this Jew going round the fort and I feared that he
would discover our weakness and inform the Jews who were in our rear
while the apostle and his companions were too occupied to help us, so he
must go down and kill him. "God forgive you," he said. "You know quite
well that I am not the man to do that." When he said that and I saw that no
help was to be expected from him I girded myself > and took a club, and
went down to him from the fort above and hit him with the club until I
killed him. This done I went back to the fort and told Hassan to go down
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and strip him: I could not do it myself because he was a man. He said, "I
have no need to strip him, Bint 'Abdu'l-Muttalib.""

As God has described,” the apostle and his companions remained in fear
and difficulty when the enemy came on them from above and below. Then
Nu'aym b. Mas'ud b. 'Amir b. Unayf b. Tha'laba b. Qunfud b. Hilal b.
Khalawa b. Ashja' b. Rayth b. Ghatafan-came to the apostle saying that he
had become a Muslim though his own people did not know of it, and let
him give him what orders he would. The apostle said : 'You are only one
man among us, so go and awake distrust among the enemy to draw them off
us if you can, for war is deceit.' Thereupon Nu'aym went off to B. Qurayza
with whom he had been a boon companion in heathen days, and reminded
them of his affection for them and of the special tie between them. When
they admitted that they did not suspect him he said: 'Quraysh and Ghatafan
are not like you: the land is your land, your property, your wives, and your
children are in it; you cannot leave it and go somewhere else. Now Quraysh
and Ghatafan have come to fight Muhammad and his companions and you
have Aided them against him, but their land, their property, and their wives
are not here, so they are not like you. If they see an opportunity they will
make the most of it; but if things go badly they will go back to their own
land and leave you to face the man in your country and you will not be able
to do so if you are left alone. So do not fight along with these people until
you take hostages from their chiefs who will remain in your hands as
security that they will fight Muhammad with you until you make an end of
him.' The Jews said that this was excellent advice.

Then he went to Quraysh and said to Abu Sufyan b. Harb and his
company : 'You know my affection for you and that I have left Muhammad.
Now I have heard something which I think it my duty to tell you of by way
of warning, but regard it as confidential.' When they said that they would,
he continued: 'Mark my words, the Jews have regretted their action in
opposing Muhammad and have sent to tell him so, saying: "Would you like
us to get hold of some chiefs of the two tribes Quraysh and Ghatafan and
hand them over to you so that you can cut their heads off? Then we can join
you in exterminating the rest of them.' He has sent word back to accept
their offer; so if the Jews send to you to demand hostages, don't send them a
single man.'

Then he went to Ghatafan and said: You are my stock and my family,
the dearest of men to me, and I do not think that you can suspect me." They
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agreed that he was above suspicion and so he told the same story as he had 682

told Quraysh.

On the night of the sabbath of Shawwal A.H. 5 it came about by God's
action on behalf of His apostle that Abu Sufyan and the chiefs of Ghatafan
sent 'Ikrima b. Abu Jahl to B. Qurayza with some of their number saying
that they had no permanent camp, that the horses and camels were dying;
therefore they must make ready for battle and make an end of Muhammad
once and for all. They replied that it was the sabbath, a day on which they
did nothing, and it was well known what had happened to those of their
people who had violated the sabbath. '"Moreover we will not fight
Muham-mad along with you until you give us hostages whom we can hold
as security until we make an end of Muhammad; for we fear that if the
battle goes against you and you suffer heavily you will withdraw at once to
your country and leave us while the man is in our country, and we cannot
face him alone." When the messengers returned with their reply Quraysh
and Ghatafan said (T. Now you know) that what Nu'aym told you is the
truth; so send to B. Qurayza that we will not give them a single man, and if
they want to fight let them come out and fight. Having received this
message B. Qurayza said: 'What Nu'aym told you is the truth. The people
are bent on fighting and if they get an opportunity they will take advantage
of it; but if they do not they will withdraw to their own country and leave us
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to face this man here. So send word to them that we will not fight
Muhammad with them until they give us hostages.' Quraysh and Ghatafan
refused to do so, and God sowed distrust between them, and sent a bitter
cold wind against them in the winter nights which upset their cooking-pots
and overthrew their tents.

When the apostle learned of their dispute and how God had broken up
their alliance he called Hudhayfa b. al-Yaman and sent him to them to see
what the army was doing at night.

Yazid b. Ziyad told me from Muhammad b. Ka'b b. al-Qurazi: A man of
Kufa said to Hudhayfa, 'Did you really see the apostle and were you his
companion?' When he replied Yes, he asked what they used to do, and he
said that they used to live a hard life. He said, 'By God, if we had lived in
his day we would not have allowed him to set foot on the ground, but
would have carried him on our shoulders.' Hudhayfa said, 'l can see us ~
with the apostle at the trench as he prayed for a part of the night and then
turned to us and said, "Who will get up and see for us what the army is
doing and then return-the apostle stipulating that he should return-1 will ask
God that he shall be my companion in paradise." Not a single man got up
because of his great fear, hunger, and the severe cold. When no one got up
the apostle called me, and I had to get up when he called me. He told me to
go and see what the army was doing and not to do anything else ' until I
returned to him. So I went out and mingled with the army while the wind
and God's troops were dealing with them as they did, leaving neither pot,
nor fire, nor tent standing firm. Abu Sufyan got up and said, "O Quraysh,
let every man see who is sitting next him." So I took hold of the man who
was at my side and asked him who he was and he said So-and-so.

'"Then Abu Sufyan said: "O Quraysh, we are not in a permanent camp;
the horses and camels are dying; the B. Qurayza have broken their word to
us and we have heard disquieting reports of them. You can see the violence
of the wind which leaves us neither cooking-pots, nor fire, nor tents to
count on. Be off, for I am going!" Then he went to his camel which was
hobbled, mounted it, and beat it so that it got up on its three legs; by God its
hobble was not freed until it was standing.  Were it not that the apostle had
enjoined me not to do anything else until I returned to him, if I wished I
could have killed him with an arrow.

'T returned to the apostle as he was standing praying in a wrapper
belonging to one of his wives (704). When he saw me he made me come in
to sit at his feet and threw the end of the wrapper over me; then he bowed
and prostrated while I was in it (T. And I disturbed him). When he had
finished I told him the news. When Ghatafan heard of what Quraysh had
done they broke up and returned to their own country.'

In the morning the apostle and the Muslims left the trench and returned
to Medina, laying their arms aside.

THE RAID ON B. QURAYZA

According to what al-Zuhri told me, at the time of the noon prayers
Gabriel came to the apostle wearing an embroidered turban and riding on a
mule with a saddle covered with a piece of brocade. He asked the apostle if
he had abandoned fighting, and when he said that he had he said that the
angels had not yet laid aside their arms and that he had just come from
pursuing the enemy. 'God commands you, Muhammad, to go to B.
Qurayza. I am about to go to them to shake their stronghold.'

The prophet ordered it to be announced that none should perform the
afternoon prayer until after he reached B. Qurayza (705). The apostle sent
'Ali forward with his banner and the men hastened to it.' Ali advanced until
when he came near the forts he heard insulting language used of the
apostle. He returned to meet the apostle on the road and told him that it was
not necessary for him to come near those rascals. The apostle said, 'Why? I

Jihad Sira 3/26/2010 253



686

think you must have heard them speaking ill of me,' and when 'Ali said that
that was so he added, 'If they saw me they would not talk in that fashion.'
When the apostle approached their forts he said, 'You brothers of monkeys,
has God disgraced you and brought His vengeance upon you?' They
replied, ‘O Abu'l-Qasim, you are not a barbarous person.'

The apostle passed by a number of his companions in al-Saurayn before
he got to B. Qurayza and asked if anyone had passed them. They replied
that Dihya b. Khalifa al-Kalbi had passed upon a white mule with a saddle
covered with a piece of brocade. He said, 'That was Gabriel who has been
sent to B. Quray,a to shake their castles and strike terror to their hearts.'

When the apostle came to B. Qurayza he halted by one of their wells
near their property called The Well of Ana (706). The men joined him.
Some of them came after the last evening prayer not having prayed the
afternoon prayer because the apostle had told them not to do so until he got
to B. Qurayza. They had been much occupied with warlike prepara-tions
and they refused to pray until they came to B. Qurayza in accordance with
his instructions and they prayed the afternoon prayer there after the last
evening prayer. God did not blame them for that in His book, nor did the
apostle reproach them. My father Ishaq b. Yasar told me this tradition from
Ma'bad b. Malik Al-Ansari

The apostle besieged them for twenty-five nights until they were sore
pressed and God cast terror into their hearts.

Now Huyayy b. Akhtab had gone with B. Quray,a into their forts when
Quraysh and Ghatafan had withdrawn and left them, to keep his word to
Ka'b b. Asad; and when they felt sure that the apostle would not leave them
until he had made an end of them Ka'b b. Asad said to them: ‘O Jews, you
can see what has happened to you; I offer you three alternatives. Take
which you please.' (i) We will follow this man and accept him as true, for
by God it has become plain to you that he is a prophet who has been sent
and that it is he that you find mentioned in your scripture; and then your
lives, your property, your women and children will be saved. They said,
'We will never abandon the laws of the Torah and never change it for
another.' He said, 'Then if you won't accept this suggestion (ii) let us kill
our wives and children and send men with their swords drawn to
Muhammad and his companions leaving no encumbrances behind us, until
God decides between us and Muhammad. If we perish, we perish, and we
shall not leave children behind us to cause us anxiety. If we conquer we can
acquire other wives and children.' They said, 'Should we kill these poor
creatures? What would be the good of life when they Were dead?' He said,
"Then if you will not accept this suggestion (iii) tonight is the eve of the
sabbath and it may well be that Muhammad and his companions will feel
secure from us then, so come down, perhaps we can take Muham-mad and
his companions by surprise.' They said: 'Are we to profane our sabbath and
do on the sabbath what those before us of whom you well know did and
were turned into apes?' He answered, 'Not a single man among you from
the day of your birth has ever passed a night resolved to do what he knows
ought to be done.'

Then they sent to the apostle saying, 'Send us Abu Lubaba b.
'Abdu'l-Mundhir, brother of B. 'Amr b. 'Auf (for they were allies of al-Aus),
that we may consult him.' So the apostle sent him to them, and when they
saw him they got up to meet him. The women and children went up to him
weeping in his face, and he felt sorry for them. They said, 'Oh Abu Lubaba,
do you think that we should submit to Muhammad's judgment?' He said,
'Yes,' and pointed with his hand to his throat, signifying slaughter. Abu
Lubaba said, 'My feet had not moved from the spot before I knew that I had
been false to God and His apostle.' Then he left them and did not go to the
apostle but bound himself to one of the pillars in the mosque saying, 'T will
not leave this place until God forgives me for what I have done,' and he
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promised God that he would never go to B. Qurayza and would never be
seen in a town in which he had betrayed God and His apostle (707).

When the apostle heard about him, for he had, been waiting for him a
long time, he said, 'If he had come to me I would have asked forgiveness
for him, but seeing that he behaved as he did I will not let him go from his
place until God forgives him.' Yazid b. 'Abdullah b. Qusayt told me that the
forgiveness of Abu Lubaba came to the apostle at dawn while he was in the
house of U mm Salama. She said: 'At dawn I heard the apostle laugh and I
said: "Why did you laugh? May God make you laugh!" He replied, 'Abu
Lubaba has been forgiven.' She said, 'Cannot I give him the good news?'
and when he said that she could she went and stood at the door of her room
! (this was before the veil had been prescribed for women) and said, ‘O
Abu Lubaba, rejoice, for God has forgiven you'; and men rushed out to set
him free. He said, 'No, not until the apostle frees me with his own hand.'
When the apostle passed him when he was going out to morning prayer he
set him free (708).

Tha'laba b. Sa'ya, Usayd his brother, and Asad b. 'Ubayd of B. Hadl
who were not related to B. Qurayza or B. al-Nadir (their pedigree is far
above that), accepted Islam the night on which B. Qurayza surrendered to
the apostle's judgment.

On that night 'Amr b. Su'da al-Qurazi went out and passed the apostle's
guards commanded that night by Muhammad b. Maslama who challenged
him. Now' Amr had refused to join B. Qurayza in their treachery towards
the apostle, saying, 'l will never behave treacherously towards Muhammad.'
When Muhammad b. Maslama recognized him he said, "O God, do not
deprive me (of the honor) of setting right the errors of the noble' and let him
go his way. He went as far as the door of the apostle's mosque' in Medina
that night; then he vanished, and it is not known to this day where he went.
When the apostle was told he said, 'That is a man whom God delivered
because of his faithfulness." Some people allege that he was bound with a
rotten rope along with the captives of B. Qurayza when they submitted to
the apostle's judgment, and his old rope was found cast away none knowing
whither he went and the apostle then said those words. God knows what
really happened.

In the morning they submitted to the apostle's judgment and al-Aus

leapt up and said, 'O Apostle, they are our allies, not allies of Khazraj,
and you know how you recently treated the allies of our brethren.' Now the
apostle had besieged B. Qaynuga' who were allies of al-Khazraj and when
they submitted to his judgment 'Abdullah b. Ubayy b. Salul had asked him
for them and he gave them to him; so when al-Aus spoke thus the apostle
said: 'Will you be satisfied, O Aus, if one of your own number pronounces
judgment on them?' When they agreed he said that Sa'd b. Mu'adh was the
man. The apostle had put Sa'd in a tent belonging to a woman of Aslam
called Rufayda inside his mosque. She used to nurse the wounded and See
to those Muslims who needed care. The apostle had told his people when
Sa'd had been wounded by an arrow at the battle of the Trench to put him in
Rufayda's tent until he could visit him later. When the apostle appointed
him umpire in the matter of B. Qurayza, his people came to him and
mounted him on a donkey on which they had put a leather cushion, he
being a corpulent man. As they brought him to the apostle they said, 'Deal
kindly with your friends, for the apostle has made you umpire for that very
purpose.! When they persisted he said, '"The time has come for Sa'd in the
cause of God, not to care for any man's censure.' Some of his people who
were there went back to the quarter of B. 'Abdu’l Ashhal and announced to
them the death of B. Qurayza before Sa'd got to them, because of what they
had heard him say.

When Sa'd reached the apostle and the Muslims the apostle told them to
get up to greet their leader. The muhajirs of Quraysh thought that the
apostle meant the Ansar, while the latter thought that he meant everyone, so
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they got up and said ‘O Abu' Amr, the apostle has entrusted to you the
affair of your allies that you may give judgment concerning them.' Sa'd
asked, 'Do you covenant by Allah that you accept the judgment I
pro-nounce on them?' They said Yes, and he said, 'And is it incumbent on
the one who is here?' (looking) in the direction of the apostle not
mentioning him out of respect, and the apostle answered Yes. Sa'd said,
'"Then I give judgment that the men should be killed, the property divided,
and the women and children taken as captives.'

'Asim b. 'Umar b. Qatada told me from 'Abdu'l-Rahman b. 'Amr b. Sa'd
b. Mu'adh from 'Aigama b. Waqqas al-Laythi that the apostle said to Sa'd,
"You have given the judgment of Allah above the seven heavens' (709).

Then they surrendered, and the apostle confined them in Medina in the
quarter of d. al-Harith, a woman of B. Al-Najjar. Then the apostle went out
to the market of Medina (which is still its market today) and dug trenches in
it. Then he sent for them and struck off their heads in those trenches as they
were brought out to him in batches. Among them was the enemy of Allah
Huyayy b. Akhtab and Ka'b b. Asad their chief. There were 600 or 700 in
all, though some put the figure as high as 800 or 900. As they were being
taken out in batches to the apostle they asked Ka'b what he thought would
be done with them. He replied, 'Will you never understand? Don't you see
that the summoner never stops and those who are taken away do not return?
By Allah it is death!" This went on until the apostle made an end of them.

Huyayy was brought out wearing a flowered robe (710) in which he had
made holes about the size of the finger-tips in every part so that it should
not be taken from him as spoil, I with his hands bound to his neck by a
rope. When he saw the apostle he said, 'By God, I do not blame myself for
opposing you, but he who forsakes God will be forsaken.' Then he went to
the men and said, 'God's command is right. A book and a decree, and
massacre have been written against the Sons of Israel.' Then he sat down
and his head was struck off.

Jabal b. Jarwal al-Tha'labi said:

Ibn Akhtab did not blame himself

But he who forsakes God will be forsaken.

He fought until he justified himself

And struggled to the utmost in pursuit of glory.

Muhammad b. Ja'far b. al-Zubayr told me from 'Urwa b. al-Zubayr that
'Aisha said: 'Only one of their women was killed. She was actually with me
and was talking with me and laughing immoderately as the apostle was
killing her men in the market when suddenly an unseen voice called her
name. 'Good heavens,' I cried, 'what is the matter?' 'l am to be killed,' she
replied. 'What for?' I asked. 'Because of something I did,' she answered. She
was taken away and beheaded. 'A'isha used to say, 'I shall never forget my
wonder at her good spirits and her loud laughter when all the time she knew
that she would be killed' (711).

Ibn Shihab al-Zuhri told me that Thabit b. Qays b. al-Shammas had
gone to al-Zabir b. Bata al-Qurazi who was Abu 'Abdu'l-Rahman. Al-Zabir
had spared Thabit during the pagan era. One of al-Zabir's sons told me that
he had spared him on the day of Bu'ath, having captured him and cut off his
forelock and then let him go. Thabit came to him (he was then an old man)
and asked him if he knew him, to which he answered, "Would a man like
me not recognize a man like you?' He said, 'l want to repay you for your
service to me.' He said, '"The noble repays the noble.' Thabit went to the
apostle and told him that al-Zabir had spared his life and he wanted to repay
him for it, and the apostle said that his life would be spared. When he
returned and told him that the apostle had spared his life he said, "What
does an old man without family and without children want with life?'
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Thabit went again to the apostle, who promised to give him his wife and
children. When he told him he said, 'How can a household in the Hijaz live
without property?' Thabit secured the apostle's promise that his property
would be restored and came and told him so, and he said, ‘O Thabit, what
has become of him whose face was like a Chinese mirror in which the
virgins of the tribe could see themselves, Ka 'b b. Asad?' 'Killed,' he said.
'And what of the prince of the Desert and the Sown, Huyayy b. Akhtab?'
'Killed." '"And what of our vanguard when we attacked and our rearguard
when we fled (T. returned to the charge), 'Azzal b. Samaw'al?' 'Killed.' 'And
what of the two assemblies?' meaning B. Ka'b b. Qurayza and B. 'Amr b.
Qurayza. 'Killed." He said, 'Then! ask of you, Thabit, by my claim on you
that you join me with my people, for life holds no joy now that they are
dead, and I cannot bear to wait another moment' to meet my loved ones.' So
Thabit went up to him and struck off his head.

When Abu Bakr heard of his words 'until I meet my loved ones' he said,
'Yes, by Allah he will meet them in hell for ever and ever' (712).

(Thabit b. Qays said concerning that, mentioning al-Zabir b. Bata:

My obligation is ended; I was noble and persistent

When others swerved from steadfastness.

Zabir had a greater claim than any man on me

And when his wrists were bound with cords

I went to the apostle that I might free him.

The apostle was a very sea of generosity to us.)

The apostle had ordered that every adult of theirs should be killed.

Shu'ba b. al-Hajjaj told me from 'Abdu'l-Malik b. 'Umayr from 'Atiya
al-Qurazi: The apostle had ordered that every adult of B. Qurayza should be
killed. I was a lad and they found that I was not an adult and so they

let me go. "

Ayyub b. 'Abduu'l-Rahman b. Abdullah b. Abu Sasa'a brother of B.
'Adiy b. Al-Najjar told me that Saima d. Qays, mother of al-Mundhir sister
of Salit b. Qays-she was one of the maternal aunts of the apostle who had
prayed with him both towards Jerusalem and towards Mecca and had sworn
the allegiance of women to him-asked him for Rifa'a b. Samaw’al al-Qurazi
who was a grown man who had sought refuge with her, and who used to
know them. She said that he had alleged that he would pray and eat camel's
flesh. So he gave him to her and she saved his life.

Then the apostle divided the property, wives, and children of B.
Qurayza among the Muslims, and he made known on that day the shares of
horse and men, and took out the fifth. A horseman got three shares, two for
the horse and one for his rider. A man without a horse got one share. On the
day of B. Qurayza there were thirty-six horses. It was the first booty on
which lots were cast and the fifth was taken. According to its precedent and
what the apostle did the divisions were made, and it remained the custom
for raids.

Then the apostle sent Sa'd b. Zayd al-Ansari brother of b. 'Abdu’l
Ashhal with some of the captive women of B. Qurayza to Najd and he sold
them for horses and weapons.

The apostle had chosen one of their women for himself, Ayhama d.
'Amr b. Khunafa, one of the women of B. 'Amr b. Qurayza, and she
remained with him until she died, in his power. The apostle had proposed to
marry her and put the veil on her, but she said: 'Nay, Leave me in your
power, for that will be easier for me and for you.' So he left her. She had
shown repugnance towards Islam when she was captured' and clung to
Judaism. So the apostle put her aside and felt some displeasure. While he
was with his companions he heard the sound of sandals behind him and
said, 'This is Tha'laba b. Sa'ya coming to give me the good news of
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Rayhana's acceptance of Islam' and he came up to announce the fact. This
gave him pleasure.

God sent down concerning the trench and B. Qurayza the account
which is found in the sura of the Confederates I in which He mentioned
their triai and His kindness to them, and His help when He removed that
from them after one of the disaffected had said what he did: ‘O you who
believe, remember God's favor to you when armies came against you, and
We sent against them a wind and armies you could not see, and God is a
seer of what you do.' The armies were Quraysh, and Ghatafan, and B.
Qurayza. The armies which God sent with the wind were the angels. God
said, 'When they came at you from above you and below you, and when
eyes grew wild and hearts reached to the throats and you thought vain
things about God.' Those who came at you from above were B. Qurayza:
those from below were Quraysh and Ghatafan. 'There were the believers
tested and shaken with a mighty shock. And when the disaffected and those
in whose "hearts was a disease were saying What God and His apostle
promised us is naught but a delusion' refers to the words of Mu'attib b.
Qushayr. 'And when a party of them said, O people of Yathrib, there is no
standing for you, so turn back. And some of them sought the prophet's
permission saying Our houses are exposed, and they were not exposed.
They wished only to run away' refers to the words of Aus b. Qayzi and
those of his people who shared his opinion. 'And if it had been entered from
its sides', i.e. Medina (713).

"Then if they had been invited to rebellion’, i.e. the return to polytheism,
'they would have complied and would have hesitated but a moment. Yet
they had sworn to Allah beforehand that they would not turn their backs.
An oath to God must be answered for.' They were the B. Haritha. They
were the men who thought to desert on the day of Uhud with B. Salama
when both thought to desert on the day of Uhud. Then they swore to God
that they would never do the like again and 81e reminded them of what
they had taken on themselves. 'Say, Flight will not avail you if you flee
from death or killing, and then you will enjoy comfort but for a little. Say,
Who can preserve you from Allah if He intends evil towards you, or intends
mercy. They will not find that they have any friend or helper but Allah.
Allah knows those of you who hinder,' i.e . the disaffected people. 'And
those who say to their brethren, Come to us and they come not to battle
save a little,' i.e. for a moment to make a pretence of sincerity, 'sparing of
their help to you,' i.e. because of their grudging nature. 'But when fear
comes you see them looking at you with rolling eyes like one in a deadly
faint,' i.e. thinking it dreadful and terrified of it. 'Then when their fear
departs they scald you with sharp tongues, - i.e. with talk about what does
not please you because their hope is in this life; hope of (future) reward
does not move them, for they fear death with the dread of him who has no
hope in a future life (714). 'They think that the confederates have not gone
away,' i.e. Quraysh and Ghatafan, 'and if the confederates should come
again they would like to be in the desert with the Bedouin asking for news
of you and if they were among you they would fight but little.'

Then He addressed the believers and said, 'In God's apostle you have a
fine example for one who hopes for Allah and the last day,’ i.e. that they
should not prefer themselves to him and not desire to be in a place where he
is not.

Then He mentioned the believers and their truth and their belief in what
God promised them of triai by which He tested them and He said, 'And
when the believers saw the confederates they said: This is what God and
His apostle promised us, and God and :His apostle are true. It did but
increase their faith and submission' i.e. endurance of triai and submission to
the decree and belief in the truth of \What God and His apostle had
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promised them. Then He said: 'Some of the believers are men who are
true to what they covenanted with Allah and some of them have fulfilled
their vow in death,' i.e. finished their work and returned to their Lord like
those who sought martyrdom at Badr and Uhud (715).

'And some of them are still waiting,' i.e. for the help which Allah
promised them and the martyrdom like that which befell his companions.
God said: 'And they have not altered in the least,' i.e. they did not doubt nor
hesitate in their religion, and did not change it for another. 'That God may
reward the true men for their truth and punish the disaffected if He will, or
repent towards them. God is forgiving, merciful. And Allah turned back
those who disbelieved in their wrath,' i.e. Quraysh and Ghata-fan. '"They
gained no good. God averted battle from the believers, and Allah is strong,
mighty. And He brought down those of the Scripture people who helped
them,' i.e. B. Qurayza, 'from their strongholds' the forts and castles in which
they were (716). 'And he cast terror into their hearts; some you slew and
some you captured,' i.e. he killed the men and captured the women and
children. 'And caused you to inherit their land and their dwellings, and their
property, and a land you had not trod,' i.e. Khaybar. 'For Allah can do all
things.'

When the affair of B. Quray,a was disposed of, Sa'd's wound burst open
and he died a martyr therefrom.

Mu'adh b. Rifa'a al-Zuraqi told me: Anyone you like from the men of
my people told me ‘that Gabriel came to the apostle when Sa'd was taken,
in the middle of the night wearing an embroidered turban, and said, ‘O
Muhammad, who is this dead man for whom the doors of heaven have been
opened and at whom the throne shook?' The apostle got up quickly
dragging his garment as he went to Sa'd and found him already dead.

'Abdullah b. Abu Bakr told me from 'Amra d. 'Abdu'l-Rahman: As
'A’isha was returning from Mecca with Usayd b. Hudayr he heard of the
death of a wife of his, and showed considerable grief. 'A’isha said: 'God
forgive you, O Abu Yahya, will you grieve over a woman when you have
lost the son of your uncle, for whom the throne shook?'

One I do not suspect told me from Al-Hasan al-Basri: Sa'd was a fat
man and when the men carried him they found him light. Some of the
dis-affected said, 'He was a fat man and we have never carried a lighter bier
than his." When the apostle heard of this he said, 'He had other carriers as
well. By Him Who holds my life in His hand the angels rejoiced at
(receiving) the spirit of Sa'd and the throne shook for him.'

Mu'adh b. Rifa'a told me from Mahmud b. 'Abdu'l-Rahman b. 'Amr b.
Al-Jamuh from Jabir b. 'Abdullah: When Sa'd was buried as we were with
the apostle he said Subhana'llah and we said it with him. Then he said
Allah Akbar and the men said it with him. When they asked him why he
had said Subhana’'nah he said 'The grave was constricted on this good man
until God eased him from it' (717).

Of Sa'd one of the Ansar said:

We have never heard of the throne of God
Shaking for any dead man but Sa'd Abu 'Amr.

His mother said when his bier was being carried, as she was weeping
(718):

Alas Umm Sa'd for Sa'd the brave and bold,
Leader glorious, knight ever ready,
Stepping into the breach, cutting heads to pieces. |

The apostle said, 'Every wailing woman lies except the one who wept
Sa'd b. Mu'adh.
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Only six Muslims found martyrdom at the battle of the Trench: Of B.
'Abdu'l-Ashhai: Sa'd b. Mu'adh; Anas b. 'Aus b. 'Atik b. 'Amr, and
'Abdullah b. Sahl. 3.

Of B. Jusham b. al-Khazraj of the clan B. Salima: Al-Tufayl b.
AlNu’man and Tha'laba b. Ghanama. 2.

Of B. Al-Najjar of the clan B. Dinar: Ka'b b. Zayd whom a random
arrow hit and slew (719). 1

Three polytheists were killed:

Of B. 'Abdu'l-Dar: Munabbih b. 'Uthman b. 'Ubayd b. al-Sabbaq hit by
an arrow and died in Mecca (720).

Of B. Makhzum b. Yaqaza: Naufal b. 'Abdullah b. al-Mughira. They
asked the apostle to let them buy his body he having stormed the trench and
become trapped in it and killed, and the Muslims got possession of his
body. The apostle said that they had no use for his body and did not want to
be paid for it, and he let them have it (721).

Of B. 'Amir b. Lu'ayy of the clan B. Malik b. Hisl: 'Amr b. 'Abdu Wudd
whom 'Ali killed (722).

On the day of Quray,a there were martyred of the Muslims of B.
alHarith b. al-Khazraj: Khalid b. Suwayd b. Tha'laba b. 'Amr. A millstone
was thrown on him and inflicted a shattering wound. They allege that the
apostle said, 'He will have the reward of two martyrs.'

Abu Sinan b. Mihsan b. Hurthan brother of B. Asad b. Khuzayma died
while the apostle was besieging B. Quray,a and was buried in the cemetery
of B. Qurayza which is still used today. They buried those who died in
Islam there.

When the defenders of the trench left it I have heard that the apostle
said: 'Quraysh will not attack you after this year, but you will attack them.'
Quraysh did not attack them after that; it was he who attacked them until
God conquered Mecca by him.

POETRY ABOUT THE TRENCH AND B. QURAYZA

Dirar b. al-Khattab b. Mirdas brother of B. Muharib b. Fihr said about
the battle of the Trench:

Many a sympathetic woman had doubts about us, "
Yet we led a great force, crushing all before us.

Its size was as Uhud

When one could see its whole extent.

You could see the long mail upon the warriors

And their strong leather shields

And the fine steeds like arrows

Which we discharged against the sinful wrongdoers.
When we charged the one the other,

"Twas as though at the gap in the trench men would shake hands.
You could not see a rightly guided man among them
Though they said: 'Are we not in the right?'

We besieged them for one whole month
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Standing over them like conquerors.
Night and morning every day

We attacked them fully armed;

Sharp swords in our hands

Cutting through heads and skulls.

"Twas as though their gleam when they were drawn
When they flashed in the hands of those that drew them
Was the gleam of lightning illuminating the night

So that one could see the clouds clearly.

But for the trench which protected them
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We would have destroyed them one and all.

But there it stood in front of them,

And they took refuge in it from fear of us.

Though we withdrew we left

Sa'd hostage to death in front of their tents.

When darkness came you could hear the keening women
Raising their lament over Sa'd.

Soon we shall visit you again

Helping one another as we did before

With a company of Kinana armed

Like lions of the jungle protecting their dens.

Ka'b b. Malik brother of B. Salima answered him:
Many a woman will ask of our fight.

Had she been there she would have seen we were steadfast.
We were steadfast trusting in Him;

We saw nothing equal to God in the hour of our danger.
We have a prophet, a true helper,

By whom we can conquer all men.

We fought an evil disobedient people

Fully prepared in their hostile attack.

When they came at us we struck them blows

Which dispatched the precipitate.

You would have seen us in wide long mail which
Glittered like pools in the plain;

Sharp swords in our hands

By which we quench the spirit of the mischievous.
Like lions at the gap in the trench

Whose tangled jungle protects their lairs.

Our horsemen when they charged night and morning
Looked disdainfully at the enemy as they wore their badges
To help Ahmad and God so that we might be
Sincere slaves of truth,

And that the Meccans might know when they came
And the people of different parties

That God has no partners,

And that He helps the believers.

Though you killed Sa'd wantonly,

God's decrees are for the best.

He will admit him to goodly gardens

The resting-place of the righteous.

As He repulsed you, runaway fugitives,

Fruitless, disgraced, despite your rage.

Disgraced, you accomplished nothing there

And were all but destroyed

By a tempest which overtook you

So that you were blinded by its force.

'Abdullah b. al-Ziba'ra al-Sahmi said about the trench:

Salute the dwelling whose vestiges

Long decay and time's changes have effaced.

'Tis as though their remains were the writings of Jews
Except the zarebas and (marks of) tentpegs.'

A desert as though you did not find diversion in it
Happily with young girls of one age.

But speak no more of a life that has passed

And a place become ruined and deserted,

And gratefully remember the gallantry of all

Who marched from the sacred stones, !
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The stones of Mecca, making for Yathrib,
With a loud-throated mighty force;

Leaving the high ground well used paths

In every conspicuous height and pass;

The fine lean steeds led beside them

Thin in belly, lean of flank,

Foaled from long-bodied mares and stallions,
Like a wolf who attacks careless watchmen.
'Uyayna marched with the banner of the army;
Sakhr led the confederates;

Two chiefs like the moon in its splendor,

The help of the poor, the refuge of the fugitive,
Until when they came to Medina

And girt themselves for death their sharp swords drawn.

For forty days they had the best of Muhammad
Though his companions in war were the best.
They called for withdrawal the morning you said
"'We are almost done for.'

But for the trench they would have left them
Corpses for hungry birds and wolves.

Hassan b. Thabit answered him and said:

Can the vanished traces of a deserted place
Answer one who addresses it?

A desert where clouds of rain have effaced its traces
And the constant blowing of every high wind?
Yet have I seen their dwellings adorned by
Shining faces, heirs of a glorious past.

But leave the dwellings, the talk of lovely maidens
With soft breasts, sweet in converse,

And complain to God of cares and what you see
An angry people who wronged the apostle,

Who marched with their company against him
And collected townsmen and desert dwellers,

The army of 'Uyayna and Ibn Harb

Mingled with the horsemen of the confederates
Until they came to Medina and hoped to slay

The apostle's men and plunder them,

And attacked us in their strength.

They were put to flight in their fury

By a tempest which dispersed their' company

And the armies of thy Lord the Lord of lords.

God averted battle from the believers '

And gave them the best of rewards.

When they had abandoned hope, our bounteous King
Sent down His Aid and scattered them;

Gave ease to Muhammad and his companions
And humiliated every lying doubter,
Hard-hearted, suspicious, doubtful,

Not men of pure life, unbelievers.

May misery cling to their hearts, for

In unbelief they persisted to the very end.?

Ka'b b. Malik also answered him:

War has left over to us
The best gift of our bounteous Lord;

High white forts and resting-places for camels where [from their
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rubbing]

Palms are black and where milk is plentiful.

They are like lava tracts and their bounty is lavished

On the visiting guest and relative®

And horses” swift as wolves

Fed on barley and cut lucerne

With hairless fetlocks and firm-fleshed hindquarters,
Smooth their coats from head to tail;

Long-necked, answering the View hallo

As hounds speed to the huntsman's call.

Now guarding the tribesman's cattle,

Now slaying the enemy and returning with the spoil,
Scaring wild beasts, swift in war,

Grim in combat, of noble spirit,

Well fed and sleek

Well fleshed yet thin bellied.

They bring coats of mail doubly woven

With strong spears which hit the mark,

And swords whose rust the polishers have removed,

All with a splendid highborn knight,

His right hand holding a spear ready for the thrust
Whose fashioning was entrusted to Khabbab.

The glitter of his lance is like

A flash of flame in the darkness of the night,

And a force whose mail defies the arrows

And repels the bolts that would pierce the thighs.
Reddish-black, massed, as though their spears

Were a blazing forest in every encounter,

Seeking the shadow of the standard as though

On the shaft of the spear there was the shadow of a hawk.
Their courage defeated Abu Karib and Tubba'

And their gallantry overcame the Bedouin.

We were guided by admonitions from our Lord

On the tongue of one radiant and pure.

They were laid before us and we loved to remember them
After they had been laid before the confederates (and rejected).
Axioms which evildoers assert they thought too strict
But the wise understand.

Quraysh came to contend with their Lord,

But he who contends with the Conqueror will surely be conquered

723).

Ka'b b. Malik said about the trench:

Let one who enjoys the noise of battle where blows resound
Like the crackling of burning reeds,

Come to the fight where swords are sharp

Between al-Madhad ' and the side of the trench.

They were bold in smiting champions

And surrendered their lifeblood to the Lord of the world
In a company by which God helped His prophet

And was gracious to His servant.

All in long mail whose ends swept the ground,

Looking like an undulating pool blown by the wind
With mail well wrought and woven as though its nails
Were the eyes of a locust in the chain rings.

Braced up by the belt of a sword

Of pure steel, cutting, and shining.

Such with piety was our clothing on the day of battle 2
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And every hour that called for bravery.

When our swords were too short to meet the enemy

We made them reach by going forward.

You could see skulls split asunder,

To say nothing of hands, as though they had not been created.
We met the enemy with a compact force

Driving away their force who went as though to the top of al-
Mashrig. '

Against the enemy we prepared

Every swift, bay, white-legged, piebald horse

Carrying riders who in battle were like

Lions on damp dewy soil, 2

Trusty ones who bring death to brave men

With death-dealing spears beneath the clouds of dust.
God commanded that the horses should be kept for

His enemy in the fight °

(Truly God is the best guarantor of victory)

That they might vex the enemy and protect the dwellings
If the horses of the miscreants came near.

God the mighty helped us with His strength

And loyal steadfastness on the day of the encounter.

We obeyed our prophet's orders.

When he called for war we were the first to respond.
When he called for violent efforts we made them.

When we saw the battle we hastened thither.

He who obeys the prophet's command (let him do so), for among us
He is obeyed and truly believed.

By this He will give us victory and show our glory

And so give us a life of ease.

Those who call Muhammad a liar

Disbelieve and go astray from the way of the pious (724).

Ka'b also said:

The mixed tribes knew when they gathered together against us
And attacked our religion that we would not submit.
Confederates from Qays b. 'Aylan and Khindif with one accord
Made common cause, not knowing what would happen.

They tried to turn us from our religion while we

Tried to turn them from disbelief, but God is a seer and a hearer.
When they raged against us in battle

The all embracing help of God Aided us.

"Twas God's protection and His grace towards us

(He whom God does not guard is lost).

He guided us to the true religion and chose it for us.

God can do more than man can do.

Ka 'b also said:

Tell Quraysh that Sal

And the land between al-'Urayd and al-Sammad !
Is a land where camels who know war carry water,
Where wells dug in the days of 'Ad abound.

Still waters fed by copious fountains

That keep the wells at a steady depth.

The tangled growth and the rushes there

Seem to rustle when they yellow at the harvest.
Our trade does not consist in selling donkeys

To the land of Daus or Murad.
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Ours is a land well tilled, for it we fight

If you have stomach for the battle.

We ploughed and planted it as peasants do;

Never have you seen a valley bordered like it.

We have kept every fine high-standing

Powerful courser for great objects.

Respond to our invitation

For clear statement and truth,

Or take the blows you will get from us

At the side of al-Madhad.

We will meet you with all our warriors

And well made tractable horses,

And bloodmares whose sides throb

Like the beating of a locust's wings 2

Swift of limb, firm fleshed,

Perfectly made from head to tail.

Horses which live through famine years

When other men's horses die;

Which tug at the reins, turning their necks to one side, *
When their master calls them to war.

When our warners say: 'Be ready’

We put our trust in the Lord of men.

And we said: 'Nothing will ease our troubles

But smiting the helmets and desperate fighting.'
You have seen none among those we fought,
Whether townsmen or tribesmen,

Bolder than we were in attack

Nor gentler in affection.

When we tied with trusty knots

708 Fine coats of mail upon them

Into long armor we put every fierce noble warrior
Careful in his preparation for battle;

Haughty as an angry lion

When someone appears in his valley,

Who shatter the skull of the doughtiest warrior
With the middle of a sword carried loose on its lanyard.
That we may make Thy religion victorious, O God.
We are in Thy hand, so guide us in the right paths (725).

Musafi' b. 'Abdu Manaf b. Wahb b. Hudhafa b. Jumah, weeping for
'Amr b. 'Abdu Wudd and mentioning how 'Ali killed him, said:

'Amr b. 'Abd was the first horseman to cross Madhad
And he was the horseman of Yalyal :

Mild in nature, noble, firm,

Seeking armed combat, never showing fear.

You knew that when they fled from you

Ibn Abd only hurried not

Until the best fighters surrounded him

Seeking untiringly to kill him.

On Sal's sides the spears surrounded

A horseman who was no unarmed coward.

You asked Ghalib's horseman to dismount, O 'Alj,
On Sal's sides.

Would he had not done so.

Away with you, 'Ali! Never have you overcome his like in renown
Nor coped with such a difficult task.

My life be a ransom for the horseman of Ghalib
Who met death unperturbed,
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He who crossed al-Madhad with his mare
Seeking to avenge the men he would not desert.

Musafi' also said, reproaching the horsemen of 'Amr who decamped and
deserted him:

'Amr b. 'Abd and the fine horses he led —

Horses led for him and horses shod—
His horsemen decamped and his clan left

709

A great pillar, the first among them.

Marvel as [ may I saw it

When you, 'Ali, asked 'Amr to dismount he dismounted.
Be not far, 2 for I have suffered by his death

And till I die I have a burden heavy to bear.

Hubayra who was despoiled turned his back in flight
Fearing the fight lest they should be killed.

And Dirar who had shown courage

Fled like a miserable unarmed wretch (726).

Hubayra b. Abu Wahb making excuses for his flight, weeping for 'Amr,
and mentioning how 'Ali killed him, said:

On my life, I did not turn my back

On Muhammad and his companions in cowardice or fear of death;
But I considered my position and could find

No advantage in sword or arrow if I used them.

I stopped, and when I could not go forward

I withdrew like a strong lion with his cubs,

Who turns his shoulder from his adversary when

He can find no way to return to the fray-such has always been my
way.

Be not far, O 'Amr, alive or dead.

Such as you deserves the highest praise from one like me

Who (now) will drive on horses checked by spears

Be not far, O 'Amr alive or dead.

You have gone (from us) full of praise, noble of ancestry.

Tell of his glory when the camels bellow loudly?1

Had Ibn 'Abd been there he would have gone to them

And relieved them, that never ignoble man.

Away with you, 'All, never have I seen one who behaved like you
Against a brave man advancing like a stallion.

Never have you achieved such a proud boast.

As long as you live you can feel safe from stumbling thereby.

Hubayra also said:

The noblest man of Lu'ayy b. Ghalib knows

710 That when misfortune came their knight was 'Amr.
Their knight was 'Amr and 'Ali asked him to dismount.
(The lion must seek his enemy.)

He was their knight when 'All called to him

When the squadrons basely left him.

Alas that I left 'Amr in Yathrib.

May misfortunes never cease there!

Hassan b. Thabit boasting of the killing of 'Amr b. 'Abdu Wudd
said:

'Amr, the last of you, we slew with the lance
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As we defended Yathrib with our sail force.

We killed you with our Indian swords,

For we are masters of war when we attack.

We killed you in Badr too

And left your tribes threading their way through the dead (727).

Hassan also said:

The warrior 'Amr b. 'Abd is on the flanks of Yathrib
Requiring to be avenged: he was not given respite. '

You found our swords drawn

And you found our horses ready.

At Badr you met a band

Who smote you with no weakling's blow.

No more will you be summoned on the day of great things
Or to important distasteful tasks, O 'Amr! (727)

Hassan also said:

Give Abu Hidm a message,

One with which the camels hasten.

Am I your friend in every hardship

And another your friend in a time of ease?
You have a witness who saw me

Lifted up to him as a child is carried (728).

Hassan said concerning B. Qurayza mourning Sa'd b. Mu'adh and
mentioning his judgment concerning the former:

Tears streamed from my eyes,

'Tis right that they should weep for Sa' d

Lying on the battlefield. Eyes that flow with tears

Suffer his loss without ceasing.

Slain in God's religion, he inherits paradise with martyrs,
Theirs a noble company.

Though you have said farewell and left us

And lie in the dusty darkness of the grave

You, O Sa'd, have returned (to God) with a noble testimony
And garments of honor and praise.

By pronouncing on the two tribes of Qurayza the (same) judgment
Which God had decreed against them you did not judge of your

own
volition.
Your judgment and God's were at one

And you did not forgive when you were reminded of a covenant.

Though fate has brought you to your death

Among those who sold their lives for everlasting gardens
Yet blessed is the state of the true ones

When they are summoned to God for favor and regard.

Hassan also said mourning Sa'd and the prophet's companions who ere

martyred and mentioning their merits:

O my people, is there any defense against what is decreed?
And can the good old days return?

When I call to mind an age that is passed

My heart is troubled and my tears flow;

Yearning sorrow reminds me of friends

Now dead, among them Tufayl and Rafi' and Sa'd.
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They have gone to paradise
And their houses are empty and the earth is a desert without them.
They were loyal to the apostle on the day of Badr
While over them swords flashed amid the shades of death.
When he called them they answered loyally,
All of them obeyed him utterly.
They gave no ground till all were dead.
(Only battles cut short the allotted span.)
712 Because they hoped for his intercession
Since none but prophets can intercede.
That, O best of men, is what we did,
Our response to God while death is certain.
Ours was the first step to thee, and the last of us
Will follow the first in God's religion.
We know that the kingdom is God's alone
And that the decree of God must come to pass. !

Hassan also said about B. Qurayza:

Qurayza met their misfortune

And in humiliation found no helper.

A caiamity worse than that which fell B. al-Nadir befell them
The day that God's apostle came to them like a brilliant moon,
With fresh horses bearing horsemen like hawks.

We left them with the blood upon them like a pool

They having accomplished nothing.

They lay prostrate with vultures circling round them.

Thus are the obstinate and impious rewarded.

Warn Quraysh of a like punishment from God

If they will take my warning.

Hassan also said:

Qurayza met their misfortune

And shameful humiliation befell their castles.

Sa'd had warned them, saying

Your God is a majestic Lord.

They soon broke their treaty so that

The apostle slew them in their town.

With our troops he surrounded their fort

Which resounded with cries from the heat of the battle.

Hassan also said:
May the people who helped Quraysh miss one another, |

For in their land they have no helper.
They were given the scripture and wasted it,

Being blind, straying from the Torah.

713

You disbelieved in the Quran and yet

You had been given confirmation of what the warner said.
The nobles of B. Lu'ayy took lightly

The great conflagration in al-Buwayra. *

Abu Sufyan b. al-Harith b. 'Abdu'l-Muttalib answered him:

May God make that deed immortal,

May fire burn in its quarters!

You shall know which of us is far (from the fire)

And which of our lands will be harmed.

Had the palms therein been horsemen

They would have said, "You have no place here, be off! 3
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Jabal b. Jawwal al-Tha'labi also answered him, mourning al-Nadir and
Qurayza:

O Sa'd, Sa'd of B. Mu'adh,

For what befell Qurayza and Al-Nadir.

By thy life, Sa'd of B. Mu'adh

The day they departed was indeed steadfast.
As for al-Khazraji Abu Hubab 4

He told Qaynuga' not to go.

The allies got Usayd in exchange for Hudayr
(For circumstances sometimes change.)’
Al-Buwayra perished and was deprived of
Sallam and Sa'ya and Ibn Akhtab.

Yet in their land they were weighty men
Like the ponderous rocks of Maytan. |
Though Sallam Abu Hakam is dead

His weapons were not useless or rusty.

And both the tribes of Kahin too, among them
Hawk-like men, albeit kindly and generous.
We found their glory established on glory
Which time cannot obscure.

Dwell there, ye chiefs of Aus,

As though you were blind to shame.

You left your pot with nothing in it,

The pot of a people worth mentioning is ever on the boil! >

THE KILLING OF SALLAM IBN ABU'L-HUQAYQ

When the fight at the trench and the affair of the B. Qurayza were over,
the matter of Sailam b. Abu'l-Hugqayq known as Abu Rafi' came up in
connection with those who had collected the mixed tribes together against
the apostle. Now Aus had killed Ka'b b. Al-Ashraf before Uhud because of
his enmity towards the apostle and because he instigated men against him,
so Khazraj asked and obtained the apostle's permission to kill Sailam who
was in Khaybar.

Muhammad b. Muslim b. Shihab al-Zuhri from 'Abdullah b. Ka'b b.

Malik told me: One of the things which God did for His apostle was
that these two tribes of the Ansar, Aus and Khazraj, competed the one with
the other like two stallions: if Aus did anything to the apostle's advantage
Khazraj would say, 'They shall not have this superiority over us in the
apostle's eyes and in Islam' and they would not rest until they could do
something similar. If Khazraj did anything Aus would say the same.

When Aus had killed Ka'b for his enmity towards the apostle, Khazraj
used these words and asked themselves what man was as hostile to the
apostle as Ka'b? And then they remembered Sailam who was in Khaybar
and asked and obtained the apostle's permission to kill him.

Five men of B. Salima of Khazraj went to him: 'Abdullah b. 'Atik;
Mas'ud b. Sinan; 'Abdullah b. Unays; Abu Qatada al-Harith b. Rib'i; and
Khuza'i b. Aswad, an ally from Aslam. As they left, the apostle appointed
'Abdullah b. 'Atik as their leader, and he forbade them to kill women or
children. When they got to Khaybar they went to Sallam's house by night,
having locked every door in the settlement on the inhabitants. Now he was
in an upper chamber of his to which a (T. Roman) ladder led up. They
mounted this until they came to the door and asked to be allowed to come
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in. His wife came out and asked who they were and they told her that they
were Arabs in search of supplies. She told them that their man was here and 715

that they could come in. When we entered ' we bolted the door of the room
on her and ourselves fearing lest something should come between us and
him. His wife shricked and warned him of us, so we ran at him with our
swords as he was on his bed. The only thing that guided us in the darkness
of the night was his whiteness like an Egyptian blanket. When his wife
shrieked one of our number would lift his sword against her; then he would
remember the apostle's ban on killing women and withdraw his hand; but
for that we would have made an end of her that night. When we had smitten
him with our swords 'Abdullah b. Unays bore down with his sword into his
belly until it went right through him, as he was saying Qatni, gatni, i.e. It's
enough.

We went out. Now 'Abdullah b. 'Atik had poor sight, and fell from the
ladder and sprained his arm (729) severely, so we carried him until we
brought him to one of their water channels and went into it. The people lit
lamps and went in search of us in all directions until, despairing of find-ing
us, they returned to their master and gathered round him as he was dying.
We asked each other how we could know that the enemy of God was dead,
and one of us volunteered to go and see; so off he went and mingled with
the people. He said, 'I found his wife and some Jews gathered round him.
She had a lamp in her hand and was peering into his face and saying to
them 'By God, I certainly heard the voice of 'Abdullah b. 'Atik. Then I
decided I must be wrong and thought "How can Ibn 'Atik be in this
country?" Then she turned towards him, looking into his face, and said, 'By
the God of the Jews he is dead!' Never have I heard sweeter words than
those.

Then he came to us and told us the news, and we picked up our
com-panion and took him to the apostle and told him that we had killed
God's enemy . We disputed before him as to who had killed him, each of us
laying claim to the deed. The apostle demanded to see our swords and when
he looked at them he said, 'It is the sword of 'Abdullah b. Unays that killed
him; I can see traces of food on it.'

Hassan b. Thabit mentioning the killing of Ka'b and Sailam said: 716

God, what a fine band you met,

a Ibnu'l-Huqayq and Ibnu’l-Ashraf

They went to you with sharp swords,

Brisk as lions in a tangled thicket,

Until they came on you in your dwelling

And made you drink death with their swift-slaying swords,
Looking for the victory of their prophet's religion
Despising every risk of hurt.

AMR B. AL-'AS AND KHALID B. AL-WALID ACCEPT ISLAM

Yazid b. Abu Habib from Rashid client of Habib b. Abu Aus al-
Thaqafi from Habib told me that 'Amr b. al-'As told him from his own
mouth:

When we came away from the trench with the mixed tribes I gathered
some of Quraysh together, men who shared my opinion and would listen to
me, and said: "You know that in my opinion this affair of Muhammad will
go to unheard-of lengths and I should like to know what you think of my
opinion. I think that we ought to go to the Negus and stay with him. If
Muhammad conquers our people we shall be with the Negus and we should
prefer to be subject to his authority rather than to Muhammad; on the other
hand, if our people get the upper hand they know us and will treat us well.'
They thought that my suggestion was excellent so I told them to collect
something that we could take as a present to him; as leather was the product
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of our land which he most valued we collected a large quantity and took it
to him.

While we were with him who should come to him but 'Amr b. Umayya
al-Damri whom the apostle had sent concerning Ja'far and his companions.
He had an audience with the Negus, and when he came out I said to my
companions that if I were to go to the Negus and ask him to let me have
him, he would give him to me and we could cut off his head; and when I
had done that Quraysh would see that I had served them well in killing
Muhammad's messenger. So I went in to the Negus and did obeisance as
was my wont. He welcomed me as a friend and asked if I had brought
anything from our country, and when I told him that I had brought a large
quantity of leather and produced it he was greatly pleased and coveted it.
Then I said, ‘O King, I have just seen a man leave your presence. He is the
messenger of an enemy of ours, so let me have him that I may kill him, for
he has killed some of our chiefs and best men.' He was enraged, and
stretching out his hand he gave his nose such a blow that I thought he
would have broken it. If the earth had opened I would have gone into it to
escape his anger. I said that had I known that my request would have been
distasteful to him I would not have made it. He said, 'Would you ask me to
give you the messenger of a man to whom the great Namus comes as he
used to come to Moses, so that you might kill him!" When I asked if he
were really so great he said: 'Woe to you, 'Amr, obey me and follow him,
for by Allah he is right and will triumph over his adversaries as Moses
triumphed over Pharaoh and his armies.' [ asked him if he would accept my
allegiance to Muhammad in Islam, and he stretched out his hand and I gave
my allegiance. When I went out to my companions I had entirely changed
my mind, but I conceaied my Islam from my companions.

Then I went off making for Muhammad to adopt Islam, and met Khalid
b. al-Walid coming from Mecca. This was a little while before the
occupa-tion of Mecca. I said, "Where are you going, Abu Sulayman?' He
said: 'The way has become clear. The man is certainly a prophet, and by
Allah I'm going to be a Muslim. How much longer should I delay?' I told
him that I too was traveling with the same object in view, so we went to
Medina to the apostle. Khalid got there first and accepted Islam and gave
his allegiance. Then I came up and said, ‘O apostle, I will give you my
allegiance on condition that my past faults are forgiven and no mention is
made of what has gone before.' He said, 'Give allegiance 'Amr, for Islam
does away with all that preceded it, as does the hijra.' So I gave my
allegiance and went away (730)'

One whom I do not suspect told me that 'Uthman b. Taiha b. Abu Taiha
who was with them accepted Islam at the same time.

Ibn al-Ziba'ra al-Sahmi said:

I adjure 'Uthman b. Taiha by our oath of friendship

And by the casting of the sandals at the stone of kissing

And by every alliance our fathers made,

Khalid not being exempt from such,

Do you want the key of a house other than yours, !

And what can be more desirable than the glory of an ancient house?
Trust not Khalid and 'Uthman

After this; they have brought a great disaster.

The conquest of B. Qurayza was in Dhu'l-Qa'da and the beginning of
Dhu'l-Hijja. The polytheists were in charge of that pilgrimage.
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THE ATTACK ON B. LIHYAN

The apostle stayed in Medina during Dhu'l-Hijja, Muharram, Safar, and
the two months of Rabi', and in Jumada'l-Ula, six months after the
con-quest of Qurayza, he went out against B. Lihyan to avenge his men
killed at al-Raji', Khubayb b. 'Adiy and his companions. He made as though
he was going to Syria in order to take the people by surprise (731). He went
past Ghurab, a mountain near Medina on the road to Syria, then by Mahis,
then by Al-Batra'; then he turned off to the left and came out by Bin,’ then
by Sukhayratu'l-Yamam, * then the track went by the Meccan highroad. He
quickened the pace until he came down to Ghuran, the haunts of B. Lihyan.
(Ghuran is a wadi between Amaj and 'Usfan extending as far as a village
called Saya.) He found that the people had been warned and taken up strong
positions on the tops of the mountains. When the apostle got there and saw
that he had failed to take them by surprise as he had intended, he said,
"'Were we to come down to 'Usfan the Meccans would think that we intend
to come to Mecca.' So he went out with two hundred riders until he came to
'Usfan, when he sent two horsemen from his companions who went as far
as Kura'u'l-Ghamim. ' Then he turned and went back.

Jabir b. 'Abdullah used to say, 'I heard the apostle say when he set his
face towards Medina "Returning repentant if God will, giving thanks to our
Lord. I take refuge in God from the difficulties of the journey and its
unhappy ending, and the evil appearance of man and beast."

The tradition about the raid on B. Lihyan is from 'Asim b. 'Umar b.
Qatada and 'Abdullah b. Abu Bakr from 'Abdullah b. Ka'b b. Malik. Ka'b b.
Malik said:

If B. Lihyan had waited

They would have met bands in their settlements, fine fighters.

They would have met audacious warriors whose terror fills the way”
In front of an irresistible force glittering like stars.

But they were as weasels who stick to the

Clefts of the rocks’, which have no means of escape.

THE ATTACK ON DHU QARAD

The apostle had spent only a few nights in Medina when '"Uyayna b.
Hisn b. Hudhayfa b. Badr al-Fazari with the cavalry of Ghatafan raided the
apostle's milch-camels in al-Ghaba.* A man of B. Ghifar, who had his wife
with him, was in charge of the camels. Him they killed and carried off his
wife with the camels.

'Asim b. 'Umar b. Qatada and 'Abdullah b. Abu Bakr and a man I do not
suspect from 'Abdullah b. Ka'b b. Malik contributed to the story which
follows. The first to know of them was Salama b. 'Amr b. al-Akwa'
al-Aslami. That morning he was making for al-Ghaba armed with bow and
arrows accompanied by a slave belonging to Taiha b. 'Ubaydullah with a
horse which he was leading. When he got to the pass of al-Wada' he saw
some of their cavalry and looked down in the direction of Sal' and cried
aloud, ‘O (what a) morning!' Then he hurried off after the raiding party like
a lion. When he came up with them he began to keep them at bay with
arrows, saying as he shot:

Take that, al-Akwa’s son am 1.
Today, mean crowd, you die!
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Whenever the horsemen made for him he fled from them; then back he
would come and take a shot at them when he could, saying the same words.
One of them said, 'Our little Akwa' comes early in the morning!'

Ibnu'l-Akwa's call for Aid reached the apostle and he ordered the alarm
to be sounded in Medina and the cavalry rallied to him. The first horse-man
to arrive was al-Miqdad b. 'Amr called b. al-Aswad, ally of B. Zuhra. The
next to arrive from the Ansar were 'Abbad b. Bishr b. Waqgsh b. Zughba b.
Za'ura', one of B. 'Abdu'l-Ashhai; Sa'd b. Zayd, one of B. Ka'b b. 'Abdu'l-
Ashhai; Usayd b. Zuhayr, brother of B. Haritha b. al-Harith, though there is
some doubt about him; 'Ukasha b. Mihsan, brother of B. Asad b.
Khuzayma; Muhriz b. Nadla, brother of B. Asad b. Khuzayma; Abu Qatada
al-Harith b. Rib'i, brother of B. Salima; and Abu 'Ayyash who was 'Ubayd
b. Zayd b. al-Samit, brother of B. Zurayq. When they had gathered to the
apostle, he set Sa'd b. Zayd over them according to my information and told
them to go in pursuit of the band until he himself overtook them with the
army.

I have heard from some men of B. Zurayq that the apostle had said to
Abu 'Ayyash: 'How would it be if you were to give this horse to a man who
is a better rider than you and he caught up with the band?' He replied: 'T am
the best horseman of the people! Then I beat the horse, and by Allah he had
not taken me fifty cubits before he threw me. I was astonished that the
apostle should say that he wished that I had given him to a better horseman

and that I should have said that I was the best horse-man." Men of B.
Zurayq allege that the apostle gave Abu 'Ayyash's horse to Mu'adh b. Ma'is,
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or to 'A'idh b. Ma’is b. Qays b. Khalada who was the eighth. Some people
count Salama b. 'Amr b. al-Akwa' as one of the eight and exclude Usayd b.
Zuhayr, but God knows what happened, seeing that Salama was not riding
that day but was the first to catch up with the band on foot. The horsemen
went in pursuit of the band until they overtook them.

'Asim b. 'Umar b. Qatada told me that the first horseman to catch up
with the band was Muhriz b. Nadia who was called 'al-Akhram' and
'Qumayr’, and that when the alarm sounded a horse belonging to Mahmud
b. Maslama ran round the plantation when it heard the neighing of the
horses, for it was a treasured animal not put to work. When some women of
B. 'Abdu'l-Ashhai saw the horse running round the plantation with the
stump of wood to which it was tied they said: 'How would you like to ride
this horse, Qumayr? You can see what it is like. Then you could overtake
the apostle and the Muslims.' He agreed and they handed it over to him, and
he soon outstripped the rest of them because it was full of spirit. When he
overtook the band and came to a halt in front of them he said: 'Stop, you
rascals, until the emigrants and Ansar who are behind you catch up with
you.' One of them attacked and killed him. The horse wheeled and they
could not stop him until it stood by its stable among B. 'Abdu'l-Ashhal.
This man was the only Muslim to be killed (732).

Mahmud's horse was called Dhu'l-Limma (733).

One whom I do not suspect told me from 'Abdullah b. Ka'b b. Malik
that Muhriz rode a horse of 'Ukasha's called al-Janah. Muhriz' was killed
and al-Janah was captured. When the cavalry engaged, Abu Qatada
al-Harith b. Rib'i killed Habib b. 'Uyayna b. Hisn and covered him with his
mantle; then he joined his force. The apostle advanced with the Muslims
(734) and there was Habib covered with Abu Qatada's mantle. The men
exclaimed, 'We are God's and to Him must we return! Abu Qatada has been
killed.' The apostle said that it was not Abu Qatada but a man he had killed
and covered with his mantle so that they might know that he was his prey.
'Ukasha overtook Aubar and his son 'Amr who were riding the same camel,
and ran them through with his lance, killing the two of them at one stroke.
They recovered some of the milch-camels. The apostle went forward until
he halted at the mountain of Dhu Qarad, and the men joined him there, and
he stopped there for a day and a night. Salama b. al-Akwa' asked if he
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might go with a hundred men and recover the rest of the herd and cut off
the heads of the band. I have heard that the apostle said, By this time they
are being served with their evening drink among Ghatafan.' The apostle
divided a butchered camel among every hundred men, and after a while he
returned to Medina. The wife of the Ghifaril came upon one of the apostle's
she-camels and told him what had happened. Having done so she said, 'I
vowed to Allah that I would slaughter her if Allah let me escape on her.'
The apostle smiled and said: "You would repay her badly when God
mounted you on her and delivered you by her and then you would slaughter
her! No vow in disobedience to God nor concerning property that is not
your own is valid. She is one of my camels, so go back to your family with
God's blessing.' This story of the Ghifari's wife comes from Abu'l-Zubayr
al-Makki from al-Hasan b. Abu'l-Hasan al-Basri.

Among the verse composed about Dhu Qarad is the following from
Hassan b. Thabit:

Were it not for what our horses suffered and what hurt their frogs

As they were led to the south of Saya last night,

They would have met you as they carried well-armed warriors

Noble in ancestry protecting their standard,

And the bastards would have rejoiced that we

Did not fight when Miqdad's horsemen came.

We were eight; they were a great force

Loud-voiced yet pricked by (our) lances (and) scattered.

We were of the people who followed them

And we gave free rein to every noble steed.

Yea, by the Lord of the camels that go to Mina

Traversing the great mountain passes (we will pursue you)

Till we make the horses stale in the midst of your dwellings

And come back with your women and children,

Waiking gently with every swift horse and mare

That turns swiftly in every battle.

A day in which they are led and a day of charges

Has worn out their quarters and altered the appearance of their
backs.

Our horses are fed on milk

While war is kindled by passing winds.

Our sharp swords glittering cut through

Iron shields and pugnacious heads.

Allah put obstacles in their way to protect

His sacred property And to protect His dignity. '

They lived happily in their home, but

On the days of Dhu Qarad they were given the faces of slaves (735).

Hassan also said:

Did 'Uyayna think when he visited it*

That he would destroy its castles?

In what you said you were made a liar.
You said, 'We will take great spoil.'

You loathed Medina when you visited it
And met roaring lions there.

Back they turned running fast like ostriches
Without getting near a single camel.

God's apostle was our amir,

What a beloved amir to us!

An apostle whose message we believe
Who recites a luminous light-bringing book.
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Ka'b b. Malik said concerning the day of Dhu Qarad with reference to
the horsemen:

Do the bastards think that we

Are not their equals in horsemanship?

We are men who think killing no shame,

We turn not from the piercing lances.

We feed the guest with choicest camels' meat

And smite the heads of the haughty.

We turn back the conspicuous warriors in their pride
With blows that quash the zeal of the unyielding.

With heroes who protect their standard,

Noble, generous, fierce as jungle wolves.

They preserve their honor and their goods

With swords that smash the heads beneath the helms.
Ask the Banu Badr if you meet them

What the brethren did on the day of battle.

Tell the truth' to those you meet whenever you come out.
Conceal not the news in assemblies.

Say, We slipped away from the claws of the angry lion
With rage in his heart which he could not work off (736).

Shaddad b. 'Arid said concerning the day of Dhu Qarad with reference
to 'Uyayna who was surnamed Abu Malik:

Why, O Abu Malik, did you not return to the fight
When your cavalry were in flight and being slain?
You mentioned going back to 'Asjar. 2
Nonsense! it was too late to return.
You trusted yourself to a spirited horse
Quickly covering the ground when given free rein.
When your left hand reined him in
He reared like a flaming cauldron.
And when you saw that God's servants
Did not wait for those behind to come up
You knew that horsemen had been trained
To chase warriors when they took to the plain.
When they chase the cavalry they bring disgrace on them,
And if they are pursued they dismount
And protect themselves in evil case

With swords which the polisher has made bright.

THE RAID ON B. AL-MUSTALIQ

The apostle stayed in Medina during the latter part of Jumada'l-Akhira
and Rajab; then he attacked B. al-Mustaliq of Khuza'a in Sha'ban A.H. 6
(737)

'Asim b. 'Umar b. Qatada and 'Abdullah b. Abu Bakr and Muhammad b.
Yahya b. Habban each told me a part of the following story: The apostle
received news that B. al-Mustaliq were gathering together against him, their
leader being al-Harith b. Abu Dirar, the father of Juwayriya d. alHarith
(afterwards) wife of the apostle. When the apostle heard about them he
went out and met them at a watering place of theirs called al-Muraysi' in the
direction of Qudayd towards the shore. There was a fight and God put the
B. al-Mustaliq to flight and killed some of them and gave the apostle their
wives, children, and property as booty. A Muslim of B. Kalb b. 'Auf b.
'Amir b. Layth b. Bakr called Hisham b. Subaba was killed by a man of the
Ansar of the family of 'Ubada b. al-Samit who thought he was an enemy
and killed him in error.
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While the apostle was by this water a party came down to it. 'Umar had
a hired servant from B. Ghifar called Jahjah b. Mas'ud who was leading his
horse. This Jahjah and Sinan b. Wabar al-Juhani, an ally of B. 'Auf b. al-
Khazraj, thrust one another away from the water and fell to fighting. The
Juhani called out 'Men of al-Ansar!" and Jahjah called out 'Men of the
Muhajirun!'. 'Abdullah b. Ubayy b. Salul was enraged. With him was a
number of his people including Zayd b. Arqam, a young boy. He said,
'Have they actually done this? They dispute our priority, they outnumber us
in our own country, and nothing so fits us and the vagabonds of Quraysh as
the ancient saying "Feed a dog and it will devour you". By Allah when we
return to Medina the stronger will drive out the weaker.' Then he went to
his people who were there and said: 'This is what you have done to
yourselves. You have let them occupy your country, and you have divided
your property among them. Had you but kept your property from them they
would have gone elsewhere.' Zayd b. Arqam heard this and went and told
the apostle when he had disposed of his enemies. 'Umar, who was with him,
said, 'Tell 'Abbad b. Bishr to go and kill him." The apostle answered, 'But
what if men should say Muhammad kills his own companions? No, but
give orders to set off.' Now this was at a time when the apostle was not
accustomed to travel. The men duly moved off.

When Abdullah b. Ubayy heard that Zayd had told the apostle what he
had said he went to him and swore that he had not said what he did say. He
was a great man among his own people and the Ansar who were present
with the apostle said: It may well be that the boy was mistaken in what he
said, and did not remember the man's words,' sympathizing with Ibn Ubayy
and protecting him.

When the apostle had begun his journey Usayd b. Hudayr met him and
saluted him as a prophet, saying, 'You are traveling at a disagreeable time, a
thing you have never done before.' The apostle said: 'Have you not heard of
what your friend said? He asserted that if he returns to Medina the stronger
will drive out the weaker.' He answered: 'But you will drive him out if you
want to; he is the weak and you are the strong.' He added: 'Treat him
kindly, for Allah brought you to us when his people were string-ing beads
to make him a crown, and he thinks that you have deprived him of a
kingdom.'

Then the apostle walked with the men all that day till nightfall, and
through the night until morning and during the following day until the sun
distressed them. Then he halted them, and as soon as they touched the
ground they fell asleep. He did this to distract their minds from what
'Abdullah b. Ubayy had said the day before. He continued his journey
through the Hijaz as far as water a little above al-Naqi' called Baq'a'. As he
traveled at night a violent wind distressed the men and they dreaded it. He
told them not to be afraid because the wind announced the death of one of
the greatest of the unbelievers, and when they got to Medina they found
that Rifa'a b. Zayd b. al-Tabut of B. Qaynuga', one of the most important
Jews and a secret shelterer of the disaffected, had died that day.

The sura came down in which God mentioned the disaffected with Ibn
Ubayy and those like-minded with him. When it came down the apostle
took hold of Zayd b. Arqam's ear, saying, 'This is he who devoted his ear to
Allah."" 'Abdullah, 'Abdullah b. Ubayy's son, heard about his father's affair.

'Asim b. 'Umar b. Qatada told me that 'Abdullah came to the apostle,
saying, 'l have heard that you want to kill 'Abdullah b. Ubayy for what you
have heard about him. If you must do it, then order me to do it and I will
bring you his head, for al-Khazraj know that they have no man more dutiful
to his father than I, and I am afraid that if you order someone else to kill
him my soul will not permit me to see his slayer waiking among men and |
shall kill him, thus killing a believer for an unbeliever, and so I should go to
hell.' The apostle said: 'Nay, but let us deal kindly with him and make much
of his companionship while he is with us." After that it happened that if any
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misfortune befell it was his own people who re-proached and upbraided
him roughly. The apostle said to 'Umar when he heard of this state of
things: 'Now what do you think, 'Umar? Had I killed him on the day you
wanted me to kill him the leading men would have trembled with rage. If I
ordered them to kill him today they would kill him.' 'Umar replied, 'l know
that the apostle's order is more blessed than mine.'

Miqyas b. Subaba came from Mecca as a Muslim, so he professed,
saying, 'l come to you as a Muslim seeking the bloodwit for my brother
who was killed in error.' The apostle ordered that he should have the
bloodwit for his brother Hisham and he stopped a short while with the
apostle. Then he attacked his brother's slayer and killed him and went off to
Mecca an apostate. He spoke the following lines:

It eased my soul that he died in the lowland,

The blood of his neck veins dyeing his garments.
Before I killed him I was beset by cares

Which prevented me from seeking my couch.

I gave free vent to my vengeance

And was the first to return to the idols.

I avenged Fihr on him and laid his bloodwit

On the chiefs of B. Al-Najjar, the lords of Fari'

He also said:

I fetched him a stroke in vengeance

Which drew blood that ebbed and flowed.

I said as the wrinkles of death covered him

"You can't be safe from B. Bakr when they are wronged' (738).

Of B. Mustaliq who were slain that day 'Ali killed two-Malik and his
son. 'Abdu'l-Rahman b. 'Auf killed one of their horsemen called Ahmar or
Uhaymir. The apostle took many captives and they were distributed among
the Muslims. One of those taken was Juwayriya d. al-Harith b. Abu Dirar,
the apostle's wife.

Muhammad b. Ja'far b. al-Zubayr from 'Urwa b. al-Zubayr from 'A’isha
said: When the apostle distributed the captives of B. al-Mustaliq, Juwayriya
fell to the lot of Thabit b. Qays b. al-Shammas, or to a cousin of his, and
she gave him a deed for her redemption. She was a most beautiful woman.
She captivated every man who saw her. She came to the apostle to ask his
help in the matter. As soon as I saw her at the door of my room I took a
dislike to her, for I knew that he would see her as I saw her. She went in
and told him who she was — d. of al-Harith b. Abu Dirar, the chief of his
people. 'You can see the state to which I have been brought. I have fallen to
the lot of Thabit or his cousin and have given him a deed for my ransom
and have come to ask your help in the matter.'! He said, '"Would you like
something better than that? I will discharge your debt and marry you,' and
she accepted him.

The news that the apostle had married Juwayriya was blazed abroad and
now that B. Mustaliq were the prophet's relations by marriage the men
released those they held. When he married her a hundred families were
released. I do not know a woman who was a greater blessing to her people
than she (739).

Yazid b. Ruman told me that the apostle sent al-Walid b. 'Ugba b. Abu
Mu'ayt to them after they had accepted Islam. When they heard of him they
rode out to meet him, but when he heard of them he was afraid and went
back to. the apostle and told him that the people had determined to kill him
and had withheld their due poor tax. The Muslims talked a lot about raiding
them until the apostle himself meditated doing so. While this was going on
an embassy of theirs came to the apostle, saying: 'We heard about your
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messenger when you sent him to us and we went out to meet him to show
him respect and to pay the poor tax that was due, and he went back as fast
as he could. Now we hear that he has alleged that we went out to kill him.
By Allah we did not go out with such intent.' So God sent down concerning
him and them: ‘O you who believe if an evil man comes to you with a
report examine it closely lest you do ill to a people in ignorance and be
sorry for what you have done. Know that the apostle of God is among you.
If he were to obey you in much of the government you would be in
trouble."

THE LIE THAT WAS UTTERED ON THE RAID OF
B. AL-MUSTALIQ

According to what a man I do not suspect told me from al-Zuhri from
'Urwa from 'A'isha the apostle had gone forward on that journey of his until
he was near Medina, 'A'isha having been with him on the journey when the
liars spoke about her.

Al-Zubhri told us from 'Alqgama b. Waqqas, and from Sa'id b. Jubayr and
from 'Urwa b. al-Zubayr, and from Ubaydullah b. Abdullah b. 'Utba, each
contributing a part of the story, one remembering more of it than another,
and I (Zuhri) have put together for you what the people told me.

Yahya b. 'Abbad b. Abdullah b. al-Zubayr told me from his father from
'A'isha; and Abdullah b. Abu Bakr from 'Amra d. 'Abdu'l-Rahman from
'A'isha from her own words when the liars said what they did. The whole of
her story rests on these men as a whole. One relates what another does not.
All of them are trustworthy witnesses, and all of them related what they
heard from her. She said: "When the apostle intended to go on an expedition
he cast lots between his wives which of them should accompany him. He
did this on the occasion of the raid on B. al-Mustaliq and the lot fell on me,
so the apostle took me out. The wives on these occasions used to eat light
rations; meat did not fill them up so that they were heavy. When the camel
was being saddled for me I used to sit in my howdah; then the men who
saddled it for me would come and pick me up and take hold of the lower
part of the howdah and lift it up and put it on the camel's back and fasten it
with a rope. Then they would take hold of the camel's head and walk with
it.

"When the apostle finished his journey on this occasion he started back
and halted when he was near Medina and passed a part of the night there.
Then he gave permission to start and the men moved off. I went out for a
certain purpose having a string of Zafar beads on my neck. When I had
finished, it slipped from my neck without my knowledge, and when I
returned to the camel I went feeling my neck for it but could not find it.
Meanwhile the main body had already moved off. I went back to the place
where I had been and looked for the necklace until I found it. The men who
were saddling the camel for me came up to the place I had just left and
having finished the saddling they took hold of the howdah thinking that I
was in it as I normally was, picked it up and bound it on the camel, not
doubting that I was in it. Then they took the camel by the head and went off
with it. I returned to the place and there was not a soul there.

The men had gone. So I wrapped myself in my smock and then lay
down where I was, knowing that if I were missed they would come back for
me, and by Allah I had but just lain down when Safwan b. al-Mu'attal
al-Sulami passed me; he had fallen behind the main body for some purpose
and had not spent the night with the troops. He saw my form and came and
stood over me. He used to see me before the veil was prescribed for us, so
when he saw me he exclaimed in astonishment "The apostle's wife"' while I
was wrapped in my garments. He asked me what had kept me behind but I
did not speak to him. Then he brought up his camel and told me to ride it
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while he kept behind. So I rode it and he took the camel's head going
forward quickly in search of the army, and by Allah we did not overtake
them and I was not missed until the morning. The men had

halted and when they were rested up came the man leading me and the
liars spread their reports and the army was much disturbed; But by Allah I
knew nothing about it.

'Then we came to Medina and immediately I became very ill and so
heard nothing of the matter. The story had reached the apostle and my
parents, yet they told me nothing of it though I missed the apostle's
accus-tomed kindness to me. When I was ill he used to show compassion
and kindness to me, but in this illness he did not and I missed his attentions.

When he came in to see me when my mother was nursing me (740), all he

said was, "How is she ?"1 so that I was pained and asked him to let me be 733

taken to my mother so that she could nurse me. "Do what you like," he said,
and so I was taken to my mother, knowing nothing of what had hap-pened
until T recovered from my illness some twenty days later. Now we were an
Arab people: we did not have those privies which foreigners have in their
houses; we loathe and detest them. Our practice was to go out into the open
spaces of Medina. The women used to go out every night, and one night I
went out with Umm Mistah d. Abu Ruhm b. al-Muttalib b. 'Abdu Manaf.
Her mother was d. Sakhr b. 'Amir b. Ka'b b. Sa'd b. Taym aunt of Abu
Bakr. As she was waiking with me she stumbled over her gown and
exclaimed, "May Mistah stumble," Mistah being the nickname of 'Auf. |
said, "That is a bad thing to say about one of the emigrants who fought at
Badr." She replied, "Haven't you heard the news, O daughter of Abu Bakr?"
and when I said that I had not heard she went on to tell me of what the liars
had said, and when I showed my astonishment she told me that all this
really had happened. By Allah, I was unable to do what I had to do and
went back. I could not stop crying until I thought that the weeping would

burst my liver. I said to my mother, "God forgive you! Men have spoken ill
of me (T. and you have known of it) and have not told me a thing about it." T.1521

She replied "My little daughter, don't let the matter weigh on you. Seldom
is there a beautiful woman married to a man who loves her but her rival
wives gossip about her and men do the same."

'"The apostle had got up and addressed the men, though I knew nothing
about it. After praising God he said: "What do certain men mean by
worry-ing me about my family and saying fraise things about them? By

Allah, I know only good of them, and they say these things of a man of 734

whom I know naught but good, who never enters a house of mine but in my
company."

'"The greatest offenders were 'Abdullah b. Ubayy among the Khazraj and
Mistah and Hamna d. Jahsh, for the reason that her sister Zaynab d. Jahsh
was one of the apostle's wives and only she could rival me in his favor. As
for Zaynab, Allah protected her by her religion and she spoke nothing but
good. But Hamna spread the report far and wide opposing me (T. rivaling
me) for the sake of her sister, and I suffered” much from that.

"When the apostle made this speech Usayd b. Hudayr said: "If they are
of Aus let us rid you of them; and if they are of the Khazraj give us your
orders, for they ought to have their heads cut off." Sa'd b. 'Ubada got up —
before that he had been thought a pious man — and said, "By Allah, you lie.
They shall not be beheaded. You would not have said this had you not
known that they were of Khazraj. Had they been your own people you
would not have said it." Usayd answered, "Liar yourself! You are a
dis-affected person arguing on behalf of the disaffected."" Feeling ran so
high that there was almost fighting between these two clans of Aus and
Khazraj. The apostle left and came in to see me. He called 'Ali and Usama
b. Zayd and asked their advice. Usama spoke highly of me and said "They
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are your family2 and we and you know only good of them, and this is a lie
and a falsehood.

'As for 'Ali he said: "Women are plentiful, and you can easily change
one for another. Ask the slave girl, for she will tell you the truth." So the
apostle called Burayra to ask her, and 'Ali got up and gave her a violent
beating, saying, "Tell the apostle the truth," to which she replied, "I know
only good of her. The only fault I have to find with 'A'isha is that when I
am kneading dough and tell her to watch it she neglects it and falls asleep
and the sheep (T. 'pet lamb') comes and eats it!"

'"Then the apostle came in to me. My parents and a woman of the Ansar
were with me and both of us were weeping. He sat down and after praising
God he said, "'A'isha, you know what people say about you. Fear God and
if you have done wrong as men say then repent towards God, for He
accepts repentance from His slaves." As he said this my tears ceased and I
could not feel them. I waited for my parents to answer the apostle but they
said nothing. By Allah I thought myself too insignificant for God to send
down concerning me a Quran which could be read in the mosques and used
in prayer, but I was hoping that the apostle would see something in a dream
by which God would clear away the lie from me, because He knew my
innocence, or that there would be some communication. As for a Quran
coming down about me by Allah I thought far too little of myself for that.
When I saw that my parents would not speak I asked them why, and they
replied that they did not know what to answer, and by Allah I do not know
a household which suffered as did the family of Abu Bakr in those days.
When they remained silent my weeping broke out afresh and then I said:
"Never will I repent towards God of what you mention. By Allah, I know
that if I were to confess what men say of me, God knowing that I am
innocent of it, I should admit what did not happen; and if I denied what
they said you would not believe me." Then I racked my brains for the name
of Jacob and could not remember it, so I said, "I will say what the father of
Joseph said: 'My duty is to show becoming patience and God's Aid is to be
asked against what you describe."?

'And, by God, the apostle had not moved from where he was sitting
when there came over him from God what used to come over him and he
was wrapped in his garment and a leather cushion was put under his head.
As for me, when I saw this I felt no fear or alarm, for I knew that I was
innocent and that God would not treat me unjustly. As for my parents, as
soon as the apostle re-covered I thought that they would die from fear that
confirmation would come from God of what men had said. Then the apostle
recovered and sat up and there fell from him as it were drops of water on a
winter day, and he began to wipe the sweat from his brow, saying, "Good
news, 'A'isha! God has sent down (word) about your innocence."~ I said,
"Praise be to God," and he went out to the men and addressed them and
recited to them what God had sent down concerning that (T. "me"). Then he
gave orders about Mistah b. Uthatha and Hassan b. Thabit and Hamna d.
Jahsh who were the most explicit in their slander and they were flogged
with the prescribed number of stripes. I

'My father Ishaq b. Yasar told me from some of the men of B. Al-Najjar
that the wife of Abu Ayyub Khalid b. Zayd said to him, "Have you heard
what people are saying about 'A'isha?" "Certainly, but it is a lie," he said.
"Would you do such a thing 2"* She answered "No, by Allah, I would not."
He said, "Well, 'A'isha is a better woman than you.""

'A'isha continued: When the Quran came down with the mention of
those of the slanderers who repeated what the liars had said, God said:
'"Those who bring the lie are a band among you. Do not regard it as a bad
thing for you; nay it is good for you. Every man of them will get what he
has earned from the sin, and he who had the greater share therein will have
a painful punishment,"3 meaning Hassan b. Thabit and his companions who
said what they said (741).
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Then God said, '"Why did not the believing men and women when you
heard it think good of themselves?' i.e. say what Abu Ayyub and his wife
said. Then He said, 'When you welcomed it with your tongues and spoke
with your mouths that of which you had no knowledge you thought it a
light thing, yet with God it is grave."

When this came down about 'A'isha and about those who spoke about
her, Abu Bakr who used to make an allowance to Mistah because he was of
his kin and needy said, 'Never will I give anything to Mistah again, nor will
I ever help him in any way after what he said about 'A'isha and brought evil
on us.' She continued: 'So God sent down concerning that "And let not
those who possess dignity and ease among you swear not to give to
kinsmen and the poor and those who emigrate for God's sake. Let them
forgive and show forbearance. Do you not wish that God should forgive
you? And God is forgiving, merciful™ (742).

Abu Bakr said, 'Yes, by Allah, I want God to forgive me,' so he
con-tinued the allowance that he was accustomed to give to Mistah, saying,
'l will never withdraw it from him."

Then Safwan b. al-Mu’attal met Hassan b. Thabit with a sword when he
heard what he was saying about him, for Hassan had also uttered some
verse alluding to him and the Arabs of Mudar who had accepted Islam:

The vagabond immigrants have become powerful and numerous
And Ibnu'l-Furay'a has become solitary in the land.'

As good as bereaved is the mother of the man I fight

Or caught in the claws of a lion.

The man I kill will not be paid for

By money or by blood.

When the wind blows in the north and the sea rides high
And bespatters the shore with foam

'Tis no more violent than I when you see me in a rage
Devastating as a cloud of hail.

As for Quraysh, I will never make peace with them
Until they leave error for righteousness

And abandon al-Lat and al-'Uzza

And all bow down to the One, The Eternal,

And testify that what the apostle said to them is true,
And faithfully fulfill the solemn oath with God.”

Safwan met him and smote him with his sword, saying according to
what Ya'qub b. 'Utba told me:

Here's the edge of my sword for you!
When you lampoon a man like me you don't get a poem in return!

Muhammad b. Ibrahim b. al-Harith al- Taymi told me that Thabit b.
Qays b. al-Shammas leapt upon Safwan when he smote Hassan and tied his
hands to his neck and took him to the quarter of B. al-Harith b. ai-Khazraj.
Abdullah b. Rawaha met him and asked what had happened, and he said:
'Do I surprise you? He smote Hassan with the sword and by Allah he must
have killed him." Abdullah asked if the apostle knew about what he had
done, and when he said that he did not he told him that he had been very
daring and that he must free the man. He did so. Then they came to the
apostle and told him of the affair and he summoned Hassan and Safwan.
The latter said, 'He insulted and satirized me and rage so overcame me that
I smote him.' The apostle said to Hassan, 'Do you look with an evil eye on
my people because God has guided them to Islam?' He added, 'Be
charitable about what has befallen you.' Hassan said, 'It is yours, a apostle'
(743).
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The same informant told me that the apostle gave him in compensation
Bir Ha, today the castle of B. Hudayla in Medina. It was a property
belonging to Abu Taiha b. Sahl which he had given as aims to the apostle
who gave it to Hassan for his blow. He also gave him Sirin, a Copt slave
girl, and she bare him 'Abdu'l-Rahman. "

'A’isha used to say, 'Questions were asked about Ibnul-Mu’attal and
they found that he was impotent; he never touched women. He was killed
as a martyr after this.'

Hassan b. Thabit said, excusing himself for what he had said about
'A’isha:

Chaste, keeping to her house, above suspicion,
Never thinking of reviling innocent women,;

A noble woman of the clan of Lu'ayy b. Ghalib,
Seekers of honor whose glory passes not away.
Pure, God having purified her nature

And cleansed her from all evil and falsehood.

If I said what you allege that I said

Let not my hands perform their office.

How could I, with my lifelong affection and support
For the family of the apostle who lends splendor to all gatherings,
His rank so high above all others that

The highest leap would fail short of it?

What has been said will not hold

But is the word of one who would slander me (744).

A Muslim said about the flogging of Hassan and his companions for 740

slandering 'A’isha (745):

Hassan, Hamna, and Mistah tasted what they deserved

For uttering unseemly slander;

They slandered with ill-founded accusations their prophet's wife;
They angered the Lord of the glorious throne and were chastised.
They injured God's apostle through her

And were made a public and lasting disgrace.

Lashes rained upon them like

Raindrops failing from the highest clouds.

THE AFFAIR OF AL-HUDAYBIYA, A.H.6. THE WILLING HOMAGE
AND THE PEACE BETWEEN THE APOSTLE AND SUHAYL B. 'AMR

Then the apostle stayed in Medina during the months of Ramadan and
Shawwali and went out on the little pilgrimage in Dhu'l-Qa'da with no
intention of making war (746). He called together the Arabs and
neighbouring Bedouin to march with him, fearing that Quraysh would
oppose him with arms or prevent him from visiting the temple, as they
actually did. Many of the Arabs held back from him, and he went out with
the emi-grants and Ansar and such of the Arabs as stuck to him. He took
the sacrificial victims with him and donned the pilgrim garb so that all
would know that he did not intend war and that his purpose was to visit the
temple and to venerate it.

Muhammad b. Muslim b. Shihab al-Zuhri from 'Urwa b. al-Zubayr
from Miswar b. Makhrama and Marwan b. al-Hakam told me: The apostle
went out in the year of al-Hudaybiya with peaceful intent meaning to visit
the temple, and took with him seventy camels for sacrifice. There were
seven hundred men so that each camel was on behalf of ten men. Jabir b.
'Abdullah, so I have heard, used to say, 'We the men of al-Huday-biya,
were fourteen hundred.'
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Al-Zuhri continued: When the apostle was in 'Usfan, Bishr b. Sufyan al-
Ka'bi met him (747) and said: 'There are Quraysh who have heard of your
coming and have come out with their milch-camels and have put on
leopards' skins,1 and have encamped at Dhu Tuwa swearing that you will
never enter Mecca in defiance of them. This man Khalid b. al-Walid is with
their cavalry which they have sent in advance to Kura'u'-Ghamim.” The
apostle said: 'Alas, Quraysh, war has devoured them! What harm would
they have suffered if they had left me and the rest of the Arabs to go our
own ways? If they should kill me that is what they desire, and if God
should give me the victory over them they would enter Islam in flocks. If
they do not do that they will fight while they have the strength, so what are
Quraysh thinking of? By Allah, I will not cease to fight for the mission with
which God has entrusted me until He makes it victorious or I perish.' Then
he said, 'Who will take us out by a way in which we shall not meet them ?'

'Abdullah b. Abu Bakr told me that a man of Aslam volunteered to do
so and he took them by a rugged, rocky track between passes which was
very hard on the Muslims, and when they emerged from it on to the easy
ground at the end of the wadi the apostle said to the men, 'Say, We ask
God's forgiveness and we repent towards Him." They did so and he said,
'"That is the "putting away”3 that was enjoined on the children of Israel; but
they did not say the words.'

The apostle ordered the force to turn to the right through the salty
growth4 on the road which leads by the pass of al-Murar to the declivity of
al-Hudaybiya below Mecca. They did so, and when the Quraysh cavalry
saw from the dust of the army that they had turned aside from their path
they returned at a gallop to Quraysh. The apostle went as far as the pass of
al-Murar and when his camel knelt and the men said, 'The camel won't get
up,' he said: 'Tt has not refused and such is not its nature, but the One who
restrained the elephant from Mecca is keeping it back. Today whatever
condition Quraysh make in which they ask me to show kindness to kindred
I shall agree to.' Then he told the people to dismount. They objected that
there was no water there by which they could halt, so he took an arrow
from his quiver and gave it to one of his companions and he took it down
into one of the waterholes and prodded the middle of it and the water rose
until the men's camels were satisfied with drinking and lay down there.

One of the B. Aslam told me that the man who went into the hole with
the apostle's arrow was Najiya b. Jundub b. 'Umayr b. Ya'mar b. Darim b.
'Amr b. Wa'ila b. Sahm b. Mazin b. Salaman b. Aslam b. Afsa b. Abu
Haritha who drove the apostle's camels to sacrifice (748).

A traditionist alleged to me that al-Bara' b. 'Azib used to say that it was
he who went down with the apostle's arrow, and God knows which it was.

The Aslam quoted verses from the lines which Najiya made. We think
that it was he who went down with the arrow. Aslam allege that a slave-girl
of the Angar came up with her bucket while Najiya was in the well
supply-ing the people with water and said:

O you down below, my bucket is here.

I can hear all our men who wish you good cheer
raising the one who draws water here (749).
Najiya said as he was in the hole getting the water:
The Yamani slave-girl knows

That I'm Najiya down below getting water.

Many a wide bloody wound I've made

In the breasts of advancing foes.

In his tradition al-Zuhri said: When the apostle had rested Budayl b.

Warga' al-Khuza'i came to him with some men of Khuza'a and asked
him what he had come for. He told them that he had not come for war but
to go on pilgrimage and venerate the sacred precincts. Then he said to them
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what he had said to Bishr b: Sufyan. Then they returned to Quraysh and
told them what they had heard; but they suspected them and spoke roughly
to them, saying, 'He may have come not wanting war but by Allah he shall
never come in here against our will, nor shall the Arabs ever say that we
have allowed it.'

Khuza'a were the apostle's confidants, both their Muslims and their
polytheists. They kept him informed of everything that happened in Mecca.

Then Quraysh sent Mikraz b. Haf; b. al-Akhyaf brother of B. '.Amir b.
Lu'ayy to him. When he saw him approaching the apostle said, 'This is a
treacherous fellow!" When he came up and spoke to him the apostle gave
him the same reply as he had given Budayl and his companions, and he
returned and told the Quraysh what the apostle had said.

Then they sent to him al-Hulays b. 'Aigama or Ibn Zabban, who was at
that time chief of the black troops, being one of B. al-Harith b. 'Abdu
Manat b. Kinana. When he saw him the apostle said, 'This is one of the
devout people, so send the sacrificial animais to meet him so that he can see
them! When he saw them going past him from the side of the wadi with
their festive collars round their necks and how they had eaten their hairl
because they had been so long kept back from the place of sacrifice, he
went back to Quraysh and did not come to the apostle, so greatly was he
impressed by what he had seen. When he told them that, they said, 'Sit
down ! You are only a Bedouin, utterly ignorant.'

'Abdullah b. Abu Bakr told me that this enraged al-Hulays, who said:
"You men of Quraysh, it was not for this that we made an alliance and
agreement with you. Is a man who comes to do honor to God's house to be
excluded from it? By him who holds my life in his hand, either you let
Muhammad do what he has come to do or I shall take away the black troops
to the last man.' They said, 'Be quiet, Hulays! until we obtain for ourselves
acceptable terms:'

In his narrative al-Zuhri said: Then they sent 'Urwa b. Mas'ud
al-Thaqafito the apostle and he said: "You men of Quraysh, I have seen the
harshness and rude words with which you have received those you sent to
Muhammad when they returned to you. You know that you are the father
and I am the son-for 'Urwa was the son of Subay'a d. 'Abdu Shams-I heard
of what befell you and I collected those of my people who obeyed me;, then
I came to you to help you.' They agreed and said that they did not suspect
him. So he came to the apostle and sat before him and said: 'Muhammad,
have you collected a mixed people together and then brought them to your
own people to destroy them? Quraysh have come out with their milch-
camels® clad in leopard skins swearing that you shall never enter Mecca by
force. By God I think I see you deserted by these people (here) tomorrow.'
Now Abu Bakr was sitting behind the apostle and he said, 'Suck al-Lat's
nipples! Should we desert him?' He asked who had spoken, and when he
heard it was Ibn Abu Quhafa he said, 'By Allah, did I not owe you a favor |
would pay you back for that, but now we are quits.' Then he began to take
hold of the apostle's beard as he talked to him. Al-Mughira b. Shu'ba was
standing by the apostle's head clad in mail and he began to hit his hand as
he held the apostle's beard saying, 'Take your hand away from the apostle's
face before you lose it.' 'Urwa said, 'Confound you, how rough and rude
you are!' The apostle smiled and when 'Urwa asked who the man was he
told him that it was his brother's son, al-Mughira b. Shu'ba and he said, ‘O
wretch, it was only yesterday that I washed your dirty parts!' (750).

The apostle told him what he had told the others, namely that he had not
come out for war. He got up from the apostle's presence having seen how
his companions treated him. Whenever he performed his ablutions they ran
to get the water he had used; if he spat they ran to it; if a hair of his head
fell they ran to pick it up. So he returned to Quraysh and said, 'T have been
to Chosroes in his kingdom, and Caesar in his kingdom and the Negus in
his kingdom, but never have I seen a king among a people like Muhammad
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among his companions. | have seen a people who will never abandon him
for any reason, so form your own opinion.'

A traditionist told me that the apostle called Khirash b. Umayya
al-Khuza'i and sent him to Quraysh in Mecca, mounting him on one of his
camels called al-Tha'lab to tell their chiefs from him what he had come for.
They hamstrung the apostle's camel and wanted to kill the man, but the
black troops protected him and let him go his way so that he came back to
the apostle.

One whom I do not suspect from 'Tkrima client of Ibn 'Abbas from the
latter told me that Quraysh had sent forty or fifty men with orders to
surround the apostle's camp and get hold of one of his companions for
them, but they were caught and brought to the apostle, who forgave them
and let them go their way. They had attacked the camp with stones and
arrows. Then he called 'Umar to send him to Mecca with the same
mes-sage, but 'Umar told him that he feared for his life with Quraysh,
because there were none of B. 'Adiy b. Ka'b in Mecca to protect him, and
Quraysh knew of his enmity and his rough treatment of them. He
recommended that a man more prized there than himself should be sent,
namely 'Uthman. The apostle summoned 'Uthman and sent him to Abu
Sufyan and the chiefs of Quraysh to tell them that he had not come for war
but merely to visit the house and to venerate its sanctity.

As "Uthman entered or was about to enter Mecca Aban b. Sa'id b. al’As
met him and carried him in front of him. Then he gave him his protec-tion
until he could convey the apostle's message to them. Having heard what
'Uthman had to say, they said: 'If you want to go round the temple, go
round it." He said that he could not do so until Muhammad did so, and
Quraysh kept him a prisoner with them. The apostle and the Muslims were
informed that 'Uthman had been killed.

THE WILLING HOMAGE

'Abdullah b. Abu Bakr told me that when the apostle heard that 'Uthman
had been killed he said that they would not leave until they fought the
enemy, and he summoned the men to give their undertaking. The pledge of
al-Ridwan took place under a tree. Men used to say that the apostle took
their pledge unto death. Jabir b. 'Abdullah used to say that the apostle did
not take their pledge unto death, but rather their undertaking that they
would not run away. Not one of the Muslims who were present failed to
give his hand except al-Jadd b. Qays, brother of B. Salima. Jabir used to
say: 'By Allah, I can almost see him now sticking to his camel's side
cringing as he tried to hide himself from the men.' Then the apostle heard
that the news about 'Uthman was false (751).

THE ARMISTICE

AL-Zubhri said: Then Quraysh sent Suhayl b. 'Amr brother of B. 'Amir
b. Lu'ayy to the apostle with instructions to make peace with him on
condi-tion that he went back this year, so that none of the Arabs could say
that he made a forcible entry. When the apostle saw him coming he said,
'"The people want to make peace seeing that they have sent this man.' After
a long discussion peace was made and nothing remained but to write an
agreement. "Umar jumped up and went to Abu Bakr saying, 'Is he not God's
apostle, and are we not Muslims, and are they not polytheists?' to which
Abu Bakr agreed, and he went on: 'Then why should we agree to what is
demeaning to our religion?' He replied, 'Stick to what he says, for I testify
that he is God's apostle.' 'Umar said, 'And so do I.' Then he went to the
apostle and put the same questions to which the apostle answered, 'l am
God's slave and His apostle. I will not go against His commandment and He
will not make me the loser.' 'Umar used to say, 'l have not ceased giving
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aims and fasting and praying and freeing slaves because of what I did that
day out of fear for what I had said, when I hoped that (my plan) would be
better.'

Then the apostle summoned 'Ali and told him to write 'In the name of
Allah the Compassionate, the Merciful.'" Suhayl said T do not recognize
this; but write "In thy name, O Allah." The apostle told him to write the
latter and he did so. Then he said: 'Write "This is what Muhammad, the
apostle of God has agreed with Suhayl b. 'Amr." Suhayl said, 'If I
witnessed that you were God's apostle I would not have fought you. Write
your own name and the name of your father.' The apostle said: "Write "This
is what Muhammad b. 'Abdullah has agreed with Suhayl b. 'Amr: they have
agreed to lay aside war for ten years during which men can be safe and
refrain from hostilities on condition that if anyone comes to Muhammad
without the permission of his guardian he will return him to them; and if
anyone of those with Muhammad comes to Quraysh they will not return
him to him. We will not show enmity one to another and there shall be no
secret reservation or bad faith. He who wishes to enter into a bond and
agreement with Muhammad may do so and he who wishes to enter into a
bond and agreement with Quraysh may do so." Here Khuza'a leapt up and
said, "We are in. a bond and agreement with Muhammad,' and B. Bakr leapt
up and said the same with regard to Quraysh, adding "You must retire from
us this year and not enter Mecca against our will, and next year we will
make way for you and you can enter it with your companions, and stay
there three nights. You may carry a rider's weapons, the swords in their
sheaths. You can bring in nothing more.'

While the apostle and Suhayl were writing the document, suddenly Abu
Jandal b. Suhayl appeared waiking in fetters, having escaped to the apostle.
The apostle's companions had gone out without any doubt of occupying
Mecca because of the vision which the apostle had seen, and when they saw
the negotiations for peace and a withdrawal going on and what the apostle
had taken on himself they felt depressed almost to the point of death. When
Suhayl saw Abu Jandal he got up and hit him in the face and took hold of
his collar, saying, 'Muhammad, the agreement between us was concluded
before this man came to you.' He replied, 'You are right.' He began to pull
him roughly by his collar and to drag him away to return him to Quraysh,
while Abu Jandal shrieked at the top of his voice, 'Am I to be returned to
the polytheists that they may entice me from my religion O Muslims?' and
that increased the people's dejection. The apostle said, ‘O Abu Jandai, be
patient and control yourself, for God will provide relief and a means of
escape for you and those of you who are helpless. We have made peace
with them and we and they have invoked God in our agree-ment and we
cannot deal falsely with them.' '"Umar jumped up and waked alongside Abu
Jandal saying, 'Be patient for they are only polytheists; the blood of one of
them is but the blood of a dog,' and he brought the hilt of his sword close up
to him. 'Umar used to say, 'l hoped that he would take the sword and kill his
father with it, but the man spared his father and so the matter ended.'

When the apostle had finished the document he summoned
representatives of the Muslims and polytheists to witness to the peace,
namely Abu Bakr, 'Umar, and 'Abdu'l-Rahman b. 'Auf, 'Abdullah b. Suhayl
b. 'Amr, and Sa'd b. Abu Waqqgas, Mahmud b. Maslama, Mikraz b. Hafs
who was a polytheist at the time, and 'Ali who was the writer of the
document.

The apostle was encamped in the profane country, and he used to pray
in the sacred area. When the peace was concluded he slaughtered his
victims and sat down and shaved his head. I have heard that it was Khirash
b. Umayya b. al-Fadl al-Khuza'i who shaved him then. When the men saw
what the apostle had done they leapt up and did the same.

'Abdullah b. Abu Najih from Mujahid from Ibn 'Abbas told me, 'Some
men shaved their heads on the day of al-Hudaybiya while others cut their
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hair.' The apostle said, 'May God have mercy on the shavers.' They said,
'The cutters, too, O apostle?' Three times they had to put this question until
finally he added 'and the cutters'. When they asked him why he had
repeatedly confined the invocation of God's mercy to the shavers he replied,
'Because they did not doubt.'

The same authorities told me that the apostle sacrificed in the year of al-
Hudaybiya among his victims a camel belonging to Abu Jahl which had a
silver nose-ring, thus enraging the polytheists.

Zuhri continued: The apostle then went on his way back and when he
was half-way back the sura al-Fath came down: 'We have given you a
plain victory that God may forgive you your past sin and the sin which is to
come and may complete his favor upon you and guide you on an upright
path.'l Then the account goes on about him and his companions until he
comes to mention the oath of allegiance and He said: 'Those who swear
allegiance to you really swear allegiance to God, the hand of God being
above their hands; so he who breaks his oath breaks it to his own hurt;
while he who is faithful to what he has covenanted with God, to him will
He give a great reward.'

Then He mentioned the Bedouin who held back from him. Then He
said when he urged them to take the field with him and they procrastinated,
'"The Bedouin who were left behind will say to you: Our possessions and
our families preoccupied us!" Then follows an account of them until the
words '"Those who were left behind will say when you go out to capture
spoil, Let us follow you, wishing to change what God has said. Say, You
shall not follow us. Thus has God said beforehand." Then follows an
account of them and how it was explained to them that they must fight a
people of great prowess.

'Abdullah b. Abu Najih from 'Ata' b. Abu Rabah from Ibn 'Abbas said
(That means) Persia. One whom I do not suspect from al-Zuhri told me that
'a people of great prowess' meant Hanifa with the arch-liar.

Then He said: 'God was pleased with the believers when they swore
allegiance to you under the tree and He knew what was in their hearts, and
He sent down the Sakina2 upon them and rewarded them with a recent
victory and much spoil which they will take. God is mighty, wise. God has
promised you much spoil which you will capture and has given you this in
advance, and kept men's hands from you, that it may be a sign to the
believers and that He may guide you on an upright path, and other (things)
which you have not been able to get. God encompasses them, and God is
almighty.'

Then He mentioned how He had kept him away from battle after the
victory over them, meaning those He had kept from him. Then He said: 'He
it is who has kept their hands from you and your hands from them in the
vale of Mecca, after He had given you victory over them. God is a seer of
what you do.' Then He said: 'They are those who disbelieved and debarred
you from the sacred mosque and the offering from reaching its goal' (752).
'And had it not been for the believing men and women whom you did not
know lest you should tread them under foot and thus incur guilt for them
unwittingly.' Ma'arra means 'a fine', i.e. lest you should suffer loss for them
unwittingly and pay its bloodwit; as for real guilt he did not fear it on their
account (753).

Then he said, 'When those who disbelieve had set in their hearts
zealotry, the zealotry of paganism,' i.e. Suhayl b. 'Amr when he scorned to
write 'In the name of Allah the Compassionate the Merciful' and that
Muhammad is God's apostle. Then He said 'God sent down His sakina *
upon His apostle

and the believers and imposed on them the word of piety, for they were
meet and worthy of it,' i.e. the declaration of God's unity, the witness that
there is no God but Allah and that Muhammad is His slave and His apostle.

Jihad Sira 3/26/2010 287



753

Then He said: 'God has fulfilled the vision to His apostle in truth. You
shall enter the sacred mosque if God will, safely with heads shaved and hair
cut short fearing not. For He knows what you do not know,' i.e. the vision
which the apostle saw that he would enter Mecca safely without fear. He
says 'with your heads shaved and hair cut short' along with him without
fear, for He knows what you do not know of that, and more than that He
has wrought a near victory, the peace of al-Hudaybiya.

No previous victory in Islam was greater than this. There was nothing
but battle when men met; but when there was an armistice and war was
abolished and men met in safety and consulted together none talked about
Islam intelligently without entering it. In those two years double as many or
more than double as many entered Islam as ever before (754).

THE CASE OF THOSE LEFT HELPLESS AFTER THE PEACE

When the apostle arrived in Medina Abu Basir 'Utba b. Asid b. Jariya,
one of those imprisoned in Mecca, came to him. Azhar b. 'Abdu 'Auf b.Abd
b. al-Harith b. Zuhra and al-Akhnas b. Shariq b. 'Amr b. Wahb al-Thaqafi
wrote to the apostle about him, and they sent a man of B. 'Amir b. Lu'ayy
with a freed slave of theirs. When they came to the apostle with the letter he
said, "You know the undertaking we gave these people and it ill becomes us
that treachery should enter our religion. God will bring relief and a way of
escape to those helpless like you, so go back to your people.' He said,
'Would you return me to the polytheists who will seduce me from my
religion?' He said, 'Go, for God will bring relief and a way of escape for
you and the helpless ones with you.' So he went with them as far as Dhu’l-
Hulayfa where he and the two men sat against a wail. Abu Basir said, 'Is
your sword sharp, O brother of B. 'Amir' When he said that it was he said
that he would like to look at it. 'Look at it if you want to,' he replied. Abu
Basir unsheathed it and dealt him a blow that killed him. The freedman ran
off to the apostle who was sitting in the mosque, and when the apostle saw
him coming he said, 'This man has seen some-thing frightful." When he
came up the apostle said, "What's the matter, woe to you?' He said : "Your
man has killed my man,' and almost at once Abu Bair came up girt with the
sword, and standing by the apostle he said, 'Your obligation is over and
God has removed it from you. You duly handed me over to the men and I
have protected myself in my religion lest I should be seduced therein or
scoffed at.' The apostle said, "Woe is his mother, he would have kindled a
war had there been others with him."”

Then Abu Basir went off until he halted at al-Is in the region of
Dhu'l-Marwa by the sea-shore on the road which Quraysh were accustomed
to take to Syria. The Muslims who were confined in Mecca heard what the
apostle had said of Abu Basir so they went out to join him in al-'Is. About
seventy men attached themselves to him, and they so harried Quraysh,
killing everyone they could get hold of and cutting to pieces every caravan
that passed them, that Quraysh wrote to the apostle begging him by the ties
of kinship to take these men in, for they had no use for them; so the apostle
took them in and they came to him in Medina (755).

When Suhayl heard that Abu Basir had killed his 'Amiri guard he leant
his back against the Ka'ba and swore that he would not remove it until this
man's bloodwit was paid. Abu Sufyan b. Harb said, 'By God, this is sheer
folly. It will not be paid.' Three times he said it.

Mauhab b. Riyah) Abu Unays, an ally of B. Zuhra, said (756):
A brief word from Suhayl reached me

And woke me from my sleep.
If you wish to reproach me
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Then reproach me, for you are not far from me.
Would you threaten me when 'Abdu Manaf is round me
With Makhzum? Alas, whom are you attacking?
If you put me to the test you will not find me

A weak support in grave misfortunes.

I can rival in birth the best of my people.

When the weak are ill-treated I protect them.
They defend the heights of Mecca without doubt
As far as the valleys and the wadi sides

With every blood mare and fiery horse

Grown thin from long fighting.

Ma'add know they have in al-Khayf !

A pavilion of glory exaited high.

'Abdullah b. al-Ziba'ra answered him:

Mauhab has become like a poor donkey

Braying in a village as he passes through it.

A man like you cannot attack Suhayl.

Vain is your effort.

Whom are you attacking?

Shut up, you son of a blacksmith,

And stop talking nonsense in the land.

Don't mention the blame of Abu Yazid.

There's a great difference between oceans and puddles.

THE WOMEN WHO EMIGRATED AFTER THE ARMISTICE 754

Umm Kulthum d. 'Ugba b. Abu Mu'ayt migrated to the apostle during
this period. Her two brothers 'Umara and al-Walid sons of 'Ugba came and
asked the apostle to return her to them in accordance with the agree-ment
between him and Quraysh at Hudaybiya, but he would not. God forbade it.

AL-Zuhri from 'Urwa b. al-Zubayr told me: I came in to him as he was
writing a letter to Ibn Abu Hunayda, the friend of al-Walid b. Abdu’l-Malik
who had written to ask him about the word of God: ‘O you who believe,
when believing women come to you as emigrants test them. God knows
best about their faith. If you know that they are believers do not send them
back to the unbelievers. They are not lawful to them nor vice versa. And
give them (the unbelievers) what they have spent on them. It is no sin for
you to marry them when you have given them their dues, and hold not to
the ties of unbelieving women'l (757). Ask for what you have spent and let
them ask for what they have spent. That is the judgment of Allah who
judges between you. God is a knower, wise.'

'Urwa b. al-Zubayr2 wrote to him: The apostle made peace with
Quraysh on the day of al-Hudaybiya on condition that he should return to
them those who came without the permission of their guardians. But when
women migrated to the apostle and to Islam God refused to allow them to
be returned to the polytheists if they had been tested by the test of Islam,
and they knew that they came only out of desire for Islam, and He ordered
that their dowries should be returned to Quraysh if their women were
withheld from them if they returned to the Muslims the dowries of the
women they had withheld from them. 'That is the judgment of God which

He judges between you, and Allah is knowing, wise.! So the apostle 755

with-held the women and returned the men, and he asked what God ordered
him to ask of the dowries of the women who were withheld from them, and
that they should return what was due if the other side did the same. Had it
not been for this judgment of God's the apostle would have re-turned the
women as he returned the men. And had it not been for the armistice and
covenant between them on the day of al-Hudaybiya he would have kept the
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women and not returned the dowries, for that is what he used to do with the
Muslim women who came to him before the covenant.

I asked al-Zuhri about this passage: 'And if any of your wives have
gone to the unbelievers and you have your turn of triumph, then give those
whose wives have gone the like of what they spent, and fear Allah in whom
you believe.' He said, If one of you loses his family to the unbelievers and a
woman does not come to you may take for her the like of what they take
from you, then compensate them from any booty that you secure. When this
verse came down, ‘O you who believe when believing women come to you
as emigrants,' as far as the words 'and hold not to the cords of disbelieving
women' it referred to 'Umar's divorcing his wife Qurayba d. Abu Umayya
b. al-Mughira. Mu'awiya b. Abu Sufyan married her after-wards while they
were both polytheists in Mecca; and Umm Kulthum the Khuza'ite woman
d. Jarwal mother of Ubaydullah b. '"Umar whom Abu Jahm b. Hudhayfa b.
Ghanim a man of 'Umar's people married while they both were polytheists
(758).

THE EXPEDITION TO KHAYBAR, A.H.7

After his return from al-Hudaybiya the apostle stayed in Medina during
Dhu'l-Hijja and part of al-Muharram, the polytheists superintending the
pilgrimage. Then he marched against Khaybar (759).

Muhammad b. Ibrahim b. al-Harith al- Taymi from Abu'l-Haytham b.
Nasr b. Duhr al-Aslami from his father who said that he heard the apostle as
he journeyed say to 'Amir b. al-Akwa' who was the uncle of Salama b. 'Amr
b. al-Akwa' who was named Sinan: 'Dismount, Ibn al-Akwa', and chant one
of your camel-songs for u;' so he got down and recited this rough rhyme:

But for Allah